CORPS OF ENGINEERS DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY

REPORT FOR BUREAU OF MINES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

THE SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUEL POTENTIAL OF KENTUCKY

**DECEMBER 14, 1951** 

Ford, Bacon & Davis Incorporated Engineers

metadc1202373

NEW YORK

PHILADELPHIA CHICAGO

LOS ANGELES



U.S. LAJING + Ier-.

-

.

•

T

.

70021

9

, Ку | 4 CORPS OF ENGINEERS DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY

REPORT FOR BUREAU OF MINES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

THE SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUEL POTENTIAL OF KENTUCKY

DECEMBER 14, 1951

Ford, Bacon & Davis Incorporated Engineers

662.6 U55 Kentucky

Durch Eichange

Distribution of this report will be made by the U.S. Bureau of Mines, Department of the Interior. Requests for single copies should be addressed to:

> Publications Distribution Section U.S. Bureau of Mines 4800 Forbes Street Pittsburgh 13, Pennsylvania

К**у** 

15 70021

3

18 august 1952

208865

ال ا		
•	Subject	Page
	Letter of Transmittal	1
•	Report:	
•	SUMMARY	
	Introduction	4
	Raw Materials	4
	Coal	5
•	Oil-Impregnated Strippable Deposits	5
	Natural Gas	6
	Oil Shale	6
	General Features	6
	Processes	7
	General Areas of Coal Availability	7
	General Areas of Coal and Water Availability	17
	Suitability of General Areas	18
	Comparison of Suitable General Areas	21
	Synthetic Liquid Fuels Potential of Suitable	
	General Areas	25
	PART I - INTRODUCTION	
	Introduction	
	Authorization	28
	Purpose	28
	Scope of Survey	29
	PART II - GENERAL	-
	General	32
	Definition of General Terms	32
	Definition of Coal	33
	Types of Coal Mining and Related Terms	33 77
	Georogical lerms Report Pelating to Classification and Analysis	55
	of Coal	34
	Survey Specifications as to Minimum Require-	01
	ments for Coal	36
	Survey Classification of Coal Reserves	37
	Classification of Coal Reserves in Respect of	
•	Plant Requirements	37
	Definitions of Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits	38
	Terms Relating to Water Supply	39
Кy	Collection of Data	39
~	Processes and Plant Requirements	
3	Processes Considered for Kentucky	40
70001	Unit Plant Designed Fatimates	40
(0021	Basis of Estimates	40

		<b>*</b>
Subject	Page	
Report (Continued)		
PART IT - GENERAL (Concluded)		
Processes and Plant Requirements (Concluded)		
Hydrogenation Process	40	
History	40	
Nature of Process	41	
Plant Requirements	42	
Coal	42	•
Water	43	
Power	44	
Personnel	44	
Plant Products and By-products	45	
Wastes	45	
Typical Hydrogenation Plant for Continental		
United States	46	
Synthine Process Using Coal	47	
History	47	
Nature of Process	48	
Plant Requirements	49	
COAL	49	
Beter	49 40	
rower Bengonnol	4.7 4.0	
Plant Products and Pr products	49 50	
Marto	50	
Waste Turical Coal Synthing Plant for Continental	51	
United States	51	
Our ted Blaves		
PART TIT - SUMMARY OF STATE CHARACTERISTICS		
Summary of State Characteristics		
Surface Features	54	
Climate	54	
Population	54	
Industry and Agriculture	55	
Transportation	55	
Other Features	56	
PART TV - RAW MATERIALS		
Coal		•
General Geology of Coal Deposits	58	
Eastern Kentucky Coal-bearing Area	58	<u>к</u> .
Western Kentucky Coal-bearing Area	61	•
Sources of Information	62	3
Survey Methods and Procedure	63	-
Elimination of Counties Not Meeting Requirements		70021
of Survey	68	

¢

Ky

•		
	Subject	Page
	Report: (Continued)	
1	PART IV - RAW MATERIALS (Continued)	
	Coal (Concluded)	
•	Description of Coal Beds in Selected Counties -	
	Eastern Kentucky Field	68
	Bell County	68
	Breathitt County	73
	Clay County	75
	Floyd County	76
	Harlan County	78
	Johnson County	80
	Knott County	81
	Knox County	83
	Leslie County	84
	Letcher County	86
	Magoffin County	89
	Martin County	90
	Perry County	91
	Pike County	93
	Description of Coal Beds in Selected Counties -	
	Western Kentucky Field	
	Butler County	97
	Christian County	99
	Daviess County	100
	Henderson County	102
	Hopkins County	103
	McLean County	<b>10</b> 5
	Muhlenberg County	107
	Ohio County	109
	Union County	111
	Webster County	113
	Estimated Percentage of Recovery of Coal in Place	115
	Summary Description of Estimated Recoverable	
	Coal Reserves	116
	Commercial Coal Production	
	Trends in Production	119
_	Thickness of Coal Beds	120
l •	Quality of Coal	121
	Distribution and Use	123
	Future Coal Requirements	124
•	Selection of General Areas of Coal Availability	
' Ky	Elimination of Unsatisfactory Areas	125
_	Deduction of Coal Reserves for Future Commercial	
3	Requirements	125
	Delineation of General Areas of Coal Availability	127
70021	Synthetic Liquid Fuels Potential in General Areas	
•	of Coal Availability	132

Subject	Page
Report (Continued)	
PART TV - RAW MATERIALS (Continued)	
Oil-Impregnated Strippable Deposits in Kentucky	133
Character of Deposits	133
Mining	134
History of Development	134
Stratigraphy and General Occurrence	134
Source of Bitumen	136
Description of Deposits in Fastern Kentucky	136
Johnson, Morgan, and Magoffin Counties	136
Carter and Rowan Counties	137
Description of Deposits in West-central Kentucky	138
Logan and Edmonson Counties	138
Warren County	138
Gravson County	138
Hardin County	139
Breckenridge County	139
Hart, Butler, and Hancock Counties	139
Description of Miscellaneous Denosits	140
General Areas of Raw Material Availability	140
Edmonson County	410
Geography and Geology	140
Reserves	141
Analyses	143
Logan County	
Geography and Geology	144
Reserves	144
Analyses	146
Natural Gas	147
Oil Shale	148
Water Supply	
Hydrological Features	149
Water Requirements for Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plants	
Quantity of Water Needed	150
Process Supply	150
Domestic Supply	151
Quality of Water Needed	152
Water Resources	152
Surface Water	152
Ohio River, Main Stem	153
Tributaries of the Ohio River	154
Levisa Fork of the Big Sandy River	159
Licking River	160
Kentucky River	160
Cumberland River	161
Green River	162
Tradewater River	163
Ground Water	163
Water Quality	164

. Kŷ 3 70021

.

٠

.

÷

•

٠

Ky 3 70021

Þ

,

Subject	Page
Report: (Continued)	
PART IV - RAW MATERIALS (Concluded)	
Water Supply (Concluded)	100
Water Hights Noter Anglichic for Comthetic Liquid Buels Menufecture	165
Relation of Water Needs for a Major Synthetic Liquid	105
Fuels Development to Water Available in the Ohio	
River Basin	167
Synthetic Liquid Fuels Potential of General Areas	
of Raw Material and Water Availability	170
PART V - SUITABILITY OF THE GENERAL AREAS	
Coal	172
Coal Characteristics and Properties	172
Rank and Chemical Analysis	172
Type and Petrographic Analysis	173
Urganic and inorganic Sullur Content	176
Grindability and Friability	175
Nature of Partings	177
Mechanical Cleaning	178
Mine Waste Disposal	181
Hydrogenation Yield	181
Land Ownership, Coal Rights, and Surface Valuation	
Private Ownership and Purchase Costs	182
Legislation Affecting Production of Coal	
Taxes Destitution of Surface Demond by Mining	182
Restitution of Surface Damaged by Mining Production Costs	102
Strin Mining Costs	187
Underground Mining Cost	189
Coal Transportation	192
Coal Supply from Present Operations	192
Total Costs	194
Incremental Cost of Coal for Ultimate Unit Plants	198
Water Supply Plan and Estimates of Cost for General Areas	199
Tacilities Required	100
Pumping Station	199
Aqueduct	200
Electric Power Transmission Lines and Substations	200
Storage Basin at Assumed Plant Site	200
Filter Plant	200
Costs of Water Supply Projects for Suitable	
General Areas	201
Capital Costs	201
Annual Operating Costs	201
Idwor and Superintendence	201
Miscellaneous Supplies and Repairs	201
Filtration	201
Fixed Charges	202
-	

+

٠

њ ,

.

**Ky** 3 700;

Subject	Page
Report: (Continued) PART V - SUITABILITY OF THE GENERAL AREAS (Continued) Water Supply Plan and Estimates of Cost for General Areas (Concluded) Cost of Water by Concred Areas of Cost and Water	
Cost of water by General Areas of Coal and water	202
Johnson-Magoffin General Area Pike General Area	202 202 203
Floyd-Magoilin General Area	203
Anous-Dreathitt General Area Banny-Breathitt Ceneral Area	204
Leslie-Harlan General Area	205
Northern Letcher General Area	206
Harlan-Letcher General Area	207
Bell General Area	208
Daviess General Area	209
Henderson General Area	209
Union General Area	210
Webster General Area	211
Hopkins-Christian General Area	211
Muhlenberg-McLean General Area	212
Onio General Area	213
Hydroelectric Possibilities	213
rower Boguinemonts	915
Requirements Frigting Facilities	215
Proposed Hydroelectric Developments	216
Power Cost	217
Conclusions	218
Access Transportation	219
Labor	
General	226
Population and Employment Characteristics	226
Estimated Labor Force	229
Seasonal Trends in Employment	230
Technical Training	231
Unemployment Fatimated Metal Unemployment	232
Estimated Ital Unemproyment	232
Personnel Requirements of a Typical Synthetic	202
Liquid Fuels Unit Plant in Kentucky	1.51.5
Total Personnel Requirements	233
Skilled Plant Personnel Required	235
Diversion of Presently Employed Labor	235
New Personnel Requirements	236
Comparison of Personnel Requirements of a Unit Plant	
and Unemployment	237

vi

ŧ

Contents

╈

.

.

.

Ky 3 70021

Subject	Page
Report: (Continued)	
PART V - SUITABILITY OF THE GENERAL AREAS (Continued)	
Labor (Concluded)	
Operating Labor Costs	239
Basis of Estimated Wage Rates	239
Wage Rates by Regional Areas	240
Wage Rates in Kentucky	241
Relocation Differential	242
Shift Differential	242
Housing and Community Development	
Population Characteristics	243
Community Requirements and Population Determination	244
Number of Plant and Mine Employes to Be Housed	245
Number of Service Workers To Be Housed	245
Population of Plant-city	247
Family Housing Requirements	248
Cost of Housing and Community Development for	
a Unit Plant	
Investment in Plant-city	249
Commercial Facilities	25 <b>4</b>
Employe Home Ownership	256
Operating Costs	259
Return on Investment	261
Marketing	
Introduction	262
Motor Fuel - Major Plant Product	262
Plants Using Coal or Natural Gas	262
Plants Using Oil Shale	262
Estimated Future Liquid Fuel Requirements	263
Crude Oil Reserves and Production	264
Order of Desirability Influenced by Markets	265
Definition of the Marketing Territory	265
Consumption of Motor Fuel in The Marketing Territory	267
Motor Fuel Consumption in Kentucky	267
Future Consumption of Motor Fuel in Kentucky	268
Population	268
Motor Vehicles	269
On-Highway Consumption of Motor Fuel in Kentucky	270
Off-Highway Use of Motor Fuel in Kentucky	271
Number of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Unit Plants	
Equivalent to Estimated Motor Fuel Consumption	
in Kentucky in 1975	272
Motor Fuel Consumption in Virginia	272
Motor Fuel Consumption in North Carolina	273
Motor Fuel Consumption in South Carolina	275
Motor Fuel Consumption in Georgia	276
Motor Fuel Consumption in Florida	277

viii

Contents

Subject	Page
Report: (Concluded) PART V ~ SUITABILITY OF THE GENERAL AREAS (Concluded) Marketing (Concluded)	
Number of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Unit Plants	
Marketing Territory	278
Consumption of Liquid Fuel Products Other Than	
Motor Fuel in the Marketing Territory Sources of Liquid Fuels Supply for the	279
Marketing Territory	
Sources of Crude 011	281
Crude Oil Refining Capacity	282
Sources of Refined Products	283
Prices of Fetroleum Products Transportation of Plant Products	283
Summary and Conclusions	288
Waste Disposal	200
General	291
Gaseous Wastes	291
Liquid Wastes	292
Stream Pollution	294
Legal Aspect	295
Solid Wastes Cost of Solid Weste Disposel	296
Over-all Costs of Waste Disposal	299
Process Costs	
Basis of Estimates	300
Hydrogenation Process	
Plant Capital Investment	301
Bureau of Mines Estimate	302
Adjusted Estimate for Kentucky	302
Derating Costs Beturn on Investment	307
Effect of Coal Characteristics	310
Coal Synthine Process	•=•
Basis of Estimates	310
Plant Capital Investment	311
Adjusted Estimate for Kentucky	312
Operating Costs	313
Return on Investment	515
Effect of Coal Characteristics	310 317
DATA ACRTC ADMETACLA ATOMS	JT (
PART VI - COMPARISON OF SUITABLE GENERAL AREAS	<b>-</b> .
Comparison of Suitable General Areas	319
Conclusions	328

**Ky** 3 7002:

,

۲

.

Subject	Exh.No.
shthtts.	
Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Requirements Coal	
Processes (Approved by Corps of Engineers)	
as of May 15, 1951	1
Charts - Block Flow Diagram, Synthetic Liquid	
Fuels from Coal:	
Hydrogenation Process	2
Synthine Process	3
Chart - Weather Data, Average Precipitation and	
Temperature by Months at Ashland Dam and	•
Greenville, Ky., Selected as Representative of	r ,
the Coal-bearing Areas of Kentucky	4 r
Coal Bibliography	5
Depositories of Coal Data Sneets	-
Summary of Recoverable Coal Reserves in Kentucky	
by Counting and Rodg	oure, 7
By Countres and Deus Man - Anega Underlain by Coal Reserves Selected	for
Trolugion in General Areag of Coal Availabili	101 <sup>-</sup>
Man - General Areas of Coal and Water Availabili	itv 9
General Areas of Coal Availability	10
Man - Location of Oil-impregnated Strippable	10
Deposits in Kentucky	11
Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits in Kentucky	
Key to Map	12
Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits Bibliography	7 13
Acknowledgments for Technical Information	14
Asphalt Companies in Kentucky with Approximate	
Last Dates of Operation	15
Classification of Reserves of Oil-impregnated	
Strippable Deposits in Edmonson County, Kentuc	2 <b>ky 1</b> 6
Physical Properties of Crude Samples and the Eff	fects
of Stockpile Curing on Physical Properties of	
Edmonson County (Pottsville) Asphaltic Sandsto	one 17
Effect of 565 Days Curing on the Physical Proper	rties
of Edmonson County (Pottsville) Asphaltic Sand	istones
Characteristics of Separated Bitumen from Edmone	10
County (Potteville) Deposit of Asnbeltic Sends	$\frac{10}{10}$
Classification of Reserves of Oil-impregnated	scone 13
Strippable Deposits in Logan County, Kentucky	20
Man - Water Resources	21
Daily Process Water Requirements with Recirculat	tion of
Cooling Water for 10,000-barrel-per-day Plant	Using
Coal Synthine Process	22
Water Resources Bibliography	23
Acknowledgments for Technical Information	24

**Ky** 3 70021

-

.

-

.

ix

**\*** 

Ку , 3 70021

4

Subject	Exh.No.
Exhibits: (Continued) Chart - Ohio River; Critical Low Flows - 1930 Natural Conditions. as Regulated in 1950. Regulated in the	
Future Charts - Curves Used to Estimate Water Storage	25
Requirements:	26
Low Flow Regulation on Green River Charts - Ten-day Hydrographs.	28 27
Levisa Fork at Paintsville, Ky.	28
Green River at Livermore, Ky.	29
Kentucky Stream Flow Records and Estimates Summary of Data of Representative Water Storage	30
Projects in Kentucky	31
Map - Physiographic Diagram of Kentucky	32
Chemical and Physical Analysis of Surface Waters of	77
Chemical and Dhusical Analysis of Ground Waters of the	55
Obio River Valley at Selected Stations in West Virginia	34
Sources and Quantities of Water Available for Complete	•••
Development of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Resources	35
Map - Ohio River Basin, States and Principal Rivers	36
Estimates of Coal Production Costs	37
Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries - General Areas of Coal and Water Availability	38
Summary of Estimated Water Costs for Unit Coal Synthine	70
Plant in Kentucky	39
Map - Water Supply Systems by General Areas Principal Fleetnic Utility Openating Companies and	40
Generating Stations. Key to Man	41
. Population. Labor Force, and Employment in Kentucky	
in 1940 and Preliminary 1950 Census	42
Manufacturing Workers Covered by Old-age and Survivors	
Insurance, by Industry Groups	43
Chart - Percent of Insured Unemployment of Average	
Monthly Covered Employment, 1947-1950	44
Number of New Coal Mine Employes Necessary to Produce	
Puel requirement of a Unit Fiant after Diversion of	
General Area - Fastern Kentucky	45
Chart - Ratio of Employes Housed in a Plant-city to	
the Relative Personnel Demand	46
Chart - Motor Fuel Consumption in the United States,	
Excluding Aviation and Military Uses, 1930 to 1948,	
with Estimates to 1975	<b>4</b> 7
Chart - U. S. Annual Supply of Energy from Mineral	
ruels and Water Power, 1927 to 1948, with Estimates	40
01 TA10	40 40

x

## Subject

Subject	Exh.No.
Exhibits: (Continued) Chart - Percent of U. S. Total Energy Supply, Furnished by Mineral Fuels and Water Power, 1918 to 1948 with Estimates to 1975	49
Chart - Population of the United States by Major Geographic Divisions, 1870 to 1950, with Estimates	50
Chart - Population of the East South Central States, excluding the Armed Forces Overseas, 1900 to 1950,	50
with Estimates to 1975 Chart - Population of the South Atlantic States, excluding the Armed Forces Overseas, 1900 to 1950.	51
with Estimates to 1975 Chart - Persons per Private and Commercial Automobile	52 53
Chart - Persons per Private and Commercial Automobile for the East South Central States, 1930 to 1949,	55
with Estimates to 1975 Chart - Private and Commercial Automobile Registra- tions in the State of Kentucky, 1927 to 1949, with	54
Estimates to 1975 Chart - Persons per Private and Commercial Truck for the Fast South Central States 1930 to 1948 with	55
Estimates to 1975 Chart - Average Cropland Harvested in Acres per	56
Tractor in the United States, 1940 to 1949, with Estimates to 1975 Chart - Cropland Harvested in Acres per Tractor vs.	57
State, 1949 Chart - Estimated Cropland Harvested in Acres per Tractor vs. Cropland Harvested in Acres per	58
for Each State, 1975 Chart - Motor Fuel Consumption in the State of Kentucky. excluding Aviation and Military Uses.	59
1927 to 1948, with Estimates to 1975 Chart - Persons per Private and Commercial Automobile for Part of the South Atlantic States. 1930 to	60
1949, with Estimates to 1975 Chart - Private and Commercial Automobile Registra- tions in the State of Virginia. 1927 to 1949.	61
with Estimates to 1975 Chart - Persons per Private and Commercial Truck for Part of the South Atlantic States 1930 to 1948	62
with Estimates to 1975	63

¥

.

•

Subject	Exh.No.
Exhibits: (Continued)	
Chart - Motor Fuel Consumption in the State of Virginia,	
excluding Aviation and Military Uses, 1927 to 1948,	
With Estimates to 1975 Chart - Drivete and Commencial Automobile Designmentions	64
in the State of North Carolina 1927 to 1949 with	
Estimates to 1975	65
Chart - Motor Fuel Consumption in the State of North	00
Carolina, excluding Aviation and Military Uses,	
1927 to 1948, with Estimates to 1975	66
Chart - Private and Commercial Automobile Registrations	
in the State of South Carolina, 1927 to 1949, with	
Estimates to 1975	67
Chart - Motor Fuel Consumption in the State of South	
to 3049 with Estimator to 1975	60
Chart - Private and Commercial Automobile Registrations	60
in the State of Georgia 1927 to 1949 with Estimates	
to 1975	69
Chart - Motor Fuel Consumption in the State of Georgia.	
excluding Aviation and Military Uses, 1927 to 1948,	
with Estimates to 1975	70
Chart - Private and Commercial Automobile Registrations	
in the State of Florida, 1927 to 1949, with Estimates	
to 1975	71
Chart - Motor Fuel Consumption in the State of Florida,	
excluding Aviation and Military Uses, 1927 to 1948,	79
Man - Fatimated Constitution of Counties in Kentucky by	12
Size Groups as of January 1, 1949 and Approximate	
Center of Each General Area	73
Map - Petroleum Products Pipe Lines in the Marketing	
Territory	7 <b>4</b>
Initial Capital Investment in Process Plant by General	
Areas of Coal and Water Availability, 10,000-barrel-	
per-day Hydrogenation Plants in Kentucky	75
Beguined for a 10 000-barrel per-day Hydrogenetion	
Unit Plant at Rock Springs Wyoming (Based on Estimates	
by U. S. Bureau of Mines for a 30.000-barrel Plant, as	•
of First Quarter of 1948)	76
Estimation of Operating Capital, Hydrogenation Unit	
Plants in Kentucky	77
Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily	
Operating Costs for a Typical Hydrogenation Unit	
Plant in Continental United States	78

**Řy** 3 70021

÷

.

٠

•

xii

 $\mathbf{+}$ 

٠

٠

.

٠

Ky 3 70**9**21

Subject	Exh.No.
Exhibits: (Concluded) Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Connecting Costs for Hudrogenetics Unit Plants in	~
Kentucky as of March 31, 1950 Initial Capital Investment in Process Plant by General Areas of Coal and Water Availability, 10 000-barrel-per-day Coal Synthine Plants in	79
Kentucky Estimated Coal Synthine Unit Plant Construction	80
Costs and Required Total Initial Investment, Plant near Caseyville, Ky., Using West Kentucky	
Bituminous Coal Estimation of Operating Capital Coal Synthine Unit	81
Plants in Kentucky Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily	82
Production Costs for a Typical Coal Synthine Unit Plant in Continental United States Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily	83
Operating Costs for Coal Synthine Unit Plants in Kentucky as of March 31, 1950	84
barrel-per-day Hydrogenation Plant in Each General Area in Kentucky	85
Comparison of Suitable General Areas for One 10,000- barrel-per-day Coal Synthine Plant in Each General Area in Kentucky	86
Costs Reflecting Use of Higher-cost Underground-mined Coal for Ultimate Hydrogenation Unit Plants in	
Suitable General Areas in Western Kentucky Costs Reflecting Use of Higher-cost Underground-mined	87
Suitable General Areas in Western Kentucky	88
APPENDIX A - REASONS FOR ELIMINATION OF 23 COUNTIES NOT MEETING SURVEY REQUIREMENTS AS TO COAL RESERVES Eastern Kentucky	Page
Boyd County Carter County	A-1 A-3
Clinton County	A-4
Greenup County	A-4 A-5
Jackson County	A-6
Laurel County	<b>A-</b> 7
Lawrence County	A-7
Lee County	A-9
McCreary County Menifee County	A-9 A-10
Morgan County	A-10
Owsley County	A-11
Pulaski County	A-12
Rockcastle County	A-12

<u>Contents</u>

Subject	Page	٠
APPENDIX A - REASONS FOR ELIMINATION OF 23 COUNTIES NOT MEETING SURVEY REQUIREMENTS AS TO COAL RESERVES (Co Eastern Kentucky (Concluded)	ncluded)	
Wayne County	A-13	
Whitley County	A-13	•
Wolfe County	A-14	
Western Kentucky		
Crittenden County	A-15	•
Edmonson County	A-15	
Grayson County	A-16	
Hancock County	A-17	<b>*</b> 1.
Warren County	A-18	
APPENDIX B - REPORT BY DeGOLYER and MacNAUGHTON		
ON NATURAL GAS IN KENTÜCKY AS OF JANUARY 1, 1949	_	
Summary DARM I INTRODUCTION	B-1	
PART 1 - INTRODUCTION	D 7	
Authorization Durnana and Gaana of Depart	B-3 D 3	
Purpose and Scope of Report	B-9	
PART II - GENERAL		
Definitions Relating to Natural Gas and Gas Reserve	s B-4	
Available Sources of Information	B-6	
PART III - STUDY OF SURVEY DATA		
History of the Natural Gas Industry in Kentucky	B-7	
General Geology and Natural Gas Reservoirs	<b>B-</b> 7	
Gas Well and Production Data	B-8	
Gas Purchase Contract Data	B-8	
Estimation of Natural Gas Reserves	B-8	
Undedicated Natural Gas Reserves	B-9	
PART IV - CONCLUSIONS	B-10	
	Exh.No.	
Exhibits:		
Map - Oil and Gas Fields and Main Gas Pipe Lines		
as of January 1, 1949	B-1	٠
Oil and Gas Fields of Kentucky - Key to Map	B-2	
State of Kentucky - Data Concerning Natural Gas		
Reserves, as of January 1, 1949	B-3	
State of Kentucky - Data Concerning Gas Storage		Ку
Fields, as of January 1, 1949	B-4	3
Bibliography	B-5	70021
Acknowldgments for Technical Information	B-6	. —

Subject	Page
APPENDIX C - REPORT BY DeGOLYER and MacNAUGHTON ON OIL SHALES IN KENTUCKY AS OF SEPTEMBER 1950 Summary	C-1
PART I - INTRODUCTION Authorization Purpose and Scope	C-2 C-2
PART II - GENERAL Definitions Relating to Oil Shale and Oil Shale Reserves Source of Information Survey Area	C-3 C-5 C-5
PART III - STUDY OF SURVEY AREA General Geologic Conditions New Albany Shales Geology Bedrock Outcrops Structure Thickness Oil Shale Reserve Estimates Previous Investigations Classification of Data New Albany Shale - Assay Data Shales Associated with Coals - Assay Data PART IV - CONCLUSIONS	C-6 C-6 C-7 C-8 C-8 C-8 C-9 C-11 C-12 C-14 C-15 Exh.No.
Exhibits: Map - State of Kentucky Data on Oil Shales Data on the Oil Shales of the State of Kentucky, September 1950 Bibliography	C-1 C-2 C-3

Certificate of Subcontractors



٠

♣

٠

٠

۶.

.

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

Ку 70021

# ford, Bacon & Davis Jucorporated

# Engineers

NEW YORK CHICAGO

4

CONSTRUCTION VALUATIONS REPORTS MANAGEMENT

PHILADELPHIA LOS ANGELES

39 BROADWAY NEW YORK 6

New York, December 14, 1951

The Chief of Engineers Department of the Army Washington 25, D. C.

Dear Sirs:

We submit herewith our report upon "The Synthetic Liquid Fuel Potential of Kentucky", in accordance with Contract No. W 49-129 eng-137 concluded between us May 3, 1949.

Our survey disclosed widespread interest in synthetic liquid fuels. Informed public opinion recognizes the need for utilizing to the utmost all possible resources for the maintenance of our national welfare and security. Both public and private agencies have been very helpful in supplying data and entering into frank discussions with us on the subject. We welcome this opportunity to thank them for their cooperation.

Supplies of crude petroleum, the source of liquid fuels, are not inexhaustible. Provision must be made for the day when such fuel reserves become dangerously low. Foresight is required of all of us in facing this problem.

Over-all requirements of our natural resources are constantly changing. Obviously, no survey can do more than describe conditions in the light of present knowledge.

We believe that this report will be of value in formulating policy with respect to the future development of synthetic liquid fuels.

> Very truly yours, (Signed) Ford, Bacon & Davis, Inc.

REPORT

+

٠

•



oidO	91
Muhlenberg-McLea	SI
Hopkins-Christian	14
Webster	13
noinU	15
Henderson	II
Daviess	IO
Bell	6
Harlan-Letcher	8
North Letcher	L
Leslie-Harlan	9
Perry-Breathitt	G
Knott-Breathitt	4
Floyd-Magoffin	3
Ріке	5
nittogeM-nozndol	I
DOIN IDIOLOD	1001

REPORT FOR BUREAU OF MINES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

THE SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUEL POTENTIAL OF KENTUCKY

DECEMBER 14, 1951

#### SUMMARY

#### Introduction

The Department of the Interior, as part of its broad program of synthetic liquid fuels research, requested the Department of the Army in 1947 to assist in the development of the synthetic liquid fuels program. This investigation and report on Kentucky are in part fulfillment of a contract to that effect awarded by the Corps of Engineers of the Department of the Army. The contract calls for a survey of 37 states and Alaska to determine Suitable General Areas and their potential capacity for the production of synthetic liquid fuels from coal, natural gas, oil shale, and oil-impregnated strippable deposits.

For General Areas containing raw materials and water supply of proper quantity and quality required by synthetic liquid fuels plants, various economic factors further affecting the suitability of such Areas for plant location are critically examined. No core drillings, extensive sampling, or detailed field examinations were made, and studies are based on information now available. Suitable General Areas as indicated on the map on the facing page were determined and defined but no specific plant sites are selected.

#### Raw Materials

The raw materials considered in this survey of Kentucky are coal, natural gas, oil shale, and oil-impregnated strippable deposits.

(y 4a 10 70021 Coal. Of the four raw materials considered, coal was found to be the most important from the standpoint of meeting the survey requirements for synthetic liquid fuels production.

<u>Oil-Impregnated Strippable Deposits.</u> Eighteen counties in Kentucky contain oil-impregnated strippable deposits, the second raw material under consideration. The largest deposits in the State, in Edmonson and Logan Counties, comprise 434 million tons of oil-impregnated material in place or 347 million tons recoverable, occurring in beds 15 to 35 feet thick with less than an equal footage of overburden. These deposits contain from 10 to 15 gallons of oil per ton. Of the 347 million tons recoverable, 196 million are within an area of 4,220 acres in Edmonson County and the remainder in 2,253 acres of Logan County. The following table gives a few pertinent data about the major Edmonson and Logan County deposits:

> Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits in Edmonson and Logan Counties, Kentucky (As of January 1, 1950)

Description	Edmonson County	Logan County
Number of Local Areas	7	6
Total Area (Acres)	4,220	2,253
Thickness of Beds (Feet)	15-30	20-35
Thickness of Overburden (Feet)	15-30	15-35
Dip of Beds	Horizontal	Horizontal
Oil (Bitumen) Content (Gallons		
per Ton)	10-15	10-14.4
Recoverable Reserves (Tons):		
Indicated, Tertiary	125,885,000	27,752,000
Inferred, Secondary	21,648,000	-
Inferred, Tertiary	48,018,000	123,508,000
Total	195,551,000	151,260,000
Equivalent Oil (Bitumen) Content		
(Thousands of Gallons):	1 258 850	321 000
Indicated, Tertiary	324 720	524,030
Interred, Becondary	524,720	1 235 080
interreu, terciary		1,200,000
Total (1,000 Gallons)	2,107,596	1,559,170
Total (1,000 Barrels)	50,000	37,000

Both Edmonson and Logan Counties are General Areas of Raw Material Availability.

5

4

Кy

4b 5a 10 7002

No other deposits of such material were found meeting the minimum requirements of this survey, which specify at least 10 million tons within 5 square miles in beds at least 15 feet thick under no more than their own thickness of overburden and averaging not less than 10 gallons of oil per ton.

The scope of this investigation with respect to oilimpregnated strippable deposits is limited to a general determination of the nature and extent of such deposits and their suitability or unsuitability for the manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels.

Natural Gas. The total reserves of natural gas in Kentucky, as of January 1, 1949, are estimated at 1,684,300,000 Mcf under standard conditions. All of the gas reserves are either under contract or will be used in field operations. Consequently, none could be considered to meet the survey requirements, which call for undedicated deposits, within a radius of 40 miles, of at least 225 trillion Btu (225,000,000 Mcf of 1,000-Btu gas) with a heating value of at least 400 Btu per cubic foot at standard conditions.

<u>Oil Shale.</u> The limited deposits of oil shale in Kentucky are not of sufficient richness or thickness to meet the survey's minimum requirements of 100,000,000 tons within a 5-square-mile area in beds at least 25 feet thick and yielding an average of at least 15 gallons of oil per ton.

#### General Features

The surface of Kentucky rises gradually from the Mississippi River to the western slope of the Appalachian Mountain province. The region west of the Tennessee River is low, the central portion is rolling, and the entire eastern part is much dissected, being part of the Allegheny Mountain region. The State has many rivers, among the principal of which are the Mississippi, Ohio, Cumberland, Tennessee, and Kentucky. Drainage from the State is to the west and northwest, emptying into the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers. Forty-six percent of the State is forested, and coal production is confined to 31 counties in the eastern part and 14 counties in the west. Within the region underlain by coal, there are ample water resources. The 1950 population density averages 72.8 persons per square mile throughout the 40,109 square miles (land area) of the State.

In the eastern coal-bearing section of Kentucky, the principal economic activities are agriculture and coal mining. In the western coal-bearing section, there is considerable manufacturing in the two counties immediately south of Evansville, Indiana; in the balance of the western counties, agriculture and coal mining predominate.

Ky 5b 6a 10 0021

#### Processes

Since coal is found to be the most important raw material available in requisite quantities, only two processes of synthetic liquid fuels manufacture are considered, namely, hydrogenation and the synthine process.

In hydrogenation, coal is liquefied by combination with hydrogen at high pressures and temperatures in the presence of a catalyst. In the synthine process, coal is first converted to a gaseous mixture of carbon monoxide and hydrogen, which gases, in the presence of a suitable catalyst, combine to form liquid fuels. Both processes require major quantities of coal for direct conversion to liquid fuels and to provide energy for such conversion, and also of water, chiefly as a cooling medium. The unit plant size, adopted in this survey as a basis for estimates for comparison, is 10,000-barrel-per-day capacity.

As a synthetic liquid fuels program of any magnitude must necessarily require a considerable period of years for its realization, estimates of unit quantities of raw materials required and unit costs of plant construction and operation, used in this survey for determining ultimate production potential and relative desirability of the General Areas have been based on the assumed use of certain improvements in equipment and process which are still under development but which seem reasonably likely to be available by the time such a program could be well under way, such as direct pressure gasification of coal, and in the case of hydrogenation, some methods of equipment construction not now in general use in this country. Moreover, the estimated data and costs for the coal synthine process have been taken from preliminary studies made by the U.S. Bureau of Mines for a report which is not yet completed. The final estimates of the Bureau, when available, may differ materially from these preliminary figures. While the data used have been selected as offering a fair basis of comparison it must be understood that if synthetic liquid fuels plants were to be built at the present day, using only equipment and processes already commercially available, coal requirements and plant and product costs could be considerably greater than those shown in this report.

Subject to the above comments, daily requirements of Kentucky coals, as received at the synthetic liquid fuels plants, should average about 3,800 tons for a hydrogenation unit plant and about 4,900 tons for a coal synthine unit plant.

#### General Areas of Coal Availability

The coal-bearing formations of Kentucky are in two distinct areas, of which the larger is in eastern Kentucky and the Ky 6b 7a 10 70021 smaller in western Kentucky. The eastern Kentucky field occupies approximately 10,450 square miles in all or parts of 37 counties. In the west, the coal-bearing formations extend under an area of about 4,680 square miles in all or parts of 21 counties.

In eastern Kentucky, five counties are eliminated from consideration because of their location in a fringe position too near the outer most limits of the coal-bearing area. In this part of the State, 18 other counties are eliminated because of insufficient or isolated reserves. In eastern Kentucky, 14 counties remained for consideration. In the west, six counties have been eliminated due to their outer most fringe position and five more due to insufficient or isolated reserves. In this part of the State, 10 counties remain for further consideration, making 24 counties in the State as a whole.

Of the 24 counties, 20 are found to contain 16 areas, each not larger than a county or 1,000 square miles, in each of which there are estimated adequate coal reserves for a 40 years' supply of at least one 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels plant. These are designated General Areas of Coal Availability. Identified by the names of the counties in which important portions lie, these General Areas are:

Johnson-Magoffin Be	ell
Pike Da	aviess
Floyd-Magoffin He	enderson
Knott-Breathitt Un	nion
Perry-Breathitt We	ebster
Leslie-Harlan Ho	opkins-Christian
Northern-Letcher Mu	ihlenberg-McLean
Harlan-Letcher Ol	nio

The total tonnage of coal considered for synthetic liquid fuels production in Kentucky as of January 1, 1949, based on available information and within the limits of reserves specified for this survey, as described in Part II of this report under "Definitions" and in Part IV under "Survey Methods and Procedure", was estimated at 22,932,403,000 tons in place or 12,826,094,000 tons recoverable (380,726,000 tons by strip mining and 12,445,368,000 tons by underground methods). These estimates are, therefore, not comparable with other coal estimates which generally include the total coal reserves in Kentucky without the limitations imposed by this survey. For example, in Circular 94 of the U.S. Geological Survey, the total recoverable reserves for all coal areas in Kentucky, as of January 1, 1950, (assuming 50 percent recovery) are reported as 59,711,697,000 tons. The estimate of the U.S. Geological Survey is based on one of those prepared by M.R. Campbell in the years prior to 1928, for which a new appraisal was not available.

(y\* 7<u>b+</u> 10 70021 After giving consideration to isolated areas with insufficient reserves to provide at least one synthetic liquid fuels unit plant for 40 years, providing commercial requirements for the next 50 years, and further contract limitations as to the use of primary and secondary reserves, the total tonnage of coal recoverable and available for the manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels in the 16 General Areas of Coal Availability in Kentucky was estimated to be 11,910,205,000 tons, all suitable for conversion by either hydrogenation or the coal synthine process.

The recoverable coal reserves in Kentucky are distributed by counties, in total and as contained within the 16 General Areas of Coal Availability, as follows:

> Ку 7с 8 10 70021

	(1)	,000 Tons)			
Coal- In the 16 General Areas of bearing Coal Availability (B)					
- · ·	Counties	Including All	Eliminating Exces		
County	<u>(A)</u>	Secondary Reserves	Secondary Reserve		
Eastern Kentucl	ry				
Bell	228,544	221,622	221,622		
Breathitt	107.687	21,796	21,796		
Clay	49,719		-		
Floyd	1.004.168	987.211	987.211		
Johnson	189,621	189,621	189,621		
Harlan	1.033.164	989,083	989,083		
Knott	749.057	701,274	650,026		
Knor	41 950				
Tealie	362 033	340 286	340 286		
Letcher	550 945	192 198	492 198		
Magoffin	120 618		96 545		
Maguiin	20 673	30,040	50,0 <del>4</del> 0		
Ponny Donny	520,075	400 803	400 893		
rerry Pilko	2 722 205	2 560 570	2 560 570		
LTVC	2,102,333	2,000,019	2,300,313		
Total East-	-				
ern Kentud	ky 7,778,629	7,091,108	7,039,860		
lestern Kentuck	<u>ry</u>				
Butler	12,862	-	-		
Christian	23,232	23,232	23,232		
Daviess	76,567	76,567	76,567		
Henderson	498,271	480,074	459,866		
Hopkins	1,377,784	1,377,784	1,377,784		
McLean	137,620	113,737	113,737		
Muhlenberg	957,832	925,739	925,739		
Ohio	529,135	508,943	508,943		
Union	599,491	599,491	599,491		
Webster	834,671	794,247	784,986		
Total West-					
ern Kentuc	ky <u>5,047,465</u>	4,899,814	4,870,345		

0 0021 \*

У.

۵

1

Notes: (A) Before elimination of unsatisfactory areas. (B) After elimination of unsatisfactory areas.

The following table lists for each of the 16 General Areas the recoverable coal reserves, the average heating value of the coal and the potential synthetic liquid fuels production in total and as a daily average over a 40-year period. These estimates are presented individually for both the hydrogenation and coal synthine process, but the potential production is not additive.

٩.

Recoverable Coal Potential by Gene: in Total	Reserves and Ed ral Areas of Co and as a Dail;	quivalent ( oal Availa) y Average (	Synthetic Li bility and D Over 40 Year	iquid Fuels by Process, rs
	(AS OI Janua)	гу <sub>1</sub> тэ <del>т</del> э	/ Reviewsley	-t Defentiol
General Areas	Available	Average Btu per	Total	Average Daily Plant Capacity
of Coal Availability	Coal Reserves	Pound (As	(1,000,000	40-year Period
AVAILADILLUY		<u>Necerved</u>		(1,000 501)
Hydrogenation Proces	<u>SS</u>			
Johnson-Magoffin	212,552	13,730	596	41
Pike	2,560,579	14,090	7,363	504
Floyd-Magoffin	1,060,825	13,430	2,908	199
Knott-Breathitt	660,814	13,750	1,854	127
Perry-Breathitt	501,901	13,490	1,382	95
Leslie-Harlan	353,679	13,680	987	68
Northern Letcher	378,834	13,970	1,080	74
Harlan-Letcher	1.089.054	13.980	3,107	213
Bell	221.622	13,800	624	43
Daviess	76,567	10,790	169	12
Henderson	459,866	10,960	1.029	70
Union	599,491	12,340	1,510	103
Webster	784 986	12,400	1 986	136
Honking_Christian	1 401 016	11 990	3 428	235
Muhlenheng_McLean	1 039 476	12 120	2 571	176
Obto	508 9/3	11 640	1 200	82
01110		11,040	1,203	
Total	11,910,205		31,803	2,178
Coal Synthine Proces	38			
Johnson-Magoffin	212,552	13,730	463	32
Pike	2,560,579	14,090	5,727	392
Floyd-Magoffin	1,060,825	13,430	2,261	155
Knott-Breathitt	660,814	13,750	1,442	99
Perry-Breathitt	501,901	13,490	1,075	74
Leslie-Harlan	353,679	13,680	768	53
Northern Letcher	378,834	13.970	840	58
Harlan-Letcher	1.089.054	13,980	2.417	166
Bell	221,622	13,800	<b>4</b> 85	33
Daviess	76.567	10,790	131	9(A)
Henderson	459.866	10,960	800	55
Union	599.491	12.340	1.174	80
Webster	784.986	12.400	1.545	106
Hopkins-Christian	1.401.016	11,990	2,666	183
Muhlenberg-McLean	1.039.476	12,120	2,000	137
Ohto	508 943	11 640	940	64
			¥¥¥	<u> </u>
Total	11,910,205		24,734	1,696

۶

.

.

i

٠

[y ]

.0b 10 70021

i

Note: (A) Recoverable Coal Reserves in the Daviess General Area are insufficient for a 40-year supply of one coal synthine unit plant. Five of the sixteen General Areas of Coal Availability contain varying amounts of coal minable by stripping methods. Of the total capacities, reserves considered so minable could support, over a full 40-year period, a production capacity of 63,000 barrels per day using the hydrogenation process or 49,000 barrels per day using the coal synthine process. The remaining capacity previously reported could be supported by underground-mined reserves.

The coal reserves in the 16 General Areas of Coal Availability are in 7 principal beds and vary in rank from highvolatile A bituminous to high-volatile C bituminous. Btu content, as received, ranges from a minimum of 10,790 Btu per pound to a maximum of 14,290 Btu per pound.

The value of petrography in predicting hydrogenation yield lies in the fact that the degree of heterogeneity of lithologic components is readily indicated and the approximate proportions of anthraxylon and translucent attritus (easy to liquefy) as well as of high-carbon opaque constituents (difficult to liquefy) are revealed.

The U.S. Bureau of Mines has reported results of several petrographic assays on representative Kentucky coals indicating that the eastern Kentucky coals range from the "bright" petrographic type, wherein anthraxylon and translucent attritus predominate, with opaque attritus and fusain being present in minor amounts, to predominantly attrital types with moderately high percentages of opaque attritus indicating a composition approaching that of semisplint coal. The western Kentucky coals are largely of the "bright" petrographic type. Since most of the coals of the 16 General Areas are similar in rank, appearance, and chemical composition to the above coals for which petrographic analyses are available, there is no reason to expect any substantial differences in the degree of heterogeneity or adaptability to hydrogenation of Kentucky coals.

The Bureau of Mines publications contain relatively comprehensive information on the organic and inorganic sulfur content of representative Kentucky coals. Available information indicates that inorganic sulfur, which is considered amenable to reduction by mechanical cleaning, may range from 34 to 87 percent, averaging 66 percent of the total sulfur in eastern Kentucky coal beds, and from 38 to 52 percent, averaging 43 percent of the total sulfur in western Kentucky coal beds. The complete removal of pyritic (inorganic) sulfur by mechanical cleaning of the coal, if possible, would result in decreasing the total sulfur content in eastern Kentucky coals by approximately 34 percent. However, further study of these coals is necessary to evaluate the reduction of total sulfur that might result from mechanical cleaning.

Кy

11

12

7002

Representative chemical analyses of coals from the 16 General Areas show the following values for selected items:

General Area	Moisture (Percent)	Ash (Percent)	Sulfur (Percent)	Btu per Pound
Eastern Kentucky:				
Johnson-Magoffin	4.7%	3.0%	1.2%	13,730
Pike	3.1	4.3	1.0	14.090
Floyd-Magoffin	3.9	6.1	1.5	13.430
Knott-Breathitt	3.7	4.9	1.0	13,750
Perry-Breathitt	4.3	5.3	0.7	13,490
Leslie-Harlan	3.9	4.4	0.7	13,680
Northern Letcher	3.5	4.0	0.9	13,970
Harlan-Letcher	3.3	4.2	0.7	13,980
Bell	2.8	5.0	1.2	13,800
Western Kentucky:				
Daviess	12.1	11.7	3.0	10,790
Henderson	10.7	12.8	3.4	10,960
Union	5.9	10.0	3.7	12,340
Webster	6.1	9.3	3.3	12,400
Hopkins-Christian	8.5	8.7	3.2	11,990
Muhlenberg-McLean	7.9	8.6	3.7	12,120
Ohio	9.6	9.3	3.7	11,640

Representative Analyses of Coal Reserves in the 16 General Areas (Mine Samples, As-received Basis)

The bituminous coal reserves in Kentucky are similar to other coals of equal rank in weathering and slacking characteristics and present no particular storage problems. These coals usually slack readily but do not ignite spontaneously when exposed to air. Such coals present no particular storage problem. Kentucky coals are similar in grindability and friability to comparable industrial coals.

Most of the coal beds in eastern Kentucky contain thin partings of bone or shale ranging from less than 1/8 inch to as much as 6 inches in thickness. The principal beds of western Kentucky coals usually contain one or more bedded impurities or partings. These partings range from less than 1/4 inch to 3 inches or more in thickness.

3aThe greater Btu input requirements for coal synthine10plants result in larger quantities, and thus higher total costs,0021for the coal supply. Capital costs to provide coal mining facil-\*ities in the 16 General Areas are shown below:

Кy

2b

	<b>77 A</b>	- A. 1971 8		
	Undergrou	na Mining	Strip M:	Ining Triffal
	Datly	Canital	Dailv	Canital
	Production	Cost	Production	Cost
General Area	(Tons)	(\$1.000's)	(Tons)	(\$1,000's)
	(240 Days		(240 Days	
Hydrogenation	per Yr)		per Yr)	
Johnson-Magoffin	5,428	\$7,818	-	-
Pike	5,289	6,345	-	-
Floyd-Magoffin	5,550	6,660	-	-
Knott-Breathitt	5,420	6,505	-	-
Perry-Breathitt	5,524	6,630	-	-
Leslie-Harlan	448 , 5	6,535	-	-
Northern Letcher	5,335	6,400	-	-
Harlan-Letcher	5,331	6,395	-	-
Bell	5,400	7,128	-	-
Daviess	6,906	7,457	6,906	\$6,214
Henderson	6,800	7,344	-	-
Union	6,039	6,521	-	-
Webster	6,010	6,489	6,019	5,058
Hopkins-Christian	6,216	5,968	6,252	5,254
Munienberg-McLean	6,149 C 7C7	5,904	6,144	5,165
UNIO	0,000	6,872	6,400	5,044
Coal Synthine Process				
Johnson-Magoffin	6,978	\$10,050	-	_
Pike	6,800	8,160	-	-
Floyd-Magoffin	7,134	8,560	-	-
Knott-Breathitt	6,968	8,360		-
Perry-Breathitt	7,102	8,525	<b>4</b>	-
Leslie-Harlan	7,003	405,8	-	-
Northern Letcher	6,859	8,230	-	-
Harlan-Letcher	6,853	8,225	-	-
Bell	6,943	9,163	<b>G</b>	-
Daviess (A)	8,880	9,590	8,880	7,991
Henderson	8,742	9,441	<b>B</b> 0	-
Union	7,764	8,384	-	-
Webster	7,727	8,348	7,740	6,500
Hopkins-Christian	7,990	7,672	8,038	6,752
Muhlenberg-McLean	7,905	7,588	7,899	0,636
Ohio	8,182	8,838	8,317	6,487

Tonnages of Coal Required and Initial Capital Cost of Coal Supply for 10,000-barrel-per-day Unit Plants (As of March 31, 1950)

Note: (A) Coal reserves insufficient for one coal synthine unit plant.

15

13b 10 70021

-

Кy

٠

۰.

.

Factors influencing capital costs include depth and character of the coal beds and associated strata, also the quantity and quality of the coal. The costs provide for all necessary mine structures and operating equipment, facilities for transporting the output from two or more adjacent mining operations to a joint preparation plant, as well as for mechanical cleaning to produce a merchantable 'coal, waste disposal, surge storage at the mine, engineering, development, and contingencies.

2

Ку

14 10 70021 The estimated unit costs of coal per ton, per million Btu, and per barrel of synthetic liquid fuels are shown below for each General Area:

Estimated Coal Production Costs in Kentucky General Areas <u>To Supply 10,000-barrel-per-day Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plants</u> (As of March 31, 1950)

General Area	Btu per Pound	Dollars per Ton	Cents per Million <u>Btu</u>	Dollars p Hydro- genation	er Barrel Coal Synthine
Johnson-Magoffin	13,730	\$5.11	18.61¢	\$1.82	\$2.34
Pike	14,090	4.76	16.89	1.66	2.13
Floyd-Magoffin	13,430	4,66	17.35	1.70	2.19
Knott-Breathitt	13,750	4.66	16.95	1.66	2.14
Perry-Breathitt	13,490	4.66	17.27	1.69	2.18
Leslie-Harlan	13,680	4,66	17.03	1.67	2.15
Northern Letcher	13,970	4.66	16.68	1.63	2.10
Harlan-Letcher	13,980	4.76	17.02	1.67	2.14
Bell	13,800	4.71	17.07	1.67	2.15
Daviess:					
Hydrogenation	10,790	3.76	17.42	1.71	
Coal Synthine	10,790	3.79	17.56		2.21
Henderson	10,960	4.16	18,98	1.86	2.39
Union	12,340	3.65	14.79	1.45	1.86
Webster:					
Hydrogenation	12,400	3.39	13.67	1.34	
Coal Synthine	12,400	3.44	13.87		1.75
Hopkins-Christian	11,920	2.81	11.79	1.16	1.49
Muhlenberg-McLean:					
Hydrogenation	12,130	2.81	1 <b>1.</b> 58	1.13	
Coal Synthine	12,130	2.89	11.91		1.50
Ohio	11,520	2.79	12.11	1.19	1.53
The estimates of costs presented in this survey are based upon available information and on generalized present-day methods of mining and preparation.

## General Areas of Coal and Water Availability

Investigation of potential sources of water for the large quantities required for synthetic liquid fuels processing shows that there is enough available water in the Ohio River and its tributaries to supply all of the plant capacity for which coal is available. Water required for full development would vary from 18 cubic feet per second (cfs), or 12 million gallons per day (mgd), in the Daviess General Area to 794 cfs, or 513 mgd in the Pike General Area. The total water required for complete development of the coal resources in all 16 General Areas would be 3,434 cfs or 2,219 mgd.

Water quantities and costs are based on the use of the synthine process, which requires the greater amount of water. Most of the process water is needed for cooling and, for the figures used, it is assumed that water would be recirculated through cooling towers.

Water for initial plants in eastern Kentucky could be supplied from the following tributaries of the Ohio River: Johns Creek, Mud Creek, and Caney Fork Reservoir. Another group of General Areas in the southeast could be supplied from sources such as Lotts Creek Reservoir, Middle Fork, Kentucky River Reservoir, and Cranks Creek Reservoir. In western Kentucky, the sources of water supply for initial unit plants would be the Ohio River, Green River, and the Lick Creek Reservoir.

Since each of the 16 General Areas has sufficient water for at least one 10,000-barrel-per-day plant for 40 years, they are all designated as General Areas of Coal and Water Availability.

Capital costs to supply water for process and domestic purposes for a unit project in each General Area are shown in the following table:

Initial Capital Cost To Supply Process and Domestic Water for One Unit Project in Each General Area (As of March 31, 1950)

	Capital Costs			
General Area	Process Water	Domestic Water	Total Cost	
Johnson-Magoffin	\$ 891,000	\$ 369,000	\$1,260,000	
Pike	2,846,000	708,000	3,554,000	
Floyd-Magoffin	3,170,000	766,000	3,936,000	
Knott-Breathitt	6,750,000	1,387,000	8,137,000	
Perry-Breathitt	3,957,000	902,000	4,859,000	
Leslie-Harlan	4,175,000	939,000	5,114,000	
Northern Letcher	5,754,000	1,214,000	6,968,000	
Harlan-Letcher	4,619,000	1,017,000	5,636,000	
Bell	4,246,000	952,000	5,198,000	
Daviess	495,000	300,000	795,000	
Henderson	721,000	340,000	1,061,000	
Union	628,000	324,000	952,000	
Webster	3,231,000	776,000	4,007,000	
Hopkins-Christian	6,766,000	1,389,000	8,155,000	
Muhlenberg-McLean	1,209,000	425,000	1,634,000	
Ohio –	898,000	370,000	1,268,000	
	•	-		

These costs are based on an adequate water supply system consisting of storage reservoirs, pumping stations, power lines, aqueducts, and storage at plant sites.

The estimated operating costs, as of March 31, 1950, for process water supplies for unit plants range from a minimum of \$0.017 per barrel of products in the Daviess General Area to a maximum of \$0.083 per barrel of products in Northern Letcher General Area.

There is sufficient water in the nearby creeks and rivers to supply ultimate development of all coal resources by the use of these water supplies.

### Suitability of General Areas

.

Power requirements for a hydrogenation unit plant amount
Ky to a total load of about 65,000 kw plus 3,000 kw for mine opera tion, of which 40,000 kw can be supplied either by purchased power,
or from a system integral with the plant proper. For the coal syn thine process, waste heat can supply the steam necessary to generate
the required power. The most economical source of power for hydro-

genation plants in the 16 General Areas might be in steam generating stations built as integral parts of the plants where power could be generated at an average cost of about 6.64 mills per kilowatthour (100 percent load factor) without allowance for return on the investment or for income taxes. Existing utilities could supply some power for construction purposes in each of the General Areas. In the nine eastern General Areas of Kentucky, the West Virginia Power Company has an ample supply of available power at an unusually low rate per kilowatthour. In the seven General Areas of western Kentucky, the cost of utility power appears higher. Further detailed studies may show that hydroelectric power obtained from the Corps of Engineers' proposed hydroelectric developments could be delivered at a synthetic liquid fuels plant at a cost comparable with or lower than thermal generation at the plant.

Construction and operation of synthetic liquid fuels plants will in general require direct water or rail facilities and a highway connection. The very rough and mountainous eastern portion of Kentucky has made railroad transportation generally difficult. In spite of these problems of terrain, the greater part of eastern Kentucky is within reach of one or the other of the major railroad facilities crossing this region. The western part of the State lies in the Highland Rim Plateau, which generally slopes toward the Mississippi and is not as rugged as the eastern part of the State. This section is generally served by the Louisville & Nashville or the Illinois Central Railroad and, except for river crossings, railroad branches do not present important engineering problems.

It is estimated that no capital costs are required to provide access transportation in three General Areas in the southeastern portion of the State, namely, Northern Letcher, Harlan-Letcher and Bell General Areas. The maximum estimated capital investment for access transportation is \$2,576,000 in the Leslie-Harlan General Area in southeastern Kentucky.

The average straight-time hourly wage rate, as of March 31, 1950, payable to wage earners (exclusive of supervisors) in synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky is estimated at \$1.64. In the coal counties of Kentucky, requirements of an average unit plant for total personnel could be satisfied by the numbers of unemployed in an area of about 17.5 miles radius in the eastern counties and about 20 miles radius in the western counties. Such conditions indicate an ample supply of labor to meet the requirements of an average unit plant as to total personnel in an area convenient to the plant. However, there are few workers in industries comparable with synthetic liquid fuels as to skills and

• K3

171

18

15 [7002

training required in any of the coal counties of Kentucky and it is considered that the requirements of a synthetic liquid fuels plant would have to be met by inducing workers to relocate from areas beyond the immediate vicinity of the plant. Accordingly, two differentials have been allowed in developing the rate payable in synthetic liquid fuels plants: (a) 8 cents per hour as an inducement for sufficient workers to relocate in the vicinity of the plant to completely satisfy personnel requirements, and (b) 3 cents per hour for average premium pay for working second and third shifts.

1

ζУ

18b

19a

10

70021

The net initial investment required for rental housing and community development in the average General Area, exclusive of onehalf of the residential property (assumed as sold) and exclusive of property used for commercial enterprises (assumed as self-supporting), is estimated, as of March 31, 1950, at \$4,388,136 in eastern Kentucky and \$6,201,267 in the west for a hydrogenation unit plant, and \$4,165,384 in eastern Kentucky and \$6,569,401 in the west for a coal synthine unit plant. It is assumed that rental housing will pay for operating and maintenance costs plus a return on the investment.

The potential marketing territory for synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky is defined as including the entire market in the States of Kentucky, Virginia, West Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida. Since the General Areas in eastern Kentucky are a part of a large region of coal and water availability located in southern West Virginia, western Virginia, and eastern Kentucky, it is assumed that the region would be developed as a whole to supply large quantities of synthetic liquid fuels to the markets in the South Atlantic States mentioned.

Motor fuel consumption in the marketing territory, excluding aviation and military uses, in 1948 amounted to 84.8 million barrels. This is equivalent to the gasoline output of 31 synthetic liquid fuels unit plants. It is estimated that by 1975 motor fuel requirements will reach an annual volume of 175.7 million barrels, the equivalent of the output of 64 synthetic liquid fuels unit plants.

While the major product of hydrogenation and coal synthine plants is motor gasoline, minor quantities of other fuels are specified to be produced, including Diesel fuel, heavy fuel oil, and liquefied petroleum gases. The proportions of these fuels in relation to gasoline are considerably different from the present demand pattern in the marketing territory. There is, however, some leeway in the processes, particularly the hydrogenation process, for varying the proportions of the various products. Consequently, it would appear that any large-scale development in the future would require synthetic liquid fuels plants to be designed so as to produce the products then in demand. There is some production of crude oil in Kentucky, but in most of the marketing territory, the demand for liquid fuels is economically supplied principally by petroleum products from refineries in Louisiana and Texas and to some extent from refineries near Baltimore and Philadelphia. Wholesale prices of petroleum products fob. refineries in Kentucky, as of June 1, 1950, amount to \$4.21 per barrel when weighted in the same proportions as the liquid fuel products specified to be produced by hydrogenation plants and to \$4.53 when weighted in the same proportions as for coal synthine plants. The estimates of future demand for liquid fuels in the marketing territory may be substantially reduced by a major increase in liquid fuel prices, altering the basic competitive positions of fuels. The prospective future supply of petroleum appears adequate to satisfy at least the major portion of future requirements for liquid fuels for a long period of years.

Synthetic liquid fuels plants situated in Kentucky would be well located for the distribution of products. A single unit plant in any one of the General Areas probably could market its output within reasonable trucking distance of the plant. If a substantial part of the requirements for motor fuel in the entire marketing territory were to be supplied by synthetic liquid fuels plants situated in the General Areas in eastern Kentucky, southern West Virginia, and western Virginia, economical transportation of products throughout the marketing territory could be obtained by the construction of a large-capacity pipe line extending to the Atlantic seaboard and connecting with the petroleum products pipe lines now serving the marketing territory.

The operation of synthetic liquid fuels plants and of the coal mines to supply them with raw material involves the production of wastes, for the disposal of which provision has been made. Liquid wastes may require skimming and sedimentation and, in some cases chemical treatment, before return to the streams; solid wastes (principally ash from the plant and refuse from coal cleaning at the mine) must be transported to the disposal areas and there piled up or compacted.

From a strategic standpoint, all 16 General Areas appear favorably located, especially due to the absence of nearby large cities. It is believed that the development of all General Areas could be planned to conform to all strategic considerations outlined in publications of the National Security Resources Board.

#### Comparison of Suitable General Areas

All of the foregoing economic features are reflected in the total capital costs and operating costs for synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky. Both cost estimates utilized the Bureau

~

of Mines method for estimating typical unit plant costs as adjusted to existing conditions in the 16 General Areas.

Initial capital costs for hydrogenation unit projects, as shown in Exhibit No. 85, range from a maximum of \$118,561,000 in the Knott-Breathitt General Area to a minimum of \$111,669,000 in the Ohio General Area. Similar capital costs for coal synthine unit projects, shown on Exhibit No. 86, range from a maximum of \$110,278,000 in the Knott-Breathitt General Area to a minimum of \$103,609,000 in the Ohio General Area. These estimates, as of March 31, 1950, provide for adequate coal and water supply, plant facilities, and access transportation, and include capital amounts for housing. In addition, there is provision for adequate waste disposal. Coal production costs include provision for cost of disposal of waste from mining operations and coal cleaning to provide a merchantable coal.

The estimated costs of synthetic liquid fuels and the potential plant capacities which can be provided by the available recoverable coal reserves over a 40-year period of time in all 16 Suitable General Areas in Kentucky are shown in a table which follows:

Ку 20Ъ 10 70021

	(As of March 31	, 1950)
Suitable <u>General Area</u>	Unit Plants 10,000-barrel- per-day	Cost per Barrel of Products of Initial Plant (A)
<u>Hydrogenation</u>		,
Muhlenberg-McLean Ohio Hopkins-Christian Webster Union Northern Letcher Pike Harlan-Letcher Bell Perry-Breathitt Floyd-Magoffin Daviess Leslie-Harlan Knott-Breathitt Johnson-Magoffin Henderson	17.6 8.2 23.5 13.6 10.3 7.4 50.4 21.3 4.3 9.5 19.9 1.2 6.8 12.7 4.1 7.0	\$5.189 5.238 5.265 5.412 5.497 5.736 5.744 5.747 5.752 5.765 5.767 5.770 5.770 5.774 5.776 5.862 5.915
Coal Synthine		
Muhlenberg-McLean Ohio Hopkins-Christian Webster Union Northern Letcher Pike Harlan-Letcher Bell Knott-Breathitt Perry-Breathitt Leslie-Harlan Floyd-Magoffin Daviess (B) Johnson-Magoffin Henderson	13.7 6.4 18.3 10.6 8.0 5.8 39.2 16.6 3.3 9.9 7.4 5.3 15.5 0.9 3.2 5.5	\$5.243 5.267 5.283 5.508 5.599 5.885 5.898 5.906 5.913 5.933 5.933 5.933 5.934 5.938 5.938 5.968 6.065 6.139

Order of Relative Desirability of

Suitable General Areas in Kentucky

Note: (A) Using strippable coal to the full extent available; ex-clusive of return on investment. (B) Coal reserves insufficient for the support for 40 years

of one coal synthine unit plant.

Кy

21 10 -70021

\*

The costs per barrel of products for one unit plant in each Area (from Exhibit No. 85 for the hydrogenation process and Exhibit No. 86 for the coal synthine process) assume use of strippable coal to the full extent available in Daviess, Webster, Hopkins-Christian, Muhlenberg-McLean, and Ohio General Areas. The operation of more than one unit plant in these Areas or continuation in operation of initial plants beyond the 40-year period would necessitate use of more expensive underground-mined coals at correspondingly increased capital and operating costs.

.

Кy

22**a** 10

70021

When less costly coal is depleted, the costs per barrel of products, as of March 31, 1950, in the five Suitable General Areas which initially contain some strippable coal, are estimated to be:

## Cost of Products Using Underground-mined Coal (As of March 31, 1950)

Cost p	er Ba	rrel	of	Products
--------	-------	------	----	----------

Suitable General Area	Hydrogenation	Coal Synthine
Daviess	\$5.828	(A)
Webster	5.513	\$5.614
Hopkins-Christian	5.667	5.800
Muhlenberg-McLean	5.594	5.722
Ohio	5.721	5.888

Note: (A) Insufficient coal reserves in Daviess General Area to warrant consideration of more than one unit plant for 40 years.

Operating costs for a hydrogenation unit plant (excluding return on investment) range from a maximum of \$5.915 per barrel (14.08 cents per gallon) in the Henderson General Area to a minimum of \$5.189 per barrel (12.35 cents per gallon) in the Muhlenberg-McLean General Area. For synthine unit plants, similar figures range from a maximum of \$6.139 per barrel (14.62 cents per gallon) in the Henderson General Area to a minimum of \$5.243 per barrel (12.48 cents per gallon) in the Muhlenberg-McLean General Area. Costs as stated herein, as directed by the Contracting Officer, are based on operating costs of the process rather than a "cost of service" or selling price basis. Such costs are based on the Bureau of Mines formula and include a basic allowance for plant maintenance of approximately 3 percent of plant investment. They also include an allowance equal to 10 percent of direct labor, plant maintenance and operating supplies for general administration and general office overhead (which includes the salaries and wages of a General Manager or a Plant Manager and his immediate staff reporting directly to management); 6-2/3 percent of plant investment for depreciation; and 1 percent of plant investment for insurance and local, county, and State real estate taxes; but they include no allowance for head office or top management costs, selling expenses, return on investment, or sales and corporate (including income) taxes. Costs of coal used in the process have been computed without including selling cost or return on investment. The cost of water has been estimated on the same basis. Return on total initial capital investment, including coal and water as indicated herein, would require on an average about 29.3 cents for the coal synthine process and 31.5 cents for hydrogenation per barrel of products for each 1 percent gross return before the deduction of income taxes.

The costs herein are reported as per barrel of total products. Estimates of the equivalent costs of gasoline and credits for sale of by-products were not considered necessary for the determination of the most desirable General Areas. Because the product grades and quantities are different for each process, the raw material and process selected in each General Area would be the one whose products most satisfactorily meet the particular market demand. Therefore, comparison of General Areas has been made separately for each process.

## Synthetic Liquid Fuels Potential of Suitable General Areas

The potential synthetic liquid fuels capacity of the Suitable General Areas in Kentucky, in total and as a daily average over a 40-year period of time, would be:

Ky 22b to 24 10 70021 Synthetic Liquid Fuels Potential in the Suitable General Areas in Kentucky in Total and as a Daily Average over 40 Years, Using Coal as Raw Material in 1,000 Barrels (As of January 1, 1949)

	Total Potential		Equivalent Average Daily Plant Capacity for 40-Year Period	
Suitable	Hydro-	Coal		•
<u>General Area</u>	genation	Synthine	Hydrogenation	Coal Synthine
Johnson-Magoffin	596.000	463,000	41	. 32
Pike	7.363.000	5.727.000	504	392
Floyd-Magoffin	2ູ້908ູ້000	2,261,000	199	155
Knott-Breathitt	1,854,000	1,442,000	127	99
Perry-Breathitt	1,382,000	1,075,000	95	74
Leslie-Harlan	987,000	768,000	68	53
Northern Letcher	1,080,000	840,000	74	58
Harlan Letcher	3,107,000	2,417,000	213	166
Bell	624,000	485,000	43	33
Daviess	169,000	131,000	12	9(A)
Henderson	1,029,000	800,000	70	55
Union	1,510,000	1,174,000	103	80
Webster	1,986,000	1,545,000	136	106
Hopkins-Christian	3,428,000	2,666,000	235	183
Muhlenberg-McLean	2,571,000	2,000,000	176	137
Ohio	1,209,000	940,000	82	<u>    64</u>
Total	31,803,000	24,734,000	2,178	1,696

Note: (A) Coal reserves in the Daviess General Area are insufficient for a 40-year supply of one coal synthine unit plant.

Bituminous coals are the only raw materials available in Kentucky for the manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels. Although deposits of oil-impregnated strippable deposits exist in quantity and quality meeting the survey requirements, unavailability of plant requirement data and of specific processing specifications preclude establishment of Suitable General Areas for the production of synthetic liquid fuels from oil-impregnated strippable deposits.

Кy

1.

PART I - INTRODUCTION

1

ку <u>26</u> <u>3</u> 70021

#

.

#### INTRODUCTION

### Authorization

At the request of the Secretary of the Interior, the Department of the Army directed the Corps of Engineers to make a survey of the United States and Alaska to determine areas suitable for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture. In order to accomplish this survey, a contract (W 49-129 eng-137) was made between the United States of America and Ford, Bacon & Davis, Inc., (sometimes hereinafter referred to as the Contractor). This investigation and report have been made as a part of that required by the contract. By approval of the Corps of Engineers, Department of the Army, portions of the contract obligations were subcontracted to other firms engaged as experts in their particular fields of operation, as follows:

- Subcontract No. 1 to Paul Weir Company, Inc., Chicago, Ill., for coal investigations.
- Subcontract No. 2 to DeGolyer and MacNaughton (a corporation), Dallas, Texas, for natural gas investigations.
- Subcontract No. 3 to DeGolyer and MacNaughton (a corporation), Dallas, Texas, for oil shale investigations.
- Subcontract No. 4 to Malcolm Pirnie Engineers (a partnership), New York City, for water supply investigations.
- Subcontract No. 5 to Max W. Ball (an individual), Washington, D.C., for investigations of oilimpregnated strippable deposits.

#### Purpose

Ky 27a

70021

`

This study was undertaken to determine the potential synthetic liquid fuels production capacity of the State of Kentucky. To make such a determination, three categories of study are usually required; in order, they are:

 Investigate the reserves of coal, natural gas, oil shale, and oil-impregnated strippable deposits available for the manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels.

- 2. Select General Areas of Raw Material and Water Availability.
- 3. Determine the suitability of each General Area so selected for the production of synthetic liquid fuels.

### Scope of Survey

In the selection of General Areas suitable for the location of synthetic liquid fuels plants, where all plant requirements can be met, the survey does not select or establish specific sites for the construction of a plant. The studies are based primarily on available information and data obtained from various authoritative sources. No detailed field surveys were carried out, but a brief reconnaissance was made of a number of the General Areas.

The raw materials considered in this survey are:

- (a) Coal
- (b) Natural gas
- (c) Oil shale
- (d) Oil-impregnated strippable deposits (Limited to the determination of raw material reserves).

Because of the known deposits of coal in Kentucky and their economic importance, a complete detailed survey for that raw material was authorized by the Corps of Engineers. This comprised, in addition to the determination of available coal reserves, a determination of water availability and a critical examination of the suitability of other conditions affecting plant location for the manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels.

The report authorized on oil-impregnated strippable deposits is confined to determination of the nature and extent of available deposits; no consideration is given to other factors influencing plant location for the production of synthetic liquid fuels nor to processing facilities or costs.

As available information indicated that deposits of natural gas and oil shale do not exist in Kentucky in sufficient quantities to constitute reserves, as defined herein, for the production of synthetic liquid fuels (although of possible economic importance), the Corps of Engineers directed that the investigation in respect of those materials be limited to a general determination of the nature and extent of such deposits and their suitability or unsuitability for the manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels. The scope of the required report, as well as the conclusions contained in this report that available information indicated insufficient deposits of these materials to constitute reserves for the manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels, obviate the necessity for making an investigation in respect of these materials as to General Areas suitable for the location of synthetic liquid fuels plants.

To facilitate further study, those coal reserves found to be of satisfactory quality and quantity were grouped into areas not larger than a county or 1,000 square miles. Where such areas contained reserves adequate for 40 years' operation of at least one 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels plant, they were designated as General Areas of Coal Availability. Those areas found also to have adequate supply of water for at least one 10,000-barrel-perday plant were designated as General Areas of Coal and Water Availability.

General Areas of Coal and Water Availability were then critically examined with reference to the following factors to determine their suitability for the production of synthetic liquid fuels.

- 1. Raw materials
- 2. Water supply
- 3. Power
- 4. Access transportation
- 5. Labor
- 6. Housing
- 7. Marketing and products transportation
- 8. Waste disposal
- 9. Plant investment
- 10. Processing costs
- 11. Strategic considerations.

The total comparative costs per barrel of products determined from a study of the several factors listed above, together with consideration of other factors incapable of evaluation in dollars and cents, made possible the listing of the several Suitable General Areas in their order of desirability, considering separately each applicable manufacturing process.

Ky 28b 29 3 70021

ġ

PART II - GENERAL

.

\*

٠

#### GENERAL

The terminology used in this report is that in general use and acceptance. Such terms, together with those idiomatic to this survey, are defined in the following paragraphs:

#### Definition of General Terms

Ку 31

70021

General terms used in this report are defined as follows:

A General Area as used herein is not larger than a county or 1,000 square miles, depending on local conditions. General Areas are used to facilitate the detailed study of parts of the state and are designated by name.

A General Area of Coal Availability is one where adequate coal reserves are available for 40 years' operation of at least one 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels plant, in conformity with raw material requirements for such plants.

A <u>General Area of Coal and Water Availability</u> is one where both adequate coal reserves and water supply are available for 40 years' operation of at least one 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels plant, in conformity with raw material and water requirements.

A <u>Suitable General Area</u> is one which meets all requirements for 40 years' operation of at least one 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels plant using coal in conformity with plant requirements as to raw materials, water supply, power, transportation, labor, housing, marketing, transportation of plant products, waste disposal, and strategic considerations.

A Unit Plant is the amount of production capacity adopted in the survey for purposes of comparison and for estimation of investment, operating costs, etc. It is not necessarily the most efficient size for an independent plant. The sizes adopted in the survey as unit plants are:

### Sizes of Unit Plants

#### Process

### Barrels per Day

Hydrogenation of	coal	10,000
Synthine process	using coal	10,000

# Definition of Coal

Bituminous Coal - Coal having less than 86 percent fixed carbon (dry, mineral-matter-free basis) and, if fixed carbon is less than 69 percent, having a heating value of 11,000 or more Btu (moist, mineral-matter-free basis) and either agglomerating or nonweathering.

#### Types of Coal Mining and Related Terms

Strip Mining - The method of first removing the overburden so as to expose the coal seam, usually by power shovels or drag lines, and then "loading" the coal.

Underground Mining - The method of coal extraction through underground operations, usually by driving a tunnel or drift, or by sinking a slope or shaft.

Overburden - In strip operations, the soil or surface material, or the geological formation, overlying the coal seam.

<u>Stripping Ratio</u> - The ratio between the thickness of the overburden and the thickness of the underlying coal seam.

Overburden Ratio - The ratio between the cubic yards of overburden and the tons of recoverable coal.

### Geological Terms

Geological terms in common use include the following:

Horizon (Geological) - Strata formed at the same geological time at different locations.

Stratigraphic Section - A vertical cross section showing the relative position and thickness of geological formations in a particular area.

<u>Coal Bed or Seam</u> - A well-marked or homogeneous division of a stratified series, characterized by a more or less welldefined divisional plane from its neighbors above and below.

<u>Dip</u> - The angle which the plane of a bed makes with the horizontal plane.

<u>Outcrop</u> - The occurrence of any geologic strata of rock or coal at or immediately below the surface of the ground. Ky <u>32</u>a 3 70021 Parting - Extraneous material in a coal seam, in a relatively thin layer, separating parts of the seam. When parallel to the plane of the coal, partings usually consist of sedimentary material, such as clay, shale, or sandstone. Partings which cross the plane of the coal seam commonly may contain calcite, kaolinite, or pyrite.

Bench - A stratum of coal forming part of the seam.

Bone (or Bony Coal) - Slaty coal or carbonaceous shale found in coal seams.

Terms Relating to Classification and Analysis of Coal

Among the terms in general use relating to analysis, classification, and mining of coal are the following:

<u>Raw Coal</u> - Coal as it comes out of the mine, not having been subjected to cleaning or any other preparation.

<u>Merchantable Coal</u> - Processed or cleaned coal of a quality acceptable for commercial use, and generally equivalent (or in some cases superior) in analysis to that of a channel sample, i.e., secured from coal in place. (See definition of mine sample, face sample, etc.)

Recoverable Coal - That portion of the total estimated coal in place that can be delivered as merchantable coal, after being mined and (where necessary) washed or otherwise cleaned, primarily to remove ash.

Proximate Analysis - An analysis made of coal for the determination of moisture, volatile matter, fixed carbon, and ash.

Ultimate Analysis - An analysis made of coal for the determination of constituent elements, as sulfur, hydrogen, carbon, nitrogen, oxygen (by difference) and ash.

As Received - The condition representing the sample as received at the laboratory which for mine samples approximates closely the condition of the coal in the mine.

Moisture-free - A condition, actual or assumed, permitting the determination or calculation of the analysis of a coal sample excluding its moisture content.

Ky 32b 33a 3. 70021 Moisture- and ash-free (Maf) - An assumed condition permitting calculation of the analysis of a coal sample excluding its moisture content and its ash content.

Rank - The stage of coalification in a series in which bituminous coal is subdivided, in order of decreasing completeness, as follows:

## Rank of Coal

<u>Class</u>	Group	Abbrev- iation
Bituminous	Low-volatile bituminous Medium-volatile bituminous	Lvb Mvb
	High-volatile A bituminous	Hvab
	High-volatile B bituminous High-volatile C bituminous	HVDD HVCD

Btu (British Thermal Unit) - Quantity of heat required to raise the temperature of one pound of water one degree Fahrenheit. Btu determination of coal may be made or reported on one or more bases, as:

As-received
Moisture-free (i.e. dry)
Moisture- and ash-free (Maf)

Heating Value - Heat (gross) resulting from combustion of one pound of coal, expressed as Btu per pound with specification of sample condition, as "as received", "moist, mineral-matter-free", "moisture- and ash-free" or "dry".

Mine Sample, Face Sample, or Channel Sample - A sample secured from coal in place in the ground in accordance with procedure specified by the U. S. Bureau of Mines, which requires that such sample be obtained by collecting material in a uniform channel extending from roof to floor of bed, except that partings of shale, bone, and pyrite 3/8 inch or thicker and lenses or concretions of pyrite or other impurities, more than 2 inches in maximum diameter or 1/2 inch in thickness, are excluded. Such analyses are representative of merchantable coals obtainable from a mine.

"Tipple" Samples - Samples collected in accordance with the Bureau of Mines procedure after the coal has received final treatment at the tipple or cleaning plant, or as it is loaded into railroad cars or trucks. Ky 33b <u>34</u>a 7002 Delivered Samples - Samples taken in accordance with the Bureau of Mines procedure from coal delivered for use as unloaded from railroad cars or trucks.

Inorganic Sulfur - That portion of the total sulfur content (in coal) which exists in the form of sulfides and sulfates, the former commonly being iron pyrites, marcasite, chalcopyrite, arsenopyrite, and stibnite, with calcium sulfate (gypsum) the more usual sulfate.

Organic Sulfur - That portion of the total sulfur content other than the mineral sulfides and sulfates, which is combined in organic compounds.

<u>Hydrogenation Yield</u> - The relative quantity of liquid hydrocarbon products obtained by hydrogenation of a unit quantity of a particular coal.

Washability of Coal - The extent to which extraneous objectionable impurities (such as mineral matter, bone, and/or inorganic sulfur) can be reduced by treatment in commercial coal cleaning plants with due consideration to the loss of coal which accompanies such treatment and the size limits of the coal before and after treatment.

Survey Specifications as to Minimum Requirements for Coal

The minimum requirements for bituminous coal deposits considered in this survey are as follows:

- 1. Thickness
  - A. For coal to be mined by underground methods At least 24 inches.
  - B. For strip-mined coal Minimum thickness 12 inches.
- 2. Depth

Ky

34b

35a). 3

70021

- A. Underground-mined Coal Not more than 1,500 feet below drainage level.
- B. Strip-mined Coal Not more than 200 feet of overburden.
  - (1) Stripping Ratio (for coal mined by
    - stripping) Not more than 40 to 1 up to 75 feet of overburden, and 8 to 1 for overburden in excess of 75 feet.

The classification of coal deposits as "strippable" shall be governed by the experience and good judgment of the coal subcontractor as to the economy of that operation. 3. <u>Minimum Recoverable Tonnage</u> (in an area of 3 miles radius) - 30,000,000 tons for underground mining or 5,000,000 tons for stripping.

## Survey Classification of Coal Reserves

Coal reserves have been classified into three groups, and the tonnages of each have been computed, on the basis of the following definitions:

<u>Measured Coal</u> - Coal for which tonnage is computed from dimensions revealed in outcrops, trenches, mine workings, and drill holes, with the points of observation, in general, on the order of 1/2 mile apart.

Indicated Coal - Coal for which tonnage is computed partly from specific measurements, and partly from projection of visible data for a reasonable distance on geologic evidence; the points of observation, in general, are of the order of 1 mile apart but may be as much as 1-1/2 miles for beds of known geologic continuity.

Inferred Coal - Coal for which quantitative estimates are based largely on broad knowledge of the geologic character of the bed or region, and for which there are few, if any, measurements. The estimates are based on an assumed continuity, for which there is geologic evidence. Where there are only outcrop data on which to base estimates, such inferred coal is that lying more than 2 miles in from the outcrop and within limited areas (established as described by Paul Averitt, of the U.S. Geological Survey, in a paper published in the magazine "Mining Engineering" of June 1949).

## Classification of Coal Reserves in Respect of Plant Requirements

Available Coal Reserves - The amount of estimated recoverable coal remaining after deduction of estimated commercial and industrial requirements. Available coal reserves include primary and secondary reserves.

The classification of bituminous coal reserves as primary or secondary is based upon thickness of seam and class of reserve as measured, indicated, or inferred. Thus, primary reserves for underground mining include only beds 28 inches or more in thickness which are classed as either measured or indicated. The complete classification is as follows: Ky 35b <u>36a</u> 70021 Primary Reserves ("Measured" and "Indicated" only)

- a. Underground At least 28 inches in thickness.
- b. Strip Minimum thickness of 12 inches. Not more than an average depth of 75 feet of overburden; stripping ratio not to exceed 15 to 1.

Secondary Reserves ("Measured", "Indicated", and "Inferred" not included in Primary Reserves)

- a. Underground At least 24 inches in thickness.
- b. Strip Minimum thickness of 12 inches. Not more than an average depth of 200 feet of overburden; stripping ratio not to exceed 40 to 1 up to 75 feet of overburden and 8 to 1 for overburden in excess of 75 feet.

# Definitions of Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits

Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits. - Deposits of sedimentary rocks impregnated or intimately intermixed with mineral oils, asphalts, or other liquid or solid hydrocarbons soluble in organic solvents. Such rocks are commonly known as oil sands, tar sands, bituminous sands, or rock asphalt. As used herein, the term also includes deposits of pure hydrocarbon such as gilsonite, occurring in sedimentary rocks.

<u>Reserves (Minimum Requirements)</u> - Oil-impregnated strippable deposits are not considered reserves for the purpose of this report unless they contain at least 10,000,000 tons in an area of not more than 5 square miles, occur in a vertically continuous series of beds not less than 15 feet thick, are amenable to opencut mining by removing a cover not thicker than the beds themselves, and have an oil content of at least 10 gallons per ton.

Primary Reserves - Deposits meeting the minimum requirements and with an average yield of not less than 25 gallons per ton.

<u>Secondary Reserves</u> - Deposits, in addition to those in primary reserves, meeting minimum requirements and with an average yield of not less than 15 gallons per ton.

Tertiary Reserves - Deposits, in addition to those in primary and secondary reserves, meeting minimum requirements and with an average yield of not less than 10 gallons per ton.

Кÿ

36b 37a 3 70021

**}** 

<u>A General Area of Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits</u> - An area in which adequate deposits are available to meet the minimum reserve requirements as a potential supply for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture.

### Terms Relating to Water Supply

Surface Water - Water in a natural open channel or a natural lake.

Ground Water - Water existing below the surface of the ground in a porous material. It may be either stationary or moving.

Firm Water - A quantity of water that is available for use at all times - year in and year out.

Acre-Foot (AF) - A quantity of water **nec**essary to cover an area of one acre with water one foot deep.

### Collection of Data

In the course of the investigation, all available data pertaining to Kentucky were obtained from various sources, especially the U. S. Geological Survey, U. S. Bureau of Mines, the Federal Power Commission, and various Kentucky State agencies and private organizations. In addition, certain unpublished and classified reports were made available for study. Considerable supplementary data were obtained in the course of interviews and correspondence with individuals in industry, colleges, chambers of commerce, and State agencies.

Much of the published coal data was obtained from U.S. Bureau of Mines bulletins and technical papers and from reports and maps published by both State and Federal organizations. Information of value was secured from railroad companies serving the coal-bearing parts of the State, as well as from local chambers of commerce and individuals.

Basic water supply data were obtained from publications of the Tennessee Valley Authority and from papers of the U.S. Geological Survey as well as from files of the Corps of Engineers, particularly relating to water storage. The Kentucky Water Pollution Control Commission and related agencies were consulted in matters pertaining to water pollution.

Data on natural gas were secured from published material and from files of the Subcontractor, from public records of the Federal Power Commission, and from geologists and natural gas companies operating in Kentucky.

A brief reconnaissance was made of the selected General Areas of Coal and Water Availability.

**a** 371

K:

.

#### PROCESSES AND PLANT REQUIREMENTS

### Processes Considered for Kentucky

The term "synthetic liquid fuels" as used in this report is applied to liquid fuels made by the hydrogenation or synthine processes: using high-volatile bituminous coal as a raw material.

### Unit Plant

As a basis for estimates for purposes of comparison in this survey, a unit plant (unit of plant capacity or unit capacity) has been adopted which is not necessarily the most efficient size for an independent plant. The production capacity to be understood for both the hydrogenation and coal synthine processes, when the term "unit plant" is used, is 10,000 barrels per calendar day.

#### Basis of Estimates

The prime purpose of the estimates of construction and manufacturing cost presented in this report is for use in determining the relative desirability of individual Areas as potential locations for synthetic liquid fuels plants. Since it is probable that some years would be required to construct any significant number of plants of this magnitude, it was decided for comparative purposes to base estimates of plant requirements and plant and product costs upon the assumed use of certain improvements in process (including the direct pressure gasification of coal) which are still under development here or abroad but which appear reasonably likely to be applicable by the time any synthetic liquid fuels program could be well under way. If synthetic liquid fuels plants were constructed today, basic requirements and costs might be appreciably higher than estimates given, due to the necessity for the use of equipment and processes now commercially available. In drawing other than relative conclusions from these estimates, therefore, this qualification must be clearly recognized.

Detailed data as to plant requirements, products, and process wastes, for typical plants operating on both the hydrogenation and synthine processes, as furnished for use in this report, are shown in Exhibit No. 1.

#### Hydrogenation Process

KyHistory. Hydrogenation of coal to yield synthetic liquid38 •fuels was the original concept of Franz Bergius, for which German4Patent No. 301,231 was granted in 1913. The process, after inten-<br/>sive development and modification, was used to produce about 85'0021percent of German aviation gasoline in World War II. Germany then<br/>had available a total daily nominal liquid fuels producing capacity<br/>of about 90,000 barrels in 12 plants.

In the United States, hydrogenation of coal has been studied intensively by the Bureau of Mines at Bruceton, Pa., and at Louisiana, Mo. At the latter location a hydrogenation plant has been erected and operated experimentally and for demonstration purposes with a capacity of about 200 barrels per stream day. Commercially, hydrogenation has been limited in the United States to the occasional upgrading of various petroleum fractions in four or five separate commercial units.

Nature of Process. The conversion of coal into liquid fuels by hydrogenation consists of combining hydrogen with the coal substance at elevated temperatures (about 700 to 900 deg F) and pressures (ranging from 3,000 to 10,000 psi) in the presence of catalysts. The process is extremely flexible with respect to the nature and proportions of products. As an example, by varying plant equipment, operating conditions, nature of catalyst, and/or plant design, gasoline output may be varied from less than 20 to over 90 percent, or fuel oils from zero to about 80 percent.

In condensed summary, the hydrogenation of coal consists in preparation of the raw material by careful washing, drying, and grinding and formation of a paste by mixing part of the heavy oils from the first stage of hydrogenation with the prepared coal and a suitable solid catalyst. This paste, under high temperature and pressure, reacts with hydrogen in the first or liquid phase hydrogenation. Phenols may be separated from the products at this point or may be carried on with the rest of the products to the second or vapor phase hydrogenation. This step consists in passing a gaseous mixture of hydrogen and the vaporized products from the first stage through beds of appropriate granular solid catalysts. The output of the second stage of hydrogenation is separated into the various final products, mainly by distillation employing equipment and methods not varying greatly from those commonly used in the petroleum industry.

Hydrogen for the first stage (liquid phase) and second stage (vapor phase) hydrogenation is obtained in part from water gas produced by reaction between steam, oxygen, and coal and in part by cracking with steam the light hydrocarbon gases which are by-products of the main hydrogenation. Provision is also made for recovery and reuse of the portion of hydrogen not consumed in the reaction vessels. Pressure operation of coal gasification and hydrocarbon cracking equipment is assumed.

Cooling water is injected into the hot gas streams leaving the hydrogenation converters. This water, together with additional water formed in the reaction, condenses out and is separated from the product oil streams before distillation, carrying with it some dissolved hydrogen sulfide and phenols and constituting the major contaminated liquid process waste.

41

**K**v

The appended block flow diagram, Exhibit No. 2, indicates a typical arrangement for such a plant, consistent with the above description and with the specific unit plant design for which estimated construction and operating costs are given in this report. It should be remembered, however, that the principle of hydrogenation is extremely flexible in application, and that variations in methods of hydrogen production, ash elimination, product processing, and number and balance of hydrogenation steps may be used in individual plants designed to meet different local conditions.

Plant Requirements. The principal materials required for the hydrogenation process are coal and water. Other materials include catalysts used in hydrogenation and hydrogen production and chemicals used in gas scrubbing. Remaining other materials are relatively insignificant in both value and volume.

<u>Coal.</u> Coal is used in the hydrogenation process for conversion to liquid fuels, for the manufacture of hydrogen and fuel gas, and as fuel, both for steam power generation and in certain direct-fired operations. That portion of the coal to be hydrogenated to liquid fuels should be of good quality; the balance may be of inferior grade. Roughly one-half of the total coal used in the plant is converted into liquid fuels, the other half being consumed to supply energy and hydrogen for the process. A unit plant of 10,000 barrels daily capacity would require daily about 3,800 tons of Kentucky coals, the exact amount dependent upon the heating value.

Coals readily washed to low-ash content are preferable to less easily washed coals of the same type.

Coal is a complex and variable material. Actual trial of an adequate sample in a pilot plant is the only sure criterion of the practicality and ease of hydrogenation. The following properties of coal are, however, indicative of its amenability to the process:

1. The following factors should be high -

Кy

40

15 🕨

- (a) Net hydrogen content Hydrogen in excess of that theoretically required to combine with all oxygen, nitrogen, and sulfur of the coal.
- (b) Volatile matter Not less than 31 percent (maf).
- (c) Tar and bitumen yields on carbonization.
- (d) Iron and chlorine Of the inorganic constituents of coal, iron and chlorine usually affect the catalysts favorably.

42

- 2. The following factors should be low -
  - (a) Fixed carbon content Not over 69 percent (maf).
  - (b) Oxygen
    - Oxygen of the coal appears in part in the form of phenols, the balance combining with hydrogen to form water and with carbon to form oxides. Phenols may be converted in the second stage hydrogenation to hydrocarbons and additional water.
  - (c) Ash
    - Low-ash content is desirable as reducing both the total amount of coal to be handled, and loss of oil (carried out of the system with rejected ash). Ash content should be minimized by washing. Fusion point of the ash is not of major importance. Maximum permissible ash content (dry basis) is 15 percent for process coal and 20 percent for other uses.
  - (d) Calcium and alkali These constituents may cause operating difficulties by their effect on the catalysts.
  - (e) Fusain and opaque attritus These constituents of coal (determined by petrographic analysis) are difficult to convert but may be in part hydrogenated to liquid fuels. Fusain is normally largely removable by proper preparation.
  - (f) Nitrogen Largely converted to ammonia by hydrogenation.
  - (g) Sulfur Largely converted to hydrogen sulfide and other sulfur compounds.

Water. The hydrogenation of coal and the production of the energy required by the process developed large amounts of heat which must be removed. The availability of an adequate supply of cooling water is therefore of great importance. Although more than 120 mgd must pass through a unit plant with a 33 deg F rise in temperature, the total water requirements can be reduced to 7.3 mgd by recirculation through cooling towers. Two-thirds of the make-up water is lost by evaporation when recirculation is used. The balance is returned to the source as wastes from coal preparation, as blowdown from cooling towers and boilers, and as sewage.

Ky

7002]

<u>Power</u>. The hydrogenation of coal requires installed generating capacity to supply 68,000 kw at 100 percent load factor for the operation of a unit plant which includes an allowance of 3,000 kw for mine operation. Of the total, approximately 25,000 kw can be supplied in connection with the production of process steam. Purchase of the excess prime power requirements of about 40,000 kw from outside sources could decrease the total coal requirement of the process by approximately 12 percent, water requirement by about 17 percent, and would also effect reductions in manpower requirements and in investment in power generating facilities. However, the magnitude of the installation required for handling process coal alone, together with the desirability of an outlet for the higher-ash fractions of the washed coal, would usually make purchase of outside power disadvantageous. Outside power sources are desirable as stand-by capacity. The possible mutual advantage of integrating the electric generation of the plant into an existing power network should be considered.

Personnel. Plant operating personnel must be highgrade semitechnical labor as in the chemical and petroleum refining industries. Highly qualified machinists and mechanics are required for the effective and safe maintenance of high-pressure equipment. Indirect labor includes such classifications as material handlers, stock clerks, guards, watchmen, and janitors. Technical workers will require a certain amount of training in specialized plant operations and maintenance. The Bureau of Mines has estimated that 80 percent of the manpower required for a hydrogenation plant can be trained in the plant, and would require no specialized skill prior to employment.

The number of employes of a unit plant, including labor and supervision, will vary slightly according to the proportion of the total output represented by the various final products but may be stated for a typical example in continental United States as follows:

	Number of Personnel			
Classification	Operational	Administrative	Total	
Operations: Labor Supervision	365 37	-	365 37	
Maintenance: Labor Supervision	430 43	-	<b>43</b> 0 43	
Indirect Labor	50	53	103	
Indirect Salaried Personnel Total	925	<u>197</u> 250	$\frac{197}{1,175}$	

Personnel Required for a Typical Hydrogenation Process Unit Plant in Continental United States



)021

<u>Plant Products and By-products</u>. The hydrogenation process can produce, from coal as raw material, liquid fuels covering the entire range from heavy fuel oil, through Diesel fuel, jet fuel, and motor gasoline, to 100-octane aviation gasoline. By varying operating conditions, number of hydrogenation steps, and choice of catalyst any one of these grades may be made the principal product, as local markets may require.

The gasoline produced by hydrogenation of coal contains a high proportion of aromatics (benzene, toluene, and xylene), which may be separated if required, making the hydrogenation process an important potential source of those products.

Liquefiable petroleum gases (propane and butane) form an appreciable percentage of total plant products. A considerable amount of phenolic compounds, including phenol, cresol, and xylenols, may also be separated as optional by-products. If left in the main product stream, they are ultimately converted to additional gasoline.

Wastes. The hydrogenation of coal produces gaseous, solid, and liquid wastes. Gaseous wastes result in part from the combustion of coal in the power plant and at other points. Sulfur in the coal fed to the hydrogenation converters is separated from the process stream as hydrogen sulfide. This may be converted to sulfuric acid or elemental sulfur and sold or burned in the power plant and dissipated from the stack with the other flue gases, according to local conditions. Small amounts of ammonia which might be discharged could be rendered inoffensive by passage through a combustion zone.

Solid wastes of the process are comparable to and would be disposed of in the same manner as solid wastes from any large coal-burning industrial plant. Although hydrogenation ash will contain about 8 pounds of spent catalyst per barrel of plant products, its volume and nature will present no disposal problems not adequately met by usual methods employed to prevent the carrying off of excessive suspended solids by rainfall.

Various liquid wastes of the hydrogenation plant may carry small amounts of oil, removable by separators such as are commonly used by petroleum refineries. Of the total amount of liquids to be discharged, a relatively small and segregable portion will consist of so-called "foul water" containing dissolved gases (such as hydrogen sulfide) and solids, principally phenolic in nature.

A variety of methods is available for removing phenolic compounds. They may be applied in a series of consecutive steps, the number of steps depending on the degree of purification required by local conditions. These would be arranged in the following order:

. . . . .

Kу

- 1. Preliminary removal of remaining oil by solvent extraction, followed by removal of the bulk of the dissolved gases by pressure release and heating or aeration.
- 2. Removal and recovery of phenols by ion exchange on highly alkaline exchange resins; or alternatively, destruction of phenols by biochemical action.
- 3. Oxidation of remaining traces of phenols by ozone.

A more detailed discussion will be found in the section on "Waste Disposal" in a later part of this report.

Choices between methods will be largely determined by economic factors at specific locations. Treated water can be rendered suitable for return to streams without harm to aquatic life and may be rendered potable by standard treatments.

Typical Hydrogenation Plant for Continental United States. In selecting a form of hydrogenation plant suited to the conditions imposed in the continental United States by the types of coal available and the required types and proportions of products, the Bureau of Mines has prepared estimates in its publication, R.I. 4564 (August 1949), for several typical plants, each of 30,000-barrel-per-day capacity. These data for a plant to use Wyoming bituminous coal, a specific case, have been adopted for this survey for estimating construction and operating costs of a unit plant. More generalized data may be summarized as follows for a typical unit plant.

'0021

Basic Data and Estimates for Typical Hydrogenation Unit Plant in Continental United States (Based on U.S. Bureau of Mines Data)	
Plant area - Acres (Minimum)	70
Estimated approximate total steel requirements - tons	60,000
Estimated personnel: Operations and maintenance Administrative, clerical, and engineering	925 250
Total daily coal requirements - Billions of Btu	98
Power required at 100 percent load factor - Kw	65,000
Daily water requirement - Gallons	7,286,000
Total production - Barrels per calendar day: Gasoline Liquefied petroleum gas (L.P.G.) Phenols	7,220 2,367 413(A)

Note: (A) Convertible, without additional equipment, to 463 barrels additional gasoline.

The current stage of development of a synthetic liquid fuels program does not permit the statement that any specific plant represents average conditions for those which may be constructed. Variations from the mean, however, will not seriously affect the utility of such a plant as a basis for the purpose of this survey, i.e., the determination of the relative desirability of General Areas.

#### Synthine Process Using Coal

<u>History.</u> Early work in Germany by F. Fischer and H. Tropsch developed a process to combine carbon monoxide and hydrogen, producing a mixture of alcohols which was called synthol. In 1926, the same men announced a modification of their process to produce, from the same gases, a mixture of hydrocarbons. To indicate the close similarity, this product was termed synthine and has given its name to the process itself. The more general names "Fischer-Tropsch synthesis" and "gas synthesis" are also applied to this process.

Intensive development after 1926 resulted in the construction of a commercial plant in 1936 by Ruhrchemie, A.G. Following this installation, the number of synthine plants in Germany in-

47

70021

Ky 🍯

creased to a total of ten by the end of World War II. Required carbon monoxide and hydrogen were produced by conventional water gas equipment.

Development of the process by others has been followed for many years by the U.S. Bureau of Mines, which since 1945 has itself carried on active work at Bruceton, Pa. Simultaneously, research on the continuous production of synthesis gas (a carefully proportioned mixture of carbon monoxide and hydrogen) has been under way at Morgantown, W. Va. A 50 to 100-barrel-per-day demonstration plant for the Bureau of Mines is nearing completion at Louisiana, Mo.

ļ

٢y

021

Private capital has nearly completed a 7,000-barrel-per day synthine plant to use natural gas near Brownsville, Tex.

<u>Nature of Process.</u> Except for obvious necessary differences in the production of synthesis gas, and in disposal of waste products, the synthine process is the same whether coal or natural gas is used as the primary raw material.

The synthine process consists essentailly of the combination, over a suitable catalyst at pressures of from 200 to 400 psi and at temperatures of from 550 deg to 650 deg F, of carbon monoxide and hydrogen to form a condensable mixture of hydrocarbon vapors. The reaction releases large amounts of heat and, since the temperature may be allowed to vary only within narrow limits, adequate provision for cooling is important. The liquid products are recovered and, for the most part, separated by methods and equipment well known in petroleum technology. Subsequent catalytic cracking or hydrogenation of the heavier oil fractions may be used according to the desired products distribution.

In the reaction, most of the oxygen of the carbon monoxide is converted to water but a part reacts to form carbon dioxide and a series of both water- and oil-soluble oxygenated organic compounds consisting of alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, and acids.

The nature and quality of products of the synthine proeess depend entirely upon the type of catalyst used and the operating conditions regardless of the raw material used to produce the synthesis gas. This gas can be produced from any material containing combustible carbon, the hydrogen being obtainable by reaction of steam and carbon monoxide.

The principal raw materials suitable for the synthine process are coal of all ranks and natural gas. Of these, the former is available in much larger quantities. Although the latter is commonly less expensive, it is also usually less available when existing commercial demands are satisfied.

The appended block flow diagram, Exhibit No. 3, indicates a typical arrangement for such a plant, consistent with the above description and with the specific unit plant design, for which estimated construction and operating costs are given in this report. However, the synthine process is more or less flexible in application, and variations in method of synthesis gas production, type of synthesis reactors, number of reaction stages, steps in product processing, and manner of separation of reuse of oxygenated chemical by-products may be used in individual plants designed to meet different local conditions.

Plant Requirements. The synthine process uses major quantities of coal and of water. Other necessary materials, including chemicals for catalyst manufacture, for the treatment of intermediate liquid products, and for imparting anti-knock properties to finished gasoline, are of relatively small amount.

<u>Coal.</u> Coal for the synthine process may be of any rank and of almost any quality although low quality (heating value) will obviously increase the quantity required for a given plant capacity. A unit plant of 10,000 barrels daily capacity would require daily about 4,900 tons of Kentucky coal, the exact amount dependent upon the heating value. Ash content is not inherently objectionable but should preferably be as low as possible. To this end, good washability is desirable. The maximum permissible ash content is 20 percent (dry basis). High sulfur content in the coal is to be avoided because of the necessity for nearly complete sulfur removal from the synthesis gas, in order to maintain catalyst activity.

Water. Water is required in a synthine plant mainly for cooling purposes. Too high a solids content will somewhat increase the requirement for solids control in cooling towers and boilers. From one-eighth to one-fourth of the water used must be capable of treatment to provide satisfactory boiler feed. Less than 1 percent need be of potable quality or fit to be made so by chlorination and other treatment. For a unit plant, the total daily requirement is about 11,150,000 gallons per day.

<u>Power</u>. The basic chemical reactions of the synthine process liberate quantities of waste heat sufficient for the generation of all required electric power and no additional fuel for power would be required. Outside power is required for starting up and in the event of temporary failure of plant generating facilities. Integration, where possible of plant facilities with an existing power network merits consideration.

Personnel. Operating personnel for a synthine process plant must be largely of a high class of semitechnical labor as in the petroleum refining and chemical industries. Because of the use

7002:

Ку

47

48a

of pressure equipment, the same is true of a substantial portion of maintenance labor. Indirect personnel includes such classifications as material handlers, stock clerks, guards, watchmen, janitors, and laborers. Technical workers will require a certain amount of training in specialized plant operations and maintenance. The Bureau of Mines has estimated that 80 percent of the technical workers can be trained from an inexperienced labor supply.

The number of employes of a unit plant will vary slightly according to the proportions of the total output represented by the various final products, but may be stated for a typical example as follows:

> Personnel Required for a Typical Coal Synthine Unit Plant in Continental United States

Classification	Number of Personnel
Operations: Wage Earners Supervision	338 34
Maintenance: Wage Earners Supervision	420 42
Indirect Labor (Wage Earners)	103
Indirect Salaried Personnel	198
Total	1.135

Plant Products and By-products. The synthine process can produce a series of hydrocarbon liquid products comparable to petroleum fractions and meeting similar commercial specifications. Although it is expected that normally a preponderant part of the output will be gasoline, a certain limited flexibility is possible in design and operation through variations in the catalyst used and in operating conditions.

Gasoline quality from a synthine plant varies widely with the type of catalyst used. The German practice of using cobalt produced gasoline of markedly low octane number. Use of iron catalysts and of higher operating pressures as contemplated by the Bureau of Mines is expected to result in entirely satisfactory motor gasolines.

**ري** (

)02í

Diesel oil by the synthine process is expected to be of good quality with a cetane number of about 55. The typical fuel oil product is expected to meet specifications for a higher grade than No. 6 (Bunker C), possibly as high as No. 3.

A small amount of liquefiable petroleum gases (L.P.G.) principally propane, may be produced as final product (as assumed in the basic data for a typical coal synthine plant; see following table) or may be recycled or burned as plant fuel. The same is true with respect to a series of oxygenated organic compounds formed by part of the oxygen content of the synthesis gas. Most of these products, including alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, and acids, have a definite though limited market which probably could not absorb the output of such chemicals from any large production capacity of synthetic liquid fuels by the synthine process. Recycling of any of these materials is entirely possible and would result not only in solving a disposal problem but also in somewhat increased liquid fuel output or alternatively decreased raw material consumption. Recycling of only the oxygenated compounds is assumed in the specific plant design for which cost estimates are given in this report.

Waste. Solid wastes of a typical coal synthine plant will consist principally of ash from the coal processed or burned as fuel. The small amounts of spent catalyst (mainly iron oxide) included will be no more obnoxious than the ash. Disposal of this waste offers no problem, except perhaps in quantity, that is not readily met in the case of any large coal-burning industrial plant.

Gaseous wastes will be principally those removed in the purification of the synthesis gas, especially hydrogen sulfide resulting from sulfur in the coal. In order to avoid atmospheric pollution, the hydrogen sulfide may be converted to sulfuric acid or elemental sulfur, the sale of which would provide a credit against cost of sulfur removal.

Liquid wastes of the plant can be handled so as to skim those carrying oils and to segregate those containing dissolved organic compounds from the process. Such segregated water, before discharge, may be treated for recovery of these compounds, either for sale or for recycling. Alternatively, it may be fed to special boilers to produce a contaminated steam replacing part of the normal process water requirement. Relatively small quantities of sanitary and storm sewage can be handled by well-known methods. Some water from cooling tower operation and boiler blowdown will be discharged with an increased content of dissolved solids.

Typical Coal Synthine Plant for Continental United States. Based on the results of extensive research and development work of its own, as well as upon available data of other investigators in the

51

Ку

United States and in Germany, the Bureau of Mines has in the course of preparation estimates of construction and operating costs of a synthine plant of commercial scale. Preliminary data from this study, for a plant producing 10,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels per day from western Kentucky bituminous coal, a specific case have been adopted for this survey for estimating construction and operating costs of a unit plant, to be used as a basis of comparison for determining relative desirability of General Areas. In drawing other than relative conclusions from these cost estimates, however, the preliminary nature of the data so far available must be remembered. The final estimates determined by the Bureau at the completion of its work may differ appreciably from the present figures.

More generalized data may be summarized as follows for a typical unit plant:

Basic Data and Estimates for Typical Coal Synthine Unit Plant in Continental United States	Na )
(Based on Herringhary Data from 0.5. Bureau of Mine	:0)
Plant area - Acres (minimum)	77
Estimated nersonnel.	
Operations and maintenance (including all indirect labor) Administrative, clerical, and engineering	937
(salaried personnel only)	198
Total daily coal requirements - Billions of Btu	126
Power required at 1000 load frater Ky	
(produced from waste heat) 114	<b>,500</b>
Daily water requirements - Gallons 11,150	,000
Total production - Barrels per calendar day: Propane	470
Gasoline 7	,280
Diesel oil 1	.,900
Fuel oil	350

The current stage of development of the synthetic liquid fuels program does not permit the statement that any specific plant represents average conditions for those which may be constructed. Variations from the mean, however, will not seriously affect the utility of such a plant as a basis for the purpose of the survey; i.e., the determination of the relative desirability of General Areas.

9b 🔪

0021
PART III -SUMMARY OF STATE CHARACTERISTICS



\*

.

.

### SUMMARY OF STATE CHARACTERISTICS

# Surface Features

The area of Kentucky is 40,109 square miles. The State extends more than 400 miles from east to west and a maximum of 175 miles from north to south. Its surface gradually rises eastward from the Mississippi River to the western slope of the Appalachian Mountain province. West of the Tennessee River, the surface is low; rolling terrain marks the central part of the State; and the entire eastern part, being part of the Allegheny Mountain region, is both elevated and much dissected by water courses.

Kentucky has many rivers, the principal of which are the Mississippi, Ohio, Cumberland, Tennessee, Kentucky, Green, Barren, Licking, Dix, and Big Sandy. Drainage from the State is generally to the west and northwest, eventually finding its way to the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers. Forty-six percent of the State is forested.

## Climate

Kentucky enjoys a temperate climate. Exhibit No. 4 shows the mean monthly temperature and precipitation at Ashland Dam, Boyd County, and at Greenville, Muhlenberg County, which points are assumed to be representative, respectively, of the eastern and western coal-bearing sections. In degrees Fahrenheit, annual high, mean, and low temperatures at these stations are 76.7, 56.6, and 35.8 at Ashland Dam and 77.8, 57.5, and 36.1 at Greenville. Annual mean precipitations at the two locations are, respectively, 42.46 and 46.88 inches. In the western part of the State, the mean temperature is only slightly higher than in the east, but precipitation is considerably greater.

#### Population

Za⁺

D021

Kentucky's 1940 population totaled (U.S. census) 2,845,627; the 1950 census preliminary count indicated that the population in 1950 was 2,921,708. Using the latter figure, the population density averages 72.8 persons per square mile over the State's 40,109 square miles.

The population in 1940 of the 11 principal eastern coalbearing counties was 433,810 and remained almost stationary in the 10 years until the 1950 census, from which the corresponding figure is 433,315. In the nine coal-bearing counties in the western part of the State, between the 1940 and 1950 censuses, population decreased at a slightly greater rate, dropping from 263,303 to 261,977. As of the 1950 census, population densities were 95.7 and 62.3 persons per square mile in the eastern and western groups, respectively.

# Industry and Agriculture

The major industries in Kentucky include coal mining, chemical and allied products, tobacco manufacture, food and kindred products, fabricated metal products, and machinery (except electrical). The 1947 Census of Manufactures reported a total of 2,244 establishments with 577 establishments manufacturing food and kindred products. In the eastern coal-bearing section of the State, the principal economic activities are agriculture and coal mining. In the west, considerable manufacturing is done in the two counties immediately south of Evansville, Indiana. In the balance of the western coal-bearing counties, agriculture and coal mining predominate.

The table which follows shows the size of manufacturing establishments in Kentucky as compared to the United States total. These figures for establishments are from the 1947 Census of Manufactures and indicate that the relative proportions of large and small establishments in the State of Kentucky are generally similar to the United States total. Population figures are from the 1950 census.

Mar	ufac	turing	Establi	.shment	.s 1	ln Ker	itucky
and	$\mathtt{the}$	United	States	Total	by	Size	Groups

	Kentucky		United States		Kentucky	
Employes per Establishment	Number of Establish- ments	Percent of Total	Number of Establish- ments	Percent of Total	Percent of the U.S.	
l - 19 20 - 99 100 - 499 Over 500	l,453 508 239 44	64.7% 22.6 10.7 2.0	157,651 58,688 19,878 <u>4,664</u>	65.4% 24.4 8.3 1.9		
Total	2,244	100.0%	240,881	100.0%	0.93%	
Population	2.92	1.708	150	697.361	1.94%	

## Transportation

The State has an adequate transportation system of railroads, highways, and waterways. The coal-producing regions of eastern Kentucky are served by the Louisville & Nashville, Chesapeake & Ohio, and Norfolk & Western Railroads. The coal-producing regions of western Kentucky are served by the Illinois Central and Louisville & Nashville Railroads and Ohio River barge lines.

⊣KY

2

## Other Features

The largest cities in the State are Louisville, Covington, and Lexington, none of which is in either of the coalproducing sections. The population of those areas is, to a very great degree, rural. Huntington and Williamson, West Virginia, are local trade centers near the eastern coal-producing section; the western coal counties are served in this respect by Owensboro, Paducah, and Bowling Green. The nearest large city to the eastern group of counties is Knoxville, Tenn.; Evansville, Ind., fills that position in the west.

Ky 53b 15

я,

PART IV - RAW MATERIALS

ζy 54.

.

...

General Geology of Coal Deposits (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below)

The coal-bearing formations of Kentucky are in two distinct areas, the larger in eastern Kentucky, where it is an important part of the Appalachian region of the Eastern province. The western coalbearing area is the southeastern extension of the Eastern region of the Interior province, which also includes the coal fields of Illinois and Indiana. The areas in central Kentucky between the two coal fields, as well as those south and southwest of the western field, are largely underlain by geological formations stratigraphically older than the coal-bearing strata. These older formations are not known to contain coal deposits and the areas immediately underlain by such bedrock strata have not been further considered. Discussion of the general geology of the coal deposits of Kentucky is separately presented for each of the two principal coal-bearing areas.

Eastern Kentucky Coal-bearing Area. The coal-bearing formations of eastern Kentucky are Pennsylvanian in age and occupy an area of approximately 10,450 square miles in all or parts of 37 counties. These strata are co-extensive with those of southern Ohio and southwestern West Virginia along the northeastern border of the Eastern Kentucky coal field, with those of southwestern Virginia along the southeastern border, and with those of eastern Tennessee along the southern border.

As elsewhere in the Appalachian region, the coal measures of eastern Kentucky occur in a broad, shallow syncline, the axis of which extends northeast-southwest near the center of the coal-bearing area. The major part of the Eastern Kentucky field, except a relatively narrow strip adjacent to the Virginia State line in portions of Bell, Harlan, and Letcher Counties, is the southern extension of the main Appalachian region syncline although partially separated therefrom by a low cross-fold running in a northwestsoutheast direction across the northeastern portion of the eastern Kentucky coal-bearing area. This major basin is separated from the narrow strip across southern Letcher and southeastern Harlan and Bell Counties by the Pine Mountain overthrust block which forms the Kentucky-Virginia State line along portions of the southeastern border of northeastern Letcher and Pike counties. The coal measures southeast of the narrow, coal-barren belt, which marks the northwestern "front" of the overthrust, are geologically more closely related to the coal measures of southwestern Virginia than to the principal eastern Kentucky basin.

(References: 28, 34, 39, 40, 47, 56, 61, 64)

55

;6a

.5 0031 COAL

In accordance with regional structure, the coal beds northwest of the Pine Mountain overthrust largely dip inwardly from the northwestern and southeastern margins of the broad basin, although regional dips are frequently modified along the axes of numerous local patternless folds. Coal beds southeast of the Pine Mountain overthrust dip **sharply** toward the southeast for relatively short distances before rising slowly in the same direction into contiguous fields of southwestern Virginia. The northwestern border of the Eastern Kentucky field is represented by an irregular erosional escarpment overlooking the topographically and stratigraphically lower formations comprising the gently-dipping southeastern flank of the Cincinnati arch, which occupies central Kentucky.

The coal beds of the Eastern Kentucky field are largely in the Pottsville, or basal, formation of the Pennsylvanian series; there are also some higher beds in overlying formations of lower Alleghany age in the deepest portions of the basin. The Pennsylvanian strata thin rapidly from their areas of maximum thickness along the southeastern border of the field toward the northwestern boundary with resulting decrease in number of coal beds from the southeast toward the northwest. In general, the coal-bearing formations northwest of the Pine Mountain overthrust are correlated with those of southern Ohio and southwestern West Virginia, while the formations southeast of the Pine Mountain overthrust are correlated with those of southwestern West Virginia. With relatively large areas in the Eastern Kentucky field not having been mapped in detail, the exact number and correlations of coal beds in eastern Kentucky are not known. Even the coal-bearing formations bear different names at various locations within the field, as applied in early days by individual investigators with little subsequent clarification or correlation.

The principal coal beds and horizons in eastern Kentucky, together with approximate correlations in adjoining states, as based on comparatively recent correlations in Appalachian stratigraphic studies, are listed in descending order as follows:

> Ky 56b 57 15 70021

2

### Principal Coal Beds in Eastern Kentucky and Approximate Correlations in Adjoining States

Eastern Kentucky

#### Correlations

High Splint (Richardson, Hindman, Lower Kittanning No. 5 (West Va., Ohio) No. 9) Hignite (Frances, No. 8) Stockton (West Va.) Lower Mercer (Ohio) Flag (Cornett, No. 7) Hazard (Peach Orchard, No. 6) Haddix (Limestone, No. 5) Coalburg (West Va.) Winifrede(West Va.), Pardee(Va.) Fire Clay Rider Chilton (West Va.) Flatwoods (Wallins Creek) Taylor Fire Clay (Hazard No. 4) Hernshaw (West Va.) Whitesburg Mills Williamson (Amburgy) Williamson (West Va.), Low Splint (Va.) Upper Elkhorn No. 3 (Kellioka, Cedar Grove (West Va.), <sup>11</sup>C") Taggart (Va.) Upper Elkhorn No. 2 ("B") Upper Elkhorn No. 1 (Millers Alma (West Va.), Jellico Creek, "A") (Tenn.) Standiford (Va.) Harlan Logan-Eagle, Campbell Creek No.2 Gas (West Va.), Imboden (Va.) Lower Elkhorn (Pond Creek, Warfield, Shelby Gap) Blue Gem (Tenn.) Pucketts Creek Bingham (Feds Creek) Clintwood (Va.) Millard Eagle (West Va., Va.) Blair Little Eagle (West Va.) Cedar Dorchester (Va.) Auxier (Hagy) Splash Dam (Va.) Banner (Elswick) Upper, Lower Banner (Va.) Kennedy (Va.) Kennedy Raven Raven, Red Ash (Va.) Jawbone Jawbone (Va.)

Ку 57ъ 58

15

70021

4

The Eastern Kentucky field is topographically highly dissected; the crests of the major ridges and divides range from 1,000 to 3,800 feet in elevation. The Massive sandstones and conglomerates of the Pottsville formation have produced rugged cliffs and escarpments in many portions of the area, especially along the southeastern boundary of the field. The Eastern Kentucky field is largely drained toward the northwest by the Big Sandy, Little Sandy, and Licking Rivers and their tributaries, and toward the west by the Cumberland River and its tributaries. Western Kentucky Coal-bearing Area. The coal-bearing formations of western Kentucky, also Pennsylvanian in age, occupy an area of approximately 4,680 square miles comprising all or portions of 21 counties. This area is the southeasternmost extension of the Eastern region of the Interior province, which includes the larger coal-bearing areas of southwestern Indiana and Illinois. In western Kentucky, the coal-bearing strata are connected to the coalbearing formations of Indiana and Illinois under the Ohio River from near the northwestern corner of Breckenridge County to a point near the northern corner of Crittenden County.

The coal measures of western Kentucky lie in a broad, shallow basin which dip gently toward the northwest and is surrounded on its eastern, southern, and southwestern margins by inward-facing escarpments of topographically higher but stratigraphically lower formations than the coal-bearing series. In conformance with this regional pattern, the coal beds around the margins of the basin dip gently toward the central axis of the syncline at rates which rarely exceed 3 degrees. Approximately the southern one-half of the Western Kentucky field, however, is structurally distorted by two separate fault belts in which the coal measures are transected by numerous individual faults of varying direction and degree. The northern fault belt is comprised of a predominantly east-west line of compressive faulting and overthrusting, which nearly bisects the coal-bearing area as it extends from the center of the west line of Union County across northern Webster and McLean Counties to and beyond the center of the eastern line of Ohio County. This belt is geologically termed the Rough Creek uplift.

The southern fault block extending across most of the southwestern and southern margins of the Western Kentucky field is a direct eastward continuation of a similar belt of faulting in southern Illinois, largely south of the coal measures in that State. The structure is further complicated by the presence of numerous additional faults radiating outward from highly complicated flexures in the area immediately southwest of the coal measures in Livingston and Crittenden Counties. Coal-bearing strata adjacent to the numerous individual faults and within the individual fault blocks may depart widely in direction and amount of dip from the regional, basin-like structure.

As in Indiana and Illinois, the principal coals of the Western Kentucky field are in coal-bearing formations corresponding roughly to the Conemaugh, Allegheny, and Pottsville formations of the Appalachian region. In western Kentucky, the highest coalbearing strata of Conemaugh correlation are of the McLeansboro formation, the upper portions of the Allegheny strata are known as the Carbondale formation and the underlying lower Allegheny and Pottsville strata as the Tradewater and Caseyville formations. The

Кy

59

602

70021

principal coal beds and horizons, together with their stratigraphic equivalents in Illinois and Indiana, are listed, in descending order, as follows:

> Principal Coal Beds in Western Kentucky and Their Correlations in Illinois and Indiana

		Correlations		
Formation	Coal Bed	<u>Illinois</u>	Indiana	
McLeansboro	No. 14	-	-	
Carbondale	No. 12 No. 11 No. 9	No. 6 No. 5	- - No. 5	
Pottsville (Tradewater)	No. 6 (Mannington) Elmlick and other scattered coals, locally named Bell	No. 1 (?)	Minshall(?)	

The western Kentucky coal field is topographically characterized by relatively moderate relief, with but few surface indications of the fault blocks in the southern part of the field. While the coal-bearing area is largely drained toward the northwest by the Green River and its tributaries, the southwestern portion of the area is drained, also to the northwest, by the Tradewater River. Both of these rivers empty into the Ohio River, which forms the entire northern border of the coal field.

# Sources of Information

4

.

Ţ

iOb ila

.5

0021

The coal resources of Kentucky have been the subject of numerous, although sporadic, investigations commencing approximately in 1876. The Kentucky Geological Survey has published a number of bulletins and chapters in geologic reports on many scattered portions of both the eastern and western coal fields. The U.S. Geological Survey has published the results of geological investigations, largely in the Eastern Kentucky field, in the form of geologic folios, professional papers, and bulletins. A series of areal geologic maps were prepared by the Kentucky Geological Survey for most of the coal-bearing counties in the Western Kentucky field during the period 1923 to 1931. These maps indicate the structure of the coal measures, the areas underlain by the various coal-bearing formations, and the outcrops of some of the more important coal beds. A volume on the "Geology and Mineral Resources of Kentucky", published in 1928 by the Kentucky Geological Survey, contains short descriptions of the principal coals and coal-bearing formations in most of the

coal-bearing counties in the entire State. The records and results of such publications provide varying scopes of information on coal bed occurrences in a number of areas, but are insufficient in coverage to permit studies of a comprehensive and uniform nature throughout the entire coal-bearing area.

The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals publishes annual production statistics, which afford material information on locations, depths, and thicknesses of beds at mines in areas for which no other specific information is available. Substantial information on quality, physical and chemical characteristics of coal beds in Kentucky has been obtained from various publications of the U.S. Bureau of Mines.

While the above references generally supply the major amount of available information on the coal resources of Kentucky, other available publications and reports were examined throughout the survey. The footnote annotations included in this report in sections dealing with coal refer to publications listed in the bibliography shown as Exhibit No. 5, Coal Bibliography.

#### Survey Methods and Procedure

In estimating the coal reserves of Kentucky, all pertinent information available from the literature and other sources was posted on previously prepared base maps with sources of information being appropriately indicated. Each base map covered an area consisting of one degree of longitude (east-west) and onehalf degree of latitude (north-south) on a scale of 1:62,500. Such an area comprises eight 15-minute topographic quadrangle maps as ordinarily prepared by the U.S. Geological Survey. A separate print of each base map was generally used for each coal bed within the area having sufficient information to permit an evaluation of reserves. In some cases, information on two or more beds was posted on the same base map where the areas occupied by reserves of different seams were sufficiently separated to avoid overlapping. Where available, the extents of mined-out areas as shown by mine maps or other information were shown on the appropriate base map. In other areas where it was evident that mining activities had been in progress for many years in certain beds, the extent of depletion was estimated and indicated on the corresponding base maps by limiting lines.

All available information on outcrop, depth, and thickness of each bed, including the known or estimated extent of underground and/or strip-mine depletion was posted on each base map area. The areas underlain by coal in each 5-minute quadrangle were carefully analyzed and evaluated prior to delineation of classified areas of reserves. Individual areas depleted by underground or strip operations were then demarcated and eliminated

61 62 \_\_\_\_\_\_15 \_\_\_\_\_70021

Ky

from further measurement by enclosure within a limiting line located sufficiently far outside the outermost extents of the mined-out area to represent the limit of the probable barrier pillars which would be left between the depleted area and subsequent mining operations. Where individual depleted areas approached other depleted areas to such an extent that subsequent mining operations in the intervening areas would not be practical, as by groups of mines located relatively close together in many areas of major depletion, the entire area was demarcated and eliminated from further measurement by a similar limiting line. Since the property lines toward which mining operations in active mines may be expected to proceed were not determined in this survey, it is probable that some portions of such intervening areas thus eliminated may be undergoing current depletion. The amounts of such reserves, which are considered relatively minor in extent, would thus not be included in the total amount of estimated reserves.

The delineation of measured, indicated, and inferred strippable reserves, whenever the presence of such reserves might be indicated, was based on detailed and individual examination of areas adjacent to the coal bed outcrop. Factors taken into account in estimating the presence and extent of strippable reserves included the distribution, frequency and reliability of available information; the accuracy of location of the line of outcrop; the character of the slope immediately adjacent to the outcrop, and the thickness of cover and width of the potential strippable area as shown by topographic maps, if available; the character of the overburden, if known, and the size, shape, and extent of areas already depleted by stripping or shallow underground operations, if present. In estimating strippable reserves, the amount and character of the available information are relatively much more important than in estimating underground reserves because of the determinative interdependence of factors such as the thickness and continuity of coal bed and the thickness and character of overburden in a relatively small portion of the general coal-bearing area. The available information in the Eastern Kentucky field is insufficient to permit the delineation of strippable areas, and, accordingly no estimates of strippable reserves have been made for that field. Sufficient information was available in the Western Kentucky field, however, to permit estimates of strippable reserves in that area.

An additional factor in estimating areas of strippable reserves is the economic relationship between the costs of recovery of reserves under relatively heavy cover by the stripping method and by underground mining. While the determination of reserves available for the manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels properly precedes any consideration of costs in this survey, it is considered relevant and proper to classify such areas of reserves as primary reserves for underground operation rather than as secondary reserves

T

2b \* 3

la 15

D021

for strip-mine operation when it is estimated that underground mining will result in more economic recovery than strip mining. The inclusion of this factor in the several determinative criteria enumerated above has been adopted as a portion of the procedure followed in this survey.

Having demarcated and eliminated from further measurement all depleted areas and having delineated any areas of strippable reserves as described above, the remaining areas of reserves adjacent to such depleted and strippable areas and to outcrops, including any portions of the bed disclosed by drill hole or isolated shaft records, were classified by lines defining the various areas of measured, indicated, and inferred underground reserves as warranted by the available information and according to the definitions established in Part II of this report. Distinctions between primary and secondary underground reserves were based on average thicknesses of bed.

Each classified area of reserves was measured by planimeter to determine acreage, this figure then being multiplied by average thickness of bed as developed from the data and by a constant of 1,800 tons per acre-foot, following U.S. Geological Survey procedure, to estimate the number of tons in place. Since the counties in Kentucky are not subdivided into civil townships, the data on thickness of coal and cover and on acreage and quantity of reserves were averaged, measured and then tabulated by 5-minute quadrangles on basic Coal Data Sheets (A), with the information and estimated quantities of reserves in each such quadrangle being grouped by individual beds in each county.

Preliminary analysis of available data on Kentucky coal reserves indicated that consideration of these reserves as raw material for synthetic liquid fuels plant supply could best be conducted on the individual coal beds occurring in each county. While the coal production of Kentucky is commonly segregated into five or more commercial mining districts, these districts do not cover all the areas of potential reserves. Reserves in coal beds not now being commercially mined within such districts would not commonly be recognized as parts of these districts.

Strip mining is a recent factor in Kentucky, representing only a nominal proportion (approximately 3 percent) of total production in the Eastern Kentucky field in 1948, but accounting for a major proportion (approximately 46 percent) of total production in the Western Kentucky field in the same year. Many areas adjacent to the outcrops of the principal coal beds in western Kentucky have

Note: (A) Complete sets of the basic Coal Data Sheets are available at the specific depositories listed in Exhibit No. 6. 15

been extensively stripped and even more extensively prospected for potential strip-mine operation. The result has been that substantial portions of the strippable reserves in the Western Kentucky field, in sizes adequate for consideration as synthetic liquid fuels plant supply under the definitions followed in this survey, are now either in active operation or are held by present mining companies for future operation.

Under the definitions employed in this survey for delineating areas of measured, indicated, and inferred coal reserves, estimates of measured and indicated classes of reserves are largely based upon positive points of observation at maximum intervals as provided by the respective definitions. Estimates of inferred reserves, however, are based largely upon assumptions of extent, continuity, and thickness for which there is geologic evidence. While available evidence of continuity and persistence of individual coal beds has thus been taken into account in projecting areas of inferred reserves beyond areas of measured and indicated reserves, the resultant estimates are regarded as only provisional until further evidence from new or hitherto undisclosed exploration becomes avail able.

The information used in this survey was generally based on data from major sources such as Federal and State publications, annual production statistics, etc. Neither time nor funds were available to this project for complete collection of all potential information in the hands of private interests. Since information from these sources would probably increase the usable information on extent of demonstrated coal reserves above that available from most publications, the estimated primary reserves in this survey would probably tend to increase as and when such additional information may become available in the future.

The diagram following has been prepared to indicate graphically the results of the previously described "Survey Methods and Procedure" as these may appear on the individual base maps on which the various coal data are shown in detail.



•

Elimination of Counties Not Meeting Requirements of Survey

The table following indicates that there are 37 counties in eastern Kentucky and 21 counties in western Kentucky, which are entirely or in part underlain by coal-bearing strata. Preliminary examination revealed that five of these counties in eastern Kentucky and six in western Kentucky (second column of the table) were too close to the outermost edge of the coal-bearing formations to contain appreciable minable areas of any of the coal beds. These counties were accordingly eliminated from further consideration in this report.

Available information on each of the remaining 32 counties in eastern Kentucky and 15 counties in western Kentucky was then compiled by coal beds and examined in detail. After detailed study 18 additional counties in eastern Kentucky and 5 additional counties in western Kentucky (third column of the table) were found in which either isolated reserves were insufficient in amount to warrant consideration as synthetic liquid fuels plant supply or for which available information on depth, continuity, thickness and number of coal beds was insufficient to permit estimates of reserves. These 23 counties were also eliminated from further consideration in this report, although detailed descriptions are given in Appendix A.

The elimination of the 23 counties, as described above, left 14 of the original 37 counties in eastern Kentucky and 10 of the original 21 counties in western Kentucky in which the coal reserves appear to qualify as suitable for synthetic liquid fuels production. These counties are enumerated in the last column of the preceding table, and a summary of their recoverable coal reserves is shown in Exhibit No. 7. The following section of the report describes the nature and extent of the principal coal beds for which information was available in these counties and presents some data relating to recent production.

Description of Coal Beds in Selected Counties -Eastern Kentucky Field

Bell County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Bell County, at the southeastern corner of the Eastern Kentucky field, adjoins Claiborne and Campbell Counties of Tennessee on the south and Lee County of Virginia on the southeast. The Bell-Lee County line, located along the crest of Cumberland Mountain, is the southeastern border of the Appalachian coal field in this area.

Containing C of	oal Reserves Synthetic Li	Suitable for Produc quid Fuels	tion	
All Counties Containing Coal- bearing Strata	Counties El Fringe Position near Outer- most Limit	iminated Because of: Insufficient Information or Isolated and Insuffi- cient Reserves (A)	Counties Selected for Consideration	•
Eastern Kentucky Coal	Field			
Bell Boyd Breathitt		Boyd	Bell Breathitt	
Carter Clay Clinton Elliott		Carter Clinton Elliott	Clay	
Estill Floyd Greenup Harlan	Estill	Greenup	Floyd Harlan	
Jackson Johnson Knott Knor		Jackson	Johnson Knott Knot	
Laurel Lawrence Lee		Laurel Lawrence Lee	Logido	
Lesile Letcher Lewis	Iewis		Letcher	
McCreary Madison	Madison	McCreary	w 0.04	
Magoffin Martin Menifee Morgan		Menifee Morgan	Magorrin Martin	
Owsley Perry Pike		Owsley	Pe <b>rry</b> P1ke	•
Powell Pulaski Booksostlo	Powell	Pulaski Bookoostle		Ky
Rowan Wayne	Rowan	Wayne		70
Whitley Wolfe		Whitley Wolfe		,15 70021

Selection of Counties In Kentucky, by Coal Fields,

٦.

•••••• <u>••</u> ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Counties El:	iminated Because of:	
All Counties Containing Coal- bearing Strata	Fringe Position near Outer- most Limit	Insufficient Information or Isolated and Insuffi- cient Reserves (A)	Counties Selected fo Considerati
Western Kentucky Coal	Field		
Breckinridge Butler Caldwell	Breckinridge Caldwell	9	Butler
Christian Crittenden		Crittenden	Christian
Daviess Edmonson Grayson Hancock	<b></b> .	Edmonson Grayson Hancock	Daviess
Hart Henderson Hopkins Livingston	Hart Livingston		Henderson Hopkins
Logan McLean Muhlenberg Ohio	Logan		McLean Muhlenber Ohio
Todd Union Warren	Todd	Warren	Union
Webster			Webster
Note: (A) Descripti further plant c informa	ons of these consideratic oal supply or tion or isola	23 counties, elimin on for synthetic liq h account of insuffi ated and insufficien	ated from uid fuels cient t reserves,

-

.

4

۲y.

71

15• 70021

Coal measures of Bell County are divided into two separate areas by the coal-barren front of the Pine Mountain overthrust. Those southeast of Pine Mountain occupy the relatively shallow Middlesboro syncline, the axis of which crosses the county in a northwest-southeast direction, parallel to the northwestern edge of the Pine Mountain overthrust. The coal beds dip southeast from Pine Mountain at rates ranging up to 5 degrees or more but flattening rapidly within short distances, thence dipping at gentle rates toward the synclinal axis from which they rise at gentle rates toward Cumberland Mountain. The Middlesboro syncline, southeast of Pine Mountain in Bell County, is broken by two transverse faults which extend in a nearly north-south direction through the center of the area. The relatively small part of Bell County northwest of the Pine Mountain overthrust is monoclinal in structure with a slight increase in northwestward dip from the northwest toward the southeast, and with a few minor flexures without particular pattern locally modifying the regional dip at some locations.

U.S. Bureau of Mines Publication "Bituminous Coal and Lignite in 1948" (M.M.S. No. 1807) indicates that approximately 3,005,000 tons were produced in Bell County during that year, with 84,000 tons being obtained from 3 stripping operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reports for 1948 a production of approximately 2,350,000 tons from 21 railroad mines and an additional 735,000 tons from 101 truck mines. These mines operated in coals variously designated as Apex, Barner, Blue Jim, Buckeye, Collier, Creech, Crockett, Dean, Dixie Gem, Harlan, Hignite, Jack Rock, Jellico, Lower Dean, Lower Hignite, Mason, Nugym, Popular Lick, Red Bird, Red Springs, Rim Splint, Sterling, Straight Creek, Turkey Pen, Turner and "stray" beds. Since the designations of these beds are largely limited to areas of small extent, with no county-wide correlations available, it is probable that the number of beds actually being worked is substantially less than indicated by the number of names.

Bell County northwest of Pine Mountain has not been mapped or investigated in sufficient detail to provide adequate data on location or extent of coal occurrences. Although numerous mines have operated along the principal drainage channels in this part of Bell County, information available is not sufficient to permit descriptions of the number, occurrences, or extents of coal beds nor to justify estimates of reserves.

Six coal beds southeast of Pine Mountain in Bell County contain reserves sufficient to warrant further consideration as synthetic liquid fuels plant supply. These beds, in descending order, are the High Splint, Hignite, Fire Clay, Williamson, Harlan, and Puckett Creek beds.

71

15 70021

4

Ку

The High Splint bed, also known as the Red Springs coal, occurs in only two limited areas in the southwestern portion of the county, where it ranges from 4 ft 2 in. to 6 ft 4 in. in total thickness. The thicker cocurrences are generally characterized by inclusion of from one to three partings ranging up to 5 inches in thickness. In the areas of estimated reserves, the thickness of this bed ranges from 4 ft 7 in. to 4 ft 9 in.

The Hignite bed likewise is found only in southwestern Bell County, where it is extremely variable in thickness, from less than 3 ft 0 in. to as much as 9 ft 11 in. In areas of thicker coal occurrence, the bed is generally separated into individual benches by intervening partings 1 ft or more thick; the workable coal usually is less than 4 ft 0 in. in thickness.

The Fire Clay bed, or the Dean bed, occurs in workable thickness in southwestern Bell County and in small scattered areas along the Bell-Harlan and Bell-Leslie County lines. Thickness of this bed ranges up to 6 ft 3 in. in total; there are two or more relatively thin benches separated by partings as much as 1 ft 3 in. thick. Portions of the Fire Clay bed have been extensively worked in areas of superior quality and physical conditions in the central part of southeastern Bell County. Thicknesses of workable benches in areas of estimated reserves in Bell County range from 2 ft 3 in. to 4 ft 4 in.

The Williamson bed, or the Mason bed, occurs persistently across the southwestern and northeastern portions of the area in Bell County southeast of Pine Mountain. This bed ranges from 2 ft 4 in. to as much as 6 ft 0 in. in thickness but generally occurs in an average thickness of approximately 3 ft 6 in.; gradually increasing to 4 ft 6 in. near the Bell-Harlan County line. The Williamson bed in the areas of estimated reserves in Bell County is from 2 ft 9 in. to 4 ft 6 in. thick.

The Harlan bed extends southwestward into southeastern Bell County from its greatest development in Harlan County. While persistent, it is variable in thickness and in content of shale partings within short distances, so that it may range from 3 ft 2 in. of clean coal on one flank of a narrow ridge to 9 ft 1 in. on the opposite flank; this latter thickness contains five shale partings, totaling 2 ft 10 in. in thickness, which divide the bed into six coal benches ranging from 0 ft 3 in. to 1 ft 5 in. in individual thickness. There are relatively substantial areas, however, in which the bed persists in thicknesses from 3 ft 3 in. to 4 ft 2 in.; without adverse thicknesses of included partings.

73 [4a [5 ]

[y :

a

The Puckett Creek bed is locally developed only in southeastern Bell County near the Bell-Harlan County line; it generally consists of two or more benches separated by thick intervening partings. There are two relatively small areas of reserves in which the workable coal thickness without adverse partings ranges from 2 ft 8 in. to 4 ft 7 in.

Breathitt County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). In Breathitt County, in the north-central portion of the Eastern Kentucky field, the coal measures occur over the deeper portion of the general structural syncline. In conformance with this regional position, the coal beds and their associated strata in the northwestern and western portions of the county dip toward the southeast and east, while the beds in the eastern portion of the county dip gently toward the west. The predominant synclinal structure is locally affected by scattered and irregular anticlines, which do not greatly modify the directions or rates of dip.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 show approximately 159,000 tons as produced in Breathitt County during that year, all from underground operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reports for 1948 that approximately 46,000 tons were loaded from two railroad mines in Breathitt County; an additional 128,000 tons was obtained from 66 truck mines. This production was from the Elkhorn No. 3, Hazard No. 4, No. 4, and No. 4 Ryder beds.

Of the ll coal beds in Breathitt County 6 were found suitable for further consideration for the production of synthetic liquid fuels. The following classification, arranged in descending stratigraphic order, indicates the suitability or non-suitability of each bed examined in this survey. It is followed by brief descriptions of all of the coal beds for which information was available.

Breathitt County Coal Beds

Coal Bed	Suitable	Non-Suitable	
High Splint		x	
Flag	x		
Hazard	x		ş.
Leatherwood		x	
Haddix	x		
Fire Clay	x		
Wilson Fork		x	Кv
Whitesburg	x		•
Big Branch		x	74b
Round Bar Upper Elkhorn No. 3	x	X	75
<del></del>			<b>⊀</b> 15 <sup>^</sup>

70021

(References: 15, 32, 39, 40, 48, 62, 63)

The High Splint bed occurs only near the summits of the highest ridges and divides in southeastern Breathitt County. The areas of coal occurrence are too limited to warrant further consideration.

4

У.

The Flag bed likewise occurs near the summits of the higher ridges and divides in southern Breathitt County. It ranges from 2 ft 0 in. to 4 ft 9 in. in thickness and is usually composed of splint or cannel coal with two or more partings ranging up to 0 ft 5 in. in thickness. Thicknesses of this bed in scattered areas of estimated reserves range from 2 ft 3 in. to 4 ft 2 in.

The Hazard bed underlies the higher ridges and divides in southern Breathitt County and also extends into Breathitt County along the Breathitt-Magoffin County line from outcrops in southern Magoffin County. Within these areas, the Hazard bed ranges widely in thickness from 1 ft 1 in. to as much as 7 ft 5 in. Areas of thicker coal are commonly characterized by two or more shale partings sometimes as thick as 3 ft 3 in. One or two benches near the middle of the bed commonly consist of cannel coal. The thicknesses of the Hazard bed in the areas of estimated reserves range from 3 ft 1 in. to 5 ft 2 in.

The Leatherwood bed is only a horizon marker in southern and eastern Breathitt County; it rarely exceeds 1 ft 0 in. in thickness.

The Haddix bed, also sometimes called the No. 4 bed, outcrops widely across central and eastern Breathitt County in a total thickness of as much as 7 ft 6 in. It generally contains two or more partings ranging from 0 ft 1 in. to as much as 2 ft 0 in.; two or more of the coal benches generally consist of cannel or splint coal. In areas containing thicker or more numerous partings, only portions of the full bed can be considered minable; thicknesses of the workable benches in numerous scattered areas of estimated reserves range from 2 ft 3 in. to 4 ft 4 in.

The Fire Clay bed, usually merely a horizon marker in northern and eastern Breathitt County, extends northward into southern Breathitt County from areas of thicker coal in Perry County to the south. There are a few small areas of reserves in northern Breathitt County slightly over 2 ft 0 in. thick. Reserves along the Breathitt-Perry County line range in thickness up to 3 ft 6 in. The bed throughout Breathitt County contains highly variable proportions of coal and shale material.

6 <u>The Wilson Fork bed</u> is confined to eastern Breathitt 7a County, where it occurs in widely varying thicknesses ranging locally up to 6 ft 2 in. Moderate reserves of this bed, in areas where 5 thicknesses exceed 2 ft 0 in., may be present but available informa-0021 tion is too limited to permit estimates of reserves. The Whitesburg bed is largely confined in occurrence to northeastern Breathitt County where its thickness ranges from less than 2 ft 0 in. to approximately 3 ft 6 in. Although persistent, it varies widely both in thickness and number of contained partings. Workable thicknesses range from 2 ft 9 in. to 3 ft 6 in. in the relatively limited areas of estimated reserves.

The Big Branch bed is a lenticular coal which thickens locally to as much as 3 ft 4 in. in east-central Breathitt County. Estimates of reserves are not justified by available information; the Big Branch coal is too limited in extent to warrant further consideration.

The Round Bar bed is another lenticular coal of limited extent in east-central Breathitt County. At one location, it is reported to occur as 0 ft 10 in. of coal immediately underlain by 2 ft 0 in. of cannel coal.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed has not been widely mined or prospected in Breathitt County; it appears to be limited in occurrence to the easternmost portions where it approximates 3 ft 0 in. in workable thickness. The bed is reported to decrease in thickness toward the west, even within its more persistent areas.

<u>Clay County.</u> (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Clay County, in the south-central portion of the Eastern Kentucky field, is near the central axis of the principal synclinal basin but minor undulations in structure occur in irregular pattern over the entire county. The coal beds and their associated strata generally dip at low rates from the northwest toward the southeast.

According to Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 approximately 813,000 tons were produced in Clay County during that year, of which 103,000 tons were from 10 stripping operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates no production from railroad mines in Clay County during that year, although approximately 576,000 tons came from 32 truck mines, from beds variously designated as the "B", Hazard No. 4, Horse Creek, and No. 4 beds. Nevertheless, estimates of moderate amounts of reserves are confined to but two beds, the Fire Clay and the Upper Elkhorn No. 3 (Horse Creek).

The Fire Clay coal horizon should underlie a strip along the eastern border of Clay County closely adjacent to occurrences of this same bed throughout Leslie County to the east. In Clay County, however, the Fire Clay bed is reported to range from O ft 6 in. to 4 ft 7 in. in thickness at scattered locations. Available measurements on this bed in Clay County indicate greater

(References: 15, 29, 39, 40, 62, 63)

77b 78 79a 15 70021

4

Ky

variations in thickness and in number of contained partings than elsewhere in the Eastern Kentucky field. Broad areas cannot be estimated as underlain by a persistent bed. The thicknesses of the Fire Clay bed in the scattered areas of estimated reserves in eastern Clay County range from 2 ft 8 in. to 3 ft 10 in.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed, designated at truck mine operations in 1948 as the Horse Creek bed, persistently underlies several areas of moderate extent in west-central Clay County. It generally occurs as a relatively clean bed ranging up to 3 ft 7 in. in thickness and approximates 3 ft 3 in. in thickness within the areas of estimated reserves in Clay County.

<u>Floyd County</u>. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Floyd County is located in the east-central portion of the Eastern Kentucky field and, in its northwestern portion, is crossed by the principal axis of the eastern Kentucky syncline. The coal measures in other portions of the county dip toward the synclinal axis at low angles somewhat modified by areas of irregular dips.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production for 1948 indicate that approximately 6,698,000 tons were produced from Floyd County in that year, all from underground operations; this production was the fourth largest production from an individual county within the field. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 reported a production of approximately 5,076,000 tons from 31 railroad mines and an additional 1,659,000 tons at 579 truck mines. The producing coal beds are variously designated as the Elkhorn Nos. 1, 2, and 3, the Millers Creek, the No. 4, the No. 4 Whitesburg, and the Whitesburg beds.

The nomenclature and correlations of coal beds in Floyd County are uncertain; local names are applied to the principal beds at many locations and the numbered Elkhorn beds occasionally are referenced to an immediate locality rather than on a county-wide basis. The presence of reserves suitable for further consideration is indicated in the Hazard, Flatwoods, Williamson, Upper Elkhorn Nos. 3, 2, and 1 and Lower Elkhorn beds (listed in descending order).

The Hazard bed outcrops near the center of the western and southwestern border line of Floyd County; reserves also extend into northwestern Floyd County from outcrops in southern Magoffin County to the west. The Hazard bed may also underlie the topographically higher portions of southern Floyd County although not reported in that area. The thickness of the Hazard bed in the relatively small area of estimated reserves along the Magoffin-Floyd County line ranges from 3 ft 9 in. to 4 ft 6 in.

(References: 6, 21, 39, 40, 62, 63)

У

'9b

30

**Bla** 

D021

The Flatwoods bed, or the Hazard No. 4 bed, occurs only near the summits of the highest ridges along the Floyd-Pike County line, the eastern boundary of Floyd County. Its thickness ranges from 3 ft 4 in. to 5 ft 3 in. at scattered points in small areas. Available information indicates the presence in Floyd County of only very limited reserves, which approximate 3 ft 4 in. in thickness.

The Williamson bed has been prospected only in the southern portion of Floyd County, where the total bed thickness ranges from 4 ft 10 in. to 6 ft 6 in.; the bed usually includes at least one parting which may range up to 1 ft 9 in. in thickness. There is a small area of estimated reserves in southern Floyd County, in which the thickness of the minable bench ranges from 2 ft 11 in. to 3 ft 11 in.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed outcrops widely in eastern, southern, and western Floyd County but is highly variable in total thickness, in number and thickness of clean coal benches, and in composition and thickness of contained partings. Individual coal benches and partings may thicken, thin, or disappear within short distances and without apparent pattern. Substantial reserves are present in which the thicknesses of workable coal benches range from 2 ft 6 in. to 4 ft 1 in.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 2 bed, or the Ivel bed, outcrops widely along the Floyd-Pike County line. Relatively substantial reserves extend westward from Pike County into southeastern Floyd County. Although frequently occurring in two benches separated by as much as 1 ft 0 in. of shale, the Upper Elkhorn No. 2 bed is relatively persistent in minable coal of thicknesses ranging from 2 ft 11 in. to 3 ft 6 in.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed, also widely called the Van Lear, Millers Creek, or Middle Creek bed, underlies extensive portions of Floyd County, where it commonly persists in thicknesses between 2 ft 6 in. and 5 ft 0 in. Reports of thicker coal occurrences range up to 8 ft 0 in. or more, although the bed generally contains one or more thick partings at such locations. There are substantial reserves in which the thickness of the minable bench or benches ranges between 2 ft 7 in. and 4 ft 4 in.

The Lower Elkhorn bed, also widely termed the Dwale, Syck, Warfield, or Freeburn bed, occurs persistently across the southern half of Floyd County. This bed, normally outcropping near the base of the deeper drainage channels, ranges from 2 ft 0 in. to approximately 4 ft 6 in. in thickness, with but one or two thin partings which only locally thicken to as much as 1 ft 0 in. Substantial areas exist in which the Lower Elkhorn bed ranges from 2 ft 9 in. to 3 ft 7 in. in thickness.

Ky 81b 82a 15 70021 Harlan County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). The southeastern boundary of Harlan County in the southeastern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field forms a part of the Kentucky-Virginia State line. The coal measures of Harlan County are divided into two distinct fields by the coal-barren front of the Pine Mountain overthrust extending in a northeast-southwest direction near the northwestern boundaries of Harlan County. The larger part of Harlan County, southeast of Pine Mountain, is synclinal in structure; coal beds dip toward the synclinal axis from both Pine Mountain and from Cumberland Mountain, which forms part of the southeastern boundary of the County. The smaller coal-bearing area northwest of the Pine Mountain fault is relatively flat in structure with a slight regional dip toward the northwest.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate that approximately 11,710,000 tons were produced in Harlan County during that year, including 17,000 tons from two stripping operations. This was the second highest production from any individual county of Kentucky in 1948. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minegals reported for 1948 production of approximately 11,025,000 tons in 55 railroad mines and an additional 362,000 tons from 60 truck mines. The producing coal beds are variously designated as the "A", "B", "C", Blue Gem, Bulldog, Creech, Darby, Dean, Harlan, High Cliff, High Splint, Imperial, Kellioka, Low Splint, Marker, Mason, No. 1, No. 2, No. 10, Splint, and Wallins beds. It is highly probable that many of these names result from local usage and actually represent a smaller number of principal beds. Available information indicates the presence of substantial reserves in beds herein designated, in descending order, as the High Splint, Hazard, Fire Clay Rider, Fire Clay, Williamson, Upper Elkhorn No. 3, Upper Elkhorn No. 2, and Harlan.

The High Splint bed, also known as the Hindman or No. 9 bed, occurs in the higher ridges in the northeastern portion of the Harlan County area southeast of Pine Mountain. The bed ranges up to 7 ft 7 in. in total thickness, although the lower portion at points of maximum thickness is usually unminable because of numerous thin partings. Thicknesses of workable benches in the relatively large areas of estimated reserves range from 3 ft 5 in. to 6 ft 9 in.

The Hazard bed, sometimes also the No. 6 coal, is limited to areas along the Harlan-Leslie County line northwest of Pine Mountain, where it underlies a relatively limited area with an average thickness of 3 ft 2 in.

70021 (References: 1, 2, 5, 7, 37, 39, 40, 44, 62, 63)

Кy

15

The Fire Clay Rider bed likewise occurs only in a small area near the center of the Harlan-Leslie County line. It approximates 2 ft 6 in. in thickness.

The Fire Clay bed, also called the Wallins Creek bed, occurs in limited extent near the center of the Harlan-Leslie County line and also in small scattered areas southeast of Pine Mountain. While ranging up to as much as 9 ft 5 in. in total thickness, the bed is highly variable in thickness in southeastern Harlan County and usually contains two or more partings, ranging up to a maximum of 1 ft 11 in. in thickness, which may be sufficient in number to preclude the mining of either the upper or lower portions of the bed. Thicknesses of workable benches of the Fire Clay bed in the small, scattered areas of estimated reserves range from 2 ft 5 in. to 6 ft 2 in.

The Williamson bed, or the Low Splint or Mason bed, occurs in Harlan County only in small, scattered areas southeast of Pine Mountain, where it ranges from 2 ft 2 in. to 5 ft 4 in. in thickness and usually contains one or two thin partings. The largest individual area of estimated reserves occurs in northeastern Harlan County along the Kentucky-Virginia State line.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed, also widely known as the Kellicka, Taggart, or Darby bed, occurs throughout Harlan County southeast of Pine Mountain. As elsewhere in eastern Kentucky, this bed varies rapidly in thickness and composition; individual coal benches and intervening partings thicken, thin or disappear in relatively short distances without particular pattern ranging up to 10 ft 7 in. in maximum total bed thickness. The thicknesses of the minable portions of this bed in the substantial areas of estimated reserves range from 2 ft 10 in. to 4 ft 10 in.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 2 bed, otherwise also the Leonard or "B" bed, occurs at scattered locations in the northeastern portion of Harlan County southeast of Pine Mountain where it ranges up to a maximum thickness of approximately 8 ft 0 in. and generally contains two or more thin partings, of which one may occasionally thicken to as much as 1 ft 2 in. The thickness and frequency of the thin partings sometimes preclude the mining of upper or lower portions of the thicker coal occurrences. The thicknesses of the Upper Elkhorn No. 2 bed in the scattered areas of estimated reserves range from 2 ft 5 in. to 4 ft 1 in.

The Harlan bed appears to occur at approximately the same stratigraphic position as the Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed of Floyd, Johnson, and Pike Counties but is separately designated as the Harlan coal in Harlan and Bell Counties, where it has been 84b 85 86a 15 70021

Кy

widely mined. Occurring only southeast of Pine Mountain in Harlan County, the Harlan bed persistently underlies large areas in thicknesses ranging up to a maximum of 12 ft 4 in. At some locations, substantial thicknesses or portions of the bed are considered unminable because of the frequency and combined thickness of contained partings, although these are generally less than 6 in. in individual thickness. Thicknesses of workable benches of the Harlan bed in the substantial areas of estimated reserves in Harlan County range from 3 ft 1 in. to 4 ft 2 in.

Johnson County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Johnson County, in the northeastern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field, is in approximately the center of the eastern Kentucky syncline. A persistent upfold crossing the center of Johnson County in an east-west direction, however, somewhat modifies the regional structure of the Eastern Kentucky field in this area, resulting in variations in direction of dip of the coal beds but not in sufficient degree to interfere with mining operations. Structure of the coal beds is further modified at the northwestern corner of Johnson County by additional minor reversals of the general synclinal structure.

The Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 report approximately 956,000 tons produced in Johnson County during that year, all from underground operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 reports approximately 326,000 tons produced from three railroad mines and an additional 502,000 tons from 225 truck mines. Such production was principally from the Millers Creek bed; minor amounts were from the Millers Creek No. 1, No. 3, and the Lower Elkhorn beds. Although there are one or two beds above and below the Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed, available information is sufficient to establish estimates of reserves for only the latter bed.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed, also tentatively designated the Kellioka "C" bed, has been locally mined at scattered locations in southern Lawrence County near the Johnson Lawrence County line but is reported to become highly irregular in thickness and content of partings within Johnson County.

One or two coal horizons sometimes designated as the <u>No. 4</u> or <u>No. 2</u> beds are also present in northeastern Johnson and <u>Bouthern Lawrence County</u>, where they frequently occur as cannel coals. While known to be present at widely scattered points, estimates of reserves are not warranted; these beds vary too widely in thickness and continuity to merit further consideration.

86b <u>87a</u> 15 70021

Ky.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed, also widely known as the Millers Creek bed, underlies nearly the entire southern half of Johnson County with an average thickness of approximately 3 ft 6 in. In Johnson County, this bed is highly persistent in thickness and in quality; only one or two thin partings occur in relatively limited areas. The thickness of the Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed in the substantial areas of estimated reserves in Johnson County ranges from 2 ft 10 in. to 3 ft 11 in.

A coal horizon stratigraphically lower than the Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed occurs in limited extent near the north western corner of Johnson County with a reported average thickness of 1 ft 8 in., too thin to warrant further consideration.

Knott County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). In Knott County, near the center of the southeastern limb of the principal eastern Kentucky syncline, the coal beds and their associated strata in the main dip toward the northwest at low angles. The regional dip is slightly modified in the northwestern part of the county by minor local folding.

As shown in Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 approximately 1,175,000 tons were produced in Knott County during that year, of which 7,000 tons were from two stripping operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 that approximately 928,000 tons were produced from 6 railroad mines in Knott County and an additional 335,000 tons from 144 truck mines. Such production was from coal beds variously designated as the Elkhorn Nos. 1, 2, and 3 beds, the Nos. 3, 4, 7, and 9 beds, and the Hazard No. 4, Hindman, Hindman No. 4, Whitesburg, and Whitesburg No. 9 beds. It is highly probable that there is duplication of beds in the above separate designations which may actually represent only a limited number of principal beds. There are relatively substantial reserves in what are herein designated, in descending order, as the Flag, Hazard, Fire Clay, Whitesburg, Williamson, Upper Elkhorn No. 3, Upper Elkhorn No. 1, and Lower Elkhorn beds.

The Flag bed occurs in southwestern Knott County, where it generally persists as a clean coal ranging up to 5 ft 0 in. in thickness with but a few areas containing lenticular partings of a maximum thickness of 1 ft 0 in. Thicknesses of the Flag bed in the relatively small, scattered areas of estimated reserves range from 2 ft 3 in. to 4 ft 6 in.

. K

87 88 89

בד 7002

<sup>(</sup>References: 6, 15, 21, 39, 40, 62, 63)

The Hazard bed, also sometimes designated as the No. 6 bed, outcrops along the western border of Knott County. It occurs usually only as a horizon marker with thicknesses of but a few inches. The bed thickens locally, however, to a maximum of nearly 7 ft 0 in. in relatively limited scattered areas. The thicknesses of the Hazard bed in three such areas of estimated reserves in Knott County range from 3 ft 3 in. to 3 ft 8 in.

The Fire Clay bed, or the Dean bed, persistently underlies southern Knott County and is also present in the central and northern parts. Only limited information is available on occurrences of this bed in the central and northern portions of the county; larger reserves might be found by further investigation. In southern Knott County, the Fire Clay bed generally persists in workable thicknesses although in some areas it contains too many thin partings to permit mining activities. Over large portions of its total known area, however, the bed commonly contains up to 4 ft 0 in. of workable coal benches although additional upper or lower thicknesses may contain sufficiently frequent thin partings to preclude mining of such portions. The thicknesses of persistent and workable benches of the Fire Clay bed in the substantial areas of estimated reserves in southern Knott County range from 2 ft 5 in. to 3 ft 9 in.

The Whitesburg bed occurs only in limited scattered areas in southern Knott County where it ranges from less than 1 ft 0 in. to 3 ft 8 in. in thickness. There is sufficient information to indicate limited reserves of inferred classification, in which the bed thicknesses range from 2 ft 7 in. to 3 ft 3 in.

<u>The Williamson bed</u>, also called the Amburgy bed, is generally limited in occurrence to the southern portion of Knott County near the Knott-Letcher County line. There it consists of a principal bench about 3 ft 0 in. thick, underlain or overlain by irregular thicknesses of laminated coal and shale. The principal bench occasionally thins to as little as 0 ft 10 in. There is only a limited area of reserves in the Williamson bed in southern Knott County.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed outcrops extensively and has been widely mined across eastern Knott County where it ranges between 1 ft 7 in. and 7 ft 0 in. in thickness but more commonly persistently averages 4 ft 1 in. in thickness. Estimates of substantial reserves of the Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed are warranted, both along outcrops within Knott County and as extensions of reserves from outcrops in the adjoining portion of Floyd County. These reserves range from 2 ft 7 in. to 5 ft 0 in. in thickness.

Ky 89b 90a 15 70021

**N**.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed outcrops persistently along the Knott-Floyd County line. Relatively substantial reserves are present in eastern Knott County, ranging in thickness from 3 ft 6 in. to 4 ft 4 in.

The Lower Elkhorn bed underlies substantial areas in eastern Knott County adjacent to the Knott-Floyd County line. Although apparently thinning to the west and south, this bed is persistent within its area of principal occurrence, where it ranges from 2 ft 4 in. to 3 ft 7 in. in thickness. While generally reported to contain one or two shale partings, these do not appear to exceed 0 ft 3 in. in individual thickness.

Knox County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). In Knox County, in the southern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field, the principal axis of the eastern Kentucky syncline extends in a northeast-southwest direction across the approximate center of the county. The breadth of the Eastern Kentucky field diminishes from the northeast toward the southwest, so that the northwestern and southeastern borders of the field in Knox County are closer to the central axis of the syncline than in areas to the north. The extreme southern corner of Knox County, in fact, is bounded by the coal-barren front of the Pine Mountain overthrust. In conformance with this regional position, the coal beds of Knox County dip inward from the northwestern and southeastern parts of the county, although the regional dips are somewhat modified by additional moderate folding of limited extent and degree.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate that approximately 1,008,000 tons were produced in Knox County during that year, of which 178,000 tons were from two stripping operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 approximately 411,000 tons produced at 5 railroad mines in Knox County in that year and an additional 609,000 tons at 123 truck mines. The producing coal beds are the Blue Jim, Dean, Fisher, Jellico, Straight Creek, and a stray bed.

The available information on coal bed occurrences in Knox County is highly limited; scattered data from records of mining operations, which indicate the probable presence of coal beds, are sufficient only to show the presence of moderate reserves in the Fire Clay bed in Knox County.

The Fire Clay bed, or the Dean coal, underlies a moderate area at the extreme southern corner of Knox County, where it approximates 3 ft 6 in. in thickness.

(References: 15, 19, 30, 39, 40, 62, 63)

83

Кy

90Ъ 91

92a

15

70021

The Jellico bed, considered as correlated with the Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed and also sometimes called the Straight Creek bed, provides both underground and strip production in the westernmost corner of Knox County. Available information is too limited to permit estimates of reserves.

The Blue Gem bed, correlated with the Lower Elkhorn bed and also called the Dean or Blue Jim, is mined by trucking operations at a number of scattered points in Knox County. Available information is too limited to permit estimates of reserves.

Leslie County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). The soal beds of Leslie County, near the center of the southeastern flank of the principal eastern Kentucky syncline, generally dip toward the northwest at moderate rates, locally modified in direction by additional local folding. A few dips of up to 6 degrees close to the axes of such additional folds are minor and local in extent.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate that approximately 1,073,000 tons were produced in Leslie County during that year, all from underground operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 that there was no production in that year from railroad mines but that there was a production of approximately 929,000 tons from 47 truck mines working in coal beds variously designated as the Hazard No. 4, Hazard No. 7, and No. 4 beds.

Of the 10 coal beds for which information is available in Leslie County, 5 were found to be suitable for further consideration for the production of synthetic liquid fuels. The following classification, in descending stratigraphic order, indicates the suitability or non-suitability of each bed examined in this survey.

> Suitability of Leslie County Coal Beds for Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Supply

		Coal Bed	Suitable	Non-Suitable
Þ		Helton		x
		Hindman		X
		Flag		x
•		Hazard	x	
Kv		Haddix		x
		Hamlin		x
92b		Fire Clay Rider	x	
93		Fire Clay	x	
94a		Whitesburg	x	
		Williamson	x	
15				
70021	(References:	39, 40, 62, 63)		

The Helton bed, of uncertain stratigraphic correlation, occurs near the summits of the highest hills and divides at scattered locations in southern Leslie County. At such locations, the bed ranges up to 6 ft 2 in. in total thickness but is generally divided into two or more benches by numerous shale partings so that the thickness of the minable bench or benches rarely exceeds 4 ft 0 in. Information available is too limited to permit estimates of reserves and the areas underlain by the Helton bed are too limited to require further consideration.

The Hindman bed occurs at high topographic elevations in the northern part of the county where individual areas of occurrence are too limited to warrant further consideration. The bed is reported to range from 3 ft 7 in. to as much as 9 ft 2 in. in total thickness but usually contains one or more shale partings of varying thicknesses which reduce the minable thickness to 4 ft 6 in. or less. The middle bench of this bed is occasionally reported as a splint coal.

The Flag bed has been found by limited prospecting at scattered locations in central Leslie County. Scattered measurements indicate a range of from 3 ft 0 in. to 5 ft 10 in. in thickness. At all such points of measurements, the coal contains two or more partings individually ranging up to 0 ft 9 in. in thickness. A single measurement in southern Leslie County indicates that the Flag bed there splits into two thin benches measuring but 0 ft 7 in. and 0 ft 10 in., separated by 14 ft 0 in. of shale and sandstone.

The Hazard bed, or the No. 6 coal, has been widely reported across southeastern Leslie county but at points of observation generally too far apart to permit estimates of substantial reserves. Thicknesses of the Hazard bed in the small scattered areas of estimated reserves in eastern Leslie County range from 2 ft 3 in. to 3 ft 8 in.; such measurements indicate frequent occurrence of one or more partings, which range up to 0 ft 8 in. in individual thickness.

The Haddix bed occurs in Leslie County mainly as a horizon marker; thicknesses are generally less than 1 ft 8 in. A reported measurement of 5 ft 11 in. total thickness at one location in southeastern Leslie County is probably of a local pocket too limited in extent to warrant further consideration. At this location, an upper bench 1 ft 3 in. thick is separated by a 1 ft 8 in. shale parting from a lower bench 3 ft 0 in. thick.

The Hamlin bed, of uncertain stratigraphic correlation, has been reported at a few scattered locations in southern Leslie County. This bed is largely composed of thin benches, separated by numerous partings of irregular and varying thickness.

Â

70021

Ку

94b

95a

The Fire Clay Rider bed underlies a moderate area in east-central Leslie County in workable thickness; there are indications of numerous other minor occurrences in other parts of the county. This bed is characterized by numerous partings; the workable coal thickness rarely exceeds 3 ft 6 in. and frequently is less than 2 ft 3 in. Thicknesses in the numerous and scattered areas of estimated reserves in Leslie County range from 2 ft 1 in. to 3 ft 10 in.

The Fire Clay bed, or the No. 4 coal, outcrops widely in a general east-west direction across the center of Leslie County and also appears in a number of scattered locations in the southern part of the county. While persistent in occurrence, its thickness decreases to less than 2 ft 0 in. at a number of locations; numerous local mining operations in this coal are largely confined to lenticular areas in which the bed may range up to 4 ft 0 in. in thickness. Occasional measured sections of coal, ranging up to 5 ft 7 in. in thickness, usually show the presence of numerous thin shale partings which preclude the mining of at least portions of the bed.

The Whitesburg bed is found only in deeper portions of the drainage channels at a few scattered locations in Leslie County; it ranges from 1 ft 6 in. to as much as 4 ft 0 in. in thickness. It is characterized in its southern occurrences by the presence of numerous thin shale partings, sufficient in number and frequency at some locations to prevent mining operations. The thicknesses of the Whitesburg bed in the relatively limited areas of estimated reserves in Leslie County range from 2 ft 4 in. to 3 ft 10 in.

The Williamson bed, or the Amburgy bed, appears above drainage at only one moderate area in north-central Leslie County. There, the bed ranges from 2 ft 2 in. to as much as 4 ft 10 in. in thickness, and commonly contains one or two shale partings ranging from 1 to 4 inches in thickness. The bed decreases in average thickness toward the south.

Letcher County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Letcher County, along the southeastern border of the Eastern Kentucky field, contains coal measures divided by the Pine Mountain overthrust into two, greatly unequal portions. Approximately the northeastern half of the southeastern boundary of Letcher County is formed by Pine Mountain. This boundary, however, thence swings southward from Pine Mountain to enclose a small coal basin to the southeast in the south-central part of the county. This area is sometimes called Poor Fork basin and represents the northeastward extension of the Middlesboro syncline of southeastern Bell and Harlan Counties. The coal beds and their associated strata northwest of

(References: 1,2,6,9,10,20,21,27,35,37,39,40,62,63)

٢y

95b 96

97a

Pine Mountain dip at gentle rates toward the northwest interrupted by a few minor modifications due to local folding extending northwestwards from Pine Mountain.

According to Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 approximately 10,385,000 tons were produced in Letcher County during that year, including 207,000 tons from three stripping operations. This is the third highest production from an individual county in eastern Kentucky. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reports for 1948 that approximately 3,364,000 tons were produced from 17 railroad mines in Letcher County during that year and an additional 7,476,000 tons from 801 truck mines. The coal beds worked for such production are variously designated as the "A", "B", "C", Amburgy, Darby "B", Elkhorn, Elkhorn No. 3, Elkhorn No. 4, Fire Clay, Hazard No. 4, Mizpah, Shelby Gap, and Whitesburg beds.

There are substantial reserves in one or both portions of the areas northwest and southeast of Pine Mountain in beds designated, in descending order, as the Fire Clay, Whitesburg, Williamson, Upper Elkhorn No. 3, Upper Elkhorn No. 2, Upper Elkhorn No. 1, and Lower Elkhorn beds. Other coal horizons, also present in Letcher County, are included in the following descriptions of all of the coal beds for which information is available.

<u>The Flag bed</u> occurs only in northwestern Letcher County where minor areas underlie a few high divides.

The Haddix bed, also commonly called the Pardee or Limestone coal, occurs in the highest portions of the hills southeast of Pine Mountain in southern Letcher County. There are generally two thin benches varying up to 30 feet in vertical separation. The limited available information suggests that reserves of this bed are too limited to warrant further consideration.

The Fire Clay bed, also known as the No. 4 or Dean coal, outcrops widely along the northwestern borders of Letcher County. It is persistent in continuity, ranging from 2 ft 6 in. to as much as 6 ft 3 in. in thickness. Although there are commonly one or two partings ranging up to 4 in. in individual thickness, the Fire Clay bed contains substantial reserves. The Fire Clay horizon is also present in southern Letcher County southeast of Pine Mountain but there it is too thin and contains too many thin partings to warrant further consideration.

The Whitesburg bed occurs only in the area northwest of Pine Mountain where it is persistent in stratigraphic position 98 15 70021

1

Кy

97Ъ

but varies widely in thickness from only a few inches to as much as 5 ft 0 in. It frequently carries numerous partings which reduce the workable thicknesses of the coal benches and the extent of apparent reserves. Thicknesses of the Whitesburg bed in the relatively small and scattered areas of estimated reserves in Letcher County range from 2 ft 11 in. to 4 ft 4 in.

The Williamson bed, sometimes also termed the Amburgy bed and frequently the Low Splint bed in the area southeast of Pine Mountain, occurs in moderate areas in both sections of Letcher In both, the bed contains numerous thin partings, one or County. more of which occasionally thicken to as much as 1 ft 2 in. The number and frequency of the partings are sufficient to prevent con-sideration as synthetic liquid fuels plant supply over substantial Thicknesses of this bed in the scattered areas of estimated areas. reserves in both portions of Letcher County range from 2 ft 8 in. to 4 ft 4 in.

3

J

19 \*

.5

.00a

The Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed, or the Taggart bed in the area southeast of Pine Mountain, underlies substantial areas in both sections of Letcher County. In northern Letcher County, it characteristically occurs as two persistent benches separated by a vertical interval of as much as 30 feet, which in some areas so decreases in thickness that both benches can be mined as a single bed. The more persistent lower bench also contains a thin parting which may in places range up to as much as 3 ft 0 in. in thickness. A similar multiple-bench occurrence is found in the area southeast of Pine Mountain, where the upper and lower benches are also sometimes designated as the "D" and  $\hat{"C"}$  beds, respectively. The thicknesses of the Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed in the substantial areas of estimated reserves in both portions of Letcher County range from 2 ft 5 in. to 5 ft 0 in.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 2 bed, sometimes designated as the Collier bed in southern Letcher County, is not as widespread in occurrence as the No. 3 bed and appears in minable thickness only in the northeastern part of the county and at the extreme southern corner, south of Pine Mountain, where it represents a northeastward extension of the same bed from northeastern Harlan County. Limited information indicates the presence of moderate reserves in these two areas in which the bed thickness ranges from 3 ft 3 in. to 5 ft 5 in.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed occurs in Letcher County in minable thickness only in small areas southeast of Pine Mountain where the thickness in the limited areas of estimated reserves ranges from 3 ft 0 in. to 4 ft 3 in. The horizon of the Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed in northern Letcher County contains thin coal benches and shale partings which may attain a total thickness of as much as 4 ft 2 in. but in which the thickness of the minable coal '0021 benches is generally less than 2 ft 0 in.
The Harlan bed of southeastern Harlan County probably extends into Letcher County southeast of Pine Mountain; available information is too limited to permit estimates of reserves.

The Lower Elkhorn bed, or, in southern Letcher County, Imboden coal, occurs only southeast of Pine Mountain and in the extreme northeastern corner of Letcher County, where it is adjacent to substantial reserves of the same bed in southeastern Pike County. Its widespread occurrence southeast of Pine Mountain is characterized by two principal benches separated by a shale parting, which ranges up to 30 feet in vertical thickness. One or both of the coal benches are generally persistent in an average thickness of approximately 3 ft 6 in. In northeastern Letcher County, the Lower Elkhorn bed, occurring only near drainage level, ranges from 2 ft 9 in. to 3 ft 0 in. in thickness.

<u>Magoffin County.</u> (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Magoffin County, in the northeast-central portion of the Eastern Kentucky field, is crossed in its southeastern corner by the principal synclinal axis of the basin extending approximately northeastsouthwest. The coal beds over most of the county consequently dip toward the southeast at moderate rates with local modifications in direction and degree of dip due to irregular and minor associated folding. In the northwestern portion of the county, the coal beds have been gently uplifted along a broad anticline, with which are associated two nearly east-west faults with vertical displacements ranging from 40 to 140 feet. The principal coal occurrences of Magoffin County are southeast of the faulted area.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate that approximately 165,000 tons were produced in Magoffin County during that year, including 43,000 tons from one stripping operation. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 production of approximately 62,000 tons from 1 railroad mine and an additional 109,000 tons from 66 truck mines. The coal beds worked are variously designated as the Elkhorn No. 3, Hazard No. 4, Hindman, Millers Creek, No. 7, and "Cannel" beds. Moderate amounts of reserves exist in beds designated, in descending order, as the Hazard, Haddix, Fire Clay, Whitesburg, Upper Elkhorn No. 3, and Upper Elkhorn No. 1. Available information on Magoffin County coal beds does not indicate the presence of the Hindman coal, reported to have been mined in 1948.

The Hazard bed outcrops widely in and underlies substantial portions of southeastern Magoffin County where it has been opened in numerous mining operations. The bed appears to become thin and inferior in quality toward the north and west. In southeastern Magoffin County, however, it ranges from 2 ft 6 in.

(References: 14, 31, 39, 40, 62, 63)

Ky 100b 101 <u>102a</u> 15 70921 to 6 ft 2 in. in normal thickness, with scattered measurements of as much as 9 ft 7 in. at a few locations where there are numerous thin partings. In normal development, the bed has at least one parting and more frequently contains unminable upper or lower benches due to numerous thin partings. The thicknesses of the minable coal benches in the relatively substantial areas of estimated reserves in Magoffin County range from 2 ft 9 in. to 4 ft 6 in.

The Haddix bed occurs largely as a horizon marker less than 2 ft 0 in. in thickness in southeastern Magoffin County, but thickens to a maximum of 3 ft 3 in. in a few scattered and relatively limited areas, usually containing benches of splint or cannel coal.

The Fire Clay bed, or the Hazard No. 4 bed, occurs in only a few scattered areas in the south-central portion of Magoffin County where it approximates 3 ft 0 in. in thickness. It usually contains at least one shale parting, which may range up to 5 inches in thickness.

The Whitesburg bed appears, from a few scattered points of observation, to underlie limited areas in central Magoffin County and near the center of the Magoffin-Breathitt County line, ranging from 2 ft 4 in. to 3 ft 6 in. in thickness. At some locations, the bed is reported to contain a single parting ranging up to 1 ft 0 in. in thickness.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed, possibly confused at some points with the overlying Whitesburg bed, is reported at only a few scattered and limited areas in southeastern Magoffin County, where it ranges from 2 ft 8 in. to 3 ft 0 in. in thickness.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed outcrops east of Magoffin County in southwestern Johnson and western Floyd Counties. It is persistent in thickness and continuity a short distance east of the eastern boundary of Magoffin County; relatively substantial areas of estimated reserves extend westward from their outcrops into eastern Magoffin County. The thicknesses of the Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed within the two areas of estimated reserves in Magoffin County range from 2 ft 6 in. to 3 ft 8 in.

Martin County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Martin County, near the center of the northeastern boundary of the Eastern Kentucky field, has a northeastern boundary which forms a part of the Kentucky-West Virginia State line along Tug Fork of Big Sandy River. The coal beds and their associated strata are relatively flat-lying, conforming in direction and amount of dip with irregular arches and basins which extend across the county in varying patterns.

(References: 6, 21, 38, 39, 40, 62, 63)

۶

T

)2b

)3a

)021

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 show that approximately 430,000 tons were produced in Martin County during that year, all from underground operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 372,000 tons were produced from 2 railroad mines in Martin County during that year and an additional 60,000 tons came from 19 truck mines. The producing coal beds are the Coalburg, Warfield, and Winford. Three or four poorly correlated coal horizons appear in Martin County, in two of which estimates of relatively small amounts of reserves have been established. In this report, these beds are termed, in descending order, the Flatwoods and Lower Elkhorn beds.

A series of five beds, present in western Martin County, are locally designated, in descending order, as beds "F" to "B", inclusive. Correlations have not been made either within the area of their occurrence, or with the principal coals of the Eastern Kentucky field. Each of the five beds has been reported in thicknesses ranging up to 4 ft 0 in. or more, but available information suggests them to be lenticular in occurrence and usually to contain a number of shale partings of varying thicknesses. Reported measurements are too widely scattered to permit estimates of reserves.

The Flatwoods bed of northern Pike County extends northward a short distance into the extreme southeastern corner of Martin County, with an average thickness of 3 ft 10 in. It is not known whether this bed may be equivalent to one of the lettered beds described above.

One of the lower lettered beds is sometimes also called the Warfield bed, in which case it could be correlated as the Lower Elkhorn coal. At a few scattered locations in southeastern Martin County, this bed ranges up to 5 ft 0 in. in total thickness and usually contains one or more partings of irregular thickness. The thicknesses of the Lower Elkhorn bed in the scattered areas of estimated reserves in Martin County range from 2 ft 8 in. to 5 ft 0 in.

Perry County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Perry County, near the center of the southeastern limb of the principal Eastern Kentucky field syncline, has its northern boundary approximately along the axis of the syncline. In this regional position, the coal beds of Perry County dip gently toward the northwest, being slightly modified in direction of dip along a local uplift which extends in a northwest-southeast direction along the eastern line of the county.

(References: 15, 32, 39, 40, 62, 63)

91

105 15

Кy

1031

104

\*

Bureau of Mines bituminous coal production data for 1948 show production of approximately 6,685,000 tons in Perry County, including 139,000 tons from one stripping operation. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 production of approximately 5,548,000 tons from 28 railroad mines in Perry County and an additional 698,000 tons from 140 truck mines. This coal was from beds variously designated as the Hazard Nos. 4, 5A, 6, 7, 9, and the Leatherwood. In this report, the Hazard Nos. 9, 7, 6, 5A, and 4 beds are correlated in descending order as the Hindman, Flag, Hazard, Haddix, and Fire Clay beds. There are relatively substantial reserves in all except the Hindman bed, and additional limited reserves in the underlying Whitesburg bed. The Leatherwood bed, from which some 1948 production was reported, appears to occur between the Hazard and Haddix beds.

The Hindman (Hazard No. 9) bed, also called the High Splint bed, is reported mined in two small areas in western and northwestern Perry County, in a thickness of 5 ft 6 in. Stratigraphically, the Hindman bed probably occurs only near the summits of the higher ridges and divides. Available information is insufficient to permit estimates of reserves.

The Flag (Hazard No. 7) bed outcrops persistently across the center of Perry County and ranges up to 7 ft 3 in. in thickness. Over much of the area, the Flag bed persists in thicknesses between 4 ft 0 in. and 5 ft 0 in., with rarely more than one or two thin partings. The stratigraphic position of the Flag bed is such that it occurs generally near the summits of the higher ridges and divides, which topographic distribution results in separation of the bed into individual areas formed by the drainage pattern of the county. The thicknesses of the Flag bed in the scattered, but relatively large areas of estimated reserves in Perry County, range from 2 ft 3 in. to 5 ft 0 in.

The Hazard (Hazard No. 6) bed is widespread in occurrence throughout Perry County but varies widely in total thickness and in number and individual thickness of contained partings. In general, the bed is thicker, more persistent, and contains fewer partings in the northern than in the southern part of the county. Separated into numerous areas of varying extent by the drainage pattern of the county, substantial reserves of the Hazard bed exist in thicknesses ranging from 3 ft 2 in. to 5 ft 3 in.

The Haddix (Hazard No. 5) bed is reported at a number of scattered locations in northern Perry County to be from less than 2 ft 0 in. to as much as 5 ft 5 in. thick. The bed commonly contains at least one parting which ranges up to 6 inches in thickness. 70021 Southward from these reported areas, available information is limited

106 107a

15

Kу

105b

but indicates that the principal parting thickens to at least 1 ft 0 in., separating the bed into two thin, unworkable benches. Measurements of the Haddix bed in the scattered areas of estimated reserves in Perry County range from 2 ft 8 in. to 4 ft 6 in.

The Fire Clay (Hazard No. 4) bed outcrops widely throughout Perry County except in the northeastern corner, where it thins as it passes below drainage level. Elsewhere, the bed is persistent in general continuity and thickness, ranging from 1 ft 10 in. to as much as 5 ft 8 in. The Fire Clay bed frequently contains at least one parting which, although generally less than 6 inches thick, may increase to as much as 11 inches within relatively limited areas. Thicknesses of the Fire Clay bed in the substantial areas of estimated reserves in Perry County range from 2 ft 5 in. to 3 ft 11 in.

The Whitesburg bed is generally below drainage level in southern Perry County and occurs usually only as a horizon marker with thicknesses rarely exceeding 1 ft 10 in. in the north. The bed appears to range from 1 ft 10 in. to 2 ft 9 in. in thickness within a limited area in northwestern Perry County, which it is estimated contains a small amount of inferred reserves approximating 2 ft 5 in. in thickness.

<u>Pike County.</u> (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Pike County, at the easternmost corner of the Eastern Kentucky field, has a northeastern boundary forming a part of the West Virginia-Kentucky State line; on the southeast, the county adjoins Buchanan and Dickenson Counties of Virginia. The regional geological structure of the Pike County coal beds exhibits a gentle northwestern dip toward the principal axis of the Eastern Kentucky syncline. This prevailing dip is modified in both direction and degree, however, by several irregular folds, one of which crosses the approximate center of the county in a generally southwestnortheast direction. Deformation resulting from such accessory folding is in no place sufficient to interfere with mining operations.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate production of approximately 11,955,000 tons in Pike County during that year, the largest production of any individual county in eastern Kentucky, exceeded in western Kentucky only by production from Hopkins County. Approximately 258,000 tons were reported by the Bureau of Mines to have been produced in five strip mines in Pike County during 1948. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 that approximately 8,371,000 tons came from 43 railroad mines in Pike County during that year and an additional 3,798,000 tons from 918 truck mines. The coal beds from

(References: 6,9,10,13,20,21,35,39,40,46,62,63)

107 108

7,002

Ку

which the above productions were obtained are:

Producing Coal Beds of Pike County, Kentucky

Alma Alma No. 12 Cedar Grove Clintwood Elkhorn No. 1 Ħ No. 2 11 No. 3 11 No. 3-1/2 . 11 No.4 13 No. 5 Elkhorn, Lower Ellswick Feds Creek, Upper

Flatwoods Freeburn Gem, Lower Millers Creek Pond Creek Shelby Gap Splash Dam Thacker Warfield Whitesburg Winford Winifrede

Pike County is reported to contain at least 12 principal coal beds and as many as 48 other coal horizons, any of which may become minably thick in local areas. They are contained in a vertical section approximately 2,500 feet thick, of which about 1,000 feet lie below drainage level over portions of the county. The nomenclature and correlations of the numerous coals in Pike County are highly uncertain, partly because of the area involved (Pike County being the largest county in the entire State) and partly because of the lack of over-all correlations between the areas studied by various investigators. The Bureau of Mines is currently engaged in preparing a comprehensive survey of coal occurrences in Pike County but results are not yet available. Many of the bed names reported by the local operators have been carried over into Pike County from adjoining portions of West Virginia and Virginia. Substantial coal reserves exist in beds designated, in descending order, as Flatwoods, Taylor, Fire Clay, Williamson, Upper Elkhorn Nos. 3, 2, 1, Lower Elkhorn, Bingham, and Millard.

The Flatwoods bed occurs only near the summits of the highest ridges and divides in northern and western Pike County where it ranges from 3 ft 0 in. to 6 ft 0 in. in thickness. Although thus divided into many separate areas of varying sizes according to the drainage pattern, available information indicates relatively substantial reserves of this coal in Pike County.

The Taylor bed, not elsewhere recognized in Eastern Kentucky, occurs in the upper portions of the highest ridges in northern and southeastern Pike County, where it ranges up to 4 ft 2 in. in thickness. While commonly containing but one or two thin partings, the bed is locally separated into two benches by a lenticular shale parting which may attain a maximum thickness of 2 ft 0 in. Measurements of the Taylor bed in the scattered areas of estimated reserves in Pike County range from 2 ft 5 in. to 4 ft 2 in.

The Fire Clay bed, of occasionally doubtful relationships with the overlying Taylor and the underlying Williamson beds, appears to occur across an extensive area in northwestern Pike County, in which total bed thicknesses range up to 6 ft 0 in. or more. As elsewhere in eastern Kentucky, the Fire Clay bed commonly contains numerous thin partings which, in places, are sufficiently close together to preclude mining of all or portions of the total bed. Measurements of workable benches of the Fire Clay bed in the substantial areas of estimated reserves in Pike County range from 2 ft 6 in. to 4 ft 1 in.

The Williamson bed approximates 4 ft 0 in. in thickness over substantial portions of northern Pike County, thinning southwards toward an area in central Pike County for which little information is available. The bed also decreases markedly in thickness toward the southwest, where it thins to less than 2 ft 0 in. or contains numerous thin partings sufficient in number and frequency to preclude mining operations. The Williamson bed is relatively persistent within its principal areas of occurrence, normally containing but a single shale parting which ranges up to 4 inches in thickness. Thicknesses of the Williamson bed in the relatively substantial areas of estimated reserves in Pike County range from 2 ft 0 in. to 4 ft 9 in.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed, correlated with the Cedar Grove bed of West Virginia, occurs at numerous scattered locations in north-central and western Fike County. While persistent in occurrence, this bed varies widely in number and thickness of individual coal benches and partings which may thicken, thin, or disappear within relatively short distances and without particular pattern. A large proportion of the reported measurements indicate the presence of two or more partings, one of which may range up to as much as 4 ft 4 in. in thickness; only one bench is of minable thickness at locations of such thick partings. The thicknesses of the minable benches of the Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed in the many scattered areas of estimated reserves in Pike County range from 2 ft 3 in. to 6 ft 1 in.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 2 bed occurs widely throughout most of Pike County; the larger individual areas of coal occurrence become more numerous toward the northwest and west in conformance with the structure and topography of the area. The stratigraphic horizon of this bed is too high to appear in any but the highest ridges and divides in the eastern part of the county. The Upper Elkhorn No. 2 bed is highly irregular in total thickness and in number and thickness of individual coal benches and partings. These components of the total bed may thicken, thin, or disappear within relatively short distances and without apparent pattern. The bed has been widely opened by both railroad and truck mines, each of such operations being located in the better portions of the bed within the areas of such activities. There are substantial reserves of the Upper Elkhorn No. 2 bed in Pike County in which the thicknesses of the minable benches range from 2 ft 2 in. to 6 ft 1 in.

The Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed, or the Millers Creek bed correlated with the Alma bed of West Virginia, outcrops widely in and underlies substantial portions of eastern and southeastern Pike County. The bed dips gently under drainage levels toward the north and northwest. Although persistent in thickness and character over substantial areas, the bed varies somewhat in thickness and in content of partings on a regional basis. In some areas, for example, the bed ranges up to 6 ft 0 in. in thickness without significant In other areas, the upper or lower portions of the bed partings. consist of laminated bone or shale and coal which reduce the thickness of the workable coal. In still other areas, the bed may consist of three benches ranging in individual thickness from 1 ft 0 in. to 1 ft 8 in., with two intervening partings ranging up to 2 ft 6 in. in thickness. The thicknesses of the workable coal benches in the substantial areas of estimated reserves of the Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed in Pike County range from 2 ft 4 in. to 5 ft 1 in.

The Lower Elkhorn bed, also called the Pond Creek, Freeburn, Warfield, or Shelby Gap bed, correlated with the Campbells Creek No. 2 Gas bed of West Virginia and the Imboden bed of Virginia, outcrops widely throughout the central and eastern portions of Pike County, where it underlies very substantial areas. The bed slowly disappears under drainage levels toward the western and northwestern boundaries of the county, where it also becomes somewhat thinner in occurrence. It ranges up to as much as 8 ft 8 in. thick in the easternmost corner of Pike County, slowly decreasing in average thickness to around 4 ft 0 in. in the south-central portion of the county. While frequently containing one or two thin partings, the bed is generally continuous in occurrence and quality within its principal areas of occurrence. The thicknesses of the Lower Elkhorn bed in the substantial areas of estimated reserves range from 3 ft 0 in. to 5 ft 9 in.

112 Several thin coal beds occur below the Lower Elkhorn 113a bed, with a lenticular coal occurrence below the latter bed in the central portion of southeastern Pike County being designated as the 15 Upper Feds Creek bed. Information on this coal is too limited to 10021 permit estimates of reserves.

96

ζy

The Bingham bed, or the Feds Creek bed, correlated with the Clintwood bed of Virginia, next underlies the Lower Elkhorn bed over substantial portions of southern Pike County. Although thinning northward and westward information available indicates that there are relatively substantial reserves of the Bingham bed in southern Pike County in which thicknesses range from 2 ft 6 in. to 4 ft 10 in.

The Millard bed, correlated with the Eagle bed of West Virginia, appears at scattered locations in the deeper drainage portions of southeastern Pike County. Although characteristically occurring as a horizon marker less than 2 ft 0 in. thick, the bed thickens to as much as 4 ft 1 in. in sufficient areas to warrant estimates of moderate amounts of reserves.

The Auxier bed, correlated with the Splash Dam bed of Virginia, occurs at scattered intervals in the lower drainage levels of southeastern Pike County. Although mined to some extent by local operations, the bed is too limited in thickness, quality, and extent to warrant further consideration.

The Ellswick bed, correlated with the Banner bed of Virginia, appears only in the lowest drainage channels in eastern Pike County, where it is reported in a thickness of 3 ft 4 in. Available information is too limited to permit estimates of reserves.

Description of Coal Beds in Selected Counties -Western Kentucky Field

Butler County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Butler County is in the southeastern portion of the Western Kentucky field, with the southeastern boundary of the coal measures roughly coinciding with the Butler-Warren County line in eastern Butler County and extending across the southern portion of western Butler County to approximately the southwestern corner of the county. The coal beds and their associated strata dip at low rates toward the southwest in the northeastern part of the county and toward the northwest in the western section. Two short faults with vertical displacements of up to 160 feet, extending in an approximate east-west direction, displace the coal measures in the southwest-central portion of the county. A major fault extends eastward from Muhlenburg County for approximately 5 miles east of the northwest corner of Butler County; the vertical displacement along this fault ranges up to 300 feet.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 show production of approximately 117,000 tons in Butler County Ку

113

114

**∡**15

during that year, including 29,000 tons in three stripping operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 reports that approximately 126,000 tons were produced from No. 6 bed in Butler County from 12 truck mines and none from railroad mines.

While areas underlain by various coal-bearing formations have been geologically mapped in Butler County, the outcrops of the various coal beds are not shown; available information, accordingly, is insufficient to permit estimates of reserves. Areas underlain by the No. 6 bed, from which the reported productions in 1948 were obtained, are limited in extent and confined to the northwestern portion of the county along the banks of Green River.

With the principal producing coal beds of western Kentucky stratigraphically higher than the No. 6 coal horizon outcropping northwest of Butler County, the scattered coal occurrences reported over most of the county are stratigraphically lower in horizon than the No. 6 bed. A geologic section reported in the southern portion of eastern Butler County includes the following designated coal beds, listed, in descending order, as follows:

# Butler County Coal Beds

### Designation

٣

Кy

114b

# Reported Thickness

3' to 4' Mining City 21 Unnamed coal 3' 6" Topmiller coal 31 01 Aberdeen (Elmlick) 2' 6" Foster 2' 6" Amos 4º 0" Gidcomb 31 0" Nolan

The No. 6 bed, already indicated as occurring only in the northwestern portion of Butler County, is not reported in sufficient detail to permit descriptions or estimates of reserves. This bed is characteristically lenticular in occurrence in other western Kentucky counties and probably exhibits the same characteristics in Butler County. Local mining activities are usually confined to relatively limited areas in which the bed may range up to perhaps 4 ft 0 in. in thickness.

115The Mining City bed occurs in minable thickness116amainly in an area of limited extent in central Butler County.116aThicknesses are commonly of 1 ft 6 in. or less, but occasional scat-15tered measurements indicate lenticular areas in which the bed at-10021tains a maximum thickness of 3 ft 6 in.

The Topmiller bed has been mined locally in the eastcentral portion of the county, but available information is insufficient to indicate areas of workable thickness sufficient to warrant further consideration.

The Aberdeen bed, correlated with the Elmlick bed of Ohio County to the north, occurs for the most part only in the northern portion of the county. Two small areas of reserves are in north-central Butler County, with thicknesses ranging from 2 ft 5 in. to 3 ft 8 in.

The Foster bed has been opened for local use at a number of locations in the southern portion of eastern Butler County, where it is reported to approximate 2 ft 6 in. in thickness.

The Amos bed is reported as occurring at only a few scattered locations in the southern portion of eastern Butler County, with maximum thicknesses of 2 ft 2 in.

Coal horizons in Butler County below the Amos bed are too thin and too limited in extent to warrant further consideration.

Christian County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Approximately the southern four-fifths of Christian County, the southern boundary of which is part of the Kentucky-Tennessee State line, is located south of the southern boundary of the coal measures and is underlain by formations geologically older than the coal-bearing strata. The coal measures, confined to a strip approximately 6 miles in average width along the northern boundary of the county, form a central portion of the southern rim of the Western Kentucky field. The coal beds and their associated strata generally dip toward the north at rates which seldom exceed 2 degrees. The approximate line of the southernmost outcrop of the coal measures is highly distorted by an east-west belt of deformation, marked by from two to four principal faults, with numerous cross faults connecting such principal faults at varying angles. Vertical displacements along the more pronounced of these faults range up to 460 feet. In-dividual fault blocks, bounded by the intersecting faults, contain coal measures with varying directions and rates of dip, conforming largely to the regional trend but departing therefrom in varying modifications.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 show approximately 11,000 tons produced in Christian County during that year, all from underground operations. The Kentucky Ку

1161

117

15. 70021

(References: 23, 24, 39, 40, 43, 62, 63)

Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 approximately 11,000 tons produced from three truck mines in Christian County during that year; no production was reported from railroad mines. This production was reported as from the No. 6 or No. 6 "Stray" beds.

Horizons of coal No. 9 and higher beds, representing the principal producing coals of the Western Kentucky field, outcrop only to the north of Christian County. The single workable coal in northern Christian County is variously designated as the Mannington or Empire bed and is correlated with the Dawson Springs bed to the While there is a tendency in the Western Kentucky field to east. identify any important coal below the No. 9 bed as the No. 6 coal. it is probable that additional investigation would show that the various beds as named above are actually one, which on a regional basis could properly be considered as the No. 6 coal. There are moderate reserves of the No. 6 bed in the central portion of the area underlain by coal measures in northern Christian County, and a small portion of the reserves is recoverable by stripping. With detailed mapping of the basal portion of the coal measures not having been attempted in northern Christian County, largely because of difficulties in correlation of strata in the various fault blocks. no other coals except the No. 6 coal are reported within the county.

The No. 6 bed has been mined by both underground and stripping operations at various locations in northern Christian County, largely near the center of the coal-bearing area. Apparent thicknesses at the locations thus mined range up to as much as 6 ft O in., but the bed varies widely in thickness and continuity in the reported areas. The thickness of the bed within the areas of estimated reserves ranges from 3 ft O in. to 3 ft 7 in.

Daviess County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Daviess County is located in the north-central portion of the Western Kentucky field, with its northern boundary formed by the Ohio River facing Spencer County of Indiana. Although the coal measures extend east of the east line of Daviess County, underlying approximately the entire area of Hancock County the eastern one-half of Daviess County is underlain by coal measures stratigraphically lower than the No. 9 bed; only scattered and isolated coal occurrences indicate the presence of the horizons of the No. 6 and older beds. Occurrences of coal in eastern Daviess County are too irregular and limited to permit estimates of reserves.

у 17b 18

19a

5 0021 Substantial portions of western Daviess County are covered by flood plains of the Green and Ohio River drainage systems. The areas, topographically higher than the elevations of the flood plains, represent more or less isolated remnants of coal measures which once

(References: 17, 22, 25, 39, 40, 43, 62, 63)

extended across the entire area, but which suffered removal by erosion, followed by deposition of river outwash. The coal-bearing strata exposed in such topographic hills are relatively uniform in structure with a gentle dip rarely exceeding 1 degree toward the southwest or west. Two northeast-southwest trending fault zones thought to occur at and near the western boundary of the county, are projected from known lines of faulting in adjoining counties rather than as proved by actual geologic mapping. A third fault of minor character within Daviess County extends in an east-west direction near the center of the county's irregular south boundary. Maximum displacements along the three mapped faults are not known, but do not appear to be of major importance.

According to Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948, approximately 634,000 tons were produced in Daviess County during that year, including 337,000 tons from two stripping operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 that approximately 337,000 tons were produced from 2 railroad mines and an additional 310,000 tons from 31 truck mines. The great majority of the production is reported from the No. 9 bed; relatively minor amounts were from the No. 6 "Stray" bed. Moderate reserves of No. 9 coal are estimated in western Daviess County; a relatively small proportion is recoverable by stripping.

The No. 9 bed, stratigraphically the highest coal horizon in Daviess County, outcrops widely along the eastern flanks of the hilly areas in southwestern and northwestern Daviess County. The line of outcrop of this bed also completely encircles relatively small areas in the southern portion of the county which are eastward outliers of the southwestern area of principal coal occurrence. The No. 9 coal is persistent and present in thicknesses ranging from approximately 3 ft 8 in. to as much as 5 ft 0 in. wherever the stratigraphic position of the bed permits its appearance above the flood plains. As a result of such relatively widespread occurrence at accessible locations, the areas along large portions of the lines of outcrop have been developed by numerous underground and stripping operations, usually of limited size.

Records of production indicate one or more coals, stratigraphically of lower horizons than the No. 9 bed, at scattered locations in eastern Daviess County; the most recently recorded production has been near the center of this area. The available information is insufficient to permit further description or estimates of reserves for such coal occurrences.

101

120 1218

1191

Кy

Henderson County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Henderson County, in the northwestern portion of the West Kentucky field, has a northern boundary, formed by the Ohio River, opposite southeastern Posey, Vanderburgh, and southwestern Warrick Counties of Indiana. Henderson County is located along the deepest portion of the Western Kentucky basin; the slight regional dip of the coal measures toward the northwest rarely exceeds 1 degree. The only known faulting is at the eastern boundary of the county, where a northeast-southwest fault extends along the Henderson-Daviess County line. The essentially horizontal structure of the coal beds over most of the county is slightly modified in some locations by the presence of broad, low arches or basins without definite pattern.

As shown in Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948, approximately 253,000 tons were produced in Henderson County during that year, all from underground operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals as of 1948 indicates production of approximately 264,000 tons from 15 truck mines in Henderson County; no production was reported from railroad mines. With the exception of 37,000 tons from one mine in the No. 14 coal, all production was from the No. 9 bed. There are moderate reserves in the No. 14 bed, minor inferred reserves in the No. 11 coal, and substantial reserves of the No. 9 coal in Henderson County, all recoverable only by underground operations.

The No. 14 bed presumably outcrops in eastern Henderson County, with the unmapped line of outcrop extending in a generally north-south direction. The No. 14 coal bed is thin throughout eastern Henderson County, occurring largely as a horizon marker in thicknesses limited to but a few inches. Limited and scattered drilling operations and records of local shaft operations indicate that the No. 14 bed underlies portions of western Henderson County at depths of approximately 185 feet and in thicknesses approximating 4 ft 9 in.

The No. 11 bed occurs only sporadically over most of Henderson County; it is usually less than 1 ft 6 in. thick, but is known in limited areas in thicknesses ranging up to 6 ft 2 in. Such areas of thicker coal are commonly of too limited area to warrant further consideration, except along the center of the south line of Henderson County, where a small area of inferred reserves projects northward into Henderson County from a similarly small area of reserves in northeastern Webster County. The average thickness within the area of reserves in the Henderson County portion of this small area is 4 ft 6 in.

21b <u>The No. 9 bed is known to outcrop in western Daviess</u> 22a County, just east of Henderson County, and may outcrop under the

0021 (References: 17, 25, 39, 40, 62, 63)

У.

gravel-covered plains in the northeastern corner of Henderson County. It has been mined by generally limited shaft operations at a number of scattered locations within the county. These operations and information from scattered drilling programs, indicate that the No. 9 coal underlies the major portion of the county. The presence of reserves is not indicated in the extreme western portion of the county; the depth or occurrence of the bed under the wide flood plains of the Ohio River is not known. The northern limit of the No. 9 coal is usually drawn at the foot of the bluff line facing the Ohio River valley gravels. Within the broad area of known occurrence, No. 9 coal ranges between 3 ft 6 in. and 4 ft 2 in. in thickness at depths of as much as 250 feet below the surface. Substantial reserves of the No. 9 coal are present in Henderson County but this coal is thinner and inferior in quality than in the widespread occurrences of the same bed along the southern margin of the Western Kentucky field.

Hopkins County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below).In Hopkins County, along the southwestern flank of the Western Kentucky field, the coal measures dip regionally toward the northeast at low rates. The northern half of the county is of relatively simple structure; one or possibly two minor synclines extend in an eastwest direction, where the rates and amounts of dip are locally In the southern half of the county, however, the strucmodified. ture is greatly modified by a number of approximately parallel faults extending in a generally east-west direction and separating the coal-bearing formations into parallel steps ranging in northsouth width from less than one-half mile to as much as four miles. Only a few cross-faults are known to connect the predominantly east-west fault system. While the downthrow sides of the faults are predominantly on the north, the coal measures along a few of the principal faults have been downthrown to the south; the net effect of such varying directions of displacements is the preservation of higher coal measures south of their principal outcrop and the exposure of lower coal measures, from which upper measures have been eroded, in substantial areas north of the southernmost occurrences of the higher beds. Reported displacements along the many lines of faulting range from only a few to as much as 350 feet; their occurrence has greatly modified and affected the numerous mining activities in southern Hopkins County.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 show production of approximately 12,692,000 tons in Hopkins County during that year, including approximately 6,817,000 tons in 28 strip mines. This is the highest individual county production in the Western Kentucky field, as well as in the entire State. As shown in the annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948, approximately 11,828,000 tons were produced

\_\_15 70021

Ky

1221

123

124:

<sup>(</sup>References: 17,23,24,25,39,40,43,62,63)

in 45 railroad mines in Hopkins County during that year and an additional 1,116,000 tons from 58 truck mines. The coal beds worked are variously designated as the No. 6, No. 9, No. 11, No. 12, and No. 14 beds. There are moderate underground reserves in the No. 14 bed, and relatively small reserves in the No. 12 bed, which are considered recoverable by stripping. The No. 11 and No. 9 beds contain very substantial reserves, of which moderate amounts are recoverable by stripping. There are also moderate reserves of both underground and strippable coal in the No. 6 bed.

The No. 14 bed occurs in unusual thicknesses ranging up to 12 ft 0 in. in an elongated area extending from a point somewhat west of the center of the county to the Webster-Hopkins County line. Although this area has been extensively stripped, moderate amounts of underground reserves remain in the west-central portion of the county in thicknesses ranging from 4 ft 9 in. to 6 ft 0 in. These reserves are adjacent to and contiguous with similar reserves of the same bed, which extend across southwestern Webster County.

The No. 12 bed attains its best continuity and thickness along the southern flank of the West Kentucky field in southern Hopkins and northwestern Muhlenburg Counties. In these areas, the No. 12 bed averages approximately 4 ft 0 in. at a vertical interval of around 6 ft 0 in. above the No. 11 bed. The No. 12 coal is notably inferior in quality to the underlying No. 11 bed, which is much more uniform in occurrence, thickness, and physical characteristics. With this relationship, it is improbable that the No. 12 coal would be mined by underground operations. Since it is a part of the overburden of the No. 11 coal in stripping operations, however, it could be and is being recovered at some of the extensive stripping operations scattered along the No. 11 coal outcrops in these two counties. With reported irregularities and occurrences, the No. 12 coal cannot be considered as uniformly overlying the No. 11 coal; the areas of estimated reserves are somewhat restricted by the lack of comprehensive information. It is estimated, however, that moderate amounts of strippable reserves ranging in thickness from 2 ft 6 in. to 5 ft 6 in. remain in a number of small scattered areas in southern Hopkins County. They can probably be recovered during the stripping of the underlying No. 11 bed.

The No. 11 bed outcrops widely across southern Hopkins County and underlies very substantial areas north of its line of outcrop throughout the county. Production from this bed, which is of relatively high quality after mechanical cleaning, has increased materially from both underground and stripping operations during recent years. The notable uniformity in continuity, thickness, and accompanying physical conditions, permits high-capacity mining. Although large areas along the outcrops of this bed, both within fault blocks in the southern portion of the county and in areas of relatively undisturbed coal occurrence, have been and are being

У

24b 25

26a

0021

5

depleted, there are substantial remaining reserves between such operations and in the relatively undepleted northern portions of the county. The thicknesses of the reserves in the estimated areas of occurrence range from 4 ft 0 in. to 6 ft 7 in.

The No. 9 bed has been extensively worked for many years along and near its outcrops, both within the faulted areas south of the relatively undisturbed portion of the county and along the principal outcrop which extends across southern Hopkins County in a generally northwest-southeast direction. Partly because of the numerous underground operations at relatively shallow depths which were conducted before modern stripping methods were developed, the proportion of No. 9 coal mined by stripping is smaller than for the overlying No. 11 bed. There are substantial reserves of the No. 9 coal, north of the areas of principal mining activities, in the northern half of Hopkins County, with additional scattered reserves in some of the areas still unmined between the east-west faults south of the principal outcrop of the bed. Thicknesses of reserves in the estimated areas in Hopkins County range from 3 ft 11 in. to 5 ft 5 in.; a relatively small proportion of reserves at a few locations is considered recoverable by stripping.

The No. 6 bed, while not definitely correlated as such across the entire county, is generally considered the principal coal horizon in which there have been mining acitivities south of the No. 9 bed outcrops. The coals worked at many such areas of scattered mining acitivities have been variously designated by local names such as the Empire, Dawson Springs, and Mannington beds. The coals in or relatively near the No. 6 bed horizon are characteristically lenticular in occurrence and continuity; areas of widely varying extent contain coal ranging from less than 2 ft 0 in. to as much as 4 ft 6 in. in thickness. Such areas have been mined at varying rates by both underground and stripping operations. Moderate amounts of reserves remain in several scattered areas of various sizes along the southern boundary of Hopkins County in the No. 6 bed; thicknesses range from 3 ft 0 in. to 4 ft 3 in. Portions of these reserves, usually adjacent to present stripping operations, are considered recoverable by stripping.

A single bed, definitely occurring at a substantially lower stratigraphic horizon than the No. 6 coal, is reported to occur across the southwestern portion of the county in thicknesses ranging up to 3 ft 0 in. Information is too limited to permit estimates of reserves; this bed appears generally too limited in thickness and extent to warrant further consideration.

к 126

127 128

15 70021

McLean County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). McLean County, in the central part of the Western Kentucky field,

(References: 17, 25, 39, 40, 43, 62, 63)

1.15

occupies a position along approximately the deepest portion of the axis of the coal-bearing basin; the coal beds and their associated strata should normally dip at low rates toward the north or nothwest. The coal measures of McLean County, however, are highly distorted by varying fault systems and local folds, which separate the coal-bearing areas into a number of individual blocks.

The principal fault system extends across the northern portion of the county in a generally northwest-southeast direction and forms a central portion of the persistent Rough Creek disturbance which crosses the entire Western Kentucky field. It is not connected with the intricate fault system along the southwestern and southern flanks of the basin. In McLean County, this uplift is characterized by a series of numerous intersecting faults which divide the belt into individual fault blocks of varying shape and size. The directions and rates of dip of the coal-bearing strata within the individual blocks are not well-known, although there are some extremely high rates of dip. This fault block in northern McLean County is terminated at the west near the Henderson-McLean County line by a major northeast-southwest fault with a maximum displacement of 180 feet.

A major fault extending in a roughly northwest-southeast direction across the center of McLean County marks the southern limit of the Rough Creek uplift. The coal measures north of this fault are displaced vertically downward as much as 200 feet below the comparable coal measures to the south.

The southeastern corner of the county, south of the Rough Creek uplift, is separated from the larger southwestern part of the county by a major north-south fault at which the coal measures have been downdropped approximately 300 feet on the west. The broad, southwestern section of the county, south of the Rough Creek uplift and west of the north-south fault just described, is anticlinal in structure, although the rates of dip on the flanks of the anticline do not exceed 2 or 3 degrees. The axis of this anticline extends across southwestern McLean County in a northwest-southeast direction.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production for 1948 show that approximately 126,000 tons were produced in McLean County during that year, including 26,000 tons from one stripping operation. In its annual report for 1948, the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals stated that approximately 125,000 tons were produced at 13 truck mines in McLean County during that year; no production was reported from railroad mines. With the exception of 26,000 tons produced by stripping at one operation in the No. 11 bed, all production in McLean County was in the No. 9 bed. There are moderate reserves in coals No. 14, No. 11, and No. 9 in McLean County.

٢y

L28b

L29a

10021

15

The No. 14 bed has been developed by largely local operations at scattered locations in southwestern McLean County in thicknesses reported to range from 2 ft 0 in. to 6 ft 6 in. Such scattered operations and a few drill holes indicate relatively limited reserves in the No. 14 bed in two separate areas in which the bed ranges from 4 ft 6 in. to 5 ft 4 in. in thickness.

The No. 11 bed is not known to have been mined in McLean County; a few scattered drill holes in the northern portion of the county indicate that it is largely a horizon marker in that area. A relatively small amount of reserves, largely inferred in classification, is estimated to extend northward from northeastern Webster and northern Muhlenburg Counties into southwestern McLean County in thicknesses ranging from 3 ft 6 in. to 4 ft 9 in.

The No. 9 bed has been mined at scattered locations within the county where it has been brought near the surface within individual fault blocks. Such locations are in the southeastern corner of the county and in the western portion of northern McLean County, north of the principal faulting in the Rough Creek uplift and within the southernmost fault block within that area. Reported thicknesses in such scattered areas and in drill holes at similarly scattered locations range from 3 ft 8 in. to 5 ft 4 in. Moderate reserves are indicated in three separate areas in McLean County, one along the McLean-Daviess County line. Another of the areas is along the Webster-McLean County line in the western part of northern McLean County. The third contains reserves largely inferred to be present along the southern line of McLean County from the more extensive and better known areas of reserves in southwestern Ohio, northern Muhlenberg, and northeastern Hopkins Counties.

Muhlenberg County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references Muhlenberg County, near the center of the southern flank below). of the Western Kentucky field, is essentially solidly underlain by coal measures except for a relatively small area at its southwestern corner. The southern portion of the area underlain by the principal coal beds in central Muhlenberg County is highly fractured by the fault belt along the southern flank of the coal-bear-This fault belt is characterized in Muhlenberg County ing basin. by a series of approximately east-west faults which divide the coal measures into steps of varying north-south width. The intersection of a few such faults, together with minor cross-faulting, separates the central portion of Muhlenberg County into individual blocks of varying extent and size. In the regional position occupied by Muhlenberg County, the coal beds and their associated strata largely dip toward the north and northwest at relatively low rates. The faulting has not greatly affected the regional

(References: 17, 24, 25, 39, 40, 43, 62, 63)

129 130 131

Ку

dip of the strata except in close proximity to some of the major faults which range in vertical displacement up to as much as 350 feet. The presence of the faults results in appearances of outcrops of upper beds south of their main outcrops and likewise in the elevation and consequent removal by erosion of the same beds in areas in which they would normally occur. As a result of the belt of faulting through central Muhlenberg County, mining activities, usually located along or near the various coal bed outcrops, have been highly modified.

In Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948, approximately 5,276,000 tons were shown to have been produced in Muhlenberg County during that year, of which 1,539,000 tons were from 10 stripping operations. This is the second highest production from an individual county in the Western Kentucky field. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 that approximately 5,296,000 tons were produced from 23 railroad mines and an additional 304,000 tons from 44 truck mines. Such productions were obtained from coal beds designated as the No. 6, No. 9, No. 11, Moderate reserves in the No. 14 bed are recoverable and No. 12. only by underground operations. There are also moderate reserves of the No. 12 bed which are strippable. There are substantial reserves in the No. 11 and No. 9 beds, portions of which are recoverable by stripping, and additional reserves of minor extent in the No. 6 bed, some also recoverable by stripping.

The No. 14 bed occurs only in northeastern Muhlenberg County adjacent to Green River, where it ranges widely in thickness from less than 2 ft 0 in. to as much as 8 ft 11 in. As in Hopkins County to the west, the No. 14 bed is irregular in continuity; it is not always present in workable thickness at its proper stratigraphic horizon. Information is sufficient to permit estimates of moderate underground reserves of the No. 14 bed in Muhlenberg County, ranging from 2 ft 6 in. to 6 ft 7 in. in thickness within the several scattered areas.

The No. 12 bed attains its greatest thickness and continuity in Hopkins and Muhlenberg Counties along the southern flank of the Western Kentucky field. In this area, the bed approximates 4 ft 0 in. in thickness and occurs vertically around 6 ft 0 in. above the underlying No. 11 ccal. The No. 12 bed is more irregular in thickness and inferior in quality to the underlying No. 11 bed, so that it is extremely doubtful that it would be recovered by underground operations. Since in stripping operations it forms a portion of the overburden above the No. 11 coal, the No. 12 bed can be and is being recovered at some of the high-capacity stripping operations primarily installed to mine the No. 11 bed. There are moderate strippable reserves at a number of scattered locations along the principal outcrop of the No. 12 bed in northwestern Muhlenberg County.

٦**y** 

.316

.33a

0021

.32

109

The No. 11 bed outcrops widely and underlies substantial areas in the northern half of Muhlenberg County, both in areas protected in fault blocks south of the principal area and in the relatively unfaulted area north of its principal outcrop. Production of No. 11 coal, which is of superior quality after mechanical cleaning, has steadily increased in recent years at both underground and stripping operations in Hopkins and Muhlenberg Counties. There are relatively substantial reserves remaining, some strippable, between abandoned and present operations along the principal outcrops and north of the principal areas of mining in the northern portion of the county. Thicknesses of No. 11 coal in the widespread areas of estimated coal reserves range from 4 ft 3 in. to 6 ft 3 in.

The No. 9 bed has been worked extensively along areas adjacent to the outcrops of the bed for a long period preceding the advent of modern, high-capacity stripping operations. In consequence, areas originally available for stripping along the lines of outcrop have largely been mined by shallow underground operations, so that the proportion of remaining strippable reserves to total reserves is substantially less in the No. 9 bed than in the No. 11 bed. Coal No. 9 is highly persistent in thickness and continuity throughout its area of occurrence in Muhlenberg County, with thicknesses ranging from around 4 ft 0 in. to as much as 5 ft 6 in. There are substantial remaining reserves, largely north of the faulted belt through central Muhlenberg County, in which the coal thicknesses range from 3 ft 11 in. to 5 ft 6 in.

The No. 6 bed appears to occur in several scattered areas of individually limited extent in southern Muhlenberg County where it has been mined by both underground and stripping operations in thicknesses ranging up to a maximum of 4 ft 0 in. There are moderate remaining reserves in two separate areas in which thicknesses of the bed range from 3 ft 1 in. to 4 ft 0 in. A portion of these reserves is considered to be recoverable by stripping generally in areas adjacent to past and present stripping operations.

Ohio County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Ohio County, in the eastern portion of the Western Kentucky field, is divided into two separate areas by the approximately east-west Rough Creek uplift which passes through the middle of the entire Western Kentucky field. The northern area approximates one-third of the county in size and the southern area the remaining twothirds of the county. In Ohio County, the belt of the Rough Creek uplift is relatively narrow from north to south and consists of a complex system of interfingering faults and fault blocks. In some places along the Ohio County portion of the uplift, the upthrusting between two or more faults has been sufficient to bring to the surface Mississippian strata stratigraphically older than the coal

(References: 17, 25, 39, 40, 43, 62, 63)

measures. The coal measures in both parts of Ohio County, other than in the Rough Creek fault belt, are relatively undisturbed in structure; those in the northern portion dip at low rates to the northwest and those in the south of the county toward the west and southwest.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 shows production of approximately 1,761,000 tons in Ohio County during that year, of which 1,471,000 tons were from 13 stripping operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 that approximately 1,706,000 tons were produced in 15 railroad mines in Ohio County during that year and that an additional 232,000 tons were obtained from 27 truck mines. The producing coal beds were the No. 6, No. 9, No. 11, No. 14, and "Stray" beds. Moderate underground reserves remain in the No. 14, No. 11 and Elmlick beds; substantial additional reserves of the No. 14 coal are recoverable by stripping. Substantial remaining reserves of the No. 9 bed are also indicated, of which some are recoverable by stripping.

The No. 14 bed occurs as a relatively large lens of unusual thickening south of the Rough Creek uplift near the center of the western border of Ohio County. The bed ranges up to 11 ft O in. in maximum thickness and is divided by a thin parting into two benches in areas of such maximum thickness. Although widely mined by relatively small underground and stripping operations around the margins of the thick coal occurrence, there are substantial remaining reserves of the No. 14 bed, of which approximately 75 percent are considered strippable.

The No. 11 bed attains its maximum thickness near the southernmost tip of Ohio County, where it ranges up to 8 ft 2 in. Although the stratigraphic horizon of the No. 11 bed underlies most of the southwestern portion of the county, the bed decreases irregularly in thickness toward the north, ranging from less than 1 ft 6 in. to no more than 3 ft 3 in. in the northern portion of its area of principal occurrence. Information is limited, but indicates the presence of relatively small reserves in two separate areas in southwestern Ohio County, with thicknesses of estimated reserves ranging from 2 ft 7 in. to 7 ft 1 in.

The No. 9 bed persistently underlies the broad, southwestern portion of Ohio County and is notably regular in thickness and uniform in occurrence within this area. Ranging in thick-.35b ness from 4 ft 0 in. to 5 ft 8 in., the bed has been widely mined by .36a both underground and stripping operations for the most part confined to areas relatively close to the outcrops. Remaining reserves are .5 substantial; some can be recovered by stripping, with bed thick-'0021 nesses ranging from 4 ft 0 in. to 5 ft 1 in.

3

The No. 6 bed occurs irregularly at its stratigraphic horizon in the areas east of the outcrop of No. 9 coal in southern Ohio County and in portions of northern Ohio County. It has been mined by relatively small operations at two principal locations within the county, one near the center of the southern portion of the county and one near the northernmost county limits. Reported thicknesses at such workings range up to a maximum of 3 ft 6 in. Information is too limited to permit estimates of reserves and suggests that the No. 6 coal is too irregular in continuity and thickness to warrant further consideration.

The Elmlick bed in southern Ohio County represents one of the several coal horizons occurring stratigraphically below the No. 6 bed in the marginal areas surrounding the principal portion of the western Kentucky coal basin underlain by coal No. 9 and higher beds. The Elmlick bed outcrops widely from the center of the county toward the common corner of Grayson, Butler, and Ohio Counties. Ranging to a maximum thickness of 4 ft 2 in., the Elmlick coal more generally varies between 1 ft 6 in. and 3 ft 6 in. in thickness. There are relatively limited reserves of Elmlick coal in possibly six scattered areas in southeastern Ohio in which the bed thicknesses range from 2 ft 8 in. to 3 ft 6 in.

Union County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Union County is located in the westernmost portion of the Western Kentucky field with its western boundary, formed by the Ohio River, facing the southernmost boundary of Posey County in Indiana and the eastern boundary of Gallatin County in Illinois. In this regional position, the coal beds and their associated strata dip at low rates toward the north. The direction and rate of dip, however, are greatly modified by two belts of folding and faulting, which cross the county in an approximately east-west direction. The northernmost belt of disturbance is a western portion of the Rough Creek uplift which crosses the approximate center of the entire Western Kentucky field. In Union County, this belt is characterized by interfingering fault blocks formed by an intricate fault system of relatively narrow, north-south width, along which the otherwise horizontal strata are highly displaced. In at least one area, the displacement has been such as to bring Mississippian formations to the surface. The southern belt of faulting extends along the southern boundary of the county and is the northeasternmost extension of the intricate fault patterns of Crittenden, Livingston, and Caldwell Counties, in which the Kentucky fluorite deposits are located. Individual faults in the southern fault system are highly irregular in direction and in amount of displacement.

(References: 25, 26, 39, 40, 62, 63)

15 70021

Ky

1361 137

138a

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 show production of approximately 623,000 tons in Union County during that year, all from underground operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 production of approximately 577,000 tons from one railroad mine and an additional 41,000 tons from four truck mines. The outputs of two of the local mines were obtained from the No. 6 bed, the outputs of the railroad mine and one local mine from the No. 9 bed, and the output of the fourth local mine from the No. 11 bed. There are relatively substantial underground reserves in the No. 11 and No. 9 beds and additional moderate reserves in the underlying No. 6 bed.

The Nc. 14 bed is not known to occur in Union County, although there is sufficient information from scattered operations and drill holes to warrant moderate estimates of reserves of this bed in western Henderson and northwestern Webster Counties within short distances of the eastern line of Union County.

The No. 11 bed underlies substantial portions of Union County on both sides of the Rough Creek uplift. While less regular in occurrence and inferior in quality to the No. 11 bed along the southwestern and southern flanks of the Western Kentucky field, the bed has been mined by scattered underground operations at widely separated points within Union County. Scattered outcrop and drill hole measurements indicate that the No. 11 bed is too thin or irregular to warrant consideration in the southernmost portion of Union County and along the eastern county lines between Union, Webster, and Henderson Counties. Although somewhat scattered throughout the central portion of Union County, points of observation are sufficiently close to permit the estimates of relatively substantial reserves in central Union County, ranging from 3 ft 9 in. to 5 ft<sup>10</sup> O in. in thickness.

The No. 9 bed is persistent at its proper stratigraphic position in Union County except possibly along the easternmost boundary of the county where there is insufficient information. This coal has been worked by scattered underground operations in the areas both north and south of the Rough Creek uplift, in thicknesses ranging between 4 ft 0 in. and 5 ft 2 in. A few records of greater thickness along the fault lines across central Union County are considered to represent distortion or squeezing as a result of compressive forces. The measurements of the No. 9 bed within the substantial area of estimated reserves range from 4 ft 0 in. to 5 ft 0 in.

39 The No. 6 bed is known at depth in central and northern Union County at scattered drill hole locations within which 5 areas it ranges from 3 ft 9 in. to as much as 5 ft 10 in. in thick-0021 ness. Small areas of reserves are estimated, as reflected by the

У

38b

number and frequency of drill hole points of observation. The bed outcrops near the Ohio River and along the Union-Crittenden County line in southern Union County, where it has been mined in areas of relatively limited extent and thickening. Information is too limited in this latter area to permit estimates of reserves but suggests that the bed is too irregular in continuity and thickness to warrant further consideration.

Several thin coal beds, stratigraphically lower than the No. 6 coal, outcrop and have been mined along the Ohio River in southernmost Union County. While sometimes persistent within relatively limited areas of known occurrence and frequently high in quality, these beds are too thin to be considered as suitable raw material for synthetic liquid fuels plant supply.

Webster County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). Webster County, near the center of the general southwestern flank of the Western Kentucky field, is essentially solidly underlain by coal-bearing strata, whose regional dip is toward the northeast. A portion of the Rough Creek uplift, which crosses the center of the western Kentucky coal basin in an approximately east-west direction, crosses the northern portion of Webster County in an irregular east-west line. In Webster County, it is characterized by a relatively narrow north-south belt of intersecting faults, along which compressive forces have resulted in substantial overthrusts which, in places, have brought to the surface Mississippian strata normally below the coal measures. Aside from this belt of deformation, Webster County is relatively free from dislocations caused by faulting.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 show that approximately 647,000 tons were produced in Webster County during that year, including 390,000 tons from five stripping operations. The Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals reported for 1948 that approximately 497,000 tons were obtained from 5 railroad mines in Webster County during that year, and an additional 100,000 tons from 15 truck mines. The coal beds involved are the No. 6, No. 8, No. 9, and No. 11. There are relatively substantial underground reserves in the No. 14, No. 11, and No. 9 beds and minor reserves in the No. 12, No. 11, and No. 9 beds in Webster County.

The geological section has been worked out in Webster County in greater detail than in many of the other counties containing portions of the Western Kentucky field. This section indicates the presence of as many as 11 coal horizons above the No. 14 bed, the maximum thickness of such horizons, however, being

(References: 17, 22, 25, 33, 39, 40, 43, 62, 63)

141 15 70921

Kу

l ft 3 in. There are many additional horizons between the principal coals of the other Western Kentucky counties and below the horizon of coal No. 6, but such horizons rarely exceed 2 ft 0 in. in thickness.

The No. 14 bed is also locally designated in Webster County as the Baker coal. As elsewhere in the Western Kentucky field, its occurrences in Webster County are lenticular; the coal ranges from but a few inches to as much as 7 ft 0 in. in areas of relatively limited extent. The coal has been opened by but a few operations of relatively small size. Such openings and scattered drill hole measurements indicate the occurrence of possibly three separate areas of reserves in cental and western Webster County in which the No. 14 bed ranges from 4 ft 9 in. to 7 ft 2 in. in thickness.

The No. 12 bed, which attains its maximum continuity and thickness in Hopkins and Muhlenburg Counties southeast of Webster County, occurs in but limited extent at a few small areas in the southwestern corner of Webster County, where it approximates 5 ft O in. in thickness. The bed also appears in small pocket-like areas in the northeastern section of the county, but available information is insufficient to permit estimates of reserves. The estimated reserves in southwestern Webster County, considered recoverable by stripping, are only limited.

The No. 11 bed outcrops across southwestern Webster County, where it ranges up to 6 ft 0 in. or more in thickness although in some areas the bed is less than 2 ft 0 in. in total thickness. This latter characteristic is relatively rare in Hopkins and Muhlenburg Counties and indicates the gradual deterioration of the bed northwest and north of its principal area of occurrence. Numerous underground and stripping operations relatively near the outcrop in southwestern Webster County justify estimates of relatively substantial reserves, a small proportion of which is considered to be recoverable by stripping. Lack of information, together with the indications in some drill holes that the No. 11 coal is less than 2 ft 0 in. thick, prevents extending the areas of estimated reserves to most of central and northern Webster County. Outcrops and shallow drill holes in the northeasternmost corner of the county indicate a small area of reserves contiguous with and adjacent to similar reserves of the same bed in southern Henderson County; in this area the bed approximates 4 ft 4 in. in thickness.

142The No. 9 bed outcrops widely across southwestern143aWebster County and has been extensively mined by both underground<br/>and stripping operations in areas adjacent to the outcrops. As else-15where in the southwestern and southern portions of the Western70021Kentucky basin, coal No. 9 in Webster County is persistent in con-

¥

у.

141b

tinuity and thickness, ranging only between 4 ft 6 in. and 5 ft 1 in. within the areas developed by mining operations. Information from scattered drill holes indicates that it thins somewhat toward the north to a minimum of approximately 4 ft 0 in. There are substantial reserves in the entire area northeast of the principal outcrop of the bed, except for small areas near the common corner of Union, Henderson, and Webster Counties, and in the northeastern corner of the county near western McLean and northern Hopkins Counties; there, information is insufficient to permit estimates of reserves.

The coal designated as the No. 8 bed in the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals report of output for 1948 is not clearly correlated with known coal occurrences, as indicated by other available information. The post office addresses of the three or four mines working in the No. 8 bed are in areas northeast of the principal outcrop of the No. 9 bed, suggesting that such operations are in that bed. It is possible, however, that the operations are in a lower bed than the No. 9, in which case the proper correlation would probably be as coal No. 6.

The No. 6 bed outcrops in a northwest-southeast direction near the Webster-Crittenden County line and has been mined at scattered locations by operations of limited capacity. Available measurements indicate that this bed ranges up to 4 ft 8 in. in thickness. While information available is scattered and incomplete, it is sufficient to support estimates of relatively limited reserves in a belt along the outcrop of the bed at the southwestern line of Webster County in which the bed averages 4 ft 0 in. in thickness.

## Estimated Percentage of Recovery of Coal in Place

Broad over-all records of percentage of recovery from coal reserves in place in existing underground and strip mine operations in Kentucky are not available. In 1923, the U.S. Bureau of Mines prepared a summary report on "Amount and Nature of Losses in Mining Bituminous Coal in Eastern United States", which was published in 1925 as a portion of the report of the United States Coal Commission established in accordance with Public Act No. 347 by Congress on September 22, 1922. This report, which covered only the underground mining which prevailed at that time, found that in 1921 the average amount of coal lost in individual mining operations in eastern Kentucky was 27.5 percent and in western Kentucky 37.0 percent indicating recoveries of 72.5 and 63.0 percent, 1431 respectively. 144a

In estimating percentage of recovery from reserves in 1: place across broad areas, such as those established in this report, 7002

Кy

the amount of over-all bed losses entailed in future mining operations would normally be considered as exceeding the average percentages of losses involved in present individual operations, assuming that methods of mining were not essentially changed. The causes of such decreases in over-all recovery in broad areas include coal left in barrier pillars between mines, coal left in mined-over areas when individual active operations are abandoned, coal unmined because of undetected local decreases in thickness, quality, or continuity, coal left in place under towns, cemeteries, railroads, schools, or other reservations, and coal left in pillars around oil and gas wells, etc.

An additional difficulty in establishing the percentage of recovery that may be expected from the estimated total reserves in place in Kentucky is caused by the lack of available information on extents of depletion in many areas of long-established or abandoned mining activity. Although estimated areas of depletion in specific beds, based on all available information, were eliminated from mapping and tabulating as reserves, it is probable that additional areas of depletion of some extent are present, both in the specific beds thus treated and in other beds which were included in the estimated reserves but for which no indications of depletion were found.

The recovery from coal reserves in place by underground mining in Kentucky, based upon available data and upon providing for the possible contingencies cited above, and including a nominal reject loss by mechanical cleaning, is estimated for this report as 60 percent in eastern Kentucky and 50 percent in western Kentucky.

Although individual stripping operations recover a materially higher percentage of the original coal in place than underground operations, the estimating of over-all recovery of strippable reserves over substantial areas requires consideration of the bearing of a number of economic factors on final percentage of recovery. These factors include allowances for areas which probably will not be stripped because of the presence of town developments, improved highways, existing facilities of all kinds, and because of possible excessive costs of acquisition, local decreases in thickness, quality, or continuity of the coal bed, etc. In order to provide for possible contingencies thus indicated, the recovery by stripping operations in western Kentucky is estimated in this report as 60 percent.

# Summary Description of Estimated Recoverable Coal Reserves

The total tonnage of coal considered for synthetic liquid 44b fuels production in Kentucky, as of January 1, 1949, based on avail-45a able information and within the limits of reserves specified for this

.5 **>** '0021 survey as described in Part II of this report under "Survey Specifications" and in Part IV under "Survey Methods and Procedure" is estimated at 22,932,403,000 tons in place, of which 12,826,094,000 tons are estimated as recoverable. Because of the limitations imposed by this survey, the estimates presented herein are not comparable with other coal estimates which generally include the total coal reserves in Kentucky. For example, in Circular 94 of the U.S. Geological Survey, the total recoverable reserves in Kentucky as of January I, 1950, (assuming 50 percent recovery) are reported as 59,711,697,000 tons. This estimate of the U.S. Geological Survey, in the absence of a new appraisal, is based upon the estimates of original reserves prepared by M.R. Campbell in the years prior to 1928.

The detailed data on coal reserves estimated in the synthetic liquid fuels survey are presented in a volume of Coal Data Sheets which are available at certain depositories listed in Exhibit No. 6. The recoverable coal reserves are also indicated on the Coal Data Sheets and summarized by counties and beds in Exhibit No. 7. The estimated total recoverable reserves (12,826,094,000 tons) considered for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture are recapitulated, by counties and beds, in the table following. Diagrammatic outlines of the areas underlain by coal reserves are indicated on Exhibit No. 8.

As shown in the table, 19 coal beds in eastern Kentucky and 6 in western Kentucky were found to contain suitable reserves for production of synthetic liquid fuels according to the definitions and procedures established for this survey.

In eastern Kentucky, the Upper Elkhorn No. 1 bed contains the greatest amount of estimated reserves of any individual bed, with over 1,300,000,000 tons in 6 of the 14 counties found to contain suitable reserves. Other coals containing over 1 billion tons of estimated reserves are the Lower Elkhorn bed with reserves in 5 counties, the Upper Elkhorn No. 3 bed with reserves in 8 counties, and the Fire Clay bed with reserves in 11 counties. The reserves in the remaining 15 beds range from 708,000,000 tons in the Upper Elkhorn No. 2 bed to approximately 26,000,000 tons in the Hignite bed.

With estimated reserves in 10 beds (of the 19 beds found to contain suitable reserves in eastern Kentucky), the largest amount of reserves in a single county is in Pike County, where such reserves total nearly 2,800,000,000 tons. Harlan and Floyd Counties each contain also over 1 billion tons of reserves, these being established in eight different beds in Harlan and seven in Floyd County. The reserves in the remaining counties range from about 749,000,000 tons in Knott County to approximately 21,000,000 tons in Martin County.

Coal Bed	Bell	Breathitt	Clay	Floyd	Johnson	Harlan	Knott	Knox	Leslie	Letcher	Magoffin	<u>Martin</u>	Perry	Pike	Total
Eastern Kentucky Field: High Splint Hignite	6,922 26,626					113,053									119,978 26,626
Flag Hazard Haddix Fine Clay Fider		4,649 25,292 26,143		12,114		13,393 2,851	49,196 9,929		30,890 61 482		54,525 10,376		88,531 126,094 36,609		142,376 272,237 73,128 64,333
Flatwoods Taylor		00 651	10 507	881		(1.970	177 051	41 050	216 025	144 710	10 079	3,125	976 960	70,007 40,357	74,013
Fire Clay Whitesburg Williamson	46,332 66,079	20,651 20,164	12,583	16,076		41,230	9,524 28,330	41,930	21,747 31,889	35,359 51,401	6,998		1,553	190,041	95,345 490,560
Upper Elkhorn No. 3 Upper Elkhorn No. 2 Upper Elkhorn No. 1		10,788	37,136	131,197 106,889 477,847	189,621	74,690	286,884 73,347			52,496 26,007	4,721 42,020			250,425 473,976 529,517	708,051 1,338,359
Harian Lower Elkhorn Pucketts Creek	52,520 30,065			259,164		330,906	117,896			61,009		17,548		809,951	1,265,566
Bingham Millard														111,452	195,900
Total gastern Ky.	228,544	107,687	49,719	1,004,168	189,621	1,055,164	749,057	41,950	<u>362,033</u>	550,945	129,010	20,613	529,055	2,102,395	1,110,025
Western Kentucky Field:	Butler	CAPISTIAN	Daviess	Henderson	HOPKINS	McLean	MUNTENDELE	0010	<u>01101</u>	webster					£00.077
No. 14 No. 12 No. 11				18,197	15,619 606,546	65,438	18,182 353,355	27,759	245,727	2,522					36,323
NO. 9 No. 6 Elmlick	12,862	23,232	76,567	407,621	97,044	59,457	22,595	273,695	42,465	16,682					202,016
Total Western Ky.	12,862	23,232	76,567	498,271	1,377,784	137,620	957,832	529,135	599,491	834,671					5,047,465

#### Estimated Total Recoverable Coal Reserves (Strip and Underground) Considered for Synthetic Liquid Fuels Manufacture in Kentucky By Counties and Beds in Thousands of Tons (A) (As of January 1, 1949)

Total Recoverable Reserves

Ky 7∞21

۷

.

٠

12,826,094

-

٠

4

Note: (A) Estimated in accordance with specifications and procedures established for this survey.

In western Kentucky, the No. 9 bed contains the greatest amount of estimated reserves, with over 2,800,000,000 tons being present in 8 of the 10 counties found to contain suitable reserves. The No. 11 bed contains over 1,400,000,000 tons of reserves in seven counties. The reserves in the remaining four beds range from 527,000,000 tons in the No. 14 bed to 33,000,000 tons in the Elmlick bed.

With estimated reserves of nearly 1,400,000,000 tons in five of the six beds found to contain suitable reserves in western Kentucky, the largest amount of reserves in a single county is in Hopkins County. The reserves in the remaining nine counties range from approximately 958,000,000 tons in Muhlenburg County to nearly 13,000,000 tons in Butler County.

# Commercial Coal Production

Trends in Production. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references The earliest record by the U.S. Geological Survey of coal below). production in Kentucky was of 328 tons in 1828. U.S. Bureau of Mines data indicate that, since that time, to the end of 1948, a total of 1,893,191,000 tons of coal has been produced. Achieving its maximum annual production of 84,241,000 tons in 1947, the annual production in Kentucky has followed the general rise and fall of industrial activity for the entire country. Coal production in 1932, a year of serious depression, was only 35,300,000 tons. Since 1939, production has steadily increased from 42 to over 80 million tons annually; in 1948, the last year of record, the total was 82,084,000 tons. Although annual production in the Western Kentucky field surpassed that of the Eastern Kentucky field until 1911, the latter field has produced far greater annual tonnages in subsequent The total production from eastern Kentucky in 1948 was years. 59,687,000 tons; western Kentucky production totaled 22,397,000 tons.

Prior to 1917, all of Kentucky's recorded coal production was from underground operations. Production by stripping in subsequent years did not exceed 3 percent of total State production until 1943. Since that year, the amount of coal produced by stripping has increased steadily until, in 1948, the proportion of strip mine production to total State production was 15.1 percent. Strip mining has only recently become a factor in eastern Kentucky, representing approximately 3 percent of total production in 1948. It is a major factor in western Kentucky where it accounted for approximately 46 percent of total production in that year.

Beginning in 1923, the mechanical loading of underground coal, commonly used as an index of underground coal mechanization was not an important factor until 1937, when it began to increase

(References: 34, 56, 62, 63, 64)

ГУ •

48

49a

.5 🔪 10021

rapidly from 2.8 percent of underground production until in 1948 approximately 45 percent of the total underground production was mechanically loaded. While detailed figures are not available, the proportion of underground mechanical loading to total underground production is known to be substantially higher in western Kentucky than in the eastern fields.

With increases in production, the number of active mines in Kentucky has increased from 409 in 1933 to 2,516 in 1948; 2,387 were underground operations and 129 were strip mines. The average number of employes has also increased in approximately the same period from 42,000 in 1932 to 69,000 in 1948.

With increases in strip mining and in mechanization of underground operations as described above, the average productivity in tons per man per day in the Kentucky coal fields has increased from 3.50 in 1918 to 6.11 in 1948. The average productivity in the Eastern Kentucky field, with but a nominal amount of strip mining, was 5.16 tons in 1948, while that of the Western Kentucky field, in which stripping is an important factor, was 12.03 tons. Data for 1948 indicate that productivity for all underground mines in Kentucky was 5.46 tons, while that of all strip mines was 18.57 tons per man per day.

Thickness of Coal Beds. The thicknesses of coal beds being mined by commercial operations in Kentucky vary from less than 2 to over 8 feet. The weighted average thickness is approximately 4 ft 5 in. A special study of underground and strip mining in the United States, classified by thickness of beds mined in each state, was conducted in 1945 by the Bureau of Mines. The following table shows the percentages of total production produced by underground and strip operations in beds of varying thickness. These figures are available for the State as a whole and for the Western Kentucky field, but not separately for the Eastern Kentucky field. ┣

	Percent of Total Production						
	State of Ke	ntucky	Western Kentucky				
Bed Thickness	Underground	Strip	Underground	Strip			
Less than 2 feet	0.1%	1.2%	-	<i>,</i> <del>-</del> ,			
2 to 3 feet	4.9	3.5	-	(A)			
3 to 4 feet	39.4	14.7	3.7%	14.1%			
<b>4</b> to 5 feet	39.7	8.6	48.7	10.0			
5 to 6 feet	9.5	20.4	27.8	20.4			
6 to 7 feet	5.6	30.6	19.6	30.0			
7 to 8 feet	0.8	(A)	0.2	(A)			
8 feet and over	(B)	(A)	-	(A)			
Undistributed		_21.0_		25.5			
	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%			
Weighted average							
thickness - Feet	; 4.2	5.8	5.1	5.9			

Percentage of Total Production Produced by Underground and Strip Operations in Beds of Varying Thickness

Note: (A) Included in "Undistributed". (B) Less than 0.05%.

Quality of Coal. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below). The coal beds of eastern Kentucky are predominantly high-volatile A bituminous (Hvab) in rank, while those of western Kentucky range from high-volatile A to high-volatile C bituminous (Hvcb). Cannel coal is widespread in the Eastern Kentucky field and was formerly mined to a limited extent in the northeastern portion of the Western Kentucky field. Where present in the principal productive beds of eastern Kentucky, cannel coal is commonly produced as a portion of the bituminous coal operations, although relatively limited outputs of cannel coal as such are produced from one or two cannel-coal beds in Bell, Carter, Floyd, Greenup, and Morgan Counties. The general quality of the bituminous coals increases from northwest to southeast in the Eastern Kentucky field and from north to south in the Western Kentucky field.

In general, eastern Kentucky coals are similar in quality to coals of southern West Virginia, southwestern Virginia, and northern Tennessee; they are relatively low in moisture, ash, and sulfur as compared with the average coals of the Appalachian region.

0021 (References: 34, 56, 62, 63, 64)

۲y 🕈

150b

151a

15 🔺

Western Kentucky coals are generally comparable with or slightly superior in quality to the average coals of Illinois and Indiana.

The table following summarizes the general ranges and averages in quality of the individual beds considered in this survey for which information was available. In large part, the available analyses of coals in Kentucky have been obtained from operating mines, which are primarily located in the higherquality beds. For this reason, the analyses may not be fully representative of the entire reserves in any specific county. But few analyses are available from beds of inferior quality, inasmuch as these have not been developed and operated for commercial industrial competition.

General Quality of Kentucky Coal Beds, as Indicated by Selected Items of Typical Analyses for Available Representative Samples (Mostly Mine Samples, As-received Basis)

		Moisture	Ash	Sulfur	Btu .	
Coal Bed	<u>Rank</u>	(Percent)	(Percent)	(Percent)	per Pound	
Eastern Kentuck	y Field					
High Splint	Hvab	4.4%	4.7%	0.7%	13 <b>,4</b> 90	
Hignite	Hvab	3.6	4.3	0.8	13,800	
Flag	Hvab	4.5	7.2	0.7-0.9	13,180-13,410	
Hazard	Hvab	5.1	5.8- 8.4	0.6-1.3	12,780-13,910	
Haddix	Hvab	5.1	5.8- 8.4	0.6-1.3	12,780-13,910	
Fire Clay Ride:	r	Nc	ot Availab]	.e		
Flatwoods		No	t Availab]	.e		
Taylor		NC	t Availab]	e		
Fire Clay	Hvab	3.3- 5.6	<b>4</b> .0- 7.9	0.7-1.9	12,960-13,790	
Whitesburg	Hvab	4.6	6.9	2.2	13,590	
Williamson	Hvab	2.6- 3.7	4.2- 6.0	0.7-2.9	13,660-14,000	
Upper Elkhorn						
No. 3	Hvab	2.8- 3.8	3.4- 4.9	0.5-1.0	13,440-14,170	
Upper Elkhorn						
No. 2	Hvab	2.9- 4.2	3.6- 5.8	0.7-0.9	13,440-14,280	
Upper Elkhorn						
No. 1	Hvab	3.2- 4.8	2.7- 6.0	0.6-1.6	13,450-14,290	•
Harlan	Hvab	2,1- 3.1	3.7- 3.8	0.8	14,050	
Lower Elkhorn	Hvab	3.2- 3.5	3.0- 8.5	0.6-2.3	13,090-14,290	
Pucketts Creek		NC	t Availabl	e		•
Bingham	Hvab	1.1	7.6	1.9	1 <b>4,13</b> 0	-
Millard		NC	ot Availab]	.e		
Western Kentuck	y Field					КJ
No. 14	Hvcb-Hvab	5.9-11.8	6.8- 9.6	1.5-4.7	11,300-12,930	15]
No. 12	Hvcb-Hvbb	5.4-12.2	9.3-14.3	1.1-3.8	11,040-12,500	-152
No. 11	Hvbb-Hvab	5.2- 8.7	7.7- 9.8	3.2-4.1	11,710-12,570	•
No. 9	Hvcb-Hvab	3.9-12.1	9.2-13.5	2.9-3.7	10,790-12,740	1.5
No. 6	Hvbb-Hvab	4.5-10.7	3.9- 8.5	1.9-3.4	12,200-13,020	70021

Distribution and Use. Approximately 86 percent of present commercial production in eastern Kentucky and 88 percent in western Kentucky is loaded directly at the mines into railroad cars or trucked to railroads or waterways for shipment to destination. Except for coal used at the mines (less than 1 percent) the remaining production is loaded into trucks. Principal railroad carriers in Kentucky, in the approximate order of tonnages loaded for shipment as reported by mine operators, are as follows:

> Louisville & Nashville Chesapeake and Ohio Illinois Central Norfolk & Western Southern Kentucky & Tennessee Artemus-dellico Interstate

Available information on distribution of coal does not permit a precise analysis of the distribution of eastern Kentucky coal by destination and uses inasmuch as production from eastern Kentucky was, statistically, included with that of District 8 (southwestern West Virginia-high volatile, southwestern Virginia and northern Tennessee) in compiling such information during the years when these data were available. With comparatively little coal from District 8 being consumed in Kentucky, coal from District 8 in 1945 was shipped in varying quantities to nearly every state east of the Mississippi River and as far west as South Dakota and Nebraska. Substantial amounts of coal from District 8 were likewise used as railroad fuel; additional substantial amounts were shipped to tidewater or to Lake Erie for further transhipment by water. 0f shipments other than for locomotive fuel and water-borne transportation, approximately 45 percent went to industrial users, 37 percent to retail yards and 18 percent for by-product or water-gas manufacture.

Over 50 percent of the production of western Kentucky in 1945 was consumed within the States of Kentucky and Tennessee. Substantial tonnages, however, were shipped to destinations in such states as Illinois, Indiana, Mississippi, Iowa, California, Alabama, Wisconsin, Arkansas, Virginia and Minnesota. Over 7,000,000 tons were used for railroad fuel in 1945; minor amounts were shipped to tidewater or lake ports for transfer into vessels. Of shipments other than for locomotive fuel and by trucks, approximately 55 percent was distributed to industrial users and 45 percent to retail yards.

15 In 1945 the percentages of production of western Kentucky 2021 and District 8 coal, by consolidated size groups, were as follows:

۲y.

153

L54a

	Western Kentucky	Coal District 8
Modified mine run with top size over 2 in.	44.5%	34.9%
Lump coal and double-screened coal with top size over 2 in.	27 <b>.4</b>	28.4
Resultant and dedusted screenings with top size over 3/4 in. and not exceeding 2 in.	19.2	22.9
Double-screened coal with top size not exceeding 2 in.	6.6	8.3
Resultant and dedusted screenings with top size not exceeding 3/4 in.	2.3	5.5

Percentage of Production by Size Groups in 1945 for Western Kentucky and Coal District 8

Future Coal Requirements. As one of the principal coalproducing states, the annual productions from Kentucky coal fields have responded closely to the fluctuating rates of demand determined by the national economy. That production from Kentucky has maintained at least a proportionate position with respect to total United States coal demand is illustrated by an increase in production of from 42,500,000 tons in 1939 to 82,000,000 tons in 1948. Both the Eastern and Western Kentucky fields have participated in this growth.

In general, coals from eastern Kentucky are suitable for a wide variety of purposes. According to Information Circular No. 7559 of the U.S. Bureau of Mines in 1950, over 13,700,000 tons of high-volatile Kentucky coal were received at slot-type ovens in the United States for coke production in 1947, together with 174,000 tons of medium-volatile coal. With a grand total of over 97,000,000 tons being received from various states for coke production at slot-type ovens, the total Kentucky coal received for such use represented 14.3 percent of the total for the country.

Western Kentucky coal, used principally for industrial power generation, railroad, and domestic fuel, is not adapted for special uses, such as production of coke, except in minor amounts. The coal reported as received at slot-type ovens above is considered as probably having been obtained exclusively from the Eastern Kentucky field. 154) 1558 15

70021

Kу
It is possible that increasing demand for high-grade coking coals and improvements in utilization of somewhat lower-grade coals will increase the rate of demand for coking coal from those beds in eastern Kentucky best adapted to this method of utilization. It is not possible, however, to forecast the amount or extent of such possible rate of increase on the basis of available information. It appears that the future demand for eastern Kentucky coal may approximate the rate which has prevailed in recent years. Except for possible increases in demand for midwest coal for future coke production, the future major requirements for western Kentucky coal appear to be confined to the generally industrial uses for which it is now employed.

At the 1948 production rate of approximately 59,687,000 tons, the total demand for eastern Kentucky coal in the next 50 years would approximate 2,984,000,000 tons. At the 1948 production rate of approximately 22,397,000 tons, the total demand for Western Kentucky coal in the next 50 years would approximate 1,120,000,000 tons. These figures are used solely as a means of estimating future requirements other than for the development of a synthetic liquid fuels industry.

#### Selection of General Areas of Coal Availability

Ky

155b

157a

70021

156

15

Elimination of Unsatisfactory Areas. Upon completion of basic mapping and tabulation, each area of reserves was then examined as to location, extent, amount of recoverable reserves, and relationship to other adjacent or nearby reserve areas. Isolated areas, with insufficient reserves to provide at least one synthetic liquid fuels unit plant for a 40-year life, were eliminated from further consideration. Where large reserves of two or more principal beds were overlain or underlain by one or more coal beds of relatively limited extent or of inferior quality, which would probably not be mined concurrently with mining of the more extensive beds, these intermediate beds were likewise eliminated. The locations, coal bed designations, and amounts of estimated recoverable reserves of such eliminated areas are shown in the table following.

Deduction of Coal Reserves for Future Commercial Requirements. The total recoverable reserves in eastern Kentucky considered available for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture, as previously shown, are estimated at approximately 7,778,600,000 tons, and those of western Kentucky at approximately 5,047,500,000 tons. It is estimated that the future commercial requirements for eastern Kentucky coal in the next 50 years, based upon the 1948 production rate of 59,687,000 tons, would be approximately 2,984,000,000 tons, and those of western Kentucky, based on their 1948 production rate, about 1,120,000,000 tons. On these bases, there are about 4,794,600,000 tons in eastern Kentucky and 3,927,500,000 tons in western Kentucky available for the production of synthetic liquid fuels.

## Eliminated Areas of Unsatisfactory Reserves

		Estimated			
			Recove	erable Res	erves
			(Thou	isands of '	Tons)
		Location		·····	
County	Coal Bed	in County	Primary	Secondary	Total
Todtom Vontu					
Eastern Kentu	cky field:			<b>5</b> ' 050	
Bell	Hign Splint	Sw.	1,285	5,639	6,922
Breathitt	Flag	SE.		4,649	4,649
	Hazard	NE., Central	3,793	21,499	25,292
	Haddix	SE.	-	26,143	26,143
	Fire Clay	NE.	-	9,643	9,643
	Whitesburg	NE.	3,032	17,132	20,164,
Clay	Fire Clay	Ε.	~	12,583	12,583
•	Upper Elkhorn	No.3 Central	20,758	16,378	37,136
Floyd	Flatwoods	SE.	-	881	881
	Williamson	SE.	8,710	7,366	16,076
Harlan	Fire Clay Ride	er Central	2,851	-	2,851
	Fire Clay	NE.	19.031	22,199	41,230
Knott	Hazard	W .	6.014	3,915	9,929
	Whitesburg	s.	<u> </u>	9,524	9.524
	Williamson	s.	24.412	3,918	28,330
Knox	Fire Clav	S.	21,773	20,177	41,950
Leslie	Whitesburg	Central	2,956	18,791	21.747
Tetcher	Williamson	W. Central	6,245	45,156	51,401
20 00101	Hoper Elkhorn	No. 2 SE.	3,257	4,089	7,346
Magoffin	Haddix	SW.	9,253	1,000	10,376
	Fine Claw	Central	5,200	10,978	10,978
	Whiteshung	Central	3 636	3 362	6 998
	Mirvesburg	No 3 SE	2158	2,502	4 721
Montin	Blotwoods	NO.J DE.	2,100	2,000	3 105
Mar uin	Fiatwoous Fower Elkhorn	, . <u>.</u> .	0,140		17 540
Dommer	Lower Elknorn	NE., D.	2,000	14,110	76 600
renny	nauulx Whiteshuma		20,051	10,000	JO,009
17 d 1	Whitespurg	IN W •	-	1,000	1,555
Pike	Flatwoods	W. N. Gentrol	55,595	14,416	10,007
	Taylor	N., Central	21,745	18,612	40,357
	Millard	5.		16,483	111,452
Total			283,482	404.039	687.521
TT A				U U	¢.
western Kentu	cky Fiela:		10 000		10 000
Butler	Eimlick	N .	12,862	-	12,862
Henderson	NO. 11	SE.		18,197	18,197
McLean	No. 14	s.	12,725	<b>~~</b>	12,725
	No. 9	NW .	11,158	-	11,158
Muhlenberg	No. 14	NE.	29,398	2,695	32,093
Ohio	Elmlick	SE.	20,192	<b>5</b>	20,192
Webster	No. 11	NE.	10,575	13,167	23,742
	No. 6	SW.	16,682	-	16,682
_ · ·				74 050	
Total			113,592	54,059	14/,651
Total E	liminated Reser	rves	397,074	438,098	835,172

126

•

19

Ψ-

K,

15

4

Substantial areas of underground reserves of coals of superior quality, continuity, or thickness in eastern Kentucky and of both underground and strip reserves of similar characteristics in western Kentucky are in the hands of operating companies. While no attempt was made in this survey to confine estimates of reserves to areas not owned or controlled by operating or holding companies, some allowances for present ownership of both underground and strippable coal were probably unavoidably effected by excluding from the mapping and tabulation of reserves certain relatively minor areas not yet depleted but lying within major areas of depletion as previously described under "Survey Methods and Procedure". It is considered that such eliminated reserves, at least some of which are probably being depleted by active mines, will supply some portion of the estimated future commercial requirements for Kentucky coals. The total amount of potential supply thus provided, however, is considered relatively minor in extent.

Delineation of General Areas of Coal Availability. After elimination of the unsatisfactory areas of reserves listed in the previous table, the remaining areas of reserves were grouped into nine General Areas of Coal Availability in eastern Kentucky and seven such General Areas in western Kentucky, in accordance with definitions and procedures established for this survey. The locations, boundaries, and areas underlain by included coal reserves for each General Area as listed below are diagrammatically shown on Exhibit No. 9.

#### General Areas of Coal Availability

### Eastern Kentucky

4

.

У

59a

0021

Johnson-Magoffin Pike Floyd-Magoffin Knott-Breathitt Perry-Breathitt Leslie-Harlan Northern Letcher Harlan-Letcher Bell Western Kentucky

Daviess Henderson Union Webster Hopkins-Christian Muhlenberg-McLean Ohio

Detailed data pertaining to each General Area are presented in Exhibit No. 10, which indicates that in the Daviess General Area there are insufficient recoverable coal reserves available for the 40-year supply of one unit plant using the coal synthine process. Therefore, subsequently in this report, when the coal synthine process is considered, the Daviess General Area of Coal Availability has been eliminated. The data of Exhibit No. 10 include information on thicknesses of beds, depths of cover, rank and quality of coal, areas underlain by coal reserves, estimated recoverable reserves (by classes), and the daily capacity of synthetic liquid fuels plants, in thousands of barrels, which could be supported through a 40-year life by the estimated reserves.

Each General Area is less than 1,000 square miles in size and is of the approximate size of a single county, or less. County lines are crossed, however, when areas of adjoining, continuous reserves in one county properly belong with larger areas of reserves in another county. Where areas of continuous reserves in two or more adjoining counties each contain substantially greater reserves than the amount required to supply one synthetic liquid fuels unit plant, such areas are separated into individual General Areas by counties.

The table following (summarized from Exhibit No. 10) shows the estimated primary, secondary, and total reserves in each General Area, together with the daily synthetic liquid fuels capacity, in thousands of barrels, which could be supported for a 40year life by such reserves, using either the hydrogenation or coal synthine processes, where applicable.

	Estima	ted Reserve	es (B)	Daily Capacity ( of Bar	Plant Thousands rels)
	(Thous	sands of To	ons)	genation	Synthine
General Area	Primary	$\underline{\texttt{Secondary}}$	Total	Process	Process
Eastern Kentucky Fi	eld				
Johnson-Magoffin Pike Floyd-Magoffin Knott-Breathitt Perry-Breathitt Leslie-Harlan Northern Letcher Harlan-Letcher Bell Subtotal	106,306 1,491,652 620,892 330,407 280,710 194,498 248,960 628,401 119,847 4,021,743	106,176 1,068,927 439,933 381,655 221,191 159,181 129,874 460,653 101,775 3,069,365	212,552 2,560,579 1,060,825 660,814(C 501,901 353,679 378,834 1,089,054 221,622 7,039,860(C	$ \begin{array}{r}     41 \\     504 \\     199 \\     127 \\     95 \\     68 \\     74 \\     213 \\     43 \\     43 \\     1,364 \\ \end{array} $	32 392 155 99 74 53 58 166 33 1,062
Western Kentucky Fi	eld				
Daviess Henderson Union Webster Hopkins-Christian Muhlenberg-McLean Ohio	52,690 229,933 343,296 392,493 887,681 663,870 435,503	23,877 250,141 256,195 401,754 513,335 375,606 73,440	76,567 459,866(C) 599,891 784,986(C) 1,401,016 1,039,476 508,943	12 70 103 136 235 176 82	9 55 80 106 183 137 64
Subtotal	3,005,466	1,894,348	<u>4,870,345</u> (C)	)814	<u>634</u>
Total Kentucky Note: (A) Detailed Exhibit (B) Recoverab (C) Total prin liquid definit General	7,027,209 data on Ge No. 10. le by stri mary and s fuels plar ion to twi Area.	4,963,713 eneral Area tp and by u secondary r at supply a tce the pri	11,910,205(C) as are preserved anderground m reserves for are limited h mary reserve	2,178 nted in nining. synthetic by es in any	<u>1,696</u>

# Summary of General Areas of Coal Availability (A) (As of January 1, 1949)

In connection with this table and with the detailed data, it should be noted that the total reserves estimated as available for synthetic liquid fuels production do not equal the sum of the estimated primary and secondary reserves in one General Area in eastern Kentucky and two General Areas in western Kentucky. This reduction in total reserves conforms to the definition of availability of raw materials reserves which states that "---the quantity considered sufficient for one or more plants is based upon a recoverable amount sufficient to supply such plant for a period of 40 years of which 20 years' supply is from primary reserves and the additional 20 years' supply is from either primary or secondary reserves".

The amounts of secondary reserves thus eliminated from the actual total of recoverable reserves are shown by the following tabulation, with quantities listed in thousands of tons:

Secondary Rese	erves Eliminated (1,000 Tons)	as Excess	
General Area	Actual Totals Primary and Secondary	Totals Used	Amounts Eliminated
Eastern Kentucky Field: Knott-Breathitt	712,062	660,814	51,248
Western Kentucky Field: Henderson Webster	480,074 794,247	459,866 784,986	20,208 
Total	1,986,383	1,905,666	80,717
Total Usable Reserves,	All General Area	.8	11,910,205
Total Estimated Reserve	es in General Are	as	11,990,922

The total reserves of 7,039,860,000 tons estimated for the nine General Areas of Coal Availability in eastern Kentucky exceed the 4,794,600,000 tons determined to be available for the production of synthetic liquid fuels by deducting the estimated future commercial requirements (2,984,000,000 tons) from the total recoverable reserves in eastern Kentucky (7,778,600,000 tons) by 2,245,260,000 tons. The total reserves of approximately 4,870,345,000 tons estimated for the seven General Areas of Coal Availability in western Kentucky exceed the 3,927,500,000 tons determined to be available for the production of synthetic liquid fuels by deducting the estimated future commercial requirements (1,120,000,000 tons) from the

K 16 16

total recoverable reserves in western Kentucky (5,047,500,000 tons) by 942,845,000 tons. Deduction of these amounts as unavailable for synthetic liquid fuel production decreases the total daily plant capacities in eastern Kentucky from 1,364,000 to 929,000 barrels by the hydrogenation process and from 1,062,000 to 723,000 barrels by the synthine process. The similar decreases in total daily plant capacity in western Kentucky are from 814,000 to 656,000 barrels by the hydrogenation process and from 634,000 to 511,000 barrels by the synthine process.

The above reductions in daily synthetic liquid fuels plant capacity are considered as maximum possibilities. While it is not considered that the total amounts of estimated reserves in the areas eliminated as unsatisfactory (687,521,000 tons in eastern Kentucky and 147,651,000 tons in western Kentucky) would be necessarily used for future commercial requirements, it is possible that a portion of either synthetic liquid fuels supply or future commercial requirements will be obtained from such reserves or from the 51,248,000 tons in eastern Kentucky or from the 29,469,000 tons in western Kentucky, which represent excess secondary reserves eliminated from one General Area in eastern Kentucky and two General Areas in western Kentucky as stated above. It is likewise possible that present operating companies either own or control relatively minor amounts of reserves for future commercial production which were not included in the total amounts of reserves estimated herein as available for synthetic liquid fuels plant supply as previously described under the heading "Survey Methods and Procedure". There is also the probability of additional reserves being developed in areas for which there is not now sufficient information to warrant the estimation of reserves for the purpose of this report.

Under the definitions and procedures employed in this survey, and with the allowances specified for future commercial production, it is concluded that sufficient coal reserves are available in nine General Areas of Coal Availability in eastern Kentucky and in seven General Areas of Coal Availability in western Kentucky to supply synthetic liquid fuels plants having a minimum capacity of 1,585,000 barrels per day for a period of 40 years using the hydrogenation process and 1,233,000 barrels per day for a period of 40 years using the coal synthine process. All information available at the time of this survey indicates that sufficient coal reserves are available to supply a maximum synthetic liquid fuels capacity of 2,178,000 barrels per day by the hydrogenation process or 1,696,000 barrels per day by the coal synthine process. It is probable that continued exploration and development of coal reserves in both eastern and western Kentucky will result in the discovery of additional reserves for both synthetic liquid fuels plant supply and future commercial requirements in areas for which there is not now sufficient information to permit the present estimation of reserves.

62b

63<del>a</del>

0021

#### Synthetic Liquid Fuels Potential in General Areas of Coal Availability

Based on the recoverable coal reserves in the 16 General Areas of Coal Availability, the potential synthetic liquid fuels capacity for each of said General Areas of Kentucky, in total and as a daily average over a 40-year period, would be as follows:

Available Underground and Strip Coal Reserves (A) and Equivalent Synthetic Liquid Fuels Potential General Areas of Coal Availability and Process in Total and as a Daily Average over 40 Years (As of January 1, 1949)

			EC	quivalent	Potentia:	1
				······································	Average	e Daily
General			Tot	tal	Plant (	Capacity
Areas	Recoverable	Average	(1.000	0.000	40-Year Period	
of Coal	Coal	Btu per	Barre	eĺs)	(1.000 ]	Barrels)
Avail-	Reserves	Pound (As	Hydro-	Coal	Hydro-	Coal
ability	(1.000 Tons)	Received)	genation	Synthine	genation	Synthine
		······	×	······································	<u> </u>	
Johnson-						
Magoffin	212,552	13 <b>,</b> 730	596	463	41	32
Pike	2,560,579	14,090	7,363	5,727	50 <b>4</b>	392
Floyd-						
Magoffin	1,060,825	13,430	2,908	2,261	199	155
Knott-		·	-			
Breathitt	660,814	13,750	1,854	1,442	127	99
Perry-	•	•	-	-		•
Breathitt	501,901	13,490	1.382	1,075	95	74
Leslie-Harla	an 353,679	13,680	987	768	68	53
Northern						
Letcher	378.834	13.970	1.080	840	74	58
Harlan-		,				
Letcher	1.089.054	13.980	3,107	2.417	213	166
Bell	221,622	13.800	624	485	43	33
Daviess	76.567	10,790	169	131	12	9
Henderson	459.866	10,960	1.029	800	70	55
Union	599,491	12,340	1,510	1.174	103	80
Webster	784,986	12,400	1,986	1.545	136	106
Hopkins-	,			_,		
Christian	1 401 016	11,990	3,428	2.666	235	183
Muhlenherg_	1,101,010	<b></b> ,	0,100	2,000	200	
Moloan	1 039 476	12 120	2 571	2 000	176	137
Obto	508 013	11 640	1 200	940	82	64
OUTO		TT,040				
Total	11,910,205		31,803	24,734	2,178	1,696

Note: (A) Considered for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture in accordance with specifications and procedures for this survey.

F

7

116 116

Logan County on the south to Breckenridge County on the north. Minor extensions of these outcrops lie in bordering Butler, Hart, and Hancock Counties.

The beds within which the bituminous deposits are found, and their associated beds, are as follows:

#### Beds of Bituminous Deposits

System	Formation	Bed
Pennsylvanian	Pottsville	Bee Spring Sandstone Main Nolin Coal Basal Conglomerate
Mississippian	Chester Upper <sup>C</sup> hester Middle Chester	Litchfield Glen Dean Limestone Hardensburg Sandstone Golconda Limestone Cypress Sandstone
	Lower Chester	Renault-Paint Creek Limestone

The rocks in this region form part of the eastern upslope of the Western geosyncline and the western flank of the Cincinnati Arch, about midway between the Cincinnati and Nashville domes. The strata, in general, dip 30 feet to the mile to the north and northwest, although the regional dip is interrupted by local irregularities, mainly small faults. Westward, the beds pass under capping sandstones; eastward, older formations outcrop.

The Cypress sandstone contains most of the oil-impregnated deposits of the Chester series. It is generally crossbedded, fine-grained in Logan County, medium-grained in Grayson County, and uni-formly fine-grained (0.006 in.) in Hardin County. Individual layers range from 2 inches to 2 feet in thickness. It is relatively competent and resistant to erosion and forms gently rolling, nearly level, cliff-bounded terrain.

68 Pennsylvanian rocks of the Pottsville series overlie the Chester beds. The basal conglomerate of the Pottsville is composed of two massive medium- to coarse-grained sandstones, conspicuously Chester beds. 021 crossbedded in places.

У

0

67b

Above the basal conglomerate lies a shale containing the main Nolin coal and above this the Bee Spring sandstone. The latter is a massive member, similar in many ways to the lowermost sandstone member. It is brown, coarse-grained, crossbedded, and a conspicuous cliff former in some areas.

#### Source of Bitumen

(See Exhibit No. 13 for references A below)

The origin of the bitumen in the sand formations is not known. Weller (Ref. 12) holds that it was derived from underlying formations. No source beds are known, either in the Pottsville of this region or the underlying Upper Mississippian formations, which seem likely to have produced the amount of petroleum contained in the impregnated horizons, but oil may have migrated upward from much lower beds. The location of the thickest Pottsville deposits along the deeper part of a pre-Pottsville channel in the northcentral part of Edmonson County suggests that the presence of this channel may have been a factor in the accumulation, and possibly in the upward migration, of petroleum in this vicinity. McCormack (Ref. 8) says the beds may be erosional remnants of a once large, oil-filled anticline.

#### Description of Deposits in Eastern Kentucky (See Exhibit No. 13 for references B below)

Oil-impregnated deposits occur in the Pottsville formation in Johnson, Morgan, Magoffin, Carter, and Rowan Counties in eastern Kentucky.

Johnson, Morgan, and Magoffin Counties. Asphaltimpregnated sandstones occur in the cliffs of Big Paint Creek gorge near Low Gap Branch and in other places in the gorge and its tributaries in Johnson and the adjacent portions of Morgan and Magoffin Counties. The asphaltic sands are Pottsville basal conglomeratic sediments. Jillson states (Ref. 4) that they are not sufficiently thick nor so situated as to be commercial.

The following Kentucky Agricultural Experimental Station analyses of samples from Little Paint and Big Paint Creeks show lean bitumen content:

1

Кy

16 17

700

۳.

<sup>(</sup>References A: 8, 12) (References B: 1, 4)

#### OIL-IMPREGNATED STRIPPABLE DEPOSITS IN KENTUCKY

Eighteen Kentucky counties are known to contain oilimpregnated deposits, as shown in Exhibit No. 11 and described in Exhibit No. 12. The largest and most important are in the Pottsville (Pennsylvanian) and Cypress (Mississippian) sandstones in mentral Kentucky.

Edmonson and Logan Counties appear to have 434 million tons of oil-impregnated material in place or 347 million tons recoverable, containing 10 to 15 gallons of oil per ton, in beds 15 to 35 feet thick, with less than an equal footage of overburden. Of the total recoverable, 196 million tons are in 4,220 acres in Edmonson County; the remaining 151 million are in 2,253 acres in Logan County. These estimates are as of January 1, 1950.

Available information reveals no deposit outside Edmonson and Logan Counties that contains 10 million tons of oil-impregnated material within a 5-square-mile area, that is 15 feet or more thick, that is overlain by no more than its own thickness of overburden, and that will yield 10 gallons of oil per ton of raw material.

Footnote references included in this section refer to publications listed in the bibliography, Exhibit No. 13. Acknowledgments for technical information are listed in Exhibit No. 14.

#### Character of Deposits (See Exhibit No. 13 for reference below)

The oil-impregnated sands of Kentucky are used chiefly for paving. They are composed of fine- to course-grained quartz sandstone, impregnated with bitumen of about the consistency of warm tar. The bitumen content varies from a trace, barely sufficient to color the rock gray, to saturation; it averages 3 to 7 percent by weight, although some samples have shown more than 10 percent.

Top and bottom contacts with noncommercial rock are well defined, as a rule, and are described by Tyler (Ref. 15) as "sharp breaks".

Test results on uncrushed samples show marked differences in bitumen content and hardness of recovered asphalt from different horizons and faces of the same quarry. A rich ledge lying on lean rock in one place may lie under what appears to be the same lean streak a short distance away. There is no apparent textural differ-

(References: 15)

٠

;5

;6a.

.0

)021

ence to cause this variation, but complex crossbedding is evident, with cementation along the bedding planes tending to check the flow of bitumen. Thin shaly layers, in places interbedded with the sandstone, also confine the bitumen and cause local variations in the amount present.

The deposits seem to decrease in thickness and bitumen content beneath heavy overburden.

Outcrops weather dark gray or white on exposure, but a fresh sample reveals the black liquid bitumen coating sand grains and filling interstices.

#### Mining

The bituminous sandstone is mined by conventional quarrying methods. The overburden consists of soil and alluvium, barren sandstone, and sometimes a thin layer of leached bituminous sandstone. The sandstone overburden is well cemented and must be drilled and blasted to remove it. Hydraulic methods have been used to remove loose overburden.

#### History of Development

In 1891, the American Bituminous Rock Company built a plant to extract bitumen from the bituminous sandstone near Grayson Springs in Grayson County, but shut down after about 80 barrels had been separated.

In 1894, the Logan County Asphalt Company, later renamed the Standard Asphalt Company, mined the first natural rock asphalt for road-paving material. In the early 1900's, several companies followed suit in Breckenridge, Warren, Edmonson, and Logan Counties.

The Kentucky Rock Asphalt Company has been mining in Edmonson County since 1917 and is the only surviving large producer of natural rock asphalt. Exhibit No. 15 lists the names and locations of most of the Kentucky rock asphalt companies.

#### Stratigraphy and General Occurrence

Small bituminous outcrops are exposed in stream valleys in eastern Kentucky, but the chief outcrops lie in a broad arcuate belt of Pennsylvanian and Mississippian rocks across the midwestern part of the State. The rocks (see table below) are impregnated more or less continuously throughout portions of six counties from 166b

167a

10

70021

۲

	Location					
	Pleasant Run Branch Big Paint Creek	Shack Branch Little Paint Creek	McKenzie Tracey Farm Big Paint Creek			
Moisture 105°C	4.6% (wt)	3.0% (wt)	3.1% (wt)			
Combustible Mat Insoluble CS <sub>2</sub>	ter 1.0	۰ 6	۰5			
Bit. Sol. CS <sub>2</sub>	۰6	۰6	۰ <b>4</b>			
Sand	93.8	95.8	96.0			
Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%			

#### Analyses of Samples from Little Paint and Big Paint Creeks

7

[y

70b

.71a

10

021

According to available information, no deposit in this area constitutes a reserve as defined herein.

Carter and Rowan Counties. A portion of the Pottsville basal sandstone contains bitumen in Carter and Rowan Counties near Soldier. The deposit lies on the eastern side of the divide between Tygart and Triplet Creeks in a north-south ridge above the forks of Soldier and Main Tygart Creeks. The area is about three miles long and three-quarters of a mile wide. According to Hagan (Ref. 1) and Jillson (Ref. 4) exposures on Soldier and Mocabee Creeks have been examined where 5- to 10-foot outcrops are found on the following farms: J. P. Danner, J. D. Patent, L. S. Vincent, J. F. Gilbert, W. C. Underwood, and S. M. Bradley. On the J. P. Danner farm, a quarry was developed in 1917 but did not operate commercially.

The bituminous sandstone is underlain by 5 or 6 feet of fire clay and overlain by 15 to 20 feet of soft, coarse-grained sandstone. The dip is 1 to 2 degrees to the southeast. The richest portion is a middle zone about 3 feet thick, grading into moderately rich zones above and below. The deposit is irregular and bitumen content varies, but the average is less than 10 gallons per ton.

Jillson (Ref. 4) gives the following analyses from the deposit:

i	Location					
)	S. M. Bradley Farm Mocabee Creek	J. P. Danner Quarry Soldier Fork	Danner Farm Soldier Fork	Danner Farm Soldier Fork		
Moisture 105°C	0.11% (wi	t) 0.07% (wt)	0.06% (wt)	0.04% (wt)		
Volatile Com- bust. Matte	r 6.53	3.52	3.45	3.43		
Sand	93.36	96.41	96.49	96.53		
Total	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%		
Sol. CS <sub>2</sub>	7.13%	3.55%	3.39%	4.06%		

Analyses of Samples from Carter and Rowan Counties

Available information reveals no reserve in this area.

#### Description of Deposits in West-central Kentucky (See Exhibit No. 13 for references below)

Bituminous sandstone deposits of both Pottsville and Chester age are more or less continuous throughout portions of Logan, Edmonson, Warren, Grayson, Hardin, and Breckenridge Counties, with minor extensions in Butler, Hart, and Hancock Counties. Only in Edmonson and Logan Counties are the deposits sufficiently rich and thick and of the proper extent to be classified as reserves.

Logan and Edmonson Counties. The reserves in Logan and Edmonson Counties are described later under "General Areas of Raw Material Availability".

Warren County. Bitumen-impregnated Pottsville basal sandstone is known in the northeastern part of Warren County. Several small deposits in the area bordering Green River, in the vicinity of Youngs Ferry, are of high quality and have been worked commercially in the past. However, there is no indication that any of the deposits in the area constitutes a reserve as herein defined.

<u>Grayson County.</u> The Kentucky Geological Survey (Ref. 10) shows that the bituminous Pottsville beds extend continuously Ку 171 172 ДО 7002

¥

(References: 10, 11)

from Edmonson County into the southern part of Grayson County, where the Bee Spring sandstone is thickest. Bituminous sandstone is present throughout the entire southern portion of the county, south of a line from Caneyville on the west through Leitchfield to Millerstown on the east, near the junction of Grayson, Hardin, and Hart Counties. The terrain in the eastern portion of this section is highly dissected and the beds are either small, isolated units or are under considerable overburden. To the west, and especially in the vicinity of the Church-Shrewsbury area, the deposits occur at or near the surface over rather large continuous areas. In this portion of the county, however, available information gives no indication that any of these deposits constitutes a reserve.

Farther in the north, near the county line, bituminous Cypress beds outcrop. Here again there is no available information that these deposits are either thick enough or rich enough to qualify as a reserve.

Hardin County. The bituminous sandstone deposits in Hardin County are an extension of the impregnated portion of the Cypress formation in northern Grayson County (Ref. 10). Outcrops are known in the vicinity of Meeting Creek. From available information, there is no indication that these deposits contain the requisite tonnage of the thickness and yield that would constitute a reserve.

Breckenridge County. The bituminous beds of the Chester formations extend in a broad belt from Hardin and Grayson Counties through the towns of Cloverport and Garfield into Breckenridge County. In the northwestern part of Breckenridge County, they occur in the Tar Springs member, a little above the Cypress sandstone. The deposits are small. Jillson (Ref. 11) states that the Tar Springs sandstone is a thinner and higher member in the Chester series than the Cypress sandstone and that it covers a smaller area.

The Cypress sandstone, although bituminous in the middle part of Breckenridge County, is not continuously so, and there are large areas where it is completely barren. Bituminous Cypress outcrops occur in the vicinity of Garfield and Cloverport, and some deposits have been mined but are not considered as important as those to the south.

Available information fails to show that these deposits meet the requirements for a reserve.

Hart, Butler, and Hancock Counties. Pottsville bituminous sandstone extends from a short distance within the southeastern border of Butler County, east of Reedyville, to westcentral Hart County between Pine Grove church and Cherry Spring school. Some Cypress bituminous sandstone outcrops as far north as Hancock County east of Patesville. There seem to be no reports of detailed

.72b .73a 10 '0021 field examinations to indicate the extent of these deposits; they are probably of a minor nature. In Butler and Hancock Counties, the beds dip below capping sandstones. East of the center of Hart County, they have been eroded away. There are no areas adjacent to these counties that contain deposits which qualify as reserves and which would attach importance to these deposits. Also, there has been little commercial interest in the development of rock asphalt mining in these counties. The deposits in Hart, Butler, and Hancock Counties probably do not qualify as reserves.

#### Description of Miscellaneous Deposits

Kentucky has several other bituminous accumulations at or near the ground surface. Among these are small deposits of asphalt-impregnated limestone outcropping in Nelson, Madison, Marion, and Bell Counties. These deposits are small and of academic importance only.

#### General Areas of Raw Material Availability

Both Edmonson and Logan Counties are General Areas of Raw Material Availability as previously defined.

Edmonson County. (See Exhibit No. 13 for reference below).

<u>Geography and Geology.</u> Edmonson County is the site of the largest known tar sands deposits in Kentucky and of the greatest commercial development. The terrain is hilly and in places precipitous; surface elevations range from 400 to 900 feet. Streams have dissected asphalt beds that were once continuous. The Kentucky Geological Survey (Ref. 9) shows numerous outcrops of asphalt in the county.

Bituminous Cypress sandstone, as exposed in the beds of First, Second, and Bylew Creeks, and bituminous Hardensburg sandstone in the valley of Crooked Creek, are known but are not of interest for this report because they lie under excessive overburden.

Pottsville rock asphalt occurs chiefly in two different horizons, the upper sandstone of the basal conglomerate and the Bee Spring sandstone.

The basal conglomerate is over 200 feet thick in a pre-Pottsville river channel exposed along Pine and Pigeon Creeks. It thins to the southern border of the area of Pennsylvanian outcrop.

(Reference: 9)

Ky 173b to 175a 10 70021

Northward from the channel it thins and loses continuity.

The Bee Spring sandstone is at its maximum thickness, about 50 feet, in the northern part of the county. It becomes increasingly shaly and discontinuous to the south.

The chief bituminous sandstone exposures are in the Pottsville and lie in the valleys between Bear Creek and Green River and between the northern boundary of the Mammoth Cave National Park and the Dog Creek Fault. Several deposits are scattered west of Bear Creek to the Grayson County line and south of Green River on both sides of Little Beaver Dam Creek, but core drilling has not proved these to be of more than limited extent.

The reserves areas lie in the northern part of the county, north of an east-west line through Brownsville, where the Pottsville beds are thickest. Available information fails to disclose any reserves south of this line.

Reserves. (See Exhibit No. 13 for references below.) Exhibit No. 16 summarizes and assigns letter designations to the Edmonson County reserves and lists their locations. The only reserve considered measured contains less than 10 million tons and is included in a larger indicated deposit. Assuming recovery of 80 percent, a total of 2,705 acres is estimated to contain 125,885,000 recoverable tons classified as indicated tertiary reserves. A total of 1,517 acres is estimated to contain 69,666,000 recoverable tons classified as inferred secondary and tertiary reserves.

On the 2,705 acres of indicated reserves, 104 holes have been drilled, an average of 1 hole per 26 acres or approximately 1,000 feet between holes. Area I has been explored with the highest exploration density, 21 core holes on 380 acres. This spacing averages approximately 900 feet between holes.

Core drill and outcrop measurements and geologic and topographic maps have been used to determine reserves.

The density of the bituminous sand or rock asphalt is taken as 148 pounds per cubic foot and that of the bitumen as 83 pounds per cubic foot. Area A (see Exhibit No. 16) contains an indicated tertiary reserve of 30.93 million tons on about 800 acres, as shown by 22 core holes. The essentially horizontal deposit averages 15 feet thick under about 15 feet of overburden and contains 10 gallons per ton or an estimated 309.3 million gallons. The reserve area pinches out or has been faulted off on the north side by the Dog Creek Fault, the Straw Fault, and others. It is bounded on the southwest by its outcrop, on the east by similar beds under excessive overburden, and on the north and south by areas on which no information is available.

750

to

<u>1</u>0

77a

b021

Within Area JK, 61 core holes on 1,523 acres indicate a tertiary reserve of 77.33 million recoverable tons of bituminous sandstone averaging 20 feet thick, with a bitumen content of 10 gallons per ton, under an average of 23 feet of overburden. The deposit outcrops on the east and west. It terminates abruptly on the north near Ridgedale. Cores have failed to show important rock asphalt across the Bee Spring Road to the south.

Area B comprises 416 acres underlain with an estimated 16.1 million tons of 10-gallon-per-ton bituminous sandstone 15 feet in thickness with an average overburden of 20 feet. Seven core holes averaging about 1,600 feet apart and a map of the outcrop infer an indicated tertiary reserve.

Within Area G, an estimated tertiary reserve of 31.9 million tons of bituminous sandstone is inferred from cores about 2,400 feet apart on 283 acres and from other geological evidence. The bitumen content averages 12 gallons per ton. The deposit averages 30 feet thick and lies under about 30 feet of overburden.

The traces of rock asphalt which Bryant (Ref. 2) reports in this area suggest a continuous deposit throughout the area. The deposit occurs in the region of Bee Spring development, but the good exposures within this member are less widely distributed than those of the basal conglomerate. Weller (Ref. 12) states this is probably the result of differences in stratigraphy rather than an indication of a less continuous asphalt-bearing horizon. Where weathering has drawn out the bitumen or covered exposures with talus, the true character of the deposit cannot always be ascertained at the outcrop. The possibility of continuity is supported by the revelation of rock asphalt by core holes in the area.

Within Area N, 258 acres are estimated to contain 10 million tons of bituminous sandstone, averaging 15 feet thick, and under no greater thickness of overburden. The bitumen content is estimated at 10 gallons per ton. The tonnage is estimated chiefly from the persistence of the bed, from outcrop evidence, and from a few specific measurements.

In Area E'F', 560 acres are estimated to contain 21.6 million tons of bituminous sandstone of an average thickness of 15 feet and under less than 15 feet of overburden. The bitumen content is estimated at 15 gallons per ton.

The northern portion of this deposit has been measured closely by core drilling. The estimate is also based on outcrop measurements and assumption of continuity of the deposit throughout the area confined by the outcrop line. The larger portion of the tonnage has been computed, however, from measurements farther apart than 1,200 feet, and the reserve is therefore classified as inferred. Kу

Analyses. (See Exhibit No. 13 for reference 15). The chart below lists abridged results of four analyses of samples taken by the Kentucky Agricultural Experimental Station from Pottsville bituminous sandstone in Edmonson County.

#### Analyses of Samples from Edmonson County Composition of Sample Combust. Screen Analysis of Mineral Matter Residue Matter Solu-Percent of Total bility Residue After Insol. CS2 Moisture Insol. Ignition Retained on Mesh CS2 (Per-Sample (Per-(Per∞ (Per-(Percent) cent) cent) cent) 50 Mesh 60 Mesh No. <u>cen</u>t) 0.2% 92.09% 0.9% 1 6.8% 93.0% 11.5% 51.3% 2 92.4 .2 6.5 93.3 6.3 57.2 。9 3 5ء 7.0 92.5 91.1 1.09 1.7 42.0 •4 4 5.6 94.1 93.3 .75 0.0 56.0

1

y

9 10 021 An unusually coarse-grained sample from the R. Willis farm on the east side of Bear Creek, containing 7.9 percent bitumen soluble in carbon disulfide, showed 78 percent of the separated sand held by the 50 mesh screen and 99 percent held by the 80 mesh screen.

The following complete sieve analysis of six samples of sand from rock asphalt of Edmonson County shows distribution of grain size similar to that of the abridged analyses above.

Composite of Sieve Analyses - 6 Edmonson County Samples

Size of Sieve	Total Percent Retained (Extremes)	Total Percent Retained (Average)
1/4 in.	0.1 - 1.6%	0.7%
No. 4	.2 - 2.6	1.5
8	<u>.6 - 6.0</u>	3.7
40	3.2 <u>-</u> 11.9	8.7
80	52.6 - 66.8	59.5
200	91.2 - 94.1	92.7

The analyses tabulated in Exhibits Nos. 17 and 18, reported by Tyler (Ref. 15), show the physical properties of Edmonson County asphaltic sandstone (Pottsville) as mined and under various conditions of stockpiling. The lack of uniformity in bitumen content and hardness is notable.

The results of tests on four other bitumen samples are shown in Exhibit No. 19.

#### Logan County

Geography and Geology. Logan County deposits are considerably thicker although not as extensive as the Edmonson Pottsville sandstone deposits. They have not been as widely commercialized, although they were the first to be developed.

In the central portion of the county, about 4 to 5 miles northeast of Russellville, near Homer, the Cypress sandstone lies at the surface to form the southeastern fringe of the Chester formation. The area comprises part of a dissected plateau tilted slightly to the northwest. The terrain is one of gentle ridges and meandering valleys with a physical relief of 100 to 150 feet. The Cypress rests on limestone which is exposed at or near the bottoms of the valleys. Karst topography is present and some of the streams disappear into sink holes.

Six known rock asphalt deposits, two of which are probably extensions of two others, have been studied. These occur in the Cypress sandstone within an area of 3 square miles. The bituminous formation is probably larger, but information is lacking outside this area. The deposits appear to lie in four isolated pockets of enrichment.

Reserves. Exhibit No. 20 summarizes and assigns Roman numeral designations to the Logan County reserves.

The highest exploration density is in Area II, with 10 core holes on 205 acres, an average spacing of 900 feet. Of these core holes, 21 are spaced on 555 acres of indicated reserves, an average of 1 per 23 acres, or approximately 1,000 feet between holes.

Assuming recovery of 80 percent of the rock asphalt, indicated tertiary recoverable reserves are 27.8 million tons in 555 acres; inferred tertiary recoverable reserves are 123.5 million tons on 1,698 acres. The deposit is considerably thicker than its overburden.

Adequate topographic coverage and outcrop data are lacking; the estimates rely chiefly on available core drill records. Ky 18( 18) 10 70021

æ

Bitumen content is estimated rather arbitrarily but conservatively. Allowance has been made for mined-out areas.

As in Edmonson County, density in pounds per cubic foot has been taken as 148 for the rock asphalt and 83 for the bitumen.

Within Area II, 10 core holes averaging about 900 feet apart indicate that 205 acres contain a tertiary recoverable reserve of 10.6 million tons of bituminous sandstone averaging 20 feet in thickness under an average of 17 feet of overburden. Bitumen content is about 14.4 gallons per ton.

The outcrop is well marked on the west and thinner but still plain to the south. The deposit probably extends farther to the north than shown.

In Area III, 11 core holes in the 350 acres indicate a tertiary reserve of 17.2 million tons of bituminous sandstone averaging 20 feet in thickness under an equal thickness of overburden and containing about 10 gallons of bitumen per ton.

The deposit outcrops on the south. It probably extends considerably farther than assumed in the other three directions and may constitute a continuation of Area II.

Within Area IV, five core holes about 1,300 feet apart on 191 acres infer a tertiary reserve of 17.3 million tons of 10-gallonper-ton bituminous sandstone averaging 35 feet in thickness under an equal thickness of overburden.

This deposit and the deposit contained in Area V (below) are the thickest known in Kentucky. Area IV has been limited in outline by core drill locations. It may extend further to the north and east but probably does not join other deposits in these directions. It may be cut off to the northwest from Area V by the valley of Mud River.

In Area V, six core holes about 1,800 feet apart on 406 acres infer a tertiary reserve of 36.6 million tons of 10-gallon-perton bituminous sandstone averaging 35 feet in thickness under an average thickness of 27 feet of overburden. The deposit appears to exist as an isolated pocket of enrichment.

Within Area VI, nine core holes about 1,900 feet apart on 715 acres infer a tertiary reserve of 38.8 million tons of 10-gallonper-ton bituminous sandstone averaging 20 feet in thickness under an average thickness of 15 feet of overburden.

The area joins Area VII on the north by a thin neck. It appears to thin out to the west.

Ky 81b 82 10 0021 In Area VII, six core holes about 1,700 feet apart on 386 acres infer a tertiary reserve of 30.9 million tons of 10gallon-per-ton bituminous sandstone averaging 30 feet in thickness under 16 feet of overburden.

Analyses. Samples Nos. 1 to 7 below are from the southern part and Sample No. 8 is from the northern part (near Homer), of the Logan County Cypress bituminous sandstone region:

### Analyses of Samples from Logan County

L

		Compo	sition		S	cree Min	n Ana eral	lysia <u>Matte</u>	s of er
		of S Solu-	ample		P	erce	nt of	f Tota	11 ·
	Moisture	$CS_2$	Residue Insol.	Matter	Ret	aine	d on	Mesh	
Sample No.	(Per- 	(Per- cent)	(Per- cent)	Insol. CS2	<u>20</u>	<u>50</u>	<u>100</u>	200	Passed 200
1	0.1%	6.0%	93.1%	0.8%	0	0	53%	32%	15%
2	.5	8.2	90.8	₅5	0	0	56	35	9
3	.3	7.4	91.8	.5	0	0	49	33	18
4	.1	8.2	90.7	1.0	0	0	55	34	11
5	.2	6.1	93.1	.6	0	0	60	28	12
6	.1	6.5	92.8	.6	0	0	46	35	19
7	.4	7.9	91.3	.4	0	0	44	35	21
8	.5	6.4	92.3	.8	0	0	51	33	16

Detailed analyses of the physical properties of the Logan County bituminous sandstone are not available.

#### NATURAL GAS

The natural gas phase of the investigation included a study of the geology of the gas-bearing formations and of data on natural gas in the State.

The principal oil and gas producing formation areas in Kentucky are of Lower Ordovician age. Formations of Pennsylvanian and Mississippian age make up a large percentage of the area of the State.

The study of the availability and extent of natural gas reserves in Kentucky, as of January 1, 1949, indicated the total remaining recoverable proved gas reserves to be 1,684,300,000 Mcf under standard conditions. However, all gas reserves in Kentucky are under contract for commercial use or will be used in the field.

Based on the foregoing, it appears that none of the natural gas deposits in Kentucky could be considered available reserves for synthetic liquid fuels purposes, as of January 1, 1949, since an adequate reserve must contain at least 225 trillion Btu (225,000,000 Mcf of 1,000 Btu gas) producible within a radius of 40 miles and with a heating value of 400 Btu per cubic foot at standard conditions.

It is therefore concluded that there are no reserves of natural gas in Kentucky available for use as a source of raw materials for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture. New fields and expansion of known fields between January 1, 1949 and the date of this report warrant no change in this conclusion.

Detailed information pertaining to the natural gas survey, and the bases for the conclusions expressed herein, are contained in the report prepared by DeGolyer and MacNaughton, which accompanies this report as Appendix B.

¥

#### OIL SHALE

The oil shale phase of the investigation included a study of the geology of the oil-shale-bearing formations and of assay data on oil shale samples from various localities in Kentucky.

In Kentucky, oil shales occur in the New Albany shale and in shales associated with Pennsylvanian coal-bearing formations.

The study of the nature and extent of oil shale deposits in Kentucky, as of September, 1950, indicated that none of the shales is of sufficient richness and thickness to meet the minimum reserve requirements, which specify an average oil content of at least 15 gallons per ton of oil shale in vertically continuous beds with a minimum thickness of 25 feet and totaling not less than 100,000,000 tons of oil shale within an area not greater than 5 square miles. Also, there is no indication that additional sampling and assaying would reveal the presence of shales of sufficient richness and thickness to meet the minimum reserves requirements.

It is therefore concluded that there are no reserves of oil shale in Kentucky suitable for use as a source of raw materials for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture. No new information nor discovery of additional deposits between September, 1950, and the date of this report warrant any change in this conclusion.

Detailed information pertaining to the oil shale survey, and the bases for the conclusions expressed herein, are contained in the report prepared by DeGolyer and MacNaughton, which accompanies this report as Appendix C.

Кy

.

185

15. 70021

#### WATER SUPPLY

#### Hydrological Features

Coal reserves in sufficient quantity for producing 1,696,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels daily by the coal synthine process over a 40-year period are found in 16 General Areas of Coal Availability in Kentucky. The greatest concentrations of coal reserves are in nine General Areas in the extreme southeast section of the State; the remaining seven General Areas are in the west. Locations of the General Areas and their relation to available water resources are shown on Echibit No. 21. The 16 General Areas are listed as follows:

General Areas of Coal Availability in Kentucky

Eastern Kentucky

Johnson-Magoffin Pike Floyd-Magoffin Knott-Breathitt Perry-Breathitt Leslie-Harlan Northern Letcher Harlan-Letcher Bell Western Kentucky

Daviess Henderson Union Webster Hopkins-Christian Muhlenberg-McLean Ohio

The average annual rainfall in Kentucky is 45 inches, ranging from 40 inches in the northern tip of the State to more 50 inches in the south-central section. The lowest annual rainfall of record, amounting to 28 inches, was in 1930; the year of greatest rainfall was 1890 with a precipitation of 58 inches. The occurrence of rainfall, however, is fairly regular with relatively higher precipitation during the winter and spring months.

Most of the State of Kentucky drains to the northwest through tributaries of the Ohio River. The south-central part of the State is drained by the Cumberland River into Tennessee and thence northwest into the Ohio River near Paducah. Annual runoff averages about 18 inches and varies from less than 14 inches or 1 cfs per square mile of drainage area in the western portion of the State, to more than 21 inches or 1.6 cfs per square mile of drainage area in the mountainous eastern regions. The coal-bearing areas in the western part of the State lie in gently rolling country, rural in nature, with very few large cities. The eastern coal fields are in the sparsely populated mountainous sections, where there is little activity other than coal mining.

0021

86a

У

.

#### Water Requirements for Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plants

<u>Quantity of Water Needed</u>. The total quantities of water required, both for plant use and for domestic supply in the plantcity serving a synthetic liquid fuels unit project, have been estimated to be:

#### Water Requirements for Unit Projects

	Make	-up	Consu	uned	Retu	rned
	Mgđ	Cfs	Mgd	Cfs	Mgd	Cfs
Hydrogenation: Plant Use Domestic Supply	7.29 1,73	11.28 2.68	5.36 0.43	8.29 0.67	1.93 <u>1.30</u>	2.99 2.01
Total	9.02	13.96	5.79	8.96	3.23	5.00
Coal Synthine: Plant Use Domestic Supply	11.15 <u>1.94</u>	17.25 <u>3.00</u>	7.71 0.49	11.93 0.76	3.44 1.45	5.32 <u>2,24</u>
Total	13.09	20.25	8.20	12.69	4.89	7.56

<u>Process Supply.</u> It is obvious that the water requirements for any specific project would depend upon the choice of manufacturing process, being 45 percent greater for the coal synthine process. However, water costs represent in the neighborhood of only 1 percent of the total cost of products, exclusive of return on investment. Therefore, it appears desirable to adopt the coal synthine process requirements as the basis for estimated of water quantities and costs.

A detailed statement of the coal synthine process water requirement is given in Exhibit No. 22. This shows most of the plant use of water to be for cooling purposes. The estimates assume recirculation of cooling water through cooling towers, which practice would reduce the quantity taken from the water source to about one-eighteenth of the amount otherwise necessary.

Once-through cooling, without recirculation, might be feasible for a relatively small development located on the bank of a large river. Elsewhere in Kentucky, the stream flows are inadequate and the cost of delivering large quantities of water to a remote site would be prohibitive. In general, the cost of hauling coal is relatively so great that the plants would be located near the coal mines rather than along the rivers. In the State, most of

7002

Ky

186

the assumed plant sites are at considerable distances from the large rivers; only two sites are within 2 miles of such streams. At these locations, in Henderson and Hopkins-Christian General Areas, on the Ohio River, detailed comparison of once-through and recirculated water cooling systems, with allowances for different process costs, might prove once-through cooling more economical. Since the cost differential, in any event, would not be large, cost estimates in this report are based upon use of recirculated water.

Water requirements for mining are small and nonconsumptive; they are not included in the foregoing tabulation.

In estimating water supplies for the General Areas of coal Availability and in making provisions for other water demands, total plant requirements have been used without allowance for water returned to the stream as possible waste or sewage. Such waste water might be returned at a considerable distance from the point of withdrawal and might be less satisfactory for some purposes than natural water from the stream.

Water consumption data and cost estimates are based upon average annual values. During summer months, cooling requirements might increase because of higher water intake temperatures but probably would have only slight effect in a plant recirculating its water through cooling towers. In preparing cost estimates, works large enough to take care of estimated peak summer demands have been assumed.

The amount of water required for complete development of the fuel resources of each of the General Areas of Coal Availability in Kentucky varies with the coal reserves available. It ranges from 18 cfs in the Daviess General Area to 794 cfs in the Pike General Area. The total quantity required for concurrent full development in all 16 General Areas within the State would be 3,434 cfs or 2,219 mgd, which amount of water is considered available.

Domestic Supply. The water necessary for domestic supply is affected not only by the total number of workers (determined by the choice of process) but also by the portion of those workers for which housing would be required in the project's plantcity. Again, in view of the very small relative cost of water as compared with other items contributing to total products cost, variations in conditions affecting domestic water supply requirements are relatively unimportant. In Kentucky, a per capita allowance of 150 gallons per day has been made uniformly for the population of the plant-city. For the purpose of the water supply study, such population is taken to be five times the number of plant workers and mine personnel. For the coal synthine process, this amounts to 12,955 persons.

)021

1

**ζy\*** 

187b

<u>188a</u> 4

Quality of Water Needed. Process water must be relatively clear and free from turbidity and substances that would clog condenser tubes, cooling towers, and other equipment. The dissolved solids content is not of major importance, except that a high concentration would require frequent blowdown of cooling towers and boilers and would increase the amount of make-up water. Boiler feed waters must be free or organic matter and insoluble solids, and suitable for softening.

Water for drinking and sanitary purposes at the mines and plants, and in the communities serving the developments, would have to be potable and of quality'satisfactory to the public health authority of the State. Water softening might be justified for domestic use.

#### Water Resources

The water resources of Kentucky consist principally of the Ohio River and its many tributaries, which as a group drain 97 percent of the State. Over a length of 664 miles, the Ohio River forms Kentucky's northern boundary and it is estimated that more than onethird of the total population of the State lives within a few miles of the river.

Water supplies for synthetic liquid fuels projects could be developed from the Ohio River and tributary streams. There is very little coal along the river itself and, therefore, much of the development would naturally be at some distance, principally in the eastern part of the State. Although large ground water supplies have been developed in the alluvial deposits along the Ohio River, suitable aquifers are not available in most of the mountain tributaries and practically all of the large cities and industries away from the Ohio River use surface water supplies.

The principal references consulted in the course of the survey for statistical and technical information in conjunction with the water supply section of this report are listed in the Water Resources Bibliography, Exhibit No. 23. Acknowledgments to individuals and agencies who cooperated in furnishing technical information and assistance are presented in Exhibit No. 24.

Surface Water. The potential sources of water supply in Ohio for synthetic liquid fuels production are treated in the following order; main stem of the Ohio River, Ohio River tributaries, and ground water.

152

188b 189a 4

70021

Ky

Ohio River, Main Stem. The Ohio River, draining approximately 203,900 square miles, is one of the largest rivers in the country. Characteristic flows in Kentucky are summarized in the following table:

> Characteristic Flows of the Ohio River in Kentucky

	Gaging Station		
	Huntington, West Virginia	Louisville, Kentucky	
Drainage Area, Sq Mi	55,900	91,170	
Period of Record	1935 - 1947	1929 - 1947 (A)	
Mean Flow, Cfs	76,450	110,300	
Minimum Annual Flow, Cfs	53,060	60,458	
Year of Occurrence	1941	1931	
Minimum Monthly Flow, Cfs	7,343	4,400	
Month of Occurrence	Sept. 1946	Oct. 1930	
Minimum Daily Flow, Cfs	3,200	2,100	
Date of Occurrence	Sept. 6, 1934 (B)	Oct. 12, 1930	

Note: (A) 1929-1935 data from Corps of Engineers (B) Also 9/13/34, 11/2/34, 10/3/35, 10/1/37

The minimum monthly flows of record in the Ohio River occurred in 1930. Regulating reservoirs have been constructed since 1930; and it is estimated that under existing conditions, the minimum monthly flow at Evansville would be approximately 6,800 cfs. The regulating reservoirs have also reduced the severity of the minimum monthly flows. The critical flow conditions of the Ohio River at several gaging stations along its course, are shown on Exhibit No. 25.

The Ohio River is an important link in the transportation system of the country. Locks and dams maintain a 9-foot navigation channel throughout the length of the river. Most of the larger cities along its course obtain their public water supplies from the Ohio River. Of these, only Henderson, Ky., and Evansville, Ind., are near the western coal field in Kentucky. At Henderson, a population of 20,000 persons uses approximately 4.5 mgd. At Evansville, a population of 116,000 uses 18 mgd. Ohio River water is used extensively for industrial plants. Such water uses are largely nonconsumptive and the water finds its way back into the streams either as sewage or as industrial waste. Therefore, the existing uses would

Ky 189b to <u>191a</u> 15, 70021 have no serious effect on the availability of water for synthetic liquid fuels plants.

Daviess, Henderson, and Union General Areas in the western part of Kentucky border on the Ohio River. It is expected, however, that a water supply for a synthetic liquid fuels plant in Daviess General Area could be developed from the Green River at less cost than from the Ohio River. Water for the other two Areas would be pumped directly from the river. Webster General Area is at some distance from the Ohio River, and it would be necessary to pump water from there to this area for concurrent full development of the coal reserves.

Adequate water supplies are available locally in most of the Areas to take care of unit plants or moderately larger production. However, if all of the coal resources in the Hopkins-Christian General Area were developed, local sources would be inadequate and an additional supply from the Ohio River would be necessary. Similarly, full development of the coal resources in Pike General Area in the eastern part of Kentucky would require so much water that it would be necessary to build a long pipe line to the Ohio River.

Full development of the coal resources in the General Areas of western Kentucky to be served from the Ohio River would require a total water supply of 859 cfs, or approximately 12 percent of the monthly low flow of the Ohio River with present regulation. During periods of low flow, diversion of this quantity would have no effect upon navigation and little on the concentration of wastes. At other times, more than enough water would be available in the river. Therefore, it is assumed that for all practical purposes, the four western General Areas could be supplied without the construction of storage reservoirs. Similarly, a total potential demand of 794 cfs in Pike General Area could be met from the Ohio River, but if water were required for both eastern and western Kentucky General Areas at the same time, additional storage would be needed. Other water supply systems drawing from the tributaries of the Ohio River for synthetic liquid fuels plants would include storage reservoirs and would have no effect upon the low flows of the main stem. The relation of large-scale water needs to the water available in the Ohio River basin are discussed further under the heading "Relation of Water Needs for a Major Synthetic Liquid Fuels Development to Water Available in the Ohio River Basin".

Tributaries of the Ohio River. The principal tributaries of the Ohio River beginning with the Big Sandy River in the eastern part of the State, are noted below with their total drainage areas:

River	Drainage Area (Square Miles)
Big Sandy River	4,281
Licking River	3,655 6 949
Green River	9,222
Tradewater River	1,008
Cumberland River	18,080

Water supplies for the nine eastern General Areas would logically be obtained from Levisa Fork of the Big Sandy River, Licking River, Kentucky River, or Cumberland River. Water supplies for the western General Areas, not pumped from the Ohio River, probably would be obtained from tributaries of the Green River or Tradewater River. The stream flow characteristics of these rivers are shown by the summary of stream gaging data for representative stations in the following table:

#### Runoff Characteristics of Principal Kentucky Rivers

	Gaging Station				
	Levisa Fork at Paints- ville	Kentucky River at Heidelberg (at Lock 14)	Kentucky River near Winchester	Green River at Livermore	
Drainage Area, Sq Mi Period of Record	2,143 1930-48	2,648 1926-31 1939-47	3,960 1910-48	7,580 1931-48	
Mean Flow, Cfs (A) Mean Flow, Cfs per Sq Mi	2,176 1.02	3,293 1.24	5,044 1.27	9,824 1.30	
Minimum Annual Flow, Cfs Year of Occurrence	720 1941	1,494 1941	1,983 1941	3 <b>,3</b> 90 1931	
Minimum Monthly Flow, Cfs Month of Occurrence	11 Oct.1930	9 Sept. 1930	15 Oct. 1930	318 Oct.1930	
Minimum Daily Flow, Cfs Date of Occurrence	8.4 July 25, 1930	6 Oct.1631 1930	9 Sept.20-24 1930	280 Frequent	

	Tradewater	Cumberland	Cumberland
	River at	River near	River at
	Olney	Harlan	Cumberland Falls
Drainage Area, Sq Mi Period of Record	255 1941-47(B)	374 1941-47	1,997 1908-11 1916-31 (C) 1933-48
Mean Flow, Cfs (A)	250	594	3,098
Mean Flow, Cfs per Sq Mi	0.98	1.59	1.55
Minimum Annual Flow, Cfs	61.6	293	1,423
Year of Occurrence	1941	1941	1941
Minimum Monthly Flow, Cfs	0	19.6	23
Month of Occurrence	Oct. 1940	Oct. 1940	Sept. 1925
Minimum Daily Flow, Cfs Date of Occurrence	0 Frequent	6.7 July 31, 1945	9 Sept.18-20, 1932

Note: (A) Flow records obtained from U.S. Geological Survey Water Supply Papers, except as noted.

- (B) Flow for 1930 of Tradewater River near Dalton (gage located 1-1/2 miles upstream from Donaldson Creek Drainage area = 284 sq mi) was used for mass diagram but is not in records shown here.
- (C) Flow of water, year 1932, was estimated and included in the record.

<u>194a</u> 4

Ку

193b

It will be noted from the preceding table, that, while the average flows of many of the rivers are large, the annual flows during dry years are comparatively small and that the minimum daily or monthly flows are extremely small, except in the case of the Green River. From this table, it is evident that very few of the rivers or their tributaries would furnish a year-round supply of water adequate for one or more synthetic liquid fuels unit plants, unless storage reservoirs were provided to furnish the water needed during periods of low flow. Therefore, in determining water supply systems required for synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky, it has been necessary to consider possible reservoir locations and the safe yield that could be obtained by developing several of the tributary streams.

The capacity of reservoirs needed for development of the tributary streams has been estimated from the stream flow records during the driest period of record. Mass diagrams and storage yield curves were prepared for the streams studied. Those for the Levisa Fork River at Paintsville, Kentucky, and for the Green River at Livermore, Kentucky, are shown on Exhibits Nos. 26 and 27, respectively. Ten-day hydrographs of the Levisa Fork at Paintsville and the Green River at Livermore are shown on Exhibits Nos. 28 and 29, respectively.

The economic development of drainage areas in Kentucky would range between 0.6 and 0.8 cfs per square mile of drainage area, and between 330 and 720 AF of storage would be required for each square mile of drainage area impounded. These estimates are based on the assumption that it would not be economical to develop a stream to the point that the reservoir would be drawn down for a period exceeding 2 years.

It would not be possible, in general, to divert or store the full flow of a river or stream. Although there may be no substantial existing downstream water uses, some minimum flow would certainly be required to satisfy the lower riparian owners. In estimating storage requirements, the minimum flow below which water would not be withdrawn for synthetic liquid fuels plants is taken as that flow which has been exceeded 90 percent of the time. This flow is defined as the control flow and its application may be illustrated by an example:

The average flow of the Cumberland River at Cumberland Falls, Kentucky, is 3,098 cfs, or 1.55 cfs per square mile of drainage area. The duration curve of the flows at this station shows that during 90 percent of the time, the flow has exceeded 100 cfs, or 0.05 cfs per square mile of drainage area. Therefore, it is assumed that no water from the river would be diverted into storage or used at a synthetic liquid fuels plant water works whenever the natural stream flow fell below 0.05 cfs per square mile of drainage area. At such times, the synthetic liquid fuels

у

940

95a

4

0021

۶.

demand would be met from a reservoir and the natural flow of the stream would be permitted to pass through unchanged. However, in estimating reservoir capacity, no allowance has been made for increasing the natural flow in excess of water supply requirements. The mass diagrams of monthly runoff have been adjusted by deducting the control flow in each case.

Available water supplies and required storage have been estimated from stream flow records of the U.S. Geological Survey in the general vicinity of the coal areas in Kentucky. The flows at seven gaging stations in the State with records of at least 7 years duration and some as long as 39 years were studied. These stations are listed in the preceding table. The studies showed that the most severe dry spell occurred during the 1930-32 drought, and it is reasonable to assume that runoff upon which storage requirements are based is as critical as any likely to be experienced in a 50-year period; see Exhibit No. 30 for stream flow information in the state. On streams for which there are no adequate runoff data, storage estimates were based on data for the most comparable of adjacent streams. In these analyses, it is assumed that the runoff per square mile of drainage area at any given time is constant throughout the basin, and equals the runoff per square mile at the gaging station used. This assumption is not entirely correct inasmuch as there are variations in runoff within basins, and from one basin to another, but it is sufficiently accurate for purposes of this report. Sites for the proposed reservoirs were selected to provide drainage areas sufficient to provide water for at least one synthetic liquid fuels unit plant. A drainage area of at least 25 square miles with a yield of 0.8 cfs per square mile is needed to furnish water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day plant. Smaller drainage areas could be combined to furnish water for one unit plant, but normally this would not be economical. The drainage areas and reservoir sites were sketched out on U.S. Geological Survey topographic maps and the areas determined by planimeter.

The reservoir capacities determined from the mass diagram were increased by allowances for evaporation and for siltation. The evaporation during a 2 year period of depletion has been calculated as 24 inches times the surface area of the reservoir when two-thirds full. The allowance for silt deposition has been estimated over a period of 40 years at the rate of 0.2 AF per square mile of tributary drainage area. Siltation is not serious in this. part of the country, and the capacity required for silt deposition from a drainage area of 25 square miles would be only 200 AF. It is recognized that the quantity of silt carried varies with different streams, and that in general, the silt deposition per square mile of drainage area is less for large drainage areas than for small. However, for the drainage areas considered, the uniform allowance is believed sufficiently accurate. The total storage, including allowances for evaporation and silting, for a 10,000barrel-per-day plant ranges from 9,300 to 25,000 AF.

¥a.

Ky 195

1978

Existing water uses and the possible development of each of the tributary streams for synthetic liquid fuels purposes are summarized in the following paragraphs:

Levisa Fork of the Big Sandy River. Levisa Fork drains the four General Areas in eastern Kentucky having the largest coal resources in the State, Johnson-Magoffin, Pike, Floyd-Magoffin, and Knott-Breathitt General Areas. Levisa Fork joins Tug Fork at Louisa, Kentucky, where together they form the Big Sandy River, only 27 miles from the Ohio River. Levisa Fork rises in southwestern Virginia and flows through the eastern Kentucky coal areas. The drainage basin is generally rugged, the terrain mountainous, and the streams flow through narrow steep valleys. The basin is sparsely settled; principal towns are Pikesville, Prestonsburg, and Paintsville.

The lower section of the Big Sandy River is improved for navigation with three locks and dams between Louisa and the mouth of the river; there is one lock each on Levisa Fork and Tug Fork a few miles upstream from Louisa. Levisa Fork is used as the source of public water supply by approximately 12,000 persons, including the two largest communities of the region, Paintsville and Pikesville.

The Corps of Engineers has studied five reservoir sites for flood control and power generation on Levisa Fork. Dewey Reservoir, already built on Johns Creek, and the proposed Fishtrap Reservoir are in Kentucky; the other sites are in Virginia. Dewey Reservoir controls a drainage area of 207 square miles and has a total storage capacity of 88,000 AF, equivalent to 8 inches of runoff from the drainage area. The reservoir is formed by an earthfill dam 118 feet high. The Fishtrap Reservoir project on Levisa Fork has been authorized, but work has not been started. This dam is planned as a concrete gravity dam 161 feet high, impounding a reservoir with a capacity of 126,000 AF, equivalent to 6 inches of runoff from a drainage area of 395 square miles.

Water supplies for Johnson-Magoffin, Pike, Floyd -Magoffin, and Knott-Breathitt General Areas could be obtained by constructing reservoirs on the tributaries of Levisa Fork, by increasing the capacity of Dewey Reservoir, or by utilizing storage that might be made available from the conservation pools of the other proposed reservoirs. The coal resources of the four General Areas would support, for 40 years, the production of 678,000 barrels per day of synthetic liquid fuels which would require a total water supply of 1,373 cfs. Of this total requirement, approximately 375 cfs could be obtained from the tributaries of Levisa Fork. The remainder would have to be either from the North Fork of the Kentucky River or from the Ohio River. In these calculations, sufficient water is reserved for a unit plant development further upstream on Levisa Fork in Virginia.

)02¥

ζy

197b

I

Licking River. The Licking River lies to the southwest of Big Sandy River and flows northwest into the Ohio River. It rises near Salyersville, in Magoffin County and empties into the Ohio River at Covington, Ky., opposite Cincinnati, Ohio. The Licking River has a total drainage area of 3,655 square miles and meanders through a narrow drainage basin about 140 miles long. The terrain ranges from rolling to mountainous; short steep tributary streams produce a rapid runoff and low flows during dry periods. The basin is devoted predominantly to agriculture except for some mining operations in the upper portion. The principal towns in the upper basin are Salyersville and West Liberty. The Licking River has not been improved for navigation or any other purposes except for municipal water supplies serving approximately 36,000 persons.

The Licking River is at some distance from the assumed plant sites in Johnson-Magoffin, Pike, and Floyd-Magoffin General Areas, and probably would not be used as a source of water supply, except perhaps in the event of large scale development of the coal resources in eastern Kentucky.

Kentucky River. The Kentucky River is formed by the junction near Beattyville, Kentucky, of North Fork, Middle Fork, and South Fork, of which the North Fork is much the largest. The total drainage area of the Kentucky River is 6,949 square miles. Its basin ranges from the mountainous area in the headwaters to the relatively flat tableland of the Blue Grass region, where the river flows through a deep gorge with limestone cliffs rising to as much as 300 feet. The economy of the basin is predominantly agricultural, except in the mountainous sections where mining and lumbering are important. Principal cities and towns in the upper watershed are Whitesburg, Hazard, Jackson, and Beattyville.

The Kentucky River is improved for navigation with 14 locks and dams from near the mouth almost to Beattyville. These provide a minimum channel depth of 6 feet for a distance of 280 miles upstream from the mouth. The only two existing hydroelectric projects on the Kentucky River system are in the lower basin, considerably removed from any General Areas of Coal Availability. They are on the Dix River and on the main Kentucky River at Lock and Dam No. 7. The Dix River installation consists of a rock-fill dam 270 feet high, storing 30,000 AF of water and having an installed capacity of 22,500 kw. The development is owned by the Kentucky Utilities Co. of Louisville. The installation at Dam No. 7 is a run-of-river plant automatically controlled from the Dix River station with a total capacity of 2,040 kw.

Two flood control reservoirs have been considered for construction on the Kentucky River. The Jessamine Reservoir, controlling a drainage area of 4,440 square miles, is authorized as a flood control reservoir and a 13,900-kw hydroelectric power installation has been considered for the site. The total storage proposed is 1,135,000 AF, which would provide a pool extending upstream to navigation Dam No. 14, 6 miles below Beattyville.

The Booneville Reservoir, impounding a drainage area of 697 square miles is proposed for construction at a site less than 1 mile above the town of Booneville on the South Fork of the Kentucky to

201a
The reservoir would have a total capacity of 485,000 AF, River. part of which would be used for maintaining a dry weather flow of 410 cfs for power purposes. The installed capacity of the proposed power plant would be approximately 7,300 kw. Construction of either reservoir is not anticipated in the immediate future. None of the tributaries of the Kentucky River has sufficient natural flow during periods of drought to furnish water supplies for synthetic liquid fuels production; storage reservoirs would be re-These reservoirs would either supply water directly to auired. the plant or would be used for supplementing low flows of the river further downstream. On the basis of storage studies, it is estimated that a yield of 0.8 cfs per square mile could be obtained economically in the upper Kentucky River basin by building approximately 570 AF of storage per square mile of tributary drainage area.

Water supplies for Perry-Breathitt, Leslie-Harlan, and Northern Letcher General Areas would logically be developed on the Kentucky River or its tributaries. If the coal reserves in all three General Areas should be fully developed, a total water supply of 375 cfs would be required. Development of a water supply of this size would require reservoirs on the Middle and North Forks of the Kentucky River with a total storage capacity of 251,000 AF.

<u>Cumberland River</u>. The Cumberland River rises in Letcher County on the Kentucky-Virginia boundary. It follows a winding course, swinging south into Tennessee and then back north to cross Kentucky parallel to the Tennessee River and not very far from it. The topography of the upper part of the Basin in eastern Kentucky is extremely rugged with tributary streams running through the deep narrow, crocked valleysof a mountainous region. The principal tributaries in the eastern part of Kentucky are Laurel and Rock Castle Rivers, and the South Fork of the Cumberland River. The principal towns and cities in this part of the basin are Harlan, Middlesboro, Barbourville, and Williamsburg. Coal mining is the only industry of consequence in the upper part of the basin.

The lower Cumberland River has been improved for navigation with a minimum channel depth of 6 feet from its mouth to some distance beyond Nashville, Tennessee. Cumberland River water is used for water supply purposes at Williamsburg and Harlan, serving a total population of 9,500 persons. A comprehensive program of flood control, navigation, and hydroelectric power generation has been developed by the Corps of Engineers for the lower Cumberland River basin. Construction of some of the dams and power houses has been completed, and work on some of the others is underway. No comparable program has been initiated for the upper basin.

Water supply for Harlan-Letcher and Bell General Areas would logically be obtained from the Cumberland River basin. Supplies adequate for unit plants in each General Area would have no appreciable effect upon the flows of the river. The maximum potential water requirements for synthetic liquid fuels plantsign these two General Areas estimated at 403 cfs, which quantity of water could be provided from impoundments on tributary streams providing reservoir capacity of 282,200 AF. The most economical water supply system for synthetic liquid fuels plants at the locations selected in Harlan-Letcher and Bell General Areas would include small reservoirs on local tributary streams; there would be no depletion of the natural stream flow during periods of extreme

70021

Ky 🔊

201b

to

203a

drought. On the whole, these small reservoirs would be beneficial to the lower basin and water supplies for synthetic liquid fuels plants, therefore, would have no detrimental effect upon power generation or other present water uses in the valley.

Green River. The Green River, rising in central Kentucky, flows west for 200 miles before turning northwest to empty into the Ohio River. Its principal tributaries are the Barren, Nolin, Rough, Mud, and Pond Rivers. The Green River basin comprises about one-quarter of the total area of Kentucky. The topography is rolling and uneven, and many of its river channels are deeply cut. Characteristic of the basin are the limestone caverns and solution channels in the underground formations. There are many large subsurface streams such as the Lost River near Bowling Green. Springs are numerous in the area and are important in sustaining the low flows of the Green River.

Farming is the principal occupation in this area although there is some mining and manufacturing. The principal towns and cities are Leitchfield, Brownsville, Bowling Green, Central City, Greenville, Madisonville, Calhoun, and Livermore. The Green River and its tributaries are used as a source of municipal water supply by more than 50,000 persons in several communities, the largest of which is Bowling Green. The river has been improved for navigation with six locks and dams providing slackwater pools with a minimum channel depth of 5 feet from the mouth to Mammoth Cave near Brownsville. One lock and dam on Barren River provides navigation with a 5-foot channel depth as far as Bowling Green; another on Rough River provides navigation up to Hartford. There has been no development of hydroelectric power in the Green River basin.

Navigation requirements for leakage and lockages in the river are estimated at about 25 cfs, or 16 mgd. Municipal water requirements average approximately 3 mgd. Reduction of river flows below present minimums might cause some nuisance by interfering with the dilution of sewage. In a 1943 report entitled, "Ohio River Pollution Control", the U.S. Public Health Service stated that primary treatment combined with dilution should be sufficient to maintain satisfactory stream conditions along the Green River. Stream flow records of the Corps of Engineers show that the minimum monthly average rate of flow at Green River, Kentucky, about 9 river miles upstream from Rockport was 385 cfs during the period 1900-1943 inclusive. Instantaneous discharges as low as 30 cfs have been recorded at Lock No. 4, Green River. The District Office of the Corps of Engineers has indicated that the ordinary low flow is ample to sustain navigation and that the 20 cfs demand for a single 10,000barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels plant in each of the three General Areas below Rockport could be met from the river without difficulty.

The Green River would be the logical source of water supply for unit plant developments in Daviess, Muhlenberg-McLean, Ohio General Areas. If the coal resources in the General Areas should be developed fully, a total of 426 cfs would be required. This represents a substantial part of the total flow in the river during extreme low flow periods and it would be necessary to provide storage reservoirs for any such large-scale development. From storage studies of the Green River and its tributaries, it is estimated that Ky

203b

to

205a

water developments up to 0.8 cfs per square mile of tributary drainage area with storage of 615 AF per square mile would be economically feasible, and that sufficient water could be obtained. In making these estimates, it has been assumed that the control flow of 0.09 cfs per square mile, or 680 cfs at Livermore, Kentucky, would be provided for downstream water users. This is many times the present requirements for navigation and pollution abatement needs.

Several sites for the construction of impounding reservoirs are available in the upper Green River watershed. Representative sites are listed in Exhibit No. 31 and shown on Exhibit No. 21. Detailed surveys and investigations of foundation conditions would be particularly necessary in the eastern part of the drainage basin where leakage through the underlying limestone might require costly cutoff works or might altogether preclude construction.

<u>Tradewater River</u>. The Tradewater River is a relatively small stream lying immediately north of the Cumberland River with a total drainage area of 1,008 square miles. Only short records of its stream flow are available but in 1940, the flow fell to zero during the entire month of October. From the mass diagram studies, it has been determined that the economical limit for development of the Tradewater River is approximately 0.6 cfs per square mile, requiring a storage of 510 AF per square mile of tributary drainage area.

There has been no development of the Tradewater River other than for municipal water supply purposes in two communities serving less than 10,000 persons. The Tradewater River would be the logical source of supply for unit plants or relatively small developments in Webster and Hopkins-Christian General Areas. Full development of the coal resources in Hopkins-Christian General Area would require more water than is available in the Tradewater River and it would be necessary to extend a pipeline from the Ohio River.

Ground Water. Kentucky can be divided into seven distinct physiographic regions, as indicated by the diagram shown on Exhibit No. 32.

The western coal field region, embracing most of Daviess, Henderson, Union, Webster, Hopkins-Christian, Muhlenberg-McLean, and Ohio General Areas, is underlain by sandstones, coals, shales, and some limestones, the latter usually not more than 5 feet in thickness. Most of the shales and the masses of sandstone have large quantities of ground water, but since the joint system of the areas is the controlling factor in the location of ground water supplies, the finding of large quantities is a matter of chance. Many oil and gas wells have been drilled in the region, and the logs of these wells often show the presence of large quantities of ground water. However, the ready availability of surface supplies and the element of chance in obtaining ground water eliminated ftofrom consideration in these General Areas.

)5b

DO21

The Eastern Kentucky coal field, or the Cumberland Plateau, is similar, geologically speaking to the Western Kentucky coal field, as is shown in the cross section of the State on Exhibit No. 32. This portion of the State is underlain by sandstones, conglomerates, coals, shales, and some localized thin layers of limestones. Joints and bedding plains have undergone no solutional development, but they do traverse each formation in many directions. Since good well development depends upon the size and number of fractures encountered as well as the interconnections between interstices, although there is sufficient supply of ground water for small communities and individuals, conditions are not suitable for the development of large municipal or industrial supplies.

The Ohio River valley extends for 664 miles along the entire northern boundary of the State. At the close of the last glacial age, a 100-foot deep valley cut in the bedrock was filled with gravel and sand, and it is over this material that the Ohio River flows today. Immense quantities of ground water are available in these unconsolidated materials. Most of the recharge of this underground reservoir comes from the ground water in the formations making up the sides of the valley, although under flood conditions, the direction of flow might be reversed. In areas of heavy pumping, such as Louisville, where large quantities are drawn from wells for industrial purposes, this is the case, and the well water is a mixture of water from the river and from the ground.

Because of this and because at best the production of multi-million-gallon ground water supplies contains grave elements of chance, estimates for water supplies for the General Areas near, the Ohio River are based on surface water intakes.

The region lying between the Tennessee and Mississippi Rivers is known as the Jackson Purchase. The artesian supplies available there and in the large subterranean streams of the Pennyroyal Plateau provide the most abundant ground water in the interior of Kentucky. The outer Blue Grass and Lexington Plains regions have poor potential ground water supplies.

Water Quality. Typical analyses of surface waters from the several rivers in or near the General Areas of Coal Availability are shown on Exhibit No. 33. It will be noted from these analyses that the water is quite clear with low turbidities, and that the dissolved solids concentration generally does not exceed 250 ppm. The water is well-suited for industrial and domestic water supply purposes. Some of the small streams in the coal-bearing areas become quite acid during periods of low flow, and the presence of iron would require treatment in some cases. Increased coal mining for synthetic liquid fuels production would aggravate the acid mine drainage problem, unless steps were taken to control it. The river waters could be used

207

208a 4

for cooling without treatment. It is expected that filtration would be required for the domestic water supplies and for some minor industrial purposes in all Areas. Boiler feed waters would have to be softened.

Where ground waters might be available in the General Areas, they are normally quite hard and more highly mineralized than the surface waters. Analyses of ground water typical of the Ohio River valley are included on Exhibit No. 34 but no other areas are included, since in general, they are relatively unimportant and the variable quality cannot be indicated by representative analyses.

### Water Rights

¥

Ky

208b to

<u>211a</u>

The common law doctrine of water rights is applicable to surface and ground waters in Kentucky. The common law doctrine for surface waters, also termed the riparian rights doctrine, accords to each owner of land contiguous to a stream the right to make whatever use of the water he requires for domestic purposes and the watering of livestock, and to make such use of the water for irrigation or other purposes (such as manufacturing) as is reasonable with regard to like reasonable uses by all other owners of land riparian to the same stream.

The common law, or old English law, for ground waters, is based upon the principle that the owner of land is also the owner of all water underlying his realty. The land owner is, therefore, entitled to withdraw such subsurface waters without hindrance and regardless of the effect such withdrawal would have on surrounding territory.

Kentucky, at present, has no regulations concerning the utilization of surface or ground waters. The Game and Fish Commission does require that fish ladders be erected and maintained during April, May, and June of each year in order that fish be permitted to pass over dams.

The State Department of Health maintains supervision over public water supplies and industrial supplies used for drinking. Plans and specifications must be submitted to and approved by the Department for such works.

Water Available for Synthetic Liquid Fuels Manufacture

4 The sources of water that might be developed for synthetic liquid fiels plants for each of the 16 General Areas of Coal Avail-0021 ability in Kentucky are shown in Exhibit No. 35. Sufficient water for at least one 10,000-barrel-per-day plant in each General Area, 20 cfs, can be obtained locally or within reasonable distance from the assumed plant site, and each General Area may therefore be classified as a General Area of Coal and Water Availability.

In 2 of the 16 General Areas, water could be obtained for a synthetic liquid fuels unit plant directly from the Ohio River. In an additional 3 of the 16 General Areas, water could be obtained for a synthetic liquid fuels unit plant directly from the Green River, In all other instances, storage to impound wet weather runoffs would be required.

The sources of water for a representative water supply development for one 10,000-barrel-per-day plant in each of the 16 General Areas are summarized below:

Sources of Water for One 10,000-Barrel-per-day Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant in Each of 16 General Areas in Kentucky

	Water Supply					
Source	No. of General Areas	Cfs	Mgd	Percent of Total		
Ohio River	2	40	26	12.5%		
Cumberland River and Tributaries	2	40	26	12.5		
Tradewater River and Tributaries	2	41	27	13.0		
Green River (A)	3	59	38	18.3		
Kentucky River and Tributaries	3	61	39	18.7		
Levisa Fork and Tributaries		81	52	25.0		
Total	16	322	208	100.0%		

Note: (A) Only 29,000 Barrels capacity in 3 initial plants.

If the coal resources in Kentucky were fully developed, 1,696,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels could be produced daily and 3,434 cfs of water would be required. As summarized from Exhibit No. 35, the water might be obtained from the following sources:

> Ký 211b 212a 4 70021

Synthetic Liquid Fuels Resc	ources in Kent	ucky	
	W	ater Su	.pply _
Source	Cfs	Mgd	Percent of Total
Ohio River Cumberland River and Tributaries Green River Kentucky River and Tributaries Levisa Fork and Tributaries	1,653 403 425 574 379	1,068 260 275 371 245	48.1% 11.7 12.4 16.7 11.1
Total	3,434	2,219	100.0%

Sources of Water Required for Full Development of

It must be recognized that the extremely large quantity of water indicated above as being obtained from the Ohio River would require reservoirs on its tributaries to augment the flow of the river during dry periods.

### Relation of Water Needs for a Major Synthetic Liquid Fuels Development to Water Available in the Ohio River Basin

There are eight states having sufficient coal reserves in the Ohio River basin for a synthetic liquid fuels development. While it is unlikely that a large-scale development using all of the coal resources would take place throughout the Ohio Valley, it is important to consider the effect of large drafts of water upon the flow of the river. The Ohio River basin states and the principal rivers are shown on Exhibit No. 36.

Inventories of coal resources prepared for this report indicate that, if all coal were devoted to the production of synthetic liquid fuels, the maximum water demand in the Ohio River basin states would be about 15,000 cfs. It is estimated that of this 15,000 cfs about 10,000 cfs would be obtained from water supply systems involving storage reservoirs built either for the development of low stream flow or for the regulation of low flows in the major tributaries. Reservoirs proposed for synthetic liquid fuels development would not reduce the low flows in the Ohio River, as they would not store water during the critical low flow period. The total amount of water to be pumped directly from the Ohio River or its major tributaries would be approximately 5,000 cfs. This would be taken throughout the length of the river. Withdrawal of this amount of water would affect the flow of the Ohio River, which is shown in the following table, only to a small degree.

0021

Кy

212b

213a

#### Average Flow of Ohio River at Three Points

Gaging Station	Drainage Area	Average Flow	Years of
	(Square Miles)	(Cfs)	Record
Sewickley, Pa.	19,500	31,900	1934-48
Huntington, W. Va	55,900	76,450	193 <b>5</b> -47
Louisville, Ky.	91,170	110,300	1929-47

The low flow of the Ohio River below Huntington would not be affected seriously by the withdrawal of this water, but in the area above Huntington, where an estimated 3,000 cfs would be diverted, the low flow could be seriously affected.

The lowest flows of record occurred during the 1930 drought Unfortunately, the U.S. Geological Survey stream flows for period. this period are meager. However, it is possible to prepare from the records of tributary streams and from Corps of Engineers data regarding flows at Louisville an estimate of the flow that occurred during October 1930, the lowest month of record. This runoff is plotted on the bottom line of Exhibit No. 25. Since the drought period of 1930 several reservoirs have been built in the Ohio River basin to conserve runoff and aid regulation. The more important of these reservoirs are Tygart in West Virginia, Youghiogheny and Pymatuning Reservoirs in Pennsylvania and Berlin and Mosquito Creek Reservoirs in Ohio; and a large number of reservoirs on the Tennessee and Cumberland Rivers. It is estimated that low flows of the Ohio River during 1930, in the critical section between Pittsburgh, Pa., and Huntington, W. Va., would have been increased by at least 1,000 cfs, and the flow in the Lower Ohio would have been increased 2,000 cfs, if these reservoirs had been built at that time. The middle line on Exhibit No. 25 indicates what the 1930 flow would have been with regulation of these reservoirs.

Additional storage reservoirs for the regulation of the Ohio River flows are being considered. Some of these would be for flood control and river regulation and some for hydroelectric power production. The largest of these are the Allegheny in Pennsylvania, Mill Creek on the Clarion River, Cave Run on the Licking River in Kentucky, and several reservoirs on the Green River in Kentucky. Some of these have been authorized for construction by Congress but no funds have been appropriated. If all the proposed reservoirs should be built, together with those already constructed, it is estimated that the minimum flow of the Ohio River in a period like 1930 would have been increased 5,000 cfs in the section above Huntington and 11,000 cfs near the mouth. The top line on Exhibit No. 25 indicates this increased runoff.

168

70021

Kу

213b

214a

The Ohio River is not only an important waterway for freight haulage but it is also the source of water supply for some 30 communities drawing 300 cfs for domestic use and for many industries. Therefore, the quality of Ohio River water is of great economic importance. Many of the industrial uses are for cooling only and the water is returned to the river without much change except for a rise in temperature. Most of the water used for municipal purposes is returned as sewage. This stream pollution is most severe, and the low flows most critical, immediately below Pittsburgh. Serious pollution occurs also at Cincinnati, Louisville, and Evansville and it is important that the low flows be controlled at levels sufficient to prevent further degradation in quality.

It cannot be predicted now how many of these reservoirs will be built nor how much of the storage water will be available for the production of synthetic liquid fuels. However, the lowflow regulation program is primarily for the benefit of municipal and industrial water supplies in the Ohio River valley and it is reasonable to believe that a large-scale synthetic liquid fuels development would have such economic importance that it would participate in any such program. Up to the present time, flood control and regulating reservoirs have been built with Federal funds and the municipalities and industries benefiting have not been asked to contribute.

If none of the reservoirs proposed for regulating storage capacity on the Ohio River were available to the synthetic liquid fuels industry, it would then have to provide its own reservoirs. The additional storage requirements needed to regulate the river above Huntington for maximum synthetic liquid fuels development would be that storage required to maintain a draft of 3,000 cfs and has been estimated at 1,200,000 AF. These estimates are based upon gross water requirements for the synthetic liquid fuels plants and do not take into consideration the return water from the plants, amounting to more than 30 percent of the total demand. This return water would have a relatively high mineral concentration but none the less would add very substantially to the minimum flows.

The cost of providing this storage for over-all regulation of the Ohio River for full synthetic liquid fuels production has not been estimated. In any event, the cost of this storage would be spread out over so many plants that it would increase by only a very small amount the unit cost of water.

Since it is almost certain that the proposed storage development will take place in the Ohio River basin and a considerable portion of the conserved water would be available for synthetic liquid fuels production, and since it is also likely that the full development of synthetic liquid fuels possibilities in the Ohio River basin will not take place, the determination of the cost does not seem to be warranted.

0021

Ky

## Synthetic Liquid Fuels Potential of General Areas of Raw Material and Water Availability

In summary, the synthetic liquid fuels potential of the 16 General Areas of Raw Materials and Water Availability in Kentucky, in total and as an equivalent daily average over a 40-year period would be as follows:

S	ynthet1c	Liqui	d Fuel	ls Po	tent:	ial (	(in 9	[housa:	nd Ba	arre	els)
0	f General	l Area	s of ]	Raw M	later:	ial a	ind V	later .	Avai:	labi	llity
in	Kentucky	7, in	Total	and	as a	Dai]	Lý Av	ierage	for	40	years
			(As	of Ja	nuar;	y 1,	1949	)			

	Total Po	Average Daily Plant Capacity 40-year Period		
General Area	Hydro-	Coal	Hydro-	Coal
	genation	Synthine	genation	Synthine
Johnson-Magoffin	596,000	463,000	<b>41</b>	32
Pike	7,363,000	5,727,000	504	392
Floyd-Magoffin	2,908,000	2,261,000	199	155
Knott-Breathitt	1,854,000	1,442,000	127	99
Perry-Breathitt	1,382,000	1,075,000	95	74
Leslie-Harlan	987,000	768,000	68	53
Northern Letcher	1,080,000	840,000	74	58
Harlan-Letcher	3,107,000	2,417,000	213	166
Bell Daviess	624,000 169,000	485,000	43 12 70	33 9 55
Union Webster	1,510,000	1,174,000	103 136	80 106
Hopkins-Christian	3,428,000	2,666,000	235	183
Muhlenberg-McLean	2,571,000		176	137
Ohio	1,209,000	940,000	82	64
Total	31,803,000	24,734,000	2,178	I,696

Ky 215b 4 70021

.

غ

Þ

Equivalent

PART V

ą.

SUITABILITY OF THE GENERAL AREAS

4

¥

•

ų.

ļ

COAL

The 16 areas in Kentucky determined to be General Areas of Coal and Water Availability, grouped according to location in the coal fields of the State, are:

## Kentucky General Areas of Coal and Water Availability

Eastern Kentucky Field

Western Kentucky Field

Johnson-Magoffin Pike Floyd-Magoffin Knott-Breathitt Perry-Breathitt Leslie-Harlan Northern Letcher Harlan-Letcher Bell Daviess (A) Henderson Union Webster (A) Hopkins-Christian (A) (B) Muhlenberg-McLean (A) (B) Ohio (A) (B)

Note: (A) Part of estimated coal reserves are strippable. (B) Strippable reserves are adequate for 40-year supply of at least one unit plant using either process, except that such reserves of Muhlenberg-McLean General Area would not support a coal synthine unit plant.

These General Areas were next studied in detail from an economic standpoint to ascertain their further suitability for the production of synthetic liquid fuels. The locations of the 16 General Areas have been previously indicated on Exhibit No. 9. Detailed estimates of coal production costs are shown in Exhibit No. 37. Basic data on coal bed characteristics, estimates of recoverable reserves, estimated capital cost requirements, and estimated costs of coal supply per barrel of synthetic liquid fuel products are presented in Exhibit No. 38. The bibliography is appended as Exhibit No. 5.

Coal Characteristics and Properties

Rank and Chemical Analysis. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Descriptions and evaluations of the chemical and physical characteristics of the coal reserves in the 16 General Areas are generally available. These reserves, located in from

(References: 42, 49, 52, 56, 60)

ø

one to seven principal coal beds in each General Area, range from high-volatile A bituminous (Hvab) to high-volatile C bituminous (Hvcb). The high-volatile A bituminous coals occur in the eastern counties of the State and the high-wolatile B and C bituminous coals occur in the western counties. Average values of selected items of representative analyses of the beds containing coal reserves in the 16 General Areas are as follows: (mine samples, asreceived basis):

Representative Analyses of Coal Reserves in the 16 General Areas (Mine Samples, As-received Basis)					
General Area	Moisture (Percent)	Ash (Percent)	Sulfur (Percent)	Btu Per <u>Pound</u>	
Eastern Kentucky Field:					
Johnson-Magoffin	4.7%	3.0%	1.2%	13,730	
Pike	3.1	4.3	1.0	14.090	
Floyd-Magoffin	3.9	6.1	1.5	13,430	
Knott-Breathitt	3.7	4.9	1.0	13,750	
Perry-Breathitt	4.3	5.3	0.7	13,490	
Leslie-Harlan	3.9	4.4	0.7	13,680	
Northern Letcher	3.5	4.0	0.9	13,970	
Harlan-Letcher	3.3	4.2	0.7	13,980	
Bell	2.8	5.0	1.2	13,800	
Western Kentucky Field:			•		
Daviess	12.1%	11.7%	3.0≸	10,790	
Henderson	10.7	12.8	3.4	10,960	
Union	5.9	10.0	3.7	12,340	
Webster	6.1	9.3	3.3	12,400	
Hopkins-Christian	8.5	8.7	3.2	11,990	
Muhlenberg-McLean	7.9	8.6	3.7	12,120	
Ohio	9.6	9.3	3.7	11,640	
Detailed analyses and othe	r character	istics of t	he coals in	each	

Detailed analyses and other characteristics of the coals in each General Area are presented in Exhibit No. 38 of this report.

Type and Petrographic Analysis. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) The Bureau of Mines has published the results of petrographic assays on representative Kentucky coals which show the following percentages of constitutents:

(References: 42, 45, 68)

Кy

.

218 219

10 70021

County	Bed	Anthraxylon	Trans- lucent Attritus	Opaque Attritus	Fusain
Eastern Kentucky	Field:				
Bell	Lower Hignite	51%	32%	15%	2%
	Straight Creek	50	35	13	2
Floyd	Upper Elkhorn				
- •	No. 3	51	35	8	6
Harlan	High Splint	31	41	26	2
	Taggart	51	32	14	3
Johnson	Millers Creek	49	27	21	3
Letcher	Elkhorn	37	35	24	4
Perry	Hazard No. 4	55	31	11	3
Pike	Pond Creek	43	37	16	4
Western Kentucky	Field:				
Hopkins	No. 6	55%	37%	5%	3%
• · · · ·	No. 11	64	30	3	3
	No. 12	64	31	3	2
	No. 14	63	29	5	3
Muhlenberg	No. 9	65	27	5	3

Petrographic Analyses of Kentucky Coals

The above analyses indicate that the eastern Kentucky coals range from the "bright" petrographic type, wherein anthraxylon and translucent attritus predominate, with opaque attritus and fusain being present in minor amounts, to predominantly attrital types with the moderately high percentage of opaque attritus indicating compositions approaching that of semisplint coal. The western Kentucky coals are largely of the "bright" petrographic type. Since most of the coals in the 16 General Areas are similar in rank, appearance, and chemical composition to the coals for which petrographic analyses are available, there is no reason to expect any substantial differences in the degree of heterogeneity or adaptability to hydrogenation.

The value of petrography in predicting hydrogenation yield lies in the fact that the degree of heterogeneity of lithologic components is readily indicated and the approximate proportion of highcarbon opaque constituents (difficult to liquefy) are revealed, whereas chemical analysis determines only the average content of simple components.

Organic and Inorganic Sulfur Content. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Publications of the U.S. Bureau of Mines contain relatively comprehensive information on the organic and inorganic sulfur contents of representative Kentucky coals. Percentages of organic and inorganic sulfur have been determined for various beds in 14 coalbearing counties as follows (as-received basis):

(References: 42, 49, 52, 56, 60)

¥

Ê

2

y

195

20a

	2	ulfur		
	(Percent	; in Raw C	Organic Sulfur	
County	Inorganic	Organic	Total	Percent of Total Sulfur
Eastern Kentucky Fi	eld:			
Bell	0.298%	0.734%	1.032%	71%
Harlan	0.188	0.631	0.819	77
Knott	0.478	0.934	1.412	66
Knox	1.054	0.537	1.591	34
Letcher	0.310	0.701	1.011	69
Perry	0.129	0.600	0.7 <b>29</b>	82
Western Kentucky Fi	eld:			
Daviess	2.313%	1.437%	3.750%	38%
Henderson	2.142	1.485	3.627	41
Hopkins	1.923	1.431	3.354	43
McLean	1.689	1.578	3.267	48
Muhlenberg	2.012	1.535	3.547	43
Ohio	2.081	1.464	3.545	41
Union	1.766	1.635	3.401	48
Webster	1.605	1.721	3,326	52

The above analyses indicate that organic sulfur, which is not considered amenable to reduction by mechanical cleaning, may range from 34 to 82 percent, averaging approximately 66 percent, of the total sulfur in eastern Kentucky coal beds, and from 38 to 52 percent, averaging approximately 43 percent, in western Kentucky coals. The complete removal of pyritic (inorganic) sulfur by mechanical cleaning of the coal, if possible, would thus result in decreasing the total sulfur content in eastern Kentucky coals by an average amount of approximately 34 percent to minimum sulfur contents of from 0.5 to 1.0 percent in the cleaned coal and would result in decreasing the total sulfur content by an average of approximately 57 percent to minimum sulfur contents of from 1.4 to 2.0 percent in cleaned coal in the western Kentucky area. The actual extent of reduction depends upon the amounts, sizes, and types of occurrences of the pyritic sulfur-bearing ingredients in the raw coal. Specific washability tests are required, however, to determine the reduction in total sulfur which might result from mechanical cleaning.

Storage, Weathering, and Slacking Characteristics. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) The high-volatile A, B, and C bituminous rank coal reserves in the Kentucky General Areas are similar to other coals of equal rank in weathering and slacking characteristics and present no particular problems when stored

## (References: 54, 58)

# Analyses for Sulfur Content

A

7002

220 22 10

Кy

properly. These coals usually slack readily but do not ignite spontaneously when exposed to air, thus reducing the problems of coal storage necessary in synthetic liquid fuels manufacture. Surge storage at the mine would provide for a uniform daily flow of coal to the process plant from the mines probably operating only two shifts per day for 5 days each week. The synthetic liquid fuels plant is assumed to operate continuously for three shifts per day throughout the year. It is probable that substantial additional storage facilities will be necessary at the plant to protect it from interruptions or decreases in production at the coal mines and from possible transportation stoppages between mine and plant. At the process plant, provision is made for sufficient storage to provide a 30 days' reserve supply. As only cleaned coal will be stored in volume, no especial hazards are expected, and the coal may be stored in necessary quantities for indefinite periods. Costs of surge storage at the mine, together with those of handling the coal into and out of storage, are provided for in the estimates of capital investment for the mine and coal producing costs. Estimates of required working capital for the process plant allow for a reserve storage of a 30-day coal supply. Facilities for coal storage and its operation at the process plant are included in the process costs.

Grindability and Friability. (See Exhibit No. 5 for reference below.) Information on grindability of the coals in the 16 General Areas in Kentucky indicates that they are similar in grindability to comparable industrial coals and will respond without undue difficulty to fine grinding. The degree of ease with which a coal may be pulverized depends not only on its relative grindability index, but also upon the fineness of grinding desired and on its moisture content. The standard of grindability (Hardgrove index 100) is arbitrarily selected, according to American Society for Testing Materials, as represented by low-volatile, run-of-mine bituminous coal from the Jerome Mine, Upper Kittanning bed, Somerset County, Pennsylvania. Coals of low surface-moisture content, such as those in eastern Kentucky, accelerate pulverization by their lack of tendency toward coherence and formation in cakes, while coals of medium surface-moisture content, as in western Kentucky, are average in nature and neither retard nor accelerate pulverization.

The relative grindability indices of representative coals in eight eastern Kentucky counties range between 31 and 73, with an average of approximately 53. Grindability indices of representative coals in seven western Kentucky counties range from 51 to 75, with an average of about 63. The ranges and averages in the individual counties are shown in the following table:

(Reference: 59)

## Determination of Grindability Indices

	<u>Grin</u>	ty Index	
County	Low	High	Average
Eastern KentuckyField:			
Bell	42	73	56
Floyd	43	64	50
Harlan	31	68	50
Johnson	5 <b>7</b>	58	57
Leslie (one test)	50	50	50
Letcher	46	62	53
Perry	43	63	51
Pike	44	68	54
Western Kentucky Field:			
Christian	51	69	58
Daviess	60	65	63
Hopkins	5 <b>4</b>	68	60
Muhlenberg	53	75	64
Ohio (one test)	64	64	64
Union	61	72	66
Webster	6 <b>2</b>	67	64

The lower index numbers in eastern Kentucky probably reflect the greater proportion of coal of semisplint nature in comparison with the "bright" coals of western Kentucky. The relatively low index numbers in both fields indicate that coals in the Kentucky General Areas resist pulverization to a greater extent than the standard coal, thus requiring an increase in pulverizer capacities. This results in an increase in cost of pulverization over that of a coal with an index of 100.

Nature of Partings. The available information indicates that the majority of the coal beds in eastern Kentucky frequently contain one or more thin partings of bone or shale ranging from less than one-eighth inch to as much as six inches in thickness. Many of the beds are characterized in some areas by the occurrence of top or bottom benches of irregular thickness composed of alternating bands of coal and partings to the extent that the entire bench is relatively worthless. Such beds, however, commonly contain one or two principal benches which represent a minable thickness. In such cases, attempts may be made to leave these top or bottom benches in the mine although, if unsuccessful, such impurities may be removed in mechanical cleaning plants.

Ky 223 224a 10 70021

J.

Á

The principal beds of western Kentucky coals commonly contain one or more bedded impurities or partings. These partings, ranging from less than one-quarter inch to three inches or more in thickness, normally consist of shale or underclay, with varying admixtures of carbonaceous material. The partings are frequently pyritized in areas of irregular extent.

Ŧ

24b 25**a** 10

DO21

The No. 14 bed, of widely varying thickness, is highly irregular in occurrence and content of impurities, which range from specific shale partings to high-ash coal benches containing large proportions of disseminated impurities.

The No. 12 bed characteristically contains high amounts of impurities disseminated throughout the coal as well as additional bands or lenses of shale or pyrite.

The No. 11 bed is characteristically composed of three low-ash coal benches separated by two persistent shale partings ranging from one-half inch to two inches in thickness.

The No. 9 bed is relatively high in ash derived from shaly material deposited in disseminated form through the coal bed; it rarely contains persistent shale or pyrite partings.

The No. 6 bed is characteristically composed of clean coal, with but a few thin partings or lenses of shale occurring infrequently in local areas.

The roof materials overlying Kentucky coal beds range from shale or limestone in western Kentucky to shale, sandy shale, or sandstone in eastern Kentucky. Where composed of relatively weak material, fragments of the roof may become mixed with the raw coal during mining in either Kentucky coal field.

Mechanical Cleaning. In considering washability characteristics, the character, number, and thickness of contained partings serve as a partial guide to the relative ease with which a specific coal may be mechanically cleaned. While the presence of partings in Kentucky coals is generally not such as to seriously interfere with mining operations, they do affect the type and capacity of the necessary cleaning facilities and the amount of refuse which must be handled during the cleaning process. These factors were taken into consideration in estimating mine investment and operating costs in each of the General Areas as hereinafter established.

No specific data are available on washability tests of eastern Kentucky coals, although examination of washability studies on similar coals in adjacent portions of Tennessee, Virginia, and West Virginia indicate that the ratios of refuse to raw coal in eastern Kentucky may range between 6.5 and 20.9 percent, with an average of approximately 12.6 percent.

Data on washability of western Kentucky coals are available from tests by the U.S. Bureau of Mines. The following table shows the results on a moisture-free basis of washability tests on several representative coal beds in Hopkins and Muhlenberg Counties:

			<u>(Mo1</u>	sture-fr	ee Basis)	
		Ash (Pe	rcent)	Sulfur	(Percent)	Percent of
Coal	Bed	Raw	Washed	Raw	Washed	Refuse
No.	6	4.83% 4.77 6.60	2.55% 2.31 4.10	2.74% 2.60 3.80	1.44% 1.38 2.30	21.1% 21.9 17.8
No.	9	11.00	6.80	4.20	2.90	20.0
No.	11	9.80	5.50	4.40	3.10	20.0
No .	12	18.80 18.50	12.20 11.00	4.10 4.60	3.10 3.40	20.0 20.0

Results of Washability Tests - West Kentucky Coals

These data indicate that Kentucky coals are generally amenable to improvement in qualify by commercial-type mechanical cleaning. With installation of relatively simple facilities for removal of solid impurities and other high-ash refuse, the cleaned mine products from the General Areas in Kentucky should contain the following average ash and sulfur contents (as-received basis): Ky

225b 226a 10 70021

General Area	Ash (Percent)	Sulfur (Percent)
Eastern Kentucky Field	:	3.00
Johnson-Magorrin	2.5%	1.0%
Pike	3.8	0.8
Floyd-Magoffin	5.4	1.2
Knott-Breathitt	4.3	0.8
Perry-Breathitt	4.8	0.5
Leslie-Harlan	3.9	0.5
Northern Letcher	3.5	0.7
Harlan-Letcher	3.7	0.5
Bell	4.4	1.0
Western Kentucky Field	•	
Daviess	7.0%	2.0%
Henderson	7 7	2.2
Union	6.5	2.5
Webster	6.0	2.2
Honkins-Christian	6 0	21
Muhlenheng Malean	6 O	2.1
MOUTEIIDELR-MODERII		້
UNIO	5.0	2.0

Approximate Average Ash and Sulfur Contents (As Received) Cleaned Coals from Kentucky General Areas

Available information indicates that mechanical cleaning of Kentucky coals, in addition to reduction of ash and sulfur, also reduces the proportion of opaque lithologic constituents in the raw coal, thus improving amenability to hydrogenation. Information on the specific quality of the cleaned coal resulting from mechanical preparation in each General Area, however, requires further washability investigations of typical samples of the available coal reserves.

The foregoing discussion of washability of Kentucky coals applies only to the preparation of raw coal from the available reserves to a merchantable quality, as would be done in ordinary commercial practice. The possibilities of further reduction of ash, sulfur, and opaque constituents for purposes of hydrogenation require additional study beyond the scope of this phase of the synthetic liquid fuels survey and are not herein considered.

Modern mechanical mining, because of its lack of selectivity at the working face, requires mechanical cleaning facilities to obtain economic production costs. Mechanical cleaning also insures the removal of solid impurities which might otherwise severely

26b 27a 0 0021

Ку

damage pulverizers or other plant equipment. Provision is made in the estimates of capital and producing costs for a mechanical cleaning plant designed to remove solid and high-ash impurities from the mine-run coal in each of the General Areas. Such estimates are relatively higher for western Kentucky coals than for coals of eastern Kentucky and some other states, largely because of the presence of the numerous partings.

Mine Waste Disposal. The refuse from the coal preparation plant at the mine is expected to consist largely of shale partings and contaminating material from roof or floor, together with some bone and fusain from the coal bed. According to the Bureau of Mines report on bituminous coal for 1948, the ratio of refuse to raw coal which was cleaned was 17.2 percent in Kentucky. On this basis the percentage of refuse to clean marketable coal would be about 20.8 percent. The estimated range of percentage of waste to marketable coal in the various General Areas would be approximately from 14 percent in eastern to 25 percent in western Kentucky. At 14 percent of daily production of marketable coal in eastern Kentucky, the refuse would total approximately 760 tons per working day, or 182,400 tons per year, equivalent to 121,600 cubic yards, based on supplying marketable coal to a hydrogenation plant; and 970 tons per working day, or 232,800 tons per year, equivalent to 155,200 cubic yards, based on supplying marketable coal to a synthine plant. The corresponding figures for western Kentucky at 25 percent of daily production of marketable coal would be approximately 1,590 tons of refuse per working day, or 381,600 tons per year, equivalent to 254,400 cubic yards, based on supplying marketable coal to a hydrogenation plant, and 2,050 tons per working day, or 492,000 tons per year, equivalent to 328,000 cubic yards, based on supplying marketable coal to a synthine plant.

The disposal of these types and quantities of refuse presents no particular problems. It could be transported by tramway or by trucks from the preparation plant to nearby mine property or to selected areas of rugged land or other land unfit for farm use, of which there are many acres in each of the General Areas. With proper precautions, the possibilities of contamination of water supply should be negligible. The estimated capital and operating costs hereinafter established in this report provide for waste disposal from the coal preparation plant, assuming that the waste-disposal tract is within 3 miles of the coal preparation plant.

Hydrogenation Yield. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) The degree of liquefaction of coals by hydrogenation is, roughly, inversely proportional to their moisture- and ash-free carbon content, as determined by ultimate analysis. Coals with high carbon content are generally low in liquefaction yield. Ky

÷

227

228

229 10 7002

(References: 50, 51, 53, 55)

Normal carbon contents (maf) range from approximately 55 percent in peat to 95 percent in anthracite. The coals in the nine General Areas of eastern Kentucky range between 83.0 and 86.5 percent in carbon content (maf) with an average of 84.2 percent. The coals in the seven General Areas of western Kentucky range from 77.6 to 83.2 percent in carbon content (maf) with an average of 80.5 percent.

These averages are comparable to a carbon content of 86.6 percent (maf) for an assay on Upper Freeport coal from Monongalia County, West Virginia, from which an oil yield of 61 percent of the coal as received was obtained, and to a carbon content of 84.2 percent (maf) for an assay on Pittsburgh coal from Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, from which an oil yield of 66 percent of the coal as received was obtained. These yields compare with a high of 69 percent from a high-volatile A bituminous coal from the Black Creek bed in Walker County, Alabama, and with a low of 31 percent from lignites from the Fort Union and Coteau beds in Mercer and Ward Counties, respectively, in North Dakota. The coals in all Kentucky General Areas are reasonably comparable in rank and quality to similar coals assayed by the Bureau of Mines, and it is reasonable to expect a similar hydrogenation yield from them, although the suitability of a particular coal for hydrogenation purposes can be determined only by actual tests.

### Land Ownership, Coal Rights, and Surface Valuation

Private Ownership and Purchase Costs. (See Exhibit No. 5 for reference 16.) Essentially all coal-bearing lands in Kentucky are privately owned. Underground coal, without surface rights, may be leased at amounts ranging from 5 to 30 cents or more per ton and may be purchased at amounts ranging from less than \$25 to more than \$150 per acre depending on thickness, quality, and location of the coal bed. Strippable coal, including necessary surface lands, may be leased at amounts ranging from 15 to 50 cents or more per ton and may be purchased at amounts ranging from less than \$100 to \$300 or more per acre depending on thickness, depth, quality, and location of the coal bed. Surface land values without coal rights range from \$20 to \$200 or more per acre depending on the agricultural value and geographic location of the specific property.

### Legislation Affecting Production of Coal

Кy

29þ 30a

10

0021

Taxes. Kentucky mines are in a favorable position in the matter of taxation. Real estate and property taxes average 2.5 percent on assessed valuation, generally based on 100 percent of fair market value. Other taxes, such as corporate organization fee and corporation franchise tax would not apply separately to coal mining conducted as an associated operation with all production going to a synthetic liquid fuels plant.

Restitution of Surface Damaged by Mining. There is no specific legislation in Kentucky which requires restoration of surface damaged by strip mining or payment of damages resulting from subsidence caused by underground mining.

#### Production Costs

(See Exhibit No. 5 for references below)

The data on coal bed occurrences in the 16 General Areas are in no-wise sufficient in scope or in detail to permit the preparation of actual mining layouts and of specific estimates of mining costs based thereon. Extensive drilling programs will be necessary before precise location and extent of reserves available for mining operations can be determined. Comprehensive engineering studies, based on the results of the drilling programs, will then be necessary to determine the equipment and methods of mining best adapted to the efficient and economic production of fuel for synthetic liquid fuels plant supply. The estimates of coal production costs presented are necessarily generalized in nature and are based on the assumption that thorough drilling and engineering will precede any development of mining operations in connection with coal supply for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture, thereby permitting more precise estimates of costs.

In estimating over-all mining costs for each of the 16 General Areas in Kentucky, as of March 31, 1950, the total estimated investment costs are considered to include erection of all necessary mine structures, together with purchase and installation of all necessary operating equipment. They also include investment costs of facilities for transporting the output from two or more adjacent mining operations to a joint preparation plant, a mechanical cleaning plant designed largely to remove solid and high-ash impurities from the raw fuel, waste disposal from the preparation plant, sufficient coal surge storage at the mine to provide uniform daily shipments to the synthetic liquid fuels plant, engineering, development, and contingencies. While the estimated investment costs do not include purchase price of surface or coal lands, a royalty charge of from \$0.10 to \$0.30 per ton of cleaned coal for underground mining and of from \$0.15 to \$0.35 per ton of cleaned coal for strip mining, as included in producing costs, is considered to represent the cost of acquisition of coal reserves. In the case of strip mining, the royalty figure is also considered to provide for the return of a portion of the cost of necessary surface acquisition, or its equivalent, through reclamation and reuse after strippable reserves are depleted.

Ку

2301

to

2321

700:

1(

In estimating producing costs for each of the 16 General Areas in Kentucky, as shown in Exhibit No. 37, separate consideration was given to each of the following principal items of cost, their total being taken as the total producing cost per ton of cleaned coal:

- (1) All labor. This item includes all labor costs paid in the form of wages for mining (pieceworkers and dayworkers) and for yardage and dead work and in the form of salaries paid to supervisory, technical, and clerical employes at the mines. Weighted average wage rates were calculated from the schedules of wages established by the National Bituminous Coal Wage Agreement of 1950 for the various mining districts, with suitable adjustment for the concentration of high-wage workers in a fully mechanized underground or stripping operation. The labor cost per ton was calculated by dividing the estimated weighted average daily wage rate by the estimated productivity in tons of cleaned coal per man-shift.
- (2) Vacation payments. This item represents the vacation allowance of \$100 per year to each employe, where applicable, and is computed by dividing \$100 by the estimated annual production per man (240 days times productivity per manshift). In actual practice, this may be increased slightly due to injured men or others carried on the payroll but not actually engaged in production.
- (3) Welfare fund. This item represents a flat payment of \$0.30 per ton which is paid into the U.M.W.A. welfare fund for each ton of coal produced for use or sale in accordance with the National Bituminous Coal Wage Agreement of 1950.
- (4) <u>All supplies</u>. This item includes the cost of all materials and supplies used in mining and in operating the mine equipment and facilities, including the maintenance and repair of mine structures and equipment. Additional included costs consist of freight, drayage, expressage, and storage of supplies, mine office supplies, fuels other than coal, and rentals of equipment. The costs of such supplies per ton, as estimated in this survey, average approximately \$0.72 for underground operations and \$0.75 for stripping operations, the actual estimated amounts to some extent varying inversely with the estimated productivity per man-shift, but being modified in accordance with consideration of the anticipated natural mining conditions.
- (5) Power. This item includes the cost of all power requirements at the mining operations, whether purchased from outside sources or produced by a mine-operated central power station. It also includes the cost of any coal required to produce heat at the mine. While small variations in cost of power may be expected to exist among the General Areas considered in this survey, an assumed cost of \$0.15 per ton is herein employed for estimating purposes.

þ

32B

33a

p021

- (6) Payroll taxes. This item includes the costs of social security (old-age benefits), unemployment taxes, and any other Federal or State taxes levied upon the amount of the payroll. These taxes average approximately 4 percent of the labor cost.
- (7) <u>Other taxes, insurance, miscellaneous.</u> This item includes the following types of costs:
  - a. Real estate, personal property, and other taxes on mine property and equipment, including reserves. These taxes may range from 1 to 6 percent of the fair cash value of the property as established by the local assessors, depending on locality.
  - b. Corporate, privilege, and severance taxes, which average approximately \$0.02 per ton.
  - c. Workmen's compensation and vocational disease insurance, including the sums paid to an insurance company or to a State fund for protection of the employes, which aggregate approximately 5 percent of the payroll.
  - d. Other insurance such as fire, tornado, and other classes of insurance applicable to the mine property, which is estimated to average approximately \$0.01 per ton.
  - e. Costs arising from unforeseeable and unpredictable conditions of all kinds, which are herein estimated at a flat rate of \$0.10 per ton. This item is added to the producing costs as estimated in this survey because of the limited available information on mining conditions in many of the General Areas.
- (8) Depreciation. This item represents the cost of providing for replacement of the mining facilities and equipment at the end of their useful life. In determining production costs, the weighted average useful life of all items of mine property and equipment, exclusive of coal reserves, is estimated to be 15 years. The rate of depreciation, accordingly, is taken at 6.67 percent of the initial investment.

- (9) Royalty or depletion. As discussed in a preceding paragraph, the estimated investment costs do not include the purchase costs of surface and coal properties. A revalty charge of \$0.10 to \$0.30 per ton of cleaned coal for underground mining and of from \$0.15 to \$0.35 per ton for strip mining is considered to represent the cost of acquisition of coal reserves.
- (10) Engineering, management, administration. This item includes the cost represented by salaries and expenses of administrative, management, and engineering personnel, together with salaries of associated assistants, bookkeepers, clerks, and stenographers. It also includes legal expenses and office expenses, or rent, including depreciation on office equipment. The cost of this item is estimated at \$0.10 per ton.

Detailed consideration of all factors pertinent to estimating the potential mine investment costs for each of the 16 General Areas indicated that the General Areas could be classified into four groups of relative mine plant and equipment capital costs, arranged in order of increasing investment costs as follows:

> Classification of General Areas by Capital Costs for Initial Unit Project Mines

Below Average: Hopkins-Christian, Muhlenberg-McLean.

Average: Pike, Floyd-Magoffin, Knott-Breathitt, Perry-Breathitt, Leslie-Harlan, Northern Letcher, Harlan-Letcher, Union, Webster, Ohio

Above Average: Bell, Daviess, Henderson

Highest Cost: Johnson-Magoffin.

234b 235a 10 021

Κу

The maximum ranges in daily and annual synthetic liquid fuels plant and mine requirements for the production of 10,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuel final products per calendar day in the several General Areas, based on 98 billion Btu per calendar day for the hydrogenation process and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for the coal synthine process, may be summarized as follows:

	Minimum Btu Value		Maximum	Btu Value	
	Hydro- genation	Coal Synthine	Hydro- genation	Coal Synthine	
Average Btu content of coal (as received)	14,090	14,090	10,790	10,790	
Tons per day: Plant (365 working days) Mine (240 working days)	3,478 5,289	<b>4,</b> 471 6,800	4,541 6,906	5,839 8,880	
and tons)	1,269	1,632	1,657	2,131	

## Range in Daily and Annual Coal Requirements of a Unit Plant

Although estimated aggregate recoverable reserves in the 16 General Areas are sufficient to supply synthetic liquid fuels plants having a combined capacity of from 1,696,000 to 2,178,000 barrels a day for 40 years, depending on whether the synthine or hydrogenation process is used, the following estimates of coal production costs are based on the capacity of mine operations necessary to supply one 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit plant in each of the General Areas.

Strip Mining Costs. The Hopkins-Christian, Muhlenberg-McLean, and Ohio General Areas in western Kentucky contain sufficient estimated strippable coal reserves to indicate extensive stripping operations. Because of inherent limitations in uncover-ing capacity of single-stripping units, and to minimize the effects of such hazards as failure of excavating, loading, or transporting equipment, it is assumed that mining in these three General Areas would be conducted in two or more separate pits from which coal would be handled through joint facilities, including a central preparation plant, to the transportation system by which the coal would be delivered to the synthetic liquid fuels plant. Surge storage facilities at the mines would be provided to assure continuous supply for year-round three-shift-per-day operation of the synthetic liquid fuels plant from mines operating on a 5-dayper-week, two-shift-per-day basis. In the other General Areas containing strippable reserves, strip mining would probably be combined with underground mining for the most economic results.

Approximate capital investments required for 40 years' production of synthetic liquid fuels plant supply by strip mining in quantities cited hereinbefore are estimated as of March 31, 1950 at from \$5,044,000 to supply a hydrogenation unit plant in the Ohio General Area, to \$7,991,000 to supply a coal synthine unit plant in the Daviess General Area. Factors affecting strip mine investment costs are depth and character of the overburden

10

Á

70021

and quantity and quality of the coal. The quantity to be mined is governed by the Btu content and by the specific synthetic liquid fuels process in which the coal is to be used. The quality affects the type and capacity of preparation facilities necessary to produce a merchantable coal.

Actual producing costs for strip mines in Kentucky have been relatively less than the average costs for the United States, these figures having been \$2.10 per ton for the United States and \$1.73 per ton for western Kentucky in 1945, according to Economic Data, Office of Price Administration, for that year. It may be assumed that the Kentucky stripping cost closely represents that in the Western Kentucky field, there having been but minor strip production in eastern Kentucky in 1945.

An estimated over-all labor productivity in new operations, measured by the average tons produced per shift per man employed in the stripping operation and in necessary auxiliary facilities, may be partially based upon experience at present stripping operations because of their relatively high degree of mechanization and their relatively comparable capacity of output.

Bureau of Mines statistics on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicated that average productivity in stripping operations by counties in western Kentucky ranged from 12.24 to 23.65 tons per man-shift, averaging approximately 21 tons for the entire Western Kentucky field. Assuming that the installation of modern highcapacity operations, including the purchase and use of large stripping shovels, draglines, trucks, and other modern equipment, would result in an estimated productivity of 25 tons per man-shift in average mining conditions, the estimated costs of strip-mine production in the five General Areas containing strippable reserves, after making allowances for variations in preparation costs, range as follows:

Est	;ima	ted	Costs	of	Strip	Mir	ıe
Production	in	Five	Gener	ral	Areas	in	Kentucky
	(As	of	March	31,	, 1950	5	

•	General Area	Btu per Pound (As Received)	Tons per <u>Man-shift</u>	Cost per Ton	Cost in Cents per <u>Million Btu</u>
65	Deviess	10 790	25	\$2 63	12 194
7	Webster	12.380	25	2:61	10.54
0	Hopkins-Christian	11,920	25	2.81	11.79
021	Muhlenberg-McLean	12,130	25	2.81	11.58
1	Ohio	11,520	25	2.79	12.11

Details of the above estimated costs for each General Area are shown in Exhibit No. 37. They are based on retirement of the property in 15 years and exclude selling expense. Estimates of labor cost are based on weighted average wage rates resulting from the 1950 wage agreement.

These costs reflect the concept of most efficient application of present-day strip mining methods and equipment. Opportunities for possible future improvements of mining methods or equipment in areas similar to those in western Kentucky probably best await potential development of high-speed, high-capacity excavating, loading, and hauling equipment. It is not possible at this time, however, to predict successful development and application of such equipment to western Kentucky coal reserves, or to estimate possible future saving in production costs which might accrue through their use.

Underground Mining Cost. Because of inherent limitations on transporting coal to the surface, and to minimize the effects of such hazards as mine fires, roof falls, floods, etc., it is assumed that the annual requirements in each General Area would not be obtained through a single opening. From two to three underground mining operations would probably be opened at appropriate intervals in each Area for concurrent operation. Although obtained from separate underground operations, it is assumed that the coal as produced from the mines would be handled through joint surface facilities, including a central preparation plant, to the transportation system by which the coal would be delivered to the synthetic liquid fuels plant. Surge storage facilities at the mine would be supplied to provide for year-round, three-shift-per-day operation of the synthetic liquid fuels plant from mines operating on a 5-day-per-week, two-shift-per-day basis.

Approximate capital investments, as of March 31, 1950, required for underground production of synthetic liquid fuels plant coal supply in the quantities previously cited are estimated at from \$5,904,000 to supply a hydrogenation plant in the Muhlenberg-McLean General Area to \$10,050,000 to supply a synthine plant in the Johnson-Magoffin General Area. Factors affecting mine investment costs are depth and character of the bed and its associated strata, together with quantity and quality of the coal. The quantity to be mined is governed by the Btu content and by the specific synthetic liquid fuels process in which the coal is to be used. The quality affects the type and capacity of preparation facilities necessary to produce a merchantable coal.

Actual producing costs for mechanical underground mining in eastern Kentucky have been relatively higher and in western Kentucky relatively lower than average costs for the United States, having been \$2.64 per ton for the United States, \$2.83 per ton for District No. 8 (A), and \$1.77 per ton for western Kentucky in 1945, according to Economic Data, Office of Price Administration, for that year.

Note: (A) District No. 8 includes eastern Kentucky, southwestern West Virginia (high-volatile), southwestern Virginia, and northern Tennessee.

×

Кy

An estimated over-all labor productivity in new operations, measured by the average tons produced per shift by each man employed in the underground operation and in necessary surface facilities, can be based upon experience at present underground operations in Kentucky because of their relatively high degree of mechanization. Bureau of Mines statistics on bituminous coal production indicate that eastern Kentucky underground mines had an average productivity of 5.09 tons per man-shift in 1948, while underground mines in western Kentucky averaged 8.64 tons per man-shift and the average for the entire State was 5.46 tons per man-shift.

An estimate of future productivity per man-shift in new underground mines necessarily should take into account past records of production, but must recognize that older mines usually involve relatively long and costly haulage, and that the character of a particular seam, the mining conditions, and the type of equipment are all important factors affecting the productivity; likewise, if proposed mining operations involve new coal beds not now producing, estimates of productivity may be noticeably affected. The estimates herein for new underground mining operations are dependent on judgment, based on consideration of all known factors, including Bureau of Mines data on average productivities in going operations.

Assuming that the installation of modern high-capacity operations, including the purchase and use of all necessary mechanical equipment, would result in an estimated productivity of 8 tons per man-shift for average mining conditions, 6 to 7 tons for more difficult conditions, and 9 to 10 tons for more favorable conditions, the estimated costs of production by underground operations would be as follows:

Ky 239b **20a** 240a 10 70021

¥

in the St	Lxteen Ge (As of M	neral Areas arch 31, 19	of Kentu 50)	lcky
General Area	Btu Per Pound	Tons per Man-shift	Cost per Ton	Cost in Cents per Million Btu
		- <u></u>	<del>&amp;</del>	
Eastern Kentucky Field: Johnson-Magoffin Pike Floyd-Magoffin Knott-Breathitt Perry-Breathitt Leslie-Harlan Northern Letcher Harlan-Letcher Bell	13,730 14,090 13,430 13,750 13,490 13,680 13,970 13,980 13,800	6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	\$5.11 4.76 4.66 4.66 4.66 4.66 4.66 4.76 4.71	18.61¢ 16.89 17.35 16.95 17.27 17.03 16.68 17.02 17.07
Western Kentucky Field: Daviess Henderson Union Webster Hopkins-Christian Muhlenberg-McLean Ohio	10,790 10,960 12,340 12,400 11,990 12,120 11,710	9 8 10 10 10 10 9	\$3.89 4.16 3.65 3.65 3.81 3.81 3.99	18.03¢ 18.98 14.79 14.72 15.89 15.72 17.04

Details of these estimated costs for each General Area are shown in Exhibit No. 37. They are based on retirement of the property in 15 years and exclude selling expense. Estimates of labor cost are based on weighted average wage rates resulting from the 1950 agreement.

These costs reflect the concept of most efficient application of present-day underground mining methods and equipment. Opportunities for possible future improvements of mining methods or equipment in areas similar to Kentucky probably best await potential development of continuous mining machines which combine cutting, drilling, blasting, and loading operations, now under scrutiny and development at a number of points in the United States. This type of equipment is being actively tested and, when perfected, could result in changes in mining methods which would reduce the estimated producing costs in Kentucky. It is not possible at this time, however, to predict the successful application of such equipment to Kentucky coal reserves or to estimate possible future savings which might accrue through their use.

In considering possible revolutionary techniques in utilizing areas of coal reserves, the underground gasification of coal in place offers considerable potential promise since it would eliminate the relatively costly processes of mining the coal and gasifying the mined output in gas generators to produce synthesis This method of utilization would also provide a low-cost fuel gas. for power generation and would permit utilization of coal from beds which would otherwise be costly or uneconomic of operation. The results of experiments in underground gasification now in progress by the Bureau of Mines and the Alabama Power Company indicate that the process has distinct possibilities and is worthy of continued experimentation. It is not possible at this time, however, to predict the successful application of this method of utilization to the coal reserves in the General Areas in Kentucky.

<u>Coal Transportation.</u> Provision has been made, in estimating capital and operating costs, for transportation of coal from the several mine openings to a joint distribution point in each General Area for handling onto the transportation system by which the coal is delivered to the synthetic liquid fuels plant. As elsewhere indicated, it has been assumed for the purpose of this survey that the site of the synthetic liquid fuels plant would be located within a 3-mile radius of the mining operations. Under this assumption, no additional facilities or costs for transportation, other than those included in the estimates of costs already established, are contemplated.

<u>Coal Supply from Present Operations.</u> (See Exhibit No. 5 for reference 63.) Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate that synthetic liquid fuels plants in six eastern Kentucky and three western Kentucky General Areas could have been supplied with sufficient coal in that year to have produced synthetic liquid fuel final products at the rate of 10,000 barrels per day. Such consumption, however, would have required from approximately 8 to 56 percent of the total production of the respective counties in which or near which the nine General Areas are located. For a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthine unit plant in each of the 16 General Areas, a total of approximately 28,803,000 tons of coal would have been required. This amount represents 35 percent of the total State production in that year.

In Kentucky, the 1948 total production of 82,083,939 tons was produced in 194 working days, an average of 423,113 tons per day. At such a daily rate, the additional coal which could have been produced during a 240-day work-year would have amounted to 19,463,198 tons, sufficient for approximately 108,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuel final products per day using the synthine process.

Ky 241b 242 243a 10 5021

Accurate information on current costs of production at present operations in Kentucky is not available. Consideration of all known factors of increased wage rates, costs of supplies, contributions to welfare funds, etc., since the last year of available cost data (1945) indicates that current costs in Kentucky may exceed the estimated average costs of mine operations as herein presented (\$2.79 to \$5.11) by as much as \$0.75 per ton. Mine-run coal could probably be purchased from current operations at such costs. plus freight, plus \$0.30 to \$0.50 per ton for profit and income taxes. Selected sizes would probably run slightly higher in price, while it is possible that lower-priced sizes such as screenings could be purchased from current operations for production of synthetic liquid fuels, on a contract basis, at fob. mine prices comparable with the costs estimated herein. In general, such sizes would contain higher ash and sulfur contents than the cleaned mine-run products estimated as obtainable from reserves of the General Areas.

Based on operating costs data for the first quarter of 1946 (Office of Price Administration) for large, mechanized mines, the Corps of Engineers, Department of the Army, has estimated the present cost of producing coal in western Kentucky as follows:

> Estimated Cost of Producing Coal in the Western Kentucky Field as of April 1, 1950

Bed Name Thickness, inches	No. 11 65-85	No. 11 70-80	No. 9 50-60
Type of Mining	Strip	Underground	Underground
Productivity (A)	25	9	ıŏ
Estimated Costs per Ton: (B) First quarter 1946 Increase to April 1, 1950	\$1.15 <u>.75</u>	\$1.65 <u>1.10</u>	\$1.50 <u>1.00</u>
Total during March 1950	<u>\$1.90</u>	\$2.75	<u>\$2.50</u>

Note: (A) Average output per man-day (tons). (B) Producing and administrative.

The increases in costs per ton since the first quarter of 1946 reflect the 1950 U.M.W.A. wage agreement and are based on \$4.75 per day increase in wages; \$25.00 per year increase in vacation pay; 30 cents per ton welfare payment; 35 and 45 percent increase in supply costs for strip and underground mining, respectively; and 25 percent increase in all other costs. These costs are fob. tipple, excluding selling expense, and represent large, modern, highly efficient and mechanized mines producing merchantable coal in sufficient quantities to meet the requirements of

Ky

4

24

7002

synthetic liquid fuels unit plants. However, they do not reflect improvements in coal mining techniques since 1946, including the continuous coal mining machines now being tested. The costs do not necessarily represent either the average production costs for the entire area or the average production costs which might be obtained in new operations in the area, but probably represent optimum mining operations.

An additional cost of purchasing coal from present operations would be transportation charges, or freight rates, from existing mines to the synthetic liquid fuels plant. Unless located in the heart of a group of substantial commercial operations, such additional costs for delivered coal would probably range from \$0.60 to \$2.00 per ton, depending on the selection of location of a synthetic liquid fuels plant.

Total Costs. Detailed studies leading to estimated capital and operating costs as of March 31, 1950, based on information as to coal characteristics and available reserves, have indicated that considerable variations in costs exist among the several General Areas, partly because of differences in proportions of strippable reserves, where present, in the General Areas. Differences in varying degrees of amenability to mechanical cleaning because of the nature, thickness, and number of included partings, and in the inherent calorific value of the various coal beds at the locations in which reserves are available, also affect the extent of variations in costs between General Areas. Details of these estimates and of the coal data upon which they are based are provided in Exhibits Nos. 37 and 38.

Estimated capital costs in the Eastern Kentucky field range from \$6,345,000, to supply a hydrogenation unit plant in the Pike General Area to \$10,050,000 to supply a coal synthine unit plant in the Johnson-Magoffin General Area, with similar costs in western Kentucky ranging from \$5,044,000 to supply a hydrogenation unit plant in the Ohio General Area to \$9,590,000 to supply a coal synthine unit plant in the Daviess General Area. These costs are based on complete facilities for strip or underground mining, conveying of raw coal to surface, transportation to central preparation plant, mechanical cleaning including refuse disposal, and loading for shipment or into surge storage at the mine with subsequent reloading. In those General Areas where some of the coal may be produced by strip mining, the initial investment would be somewhat less, but the ultimate total investment during the 40-year period would be about the same as for all-underground mining, since the underground facilities would have to be ready for capacity production before the strippable reserves were fully depleted. In some General Areas, strip and underground operations would start simultaneously and operate concurrently. The salvage values of the stripping and coal-loading equipment for the strip operations should be approximately sufficient to offset the required added investment for equivalent underground facilities; this would tend to bring the total up to, but not more than, the figures used in this report for estimated mine capital costs. The estimated capital costs are summarized as follows:

Кy

244b to4

246a

0021

À

	H	lydrogen	enation Coal Synt			hine	
General Area	Under- ground	Strip	Ultimately (Combined)	Under- ground	Strip	Ultimately (Combined)	
Eastern Kentucky F:	ield:						
Johnson-Magoffin	\$7,818	-	\$7,818	\$10,050	-	\$10,050	
Pike	6,345	-	<b>ˈ6</b> ,345	8,160	-	8,160	
Floyd-Magoffin	6,660	-	6,660	8,560	-	8,560	
Knott-Breathitt	6,505	-	6,505	8,360	-	8,360	
Perry-Breathitt	6,630	-	6,630	8,525	-	8,525	
Leslie-Harlan	6,535	-	6,535	8,405	-	8,405	
Northern Letcher	6,400	-	6,400	8,230	-	8,230	
Harlan-Letcher	6,395	-	6,395	8,225	-	8,225	
Bell	7,128	-	7,128	9,163	-	9,163	
Western Kentucky F	leld:						
Daviess	\$7,457	\$6,214	\$7,457	\$ 9,590	\$7,991	\$ 9,590	
Henderson	7,344	· -	7,344	9,441	· -	9,441	
Union	6,521	-	6,521	8,384	-	8,384	
Webster	6,489	5,058	6,489	8,348	6,500	8,348	
Hopkins-Christian	า – เ	5,254	5,254	-	6,752	6,752	
Muhlenberg-			-			·	
McLean	-	5,163	5,163	7,588	6,636	7,588	
Ohio	-	5,044	5,044	-	6,487	6,487	

Initial Capital Cost for Unit Plant Coal Supply in Thousands of Dollars (As of March 31, 1950)

Estimated coal producing costs, including depreciation but excluding selling costs, range in the Eastern Kentucky field from \$4.66 per ton of merchantable coal in the Floyd-Magoffin, Knott-Breathitt, Perry-Breathitt, Leslie-Harlan, and Northern Letcher General Areas to \$5.11 in the Johnson-Magoffin General Area. In the Western Kentucky field, the range is between \$2.79 in Ohio General Area and \$4.16 in the Henderson General Area. All of the above figures apply regardless of whether the hydrogenation or the coal synthine process is used.

The Hopkins-Christian General Area contains sufficient strippable coal reserves to supply a hydrogenation unit plant for 64 years or a synthine unit plant for 50 years. Similar figures for the Muhlenberg-McLean General Area are 47 and 37 years. The strippable coal reserves of the Ohio General Area are sufficient for 124 years of operation of a hydrogenation unit plant or 97 years of operation of a coal synthine unit plant. Estimated strippable reserves in the remaining General Areas, where strippable reserves exist, are sufficient to supply unit plants for periods ranging from 3 to 10 years. It is contemplated that reserves recoverable by strip mining in these latter General Areas will be combined with those from underground operations until depleted, and that the balance of the

coal required to operate a unit plant for 40 years will be recovered from the same General Area by underground mining. Estimated coal costs per ton are summarized as follows:

Coal	Costs	ı per T	on for	the 3	Initial
Synth	netic	Liquid	Fuels	Unit	Plants
1	(As	of Mar	ch 31,	1950	<b>,</b>

	Hyc	irogena	ation	Coal Synthine		
General Area	Under- ground	Strip	Combined	Under-	Strip	Combined
Eastern Kentucky Fiel	d:					
Johnson-Magoffin	\$5.11	-	\$5,11	\$5.11	-	\$5.11
Pike	4.76	-	4.76	<b>`4</b> ₀76	-	4.76
Floyd-Magoffin	4.66	-	4.66	4.66	-	4.66
Knott-Breathitt	4.66	-	4.66	4.66	-	4.66
Perry-Breathitt	4.66	-	4.66	4.66	-	4.66
Leslie-Harlan	4.66	-	4.66	4.66	-	4.66
Northern Letcher	4.66	-	4.66	4.66	-	4.66
Harlan-Letcher	4.76	-	4.76	4.76	-	4.76
Bell	4.71	-	4.71	4.71	-	4.71
Western Kentucky Field	d:					
Daviess	\$3.89	\$2.63	\$3.76	\$3.89	\$2.63	\$3.79
Henderson	4.16	· _	4.16	4.16	· 🛥	4.16
Union	3.65	-	3.65	3.65	-	3.65
Webster	3.65	2.61	3.39	3.65	2.61	3.44
Hopkins-Christian	-	2.81	2.81	-	2.81	2.81
Muhlenberg-						
McLean	-	2.81	2.81	3.81	2.81	2.89
Ohio	-	2.79	2.79	-	2.79	2.79

The cost per ton for combined underground and strip mining is weighted according to reserves of strip and underground mined coal for 40 years' production during which period all of the strippable coal is assumed to have been mined out and the balance of the supply produced by underground mining. In some Areas, the combined cost for coal synthine unit plant supply is higher than for hydrogenation unit plant supply because of the larger percentage of underground coal required to meet the demand of the synthine plant.

Кy

**≇⊉** 10

0021

F

249b+

The unit cost of coal supply per barrel of synthetic liquid fuel final products ranges from \$1.63 in the Northern Letcher General Area to \$1.82 in the Johnson-Magoffin General Area for the hydrogenation process and from \$2.10 to \$2.34 in the same General Areas for the coal synthine process in the Eastern Kentucky field. In the Western Kentucky field, for the hydrogenation process, the range is from \$1.13 in the Muhlenberg-McLean General Area to \$1.86 in the Henderson General Area. For the coal synthine process, the cost of
coal per barrel of synthetic liquid fuel final products ranges from \$1.49 in the Hopkins-Christian General Area to \$2.39 in the Henderson General Area. These costs are summarized as follows:

# Total Cost Costs for the Initial Synthetic Liquid Fuels Unit Plants (As of March 31, 1950)

	Btu	C	ost for		Ce	ost for	
	per Pound	Hydro	ogenation	<u>n (A)</u>	Coa	l Synthin	<u>1e (A)</u>
	(As-	_	Per	_	_	Per	_
	received)	Per	Million	Per	Per	Million	Per
General Area	<u>(A)</u>	Ton	<u> </u>	Barrel	Ton	Btu	<b>Barrel</b>
Eastern Kentucky	Field:					•	
Johnson-							
Magoffin	13,730	\$5.11	18.61¢	\$1.82	\$5.11	18.61¢	\$2.34
Pike	14,090	4.76	16.89′	1.66	<b>4.</b> 76	16.89	2.13
Floyd-Magoffin Knott-	13,430	4.66	17.35	1.70	4.66	17.35	2.19
Breathitt	13,750	4.66	16.95	1.66	4.66	16.95	2.14
Perry-		-		-		-	• –
Breathitt	13.490	4.66	17.27	1.69	4.66	17.27	2.18
Leslie-Harlan	13,680	4.66	17.03	1.67	4.66	17.03	2.15
Northern	•						
Letcher	13,970	4.66	16.68	1.63	4.66	16.68	2.10
Harlan-Letcher	13,980	4.76	17.02	1.67	4.76	17.02	2.14
Bell	13,800	4.71	17.07	1.67	4.71	17.07	2.15
Western Kentucky	Field:						
Daviess	10,790	\$3.76	17.42¢	\$1.71	\$3.79	17.56¢	\$2.21
Henderson	10,960	4.16	18.98	1.86	4.16	18.98	2.39
Union	12,340	3.65	14.79	1.45	3.65	14.79	1.86
Webster	12,400	3.39	13.67	1.34	3.44	13.87	1.75
Hopkins-							
Christian	11,920	2.81	11.79	1.16	2.81	11.79	1.49
Muhlenberg-							
McLean	12,130	2.81	11.58	1.13	2.89	11.91	1.50
Ohio	11,520	2.79	12.11	1.19	2.79	12.11	1.53

Note: (A) Based on average Btu of strip and underground mined coal (as required) for the initial plant.

The estimates of costs presented in this survey are based on available information and on generalized, present-day methods of mining and preparation. The installation of mining operations to provide coal supply for a specific synthetic liquid fuels plant should be preceded by detailed engineering studies, including د Ky

247c 248a

10

70023

ľ

drilling programs, before final methods of operation and firm estimates of costs can be established.

Incremental Cost of Coal for Ultimate Unit Plants. The foregoing estimates represent weighted average costs assuming that strip coal will be used to the fullest extent in Daviess, Webster, Hopkins-Christian, Muhlenberg-McLean, and Ohio General Areas. In these General Areas continued operation of the initial unit plant or of additional plant capacity would eventually necessitate exclusive dependence upon underground-mined coal. Under such circumstances, the total costs of coal in those General Areas would be:

> Total Cost of Coal for Ultimate Synthetic Liquid Fuels Unit Plants Using Underground-Mined Coal Exclusively (As of March 31, 1950)

	Btu per Pound	Hy	Cost for drogenat:	ion (A)	Coa Coa	ost for 1 Synthia	ne (A)
General Area	(As- received) (A)	Per Ton	Per Million <u>Btu</u>	Per Barrel	Per Ton	Per Million <u>Btu</u>	Per Barrel
Daviess	10,790	\$3.89	18.03¢	\$1.77	\$3.65	(B)	-
Webster	12,400	3.65	14.72	1.44		14.72¢	\$1,85
Hopkins-Christia	n 11,990	3.81	15.89	1.56	3.81	15.89	2.00
Muhlenberg-McLea	n 12,120	3.81	15.72	1.54	3.81	15.72	1.98
Ohio	11,710	3.99	17.04	1.67	3.99	17.04	2.15

Note: (A) Based on weighted average Btu of underground reserves.

(B) Insufficient coal reserves in Daviess General Area to warrant consideration of more than one unit plant for 40 years.

Ky 248b 249 10 70021

#### WATER SUPPLY PLAN AND ESTIMATES OF COST FOR GENERAL AREAS

In order to permit more detailed studies for water supply developments for each General Area, and to prepare cost estimates, a representative plant size or terminal point for the water works system has been arbitrarily selected. While proposed receiving points for coal and topographic and geographic features of the Area are considered in the selection of such a point, it is, in the final analysis, arbitrary and is in no way intended to represent a recommended plant location.

Similarly, the source of water for the unit plant in each Area is chosen as being representative in development cost for the Area. Most of the projects chosen for making cost estimates have been checked by field surveys, but detailed investigations are beyond the scope of this report. It may be expected therefore that, in some instances, the storage reservoir projects could not be built as described. In some instances, detailed investigations might indicate the need for modifications, but the over-all unit costs should not be materially changed thereby.

Facilities Required. The water supply projects are made up of the facilities required for conserving stream runoff and transporting water from the selected source to the arbitrary plant location and for temporaty storage and treatment works at this terminal point. The projects are based upon a water supply system adequate for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels plant and its supporting population. The principal elements of the water supply system, which are discussed in the following paragraphs, are assumed to be representative of the requirements for each of the General Areas in Kentucky.

Impounding Reservoir. Impounding reservoirs would be required on the smaller streams to furnish water during dry-weather periods of low flow. The method for determining the size of the reservoir required is discussed earlier in this report. The impounding reservoirs generally would be less than 90 feet in depth and, in most cases, the dams would be of concrete, gravity type in the western part of the State. In eastern Kentucky, they would consist of earthen embankments with concrete spillways. In general, where other agencies have proposed or built dams in Kentucky, these types have been recommended or used. In general, no site has been considered where it would be necessary to move the main line of a railroad system, but in some instances the relocation of branch lines might be necessary.

Pumping Station. It would be necessary to provide pumping stations for each of the 16 General Areas. For a synthetic liquid fuels unit project, requiring 13.1 mgd or 20.3 cfs, the pumping station would consist of three electrically driven pumps of

Κу

501

approximately 8 mgd or 12.4 cfs capacity each, with auxiliary standby gasoline engines for two of the pumps. The total pumping head would vary for each of the several General Areas and would depend upon the difference in elevation between the intake and the assumed plant location and the head loss due to friction in the pipe line. In the estimates, an additional allowance of 50 feet has been made for hydraulic losses in the treatment plant and for the distribution of water in the synthetic liquid fuels plant.

Aqueduct. A 30-inch diameter pressure pipe line, extending along the most probable route from the water works intake to the assumed plant site, has been used for cost estimates.

Electric Power Transmission Lines and Substations. It is assumed that electric power for operating the pumps would be generated at the synthetic liquid fuels plant and would be transmitted to the pumping station by means of a power transmission line extending along the pipe line right-of-way. The cost of power delivered to the pumping station, estimated in this manner, would be substantially the same as the cost of power available from the several utility companies in Kentucky. There are no existing Federal hydroelectric power projects in Kentucky from which low-cost power might be obtained.

Storage Basin at Assumed Plant Site. A 13.1 million gallon storage basin, equal to one day's supply, is included to provide a reserve source of water in the event of pump failures, or a break in the pipe line, and also to serve as a settling basin for the removal of turbidity during periods of high water. It is expected that the settled water from the basin would be of suitable quality for cooling purposes and for coal preparation. In the Pike and Leslie-Harlan General Areas, no storage basin has been provided because of the proximity of the storage reservoir to the plant site.

Filter Plant. Filtered water would be required in all instances for the domestic water supply, for the sanitary water in plant and mine, for boiler make-up, and for other minor process uses. It is estimated that 3.5 mgd, or 27 percent of the total supply, would require filtration. Of this, 1.94 mgd is estimated for domestic use and 1.56 mgd for process. A filter plant of 5 mgd capacity is included in order to take care of peak demands, particularly during the summer months when domestic requirements might be unusually high. The cost of filtered water storage is included in the treatment plant estimates. No allowance is made for softening of boiler water, since this is considered a process cost.

Costs of Water Supply Projects for Suitable General Areas

251b

po21

Total construction costs and annual costs have been estimated on the basis of prices prevailing as of March 1950. Since it is assumed that water supply for a synthetic liquid fuels plant's supporting population would be paid for by the consumers, these costs have been allocated between domestic and process supply on the basis of use. It is to be noted that about 55.4 percent of the filter plant costs is chargeable to domestic supply, whereas only about 14.8 percent of the other water supply components is allocated to domestic consumers.

<u>Capital Costs.</u> Construction cost estimates are based on works necessary for a single synthetic liquid fuels unit project. The indicated cost trends for large water supplies for full development of the fuel resources are approximate, since they assume full development at one time. Step-by-step construction over a period of years is more likely, and the unit savings in water costs, indicated for an immediate full-scale development, would not be realized in many instances.

The reservoir and pipe line cost estimates include allowances for the purchase of land and rights-of-way and for the relocation of existing roads and other structures where necessary. All construction cost estimates include an allowance of about 20 percent for engineering and contingencies.

Annual Operating Costs. The principal elements of annual cost have been estimated as follows:

Power. Electric power required for pumping the water from the source to the assumed plant site is based upon a wire-to-water efficiency of 75 percent and a unit cost of 7 mills per kilowatthour. An allowance for transmission and transformer losses is included in the estimated power requirements.

at \$20,000 per year in all Areas. This has been estimated

Miscellaneous Supplies and Repairs. These have been estimated at \$5,000 per year in all Areas.

Filtration. It is recognized that chemical costs would vary substantially in the several Areas. However, a total unit operating cost of \$15 per million gallons is assumed to be representative of filter plant costs in the region. This figure includes all operating costs, such as labor, chemicals, supervision, repairs, and maintenance. 202

Fixed Charges. Property taxes and insurance have been taken as 1 percent of the total depreciable capital costs. Depreciation is estimated on a straight-line basis, with a 40-year life assumed for major structures, such as dams, buildings, and pipe lines; and a 20-year life for equipment, such as motors, pumps, and transformers. Return on the investment, or interest, is not included in the fixed charges for water supply, so the estimates show the cost of water without this item. There is shown, however, the additional cost of water supply which would be incurred if interest at 1 percent were included.

# Cost of Water by General Areas of Coal and Water Availability

The paragraphs following include a brief description of the water supply developments for each General Area, with a summary statement of the estimated construction costs and annual costs, allocated between domestic and process water supply. A unit water cost per barrel of products is shown, which includes that water properly chargeable to process and mining. The cost trends for complete development of all the fuel resources are also indicated. A more detailed summary of the water supply costs for each General Area is shown on Exhibit No. 39. The General Areas and arbitrarily chosen plant sites are shown on Exhibit No. 40.

Johnson-Magoffin General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a pumping station on Levisa Fork near Paintsville, 0.25 mile of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimates also include an allowance for increasing the capacity of the existing Dewey Reservoir on Johns Creek by 8,000 AF in order to increase the low flows on Levisa Fork during periods of drought. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrelper-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39 are:

V	vate	er-supp	ly	Costs	
(As	of	March	31	, 1950)	_

	Construction Costs	Annual Costs
Process Domestic	\$ 891,000 369,000	\$ 76,050 32,550
Total	\$1,260,000	\$108,600

Cost of water for process use: 2.1 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 0.2 cents per barrel of products.

10001

Кy

252

253:

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for a daily production of 32,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 65 cfs would be needed. This quantity of water could be made available by a 30,000 AF increase in the capacity of Dewey Reservoir. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately the same as the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

Pike General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a 12,900 AF storage reservoir on Johns Creek, a low-head booster pumping station immediately below the dam, 0.25 miles of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

#### Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Construction Costs	Annual Costs
Process Domestic	\$2,846,000 708,000	\$136,070 <u>42,970</u>
Total	\$3,554,000	\$179,0 <del>4</del> 0

Cost of water for process use: 3.7 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 0.8 cent per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for a daily production of 392,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 794 cfs would be needed. Development of local tributary streams might yield as much as 375 cfs, or less than half of the total water required for full concurrent utilization of the coal resources. If full development should ever take place, it would be necessary to extend a pipe line from the Ohio River more than 85 miles away. A large-scale development of this kind would permit the use of large pipe lines, pumping stations, etc., and some savings could be realized. It is therefore estimated that the unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately 90 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

Floyd-Magoffin General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a 10,900-AF regulating reservoir on Mud Creek, a pumping station downstream on Levisa Fork opposite the synthetic liquid fuels plant assumed location, a 2-mile pipe line and power

253b 254a

45

transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

### Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Construction Costs	Annual Costs
Process Domestic	<b>\$3,</b> 170,000 766,000	\$153,710 <u>46,050</u>
Total	\$3,936,000	\$199,760

Cost of water for process use: 4.2 cents per barrel
 of products.
Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital
 investment: 0.9 cent per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for a daily production of 155,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels a water supply of 314 cfs would be needed. This quantity of water could be made available by construction of four reservoirs on the headwaters of Levisa Fork with a total storage capacity of approximately 207,000 AF. The four sites that might be used are the Fishtrap site on Levisa Fork proposed by the Corps of Engineers and sites on Mud Creek, Long Fork, and Elkhorn Creek. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately 60 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project. However, if the Fishtrap site were not available for synthetic liquid fuels purposes, other reservoirs could be built on the Licking River, Mud Creek, and Elkhorn Creek, although at a substantially greater cost.

Knott-Breathitt General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a 24,600-AF reservoir on Caney Fork, a pumping station immediately below the dam, 4-1/2 miles of pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

Ky • <u>254b</u> <u>4</u> 70021

# Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Construction Costs	Annual Costs
Process Domestic	\$6,750,000 1,387,000	\$288,860 69,510
Total	<u>\$8,137,000</u>	\$358,370

Cost of water for process use: 7.9 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 1.8 cents per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 99,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 200 cfs would be needed. This larger quantity of water could be obtained by the construction of a 144,000-AF reservoir on Troublesome Creek, some distance west of the General Area. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately 50 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

<u>Perry-Breathitt General Area.</u> Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a pumping station on the North Fork of the Kentucky River near the plant site, 1/2 mile of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. Stream flows in the North Fork would be supplemented by discharges from a 9,300-AF reservoir constructed on Lotts Creek. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

# Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Construction Costs	Annual Costs
Process Domestic	\$3,957,000 902,000	\$181,260 50,830
Total	\$4,859,000	\$232,090

10

Кy

0021

Cost of water for process use: 5.0 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 1.1 cents per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 74,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 150 cfs would be needed. This quantity of water could be obtained from the North Fork of the Kentucky River by increasing the capacity of the Lotts Creek reservoir to 110,600 AF. The drainage area tributary to that reservoir, however, would be inadequate to assure refilling such a large reservoir during years of low flow; it would be necessary to pump water from the North Fork into the reservoir during flood season. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately 60 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrelper-day project.

Leslie-Harlan General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a 10,800-AF storage reservoir near the assumed plant site on the Middle Fork of the Kentucky River, a low-head booster pumping station, 1/2 mile of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

> Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Construction Costs	Annual Costs
Process Domestic	\$4,175,000 939,000	\$185,480 51,560
Total	\$5,114,000	\$237,040

Cost of water for process use: 5.1 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 1.1 cents per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 53,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 107 cfs would be needed. This quantity of water could be obtained from the Middle Fork of the Kentucky River if the reservoir capacity were increased to 54,100 AF. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately 50 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

Northern Letcher General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a 11,500-AF storage reservoir on Carr Fork a pumping station immediately below the dam, 8 miles of 30-inch pipe

7002:

Кy

255

line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

# Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Construction Costs	Annual Costs
Process Domestic	\$5,75 <b>4,</b> 000 1,214,000	\$301,130 71,650
Total	\$6,968,000	\$372,780

Cost of water for process use: 8.3 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 1.6 cents per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 58,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 117 cfs would be needed. This quantity of water could be obtained by the construction of an 86,500-AF storage reservoir on Right Fork. The drainage area tributary to such a reservoir would not be sufficient to refill it during periods of low flow, and it would be necessary to pump water into the reservoir from the North Fork of the Kentucky River during periods of high flow. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately 65 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

Harlan-Letcher General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a 11,200-AF regulating reservoir on Cranks Creek, an intake and pumping station on Martins Fork several miles downstream from the reservoir, about 1 mile of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

<u></u>		-Bupping Cobob
(As	of	March 31, 1950)
•		

Motor annal - deate

	<u>Costs</u>	Annual Cost	t B
Process Domestic	\$4,619,000 _1,017,000	\$214,810 56,650	ŧ
Total	\$5,636,000	\$217,460	

Cost of water for process use: 5.9 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 1.3 cents per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for a daily production of 166,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 336 cfs would be needed. This quantity of water could be obtained, but only by building a 250,000-AF reservoir on Straight Creek some distance away. The Straight Creek drainage area, furthermore, is too small to assure refilling of the reservoir during dry years, and water would have to be pumped to the reservoir from the Cumberland River during its periods of high water. The estimated unit capital cost of a development of this size would be 75 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

Bell General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a pumping station on the Cumberland River near the plant site, 1 mile of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

## Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Construction <u>Costs</u>	Annual Costs
Process Domestic	\$4,246,000 952,000	\$216,870 57,010
Total	\$5,198,000	\$273,880

Cost of water for process use: 5.9 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each | percent interest on capital investment: 1.2 cents per barrel of products.

208

258a

257Ъ

К¥

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 33,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 67 cfs would be needed. This larger quantity of water could be obtained by building a 33,000-AF reservoir on Stinking Creek and an intake farther down on the Cumberland River. Under this plan, water would have to be pumped back up the Cumberland valley for a distance of 10 or 15 miles and operating costs would be correspondingly high. The estimated unit capital cost of a development of this size would be approximately 80 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

Daviess General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a pumping station on the Green River near the assumed plant location, 1/4 mile of pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

#### Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Construction Costs	Annual Costs
Process Domestic	\$495,000 300,000	\$62,980 30,270
Total	\$795,000	\$93,250

Cost of water for process use: 1.7 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 0.1 cent per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of slightly more than 10,000-barrelsper-day of synthetic liquid fuels by the hydrogenation process, the water supply already estimated would be adequate. The coal resources of the area are, in fact, not quite adequate for even one coal synthine unit plant.

Henderson General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon an intake and pumping station on the Ohio River about 5 miles below Henderson, Kentucky, a 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line each 2 miles long, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

0021

Кy

58ъ

59a

(As of March 31, 1950)								
Construction Costs Annual Costs								
Process Dom <del>e</del> stic	\$ 721,000 340,000	\$ 75,720 32,490						
Total	\$1,061,000	\$108,210						

\*\*. 1

Cost of water for process use: 2.1 cents per barrel of products. Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 0.2 cent per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 55,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 111 cfs would be needed. This greater quantity of water is obtainable directly from the Ohio River. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately 60 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000barrel-per-day project.

Union General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon intake works and a pumping station on the Ohio River just above its junction with the Wabash River, 1.5 miles of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)			
	Construction Costs	Annual Costs	
Process Domestic	\$628,000 324,000	\$66,690 30,930	
Total	\$952,000	\$97,620	

Cost of water for process use: 1.8 cents per barrel of products. Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 0.2 cent per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 80,000 barrels of synthetic liquid

70021

Ky

fuels, a water supply of 162 cfs would be needed. This quantity of water could be obtained directly from the Ohio River. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be about 50 percent of the unit capital cost for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

Webster General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon an intake works and pumping station on the Tradewater River near the assumed plant location, 2 miles of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

> Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Construction Costs	Annual Cost:		
Process Domestic	\$3,231,000 776,000	\$156,480 <u>46,540</u>		
Total	\$4,007,000	\$203,020		

Cost of water for process use: 4.3 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 0.9 cent per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 106,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 215 cfs would be needed. This could be obtained from the Ohio River. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately 50 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

Hopkins-Christian General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon a 20,200-AF storage reservoir on Lick Creek, a pumping station immediately below the dam, 9 miles of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:



108.00 160a

	Wa	atei	r-su	ppl	y C	osts	
(	As	of	Mar	'ch	31.	1950)	į.

	Construction Costs	Annual Costs		
Process Domestic	\$6,766,000 1,389,000	\$289,360 69,590		
Total	\$8,155,000	\$358,950		

Cost of water for process use: 7.9 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 1.9 cents per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 183,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 371 cfs would be needed. This very much larger quantity of water would have to be obtained from the Ohio River. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately 25 percent of the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

Muhlenberg-McLean General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon intake works and a pumping station on the Green River near Central City, 6 miles of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)				
	Construction Costs	Annual	Costs	
Process Domestic	\$1,209,000 <u>4</u> 25,000	\$ 93 35	,030 ,510	
Total	\$1,634,000	\$128	,540	

Cost of water for process use: 2.5 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 0.3 cent per barrel of products.

70021

Ky

260Ъ

261a

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 137,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 277 cfs would be needed. This large quantity of water is available in the Green River, but regulating storage of 124,000-AF would be necessary. Such storage might be built at dam sites on Welch Creek, Reedy Creek, and Bear Creek. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately 45 percent more than the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

Ohio General Area. Cost estimates for this Area are based upon an intake and pumping station on the Green River, 3-1/2 miles of 30-inch pipe line and power transmission line, storage basin, and treatment works. The estimated costs for a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthetic liquid fuels unit project, as shown on Exhibit No. 39, are:

### Water-supply Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Con	struction Costs	Ann	Costs	
Process Domestic	\$	898,000 370,000	\$	79 33	,530 ,150
Total	<b>\$</b> 1	,268,000	\$.	112	,680

Cost of water for process use: 2.2 cents per barrel of products.

Additional cost for each 1 percent interest on capital investment: 0.2 cent per barrel of products.

If all of the coal resources in the Area should be developed for the daily production of 64,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels, a water supply of 130 cfs would be needed. This quantity of water could be obtained from the Green River by providing 55,100-AF of storage for low-flow control purposes on Muddy Creek. The estimated unit capital cost for a development of this size would be approximately twice the unit capital cost of water for a single 10,000-barrel-per-day project.

#### Hydroelectric Possibilities

Water could not be supplied to unit synthetic liquid fuels projects in any of the 16 General Areas of Kentucky without pumping. In most cases, the full capacity of the contemplated reservoirs and drainage areas would be needed to furnish necessary water during dry periods. Therefore, the generation of hydroelectric

)021

31b

32a¥

Á

power in connection with synthetic liquid fuels unit projects would be neither feasible nor economical. Even where water was released from a reservoir to an intake farther downstream, generation of power would not be economical because such discharges would be relatively small and discontinuous; only low heads would be available. Increasing the size of reservoirs for unit projects to provide sufficient head for power production would not be warranted.

Where full development of the coal resources of an Area would require large reservoirs, such as the Fishtrap Reservoir proposed by the Corps of Engineers, hydroelectric units might be installed at the dam to use the water released for synthetic liquid fuels purposes. Detailed investigations in specific cases would be required to determine the costs and prospective benefits of any such program. In general, it appears that hydroelectric developments in conjunction with water supply systems for synthetic liquid fuels plants would not be warranted.

Ку

262x

262d

### POWER

#### Requirements

For a 10,000-barrel-per-day plant using the coal synthine process, it is estimated that the power requirements will amount to 114,500 kw. However, waste heat recovery arrangements will have sufficient output to supply the steam needed to generate this amount of electricity plus 3,500 kw for the mine. Outside power would be required only for construction purposes, for starting up the process plant, and as emergency stand-by.

For a 10,000-barrel-per-day plant using the hydrogenation process, it is estimated that the total power load will be 65,000 kw at 100 percent load factor. Only 40,000 kw of this can be classed as prime power, because the remaining 25,000 kw will be by-product power produced in conjunction with process steam. The 40,000 kw of prime power plus 3,000 kw of mine load would be supplied from the most economical source of power, whether it be a generating station constructed as an integral part of the synthetic liquid fuels plant, a hydroelectric development, or a public utility.

### Existing Facilities

On Exhibit No. 41, there are indicated the power plant facilities now available to the coal-producing areas of Kentucky. On page 1 of this exhibit are tabulated the identification, ownership, and capacity of each such power plant.

In the State of Kentucky, there are 16 General Areas each with reserves of coal and water sufficient for the operation of at least one synthetic liquid fuels unit plant. Nine of the General Areas are in the eastern part of the State and seven in the west. All nine of the eastern Areas either are on or in close proximity to the transmission lines of the Kentucky and West Virginia Power Company, Inc. All seven Areas in the western part of the State either are on or in close proximity to the transmission lines of the Kentucky Utilities Company.

Kentucky and West Virginia Power Company is a unit in the integrated system of the American Gas & Electric Company which extends from South Bend, Ind., through Indiana, Ohio, Kentucky, West Virginia, and Virginia to Roanoke, Va As of the end of 1949, the system had a maximum demand of 2,041,145 kw, with a system generating capability of 2,136,000 kw. The system reserve, therefore, was 94,855 kw and was scheduled to be increased to 426,000 kw in 1951 and to 601,000 kw in 1952. Kentucky Utilities Company is an independent utility serving 72 counties in Kentucky from eight steam stations and two hydro stations, which had a combined capacity of 151,040 kw as of the end of 1949. This was scheduled to be increased to 213,040 kw in 1951. In addition to its own generating facilities, Kentucky Utilities Company has interconnections with Central Illinois Public Service Company, Kentucky Electric Power Company, Louisville Gas & Electric Company, and Tennessee Valley Authority. However, since Kentucky Utilities Company purchases from other utilities a large part of the power it sells, it is apparent that there would be no reserve capacity available in its existing or proposed generating stations for a supply of power to synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky.

## Proposed Hydroelectric Developments

The Corps of Engineers prepared a report entitled "Potential Water Power Sites - As Summarized from Reports by the Corps of Engineers to the Congress - Edition of March 1935". The following sites, which are either within or reasonably close to the General Areas in Kentucky, have been designated in the report as potential sources of hydroelectric energy.

# Potential Water Power Sites Selected by the Corps of Engineers (Costs as of March 1935 or earlier)

Project No.	Name of Project	Head in <u>Feet</u>	Capacity in Megawatts	Cost per Installed Kw	Annual Output (Million Kwhr)	Cost per Kwhr (M111s)
1128	Wolf Creek	160	221	\$139	455.0	3.55
1132	System No. 5	143	60	451	1.450.0	3.06
1133	System No. 6	51	121	146	1.740.0	2.98
1135	System No. 8	170	30.7	155	2.280.0	3.20
1139	Rockcastle				_,	
	Narrows	132	19.2	327	3.5	8.30
1140	Laurel	245	27.8	270	48.2	10.50
1141	Aurora Landing	50	334.0	126		-
1400	Chestnut	39	12.5	72	53.0	2.00
1401	Prestonburg	39	8.8	86	38.0	2.20
1402	State Line	143	24.7	94	61.0	3.60
1403	Towers	384	70.5	161	165.0	6.00
1404	Pound	156	7.6	244	.17.0	7.50
1405	Cranes Nest	154	5.3	317	12.0	12.00
1406	Fishtrap	157	23.0	60	51.0	2.80
1407	Dewey	101	6.7	83	17.0	3.30
1452	Lock 13	28	8.7	256	22.0	9.70
1454	Booneville	128	71.2	125	41.0	21.50
1455	Buckhorn	89	16.1	179	9.0	29.7
1456	Fincastle	63	14.4	203	8.0	32.4
1457	Laurel Branch	63	14.4	203	8.0	32.4
1477	Golconda					
·	Reservoir	39.	5 175.0	165	767.0	2.9

#### Power Cost

It is estimated that the average cost for producing power from steam at a synthetic liquid fuels plant, assuming 100 percent load factor, will be about 6.64 mills per kilowatthour, depending on the Area under consideration. This estimate includes an allowance for depreciation on a 15-year life basis but excludes any allowance for return on the investment or for income taxes. The application of a rational depreciation allowance even with allowances for return and profit should not materially increase the estimated cost of power. On the other hand, use of the higher-ash fractions from process coal washing, which might not have a ready market, might effect substantial savings in power costs.

263b 266a 2 70021

### Conclusions

Sufficient power for plant construction, for starting up the process plant, and as emergency stand-by would be available from the local utility in each of the 16 General Areas. ۶.

Since, in the coal synthine process, steam from waste heat would be available from the process in sufficient quantity to supply all the operating power needs, it would be necessary to furnish additional power facilities only for construction purposes, for starting up the process plant, and as emergency stand-by. In the hydrogenation process, the magnitude of the installation required for handling process coal alone, together with the desirability of an outlet for the higher-ash fractions of the washed coal would usually make purchase of outside power disadvantageous.

However, in the nine eastern General Areas, served by the Kentucky and West Virginia Power Company, the availability of an ample supply of outside power at an unusually low rate per kilowatthour makes it advisable, in the final consideration of a possible synthetic liquid fuels plant site in eastern Kentucky, to survey carefully the exact quality and costs of coals available and to design a power plant with equipment to handle such coal economically. The possible new plant should estimate the cost of producing its own power on a basis comparable to that used by the utility. Outside power sources are desirable as stand-by capacity. The possible mutual advantage of integrating the electric generation of the plant into an existing power network should be given careful consideration.

For the seven General Areas in western Kentucky, the higher cost of outside utility power would probably eliminate it in the final analysis of a synthetic liquid fuels plant site.

#### ACCESS TRANSPORTATION

The construction and operation of a synthetic liquid fuels plant and its auxiliary coal mine facilities will, in general, require a direct rail or water connection and a highway connection. Such services would be essential during the construction period to move in the large volume of construction materials and plant equipment and later to transport plant and community supplies and plant products, other than the primary product of synthetic liquid fuels. The latter may be handled either by rail, highway, or pipe line as described in the section of this report pertaining to "Marketing".

The coal areas in the State of Kentucky are in two distinct regions, the larger field being the Eastern Kentucky field in the Appalachian region; the other is the Western Kentucky field.

The eastern Kentucky region is very rough and broken and dominated by the Cumberland and Pine Mountains, which run in a generally northeast-southwesterly direction. The river valleys of the Cumberland, Kentucky, and Big Sandy River systems in this part of the State are deep and narrow between the mountain folds. This has made provision of railroad transportation generally difficult and fraught with many engineering problems. However, the extensive areas of high-grade coal, steam and coking and the proximity of active, large markets has resulted in an intensive railroad construction program during the past 35 to 40 years, bringing the major portion of this Eastern Kentucky field within reach of one or another of the major railroad systems tapping this region.

The western part of the State lies in the Highland Rim Plateau generally sloping toward the Mississippi River, and is not as rugged as the eastern part of the State. It has been generally covered by the Louisville and Nashville or Illinois Central Railroads in serving needs in and out of the Louisville area, south and west, and by numerous branch lines reaching into the developed coal fields in this region. Being less rugged than the eastern region of the State, extensions of railroad branches do not present comparable engineering difficulty, except in avoiding the need for or in crossing some of the several rivers flowing into the Ohio.

Railroad access is essential but it is also important that highway access be assured for truck movement in and out of the plant and for transportation of personnel to and from the Area. The Eastern Kentucky field has been generally supplied with a complete network of highways following the development of this region from a coal-mining standpoint. Major Federal highways, however, are few due to the past backwardness of the region and the difficulty of traversing the broken mountainous terrain. However, no General Area is far remote from a paved road system; they generally are reachable by a road that can readily be improved to provide a hard-

surfaced connection. The Western Kentucky field, offers less obstacles to highway construction and is contiguous to a more completely developed industrial area, north and south beyond the State confines. With a terrain that has resulted in much more advanced general development within the State, it is quite well crisscrossed with a hard-surfaced highway system.

While water transportation is available on the Tennessee and Ohio Rivers, and to a limited extent on the Green River, the location of the General Areas is such that water transportation cannot be considered available, except for very limited usage for which intermediate rehandling would be required.

The estimated cost of access facilities for each of the 16 General Areas in Kentucky is given in the following table. Under the column heading, General Area, the first item describes the required railroad facilities and the second item the required access highway facilities from the public paved highway system. In order to prepare cost estimates, a representative plant site, consistent with topographic and geographic features of each General Area, has been arbitrarily selected. The selection of such a point, in the final analyses, is arbitrary and is in no way intended to represent a recommended plant location.

The amounts shown for railroad facilities under construction and operating costs are based on the assumption that the plants will bear full construction and maintenance costs of the required facility. Operating costs are to provide for maintenance at an annual rate of 5 percent of the capital costs for such facilities.

In the case of access highway facilities, costs represent one-half the construction costs with no direct maintenance charges. It has been assumed that local governments would bear one-half the construction costs and maintain the highways after their completion. Under operating costs, the amounts charged against highway facilities are to provide for 40-year depreciation at an annual rate of 2.5 percent of the capital costs shown. Highway costs are based on a 20-foot highway of rough aggregate, bituminous-bound surface, 3 inches thick on a 9 to 12-inch base course.

*	Estimated Cost of A by General	ccess Facil: Areas	ities	
	(As of March 31 <u>General Area</u>	, 1950) Capital <u>Cost</u>	Annual Operating Cost	Daily Operating Cost
	Johnson-Magoffin			х
	Approximately 0.7 mile from Chesapeake and Ohio, southeast of Paintsville, Kentucky, near Thelma, along the bank of Levisa Fork; moderate grading.	\$ 75,000	\$ 3,750	\$ <u>10</u>
	Metal-surfaced road, from Paints- ville through Thealka to plant site, may possibly require re- surfacing.	0	0	0
	Total	\$ 75,000	\$ 3,750	<u>\$ 10</u>
	Pike			
	Approximately 7.0 miles from the Norfolk and Western branch up Pinson Fork from Williamson, with approximately 0.5 mile tun- nel required through the moun- tains to Rockhouse Fork, follow- ing it, Meathouse Fork, and Johns Creek to plant site; moderately heavy grading with some pos- sible bridging.	s \$2,250,000	\$112,500	\$308
	Improve approximately 4.0 miles of existing road from U.S. Highway 19 near Meta, along Johns Creek.	50,000	1,250	4
7	Total	\$2,300,000	<u>\$113,750</u>	\$312
	Floyd-Magoffin			
y '* 9 0	Approximately 0.3 mile from Chesapeake and Ohio up Beaver Creek, including a bridge cross- ing of the creek; moderately easy grading.	\$ 180,000	\$ 9,000	<b>\$</b> 25
0021	Adjacent to improved Highway 80, plant facility road only.	0		0
-	Total	\$ 180,000	\$ 9,000	\$ 25

General Area	Capital <u>Cost</u>	Annual Operating <u>Cost</u>	Daily Operating <u>Cost</u>
Knott-Breathitt			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Approximately 3.0 miles, with pos- sibly 0.25 mile tunnel, from the new Wayland-Deane extension of the Chesapeake and Ohio, Elkhorn and Beaver Valley subdivision; moderately heavy grading.	\$1,060,000	\$53,000	<b>\$</b> 145
Improve approximately 3.8 miles of existing road up Terry Fork to Beaver Creek from junction with Highway 80; may require some widening.	67,500	_1,688	5
Total	\$1,127,500	\$54,688	<u>\$ 150</u>
<u>Perry-Breath1tt</u>			
Approximately 1.0 mile from Louis- ville and Nashville branch near Darfolk; moderately heavy side- hill grading.	\$ 125,000	\$ 6,250	\$ 17
Adjacent to Highway 80, plant facility road only	0	0	0
Total	<u>\$ 125,000</u>	\$ 6,250	<u>\$ 17</u>
Leslie-Harlan			
Approximately 15.5 miles from the Louisville and Nashville on the North Fork of the Kentucky River near Busy, up Willard Creek, crossing by heavy cut - approxi- mately 1,000-foot tunnel to Peavine Branch, down it to Mac- Intosh Creek, up Outshine Creek to Flackey Branch, across to Davis Branch and Hurricane Creek to the Mioch Branch of the Kentucky River; moderate to heavy grading, possibly some bridge	4		
construction.	\$2,550,000	\$127,500	\$349

Ку

10. 

General Area	Capital Cost	Annual Operating <u>Cost</u>	Daily Operating Cest
Leslie-Harlan (Concluded)	• •		·
Improve approximately 0.9 mile of existing unimproved road from Hurricane Creek along the Middle Fork of the Kentucky River; 1.0 mile of connecting road to junc- tion with Highway 257 at Wind- over may need resurfacing.	\$ 26,000	<u>\$ 650</u>	<u>\$ 2</u>
Total	\$2,576,000	\$128,150	<u>\$351</u>
Northern Letcher			
Adjacent to recently completed Louisville and Nashville Duo, Kentucky to Deane, Kentucky branch extension up Rockhouse Creek; access by plant facil- ity siding.	0	0	0
Adjacent to Highway 7, plant facil- ity road only	_0	_0	_0
Total	0	_0	_0
Harlan-Letcher			
Adjacent to Louisville and Nash- ville branch from Harlan, access by plant facility siding.	0	0	0
Adjacent to Highway 66, plant facil ity road only.	0	_0	_0
Total	_0	_0	_0
Bell			
Adjacent to Louisville and Nash- ville branch to Colmar, access by plant facility siding.	O	0	0
Adjacent to Highway 88, plant fa- cility road only.	_0	<u> </u>	_0
Total	_0_	0	0

₹

ń

General Area	Capital Cost	Annual Operating Cest	Daily Operating Cest	¥ .
Daviess			·	
Approximately 10.0 miles from the Louisville and Nashville, Evans- ville branch, near Stanley along the east side of the Green River; moderately easy grading.	\$900,000	\$45,000	\$123	
Improve approximately 0.25 mile of present unimproved road from Curdsville.	4,000	100	0	
Total	\$904,000	\$45,100	\$123	
Hendersen		•		
Adjacent to Illinois Central south- west of Henderson; access by plan facility siding.	t o	0	0	
Improve approximately 0.8 mile of present road from U.S. Highway 41 and construct approximately 0.2 mile of plant access road.	<u>\$ 14,000</u>	<b>\$</b> 350	<u>\$ 1</u>	
Tetal	\$ 14,000	<u>\$ 350</u>	<u>\$ 1</u>	
Union				
Adjacent to Illinois Central, Union- town branch, access by plant fa- cility siding.	- 0	0	0	
Construct approximately 0.3 mile of plant access road from High- way 131 south of Uniontown, in- cluding railroad crossing.	\$ 8,000	\$ 200	<b>\$</b> 1	۲.
Total	\$ 8,000	<u>+ 200</u>	<u>*</u>	Kira
Wohston	<u> </u>	¥	¥	974 î.
				2738
Blackford-Providence branch, access by plant facility siding.	0	0	0	70021

General Area	Capital <u>Cest</u>	Annual Operating Cost	Daily Operating <u>Cest</u>
Webster (Concluded)			
Improve approximately 0.5 mile of ex- isting road from junction with Highway 85.	\$ 8,500	<u>\$ 213</u>	<u>\$_1</u>
Total	\$ 8,500	<u>\$ 213</u>	<u>\$ 1</u>
Hopkins-Christian			
Restore approximately 1.75 miles of former Coiltown branch from Louis- ville and Nashville, Morganfield branch, and construct approximate- ly 0.25 mile of road; easy grading.	\$155,000	<b>\$</b> 7,750	\$ 21
Improve approximately 2.8 miles of present secondary road from junc- tion with Highway 41 at Nebo and approximately 1.0 mile of unim- proved road from Coiltown	53,000	1,325	4
Total	\$208,000	\$9,075	\$ 25
Muhlenberg-McLean			
Adjacent to Illinois Central, access by plant facility siding.	0	0	0
Improve approximately 0.5 mile of present secondary road from junc- tion at Midland with Highway 70. Total	<u>\$ 6,000</u> <u>\$ 6,000</u>	<u>\$ 150</u> <u>\$ 150</u>	<u> </u>
<u>Ohio</u>			
Adjacent to Louisville and Nashville, Morganfield branch, access by plant facility siding.	0	0	0
Resurface Highway 85 from junction with U.S. Highway 62 to Center- town, approximately 5.25 miles, and improve approximately 1.75 miles of present unimproved road, southwest from junction with			
Highway 85.	\$ 83,000	\$2,075	\$ 6
Total	\$ 83,000	\$2,075	\$ 6

#### LABOR

#### General

D021

Determination of the labor force available to a proposed new synthetic liquid fuels unit plant involves a detailed study of the number of workers existing in and around the proposed location together with their characteristics, the nature of their present employment, the extent of unemployment, and the extent to which the proposed new plant would divert existing employment from present industry to itself. Personnel requirements of the proposed plant would then be compared with results of the detailed study to determine the size of the area containing sufficient available labor to satisfy the needs of the plant. Determination of the level of wages to be paid in a unit plant involves consideration of the wage level in such an area prevailing among existing industries comparable to synthetic liquid fuels as regards the skills and experience required of workers.

In this report, such studies by particular locations were not made. Instead, data on the number and composition of the labor force in the State and in the coal counties, data on unemployment in the State, and data on average wages prevailing in selected industries in the State were developed. Conclusions were drawn from such data as to the availability of labor, and as to the prevailing level of wages in an average location in the coal counties, which were applied uniformly to the General Areas within the State.

## Population and Employment Characteristics

The State of Kentucky had a population density of 70.9 persons per square mile in 1940. The 1940 census showed a total population of 2,845,627, of which 849,327, or 29.8 percent, lived in urban areas.

The 1950 census preliminary count shows the population of the State as of April 1, 1950 to be 2,921,708 and the density of population at that time was 72.8 persons per square mile.

The 16 General Areas of Coal and Water Availability in Kentucky occupy part or all of 20 counties, as listed below:

# Coal Counties of Kentucky

East	tern	Wes	tern
Bell Breathitt Floyd Harlan Johnson	Leslie Letcher Magoffin Perry Pike	Christian Daviess Henderson Hopkins McLean	Muhlenberg Ohio Union Webster

In these coal counties, the 1940 population was 697,113, of which 126,371 or 18.1 percent lived in urban areas. The 1950 census preliminary count indicates that while the population of the State as a whole increased by 2.7 percent over 1940, the population in the 20 coal counties decreased by 0.3 percent. Considering eastern and western groups of counties separately, the 11 eastern coal counties had a 1940 population of 433,810, of which 45,940, or 10.6 percent, lived in urban areas. As compared with an over-all increase of 2.7 percent in the population of the State from 1940 to 1950, the population of the 11 eastern coal counties decreased in the same period by 0.1 percent. The 9 western coal counties had a 1940 population of 263,303, of which 80,431, or 30.5 percent, lived in urban areas. The population of these western 11 counties degreased from 1940 to 1950 by 0.5 percent.

Data on population and employment characteristics in Kentucky are shown by Exhibit No. 42 and a summary of these data is shown below as a comparison of population, labor force, and employment, between the State as a whole and the two groups of coal counties.

K: 2751 2761 7 7002:

	Whole	Eastern Whole Kentucky		Western Kentucky	
,	State, 120 Counties	ll Counties	Percent of State	9 Counties	Percent of State
Preliminary U.S. Densus Data - 1950					
Area (Square Miles) Population Population Density	40,109 2,921,708	4,530 433,315	11.3% 14.8	<b>4,204</b> 261,977	10.5% 9.0
Persons per Sq Mi	72.8	95.7		62.3	
<b>U.S.</b> Census Data - 194	<u>10</u>				
Population Residing in Urban	2,845,627	433,810	15.2	263,303	9.3
Number Percent	849,327 29.8%	45,940 10.6%	5.4	80,431 30.5%	9.5
Labor Force: Employed Number Percent of Labor	998,700 847,563	121,709 97,118	12.2 11.5	92,889 73,952	9.3 8.7
Force Occupations of Employed Labor, Percentage of Tota	84.9%	.79 . 8%		79.6 <b>%</b>	
Agriculture Mining Construction Manufacturing	36.5% 7.1 4.2 11.9	28.6% 40.1 2.1 4.3	9.0% 64.3 5.7 4.1	36.3% 13.1 3.8 10.0	8.7% 16.0 7.9 7.3
Service	40.3	24.9	7.1	36.8	8.0

Comparison of Population, Labor Force, and Employment in Kentucky and in the 2 Groups of Coal Counties

The above tabulation shows marked differences between the eastern and western coal counties and between them and the State as a whole. Eastern coal counties had a population density in 1950 of 95.7 persons per square mile; western coal counties had a density of 62.3, while the State as a whole averaged 72.8 persons per square mile. In eastern coal counties the percentage of population (as of 1940) living in urban areas was 10.6; in western coal counties 30.5 and in the entire State 29.8. The percent of the labor force employed was 79.8 and 79.6 in the eastern and western coal counties, respectively, while in the State as a whole this percentage was 84.9. In eastern coal counties the major occupation of employed

'a 121

ib 🗲

T

Y

labor was mining, with 40.1 percent so engaged, while in western coal counties the major occupation (aside from service) was agriculture, with 36.3 percent so engaged.

Estimated Labor Force. In Kentucky, the total labor force, based on the 1940 census, has previously been stated as 998,700. If the labor force has increased proportionately to that of population, the 1950 labor force would be 1,025,401. The labor force of the eastern coal counties on the same basis would be 121,570 or an average of 26,837 per 1,000 square miles, and in the western coal counties 92,421, or an average of 21,984 per 1,000 square miles.

The occupations of almost one-half of the labor force in the State (workers covered by Federal Old-Age and Survivors Insurance), are indicated by the following tabulation. These workers include employes of an employer with as few as one employe.

	Total	State	ll Ea Coal Co	astern Dunties	9 Wes Coal Co	stern Sunties
Industry Group	motol	Bancont	Motol	Boncont	motol	Boncont
MIU-March 1946	Total	Ferdenc	Total	Fercenc	Total_	Fercent
Agriculture, Forestry,					·	
and Fishing	708	0.2%	-	-	30	0.1%
Mining	71,278	16.4	50,243	74.8%	10,285	27.3
Contract Construction	23,448	5.4	811	1.2	1,083	2.9
Manufacturing	140,421	32.3	3,515	5.2	11,220	29.8
Public Utilities	27,399	6.3	1,758	2.6	1,976	5.2
Wholesale Trade	34,093	7.8	1,460	2.2	2,491	6.6
Retail Trade	80,602	18.6	5,353	0.8	6,628	17.6
Finance, Insurance	-					
and Real Estate	15,686	3.6	463	0.7	830	2.2
Service Industries	39,007	9.0	3,020	4.5	2,994	8.0
Other (A)	1,762	0.4	525	0.8	147	0.3
Total	434,404	100.0%	67,148	100.0%	<u>37,684</u>	100.0%

Number of Workers Covered by Federal Old-Age and Survivors Insurance as of Mid-March 1948

Note: (A) Includes groups not elsewhere classified and unclassified.

The balance of the total labor force (disregarding the increase from mid-March 1948 to April 1, 1950) was not covered and consisted of employes of government, railroads, and certain non-profit organizations, agricultural, domestic, and unpaid family workers, those self-employed, and those unemployed. These workers generally,

Ky 277b 278 2792 70021 except some of the unemployed, are of types that do not now have the training or skills required for operation of synthetic liquid fuels plants.

From the above tabulation, it may be seen that in the eastern coal counties mining is by far the predominant occupation of covered workers, 74.8 percent being so engaged. In the western coal counties, mining, while important and engaging 27.3 percent of covered workers, is exceeded by manufacturing, which employs 29.8 percent. In the State as a whole, manufacturing is the predominant occupation, engaging 32.3 percent of covered workers.

The number of workers engaged in manufacturing in the entire State of Kentucky, as shown in the above tabulation, is further broken down by industry groups as shown in Exhibit No. 43. While group totals are available for all counties in the State, individual industry figures are not available for the coal counties.

Seasonal Trends in Employment. Employment of workers covered by the Kentucky Unemployment Compensation Law, as shown in the following table for a recent typical 13-month period, is generally steady, showing little seasonal variation, but rather an irregular decline.

> Workers Covered by Kentucky Unemployment Compensation Law

Month	Monthly Employment	Percent of Average
1948		
June July August September October November December	400,000 395,000 398,000 393,000 391,000 389,000 397,000	103.4% 102.1 102.8 101.6 101.0 100.5 102.6
1949		
January February March April May June	386,000 379,000 374,000 378,000 375,000 376,000	99.7 97.9 96.6 97.7 96.9 97.2
Average	387,000	100.0%



T

9b <u>)a</u>≽ Workers covered by this law exclude employes of government, railroads, and certain non-profit organizations, agricultural, domestic, and unpaid family workers, and those self-employed. Employes of an employer with less than four employes in any three quarters are also excluded, but the number of such employes is small.

<u>Technical Training</u>. While Kentucky is primarily an agricultural State, bituminous coal mining dominates the economy in the southeastern counties, and is important in mid-western counties. There are several industrial areas where technically trained workers may be found, principal among them being centered in Louisville, Ashland (including Huntington, W. Va.), and Lexington. Cincinnati, Ohio, and Evansville, Ind., lie just across the Ohio River from Kentucky, and workers in these cities may be considered as adding to the number of technically trained workers available to a new industry in Kentucky.

The number of workers who are engaged (as of mid-March I948) in industries employing workers of skills comparable to those required in operating and maintaining synthetic liquid fuels plants is indicated by the following table (selected from the industry groups shown on Exhibit No. 43), which table also includes workers in electric and gas utilities.

Industries Emp	loying	Worker	s of	Skills
Comparable	to Thos	se Requ	ired	Ъу
Synthetic	Liquid	Fuels	Plant	ະສັ

	Workers Covered by Old-Age and Survivors Insurance
Manufacturing	
Chemicals and Allied Products	5.141
Products of Petroleum and Coal	1.888
Rubber Products	27
Primary Metal Industries	10,037
Fabricated Metal Products	9,502
Machinery (except Electrical)	13,007
Electrical Machinery, etc.	4,730
Transportation Equipment	2,254
Total Manufacturing	46,586
Electric and Gas Utilities	6,746
Total in All Selected Industries	53,332



#### Unemployment

Unemployment varies from one area to another dependent on local conditions. For a particular area, a survey of conditions prevailing in the area would have to be made to determine its extent. In this report, however, studies by particular areas were not made. Instead, as a measure of the extent of unemployment, the percentage of unemployed workers covered by State Unemployment Insurance to average covered employment in the State were tabulated by months for the years 1947 to 1949 inclusive, and the first 2 months in 1950. These percentages were taken from Bulletins of the Bureau of Employment Security of the U.S. Department of Labor and plotted in the form of a graph as shown in Exhibit No. 44.

Unemployment varied between 2 and 4 percent in the years 1947 and 1948, with an average during those years of 3.1 and 2.9 percent, respectively. During 1949, however, unemployment rose as high as 7.6 percent, with an average for the year of 6.7 percent. This rise continued in the first 2 months of 1950 reaching a peak of 8 percent in February 1950. The average percentage for the 12month period ended February 1950, was 7.0 percent and this percentage has been adopted in this report as representing the degree of unemployment prevailing in the coal counties of the State as of March 31, 1950.

Estimated Total Unemployment. Application of the 7.0 percent of unemployment to the total estimated labor force in 1950 of 1,025,401 would indicate a total number of unemployed in the entire State of Kentucky of 71,778. On the same basis, the unemployed in the eastern coal counties would be 8,510 or 1,879 per 1,000 square miles and in the western coal counties would be 6,469 or 1,539 per 1,000 square miles.

Unemployed Skilled Labor. Assuming that the 7.0 percentage of unemployment in Kentucky applies equally to the 53,332 workers in the industries employing skilled labor (as well as to the total labor force), then the unemployed skilled labor force in the entire State would be 3,733.

Workers in all manufacturing industries in the eastern coal counties have been shown to number 3,515. By application of the same 7.0 percentage of unemployment, the unemployed manufacturing workers in these counties would be 246 or an average of 54 per 1,000 square miles. Similar data for western coal counties indicate unemployed manufacturing workers to number 785 or 187 per 1,000 square miles. The types of manufacture in these coal counties is not available from data of the Old-Age and Surriyors Insurance program, but it is improbable that any appreciable number of workers are in industries comparable to the synthetic liquid fuels industry, as such industries tend to be located in the larger industrial cities of the State.

2a

lb
Personnel Requirements of a Typical Synthetic Liquid Fuels Unit Plant in Kentucky

Total Personnel Requirements. The total requirements of personnel to operate and maintain a typical synthetic liquid fuels plant in Kentucky, to produce all the coal necessary as a raw material for the plant from mines owned or associated directly with the synthetic liquid fuels plant, and to supply the service requirements of such workers and their families, are shown in the following tabulation for the two processes using coal:

#### Total Personnel Requirements of a Unit Plant

	Hydrogenation		Coal Synthine	
	Eastern	Western	Eastern	Western
<b>Unit Plant Employes</b> Coal Mine Employes	1,175 907	1,175 <u>438</u>	1,135 1,167	1,135 574
Total Production Employes	2,082	1,613	2,302	1,709
Service Workers	<u>1,208</u>	936	1,335	991
Total Personnel	<u>3,290</u>	2,549	3,637	2,700

The numbers of unit plant employes shown above are those estimated by the U.S. Bureau of Mines for plants using the two proeesses as shown on the Plant Requirements Sheet, Exhibit No. 1.

The numbers of coal mine employes shown above are those required to produce sufficient coal per annum to meet the fuel requirements of an average unit plant, using heating values and productivities per man-day at the average of those shown for the General Areas in Kentucky in the section of this report entitled "Coal". Development of such numbers of employes is shown in the following tabulation:

KJ 2821 283 7 7002]

	Hydroge	enation	Coal S	ynthine
	Eastern	Western	Eastern	Western
Daily fuel requirement of a unit plant in billions	89	98	126	126
Heating value of coal in Btu per pound, average General	20	<i>4</i> 0	120	120
Area Annual fuel requirement of a	13,770	11,720	13,770	11,720
average General Area Number of working days per	, 1 <u>,</u> 298 <b>,838</b>	1,526,024	1,669,935	1,962,031
annum in coal mines (assumed) Productivity in tons per	240	240	240	240
man-shift of operational coal mine employes in an average General Area, each General Area weighted by				
number of years of opera- tion using strip and underground coal	6.89	16.78	6.89	16. <b>44</b>
mine employes working daily	785	379	1,010	497
Number of operational coal mine employes absent due to accident illness etc				
10%	<u>79</u>	38	101	_50
Total number of opera- tional employes	864	417	1,111	547
5% of operational	43		56	_27
Total coal mine employes	<u>907</u>	<u>438</u>	<u>1,167</u>	<u>574</u>

# Total Number of Coal Mine Employes Necessary To Produce Fuel Requirement of a Unit Plant in Kentucky

The number of service workers shown is 58 percent of total production employes. Such workers and the relation between them and production employes are defined in a succeeding section of this report entitled "Housing and Community Development". Skilled Plant Personnel Required. The U.S. Bureau of Mines estimates that 80 percent of the technical workers in synthetic liquid fuels plants can be trained from inexperienced local labor. A maximum of 20 percent must then consist of workers already possessed of skills or experience required in such plants. The requirements of skilled personnel are tabulated below for the two processes using coal:

#### Skilled Personnel Requirements of a Unit Plant

### Hydrogenation Coal Synthine

Unit Plant Employes 235 227

It was considered that no particular difficulty would be encountered in obtaining the necessary skilled labor for mining operations.

Diversion of Presently Employed Labor. If a unit plant consuming large amounts of coal were to be introduced into an area already containing a large coal mining industry, its requirements of coal may be presumed to have a profound effect on the economy of the industry at least within the county or General Area in which the plant is to be located. It may be reasonably presumed that existing coal mines in the area will be able and willing to divert a portion of their present capacity (at least all of their marginal business) to supplying the unit plant. Thus, a portion of the total personnel requirements of a unit plant may be satisfied by diversion of the productivity of existing coal miners in the area surrounding the plant, to the use of the plant.

The diversion of as much as the total annual requirement of one average unit plant in eastern Kentucky (a maximum of 1,669,935 tons in the case of an average synthine unit plant) would represent a diversion of only 3.1 percent of the 1948 coal production of the eleven eastern coal counties containing General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (53,966,920 tons). Such a diversion could easily be made up without additional manpower by working mines in these counties only 6 days more per year over the average of 198 days worked in 1948. Similarly, diversion of the annual requirement of one average unit plant in western Kentucky (1,962,031 tons in the case of the synthine process) would represent a diversion of 8.9 percent of the 1948 coal production of the 9 western coal counties containing General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (22,025,231 tons). This diversion could be made up in 16 more working days per year over the average of 181 days worked in 1948. Ψ

<u>New Personnel Requirements</u>. When a new industry is introduced in a community its requirement for workers, in excess of that portion met by the diversion of existing production to the new industry, must be satisfied either directly or indirectly by recruiting of new workers; directly from workers who are not now employed, or indirectly from workers who will leave their present employment to work in the new industry and whose places must in turn be filled by recruiting from the ranks of the unemployed. An estimate of the number of new workers required by an average unit plant is shown in the following tabulation:

> Total Requirements of New Personnel for an Average Unit Plant in General Areas of Kentucky

Y

۰.

85b 🕨

86a

0021

	Hydroge	enation	Coal S	ynthine
	Eastern	Western	Eastern	Western
Unit Plant Employes Coal Mine Employes	1,175 0	1,175 0	1,135 0	1,135 93
Total Production Employes	1,175	1,175	1,135	1,228
Service Workers	682	682	658	712
Total Personnel	1,857	1,857	1,793	1,940

The numbers of new plant employes are the same as those previously indicated under "Total Personnel Requirements". Since no such plant as the unit plant exists in the General Area, the total personnel requirements, including skilled workers, are new and must be filled either directly or indirectly by unemployed workers.

The numbers of new coal mine employes are estimated to be those required to supply the fuel requirements of an average unit plant on the same basis as used in developing the total personnel requirements but with the following assumptions regarding diversion of production of existing mines in an average General Area:

(a) That production of existing mines be brought to the capacity possible by working 240 days per annum (the same as that assumed in an associated mine) with the added production diverted to the unit plant.

(b) That one-fifth of the present (1948) production in an average General Area be diverted from its existing market to the unit plant. ٧

KJ.

28( <u>281</u> 7 7002

(c) That the balance of production required by a unit plant will be produced in an associated mine working 240 days per annum.

The estimated number of coal miners required is developed in Exhibit No. 45.

Service workers are estimated at 58 percent (service to production worker ratio previously explained) of the new production workers required. It is logical to assume that service workers would be reduced in proportion to the reduction in production workers made possible by diversion of marginal coal production to the plant and the use of more working days per year.

# Comparison of Personnel Requirements of a Unit Plant and Unemployment

The extent to which the new personnel requirements of a unit plant are met by the unemployed labor in the area surrounding the plant in an average location in the coal counties of Kentucky is indicated by the following tabulation:

and Size	e of Area Contain To Satisfy	ning Sufficien Requirements	nt Unemploy	yed
	New Personnel	Unemployed	Size of A Sufficien To Satisf	rea Containing nt Unemployed y Requirement
Description and Process	Requirement of a Unit Plant	per 1,000 Square Miles	Sq Miles	Radius-Miles
Eastern Coal Count	ies			
Total Personnel: Hydrogenation Coal Synthine	1,857 1,793	1,879 1,879	988 954	·17.7 17.4
Skilled Personnel Hydrogenation Coal Synthine	235 227			
Western Coal Count	ties			
Total Personnel: Hydrogenation Coal Synthine	1,857 1,940	1,539 1,539	1 <b>,20</b> 7 1,261	19.6 20.0
Skilled Personnel Hydrogenation Coal Synthine	235 227	$\begin{pmatrix} A \\ A \end{pmatrix}$		

Comparison of New Personnel Requirements of a Unit Plant and

Unemployed per 1,000 Square Miles in Coal Counties of Kentucky

Note: (A) Not estimated but assumed to be negligible.

The above comparison indicates that, in the coal counties of Kentucky, the personnel requirements of an average unit plant for total personnel could be satisfied by the numbers of unemployed in an area of about 17.5 miles radius from the plant in eastern counties and of about 20 miles radius in western counties. Such conditions indicate an ample supply of labor to meet the requirements of an average unit plant as to total personnel within an area convenient to the plants.

However, there are few workers in industries comparable to synthetic liquid fuels with respect to skills and experience required in either the eastern or western coal counties of Kentucky. It is considered that the requirements of a unit plant for such workers would have to be met by inducing workers to relocate from the industrial centers of the State to the area surrounding the plants.

238

y 87b 88a™ 7

0021

#### Operating Labor Costs

The average straight-time hourly rate as of March 31, 1950, payable to wage earners (exàlusive of supervisors) in synthetic liquid fuels unit plants in both the eastern and western coal counties in Kentucky is estimated at \$1.64. Development of this hourly rate is shown in the following tabulation:

# Estimated Average Straight-time Hourly Rate Payable in Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plants

Average straight-time hourly rate (exclusive of premium pay) prevailing in Kentucky in indus- tries comparable with synthetic liquid fuels plants as to skills and experience required of workers	\$1.53
Differential of 5 percent as inducement to relocate	.08
Total straight-time rate exclusive of premium pay	\$1.61
Average differential (premium) paid because of working second and third shift	03
Total average straight-time hourly rate payable in synthetic liquid fuels plants	\$1.64

The average straight-time hourly rate (exclusive of premium) prevailing in Kentucky as of March 31, 1950, of wage earners (exclusive of supervisors) in industries competitive with synthetic liquid fuels plants for workers of the skills and experience required has been estimated at \$1.53 as described in succeeding paragraphs.

Basis of Estimated Wage Rates. Wage rates of workers of the higher skills to be employed in synthetic liquid fuels plants would be governed by the rates paid in the chemical, petroleum refining, and coal mining industries, as such workers would have to be recruited from or paid in competition with them. Wages of workers of lesser skills, however, are not dependent to the same extent on wages paid in the above industries, but are determined by wages paid in the manufacturing industries presently existing in the Areas in which the proposed plants might be located.

**K** 288 <u>289</u> 7 7002

In estimating wage rates in the synthetic liquid fuels industry, wage rates in the chemical, petroleum refining, and coal mining industries in relation to other widespread industries have been taken at a ratio of two to one. By dividing the number of workers (exclusive of supervisors), shown by the U.S. Bureau of Mines personnel classification for a 30,000-barrel-per-day hydrogenation plant, into two groups as to relative skills (above or below a wage rate of \$1.70 per hour) a ratio of approximately two to one is shown as follows:

> Ratio of Wage Earners of Higher Skills to Those of Lower Skills

	Number	of Wage	Earners
Department	Higher Skilled	Lower Skilled	Total
Operating Maintenance Indirect	955 807 22	139 484 288	1,09 <b>4</b> 1,291 
Total	1,784	<u>911</u>	2,695
Ratio of wage earn of higher skills those of lower	to		
sk1118	1,784	÷ 911 =	= 1.96

Wage Rates by Regional Areas. Wage Survey Bulletins pre-pared by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor, as of various dates, were used as a basis for development, by regional areas, of wages paid in industries similar to synthetic liquid fuels plants. After adjustment to a uniform date, March '31, 1950, the average straight-time hourly rate, exclusive of premium, for the Border States (which includes Kentucky) has been developed for selected industries.

The industries selected as representative in each group of required labor skills are those for which there are available Wage Survey Bulletins covering all areas in the United States. Development of average straight-time hourly wage rates, exclusive of premium, paid in the Border States is shown in the following tabulation.

7 0021

У

89b. 90a

1

Average Straight-time Hourly Wage Rates,	
Exclusive of Premium, Paid in Selected Industries	
in Border States	
(As of March 31, 1950)	,
	Hourly
Industry	Wage Rate
Industries employing workers of higher skills:	
Chemical	\$1.61
Petroleum Refining	1.80
Bituminous Coal Mining	1.84
Average straight-time hourly earnings, weighted	
by reported total number of workers	<u>\$1.81</u>
Industries employing workers of lesser skills:	
Fabricated Structural Steel	\$1.30
Paints and Varnishes	1.10
Ferrous Foundries	1.25
Machinerv	1.39
Fertilizers	1.02
Electric and Gas Utilities	1.36
Average straight-time hourly earnings, weighted	
by reported total number of workers	<u>\$1.29</u>
Average straight-time hourly earnings combined by	
means of a weighting ratio of two to one of wages	
paid by industries using workers of higher skills	
to those using workers of lesser skills	\$1.64
	1

<u>Wage Rates in Kentucky.</u> Straight-time average hourly wage rates, exclusive of premium, as developed for the regional area, were then broken down to individual states by assuming that the ratio of the state rates to the area rates would be the same as that indicated by other wage studies such as: (a) that made by the Army-Air Force Wage Board in 1948; (b) the Old-Age and Survivors Insurance (OASI) Program during the first quarters of 1948 and 1947; and (c) the State Unemployment Insurance Program for the year 1946. This determination for the State of Kentucky, is shown in the following tabulation:

> KJ <u>2901</u> 37 7002]

Y

## Straight-time Average Hourly Wage Rates, Exclusive of Premium, Paid in Selected Industries in Kentucky (As of March 31, 1950)

	Hourly Rates as per Source of Information		Hourly Rates Adjusted to Level of Synthetic Liqui Fuels Industry		
	Regional Area	Kentucky	Regional Area	Kentucky	
Army-Air Force Survey	\$1.21	\$1.22	<b>\$1.64</b>	\$1.65	
OASI Program: lst Quarter 1948 lst Quarter 1947	1. <b>48</b> 1.39	1.32 1.25	1.6 <b>4</b> 1.6 <b>4</b>	1.46 1.47	
Unemployment Insurance Program: Year 1946	1.27	1.20	1.6 <del>4</del>	1.55	
Average Straight-tim Hourly Earnings - Kentucky	ne			<u>\$1.53</u>	

Relocation Differential. In order to induce workers to relocate in the vicinity of a unit plant, it is considered that it will be necessary to offer an increase of 5 percent over the hourly rate prevailing in the State in industries comparable to synthetic liquid fuels plants. Such an increase amounts to 8 cents per hour \$166.40 per annum (of 2,080 working hours). Such an increase would probably pay relocation costs in 1 year, and, when coupled with the prospect of steady year-round work and of new housing in a model village, should constitute inducement to sufficient workers to completely staff the plant.

Shift Differential. It is the practice in manufacturing industries operating on round-the-clock basis to pay a differential (or premium) to workers on the second and third shifts over hourly wages paid workers on the first shift. The differentials most prevalent in petroleum refining and bituminous coal mining are 4 cents per hour on the second shift and 6 cents per hour on the third. Assuming an equal number of workers on the 3 shifts in synthetic liquid fuels plants, the average amount of shift differentials would be 3 cents per hour.

.7

D021

#### HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

#### Population Characteristics

The State of Kentucky has a 1950 population density of 72.8 persons per square mile. Of the entire State population in 1940, 29.8 percent lived in urban areas. There are two large cities, part or all of whose metropolitan areas lie in Kentucky; as tabulated below:

> Estimated Metropolitan Area Population as of January 1, 1950

# City Population

Ashland, Ky. Huntington, W.Va. 200,000 Louisville 575,500

Source: Sales Management "Survey of Buying Power" - further reproduction not licensed.

In ll eastern counties of the State, where General Areas for the location of synthetic liquid fuels plants are being considered, the 1950 density of population is 95.7. In nine similar western counties, the 1950 density is 62.3. There are eight cities of over 5,000 population in all of these counties as shown in the following tabulation:

> Cities of 5,000 or Greater Population in Kentucky Counties Containing Available Raw Material

	1950 Census
City	Preliminary Count
Eastern Coal Counties	
Hazard	6,850
Jenkins	6,933
Middlesborough	14,419
Pikeville	5,162
Western Coal Counties	
Henderson	16,760
Hopkinsville	12,531
Owensboro	. 33,983
Madisonville	11,136

y 92 <u>93</u>a 5

0021

۴.

.7

ŧ

In the 11 eastern coal counties as of 1940, 10.6 percent of the population lived in urban areas, 45.3 percent in rural nonfarm and 44.1 percent in rural farm areas. In the nine western coal counties, similar percentages as of 1940 were 30.5, 28.9 and 40.6 percent, respectively.

#### Community Requirements and Population Determination

When a new manufacturing establishment is set up, unless it is located in an already established large community, it may be presumed necessary to develop an entire new community to house plant and associated workers conveniently near their place of employment to the extent that experience has shown it to be required.

Housing facilities alone, however, are not the only requisite of a new community. Residents of a new housing development require civic and commercial facilities reasonably convenient to their homes. It has been considered that such facilities must be provided as an integral part of a planned community rather than allowing them to develop without plan on the outskirts of the development.

An estimate follows of the population of the plant-city associated with average unit plants in Kentucky based on numbers of plant and mine employes, together with associated service workers, for whom housing would be required. This estimate is based on average conditions in the eastern and western coal counties of Kentucky. It is subject to variation from one location to another according to conditions existent in each individual location.

	Hydroge	nation	Coal Synthine	
	Eastern	Western	Eastern	Western
Plant and Mine Employes Service Workers	670 <u>389</u>	858 498	636 369	909 527
Total Workers	1,059	1,356	1,005	1,436
Number of Households or Dwelling Units	868	1,111	824	1,177
Total Population To Be Housed	3,559	4,555	3,378	4,826

# Population of 10,000-barrel-per-day Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant-city

Ky 293t 294s 15 70021

Number of Plant and Mine Employes To Be Housed. The percentage of plant and mine employes for whom housing would be required in a plant-city is based on a chart, Exhibit No. 46, which shows the "Ratio of Employes Housed in a Plant-city to the Relative Personnel Demand". This chart was developed from a study of the effect of density of population in the area surrounding existing communities, in which the predominant source of employment is one plant or factory.

The number of plant and mine employes estimated to be housed in the plant-city is shown in the following tabulation:

### Number of Plant and Mine Employes Estimated To Be Housed

	Coal Hydrogenation		Coal on Synthine	
	Eastern	Western	Eastern	Western
Population Density in Persons per Square Mile in Kentucky Coal Counties	95.7	62.3	95.7	62.3
Population within 1,000 Square Mile (17.8 miles radius from plant)	e <b>s</b> 95,700	62,300	95,700	62,300
Requirements of New Plant and Mine Personnel (from "Labor" section)	1,175	1,175	1,135	1,228
Above Requirements in P <b>erc</b> entage of Population within 1,000 Square Miles	1.23%	1.89%	1.19%	1.97%
Plant and Mine Employes To Be Housed in the Plant-city: Percent of Total (from Exhibit No. 46)	57%	73%	56%	74%
Number	670	858	636	909

У

5

.7

Number of Service Workers To Be Housed. In every community, there must be service workers to minister to the needs of 94Ъ 95a production workers. Such workers consist of proprietors and employes of wholesale and retail trade establishments, finance, insurance, and real estate agencies, and a great variety of miscellaneous ser-0021 vice establishments, such as laundries, dry cleaners, barbers, shoe

and hat cleaners and repairers, automobile repair shops garages, motion picture houses, etc., as well as professional nersonnel such as doctars, lawyers, teachers, and governmental workers. Transportation and public utility workers are also considered as service workers for the purpose of this report. In sparsely settled rural counties, only the minimum services are provided in nearby centers and the more specialized services must be secured in more distant trade centers. As mining or manufacturing expands in a community. trade and service establishments spring up within it over a period of time and the number of workers in the service industries tends to equal the number in the production group, unless the community is a satellite of a large urban center. In estimating the service requirements of a plant-city in Kentucky, it is considered that production workers living in the plant-city will receive the same degree of service as that prevalent in the coal counties. The percentage of service workers in terms of production workers was developed for the eastern and western coal counties in Kentucky as of 1940 and found to be, respectively, 33 and 58 percent. A similar percentage of 67 was developed for the State as a whole. Computations were based upon data from Exhibit No. 42.

#### Percentage of Service Workers to Production Workers in Kentucky as of 1940

	Number				
Class of Worker	Entire State	Eastern Coal Counties	Western Coal Counties		
Production					
Agricultural Mining Construction Manufacturing	30 <b>9</b> ,146 60,552 35,607 100,804	27,835 38,913 2,023 4,144	26,843 9,683 2,828 7,398		
Total Production Workers	506,109	72,915	46,752		
Service					
Total Service Workers	341,454	24,203	27,200		
Percentage of Service Workers in terms of Production Workers	67%	3 <b>3%</b>	58%		

The percentage of service to production workers of 33 as existing in the industrially undeveloped eastern coal counties was considered to represent too low a grade of service for the proposed plant-city in Kentucky. Injection of the proposed plant-city would create a new and modern community of size exceeded by few now existing in these counties. Such a city would tend to attract to itКу 29

٧,

29 1

self service industries serving not only its own inhabitants, but also those surrounding it.

On the other hand, the percentage of 67 for the State as a whole was considered in excess of that which might be required of a plant-city, as the more specialized service requirements may be obtained in the existing larger cities of the State. It was considered that the percentage of 58 as prevalent in the western coal counties would represent an adequate degree of service in a plantcity in both eastern and western Kentucky.

Applying this percentage to the number of plant and mine employes estimated to be housed in the plant city, the number of service workers to be so housed would be:

> Estimated Number of Service Workers To Be Housed

	_Hydroge	enation	Coal S	nthine
	Eastern	Western	<u>Eastern</u>	Western
Plant and Mine Employes	<u>670</u>	<u>858</u>	<u>636</u>	909
Service Workers - 58% of Plant and Mine Workers	389	<u>498</u>	369	527

Population of Plant-city. The number of employed persons per household may be determined for the State of Kentucky, according to the 1940 census, as shown below:

> Estimated Number of Employed Persons per Household as per 1940 Census

Employed Persons	847,563
Households	693,960
Employed Persons	-
per Household	1.22

The Bureau of the Census shows, for Kentucky for 1940, a population per household of 4.1.

96b 97a ¥ 5 0021

У

Assuming these ratios to apply to the plant-city, the total population is determined as below:

### Estimated Total Population of Plant-city

	Hydroge	enation	Coal Synthine		
	Eastern	Western	<u>Eastern</u>	Western	
Employed persons in plant-city Households or dwelling units (Employed persons divided by	1,059	1,356	1,005	1,436	
1.22)	868	1,111	824	1,177	
Total population (households multiplied by 4.1)	3,559	4,555	3,378	4,826	

Estimates for this report have been based on the assumption of only one unit plant per 1,000 square miles. Simultaneous operation of two or more unit plants within such an area would require housing a substantially larger proportion of workers. This would entail increased investment in housing per plant with corresponding changes in operating costs.

Family Housing Requirements. In the past, common practice in construction of "company towns" has been to limit dwellings to those accommodating a single family. There is now, however, an increasing demand for multi-family or apartment dwellings. In this report, it has been assumed that 20 percent of all dwellings will be of this type, the balance being single homes. Analysis of single homes in existence in Oak Ridge, Tenn., in 1947 shows that about 75 percent had two bedrooms and 25 percent had three. For the purpose of estimating costs of the plant-city, the distribution by types of dwellings is assumed to be as follows:

#### Distribution by Types of Dwellings

		N1	umber of for Play of a Uni	Dwelling nt-city it Plant	<u>58</u>
	Deinerut	Hydroge	enation	Coal S	nthine
Type of Dwelling	of Total	Eastern	Western	Eastern	Western
2-Bedroom single-family 3-Bedroom single-family Multi-family units	60% 20 20	521 174 173	667 222 222	494 165 165	706 235 236
Total	100%	868	<u>1,111</u>	824	1,177

**2**97) 298:

1 7002

K

۷.

Cost of Housing and Community Development for a Unit Plant

Investment in Plant city. Based on the Contractor's experience in similar installations, a plan of a model city for employes of a synthetic liquid fuels plant was designed. This city plan provided housing, utilities, and civic and commercial facilities adequate for a population of 5,000 inhabitants. Cost estimates for such a model city were made at levels prevailing at December 1949, in the Pittsburgh, Pa., area.

From this estimate, unit costs were developed for application to plant-cities of populations estimated to be required in connection with unit plants in Kentucky. An index of building construction costs applicable to the average location in General Areas of Kentucky, as of March 31, 1950, as compared to similar costs in Pittsburgh, Pa., as of December 1949, was developed based on data on construction costs as reported by The Dow Service, Inc. This index, for Kentucky, is 86 in eastern counties and 95 in western counties.

The estimated investment required to construct a plantcity in connection with unit plants in Kentucky is shown in the following tabulations for the two processes:

Ку 298b 15 70021

Ţ

Cost of Housing and Community Development Required for an Average Hydrogenation Unit Plan in Eastern Coal Counties of Kentucky (As of March 31, 1950)	t —
Type of Facility	Investment
Land	
For 3,559 population at \$9 per person	\$ 32,031
Grading and Landscaping Site	
For 3,559 population at \$130 per person	462,670
Dwelling Units	
521 - 2-Bedroom single-family at 806 sq ft at \$7.89 per sq ft	3,313,039
174 - 3-Bedroom single-family at 988 sq ft at \$7.89 per sq ft	1,356,330
173 - Multi-family at 850 sq ft at \$7.20 per sq ft	1,058,760
477 - Garages (55% of Dwelling Units) at \$697 each	332,469
Total Dwelling Units	\$ 6,060,598
Utilities	
Lighting, water distribution, sewage disposal, streets, roadways, sidewalks, curbs, and gutters	\$ 1,132,740
Civic Facilities	
Municipal building, comfort station, schools, hospital, sanitation	1,024,992
Commercial Facilities	
Bus station, theatre, bank and professional building, shopping buildings	1,519,693
Total Investment for Complete Plant-city, exclusive of Water Supply	\$10,232,724

250

Кy

÷

.

3

۷.

Cost of Housing and Community Development Required for an Average Hydrogenation Unit Plant in Western Coal Counties of Kentucky (As of March 31, 1950)

¥

ø

.

-

ſу

500

15 10021

Type of Facility	Investment
Land	
For 4,555 population at \$9 per person	\$ 40,995
Grading and Landscaping Site	
For 4,555 population at \$143 per person	651,365
Dwelling Units	
667 - 2-Bedroom single-family at 806 sq ft at \$8.72 per sq ft	4,687,676
222 - 3-Bedroom single-family at 988 sq ft at \$8.72 per sq ft	1,912,530
222 - Multi-family at 850 sq ft at \$7.95 per sq ft	1,500,276
611 - Garages (55% of Dwelling Units) at \$770 each	470,470
Total Dwelling Units	\$ 8,570,952
<u>Utilities</u>	
Lighting, water distribution, sewage disposal, streets, roadways, sidewalks, curbs, and gutters	\$ 1,602,062
<u>Civic Facilities</u>	
Municipal building, comfort station, schools, hospital, sanitation	1,448,490
Commercial Facilities	
Bus station, theatre, bank and professional building, shopping buildings	2,149,960
Total Investment for Complete Plant-city, exclusive of Water Supply	<b>\$14,463,824</b>

Cost of Housing and Community Development Required for an Average Coal Synthine Unit Plant in Eastern Coal Counties of Kentucky (As of March 31, 1950)

¥

.

Κv

301

Type of Facility Investment Land 30,402 For 3,378 population at \$9 per person \$ Grading and Landscaping Site For 3,378 population at \$130 per person 439,140 Dwelling Units 494 - 2-Bedroom single-family at 806 sq ft at \$7.89 per sq ft 3,141,346 165 - 3-Bedroom single-family at 988 sq ft at \$7.89 per sq ft 1,286,175 165 - Multi-family at 850 sq ft at \$7.20 per sq ft 1,009,800 453 - Garages (55% of Dwelling Units) at \$697 each 315,741 \$5,753,062 Total Dwelling Units Utilities Lighting, water distribution, sewage disposal, streets, roadways, sidewalks, curbs, and gutters \$1,075,320 Civic Facilities Municipal building, comfort station, schools, 972,864 hospital, sanitation Commercial Facilities Bus station, theatre, bank and professional building, shopping buildings 1,442,406 Total Investment for Complete Plant-city, exclusive of Water Supply \$9,713,194 70021 Cost of Housing and Community Development Required for an Average Coal Synthine Unit Plant in Western Coal Counties of Kentucky (As of March 31, 1950)

.¥

Ку

302

70021

\*

3

Type of Facility	Investmer	nt
Land		
For 4,826 population at \$9 per person	\$ 43,43	34
Grading and Landscaping Site		
For 4,826 population at \$143 per person	690,11	18
Dwelling Units		
706 - 2-Bedroom single-family at 806 sq ft at \$8.72 per sq ft	4,961,76	58
235 - 3-Bedroom single-family at 988 sq ft at \$8.72 per sq ft	2,024,52	25
236 - Multi-family at 850 sq ft at \$7.95 per sq ft	1,594,88	38
647 - Garages (55% of Dwelling Units) at \$770 <b>e</b> ach	498,19	<u>30</u>
Total Dwelling Units	\$ 9,079,37	1
Utilities		
Lighting, water distribution, sewage disposal, streets, roadways, sidewalks, curbs, and gutters	\$ 1,697,23	54
<u>Civic Facilities</u>		
Municipal building, comfort station, schools, hospital, sanitation	1,534,66	38
Commercial Facilities		
Bus station, theatre, bank and professional building, shopping buildings	2,277,87	12
Total Investment for Complete Plant-city, exclusive of Water Supply	\$15,322,69	37

Commercial Facilities. It is recognized that, insofar as possible, an industrial plant-city such as would be required by a synthetic liquid fuels plant should be self-supporting. Commercial establishments and services, as an integral part of a community, are profit-making entities resulting from community development. Therefore, it has been considered that rental from commercial facilities would be ample to cover the charges on the investment in those facilities, including a proportionate share of the utilities and civic facilities and land. Such investment has been estimated as follows:

> Allocation of Total Investment in Plant-city between Residential and Commercial Facilities with Estimation of Appreciated Land Values for Hydrogenation Unit Plant

<u>(</u>	Commercial	Residential	Total
Eastern Coal Counties			
Capital Investment Percent of Total Allocation (based on percent of total) of:	\$ 1,519,693 20%	\$ 6,060,598 80%	\$ 7,580,291 100%
Utilities Civic Facilities	\$226,548 204,998	\$ 906,192 819,994	\$ 1,132,740 1,024,992
Investment in land improvements Appreciated value of land.	\$1,951,239		
1/6 of improvements	325,207		
Total Commercial Investment	\$2,276,446		
Western Coal Counties			
Capital Investment Percent of Total Allocation (based on percent	\$2,149,960 20%	\$ 8,570,952 80%	\$10,720,912 100%
Utilities Civic Facilities	\$ 320,412 289,698	\$ 1,281,650 1,158,792	\$ 1,602,062 1,448,490
Investment in land improvements Appreciated value of land, 1/6 of improvements	\$2,760,070	•	
	460,012		
Total Commercial Investment	\$3,220,082		

к ЗС

בי

7002

¥\_\_\_\_

Allocation of Total Investment in Plant-city between Residential and Commercial Facilities with Estimation of Appreciated Land Values for Coal Synthine Unit Plant

	Commercial	Residential	Total
Eastern Coal Counties			
Capital Investment Percent of Total Allocation (based on percen	\$1, <b>442,4</b> 06 20% t	\$5,7 <u>5</u> 3,062 80%	\$ 7,195,468 100 <del>%</del>
or total) or: Utilities Civic Facilities	\$ 215,064 194,573	\$ 860,256 778,291	\$ 1,075,320 972,864
Investment in land improver ments	\$1,852,043		)
1/6 of improvements	308,674		
Total Commercial Investment	\$2,160,717		
Western Coal Counties			
Capital Investment Percent of Total Allocation (based on percent of total) of:	\$2,277,872 20%	\$9,079,371 80%	\$11,357,2 <b>4</b> 3 10 <b>0%</b>
Utilities Civic Facilities	\$ 339,447 306,934	\$1,357,787 1,227,734	\$ 1,697,234 1,534,668
Investment in land improve- ments	\$2,924,253		
Appreciated value of land, 1/6 of improvements	487,375		
Total Commercial Investment	\$3,411,628		

(y

¥

.

•

.+

**304** 

The advantages to management in the construction, operation, and control of its own city are recognized. Among them are:

- (1) A more dependable and stable labor supply
- (2) More desirable living conditions
- (3) Better civic administration
- (4) A cleaner and more orderly community
- (5) Lower plant and community taxes.

Against these advantages, management will have the responsibility and expense of construction and administration of the plant-city. It is felt, however, that savings to the plant in municipal taxes will be sufficient to compensate for such expense.

Employe Home Ownership. The advantages of home ownership, both to the employes as individuals and to the company, are well recognized, and it is believed that some arrangement should be encouraged whereby at least one-half the housing could be offered to employes on liberal terms, either directly by management or by reputable builders approved by management. The cost of the several types of housing including its share of land and utilities (but excluding civic facilities) and the bare cost of a garage are estimated for unit plants as follows:

> KJ 305 15 7002]

¥.

Estimat	i <b>o</b> n of Hydrog	Residentia enation Uni	l Housing C t Plants	osts		
			Eastern Coal Count	ies	Wést Coal Coi	ern unties
Cost of land, grading landscaping Less allocation facilities	g, and to com	mercial	\$ 494,70 <u>325,20</u> \$ 169,49	1 <u>7</u> 4	\$ 692 <u>460</u> \$ 232	,360 ,012 ,348
Cost of utilities al. residential	locate	d to	906,19	2	1,2 <b>81</b>	<b>,6</b> 50
Residential share of utilities	land a	and	\$1,075,68	6	\$1,513	,998
	No. of Units	Total Cost of Dwelling Units	Allocated Cost of Share of Land and Utilities	Res:	identia. otal	l Cost Per Unit
Eastern Coal Counties Dwelling Units- 2-Bedroom single- family 3-Bedroom single- family Multi-family	521 521 174 <u>173</u> 868	\$3,313,039 1,356,330 <u>1,058,760</u> \$5,728,129	\$ 622,156 254,705 198,825 \$1,075,686	\$ 3,5 1,6 <u>1,5</u> \$ 6,8	935,195 611,035 257,585 803,815	\$7,553 9,259 7,269 \$7,838
Garages	<b>4</b> 77	332,469	<u> </u>		332,469	697
Total Residential Western Coal Counties	3:	\$6,060,598	\$1,075,686	<u>\$ 7,</u> :	136,284	
Dwelling Units- 2-Bedroom single- family 3-Bedroom single- family Multi-family	667 222 222	\$4,687,676 1,912,530 1,500,276	\$ 876,137 357,456 280,405	\$ 5,8 2,2 1,7	563,813 269,986 780,681	\$8,342 10,225 <u>8,021</u>
Garages	1,111 611	\$8,100,482 470,470	\$1,513,998	\$ 9,6	<b>514,480</b>	<b>\$8,654</b> 770
Total Residential		\$8,570,952	\$1,513,998	\$10,(	084,950	

15 70021

Кy

306

٠

.\*

١

•

-

	JUAL S	ynenine oni					
			Coa	Eastern 1_Count	n ties	Wes Coal C	tern ounties
Cost of land, grading landscaping Less allocation	g, and	mercial	\$	469,54	12	\$ 73	3,552
facilities				308,67	74	48	7,375
			\$	160,86	58	\$ 24	6,177
Cost of utilities all residential	located	i to		860,25	56	1,35	7,787
Residential share of utilities	land a	and	\$1	,021,12	24	\$1,60	3,964
	No.	Total Cost of	Allo Cos Sha	cated t of re of	Res	identia	l Cost
	of	Dwelling	Lan	d and			Per
	Units	Units	Util	ities	T	otal	Unit
Eastern Coal Counties Dwelling Units- 2-Bedroom single- family	494	\$3,141,346	\$5	89,942	\$3,	731,288	\$7,553
3-Bedroom single- family Multi-family	165 165	1,286,175 1,009,800	2	41,542 89,640	1, 	527,717 199 <b>,44</b> 0	9,259 7,269
	824	\$5,437,321	\$1,0	21,124	\$ 6,4	458,445	\$7,838
Garages	<b>45</b> 3	315,741	·			315,741	697
Total Residential		\$5,753,062	<u>\$1,0</u>	21,124	<u>\$6,</u>	774,186	
Western Coal Counties Dwelling Units- 2-Bedroom single-	3:						
family 3-Bedroom single-	706	\$4,961,768	\$9	27,436	\$ 5,	889,204	\$8,342
family	235	2,024,525	3	78,417	2,	402,942	10,225
MUICI-IAMILY	230	1,594,000	41 6	90,111	<u>اولا</u> فاراله	195 145	48 653
Garages	-, - <i>i</i> / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /	<b>498.190</b>	ϘͺͺϘ	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	ر ∪⊥φ. ه	498.190	φ <b>υ,</b> υυυ 770
Total Residential		\$9,079,371	\$1,6	03,964	\$10,	683,335	

# Estimation of Residential Housing Costs Coal Synthine Unit Plants

258

Ky

٠

.

٠

Ψ.

<u>3</u>07

If one-half the dwellings of each type were sold at cost to their occupants, then the remaining investment in dwellings and civic development would be:

> Estimated Remaining Investment in Dwellings and Civic Development for Unit Plant

	Hydrog	enation	Coal S	ynthime
	Eastern	Western	Eastern	Western
Total Investment for Complete Plant- city	r \$10,232,724	\$14,463,824	\$9,713,194	\$15,322,697
Less: Commercial Facili ties and Relate	- đ			
Costs One-half Cost of Housing Sold to	\$ 2,276,446	\$ 3,220,082	\$2,160,717	\$ 3,411,628
Occupants	3,568,142	5,042,475	3,387,093	5,341,668
Total	\$ 5,844,588	\$ 8,262,557	\$5,547,810	<b>\$ 8,753,296</b>
Balance of Investment in Land, Dwelling Units, Garages, Utilities, and Civic Development	nt \$ 4.388.136	\$ 6,201,267	\$4.165.384	\$ 6.569.401

This balance of investment consists of dwellings not sold to employes, together with the investment in land, grading, utilities, and civic facilities not recovered by rental of commercial facilities or sold. This investment would be operated by the plant.

#### Operating Costs

.\*

.

У

5 0021

The annual costs of operation of investment not recovered by rental of commercial facilities or by sale are estimated below:

Annual Operating Costs

У Т		Hydrogenation		Coal Synthine	
		Eastern	Western	Eastern	Western
08	Net Total Investment Operating Costs @ 6%	\$4,388,136 263,288	<b>\$6,201,267</b> 372,076	\$4,165,384 249,923	\$6,569,401 394,164

Annual costs of operation are estimated to comprise, in terms of annual percentages on investment:

## Annual Costs of Operation in Terms of Annual Percentage on Investment

	Percent
Depreciation (40-year life)	2.5%
Maintenance Costs	2.0
State and County Taxes, Insurance, and Operation of Municipal Facilities	1.5
Total Annual Percentage	6.0%

It is considered that costs of operation of housing and community development may be recovered by rents of dwelling units without the necessity of any charge to plant operations.

The average amount per month required to offset operating costs would be \$50.58 in the eastern coal counties and \$55.83 in the western coal counties, as shown below:

# Monthly Amount Required To Offset Operating Costs

	Hydrogenation		Coal Synthine	
	Eastern	Western	Eastern	Western
Annual Operating Costs	\$263,288	\$372,076	\$249,923	\$394,164
Number of Rental Units	434	555	412	588
Annual	\$    607	\$    670	\$    607	\$ 670
Monthly	50.58	55.83	50.58	55.83

Such an amount would be 14.6 percent in the eastern coal counties and 16.1 percent in the western coal counties of the average income per household of \$4,162. The average annual wage of plant workers in Kentucky has been estimated at \$1.64 per hour or \$3,411.20 per annum (of 2,080 hours). The average income per household on this basis would be \$4,162 (\$3,411.20 times 1.22 wage earners).

Кy

309

∀.

# Return on Investment

Recognizing that different investors may require different rates of return upon their capital, these estimates include no allowance for return. However, as a guide, the following tabulation indicates the amounts per day and per barrel of products which would be required for each increment of 1 percent (before income taxes) on the estimated net total investment in housing and community development associated with unit plants in Kentucky:

> Incremental Costs for Each 1 Percent Gross Return on Net Total Investment in Housing and Community Development

	Hydrog	genation	Coal Synthine	
	Eastern	Western	Eastern	Western
Net Total Investment entitled to Return	\$4,388,136	\$ \$6,201,267	\$4,165,384	\$6,569,401
l Percent Return on Above:				
Per Annum Per Dwelling Unit	\$ 43,881 t:	.\$ 62,013	\$ 41,654	\$ 65,694
Per Annum Per Month	101 8,42	. 112 9.33	101 8, <b>4</b> 2	112 9.33
Per Calendar Day	120	170	114	180
Products	0.012	0.017	0.011	0.018

The monthly rental to be paid by the occupant would be the average monthly operating cost plus the required return on the investment.

510 (y .5 10021

J¥

#### MARKETING

#### Introduction

\_▼

1a

021

The agreement under which this report was prepared requires the General Areas suitable for the location of synthetic liquid fuels plants to be arranged in groups of relative desirability, with at least 2,000,000 barrels of daily production in the most desirable group for the total United States. This is equal to 730,000,000 barrels annually, or approximately 36.3 percent of the total demand for liquid fuels in the United States for the year 1949.

Motor Fuel - Major Plant Product. If a substantial part of the demand for liquid fuels in the United States were supplied by synthetic liquid fuels plants, the principal product would be motor gasoline.

Plants Using Coal or Natural Gas. For plants using coal or natural gas as raw materials, motor gasoline would be the major plant product. The amounts of motor gasoline specified to be produced from these raw materials by the various processes are as follows:

#### Percentage of Motor Gasoline Specified To Be Produced by the Various Processes

#### Process

Hydrogena	ation			72.2%
Synthine	Using	Coal		72 - 8
Synthine	Using	Natural	Gas	91.5

Percent

Plants Using Oil Shale. In the case of shale-oil plants for the purpose of this report, motor gasoline is not specified as one of the products to be produced although such plants, if so designed, could produce motor gasoline. For a 10,000-barrel shale-oil unit plant, the principal products specified are 5,150 barrels of jet fuel and 3,350 barrels of Diesel fuel daily. The annual production of Diesel fuel of such a plant would be 1,220,000 barrels. In the year 1948, total sales of Diesel fuel in all of the Mountain States amounted to only 5,209,000 barrels. In other words, about five shale-oil unit plants would have been sufficient to satisfy the total demand for Diesel fuel in the Mountain States in that year. In the case of jet fuel, the annual output of a single 10,000-barrel-per-day shale-oil plant would be 1,880,000 barrels. This is approximately equal to the total sales of jet propulsion fuel in the year 1948 of 1,891,000 barrels in the total United States. Consequently, it appears that if a relatively large number of synthetic liquid fuels unit plants should be established, the principal product would be motor gasoline. Furthermore, since it appears that only enough natural gas will be available for relatively few synthetic liquid fuels unit plants. motor gasoline

would amount to approximately 75 percent of the total productive capacity, based upon the plant product specifications.

From the foregoing, it is evident that of the total 2,000,000 barrels of daily productive capacity (which is equivalent to the capacity of 200 10,000-barrel synthetic liquid fuels plants) required to be included in the most desirable group of General Areas, gasoline would amount to approximately 1,500,000 barrels daily, or 547,500,000 barrels annually. This would be 62.3 percent of the total United States demand for motor gasoline in 1949, which amounted to 878,887,000 barrels. If the total demand for motor gasoline in 1949 had been supplied by synthetic liquid fuels plants a total of 321 such unit plants would have been required. This is a relatively small number in contrast to the several thousands of plants potentially possible based on raw materials available.

Estimated Future Liquid Fuel Requirements. While the hazards of a long-range forecast of liquid fuel consumption are well recognized, it has been considered necessary in this present study to attempt to estimate probable liquid fuels requirements over the next 25 years because the usual short-term forecasts of a few years' duration would have little significance in appraising the economic factors that may have a bearing on the bringing into existence of a long-range program, such as the development of a synthetic liquid fuels industry. On the basis of present-day factors affecting motor gasoline consumption, the future demand has been projected by states and from this the total demand for the United States has been estimated, as shown in Exhibit No. 47, which demand in 1975 amounts to approximately 59 billion gallons, or 1.4 billion barrels annually. If this demand were met entirely with synthetic motor gasoline, the equivalent of 511 plants, each of 10,000 barrels daily capacity, would be required.

In recent years, the proportion of motor gasoline to the total demand for liquid fuels in the United States has averaged approximately 40 percent. At the present time, there are several factors which indicate that the motor gasoline percentage may rise in the next few years. There is a tendency for the percentage of residual fuel oils to decline as refining operations are altered. Furthermore, it is expected that the expansion of the natural gas industry may reduce relatively the consumption of fuel oil and kerosene. On the other hand, there may be some counterbalancing factors, such as the increasing use of jet propulsion fuel and Diesel fuel. However, on the basis of motor gasoline consumption of 40 percent, the total United States demand for liquid fuels in 1975 would be of the order of 3.5 billion barrels annually.

In order to provide a check upon the reasonableness of this estimate, the total annual energy supply for the United States was studied and projected to 1975. This is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 48, which indicates estimated total energy requirements in 1975 of 50 thousand trillions of Btu. In a recent study, "Energy Uses and Supplies, 1939, 1947, 1965," by the U.S. Bureau of Mines, Information Circular 7582, energy supplies in the United States are projected at approximately 48 thousand trillions of Btu in 1965. Ky

321

312

7002

♥\_

This is in close agreement with the 47 thousand trillions of Btu for 1965 shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 48. Of the estimated total energy supply in 1975 of 50 thousand trillions of Btu, the 3.5 billion barrels of liquid fuels would constitute 42 percent as contrasted with 35 percent in 1948, as shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 49. The relative proportions of energy supplied by coal, natural gas, and petroleum, which are also shown on that chart, indicate the reasonableness of the estimate. Some studies of liquid fuel demand have estimated that consumption in 1975 may be of the order of 5 or 6 billion barrels. If these quantities are related to the estimated 1975 total energy requirements, they would amount to 60 percent and 72 percent respectively. Such high percentages would appear to assume an unreasonable limitation on the use of other fuels such as coal and natural gas.

.\*

Кy

313m

2

70021

Crude Oil Reserves and Production. As of December 31, 1949, the estimated proved reserves of crude oil in the United States stood at 24,649,489,000 barrels, which is an all-time record high. This amount is 13.6 times the crude oil production of 1,818,800,000 barrels in 1949. If the proved reserves of natural gas liquids are added to the crude oil reserves, the estimated proved reserves of liquid hydrocarbons as of December 31, 1949 amounted to 28,378,501,000 barrels. In the past, new discoveries and extensions of old fields have added to the known supply. The following tabulation shows the amount of crude oil added to the supply by 5-year periods from 1925 to 1949:

## Amounts of Crude Oil Added to the Supply

Period	Billions of Barrels
1925-29	10.044
1930-34	3.325
1935-39	12.161
1940-44	9.296
1945-49	13.336
Total	48 <b>8162</b>

The above tabulation shows that, when the incentive has been strong, substantial quantities of crude oil have been discovered. It must be anticipated that further substantial quantities of oil will be discovered in the future. Recent important oil discoveries in Scurry County, Tex., and in California have increased appreciably the optimism with respect to future oil discoveries. Furthermore, the major oil discoveries made in Alberta, Canada, in recent years indicate that vast oil resources may exist in western Canada. This has led to the belief that important oil resources also may be found in North Dakota. In fact, the oil companies have under lease in the United States more than 200 million acres of untested lands, having geological formations considered favorable to the discovery of oil. 265

Based upon the estimate of future requirements of liquid fuels in 1975, as previously developed, crude oil production during the next 25 years would be required in the amount of approximately 62 billion barrels. This may be compared to the 48.2 billion barrels added to the supply in the 25-year period 1925 to 1949. Stated in other terms, the estimated crude oil requirements during the next 25 years are at about the rate of additions to the supply developed in the 5-year period 1945 to 1949. Through 1949 the total amount of crude oil produced in the United States amounted to approximately 39 billion barrels. This, together with the estimated requirements to 1975, would indicate a total cumulative production by that time of approximately 100 billion barrels. In recent years it has been variously estimated that the total amount of oil ultimately recoverable from primary onshore operations amounts to approximately 110 billion barrels. In addition, it is estimated that approximately 40 billion barrels more might be obtained from offshore operations and from secondary recovery. In the petroleum industry, it is generally estimated at present that less than half of the oil originally in place is produced. n Important changes in methods of production, therefore, might add considerably to the recoverable supply.

Order of Desirability Influenced by Markets. Since there are some 25 states having Suitable General Areas, it is not possible in these separate state reports, which are being prepared seriatim, and not simultaneously, to contemplate all of the factors to be developed in subsequent state reports, which might tend to vitiate some of the material presented herein. It might be shown subsequently, for example, that markets allocated to nearby General Areas could be supplied more economically from synthetic liquid fuels plants located in other distant states. In any case, the determination of the order of desirability of the General Areas must take into consideration the cost of transporting products to a designated market that could absorb the assumed output and not be based solely on estimated fob. plant costs. In these state reports, markets are defined and allocated to the General Areas under consideration with the full realization that information subsequently developed may show that the markets could be served more economically by other potential synthetic liquid fuels plants.

# Definition of the Marketing Territory

As shown on Exhibit No. 9, there are 16 General Areas of Coal and Water Availability in Kentucky divided into 2 distinct groups. One group of nine General Areas is located in the eastern part of the State. The other group, consisting of seven General Areas, is situated in western Kentucky. The neighboring States of Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, West Virginia, Virginia, Tennessee, and Missouri also contain General Areas suitable for the production of synthetic liquid fuels. A determination of the potential markets for the major products of synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky must, therefore, give consideration to the limiting factors placed upon the market by the existence of potential plant sites in neighboring states.

**5** 31

Κ

The estimated cost of producting synthetic liquid fuels in each of the neighboring states have not been determined precisely, at this time. It appears from available factors, however, that such costs in Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, West Virginia, and Tennessee will not differ sufficiently from those in Kentucky for synthetic liquid fuels to move into those five States from potential plants in the Kentucky General Areas. It appears desirable, therefore, to establish limits to the marketing territory to be served from synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky on the assumption that there will be no crosshaul of products between synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky and those in Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, West Virginia, and Tennessee.

The estimated costs of producing synthetic liquid fuels in Missouri and Iowa are so high that markets in those States might be served more economically from potential synthetic liquid fuels plants in western Kentucky or Illinois. While Iowa does not border on Kentucky, the Mississippi River could afford excellent means of transporting synthetic liquid fuels to important markets in that State. Nevertheless, in order to avoid allocating markets to the Synthetic liquid fuels plants of more than one state, neither Missouri nor Iowa is included, at this time, in the potential marketing territory for synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky. Similarly, the markets which lie along the Mississippi River in the States of Tennessee, Arkansas, and Mississippi might also be supplied more economically from synthetic liquid fuels plants in western Kentucky or Illinois, although those states have not been included in the potential marketing territory for plants in Kentucky.

The General Areas in eastern Kentucky are actually only a part of a large region of coal and water availability located in southern West virginia, western Virginia, and eastern Kentucky. This region possesses a large synthetic liquid fuels potential. A major demand on this potential, brought about by widespread dependence on synthetic liquid fuels, would probably result in the development of the region as a whole. The flow of products from synthetic liquid fuels plants in this region would probably be to the northeast, east, and southeast into the important markets of Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida. None of the four last named States is now known to have General Areas suitable for the production of synthetic liquid fuels. Consequently, it is assumed that the southern West Virginia, western Virginia, and eastern Kentucky region would be developed as a whole to supply the demand for synthetic liquid fuels in the South Atlantic States mentioned. Therefore the marketing territory for synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky is defined as including the State of Kentucky itself and the States of Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida, the markets in which latter states would be shared by plants in southern West Virginia and western Virginia.

10021

Se 15

515b

516**`** 

Consumption of Motor Fuel in The Marketing Territory

The major product specified to be produced from coal by both hydrogenation and synthine plants, as shown in a previous section of this report, is motor gasoline. For both processes, motor gasoline constitutes approximately 75 percent of the total productive capacity. Since this product constitutes such a high percentage of the total proposed output, extensive consideration has been given to the factors bearing upon the present and predicted future demand and the present and predicted future supply of motor gasoline.

Motor Fuel Consumption in Kentucky. In this analysis, data on motor fuel consumption published by the Public Roads Administration have been used. In these figures, motor fuel consumption is reported for on-highway and off-highway uses excluding sales to the Federal Government for military purposes. Consequently, military requirements are eliminated from consideration in this report.

Although it is recognized there is some leeway in the processes, particularly the hydrogenation process for producing some higher-grade gasolines, the quality of gasoline proposed to be produced by both the hydrogenation and coal synthine plants is specified to be about 78 to 80 octane motor method rating. Since this gasoline would be of lower standard than commonly used for aviation, aviation gasoline consumption has been eliminated from the total off-highway consumption of motor fuel as published by the Public Roads Administration. Therefore, motor fuel consumption figures given in this analysis do not include aviation use or purchases by the Federal Government for military purposes.

Motor gasoline consumption for the State of Kentucky in the year 1948 amounted to 11,577,000 barrels. The annual production of motor gasoline from coal by a synthine or hydrogenation plant of 10,000-barrel-per-day capacity, would be approximately 2,737,500 barrels. Consequently, if the entire motor gasoline consumption in the State of Kentucky in 1948 had been supplied by synthetic liquid fuels plants, approximately four such unit plants would have been sufficient to satisfy the total demand.

Since the motor fuel requirements of Kentucky are well satisfied at the present time by petroleum products and since it appears that it may be many years before large quantities of synthetic liquid fuels will be required, it is desirable to estimate the future demand for motor fuel in Kentucky. While ordinarily five or ten years might be considered the limit to which an estimate of future demand might be extended with a reasonable degree of accuracy, it was believed desirable in the present instance to attempt to estimate motor fuel consumption in the marketing territory to 1975. Even though the hazards of such long-range prediction are realized, the main purpose of the estimate is to indicate the probable maximum number of synthetic liquid fuels unit plants which would be needed were no petroleum liquid fuels available.

318

Ky

Future Consumption of Motor Fuel in Kentucky. To make an estimate of the future demand in the State of Kentucky, motor fuel consumption was divided into on-highway and off-highway uses. The estimate of future on-highway use of motor fuel was based primarily on the growth trends of population, motor vehicle registrations, and consumption per vehicle. The off-highway use was determined principally from the on-farm consumption.

.▼

У

18b 19a

0021

Population. In general, the future population estimates were based on an estimate published in November 1949, by the Bureau of Agricultural Economics of the U.S. Department of Agriculture. In the report, the population of the United States was projected to 1975 by major geographic divisions and the basis for these projections was past population figures of the Bureau of the Census.

The projections of future population by geographic divisions of the United States were based upon two estimates of future population by the Bureau of the Census. One of these, termed the high projection, was described as high fertility, low mortality, 200,000 net immigration per year, and high internal migration. The other, termed the low projection, was based upon medium fertility, medium mortality, no net immigration after 1950, and low internal migration. In this report, the high projection has been used since that forecast appears to be more reasonable, considering present population trends. On this basis, the population of the United States in 1975 is estimated by the Bureau of Agricultural Economics as 188,585,000.

Exhibit No. 50 shows the population by major geographic divisions of the United States from 1870 to 1950, with estimates to 1975. The extensions to 1975 on the chart correspond to the high projections made by the Bureau of Agricultural Economics, adjusted in the Pacific, Mountain, and South Atlantic States to reflect more recent conditions as indicated by the results of 1950 Census. It should be noted that these extensions carry out the trends in the past and may provide a fairly accurate gage of the population growth in the years to come.

Since the State of Kentucky is in the East South Central geographic division and the States of Virginia North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia and Florida are in the South Atlantic geographic division, the population of each state in these two divisions was studied, both in absolute numbers and as percentages of the total population of the respective geographic divisions. From the percentage figures, projections of past trends were extended to 1975. The percentages so derived were then applied to the total estimated population of the geographic division in order to determine the population estimates of the various states. The figures so derived for the East South Central geographic division are presented in chart form in Exhibit No. 51 and for the South Atlantic geographic division in Exhibit No. 52. These exhibits show the
population of each of the states in those two geographic divisions from 1900 to 1950 with estimates to 1975. The total estimated population in 1975 of the four states in the East South Central geographic division and of the eight states and the District of Columbia in the South Atlantic geographic division is equal to 14,182,000 and 27,345,000, respectively, which are the estimates for those geographic divisions, adjusted in light of the 1950 Census in the case of the South Atlantic geographic division. The population of Kentucky as of April 1, 1950 was 2,944,806 and the estimate for 1975 is approximately 3,546,000 which is an increase of approximately 20 percent.

Motor Vehicles. To obtain an approximation of the number of automobiles likely to be in use during the next 25 years, data of past automobile registrations published by the Public Roads Administration were studied. The number of persons per private and commercial automobile registration in each state was calculated and projected to 1975. In making these projections, attention was given to effects of present and possible future population density, income per capita, and other economic factors which would influence the number of persons per automobile.

Exhibit No. 53 shows the number of persons per private and commercial automobile plotted against income payments per capita, for each of the states of the United States in 1948. It will be noted that on this chart the number of persons per private and commercial automobile decreases as the income payments per capita increase, except in the most densely populated states. The lower limit appears to be about three persons per vehicle and this limit seems to be approached only in those states where the income payments per capita are high and where the population density is not high. These data were used as guides in projecting the future number of persons per private and commercial automobile in each of the states. Exhibit No. 54 shows the number of persons per private and commercial automobile in each state of the East South Central States for the years 1930 to 1949, with projections to 1975.

The number of persons per private and commercial automobile in the State of Kentucky in 1948 was approximately 6.09. The estimate for 1975 is approximately 3.50 persons per private and commercial automobile. Using the future population estimates mentioned previously and this number of persons per automobile, the number of private and commercial automobiles in the State of Kentucky in 1975 is estimated to be approximately 1,013,000, while the number in 1949 was approximately 505,000 an increase of about 101 percent. Exhibit No. 55 shows private and commercial automobile registrations in Kentucky for the years 1927 to 1949 with estimates to 1975. The number of publicly owned automobiles in 1975 was assumed to bear the same relationship to private and commercial automobiles in that year as existed in 1948. On this basis, the total number of automobiles estimated for the State of Kentucky in 1975, including both publicly owned and private and commercial vehicles, is 1,016,000.

Kÿ

The number of motor trucks likely to be in use in the State of Kentucky by the year 1975 was estimated in much the same manner as that employed in calculating the number of automobiles. Consideration having been given to the main economic factors which would influence the growth in number of motor trucks, the number of persons per private and commercial truck was projected to 1975. The present and possible future conditions with respect to population density and income per capita were considered. Special attention was given to the number of farm motor trucks now in use in the various states, since farm motor trucks comprise approximately 29 percent of the total number of private and commercial trucks in the United States. A study was made of the size and number of farms in each state, and the potential number of farm trucks which could be supported was taken into consideration. With this and the other guides mentioned, the number of persons per private and commercial motor truck in each of the states was projected to 1975. Exhibit No. 56 is a chart which shows the number of persons per private and commercial motor truck in the East South Central States for the years 1930 to 1948 and estimates to the year 1975. From the future projection on this chart for the State of Kentucky, the number of persons per private and commercial truck in 1975 is shown to be 15.0. Using the population estimates developed previously and the same proportion of publicly owned motor trucks as existed in 1948, the total number of motor trucks expected to be in use was projected to 1975. For that year the estimate is 246,000 motor trucks as compared with 1948 registrations of 142,295, as reported by the Public Roads Administration. This is an increase of about 73 percent.

.\*

У

Ob.

1a)

0021

To estimate the growth in bus registrations, Public Roads Administration figures were used in conjunction with more recent figures obtained from the bus census of "Bus Transportation". From these data the number of persons per common carrier bus and per school bus were computed and projected to 1975. Using the population figures, previously developed, the total number of buses for the State of Kentucky was projected to 1975 with the number in that year amounting to approximately 4,720 buses.

On-Highway Consumption of Motor Fuel in Kentucky. To. arrive at an estimate of future on-highway use of motor fuel, the weighted average annual use of motor fuel per vehicle by type of vehicle was calculated from information of on-highway consumption for the State of Kentucky published by the Public Roads Administration for 1948. The estimated future on-highway use of motor fuel was then calculated from the number of motor vehicles previously estimated, multiplied by the weighted average annual consumption per In other words, the estimates of future consumption are vehicle. predicated on the average annual consumption per vehicle obtained in 1948. It is realized that motor vehicle efficiencies may increase somewhat in the future but data published by the Public Roads Administration covering vehicle travel per gallon of fuel consumed over the past 15 years would not indicate the likelihood of any striking changes in over-all efficiency. It may be that eventually

motor vehicles will consume less fuel per vehicle-mile but it was believed preferable in this study to run the risk of overstating the future consumption rather than understating it by taking into consideration statements concerning future motor vehicle efficiencies that may not be achieved. If motor vehicle fuel efficiencies are increased appreciably in the future, the estimates of future on-highway consumption here developed will be proportionately too large. Based on the estimated number of vehicles and weighted average annual fuel consumption per vehicle, the on-highway motor fuel consumption in Kentucky in 1975 is estimated at 923,419,000 gallons. This is an increase of approximately 99 percent over 1948 on-highway consumption of 465,125,000 gallons.

Off-Highway Use of Motor Fuel in Kentucky. Since the consumption of motor fuel in agriculture constitutes the largest single item of off-highway use, special attention was given to the consumption of motor fuel by tractors on farms. To estimate the number of farm tractors that will be required in 1975, the amount of crop land harvested per tractor was studied. Exhibit No. 57 shows in chart form the average crop land harvested in acres per tractor for the United States from 1940 to 1949 with estimates to 1975.

To estimate the future number of tractors on farms for individual states, analyses were made of the number of farms by size groups, trends in the number of tractors on farms, the amount of crop land harvested in acres per tractor, per capita income payments, and the average amount of crop land harvested per farm. The chart, Exhibit No. 58, shows for each of the states in the United States for the year 1949 the average crop land harvested per tractor plotted against the average harvested crop land per farm. From the analysis of the number of farms by size groups, estimates were made of the maximum number of tractors which could be economically supported in each state. These numbers were then adjusted in view of the other factors mentioned above to arrive at an estimate of the number of tractors in each state. Using the estimated number of tractors in each state for 1975, the average crop land harvested per tractor was calculated and plotted against the average crop land harvested per farm, as shown in the chart, Exhibit No. 59.

The number of tractors on farms in the United States obtained for the year 1975 by totaling the individual state estimates developed as above amounts to 5,264,000 tractors. The reasonableness of the estimate of the number of tractors in each state in 1975 is indicated by the fact that the total for the United States (obtained in this manner) agrees quite well with the total estimated by the U.S. Department of Agriculture. In a study of food and harvested crop land required in 1975, the Department of Agriculture estimated that there would be 5,000,000 tractors on farms in the United States. That Department's estimate of the harvested crop land required, however, was based upon a lower estimate of future population than now appears reasonable. These estimates for tractors in 1975 may be compared to 3,365,000 tractors (excluding garden tractors) on United States farms as of July 1, 1949.

Кy

321 322

2

7002

٠.

For the State of Kentucky the number of farm tractors in 1975 is estimated at 86,000. This is an increase of approximately 126 percent over the 38,015 tractors estimated on Kentucky farms as of July 1, 1949. The amount of motor fuel consumed per tractor in each state in 1948 was obtained from information published by the Bureau of Agricultural Economics. These amounts were then multiplied by the estimated number of tractors in each state to arrive at estimates of future consumption of motor fuel by tractors in each state. For Kentucky, motor fuel consumption by tractors in 1975 is calculated at 50,912,000 gallons.

Other off-highway uses of motor fuel in Kentucky in 1948 represent only a small percentage of the total consumption and for purposes of this estimate are assumed to bear the same relationship in the future as in the past. The total motor fuel consumption in Kentucky for the years 1927 to 1948 is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 60, which also presents the estimate of future motor fuel consumption to 1975. It will be noted from the chart that the total motor fuel consumption (excluding aviation and military uses) for 1975 is approximately 976,280,000 gallons or about 23.2 million barrels. This represents an increase of approximately 101 percent over 1948 consumption.

Number of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Unit Plants Equivalent to Estimated Motor Fuel Consumption in Kentucky in 1975. Ιſ there were no supplies of petroleum products available in 1975 in Kentucky to satisfy the motor fuel requirements, and if all the estimated future demand were supplied from hydrogenation or coal synthine unit plants, approximately eight plants, each with a daily capacity of 10,000 barrels, would be required. This represents an increase of four synthetic liquid fuels unit plants over the number which would have been needed to supply the motor gasoline requirements for the State in 1948. It should be emphasized that the number of unit plants as given represents merely the maximum number, the output of which would be equivalent to the requirements for motor gasoline and makes no implication that that number of plants would be needed.

Motor Fuel Consumption in Virginia. Since the marketing territory has been defined for the present, as including Virginia, it is necessary to analyze that market and to estimate its future magnitude. In this analysis the same methods and sources of information have been used as were employed in the study of motor fuel consumption in Kentucky.

The population of the State of Virginia from 1900 to 1950, with estimates to 1975, is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 52. As of April 1, 1950, the population of Virginia was 3,318,680 and the 24a estimate for 1975 is 4,362,000, an increase of about 31 percent. 021

272

У 22b 23

**ب** ال

The number of persons per private and commercial automobile in Virginia is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 61, with projections to 1975. In 1948, the number stood at 5.0 persons per private and commercial automobile and the 1975 estimate is 3.25 persons. Based on the two factors of population and persons per automobile, future private and commercial registrations are estimated as shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 62, which gives registrations from 1927 to 1949 and estimates to 1975. Total registrations for 1975, including publicly owned automobiles as well as private and commercial, are estimated at 1,352,300 as compared with approximately 669,600 vehicles in 1949, an increase of about 102 percent.

On the chart, Exhibit No. 63, persons per private and commercial motor truck for the State of Virginia are shown from 1930 to 1948, with projections to 1975. As of 1975, the total number of motor trucks estimated to be in use, including public, private, and commercial, is 294,700 as compared with the total 1948 registrations of 149,406. Motor bus registrations in Virginia are expected to increase to approximately 5,600 in 1975. From the estimates of the number of motor vehicles developed above and the weighted average annual consumption of motor fuel per vehicle by type of vehicle in 1948 for the State of Virginia, the total on-highway motor fuel consumption in Virginia in 1975 is estimated at 1,302,195,000 gal-Ions. This represents an increase of about 110 percent over the 1948 on-highway motor fuel consumption.

By the methods previously employed, the number of tractors on farms in the State of Virginia is projected to 1975 and in that year is estimated at 74,200 as compared with 34,230 as of July 1, 1949. Based upon the motor fuel consumption per tractor, as given by the Bureau of Agricultural Economics in 1948, motor fuel consumption by tractors in Virginia in 1975 is estimated at 58,173,000 gallons.

The total motor fuel consumption, including both on-highway and off-highway uses, but excluding aviation and military use, is estimated for the State of Virginia in 1975 at 1,396,418,000 gallons or approximately 33.2 million barrels. This is an increase of approximately 111 percent over the total motor fuel consumption of 15,755,000 barrels in 1948. Exhibit No. 64 is a chart of total motor fuel consumption in Virginia for the years 1927 to 1948, with estimates to 1975.

Motor Fuel Consumption in North Carolina. Since the marketing territory has been defined for the present, as including North Carolina, it is necessary to analyze that market and to estimate its future magnitude. In this analysis, the same methods and sources of information have been used as were employed in the study of motor fuel consumption in Kentucky.

700:

The population of the State of North Carolina from 1900 to 1950, with estimates to 1975, is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 58. As of April 1, 1950, the population of North Carolina was 4,061,929 and the estimate for 1975 is 4,895,000, an increase of about 21 percent.

\_♥

[y

525b

10021

The number of persons per private and commercial automobile in North Carolina is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 61, with projections to 1975. In 1948, the number stood at 5.76 persons per private and commercial automobile and the 1975 estimate is 3.65 persons. Based on the two factors of population and persons per automobile, future private and commercial registrations are estimated as shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 65, which gives registrations from 1927 to 1949 and estimates to 1975. Total registrations for 1975, including publicly owned automobiles as well as private and commercial, are estimated at 1,346,100 as compared with approximately 704,500 vehicles in 1949, an increase of about 91 percent.

On the chart, Exhibit No. 63, persons per private and commercial motor truck for the State of North Carolina are shown from 1930 to 1948, with projections to 1975. As of 1975, the total 'number of motor trucks estimated to be in use, including public, private, and commercial, is 336,400 as compared with the total 1948 registrations of 177,139. Motor bus registrations in North Carolina are expected to increase to approximately 7,600 in 1975. From the estimates of the number of motor vehicles developed above and the weighted average annual consumption of motor fuel per vehicle by type of vehicle in 1948 for the State of North Carolina, the total onhighway motor fuel consumption in North Carolina in 1975 is estimated at 1,393,241,000 gallons. This represents an increase of about 96 percent over the 1948 on-highway motor fuel consumption.

By the methods previously employed, the number of tractors on farms in the State of North Carolina is projected to 1975 and in that year is estimated at 102,000 as compared with 47,730 as of July 1, 1949. Based upon the motor fuel consumption per tractor, as given by the Bureau of Agricultural Economics in 1948, motor fuel consumption by tractors in North Carolina in 1975 is estimated at 69,564,000 gallons.

The total motor fuel consumption, including both on-highway and off-highway uses, but excluding aviation and military use, is estimated for the State of North Carolina in 1975 at 1,502,740,000 gallons or approximately 35.8 million barrels. This is an increase of approximately 98 percent over the total motor fuel consumption of 18,088,000 barrels in 1948. Exhibit No. 66 is a chart of total motor fuel consumption in North Carolina for the years 1927 to 1948, with estimates to 1975.

Motor Fuel Consumption in South Carolina. Since the marketing territory has been defined for the present, as including South Carolina, it is necessary to analyze that market and to estimate its future magnitude. In this analysis, the same methods and sources of information have been used as were employed in the study of motor fuel consumption in Kentucky.

The population of the State of South Carolina from 1900 to 1950, with estimates to 1975, is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 52. As of April 1, 1950, the population of South Carolina was 2,117,027 and the estimate for 1975 is 2,529,000, an increase of about 19 percent.

The number of persons per private and commercial automobile in South Carolina is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 61, with projections to 1975. In 1948, the number stood at 5.20 persons per private and commercial automobile and the 1975 estimate is 3.45 persons. Based on the two factors of population and persons per automobile, future private and commercial registrations are estimated as shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 67, which gives registrations from 1927 to 1949 and estimates to 1975. Total registrations for 1975, including publicly owned automobiles as well as private and commercial, are estimated at 735,000 as compared with approximately 409,000 vehicles in 1949, an increase of about 80 percent.

On the chart, Exhibit No. 63, persons per private and commercial motor truck for the State of South Carolina are shown from 1930 to 1948, with projections to 1975. As of 1975, the total number of motor trucks estimated to be in use, including public, private, and commercial, is 181,400 as compared with the total 1948 registrations of 98,377. Motor bus registrations in South Carolina are expected to increase to approximately 3,700 in 1975. From the estimates of the number of motor vehicles developed above and the weighted average annual consumption of motor fuel per vehicle by type of vehicle in 1948 for the State of South Carolina, the total on-highway motor fuel consumption in South Carolina in 1975 is estimated at 657,587,000 gallons. This represents an increase of about 88 percent over the 1948 on-highway motor fuel consumption.

By the methods previously employed the number of tractors on farms in the State of South Carolina is projected to 1975 and in that year is estimated at 61,000 as compared with 24,960 as of July 1, 1949. Based upon the motor fuel consumption per tractor, as given by the Bureau of Agricultural Economics in 1948, motor fuel consumption by tractors in South Carolina in 1975 is estimated at 44,896,000 gallons.

The total motor fuel consumption, including both on-highway and off-highway uses, but excluding aviation and military use, is estimated for the State of South Carolina in 1975 at 720,045,000 gallons or approximately 17.1 million barrels. This is an increase Ку 326

70021

of approximately 92 percent over the total motor fuel consumption of 8,927,000 barrels in 1948. Exhibit No. 68 is a chart of total motor fuel consumption in South Carolina for the years 1927 to 1948, with estimates to 1975.

Motor Fuel Consumption in Georgia. Since the marketing territory has been defined for the present, as including Georgia, it is necessary to analyze that market and to estimate its future magnitude. In this analysis, the same methods and sources of information have been used as were employed in the study of motor fuel consumption in Kentucky.

The population of the State of Georgia from 1900 to 1950, with estimates to 1975, is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 52. As of April 1, 1950, the population of Georgia was 3,444,578 and the estimate for 1975 is 4,115,000, an increase of about 19 percent.

The number of persons per private and commercial automobile in Georgia is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 61, with projections to 1975. In 1948, the number stood at 5.85 persons per private and commercial automobile and the 1975 estimate is 3.64 persons. Based on the two factors of population and persons per automobile, future private and commercial registrations are estimated as shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 69, which gives registrations from 1927 to 1949 and estimates to 1975. Total registrations for 1975, including publicly owned automobiles as well as private and commercial, are estimated at 1,134,000 as compared with approximately 586,000 vehicles in 1949, an increase of about 94 percent.

On the chart, Exhibit No. 63, persons per private and commercial motor truck for the State of Georgia are shown from 1930 to 1948, with projections to 1975. As of 1975, the total number of motor trucks estimated to be in use, including public, private, and commercial, is 299,700 as compared with the total 1948 registrations of 168,755. Motor bus registrations in Georgia are expected to increase to approximately 5,300 in 1975. From the estimates of the number of motor vehicles developed above and the weighted average annual consumption of motor fuel per vehicle by type of vehicle in 1948 for the State of Georgia, the total on-highway motor fuel consumption in Georgia in 1975 is estimated at 1,130,133,000 gallons. This represents an increase of about 95 percent over the 1948 onhighway motor fuel consumption.

By the methods previously employed, the number of tractors on farms in the State of Georgia is projected to 1975 and in that year is estimated at 108,000 as compared with 44,020 as of July 1, 1949. Based upon the motor fuel consumption per tractor, as given by the Bureau of Agricultural Economics in 1948, motor fuel consumption by tractors in Georgia in 1975 is estimated at 88,884,000 gallons.

у 26ъ 27а

0021

ु 🕈

277

The total motor fuel consumption, including both on-highway and off-highway uses, but exclusing aviation and military use, is estimated for the State of Georgia in 1975 at 1,250,468,000 gallons or approximately 29.8 million barrels. This is an increase of approximately 99 percent over the total motor fuel consumption of 14,931,000 barrels in 1948. Exhibit No. 70 is a chart of total motor fuel consumption in Georgia for the years 1927 to 1948, with estimates to 1975.

Motor Fuel Consumption in Florida. Since the marketing territory has been defined for the present, as including Florida, it is necessary to analyze that market and to estimate its future magnitude. In this analysis, the same method and sources of information have been used as were employed in the study of motor fuel consump-tion in Kentucky.

The population of the State of Florida from 1900 to 1950, with estimates to 1975, is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 52. As of April 1, 1950, the population of Florida was 2,771,305 and the estimate for 1975 is 4,334,000, an increase of about 56 percent.

The number of persons per private and conmercial automobile in Florida is shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 61, with projections to 1975. In 1948, the number stood at 3.94 persons per private and commercial automobile and the 1975 estimate is 3.00 persons. Based on the two factors of population and persons per automobile, future private and commercial registrations are estimated as shown on the chart, Exhibit No. 71, which gives registrations from 1927 to 1949 and estimates to 1975. Total registrations for 1975 including publicly owned automobiles as well as private and commercial, are estimated at 1,451,000 as compared with approximately 673,000 vehicles in 1949, an increase of about 116 percent.

On the chart, Exhibit No. 63, persons per private and commercial motor truck for the State of Florida are shown from 1930 to 1948, with projections to 1975. As of 1975, the total number of motor trucks estimated to be in use, including public, private, and commercial, is 394,700 as compared with the total 1948 registrations of 158,821. Motor bus registrations in Florida are expected to increase to approximately 6,100 in 1975. From the estimates of the number of motor vehicles developed above and the weighted average annual consumption of motor fuel per vehicle by type of vehicle in 1948 for the State of Florida, the total on-highway motor fuel consumption in Florida in 1975 is estimated at 1,396,577,000 gallons. This represents an increase of about 137 percent over the 1948 onhighway motor fuel consumption.

By the methods previously employed, the number of tractors on farms in the State of Florida is projected to 1975 and in that year is estimated at 33,000 as compared with 18,130 as of July 1, 1949. Based upon the motor fuel consumption per tractor, as given by the Bureau of Agricultural Economics in 1948, motor fuel consumption by tractors in Florida in 1975 is estimated at 22,438,000 gallons. K; 32 32

₹\_

The total motor fuel consumption, including both on-highway and off-highway uses, but excluding aviation and military use, is estimated for the State of Florida in 1975 at 1,534,665,000 gallons or approximately 36.5 million barrels. This is an increase of approximately 136 percent over the total motor fuel consumption of 15,490,000 barrels in 1948. Exhibit No. 72 is a chart of total motor fuel consumption in Florida for the years 1927 to 1948, with estimates to 1975.

# Number of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Unit Plants Equivalent to Motor Fuel Consumption in the Marketing Territory

The following tabulation shows a summary of total motor fuel consumption, less aviation and military use, in the States of Kentucky, Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida for the year 1948 and the estimates for 1975. The tabulation also presents the total motor fuel consumption for the marketing territory and the number of hydrogenation or coal synthine plants, the motor fuel productive capacity of which would be equivalent to the total motor fuel consumption in the marketing territory.

> Motor Fuel Consumption and Equivalent Number of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Unit Plants

	Annual Com (Millions o	nsumption of Barrels)	Equivalent Number of Synthetic Liqui Fuels Unit Plants		
	1948	1975	1948	1975	
Kentucky	11.58	23,24			
Virginia	15.76	33,25			
North Carolina	18.09	35 78			
South Carolina	8.93	17.14			
Georgia	14.93	29.77			
Florida	15.49	36.54			
Total Marketing					
Territory	84.78	175.72	31	<b>64</b>	

While it is indicated by the above tabulation that the motor fuel output of 64 hydrogenation or coal synthine plants each of 10,000 barrels daily capacity would be the equivalent of the estimated consumption in the marketing territory in 1975, it must be emphasized that it is not implied that this number of synthetic liquid fuels unit plants would be required. The calculation is made to show the maximum number of such plants that would be needed

278

28b 29 📡 30a

**\_**¥

if no supplies of petroleum products were available and for purposes of comparison with the number of synthetic liquid fuels unit plants potentially possible, based upon the coal and water availability. In the State of Kentucky, as shown previously, these are sufficient to support approximately 218 hydrogenation plants or approximately 170 synthine plants.

# Consumption of Liquid Fuel Products other than Motor Fuel in the Marketing Territory

Although motor gascline is specified as the major plant product of both hydrogenation and synthine plants using coal as a raw material, other liquid fuel products and phenols are also specified to be produced. These are listed in the following tabulation, which shows the plant product distribution for both hydrogenation and coal synthine plants and also shows the other products as percentages of the proposed motor gasoline production.

Unit Plant Product Distribution

	Barrels per	r D <b>ay</b>	Percent of Gasoline		
	Hydrogenation	Coal Synthine	Hydrogenation	Coal Synthine	
Gasoline Diesel Fuel Fuel Oil	7,220(A) 	7,280 1,900 350	100% - -	100% 26.1 4.8	
Petroleum Gases Phenols	2,367 413	<u>4</u> 70	32.8 5.7	6.5 -	
Total	10,000	10,000			

Note: (A) May be increased to 7,684 barrels per day of gasoline by conversion of phenols.

The actual consumption of liquid fuels in the States of Kentucky, Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida by principal product classifications is presented in the following tabulation:

Ky 330b

7002

י\_י

ĩ

Liquid Fuel Consumption in the States of Kentucky, Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia and Florida in the Year 1948 by Principal Product Classifications (1,000 Barrels)

J¥

y 31 32a

0021

Product Classification	Kentucky	Virginia	North <u>Carolina</u>	South Carolina	Georgia	Florida
Motor Fuel Kerosene	11,577 1,383	15,755 2,008	18,088 3,787	8,927 2,064	14,931 2.181	15,490 2.687
Diesel Fuel Other Distillates	1,093 887	1,432 3,443	1,221 1,999	728 869	1,225 1,368	2,118 1,715
Residual Fuel	1,303	7,503	461	2,445	3,375	16,132
Total	16,243	30,141	25,556	<u>15,033</u>	23,080	38,142

In the above tabulation, the figures for motor fuel consumption are exclusive of aviation and military uses. The data given for the other product classifications are sales figures as published by the Bureau of Mines. Consumption or sales figures for liquefied petroleum gases are not published by states but are available by Petroleum Administration for War Districts. The figures for District No. 2, which includes the State of Kentucky, and 14 other states, and the figures for District No. 1 which includes the States of Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia and Florida, and 12 other states and the District of Columbia, show that sales of liquefied petroleum gases in the year 1948 amounted to approximately 5.9 and 4.0 percent of the motor fuel consumption in those two districts respectively.

The following tabulation shows, for petroleum products similar to the products specified to be produced by synthetic liquid fuels plants, consumption in Kentucky, Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida in 1948 as percentages of motor fuel consumption.

# Consumption of Other Liquid Fuel Products as Percentages of Motor Fuel Consumption

Item	<u>Kentucky</u>	<u>Virginia</u>	North Carolina	South Carolina	Georgia	<u>Florida</u>
Motor Fuel	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
Diesel Fuèl	9.4	9.1	6.8	8.2	8.2	13.7
Residual Fuel Oil	11.3	47.6	2.5	27.4	22.6	104.1

The distribution of actual product consumption evident in the above tabulation differs materially from the proposed distribution of plant products specified to be produced by the hydrogenation

and coal synthine plants. In the case of Diesel fuel, the actual consumption in the marketing territory amounts to 9 percent of the motor fuel consumption, whereas for synthine plants the estimated production is 26.1 percent. The output of liquefied petroleum gases by hydrogenation plants at 32.8 percent of the gasoline produced, is unusually high as compared with consumption in 1948 in P.A.W. District Nos. 1 and 2, which amounted to approximately 4.0 and 5.9 percent respectively.

It is apparent from the above analysis that the plant product distribution for both hydrogenation and coal synthine plants does not correspond to actual product consumption in the marketing territory. In the case of the hydrogenation type of plant, according to the proposed plant product distribution, too high a percentage of liquefied petroleum gases is specified, and in the case of the coal synthine plants the percentage of Diesel fuel specified is too high. Of course, if only a few synthetic liquid fuels unit plants were in operation, the differences would be immaterial, but if the entire amount of motor fuel requirements were to be supplied by either one or the other type of synthetic liquid fuels plants, the plants would have to be redesigned to approach more nearly the required product distribution. It appears, however, that complete reliance upon synthetic liquid fuels plants as a source of supply is so far in the future that the product demand pattern may change considerably in the intervening years. At such time as synthetic liquid fuels plants are economically feasible, it is probable that they would be so designed as to produce the products then in demand.

# Sources of Liquid Fuels Supply for the Marketing Territory

Sources of Crude Oil. Crude oil production in the marketing territory is relatively small and the bulk of the crude oil produced originates in Kentucky. In 1949, approximately 9.5 million barrels of crude oil were produced in Kentucky while proved reserves of crude oil as estimated by the American Petroleum Institute stood at 56.2 million barrels as of December 31 of that year. Of the five other states in the marketing territory, Virginia and Florida are the only ones which produced crude oil in 1948. In that year, approximately 33,000 barrels of crude oil were produced in Virginia and approximately 290,000 barrels in Florida. Proved reserves of crude oil, as estimated by the American Petroleum Institute, are not shown separately for Virginia and Florida, but total proved reserves of crude oil in the States of Virginia, Florida, Tennessee and Missouri were estimated as of December 31, 1949, at 3.6 million barrels, a great part of which was in Florida.

Although Kentucky is the largest crude oil producing State in the marketing territory, production is small as compared to the total crude oil requirements of the State. Consequently, part of the Kentucky crude oil requirements are obtained from other producing states. In the year 1948, a large part of the crude oil received at refineries in Kentucky originated in Illinois and Indiana and in the Gulf Coast region. Similarly, the local production of crude oil in the other states in the marketing territory is not adequate to supply total crude oil requirements of refineries located within those states, even though the refining capacity is very small in relation to the demand for liquid fuels. As a result, some crude oil is shipped in and the Monthly Crude Refinery Reports, published by the Bureau of Mines, indicate that in 1948 the major portion of the crude oil received at refineries in those states originated in foreign countries.

**,** \*

Crude Oil Refining Capacity. As of January 1, 1950 there were nine oil refineries located in the marketing territory, seven of which were in Kentucky. The total annual crude oil capacity of the nine refineries amounted to approximately 33 million barrels. This is equivalent to only a small part of the total demand for liquid fuels in the marketing territory, which in 1948 amounted to approximately 148 million barrels. Information regarding locations, daily crude oil capacities, and companies operating the refineries is given below.

	Location	Crude Oil Capacity (Barrels per day)	Company
	Kentucky:		
	Betsey Layne	300	Gilley Oil & Refining Co.
•	Catlettsburg	45,000	Ashland Oil & Refining Co.
	Latonia	16,500	Standard Oil Co. (Ohio)
	Louisville	8,000	Aetna Oil Co. (Ashland Oil & Refining Co.)
_	Louisville	6.000	Louisville Refining. Inc.
•	Louisville	1.800	Stoll Oil Refining Co. Inc.
	Somerset	1,500	South Kentucky Refinery
У	Total	79,100	
33b	Georgia:		
34a	Savannah	5.500	Mexican Petroleum Corpora-
•		- <b>,</b>	tion of Georgia
0021	South Carolina:		
	Charleston	6,500	Esso Standard Oil Co.

011	Refineries	in	the	Marke	eting	Territory
Ч.	as o	fJa	anuar	y 1.	195Ō	-

Sources of Refined Products. The refining capacity in Kentucky is more than adequate to care for the liquid fuels requirements in the State. Nevertheless, there is a substantial movement of products by barge up the Mississippi and Ohio Rivers into Kentucky from refineries located in Texas and Louisiana.

In the rest of the marketing territory, the demand for liquid fuels is now met principally by the movement of products from refineries in Texas and Louisiana. Ocean-going tank ships provide for the transportation of products from the refineries to the Gulf Coast regions of Florida and along the eastern seaboard of the marketing territory. In addition, the Plantation and Southeastern products pipe lines afford a movement of liquid fuels to the important inland markets. There is also some movement of petroleum products from refineries in the Baltimore and Philadelphia areas to the markets in northern Virginia.

## Prices of Petroleum Products.

Transportation of crude oil and products by barge to Kentucky from the Southwest is accomplished quite economically. Nevertheless, this movement requires a rather long haul and transportation costs are sufficient to provide some competitive advantage to synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky due to being located in a market relatively distant from the major sources of supply of petroleum.

In this study, consideration has necessarily been given to the prices of petroleum products as being one of the important factors affecting present and future demand for liquid fuels in the marketing territory. Weighted average composite prices of petroleum products have been computed based upon the same liquid fuel products and proportions as those specified to be produced by hydrogenation and coal synthine plants. These composite prices were constructed from quotations obtained on the various petroleum products in wholesale quantities fob. refineries in Kentucky, excluding taxes. While the cost calculations for synthetic liquid fuels plants and products contained in other sections of this report are based upon prices and quotations prevailing as of March 31,1950, it was deemed preferable to use, in these calculations, quotations for petroleum products as of June 1, 1950 because refinery margins as of that date, appear to have been more nearly normal. In the tabulation on the following page, prices of the various petroleum products in Kentucky, as of June 1, 1950, are weighted according to the plant product distributions specified for hydrogenation and coal synthine plants.

In the tabulation, the price shown for gasoline is that of regular grade house brand containing tetraethyl lead with an octane rating of 82 or better. This product is evidently superior as a motor fuel to the gasoline specified to be produced by the hydrogenation and synthine processes using coal. The gasoline produced by these processes is stated to have an octane rating of 78 to 80 motor method and no provision has been made in the calculations for the addition of tetraethyl lead, although it is understood that such Ky

334

335

336

7002:

additions could be made at nominal cost above the base cost of the required tetraethyl lead. The quotation on Diesel fuel is for a product with a rating of 55 cetane. In the tabulation, the price used for fuel oil for the synthine process is that of No. 6 (residual fuel oil).

Propane is specified to be produced by the synthine process using coal and both propane and butane by the hydrogenation process in the proportions of about 72 percent propane and 28 percent butane. The price differential between propane and butane is subject to wide seasonal fluctuation. In the summertime, prices of the two products may be equal, but in the wintertime, when there is a demand for butane for mixing with motor fuel, the price may rise considerably above that for propane. In the calculations above, the price for propane alone is used since that product constitutes such a high percentage of the total.

1

56b ?

)021

Composit Prices of Petroleum Products Fob. Refineries in Kentucky as of June 1, 1950 Weighted According to the Plant Fuel Product Distributions Specified for Hydrogenation and Synthine Plants Using Coal

		Pric	es of Pe <sup>.</sup> Products	troleum s		Price	es of Pe Product	troleum s
Product	Hydrogenation Plant Fuel Product Distribution (Percent)	Cents per Gallon	Dollars per <u>Barrel</u>	Weighted Composite Dollars per Barrel	Synthine Plant Product Dis- tribution (Percent)	Cents per Gallon	Dollars per Barrel	Weighted Composite Dollars per Barrel
Gasoline Diesel Fuel Oil	75.31%	12.00¢	\$5.040 _	\$3.796 	72.80% 19.00 3.50	12.00¢ 8.75 6.00	\$5.040 3.675 2.520	\$3.669 .698 .088
Propane and Butane	_24.69(A)	4.00	1.680	.415	4.70	4.00	1.680	.079
Total	100.00%			<u>\$4.211</u>	100.00%			\$4.534

.

•

Note: (A) 72 percent propane and 28 percent butane.

.

In the foregoing tabulation the composite wholesale price fob. refinery of petroleum products as of June 1, 1950 weighted in the same proportions as the liquid fuel productions specified to be produced by hydrogenation synthetic liquid fuels plants is shown to be \$4.21 per barrel and for products weighted in the same proportions as those specified to be produced by coal synthine plants the composite wholesale price is shown to be \$4.53 per barrel. It should be pointed out that the estimates of future demand for petroleum products have been based on projections of present-day factors affecting consumption. It is not known how or when synthetic liquid fuel products will become competitive with petroleum products in the marketing territory. If, due to difficulties in. developing supplies, costs of crude petroleum rise to such an extent in the future as to cause petroleum product prices to rise substantially relative to the general price level and to alter the competitive price positions of fuels, the projected future demand may be considerably less than the amounts estimated previously for the marketing territory.

## Transportation of Plant Products

**7**...

58

59a

10021

When synthetic liquid fuels plants become economically feasible, they will occur first obviously in those General Areas where the over-all conditions appear most favorable for financial success. An important advantage of synthetic liquid fuels plants in certain areas would be their proximity to markets, made possible by raw material resources located in or near regions of high population density. In such cases, the resultant lower costs of distributing plant products to the points of consumption within the marketing territory would give an important economic advantage to the local plants.

Synthetic liquid fuels plants situated in the Suitable General Areas in Kentucky would be well located for the distribution of plant products. A single plant in any one of the General Areas in Kentucky could probably dispose of its output within reasonable trucking distance of the plant, while a number of plants situated in the General Areas in eastern Kentucky, southern West Virginia and western Virginia could obtain economical transportation of products throughout the marketing territory.

The estimated population of the counties in Kentucky by size groups, as of January 1, 1949, is shown on the map, Exhibit No. 73. This exhibit also shows the approximate center of each General Area. During 1948, the average annual per capita consumption of motor fuel in Kentucky was about four barrels. At that rate, approximately 684,000 persons would consume the motor gasoline production of a single hydrogenation or coal synthine unit plant. It is clear from a study of the map, Exhibit No. 73, that sufficiently large populations live within reasonable trucking distance of the General Areas in Kentucky for all or a major part of the output of a single plant located in any one of the General Areas to be disposed of locally if the products were distributed by one of the important marketers or if there was an exchange of products between companies. If it is assumed that single plants exist simultaneously in each of the General Areas, all of their production could not be marketed locally.

If a substantial part or all of the motor fuel requirements in the marketing territory were to be supplied by synthetic liquid fuels plants, it would appear desirable to develop the eastern Kentucky, southern West Virginia and western Virginia region as a whole and to construct a large-capacity pipe line in order to obtain economical transportation of products throughout the marketing territory. Such a pipe line extending from the General Areas to the Atlantic seaboard, for example to the port of Norfolk, would provide for the economical movement of products by tank ship to the important markets in the territory lying along the eastern seaboard and the Gulf of Mexico. The petroleum products pipe lines in existence in the marketing territory, as of August 1, 1949 are shown on the map, Exhibit No. 74. Furthermore, if a pipe line from the General Areas in the eastern Kentucky, southern West Virginia and western Virginia region to the Atlantic seaboard were also connected to the Plantation pipe line at its terminus near Greensboro, N.C., and that system operated in the reverse direction to its present flow, products could also be distributed economically to the major inland markets lying along the Piedmont. An interchange of products between the Plantation and Southeastern pipe lines would provide for effective distribution to the important inland markets in Georgia. Given such a system of distribution, potential synthetic liquid fuels plants in the region under consideration would appear favorably located for the economical distribution of products throughout the marketing territory.

Synthetic liquid fuels plants located in the General Areas in western Kentucky, while not as well situated as those in the eastern part of the State in regard to supplying the marketing territory as a whole, would be conveniently located for the distribution of products to a large part of the market in Kentucky itself. Short product pipe lines could be constructed from plants in the several General Areas in western Kentucky to bulk terminals on the Ohio River. Barge movement on the Ohio River would provide access to the major markets in Kentucky. The Tennessee, Cumberland, and Kentucky Rivers might also be utilized for the movement of products to some markets in the interior of the State. As mentioned previously, the Mississippi River would afford economical transportation of products to important markets lying along the River in other states not included, at this time, in the potential marketing territory for synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky.

In this report no consideration is given to the possibility of using the presently existing crude oil pipe lines for the transportation of synthetic liquid fuel products. At such time as synthetic liquid fuels become commercially feasible, it might be possible

to convert such crude oil pipe lines as are then in operating condition and conveniently located for the transportation of synthetic liquid fuel products.

The cost of transportation of plant products to the marketing territory is one of the factors that must be taken into consideration in determining the relative desirability of the General Areas suitable for synthetic liquid fuels plants. It has been shown that a single 10,000-barrel-per-day hydrogenation or coal synthine plant located in any one of the General Areas in Kentucky could probably dispose of all or a major part of its output locally. Products from each of the General Areas could probably be moved to bulk stations or to dealers by transport truck or tank truck. In this study, it is not considered feasible or necessary to measure the cost of transporting products to local distribution points or to dealers' premises.

In the case of a substantial number of synthetic liquid fuels plants operating simultaneously, delivery of products to the points of consumption would be by pipe lines, tank ships, barges, and trucks. A large part of the cost of distributing products throughout the marketing territory would be incurred jointly and might not be segregable by plants. While the cost of transportation is one of the factors that must be considered in determining the relative desirability of General Areas, in this study this requirement has been construed not to include the cost of moving products within the marketing territory. By definition, the marketing territory for plants located in the Suitable General Areas in eastern Kentucky, southern West Virginia, and western Virginia was limited to the area in which it was assumed the local plants would have transportation cost advantages over synthetic liquid fuels plants located in states outside of the marketing territory. In other words, the transportation costs with which this study is concerned are those covering the movement of products to distant marketing territories and not those incurred in distributing products to points of consumption within the defined marketing territory. It is assumed that the cost of distribution within a given marketing territory would be about the same for plants located outside as for those within the territory but that outside plants would incur additional costs of transporting products to the market under consideration. Consequently, in determining the relative desirability of General Areas, costs of transportation need not be taken into consideration for those General Areas which lie wholly within a local marketing territory.

For the purpose of analyzing potential markets for syn-

thetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky, the marketing territory

has been defined to include the entire market in the States of Kentucky, Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia and Florida. It has been assumed that plants in eastern Kentucky

would be developed in conjunction with plants in southern West Virginia and western Virginia to supply the demand for synthetic

## Summary and Conclusions

41b) 542a

liquid fuels in Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia and Florida. Motor fuel consumption in this marketing territory, exclusive of aviation and military uses, in 1948 amounted to 84.8 million barrels and is estimated to reach an annual volume of 175.7 million barrels by 1975. These amounts of motor fuel consumption would be equivalent respectively to the gasoline output of about 31 and 64 synthetic liquid fuels plants of 10,000 barrels daily capacity using coal as raw material.

The plant product distributions specified for both the hydrogenation and synthine plants using coal do not correspond to the present actual product consumption in the marketing territory. If only a few synthetic liquid fuels unit plants were in operation, the differences would be inconsequential. If a substantial part of the motor fuel requirements, however, were to be supplied by one or the other of these processes, it is probable that the plants would be so designed as to produce the products then in demand.

The demand for liquid fuels in the marketing territory is economically supplied. Wholesale prices of petroleum products fob. refineries in Kentucky, as of June 1, 1950, amount to \$4.21 per barrel when weighted in the same proportions as the liquid fuel products specified to be produced by hydrogenation plants and to \$4.53 when weighted according to the plant products specified for coal synthine plants. A major increase in liquid fuel prices altering basically the competitive positions of fuels could have the effect of reducing substantially the estimates of demand within the marketing territory.

In the United States, during the 5-year period 1945-1949, the amount of crude oil added to the known supply was larger than in any similar period; furthermore, proved reserves as of December 31, 1949 stood at an all-time record high of about 25,000,000,000 barrels. During this 5-year period, proved reserves increased 4,864,959,000 barrels. From the analysis, the prospective supply of petroleum appears adequate to satisfy the demand for liquid fuels for the present and at least a major portion of future requirements for a long period of years.

When synthetic liquid fuels plants, using coal as a raw material, become commercially feasible, it appears likely that they will be constructed first in those General Areas where there is a combination of unusually favorable factors. An important advantage for synthetic liquid fuels plants in certain parts of the United States would be their proximity to relatively large centers of consumption, where plant products doubtless would be largely distributed locally. Such plants, if situated in the Suitable General Areas in Kentucky, would be well located for the distribution of plant products. A single unit plant, located in any one of the General Areas in Kentucky could dispose of all or a major part of its output locally within trucking distance of the plant. If a substantial part or all of the requirements for motor gasoline in

K:

34: 34:

the marketing territory were to be supplied by synthetic liquid fuels plants situated in the Suitable General Areas in eastern Kentucky, southern West Virginia and western Virginia, it would appear desirable to construct a large capacity pipe line extending to the Atlantic seaboard and connecting with the petroleum products pipe lines now serving the marketing territory. Within the marketing territory defined, plants in these General Areas would have minimum costs for distribution of synthetic liquid fuels. For the purpose of determining the relative desirability of General Areas in the United States, cost of transportation of plant products need not be taken into consideration for those General Areas which lie wholly within a local marketing territory.

3b

**,** \*

#### WASTE DISPOSAL

## General

,\*

The manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels from coal, by either hydrogenation or synthine process, produces gaseous, liquid, and solid wastes, all of them constituting potential nuisances. Any or all of these may require special treatment or disposal, in degree depending upon the location of the plant with respect to settled communities, public water supply, farming areas, etc. The principalgaseous wastes are sulfur compounds, resulting from combustion or removal of sulfur present in the coal. Liquid wastes consist of waste water from process, carrying oil and chemical contamination; blowdown from cooling towers and boilers, which may carry excessive concentrations of dissolved solids; and plant sanitary sewage. Solid waste consists of ash originally present in the coal, any unburned coal, and spent catalysts, principally iron oxide.

#### Gaseous Wastes

In the hydrogenation process, about one-fifth of the coal consumption of the plant is burned in the boiler house. Sulfur dioxide is present in the flue gases to the same extent as in those from any other power plant of equivalent size (about 90,000 to 100,000 kw) in respect of boiler capacity. The sulfur present in the balance of the coal is removed at various points in the process. appearing as hydrogen sulfide. This may be burned in the power plant, producing additional sulfur dioxide in the stack gases; burned to sulfur dioxide and converted to by-product sulfuric acid; or converted directly to elemental sulfur, using current by established commercial processes. If burned in the power plant the total sulfur dioxide resulting will be about equivalent to that from a very large steam power plant - say 500,000 kw. Choice of alternative disposal methods would depend on local markets for the respective by-products.

In the coal synthine process, the steam and power required are generated from waste heat. The coal received at the plant goes direct to synthesis gas manufacture, the sulfur in the coal appearing principally as hydrogen sulfide, which is removed in concentrated form in the course of gas purification. If necessary, hydrogen sulfide may be burned in flares, producing sulfur dioxide. In the case of high-sulfur coals, however, the quantity of hydrogen sulfide produced may be too great for such disposition. In such case, hydrogen sulfide may be converted to sulfuric acid or to elemental sulfur, the choice depending upon local markets for these byproducts. In any event, it appears practicable to reduce the sulfur nuisance to any reasonable extent required.

Ку 44 10<sup>°</sup> 70021

# Liquid Wastes

The principal contaminated liquid process waste discharged from a hydrogenation unit plant will be a relatively small amount - about 50,000 gallons per day - of foul process water, separated from the oil stream in the cold traps and pressure letdown tanks, and carrying relatively high concentrations (in the tenths of a percent) of dissolved phenols, ammonia, and hydrogen sulfide, as well as oil and tar in suspension. Preliminary studies indicate that it will be possible to remove all of these contaminants to any extent which may be required by local health or other authorities, as a total cost well within the allowance already made for this purpose in the overall plant construction and operating cost estimates. Subject to necessary further development work, it now appears that this removal can be accomplished by a series of operations consisting of:

- (a) A skimming pond for gross removal of oil and tar;
- (b) Liquid-to-liquid solvent extraction of remaining oil and tar, using hydrocarbon solvent cuts obtained in the main process and recycled;
- (c) Pressure release, accompanied by heating, to remove hydrogen sulfide and ammonia;
- (d) Treatment with recently developed highly basic ionexchange resin, to effect phenol removal down to perhaps 0.005 ppm; followed by
- (e) Final treatment with ozone to oxidize any remaining phenol below possible taste level, if necessary.

Periodic regeneration of the ion-exchange resin with concentrated caustic soda will produce a strong solution of sodium phenolate from which crude phenol may be separated by treatment with waste carbon dioxide from the main plant and returned to process. The small quantity of sodium carbonate solution remaining could be evaporated to dryness for ultimate disposal, if necessary. A rough preliminary estimate indicates that a total sum of \$500,000 to \$600,000 should be adequate to cover the cost of such a disposal system, including the oil-skimming pond.

It is also possible to destroy phenols by biochemical oxidation, as for example on a trickling filter. This method, which is practiced on a commercial scale in the United States, requires preliminary reduction of phenol concentration, either by solvent extraction ("pheno-solvan" process) or by dilution, to about 200 ppm. The combined operation would be substituted for Ky 34: 10 7002:

4

۲.

step (d), above. However, the possible presence, in the foul process water, of cyanides which may cause serious interference with bacterial action, has led to the consideration of ion-exchange as an alternative method.

In the case of synthine, side-reactions in the process together with scrubbing operations, result in a water stream containing large quantities of organic compounds, principally aliphatic alcohols, acids, aldehydes, and ketones. Information from the U.S. Bureau of Mines, together with preliminary studies by other engineers in the petroleum industry who have worked on this problem, indicates that scrubbing may be limited to the point where the total quantity of process and scrubbing water combined amounts to about 450,000-500,000 gallons per day in a unit plant. To the extent that a market can be found for the chemical by-products, they may be recovered and sold. However, after a few synthine unit plants have been established, it is anticipated that the existing market for such products in refined state would be saturated, with the result that their recovery would no longer be profitable. In such case, it is assumed that a crude mixture of the more volatile alcohols and ketones will be removed by a simple distillation, and either sold at fuel value or returned to process for gasification to provide additional synthesis gas. The contaminated water remaining would be used as boiler feed to provide make-up steam for synthesis gas production.

Plant sanitary sewage from either hydrogenation or synthine plants would be of the order of 100,000 gallons per day in a unit plant. If local authorities require treatment before this effluent is run into the streams, the necessary sewage disposal plant should not involve an investment of more than \$100,000 to \$150,000.

Engineers of the U.S. Bureau of Mines have stated that the plant cost estimates, in the case of each process, include an allowance of approximately \$1,000,000 to cover waste disposal from a unit This should be sufficient to cover maximum requirements for plant. complete treatment of contaminated liquid process wastes and plant sanitary sewage. Since over-all plant operating cost estimates are based primarily upon factors proportionate to construction cost, the inclusion of adequate construction cost provision for liquid waste disposal in the general estimates also implies inclusion of proportionate allowance for disposal system operating costs. The probable adequacy of this allowance is indicated by preliminary estimates. In respect of coal synthine, some dissenting opinion exists as to whether the scrubbing water may be limited within the amount which can be reabsorbed in process. Any excess would require treatment before disposal. Further development work is necessary before the question may be resolved. At the worst, a disposal cost of \$0.10 to \$0.20 per barrel of products might be required, over and above the allowance already included in general process cost estimates.

У

<u>z</u> •

5b

6

0

The remaining liquid plant waste to be considered is that resulting from boiler and cooling tower blowdown. Since the principal water consumption in both hydrogenation and synthine processes is by evaporation loss, the water rejected from the plant. other than the process and sanitary wastes mentioned, will consist largely of these blowdowns and may contain the major part of the daily tonnage of dissolved solids in the gross water make-up drawn by the plant. As a result, the concentration of dissolved mineral salts in the blowdown water may be several times as great as that in the original make-up. For plant locations where the make-up water is not already abnormally high in dissolved salts and where the wastes can be discharged into streams of which the minimum flow is large in proportion to the waste volume, dilution of the blowdown with other plant effluents should serve to keep the whole within acceptable limits. Where large quantities of blowdown are to be discharged into small streams having a low minimum flow, the increase in solids might affect the suitability of the water for Such uses are minor, and, in general, no difficulty other uses. should be encountered in the discharge of blowdown from cooling towers。 In extreme cases, however, it is possible that State authorities may require a reduction in the concentration of dissolved solids before approval is granted. This may involve added costs, over and above those included in the general allowance for waste disposal. Actual determination of these added costs (if any) for any specific plant location would require detailed information, such as individual standards applying to the particular stream which would receive the wastes, complete analysis of the water available for cooling tower make-up and for possible dilution purposes, and similar data not available in the current general survey.

Stream Pollution. In regard to possible stream pollution and the necessity for treatment of liquid wastes for plants in Kentucky the following conditions have been developed in the course of the investigation:

If synthetic liquid fuels plants were built in Kentucky so that sewage or wastes would be discharged into the streams of the State, sewage or industrial waste treatment may be required. The degree of treatment would depend upon the particular receiving stream. Phenols and other organic compounds in the process wastes would have to be reduced to harmless concentration.

Domestic sewage could be treated by conventional methods to whatever degree is necessary. In any event, the cost of such treatment would be only a small part of the total cost for providing community facilities.

Waste treatment would not remove the high concentration of mineral salts from the blowdown water from the cooling towers. In larger streams, the low concentration of solids in the natural waters and the dilution of the return process water would be such

294

Кy

34'

as to prevent serious difficulty. However, in the case of small tributary streams where summer flows would be about equal to or even less than the quantities of synthetic liquid fuels plant wastes, the increase in solids might affect the suitability of such waters for other purposes.

The effect of discharges from synthetic liquid fuels plants upon public water supplies would depend upon the exact location of the plant and the distance from the point of discharge to the water works intake or intakes. There are a few public water supplies in the coal regions in Kentucky; namely, Pikeville, Prestonsburg, Hazard, and Harlan, which are taken from streams that might receive synthetic liquid fuels wastes and which might be affected by such wastes.

Water supplies taken from streams many miles below plant sites ordinarily would not be harmed because of natural purification and oxidation in the streams. However, in some areas, natural purification is inhibited by acid mine drainage and organic compounds such as phenols, might be noticed many miles from the plant site. In some instances, it might be cheaper to replace small water supply systems, rather than change the site of a synthetic liquid fuels plant.

The effect of synthetic liquid fuels plant wastes upon neighboring water supplies would depend upon the exact stream into which the wastes were discharged, the distance between the point of discharge and the water works intake, and other factors. In determining actual plant sites, this aspect should be considered. Otherwise, serious operating difficulties might develop.

Legal Aspect. Stream pollution control is an essential part of the over-all development of water resources and the State regulatory activities pertaining to water use and pollution are closely related.

Kentucky, through the Water Pollution Control Commission created in 1950, is engaged in the control and abatement of stream pollution. Pollution is defined as the discharge of sewage or industrial wastes in such manner as may contaminate the waters of the Commonwealth and render them detrimental to the public health or welfare, to animal or aquatic life, to the use of such waters as present or future sources of public water supply, or to their use for recreational, commercial, agricultural, or other legitimate purpose.

The Commission has the power to enforce all pollution control laws and regulations, to develop a program for pollution control, to establish water quality standards, and to issue after hearings, orders abating discharges or requiring adoption of remedial measures. The Commission may institute court action to compel

348b to

50a

10

10021

ы.

Кý

.\*

compliance with its orders.

Plans and specifications of all new waste disposal works, or industrial plants that may cause pollution, must be submitted to the Commission and a permit obtained. The Commission is an agency of the Department of Health, and the Director of the Division of Sanitary Engineering of the Department of Health serves as Technical Secretary and administrative agent of the Commission. ₹.

Ку

350

to 552

352

10 7002

No regulations with regard to minimum treatment requirements for sewage or industrial wastes have yet been promulgated.

The Kentucky legislature has approved and enacted into law the Ohio River Valley Water Sanitation Compact for the control of stream pollution in the Ohio River Basin. The Ohio River Valley Water Sanitation Commission created by the Compact is composed of three members from each of the participating states and three from the Federal Government. It is authorized to prescribe regulations and standards for administering and enforcing the Compact, although it is the policy of the Commission to leave the enforcement of pollution control measures primarily with the state regulatory agencies. The Commission is authorized, however, to hold hearings and issue orders against pollution offenders when this action is desired by the signatory state in which the particular pollution occurs.

The Compact prescribes that sewage shall be treated to remove all settleable solids and 45 percent of the total suspended solids with a higher degree of treatment to be provided where deemed necessary by the Commission. The Compact also requires that all industrial wastes shall be treated to protect the public health or to preserve the surface waters for other legitimate purposes to such degree as may be determined to be necessary by the Commission. The Commission first met in 1948, and its requirements for industrial waste treatment have not been fully established. The Commission's policies will, however, influence the degree of treatment to be required of wastes from synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky.

## Solid Wastes

Solid wastes of the order of 270 to 880 tons per day, consisting of coal ash, unburned coal, and spent catalysts, would be produced by a 10,000-barrel-per-day synthine plant operating on Kentucky coal as raw material. A hydrogenation plant would produce in total about three-fifths of this amount, but in normal, isolated plant locations, about 45 percent of the ash may be dissipated from the power plant stack as fly-ash, leaving net ash quantity sent to disposal only about one-third of that from a coal synthine plant.

Cost of Solid Waste Disposal. The quantity requiring disposal is sufficient to justify fairly elaborate mechanical handling and stacking in order to minimize labor cost. In the case of the coal synthine process, estimates prepared for this purpose indicate that from approximately 110 to 360 acres of land will be required to provide space for the ash dumps resulting from 40 years of plant The ash transport and disposal system considered assumes operation. hydraulic and pneumatic conveying of ash and spent catalyst from the various sources to separating and holding tanks located at the dis-Decanted water would be recycled. Moist ash accumulated posal area. in the tanks would be carried, after drainage, by belt conveyor to an unloader-stacker which would distribute it onto dump piles, with the assistance of a bulldozer to compact the piles and maintain formation. Total cost of ash disposal area equipment of the capacity required for a coal synthine unit plant operating on Kentucky coal, (from 270 to 880 tons of ash per day) is estimated at approxi-mately \$490,000 to \$980,000. This does not include ash collection equipment, which is normally covered in process plant costs. Total operating cost and fixed charges are estimated at approximately \$300 to \$580 per day, or \$0.030 to \$0.058 per barrel of products. Each percent of the total investment allowed as gross return would amount to about \$13 to \$27 per day, or to approximately \$0.0013 to \$0.0027 per barrel of products.

In the coal synthine process practically all ash appears in the gasifier (synthesis gas producer) and must be completely removed from the synthesis gas before it passes to the reactors. In hydrogenation, fuel consumed in the power plant consists of coal, amounting to about 20 percent of total plant requirements, plus the coke from delayed coking of heavy oil from the hydrogenation proc-The coke contains all the ash in the coal fed to hydrogenaess. tion (about 50 percent of plant requirements). Assuming pulverized fuel firing of the power plant boilers and normal distribution of ash size between fine and coarse particles, about 45 percent of total solid waste will appear in the form of fly-ash in the stack gases from the power plant. Assuming that the plant is in a fairly isolated location, where fly-ash nuisance can be tolerated, it should be unnecessary to install collection and removal equipment. In this case the net tonnage of ash actually requiring disposal will be about three-fifths as great as for the coal synthine process. resulting in capital and operating costs of solid waste disposal only about three-fifths as great as those stated above. However, if local authorities should require fly-ash removal, total ash disposal costs would be about three-fourths of those for coal synthine.

The estimated solid waste disposal plant investment and daily operating costs (exclusive of return on investment) for the various General Areas in Kentucky, for both hydrogenation and (coal) synthine unit plants, are shown in the following tabulations:

У

25

3 10 D021

Selid	Wast	e Disp	sal -	Kentu	cky
Estimate	ed Di	sposal	Plant	Inves	tment
	(As o	f Marc	n 31, .	1950)	

General Area	Hydrogenation (A)	Coal Synthine
Johnson-Magoffin	\$322,000	\$493.000
Pike	370,000	527,000
Floyd-Magoffin	406,000	594,000
Knott-Breathitt	388,000	551,000
Perry-Breathitt	388,000	567,000
Leslie-Harlan	365,000	536,000
Northern Letcher	362,000	519,000
Harlan-Letcher	368,000	525,000
Bell	378,000	553,000
Daviess	518,000	932,000(B)
Henderson	534,000	980,000
Union	474,000	777,000
Webster	466,000	749,000
Hopkins-Christian	461,000	744,000
Muhlenberg-McLean	467,000	750,000
Ohio	474,000	787,000

Note: (A) Assuming that removal of fly-ash from stack gases is not required.

(B) Coal reserves in the Daviess General Area are insufficient for a 40-year supply of one coal synthine unit plant.

# Solid Waste Disposal - Kentucky Estimated Disposal Plant Operating and Fixed Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	Hydrogenation		Coal	
	[ [	A )	Synthine	
·	Per	Per	Per	Per
<u>General Area</u>	Day	Barrel	Day	Barrel
Johnson-Magoffin	\$156	\$0.016	\$298	\$0.030
Pike	186	0.019	<b>`</b> 327	0.033
Floyd-Magoffin	213	0.021	378	0.038
Knott-Breathitt	200	0.020	346	0.035
Perry-Breathitt	200	0.020	359	0.036
Leslie-Harlan	183	0.018	335	0.034
Northern Letcher	182	0.018	322	0.032
Harlan-Letcher	186	0.019	327	0.033
Bell	193	0.019	349	0.035
Daviess	321	0.032	561	0.056
Henderson	333	0.033	584	0.058
Union	280	0.028	484	0.048
Webster	274	0.027	470	0.047
Hopkins-Christian	266	0.027	467	0.047
Muhlenberg-McLean	273	0.027	470	0.047
Ohio	280	0.028	490	0.049
Note: (A) Assuming that removal is not required.	of fl;	y-ash <b>fr</b> i	om stad	ck gases

Кy 3.54 355 10 7002 The operation of such a disposal installation may require a total of about 13 to 26 employes, including direct operating and maintenance wage earners and supervisors, with a proportionate allocation of indirect personnel.

# Over-all Costs of Waste Disposal

ГУ

156 10 10021 The preceding discussion indicates that treatment of liquid process wastes may absorb practically all of the allowance for waste disposal included in the general cost estimates for the process plant. In such event, costs of solid waste disposal developed above are in addition to and above any general processing costs and must be added separately to the total cost of product.

At certain locations, however, the study of stream pollution indicates that considerably less than maximum waste treatment may be acceptable. In such case, the saving in cost of liquid waste disposal presumably could be applied as a credit against the cost of handling solid wastes.

#### PROCESS COSTS

## Basis of Estimates

.

Кy

57

D021

-5 -5

Estimates of plant capital investment and operating costs follow for two synthetic liquid fuels processes both using coal as the raw material, i.e., the hydrogenation process and the synthine process. These estimates are based on estimates prepared by the Bureau of Mines. Plant capital investments, as so prepared, have been adjusted by the Contractor, as explained later in the text, to changes and differences in basic costs of labor and material between the time of such estimates and the time of this report.

As noted in a preceding section, under "Processes and Plant Requirements", the estimated plant construction costs and process costs developed in the following pages are intended primarily for use in comparing the relative desirability of different Areas as potential plant locations. For this reason, they were based on the assumed use of certain improvements in process and equipment which are still in the development stage but which appear reasonably likely to be applicable by the time significant number of synthetic liquid fuels plants could be constructed. For plants constructed as of today, using only equipment and processes now commercially available in this country, basic requirements and costs might be appreciably higher than the estimates given.

Process costs estimated herein, as of March 31, 1950, as directed by the Contracting Officer, have been limited to operating costs included in U.S. Bureau of Mines cost estimating procedure, rather than costs comprising "cost of service" or selling prices. The Bureau of Mines procedure includes an allowance of approximately 3 percent of plant investment for plant maintenance; 6-2/3 percent for depreciation; 1 percent for insurance and local, county, and State real estate taxes; and an allowance equivalent to 10 percent of direct labor, plant maintenance and operating supplies for general administrative and general office overhead (which includes the salaries and wages of the General Manager or Plant Manager and his immediate staff reporting directly to management); but they include no allowance for head office or top management costs, selling expenses, return on investment or sales and corporate (including income) taxes. Cost of coal used in the process has been computed on a "captive mine" basis and as such does not include selling expenses or return on the initial investment. The cost of water has been estimated on the same basis. To show the effect of return on investment estimates are included herein to show the total investment required by its component parts, and the amount per barrel required for each 1 percent gross return (before income taxes) on initial capital investment.

Operating costs shown herein are reported, as directed by the Contracting Officer, in dollars per barrel of total products. Estimates of the equivalent cost of gasoline and credits for sale of by-products were not considered necessary for the determination of the most desirable General Areas. Because the product grades and quantities are different for each process, the raw material and process selected in each General Area would be the one whose products most satisfactorily meet the particular market demand. Therefore, comparison of General Areas has been made on the basis of one raw material at a time, for each applicable process.

## Hydrogenation Process

Plant Capital Investment. Based on an estimate by the Bureau of Mines of a typical unit plant hereinafter described the required plant capital investment has been estimated for a 10,000barrel-per-day unit plant in Kentucky using the hydrogenation process. The table below compares the Bureau of Mines estimate with the estimate for a unit plant in Kentucky Johnson-Magoffin General Area (as an example).

Estima	ites o	f Plant	Capital	Invest	tment
fora	10,00	0-barre.	l-per-dag	y Unit	Plant
Ũ	Ising	Hydrogen	nation Pi	rocess	

Item	Bureau of Mines Estimate of Typical Unit Plant (A) as of lst Quarter 1948	Adjusted Estimate of Unit Plant in Kentucky Johnson-Magoffin General Area as of March 31, 1950
Plant Construction Cost Interest during Construction	\$80,974,000 3,037,000	\$91,096,000 3,416,000
Depreciable Investment	\$84,011,000	\$94,512,000
Operating Capital	4,608,000	4,961,000
Total Investment	\$88,619,000	\$99,473,000

Note: (A) Taken at one-third of the Bureau of Mines estimate (R.I. 4564) for a 30,000-barrel-per-day plant.

70021

¥

The Contractor's estimates for all General Areas in Kentucky are tabulated in Exhibit No. 75 by General Areas of Coal and Water Availability.

Bureau of Mines Estimate. For a 10,000-barrel-per-day hydrogenation unit, this survey has adopted a cost equal to onethird of the plant cost estimated as of the first quarter of 1948 by the Bureau of Mines (and reported in its publication R.I. 4564) for a 30,000-barrel-per-day plant at Rock Springs, Wyo., designed to convert Wyoming bituminous coal to synthetic liquid fuels in the proportions stated in the section of this report entitled "Processes and Plant Requirements."

Such a plant includes complete power generation facilities. Bureau of Mines estimates for a 30,000-barrel-per-day plant represent the cost of an arbitrary production unit of substantially maximum efficiency; the actual cost of a plant of only 10,000 barrels daily capacity might be considerably greater per barrel of product. Construction costs and required total investment for a typical unit plant, as previously defined - i.e., one-third of the cost of a 30,000-barrel plant are shown in Exhibit No. 76.

Adjusted Estimate for Kentucky. Since estimates in this report of processing costs in Kentucky are as of March 31, 1950, it is necessary to apply factors to the Bureau of Mines costs to convert them to cost levels prevailing at that date.

Adjustment to cost levels of March 31, 1950 is shown in the following tabulation.

	Conversion of Costs of 10,000-barrel-per-day Hydrogenation Plant at Rock Springs, Vyo.,					<b>Ly</b>	
Frem	First	Quarter	1948 te	March	31, 19	50 Price	Basis

	Estimated Cests			
	Cest as ef	As March	•1 31, 1950	
	lst Quarter 1948	Ragter	Cest	
Precess Units				
Material: Major Equipment	\$19,498,000	114.4%	\$22,306,000	
Equipment	9,410,000	109.1	10,266,000	
Subtetal	\$28,908,000		\$32,572,000	
Field Construction Labor	7,863,000	112.2	8,822,000	
Field Indirect Costs	3,960,000	112.2	4,443,000	
Total Construction Costs	\$40,731,000	112.5	\$45,837,000	
Overheads	9,950,000	and a second	11,179,000	
Total Process Units Costs	\$50,681,000	112.5%	\$57,016,000	
<u>Auxiliary Units</u>				
Tankage Power Plant Plant Utilities Dis-	\$ 1,670,000 12,083,000	112.5 <b>%</b> 112.5	\$ 1,879,000 13,593,000	
tribution General Plant Facilities	8,573,000 7,967,000	112.5 112.5	9,645,000 8,963,000	
Total Auxiliary Units	\$30,293,000	112.5%	\$34,080,000	
Total Plant	\$80,97 <u>4,000</u>	112.5%	<u>\$91,096,000</u>	
Factor	100.0%		112.5%	

Factors for conversion of cost levels from the first quarter of 1948 to March 31, 1950 have been derived as follows: **K**J 360

٠

1

ł

, 1 ₹\_

10 7002] **\*** 

Bureau of Labor Statistics index of wholesale prices of iron and steel:

As of	As of	Factor
March	March	of
1948	<u>1950</u>	Change
147.7	169.0	114.4%

Other Materials and Equipment:

Other Materials and Equipment may be grouped in three general classifications with costs reported in R.I. 4564 (for a 30,000-barrel-per-day plant) as below:

Building Materials	Thousands of Dollars		
Foundations Structures and Supports Buildings Painting	\$1,815 2,930 3,220 178		
Total		\$ 8,143	
Piping		11,924	
Other Materials			
Instruments Electrical Insulation Other Miscellaneous	\$1,985 3,326 764 2,088		
Total		8,163	
Total Other Materials and Equipment		\$28,230	

y The factor of conversion used for Other Materials and Equipment is a weighted average of the indices of wholesale prices of Building Materials (Bureau of Labor Statistics) and of the cost of Piping from the Contractor's Cost Bureau. The first index was weighted by the cost of Building Materials above and the second by the cost of Piping. Other Materials were considered to follow the weighted index of Building Materials and Piping. Computation of the factor used is shown below:
				Weight	Weighting			
	As of March	As of March	Factor of	(Cost in	\$1,000'8)			
Basis	1948	1950	Change	Amount	Product			
BLS Index, Wholesale Price of Building								
Materials	193.1	194.2	100.6%	\$ 8,143	\$ 8,192			
Wholesale Price of Seamless Pipe:								
8 in.	\$1.445	\$1.664						
10 in.	` <b>1</b> ,775	2.041						
12 in.	2.321	2.662	<del></del>					
Total Pipe	\$5.541	\$6,367	114.9%	\$11,924	\$13,701			
Total and Average			<u>109.1%</u>	\$20,067	<u>\$21,893</u>			

Labor:

Average of Bureau of Labor Statistics on union wage scales for selected building trades (giving building laborers a weight of three and skilled crafts a weight of one):

City	As of	As of	Factor
	<u>4/1/48</u>	<u>4/3/50</u>	of Change
Butte	\$1.872	\$2.067	110.4%
Denver	1.832	2.073	113.2
Salt Lake City	1.667	1.886	113.1
Average			112.2%

Field Indirect Costs:

This item, estimated as a percentage of labor costs, uses the conversion factor for labor.

Total Plant Costs:

The weighted average factor of total construction costs is obtained by dividing costs of March 31, 1950 by costs as of the first quarter of 1948. This factor is used for total process units and for all auxiliary units. Overheads for Kentucky are the differ- 3 ence between total process units and total construction cost.

\*\_

X

No adjustment of costs for change in location from Rock Springs, Wyo., to the General Areas in Kentucky has been made as such an adjustment is considered to be within the range of accuracy of the original estimates.

•

ΪŢ

363 364a

10

Ъ.

Interest during construction (shown in Exhibit No. 75) was estimated according to the Bureau of Mines practice described as follows in R.I. 4564:

"It is estimated that 4 years will be required to construct such a plant. The interest on capital expenditures during construction is calculated at 2-1/2 percent. Expenditures are estimated at 10 percent of the total cost of the plant the first year, 20 percent the second, 30 percent the third, and 40 percent the fourth. It may be expected that some units will be completed and production begun by the end of the third year of construction. Under this financing schedule, interest amounts to approximately 3.75 percent of the plant cost".

Operating capital was estimated for one plant in each General Area as shown in Exhibit Nos. 75 and 77. The method used was that of the Bureau of Mines as described in its R.I. 4564:

"In determining the amount of operating capital required, it is assumed that the plant will reach designed production within its first year of operation. It is expected that limited plant operation will begin at the end of 3 years' construction, and that construction and operation will be carried on simultaneously during the fourth year. It is expected that the average production rate during this period will be approximately 50 percent of full normal production. Similarly, it is assumed that consumption of raw material will be 25 percent of normal for the first 6 months and 100 percent for the last 6 months. The raw materials include coal, catalysts, and water. Operating capital must cover the cost of the initial 30-day supply of coal, raw materials consumed during the first 6 months of operation, labor, maintenance, and all other operating costs except fixed charges. Fixed charges are not assessed until construction is completed; interest during construction is treated as a part of total plant cost. Operating expenses during the second 6 months will be financed from the sale of products made during previous operations".

In estimation of operating capital, the Contractor has included in the inventory prices of coal and water, an allowance for return on investment in coal mines and water works.

It has been considered, in estimation of the average operating capital over a 40-year period required for a unit plant in each General Area, that cheaper strip coal would be used to the 70021 extent of its availability before using the more expensive underground coal. Depletion of strip coal and the necessary inventory

replacement by more expensive underground coal would ultimately, in the case of certain General Areas, increase the operating capital requirement. The following tabulation shows, by General Areas, the number of years for which strip coal is available for supply of a unit plant, and the increase in the operating capital requirement occasioned by the ultimate exclusive use of underground coal over the operating capital requirement of the initial plant:

## Increase in Operating Capital Requirement for Ultimate Hydrogenation Unit Plants Using All Underground Coal over Such Requirement for Initial Plant in Same Area

Opera Strip Coal Cap Available (Usin for Unit Plant Under General Area (Years) Coa	Ital 3 All 3 All 3 round 1)
Daviess 4 \$45	,677
Webster 10 80	238
Hopkins-Christian 64 309	,836
Muhlenberg-McLean 47 312	558
Ohio 124 380	,243

Operating Costs. Estimates of manufacturing costs based on estimates by the Bureau of Mines for the specific hydrogenation unit plant for which estimated construction costs have been stated (considered as a typical unit plant), are summarized in the first column of the following table:

Ky 364b 365 10 7002:

	Estimated Processing Cost 10,000-barrel-per-	s Using Bureau day Hydrogenat	of Mines Meth ion Plant	od
•	Manufacturing Costs	Bureau of Mines Esti- ate of Typi- cal Plant per Calen- dar Day	Bureau of Estimate Ad General Areas ás of March Per Calendar Day	Mines justed to in Kentucky 31, 1950 Per Barrel of Products
	Direct Costs			
	Direct Materials: Coal Catalysts and Chemicals Total Direct Materials	\$14,037 <u>1,293</u> \$15,330	\$18,238 293 \$19,531	\$1.82 <u>.13</u> \$1.95
	Direct Labor: Wage Earners Supervision	\$ 3,402 510	\$ 3,282 <u>492</u>	\$ .33 05
	Total Direct Labor	\$ 3,912	\$ 3,774	<b>\$0.</b> 38
	Plant Maintenance: Wage Earners Supervision	\$ 3,858 579	\$ 3,722 <u>558</u>	\$0.37 06
	Total Maintenance Labor	<b>\$</b> 4,437	\$ 4,280	<b>\$0</b> .43
	Materials	2,218	2,496	.25
•	Total Plant Maintenance	<b>\$</b> 6,655	\$ 6,776	<b>\$0</b> _68
•	Payroll Overhead Operating Supplies Make-up Water	\$ 1,044 1,331 <u>876</u>	\$ 1,007 1,355 208	\$0.10 .14 _02
	Total Direct Costs	\$29,148	\$32,651	\$3.27
	Indirect Costs			
	Indirect Labor Indirect Salaried Personnel Other Indirect Costs	\$   927 1,943 <u>3,079</u>	\$ 894 1,943 3,116	\$0.09 .19 <u>.31</u>
*	Total Indirect Costs	<u>\$ 5,949</u>	<u>\$</u> 5,953	\$0.59
	Total Direct and Indirect Costs	\$35,097	\$38,604	\$3.86
•	Fixed Costs			
У	Local, County, and State Taxes and Insurance Depreciation	\$ 2,302 <u>15,344</u>	\$ 2,589 <u>17,262</u>	\$0.26 <u>1.73</u>
6	Total Fixed Costs	\$17,646	<u>\$19,851</u>	<u>\$1,99</u>
0021	Total Manufacturing Costs Less Coal and Make-up Water	\$52,743 14,913	\$58,455 <u>18,446</u>	\$5.85 <u>1.85</u>
	Other Processing Costs (A)	<u>\$37,830</u>	\$40,009	\$4,00

Note: (A) Other than coal and make-up water.

The figures in the first column of the above table, adopted for this survey, are one-third of the manufacturing costs (as of the first quarter of 1948) estimated by the U.S. Bureau of Mines and reported in its publication R.I. 4564 for a 30,000barrel-per-day plant (with complete power generation facilities) designed to convert Wyoming bituminous coal to products in proportions already stated. Coal and water quantities used in these estimates differ somewhat from those shown in the tabulation of basic data in the "Processes and Plant Requirements" section which, as stated, were based on the use of an average rather than a specific plant.

Preparation of the estimate based on that of the Bureau of Mines of daily operating costs of a typical unit plant used methods tabulated in Exhibit No. 78.

Operating costs estimated to apply as of March 31, 1950, in the General Areas of Coal and Water Availability in Kentucky are summarized in the second column of the table. Costs of coal and make-up water are those for Johnson-Magoffin General Area, which Area was used as an example.

The bases of the adjusted estimate of daily operating costs of a unit plant in the General Areas of Coal and Water Availability in Kentucky as of March 31, 1950 are tabulated in Exhibit No. 79.

The items of plant maintenance materials, operating supplies, and other indirect costs might have been taken at the same cost in Kentucky as at Rock Springs, Wyo. (i.e., treated similarly to catalysts and chemicals, and indirect salaried personnel) but have been computed according to methods adopted by the Bureau of Mines.

Return on Investment. Recognizing that different investors may require different rates of return upon their capital, these estimates include no allowance for return. However, as a guide, the following tabulation indicates the amounts per day and per barrel of products which would be required for each increment of 1 percent on the estimated plant capital in the case of Johnson-Magoffin General Area, used as an example:

> Incremental Costs for Each 1 Percent Gross Return on Initial Investment in Process Plant Johnson-Magoffin General Area, Kentucky

Total Initial Capital Investment	\$99,473,000
l Percent Return on Above: Per Annum Per Calendar Day Per Barrel of Product	\$

Ку

Similar incremental costs for each 1 percent gross return on initial investment in Process Plant for all General Areas in Kentucky are shown in Exhibit No. 75.

Additional plants in certain Areas previously mentioned would require increased operating capital in the different General Areas, the maximum increase being \$380,000 in Ohio General Area.

The incremental cost for each 1 percent gross return on this amount would be equivalent to \$10 per day or \$0.0010 per barrel of products which would not materially change the rates indicated in the foregoing table and Exhibit No. 75.

Effect of Coal Characteristics. In preparing estimates of coal quantity required, plant cost, and processing cost in each General Area, the calculations have been based on an (average) total daily raw material requirement of 98,000,000,000 Btu, for a typical coal hydrogenation unit plant, as specified in the plant requirements data furnished for use in this report.

Actually, for a plant of given capacity in terms of daily production of synthetic liquid fuels, the overall efficiency of conversion, which in turn affects both daily Btu requirements and physical size of the plant (and hence construction and operating costs) varies with certain characteristics of the coal used as raw material, particularly with ash and moisture content and coal chemical reactivity.

A study of the effect of these factors was made to determine the maximum range of possible variation within the limits of the coals considered in this survey. The results of this study showed that in no case did the probable variation in coal quantity (as Btu), plant cost, or processing cost, due to individual coal characteristics, exceed plus or minus 10 percent of the mean. Only in the case of coals at the extreme upper and lower limits of the range designated as suitable for hydrogenation would indicated coal quantity and plant cost exceed by more than 10 percent the actual base figures used in the cost calculations above. In the large majority of cases, the variation should be a few percent only.

As the maximum error is within the probable limits of accuracy of the base figures themselves, in the interest of simplicity no adjustment has been made to reflect the effect of coal characteristics on Btu requirements and physical size of plant.

#### Coal Synthine Process

÷.

1

٦y.

:8\*

;9a ) 1**921** 

)021

Basis of Estimates. Based on the results of extensive research and development work of its own, as well as upon available data of other investigators in the United States and in Germany, The Bureau of Mines has in the course of preparation estimates of construction and operating costs of a coal synthine plant of commercial scale. Preliminary data from this study, for a plant producing 10,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels per day from western Kentucky bituminous coal, a specific case, have been adopted for this survey for estimating construction and operating costs of a unit plant, to be used as a basis of comparison for determining relative desirability of General Areas. In drawing other than relative conclusions from these cost estimates, however, the preliminary nature of the data so far available must be remembered. The final estimates determined by the Bureau at the completion of its work may differ appreciably from the present figures.

Plant Capital Investment. Based on the preliminary estimates of the Bureau of Mines for a typical unit plant, the required plant capital investment has been estimated for a 10,000-barrel-perday unit plant in Kentucky using the coal synthine process. The table below shows figures as estimated by the Bureau of Mines and as adjusted for a coal synthine unit plant in Kentucky Johnson-Magoffin General Area.

Estimates	of	Pla	ant	Ca	pita	11	Invest	ment
	foi	a a	Uni	t	Plar	ıt		
Using	<u>5 C</u> C	bal	Syr	itk	ine	Pr	ocess	

<u>Item as</u>	Bureau of Mines Preliminary Estimate of Typical Unit Plant of March 1, 1950	Adjusted Estimate of Unit Plant in Kentucky Johnson-Magoffin General Area as of March 31, 1950
Plant Erection Cost	\$81,805,000	\$81,805,000
Construction	2,455,000	2,455,000
Depreciable Investment	\$84,260,000	\$84,260,000
Operating Capital	4,000,000	5,173,000
Total Investment	\$88,260,000	\$89,433,000

The Contractor's estimates for all General Areas in Kentucky are tabulated in Exhibit No. 80 by General Areas of Coal and Water Availability.

Construction costs and required total investment for a coal synthine unit plant are shown in Exhibit No. 81, as estimated by the Bureau of Mines.

Ky 369t 370a ₹0 70021 Adjusted Estimate for Kentucky. For this survey, estimates of processing costs in Kentucky are as of March 31, 1950. It is considered that any difference in cost levels prevailing between that date and the date of the Bureau of Mines estimate, March 1, 1950, is within the range of accuracy of the original estimate. No adjustment of costs for change in location from Caseyville, Ky. to the General Areas in Kentucky has been made as such an adjustment is considered to be within the range of accuracy of the original estimate. Consequently, the Bureau of Mines estimate of plant erection cost has been adopted as directly applicable to such a cost in the General Areas in Kentucky.

.+

Ку

Interest during construction was estimated, as by the Bureau of Mines at 3 percent of plant construction costs and is shown in Exhibit No. 80.

Operating capital was estimated for one plant in each General Area as shown in Exhibits Nos. 80 and 82. In the absence of information as to the method employed in the Bureau of Mines estimate of costs of a typical plant using the coal synthine process the method followed for the hydrogenation process, was used.

It has been considered, in estimation of the average operating capital over a 40-year period required for a unit plant in each General Area, that cheaper strip coal would be used to the extent of its availability before using the more expensive underground coal. Depletion of strip coal and the necessary inventory replacement by the more expensive underground coal would ultimately, in the case of certain General Areas, increase the operating capital requirement. The following tabulation shows, by General Areas, the number of years for which strip coal is available for supply of a unit plant, and the increase in the operating capital requirement occasioned by the ultimate exclusive use of underground coal over the operating capital requirement of the initial plant:

> Increase in Operating Capital Requirement for Ultimate Coal Synthine Unit Plants Using All Underground Coal over Such Requirement for Initial Plant in Same Area

General Area	Strip Coal Available for Unit Plant (Years)	Increase in Operating Capital (Using All Underground Coal)
Webster	8	\$ 83,187
Hopkins-Christian	50	398,393
Muhlenberg-McLean	37	369 6807
Ohio	97	488,916
Daviess	3	(Å)
Note: (A) Insufficient coal reserves	in Daviess Gener	al Area to

warrant consideration of more than one unit plant for 40 years. Operating Costs. Estimates of manufacturing costs, based on estimates by the Bureau of Mines for the typical coal synthine unit plant for which estimated construction costs have been stated, are summarized in the first column of the following table:

8

\*,

	Bureau of Mines Preliminary Estimate of Typical Plant	Bureau of Mines Estimate Adjusted to General Areas in Kentucky as of March 31, 1950			
Manufacturing Costs	dar Day	dar Day	of Products		
Direct Costs					
Direct Materials: Coal Catalysts and Chemicals Total Direct Materials	\$14,383 <u>1,200</u> \$15,583	\$23,445 <u>1,200</u> \$24,645	\$2.34 <u>.12</u> \$2.46		
Direct Labor: Wage Earners Supervision	\$ 3,150 <u>473</u>	\$ 2,986 <u>448</u>	\$0.30 <u>.04</u>		
Total Direct Labor	\$3,623	\$ 3,434	<b>\$0.34</b>		
Plant Maintenance: Wage Earners Supervision	\$  3,897 585	\$ 3,694 554	\$0.37 <u>.06</u>		
Total Maintenance Labor	\$ 4,482	\$ 4,248	\$0.43		
Materials	<u>    2   2 241    </u>	2,241	22		
Total Plant Maintenance	\$ 6,723 \$ 0,3	\$6,489 \$960	\$0.65		
Operating Supplies Make-up Water	;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;	1,298 208	\$0,10 .13 02		
Total Direct Costs	\$29,402	\$37,034	\$3.70		
Indirect Costs					
Indirect Labor Indirect Salaried Personnel Other Indirect Costs	\$ 963 1,953 _2,930	\$   913 1,953 745	\$0.09 .20 .27		
Total Indirect Costs	<u>\$ 5,846</u>	<u>\$ 5,611</u>	\$0.56		
Total Direct and In- direct Costs	\$35,248	\$42,645	\$4.26		
Fixed Costs					
Local, County, and State Taxes and Insurance Depreciation	\$ 2,308 _15,390	\$ 2,308 15,390	\$0.23 <u>1.54</u>		
Total Fixed Costs	<u>\$17,698</u>	<u>\$17,698</u>	<u>\$1.77</u>		
Total Manufacturing Costs Less Coal and Make-up Water	<b>\$5</b> 2,946 15,498	\$60,343 _23,653	\$6.03 2.36		
Balance Other Processing Costs (A)	<u>\$37,448</u>	\$36,690	<u>\$3.67</u>		
	- •				

Estimated	Processing	Costs	Using	Bureau	of	Mînes	Method
10.00	)0-barrel-pe	er-day	Coal	Synthine	P.	lant	

•

Кy

Note: (A) Other than coal and make-up water.

The estimate, based on that of the Burgau of Mines of daily operating costs of a typical coal synthine unit plant, is developed by methods summarized in Exhibit No. 83.

Operating costs estimated to apply in the General Areas of Coal and Water Availability in Kentucky as of March 31, 1950 are summarized in the second column of the table. Costs of coal and make-up water are those for Johnson-Magoffin General Area, which Area was used as an example.

The bases of the adjusted estimate of daily operating costs of a unit plant in the General Areas of Coal and Water Availability in Kentucky as of March 31, 1950 are tabulated in Exhibit No. 84.

The items of plant maintenance materials, operating supplies, and other indirect costs might have been taken at the same cost in Kentucky as at Caseyville, Ky., (i.e. treated similarly to catalysts and chemicals and indirect salaried personnel) but have been computed according to methods adopted by the Bureau of Mines.

Return on Investment. Recognizing that different investors may require different rates of return upon their capital, these estimates include no allowance for return. However, as a guide, the following tabulation indicates the amounts per day and per barrel of products which would be required for each increment of 1 percent on the estimated plant capital in the case of Kentucky Johnson-Magoffin General Area, used as an example:

> Incremental Costs for each 1 Percent Gross Return on Initial Investment in Process Plant Kentucky Johnson-Magoffin General Area

Total Initial Capital Investment	\$8	9,433,000
l Percent Return on Above: Per Annum	\$	894.330
Per Calendar Day	•	2,450
Per Barrel of Products		0.245

Incremental costs for each 1 percent gross return on initial investment in process plant for all General Areas in Kentucky are shown in Exhibit No. 80.

Additional plants in certain General Areas previously mentioned would require increased operating capital for such plants, the maximum increase being about \$489,000 in this General Areas

The incremental cost for each 1 percent gross return on this amount would be equivalent to \$13 per day, or \$0.0013 per 57. 1( 700) barrel of products which would not materially change the rates indicated in the foregoing table and Exhibit No. 80.

Effect of Coal Characteristics. In preparing estimates of coal quantity required, plant cost, and processing cost in each General Area, the calculations have been based on an average total daily raw material requirement of 126,000,000 Btu for a typical coal synthine unit plant, as specified in the plant requirements data furnished for use in this report.

Actually, for a plant of given capacity in terms of daily production of synthetic liquid fuels, the daily Btu requirements and physical size of the plant (and hence construction and operating costs) vary with certain characteristics of the coal used as raw material. The over-all Btu consumption increases with increasing moisture content of the coal as received at the process plant, since additional Btu, over and above basic process requirements, must be consumed in evaporating surplus moisture to produce a coal of the requisite dryness for gasification. Furthermore, construction costs (dependent on physical size) of a coal synthine plant of given production capacity may vary through a maximum range of 20 percent, according to the rank of the coal available.

A study of the effect of these factors was made to determine the maximum range of possible variation within the limits of the coals considered in this survey. The results of this study showed that in the case of Btu requirements the maximum probable variation, over the entire range of coals included in the survey, from anthracite to the lowest grades of brown coal, is approximately plus or minus 10 percent of the mean. As stated above, there may be a variation in plant cost because of rank of coal of not more than plus or minus 10 percent of the mean. The base cost and Btu requirements for the typical plants used in the foregoing calculations differ somewhat from the actual mean. However, only the lower grades of lignites and brown coal give rise to Btu requirements and plant costs more than 10 percent greater than the base figures used. In the large majority of cases, the variation should be only a few percent.

As the maximum error is within the probable limits of accuracy of the base figures themselves, in the interest of simplicity no adjustment has been made to reflect the effect of coal characteristics on Btu requirements and physical size of plant.

#### STRATEGIC CONSIDERATIONS

Based on studies made by the National Security Resources Board, it is believed that areas of industrial concentration of less than 5 square miles, or urban concentrations of less than 50,000 people separated by about 10 miles of relatively open country, will be reasonably secure from atomic bomb attack under all circumstances expected to prevail.

The 9 General Areas in the eastern part of Kentucky are located in 11 counties, namely, Johnson, Magoffin, Pike, Floyd, Knott, Breathitt, Perry, Leslie, Harlan, Letcher, and Bell. The largest towns are Middlesboro, Jenkins, and Hazard, each of which has less than 15,000 population. The four nearest cities which might be considered as possible targets, from a strategic standpoint, are Huntington, W. Va., about 50 miles to the north, Charleston, W. Va., about 80 miles to the northeast, Knoxville, Tenn., about 125 miles to the south, and Louisville, Ky., about 160 miles to the northwest.

The seven General Areas in the western part of Kentucky are located in nine counties, namely, Daviess, Henderson, Union, Webster, Hopkins, Christian, Muhlenberg, McLean, and Ohio. The largest towns are Owensboro, Henderson, Hopkinsville, and Madisonville, each of which has less than 35,000 population. The three nearest cities which might be considered as possible targets, from a strategic standpoint are Evansville, Indiana, about 25 miles to the north, Nashville, Tenn., about 100 miles to the southeast, and Louisville, Ky., about 100 miles to the northeast.

Possible targets, other than the cities indicated above, are the dams of the Tennessee Valley Authority and the several coalhauling railroads, all of which are some distance from the Kentucky General Areas.

Giving due consideration to the factors indicated above, especially the absence of nearby large cities, it seems evident that the development of a new synthetic liquid fuels industry in the General Areas of Kentucky could be so planned as to conform to the presently published policy of the NSRB with regard to strategic considerations.

376

Ку

## PART VI

# COMPARISON OF SUITABLE GENERAL AREAS

376A Ky 3

٠

Ι,

.

.≁

#### COMPARISON OF SUITABLE GENERAL AREAS

The relative merits of the 16 Suitable General Areas within the State of Kentucky may be judged by a number of more or less independent criteria. Data therefor have been presented throughout this report and are in large part summarized in Exhibits Nos. 10, 85, 86, 87, and 88. As affecting the size of an industry which a General Area could support, the amount of available coal reserves is important, but it has little weight in comparison of the relative desirability of Areas for an initial unit plant in each.

The Suitable General Areas may be ranked according to estimated over-all construction costs of the initial unit plant and associated development in each General Area. Such systems include the capital investment required for coal mining and process water supply facilities, the process plant itself, access transportation, products transportation (beyond the local marketing territory to the extent required), disposal of solid wastes from process, plant-city development, and rental housing. The amounts, as tabulated in Exhibits Nos. 85 and 86, are exclusive of capital required for onehalf of the dwelling units in the plant-city (assumed to be sold) and of the commercial facilities and domestic water supply (assumed to be self-supporting).

Another basis for relative ranking of the Suitable General Areas is by the estimated costs of products of the initial unit plant in each Area which, as shown in Exhibits Nos. 85 and 86 are exclusive of return on investment. Furthermore, the costs as shown make no allowance for that portion of the plant-city assumed ultimately to be sold, nor do they include operating costs of domestic water supply which are to be offset by water rents. The costs as shown are exclusive of operating costs of one-half of the dwelling units in the plant-city (assumed to be sold) and of the commercial facilities (assumed to be self-supporting). They also are exclusive of the costs of operation of rental housing and domestic water supply as these costs are estimated to be offset by a portion of the rentals paid by occupants of rental dwelling units and by water rents paid by consumers.

The relative ranking of the 16 Suitable General Areas on each of the foregoing bases is shown in the tabulation following for the hydrogenation and coal synthine processes, separately. The same table indicates also the orders of relative desirability with respect to various components of the project construction costs and the overall cost per barrel of products.

It can be noted that, although the relative orders of desirability of the General Areas as regards total cost of products (exclusive of return on investment) are essentially the same for initial plants for both types of processes, use of the coal synthine process as compared with hydrogenation slightly betters the relative position of the Knott-Breathitt, and Leslie-Harlan General Areas and harms that of Perry-Breathitt, Floyd-Magoffin, and Daviess General Areas.

Ку

377

	Total Cost	tal Cost										
Suitable General Area	per Barrel of <u>Products</u>	Coal	Water (Process)	Access Transportation	Waste Disposal	Capital Required	Coal Mining	Water (Process)	Process Plant	Access Transportation	Waste Disposal	Coal Reserves
Muhlenberg-McLean	1	1	6	4	10	2	2	6	1	4	12	5
Ohio	2	3	5	8	13	1	1	5	2	9	13	9
Hopkins-Christian	3	2	14	11	11	15	3	16	3	12	10	2
Webster	4	4	9	5	12	9	4	9	4	6	11	6
Union	5	5	2	6	14	4	9	2	5	5	14	8
Northern Letcher	6	6	16	1	2	13	7	14	7	1	2	12
Pike	7	7	7	15	4	12	5	7	6	15	5	1
Harlan-Letcher	8	9	12	2	5	10	6	13	10	2	4	3
Bell	9	11	13	3	6	11	13	12	11	3	6	14
Perry-Breath1tt	10	12	10	10	7	8	11	10	13	10	7	10
Floyd-Magoffin	11	13	8	12	9	5	12	8	12	11	9	4
<b>Daviess</b>	12	14	1	13	15	7	14	1	8	13	15	16
Leslie-Harlan	13	10	11	16	3	14	10	11	9	16	3	13
Knott-Breathitt	14	8	15	14	8	16	8	15	14	14	8	7
Johnson-Magoffin	15	15	3	9	1	3	16	4	15	8	1	15
Henderson	16	16	4	7	16	6	15	3	16	7	16	11

#### Relative Orders of Desirability of Suitable General Areas in Kentucky on Various Bases Hydrogenation Process

	Total Cost Per Cost per Barrel of Products for•			Total	Total Capital Required for				Awailahia			
Suitable General Area	Barrel of Products	Coal	Water (Process)	Access Transportation	Waste Disposal	Capital Required	Coal Mining	Water (Process)	Process Plant	Access Transportation	Waste Disposal	Coal Reserves
Muhlenberg-McLean	1	2	6	1	10	2	2	6	1	4	12	5
Ohio	2	3	5	8	13	1	1	5	2	9	14	9
Hopkins-Christian	3	1	14	11	11	15	3	16	3	12	10	z
Webster	4	4	9	5	12	11	4	9	4	6	11	6
Union	5	5	l	6	14	4	9	2	5	5	13	8
Northern Letcher	6	6	16	2	2	13	7	14	7	1	2	12
Pike	7	7	7	15	3	9	5	7	6	15	4	1
Harlan-Letcher	8	9	12	3	4	7	6	13	9	2	3	3
Bell	9	11	13	4	6	10	13	12	10	3	7	14
Knott-Breathitt	10	8	15	14	7	16	8	15	11	14	6	7
Perry-Breath1tt	11	12	10	10	8	6	11	10	14	10	8	10
Leslie-Harlan	12	10	11	16	5	14	10	11	8	16	5	13
Floyd-Magoffin	13	13	8	12	9	5	12	8	12	11	9	4
Daviess	14	14	2	13	15	12	15	1	13	13	15	16
Johnson-Magoffin	15	15	3	9	1	3	16	4	15	8	1	15
Henderson	16	16	4	7	16	8	14	3	16	7	16	11

#### Relative Orders of Desirability of Suitable General Areas in Kentucky on Various Bases Coal Synthine Process

The effect of exhaustion of the limited reserves of cheaper strip-minable coal in five General Areas and the consequent necessity in the case of later plants of recourse to higher-cost underground coal is shown by Exhibit Nos. 87 and 88. These exhibits show separately for the hydrogenation and coal synthine processes, respectively, total costs for an ultimate unit plant in such General Areas using underground coal only. Should only underground coal be used in all General Areas the order of relative desirability would change from that already determined on the basis of the use of strip and underground coal (first plant) as follows:

### Change in Relative Desirability for Ultimate (All Underground Coal) as Compared with Initial Unit Plants

Suitable General Area

Hydrogenation Process Coal Synthine Process

#### Basis: Estimated Capital Required

Ohio	lst place	et é	4th	lst place to 5th
Muhlenberg-McLean	2nd place	e to	3rd	No change
Daviess	7th place	e to	8th	(A) -
Webster	9th place	e to	llth	11th place to 13th
Hopkins-Christian	15th place	e to	16th	15th place to 16th

#### Basis: Estimated Cost of Products

Muhlenberg-McLean	lst place	to 3rd	lst place to	3rd
Ohio	2nd place	to 5th	2nd place to	6th
Hopkins-Christian	3rd place	to 4th	3rd place to	4 th
Webster	4th place	to 2nd	4th place to	2nd
Daviess	12th place	to 14th	(A)	

Note: (A) Insufficient coal reserves in Daviess General Area to warrant consideration of more than one unit plant for 40 years.

The relative orders of desirability of the 16 Suitable General Areas for initial and for ultimate unit plants using underground coal only are compared in the following tabulation:

Gudtabla	Est1 Cost of	mated Products	Estimated Capital Required		
General Area	<u>Initial</u>	<u>Ultimate</u>	<u>Initial</u>	<u>Ultimate</u>	
Hydrogenation Process					
Muhlenberg-McLean Ohio Hopkins-Christian Webster Union Northern Letcher Pike Harlan-Letcher Bell Perry-Breathitt Floyd-Magoffin Daviess Leslie-Harlan Knott-Breathitt Johnson-Magoffin Henderson	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16	3 5 4 2 1 6 7 8 9 10 11 14 12 13 15 16	2 15 9 4 13 12 10 11 8 5 7 14 16 3 6	3 4 16 11 2 13 12 9 10 7 5 8 14 15 1 6	
Coal Synthine Process Muhlenberg-McLean Ohio Hopkins-Christian Webster Union Northern Letcher Pike Harlan-Letcher Bell Knott-Breathitt Perry-Breathitt Leslie-Harlan Floyd-Magoffin Daviess Johnson-Magoffin Henderson	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16	3 6 4 2 1 5 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16	2 1 15 11 4 13 9 7 10 16 6 14 5 12 3 8	2 5 16 13 3 12 9 7 10 15 6 14 4 11 1 8	

## Relative Orders of Desirability of Suitable General Areas in Kentucky for Initial and Ultimate (Using Underground Coal Only) Unit Plants

8 <u>38</u> 7002

Although unit costs for process water supply for full development of potential capacity in any General Area would, in the various General Areas, range from approximately 40 percent to slightly more than the unit costs for water for a single unit plant, the differences are insignificant as compared to total operating costs as stated (exclusive of return on investment). Such total costs include costs of coal, water processing, transportation, housing, and waste disposal, subject to qualifications already discussed.

**"**\*

Ky\_ 382 383a 3 70021

The figures presented are to be considered as indicative of average conditions within the respective General Areas. Depending upon actual plant locations, there will be some variation from the indicated orders of desirability. It is also possible that some plant locations, although satisfying most conditions, may be relatively less desirably situated with respect to other factors.

In evaluating the relative importance of the several bases of ranking relative order of desirability, the importance of the various criteria may be judged by average data for all Suitable General Areas of Kentucky. The average estimated cost of construction and cost per barrel of products may be tabulated:

and of Con	struction an	d Process	es	
(As o	f March 31, Hydroger Proce	1950) ation ss	Coal Synthine Process	
Estimated Cost of Products	Amount	Percent	Amount	Percent
Coal Water (Process) Processing Access Transportation Product Transportation Waste Disposal	\$1.563 .044 4.001 .007 023	27.72% .78 70.97 .12  .41	\$2.015 .044 3.669 .007 041	34.89% .76 63.52 .12 - .71
Total	<u>\$5.638</u>	<u>100.00</u> %	<u>\$5.776</u>	<u>100.00</u> %
Estimated Capital Required	<u>(x \$1,000)</u>	_	<u>(x \$1,000)</u>	
Coal Mining Water (Process) Process Plant Access Transportation Product Transportation Waste Disposal Housing	\$ 6,450 3,147 99,290 476 - 421 5,181	5.61% 2.74 86.36 .41 .37 <u>4.51</u>	\$ 8,306 3,147 89,194 476 	7.76% 2.94 83.36 .44 .62 4.88
Total	\$114,965	100.00%	\$107,002	100.00%

Average Estimated Cost of Products per Barrel

The order of desirability from the standpoint of estimated required capital differs somewhat from a ranking in terms of estimated cost of products, exclusive of return on investment. However, the range of variation in capital investment is slightly less than the range in cost of products and, moreover, probably is less susceptible to significant improvement as the industry may develop. It appears, therefore, in determining the over-all relative order of desirability, cost of products would be of greater importance than required capital investment and this is the basis which has been adopted.

Although, exclusive of return on investment, the cost per barrel of products is higher in every General Area for initial unit plants using the synthine process (see Exhibits Nos. \$5 and 86), the cost spread between hydrogenation and coal synthine, which averages 13.8 cents per barrel, does not exceed 2.4 percent of the average cost of hydrogenation. Based on stated costs per barrel of products for initial unit plants, preceding tables show no significant differences in the order of relative desirability between the hydrogenation and coal synthine processes, although there are several minor changes in the order of Areas.

The Suitable General Areas of Kentucky may also be listed in terms of daily production capacity which could be supported by available raw material reserves. Such a listing however, as in the following tabulation, has no bearing upon the relative desirability of the Areas for initial unit plants. Daily Production Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels <u>Supportable over a 40-Year Period from Available Coal Reserves</u> (Based upon alternative use of the two processes. Capacities as estimated are not additive.)

	Thousands of B	arrels per Day
	Hydrogenation	Coal Synthine
Suitable General Area		
Pike	504	392
Hopkins-Christian	235	183
Harlan-Letcher	213	166
Floyd-Magoffin	199	155
Muhlenberg-McLean	176	137
Webster	136	106
Knott-Breathitt	127	99
Union	103	80
Perry-Breathitt	<b>9</b> 5	74
Ohio	82	64
Northern-Letcher	74	58
Henderson	70	55
Leslie-Harlan	68	53
Bell	43	33
Johnson-Magoffin	41	32
Daviess	12	<u> </u>
Total	2.178	1.696

Note: (A) Coal reserves insufficient for one coal synthine unit plant.

In determining the order of relative desirability of the Suitable General Areas of Kentucky, the qualifications of each Area are to be judged not only by factors which may be numerically evaluated but also on other bases not directly reflected in costs. Examples of such factors include power availability, strategic considerations, climate, and the like. Preceding discussion has, however, indicated in the case of Kentucky that differences of such nature between the several Areas are minor and relatively insignificant.

Consideration of all the foregoing comparisons has resulted in the determination of orders of relative desirability of the 16 Suitable General Areas in Kentucky, separately for each synthetic liquid fuels process, as follows:

## Relative Desirability of Kentucky Suitable General Areas

Hydro	ogenation Process	Coa	l Synthine Process
Order	Area Name	Order	Area Name
1	Muhlenberg-McLean	1	Muhlenberg-McLean
2	Ohio	· 2	Ohio
3	Hopkins-Christian	3	Hopkins-Christian
4	Webster	4	Webster
5	Union	5	Union
6	Northern-Letcher	6	Northern-Letcher
7	Pike	7	Pike
8	Harlan-Letcher	8	Harlan-Letcher
9	Bell	9	Bell
10	Perry-Breathitt	10	Knott-Breathitt
11	Floyd-Magoffin	11	Perry-Breathitt
12	Daviess	12	Leslie-Harlan
13	Leslie-Harlan	13	Floyd-Magoffin
14	Knott-Breathitt	14	Daviess
15	Johnson-Magoffin	15	Johnson-Magoffin
16	Henderson	16	Henderson

Ky <u>386</u> 70021

#### CONCLUSIONS

.+

Ky

387

70021

The following major conclusions are developed from this investigation and report. These conclusions and the determination of Suitable General Areas in Kentucky for production of synthetic liquid fuels are based upon presently available information. It should also be noted that the determination of relative order of desirability for Suitable General Areas within a state such as Kentucky does not at this stage:

- (a) Constitute or propose a program of development;
- (b) Imply any relationship to Suitable General Areas in other states; nor
- (c) Reflect any allowance for new developments and future information which can neither be foreseen nor predicted.
- 1. Coal is the most important raw material in Kentucky meeting the requirements of the survey. A second raw material, oil-impregnated strippable deposits, also meets the survey's requirements. The scope of the investigation with respect to this raw material is limited to a general determination of the nature and extent of the deposits. Available information indicated no reserves of natural gas or oil shale in Kentucky adequate for synthetic liquid fuels production.
- 2. Oil-impregnated strippable deposits occur in 18 counties of Kentucky. The largest deposits, in Edmonson and Logan Counties, comprise 434 million tons of oil-impregnated strippable material in place or 347 million tons recoverable. Of the recoverable deposits, 196 million tons are within an area of 4,220 acres in Edmonson County and 151 million tons in 2,253 acres of Logan County. These deposits contain from 10 to 15 gallons of oil per ton.
- 3. The 16 Suitable General Areas in Kentucky have the following orders of relative desirability for initial unit plants, based mainly on total cost per barrel of products, exclusive of return, for the hydrogenation and coal synthine processes, respectively:

Hydrogenation

#### Coal\_Synthine

- Muhlenberg-McLean 1. Muhlenberg-McLean 1. 2. Ohio 2. Ohio 3. 3. Hopkins-Christian Hopkins-Christian 4. Webster 4. Webster 5. Union 5. Union Northern-Letcher 6. Northern-Letcher 6. 7. Pike 7. Pike 8. Harlan-Letcher 8. Harlan-Letcher 9. Bell 9. Bell 10. Perry-Breathitt 10. Knott-Breathitt Floyd-Magoffin 11. 11. Perry-Breathitt 12. Daviess 12. Leslie-Harlan 13. Leslie-Harlan 13. Floyd-Magoffin 14. Daviess 14. Knott-Breathitt 15. Johnson-Magoffin 15. Johnson-Magoffin 16. Henderson 16. Henderson
- 4. Estimation of coal reserves contained in this report is based on available information and the requirements established for this survey as described in Part II of this report under "Survey Specifications" and "Survey Classifications" and as further described in Part IV under "Survey Methods and Procedure". Coal deposits occur in 37 counties in eastern Kentucky and 21 counties in the western portion of the State. They underlie an area in eastern Kentucky of 10,450 square miles while in the western portion of the State they occupy approximately 4,680 square miles. The total coal reserves in place considered for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture have been estimated at 22,932,403,000 tons according to the specifications and procedures established for this survey. Of this tonnage, 12,826,094,000 tons were estimated as being recoverable. In eastern Kentucky three counties, namely, Floyd, Harlan, and Pike have estimated reserves in excess of 1,000,000,000 The recoverable reserves in Pike County are tons. estimated at 2,782,395,000 tons, and the total recoverable reserves in eastern Kentucky are estimated at 7,778,629,000 tons. In western Kentucky, Hopkins County has an estimated reserve in excess of 1,000,000,000 tons and the total for that portion of the State is estimated at 5,047,465,000 tons.
- 5. Of the total recoverable coal reserves considered, 380,726,000 tons, or 3.0 percent, are estimated to be suitable for strip mining.

329

Ky 388 10 700:

## 6. The recoverable coal reserves in Kentucky are distributed by counties as follows: in total and as contained within General Areas of Coal Availability:

**,**\*

v

Ky 389 <u>390</u> 3, 70021

## Estimated Recoverable Coal Reserves Considered for Synthetic Liquid Fuels Manufacture by Counties (A) (As of January 1, 1949)

			Satisfactor	ry Reserves
			within	n The
	Total Rese	erves (B)	<u> </u>	L Areas
<b>a</b>	Thousands	Percent	Thousands	rercent
county	of Tons	OI TOTAL	of rons	OI TOTAL
Eastern Kentucky				
Bell	228,544	1.78%	221,622	1.85%
Breathitt	107,687	.84	21,796	.18
Clay	49,719	.39	-	-
Floyd	1,004,168	7.83	987,211	8.23
Johnson	189,621	1.48	189,621	1.58
Harlan	1,033,164	8.06	989,083	8.25
Knott	057, 749	5.84	701,274	5.85
Knox	41,950	.33	<b>—</b>	-
Leslie	362,033	2.82	340,286	2.84
Letcher	550,945	4.30	492,198	4.11
Magoffin	129,618	1.01	96,545	.81
Martin	20,673	.16	-	-
Perry	529,055	4.12	490,893	4.09
Pike	2,782,395	21.69	2,560,579	21.35
Total	7,778,629	60.65%	7,091,108	59.14%
Western Kentucky				
Butler	12,862	.10%	-	-
Christian	23,232	.18	23,232	.19%
Daviess	76, 567	. 60	76,567	. 64
Henderson	498,271	3.88	480,074	<b>4</b> .00
Hopkins	1,377,784	10.74	1,377,784	11.49
McLean	137,620	1.07	113,737	<b>. 9</b> 5
Muhlenberg	957,832	7.47	925,739	7.72
Ohio	529,135	4.13	508,943	4.25
Union	599,491	4.67	599,491	5.00
Webster	834,671	6.51	794,247	6.62
Total	5,047,465	39.35%	4,899,814	40.86%
Total State	12,826,094	100.00%	11,990,922	<u>100.00</u> %
Note: (A) Based on	the Specifi	cations and	procedures	estab-

lished for this survey.

(B) Before elimination of tonnage in unsatisfactory areas.

## 7. These recoverable coal reserves of Kentucky are classified by beds as follows: in total and as contained within General Areas of Coal Availability.

## Estimated Recoverable Coal Reserves Considered for Synthetic Liquid Fuels Manufacture, by Coal Beds (As of January 1, 1949)

			Satisfactor; within	y Reserves The
	Total Rese	rves (A)	General	Areas
	Thousands	Percent	Thousands	Percent
<u>Coal Bed</u>	of Tons	<u>of Total</u>	of Tons	of Total
Eastern Kentucky				
High Splint	119,975	0.94%	113,053	0.94%
Hignite	26,626	°51	26 <b>,6</b> 26	。22
Flag	142,376	1.11	137,727	1.15
Hazard	272,237	2.12	237 <b>,0</b> 16	1.98
Haddix	73,128	• 57	+	-
Fire Clay Rider	64,333	۵50 ،	61,482	.51
Flatwoods	74,013	.58		<u>–</u>
Taylor	40,357	<b>3</b> 2 ،	-	-
Fire Clay	1,085,441	8.46	969,057	8.08
Whitesburg	95,345	.74	35,359	۵30 ،
Williamson	490,560	3.82	394,753	3.29
Upper Elkhorn No. 3	1,261,409	9.84	1,219,552	10.17
Upper Eklhorn No. 2	708,051	5.52	700,705	5.84
Upper Elkhorn No. 1	1,338,359	10.43	1,338,359	11.16
Harlan	383,426	2.99	383,426	3.20
Lower Elkhorn	1.265.568	9.87	1.248.020	10.41
Puckette Creek	30,065	.23	30,065	。25
Bingham	195,908	1.53	195,908	1.64
Millard	111,452	87	····	-
Total	7,778,629	<u>60.65</u> %	7,091,108	59.14%
Western Kentucky				
No. 14	526,977	4.11%	482,159	4.02%
No. 12	36,323	. 28	36,323	.30
No. 11	1.439.489	11.22	1.397,550	11,65
No. 9	2.809.604	21.91	2.798.446	23.34
No. 6	202.018	1.57	<b>185,336</b>	1.55
Elmlick	33,054		-	
Total	5,047,465	<u> </u>	4,899,814	40.86%
Total State	12,826,094	<u>100.00</u> %	11,990,922	<u>100.00</u> %
Note: (A) Before eli	mination of	tonnage in	Unsatisfact	ory Areas

Ky 391 <u>39</u>2 3 7002

8. The total coal reserves within the 16 Suitable General Areas of Kentucky and the amounts available after elimination of secondary reserves in excess of primary reserves are estimated to be:

Estimated Coal Reserves Available for Synthetic Liquid Fuels Manufacture in the 16 General Areas after Elimination of Excess Secondary Reserves (A) (As of January 1, 1949)

	Satisfactor; within	y Reserves The		
	General A	reas (B)	Available	Reserves
Suitable	Thousands	Percent	Thousands	Percent
General Area	of Tons	of Total	of Tons	<u>of Total</u>
Eastern Kentucky				
Pike	2,560,579	21.35%	2,560,579	21.50%
Harlan-Letcher	1,089,054	9 . 08	1,089,054	9.14
Floyd-Magoffin	1.060.825	8.85	1.060.825	8.91
Knott-Breathitt	712,062	5.94	660,814	5.55
Perry-Breathitt	501,901	4.19	501.901	4.21
Northern Letcher	378,834	3.16	378,834	3.18
Leslie-Harlan	353,679	2.95	353,679	2.97
Bell	221,622	1.85	221,622	1.86
Johnson-Magoffin	212,552	1.77	212,552	1.79
Total	7,091,108	59.14%	7,039,860	59.11 <b>%</b>
Western Kentucky				
Hopkins-Christian	1.401.016	11.68%	1,401,016	11.76%
Muhlenberg-McLean	1,039,476	8.67	1,039,476	8.73
Webster	794.247	6.62	784,986	6,59
Union	599,491	5.00	599,491	5.03
Ohio	508,943	4.25	508,943	4.28
Henderson	480,074	4.00	459.866	3.86
Daviess	76,567	64	76,567	64
Total	4,899,814	<u>40.86</u> %	4,870,345	<u>40.89</u> %
Total State	11,990,922	100.00%	<b>11,910,20</b> 5	<u>100.00</u> %
Notes (A) Decod on the				2 7 4 - 14 - 3

70021

\*

Ky 392A <u>39</u>2B 3

.\*

Note: (A) Based on the specifications and procedures established for this survey.

(B) After elimination of coal in unsatisfactory areas.

- 9. The 16 Suitable General Areas are estimated to contain available recoverable coal in the amount of 11,910,205,000 tons after elimination of excess secondary reserves, which quantity, dependent upon the conversion process used, is equivalent to a total of from 24,734,000,000 to 31,803,000,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels.
- 10. It is probable that continued exploration and development of Kentucky's coal resources will result in the discovery of additional reserves in Areas for which there is not now sufficient information to permit the present estimation of the reserves for this survey. Information available at the time of this survey indicates that after allowances of 2,984,000,000 tons of coal in eastern Kentucky and 1,120,000,000 tons in western Kentucky for future commercial requirements (50 years' production at the 1948 rate of production of 59,687,000 tons annually in eastern Kentucky and 22.397,000 tons annually in western Kentucky) sufficient recoverable coal reserves are available to support, for a 40year period, the following daily production capacities (by alternative processes) in the 16 Suitable General Areas:

**Ky** <u>39</u>3 <u>3</u> 70021

÷

	(AS OI Jan	uary 1, 1949	)	
		Potential	Capacity	
			Equivalen	t Average
			Daily Plan	t Capacity
	Total Po	tential	for 40-ye	ar Period
Suitable	Hydro-	Coal	Hydro-	Coal
General Area	genation	Synthine	genation	Synthine
Johnson-Magoffin	596,000	463,000	41	32
Pike	7.363.000	5.727 <b>.00</b> 0	504	392
Floyd-Magoffin	2,908,000	2,261,000	199	155
Knott-Breathitt	1,854,000	1,442,000	127	99
Perry-Breathitt	1,382,000	1,075,000	95	74
Leslie-Harlan	987,000	768,000	68	53
Northern-Letcher	1,080,000	840,000	74	58
Harlan-Letcher	3,107,000	2,417,000	213	166
Bell	624,000	485,000	43	33
Daviess	169,000	131,000	12	9(A)
Henderson	1,029,000	800,000	70	55
Union	1,510,000	1,174,000	103	80
Webster	1,986,000	1,545,000	136	106
Hopkins-Christian	3,428,000	2,666,000	235	183
Muhlenberg-McLean	2,571,000	2,000,000	176	137
Ohio	1,209,000	940,000	82	<u>    64</u>
Total	31,803,000	24.734.000	2,178	1.696

Synthetic Liquid Fuels Potential of Kentucky in Thousands of Barrels in Total and as a Daily Average over 40 Years (As of January 1, 1949)

Note: (A) Insufficient coal reserves for a unit plant using the coal synthine process.

.

Ky

3

394 395a

- 11. No coals in Kentucky are classified as not amenable to hydrogenation, since reported analyses uniformly show fixed carbon contents of less than 69 percent (Maf basis).
- 12. Cleaning of eastern Kentucky coals, as necessary to supply merchantable coal to the synthetic liquid fuels plant would produce, per unit plant, approximately 760 tons of mine refuse per working day for a hydrogenation plant and approximately 970 tons for a coal synthine plant. Cleaning of western Kentucky coals would produce, per unit plant approximately 1,590 tons and 2,050 tons of refuse per working day for a hydrogenation plant and a coal synthine plant respectively. Equivalent annual quantities of

refuse from eastern Kentucky coals would amount to about 121,600 cubic yards for a hydrogenation plant and 155,200 cubic yards for a coal synthine plant. Equivalent annual quantities of refuse from western Kentucky coals would amount to about 254,400 and 328,000 cubic yards, respectively. No particular disposal problem would be presented.

13. Coals of the Kentucky General Areas range from a high-volatile A bituminous to high-volatile C bituminous, in rank, with heating values, as received, ranging from 10,790 to 14,290 Btu per pound. Moisture, ash, and sulfur contents are:

Content of Selected Components of Kentucky Coals (Mine Sample, As received basis)

	Maximum	Minimum
Moisture	12.1%	2.8%
Ash	12.8	3.0
Sulfur	3.7	0.7

- 14. A limited number of petrographic assays of coal in Kentucky indicate that the eastern Kentucky coals range from the "bright" petrographic type, wherein anthraxylon and translucent attritus predominate, with opaque attritus and fusain being present in minor amounts, to predominately attrital types with moderately high percentages of opaque attritus indicating a composition approaching that of semisplint coal. The western Kentucky coals are largely of the "bright" petrographic type. Since most of the coals of the 16 Suitable General Areas are similar in rank, appearance, and chemical composition to the coals on which petrographic assays were made, no substantial differences are expected in their adaptability to hydrogenation.
- 15. Estimated capital required in Kentucky for coal mines, each to supply a single synthetic liquid fuels unit plant, is as follows:

КJ

395

### Initial Capital Required in Kentucky for a Coal Mine to Supply One Synthetic Liquid Fuels Unit Plant in Thousands of Dollars (As of March 31, 1950)

	Hydrogenation		Coal Synthine	
Suitable General Area	Underground	Strip	Underground	Strip
Johnson-Magoffin	\$7,818	-	\$10,050	÷
Pike	6,345		8,160	-
Floyd-Magoffin	6,660	-	8,560	-
Knott-Breathitt	6,505	-	8,360	-
Perry-Breathitt	6,630	-	8,525	-
Leslie-Harlan	6,535	-	8,405	-
Northern Letcher	6,400	-	8,230	-
Harlan-Letcher	6,395	-	8,225	-
Bell	7,128	-	9,163	
Daviess	7,457	\$6,214	9,590	\$7,991
Henderson	7,344	-	9,441	-
Union	6,521	-	8,384	-
Webster	6,489	5,058	8,348	6,500
Hopkins-Christian	-	5,254	-	6,752
Muhlenberg-McLean	-	5,163	7,588	6,636
Ohio	-	5,044	-	6,487

16. Coal production costs, exclusive of selling expenses and return on investment in the several General Areas of Kentucky are estimated to be:

> Coal Production Costs in Underground and Strip Mines (As of March 31, 1950)

Coal Costs	Coal Costs per Ton		
Underground	Strip		
n \$5.11	-		
4.76	***		
4.66	•••		
4.66	-		
4.66			
4.66	-		
r 4.66	-		
4.76	-		
4.71	-		
3,89	\$2.63		
4.16	-		
3,65	_		
3,65	2.61		
an –	2.81		
 an	2 81		
~~··	2.01		
	$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} Coal \ Costs \\ \hline \\ Underground \\ \hline \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1$		

Ky 396 <u>39</u>7a <del>3</del> 70021

4

.\*

,

17. The production costs of coal per barrel of products in synthetic liquid fuels unit plant in Kentucky are estimated to be:

> Production Cost of Coal per Barrel of Products (As of March 31, 1950)

	Sui Gener	table al Areas	Hydrogenation	Synthine	
One	Unit Pl	ant (A)			
Mu	hlenber	g-McLean	\$1.13	\$1.50	
Ho	pkins-C	hristian	1.16	1.49	
Oh	10		1.19	1.53	
We	bster		1.34	1.75	
Un	ion		1.45	1.86	
No	rthern	Letcher	1.63	2.10	
<b>P1</b>	ke		1.66	2.13	
Kn	ott-Bre	athitt	1.66	2.14	
Ha	rlan-Le	tcher	1.67	2.14	
Le	slie-Ha	rlan	1.67	2.15	
Be	11		1.67	2.15	
Pe	rry-Bre	athitt	1.69	2.18	
Fl	oyd-Mag	offin	1.70	2.19	
Da	viess		1.71	2.21	
Jo	hnson-M	agoffin	1.82	2.34	
He	nderson		1.86	2.39	
<u> </u>	mate Un	it Plants	<u>(B)</u>		
We	bster		\$1.44	\$1.85	
Mu	hlenber	g-McLean	1.54	<b>`1.98</b>	
Ho	pkins-C	hristian	1.56	2.00	
Oh	io		1.67	2.15	
Da	viess		1.77	(C)	
Note	: (A)	One Unit use of	plant in each A Underground and	rea, based on Strip Coal.	
	(B)	Based on in the	underground-min other Areas not	ed coal. Costs listed would b	e
		the sam	ne as for the fi	rst unit plant.	

(C) Insufficient coal reserves in Daviess General Area to warrant consideration of more than one unit plant for 40 years.

Ky 397b <u>39</u>8 3 70021

٠

R

- 18. Ample water resources exist for the supply of sufficient synthetic liquid fuels plant capacity to furnish all available coal in a period of 40 years. The maximum water requirement is estimated at 3,434 cfs.
- 19. Initial capital investment and annual costs as of March 31, 1950, exclusive of return on investment, required for process water supply works, each to serve a complete unit plant for synthetic liquid fuels, are estimated to be as follows in the 16 Suitable General Areas of Kentucky.

Initial Capital Investment and Annual <u>Costs for Process Water Supply Works for Suitable General Areas</u> (As of March 31, 1950)

Daviess\$ 495,000\$ 62,980Union628,00066,690Henderson721,00075,720Johnson-Magoffin891,00076,050Ohio898,00079,530Muhlenberg-McLean1,209,00093,030Pike2,846,000136,070Floyd-Magoffin3,170,000153,710Webster3,231,000156,480Perry-Breathitt3,957,000181,260Leslie-Harlan4,175,000185,480Bell4,246,000216,870Harlan-Letcher5,754,000301,130Knott-Breathitt6,750,000288,860Hopkins-Christian6,766,000289,360	Suitable General Area	Investment	Annual Cost	
	Daviess Union Henderson Johnson-Magoffin Ohio Muhlenberg-McLean Pike Floyd-Magoffin Webster Perry-Breathitt Leslie-Harlan Bell Harlan-Letcher Northern Letcher Knott-Breathitt Hopking-Christian	<pre>\$ 495,000 628,000 721,000 891,000 2,846,000 3,170,000 3,231,000 3,957,000 4,175,000 4,246,000 4,619,000 5,754,000 6,750,000</pre>	<pre>\$ 62,980 66,690 75,720 76,050 93,030 136,070 153,710 156,480 181,260 185,480 216,870 214,810 301,130 288,860 289,360</pre>	

20. Initial capital investment and annual costs as of March 31, 1950, of the domestic water supply, exclusive of return on investment, required for each of the 16 Suitable General Areas in Kentucky, as shown in the following table, are not chargeable to plant operations as it has been assumed that these costs would be paid for by the consumers living in the plant-city:

ky 399 400 <u>40</u>0A <u>3</u> 70021

.

•

Initial Capital Investment and Annual Operating Costs for Domestic Water Supply for Initial Unit Projects (As of March 31, 1950)

Suitable General Area	Investment		Costs, Exclusive o Return on Investmen		
Daviess	\$	300,000	\$30,270		
Union	•	324,000	30,930		
Henderson		340,000	32,490		
Johnson-Magoffin		369,000	32,550		
Ohio		370,000	33,150		
Muhlenberg-McLean		425,000	35,510		
Pike		708,000	42,970		
Floyd-Magoffin		766,000	46,050		
Webster		776,000	46,540		
Perry-Breathitt		902,000	50,830		
Leslie-Harlan		939,000	51,560		
Bell		952,000	57,010		
Harlan-Letcher	l	,017,000	56,650		
Northern Letcher	1	,214,000	71,650		
Knott-Breathitt	1	,387,000	69,510		
Hopkins-Christian	1	,389,000	69,590		

- 21. Local utilities could be expected to have adequate power available for plant construction purposes. Plant operating power requirements might be more economically provided by generating facilities provided as part of the project but in the nine General Areas in eastern Kentucky, there is an ample supply of outside power at an unusually low rate per kilowatthour. In the seven General Areas in the western part of Kentucky the cost of utility power appears higher.
- 22. The costs of installing and operating, exclusive of return on investment, the necessary supplementary access transportation facilities for an initial synthetic liquid fuels unit plant in each Suitable General Area in Kentucky are estimated:

7002

Suitable General Area	In	vestment	Ar (	Annual Cost	
Northern Letcher		0		0	
Harlan-Letcher		0		0	
Bell		0		0	
Muhlenberg-McLean	\$	6,000	\$	150	
Union		8,000		200	
Webster		8,500		213	
Henderson		14.000		350	
Johnson-Magoffin		75,000		3.750	
Ohio		83,000		2,075	
Perry-Breathitt		125,000		6,250	
Floyd-Magoffin		180,000		9,000	
Hopkins-Christian		208,000		9,075	
Daviess		904,000	4	45,100	
Knott-Breathitt	l	.127.500	Ģ	54.688	
Pike	2	,300,000	17	13,750	
Lester-Harlan	2	.576.000	12	28,150	

1

Ку 403

3 70021

4**0**4a

- 23. In Kentucky an ample supply of labor to meet the requirements of an average unit plant as to total personnel is available in an area convenient to the plant. However, there are few workers in industries comparable with synthetic liquid fuels as to skills and training required, in any of the eastern or the western coal counties of Kentucky, and it is considered that the requirements of a synthetic liquid fuels plant would have to be met by inducing the workers to relocate from areas beyond the immediate vicinity of the plant. Including a relocation allowance, the average straight-time hourly wage rate, as of March 31, 1950, payable in a synthetic liquid fuels unit plant in Kentucky, is estimated at \$1.64.
- 24. On an average for the 16 Suitable General Areas in Kentucky, the necessary plant-city for an initial synthetic liquid fuels unit plant would be expected to accommodate 3,559 persons in eastern Kentucky and 4,555 in western Kentucky for a hydrogenation project and for a coal synthine project 3,378 and 4,826 persons, respectively. Corresponding required initial investments estimated as of March 31, 1950 would be \$10,232,724 in eastern or \$14,463,824 in western Kentucky, using the hydrogenation process and \$9,713,194 or \$15,322,697, respectively, using the synthine process, exclusive of domestic water supply.
- 25. The value of the commercial facilities (assumed to be self-supporting) and of one-half of the dwelling units in the plant-city (assumed to be sold), plus a proportionate share of the cost of land and utilities, is estimated at \$5,844,588 in eastern Kentucky and \$8,262,557 in western Kentucky for a hydrogenation unit plant and \$5,547,810 and \$8,753,296, respectively, for a coal synthine unit plant. The remaining net investments in rental housing and plant-city development would be \$4,388,136 in eastern and \$6,201,267 in western Kentucky for hydrogenation and \$4,165,384 and \$6,569,401, respectively, for the coal synthine process.
- 26. From the standpoint of motor fuel, the average daily consumption (exclusive of aviation and military use) in Kentucky, Virginia, North and South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida amounted to about 232,000 barrels in 1948, and it is estimated to increase to approximately 481,000 barrels in 1975. Such demands would be equivalent, respectively, to the gasoline output of about 31 and 64 synthetic liquid fuels unit plants processing coal.
- 27. The proportions of the various synthetic liquid fuel products specified for plants considered in this survey differ importantly from the distribution of actual product consumption in Kentucky, Virginia, North and South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida. At such time as large-scale development would be required, synthetic liquid fuels plants undoubtedly would be designed, since the processes are variable, to conform to the then existing demand pattern.
- 28. Liquid fuel requirements in Kentucky are economically supplied by petroleum products at refinery prices as of June 1, 1950, of \$4.21 and \$4.53 per barrel, respectively, for the fuel product distributions specified for hydrogenation and coal synthine plants.
- 29. When synthetic liquid fuels are required, plants in the eastern Kentucky, southern West Virginia, and western Virginia region would be well located for the distribution of products within the defined marketing territory.
- 30. No unusual methods would be required in Kentucky for the inoffensive disposal of solid and gaseous wastes of synthetic liquid fuels plants.

Ky 404 405 3 7002]

- 31. The treatment of liquid wastes, before disposal, to meet any anticipated requirements is feasible at costs within allowances made in the general estimates for the process plants.
- 32. Disposal of solid wastes for synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky is estimated to involve the following capital investment in operating costs before return on investment:

### Estimated Costs of Solid Waste Disposal (As of March 31, 1950)

	Hydrogena	ation	<u>Coal</u> Syn	thine
Suitable		Daily		Daily
General Area	Capital	Cost	Capital	Cost
Johnson-Magoffin	\$322,000	\$156	\$493,000	\$298
Pike	370,000	186	527,000	327
Floyd-Magoffin	406,000	213	594,000	378
Knott-Breathitt	388,000	200	551,000	· 346
Perry-Breathitt	388,000	200	567,000	359
Leslie-Harlan	365,000	183	536,000	335
Northern Letcher	362,000	182	519,000	. 322
Harlan-Letcher	368,000	186	525,000	327
Bell	378,000	193	553,000	349
Daviess	518,000	321	932,000	561
Henderson	534,000	333	980,000	584
Union	474,000	280	777,000	484
Webster	466,000	274	749,000	470
Hopkins-Christian	461,000	266	744,000	467
Muhlenberg-McLean	467,000	273	750,000	470
Ohio	474,000	280	787,000	490

33. Typical synthetic liquid fuels unit plants in Kentucky (represented by Johnson-Magoffin General Area) would involve investments as follows:

Ky 405b 406 <u>40</u>7a <u>3</u> 70021

٦.

.

\*

### Typical Plant Investment (As of March 31, 1950)

	Hydrogenation	Coal Synthine
Plant Construction Cost	\$91,096,000	\$81,805,000
Interest during Construction		2,455,000
Depreciable Investment	\$94,512,000	\$84,260,000
Operating Capital	<u>4,961,000</u>	5,173,000
Total Investment	\$99,473,000	\$89,433,000

34. Typical synthetic liquid fuels unit plants in Kentucky (represented by Johnson-Magoffin General Area) would incur daily processing costs, exclusive of return on investment, as follows:

> Typical Daily Processing Costs Exclusive of Return on Investment (As of March 31, 1950)

Processing Costs	<b>Hydrogenation</b>	Coal Synthine
Direct Materials Water Other Direct Costs	\$19,531 208 12,912	\$24,645 208 _12,181
Direct Costs	\$32,651	\$37,034
Indirect Wages and Salaries Other Indirect Costs	\$ 2,837 3,116	\$ 2,866 2,745
Indirect Costs	\$ 5,953	\$ 5,611
Taxes and Insurance Depreciation	\$ 2,589 17,262	\$ 2,308 15,390
Fixed Costs	\$19,851	\$17,698
Total Manufacturing Costs	<b>\$58,4</b> 55	\$60,343
Less Coal and Make-up water	<b>\$18,446</b>	\$23,653
Other Processing Costs	\$40,009	\$36,690

Ky

 $\frac{407t}{3}$ 70023

.

- 35. Development of a synthetic liquid fuels industry in Kentucky could be planned to conform with presently published requirements of strategic considerations.
- 36. In the 16 Suitable General Areas of Kentucky the initial net capital required for the complete installation of a synthetic liquid fuels unit plant (shown on Exhibit Nos. 85 and 86) including the manufacturing plant, process water supply, rental housing, mine, and other incidental facilities but exclusive of commercial facilities and domestic water supply for the plantcity (assumed as self-supporting) and of one-half of the dwelling units (assumed as sold to employes), is estimated as follows:

Estima Required <u>4 Unit Pr</u> (As	ated Initia for Synthe rojects in of March 3	l Net C etic Lig <u>Kentuck</u> 51, 1950	apital Juid Fu Cy (A)	els	
		Tnitial	Net C	anital (	(Δ)
Suitable		Hvdro-	. 1100 0	Coal	
General Area	<b>a</b> .	genatic	n	Synthin	ne
One Unit Plant	- — (B)		- <u></u>		
Obio	: •	11 669	000 \$	103 609	000
Muhlenberg_Mcl	Lean 1	11 980		104 017	,000
Johnson-Magof	fin 1	12,967,	000	105,107	.000
Union	1	13,008,	000	105,419	.000
Flovd-Magoffi	n Ī	14,198,	000	105,994	,000
Henderson	]	14.309.	000	107,187	.000
Daviess	1	14.822.	000	107.685	.000
Perry-Breath1	tt ]	14.884.	000	106.665	.000
Webster	נ	15,150,	000	107 (530)	,000
Harlan-Letcher	r ]	15,154,	000	106,842)	,000
Bell	נ	15,531,	000	107,444	,000
Pike	1	15,602,	000	107,272	,000
Northern Letcl	ner ]	. <b>16,</b> 281,	000	107,961,	,000
Leslie-Harlan	נ	.17,419,	000	109,161,	,000
Hopkins-Chris	tian 1	17,900,	000	109,858	,000
Knott-Breathi	tt 1	.18,561,	000	110,278,	,000
Ultimate Unit P	lant (C)				*
Muhlenberg-M0	Lean \$1	13.034.	000 \$	105.264	.000
Ohio	'	13.877.	000 '	106.449	.000
Daviess	נ	114,998,	000	(D)	
Webster	נ	.15,594,	000	107,979,	,000
Hopkins-Christ	tian 1	18,924,	000	111,176,	,000
Note: (A) Exc de (a ha	lusive of ( omestic wat assumed as alf of the	Commerci Ser supp self-su dwellin	al fac ly for pporting unit	ilities the plang)and ( s (assur	and ant-city of one- ned as
S	old to empl	Loyes).	•	4	
(B) Basi u; ui	ed on one u sing strip nderground-	mit pla coal as -mined c	int in far a coal to	each Gen s avails complet	neral Area able and te the
4	U-year fuel	i requir	ement.		9
(C) Base (D) Insu An Ol	ed on all ( ufficient o rea to warr ne unit pla	ndergro coal res rant con ant for	ound-mi serves nsidera 40 yea	ned coal in Davie tion of rs.	ess General more than

345

Ку

•

<u>409</u> 3 70021

37.	Operating costs of sy projects in Kentuck 86), in dollars per of process, exclusi are estimated as fo	nthetic liquid f y (See Exhibit N barrel of produ ve of return on llows:	uels unit os. 85 and ots by type investment,
	Estimated Opera per Barrel of All Prod Exclusive of R (As of Ma	ting Costs in Do ucts, by Type of eturn on Investm Irch 31, 1950)	llars Process, ent
	Suitable General Are	a Hydrogenation	Coal Synthine
	One Unit Plant (A)		
	Muhlenberg-McLean Ohio Hopkins-Christian Webster Union Northern Letcher Pike Harlan-Letcher Bell Perry-Breathitt Floyd-Magoffin Daviess Leslie-Harlan Knott-Breathitt Johnson-Magoffin Henderson	\$5.189 5.238 5.265 5.412 5.497 5.736 5.744 5.747 5.752 5.765 5.765 5.770 5.774 5.776 5.776 5.862 5.915	\$5.243 5.267 5.283 5.508 5.599 5.885 5.898 5.906 5.913 5.933 5.938 5.938 5.938 5.938 5.934 5.934 5.933 6.065 6.139
	Webster Muhlenberg-McLean Hopkins-Christian Ohio Daviess	\$5.513 5.594 5.667 5.721 5.828	\$5.614 5.722 5.800 5.888 (C)
	Note: (A) Based on o Area usi able and complete (B) Based on a (C) Insufficie General of more years.	ne unit plant in ng strip coal as underground-min the 40-year fue 11 underground c nt coal reserves Area to warrant than one unit pl	each General far as avail- ed coal to l requirement. oal. in Daviess consideration ant for 40

+

.

ч

4

.

٠

•

70021

38. The amounts required to yield 1 percent gross return (before the deduction of income taxes) on net initial investment (See Exhibit Nos. 85 and 86) are estimated as follows:

Ŋ.

£

Amount of Eac	h l Percent Gr	088
Return on Net in Plant and Facilities	in Dollars De	nt in Barrel
of All	Products	T Matter
(As of Mar	ch 31, 1950)	
•		
Suitable		Coal
<u>General Area</u>	Hydrogenation	<u>Synthine</u>
First Unit Plant (A)		l l
Ohio	\$0.306	\$0.284
Muhlenberg-McLean	0.307	0.285
Johnson-Magoffin	0.309	0.288
Union	0.310	0.289
Floyd Magoffin	0.313	0.290
Henderson	0.313	0.294
Daviess	0.314	0.295
Perry-Breathitt	0.315	0.292
Harlan-Letcher	0.315	0.293
Webster	0.315	0.295
Ріке	0.317	0.294
Bell	0.317	0.294
Northern Letcher	0.319	0.296
Leslie-Harlan Herldra <i>Christian</i>	0.322	0.299
Hopkins-Ghristian Wrett Dreethitt	0.323	0.301
NHOUL-BLEACHICL	0.325	0.302
Ultimate Unit Plant (B)		
Muhlenberg-McLean	\$0.310	\$0.288
Ohio	0.312	0.292
Daviess	0.315	(C)
Webster	0.317	0.296
Hopkins-Christian	0.326	0,305
Note: (A) Based on one Area using and underg the 40-year	unit plant ir strip coal as round-mined co r fuel require	each General far as available al to complete ement.
(B) Based on all	underground o	oal.

(C) Insufficient coal reserves in Daviess General Area to warrant consideration of more than one unit plant for 40 years.

EXHIBITS

Ку 70021

٠

•

Synthetic Liquid Fuels Flant Requirements Coal Processes (Approved by Corps of Engineers) As of May 15, 1950

.

÷.

# Hydrogenation Requirements for a 10,000-barrel-per-calendar-day Unit (in Continental United States) Based on a 30,000-barrel-per-day Plant

### A. DESCRIPTION OF PROCESSES

(Brief Description of Flow Sheet, Mames of Equipment or Units Proposed for Use, Significant Temperatures and Pressures, Over-all Efficiency (A) for Average Rank of Coal)

Kv.

Coal, which is made into paste by mixing with oil, is hydrogenated at 10,000 psi and 900° F in two consecu-tive stages, Liquid and Vapor Phase. Vapor phase products are distilled into finished gasoline and L. P.G. With slight modification, alternate products such as jet fuel, Diesel fuel, furnace oil, etc., can be produced if desired. Fuel gas needed is generated from coal.

Hydrogen is produced at 350 psi pressure by gasifica-tion of coal with oxygen and conversion of hydrogena-tion off-gas with steam

Steam and power production facilities are provided with the plant.

A coal cleaning plant is included

The process data below are based on the following efficiency:

Over-all 50.6% (A)

# Coal Synthine Requirements for a 10,000-barrel-per-calendar-day Unit Based on a 10,000-barrel-per-day Plant

.

.

Raw coal is pulverized and gasified with oxygen and steam at 450 psi pressure. The resulting synthesis gas, composed of mainly carbon monoxide and hydrogen is purified by the removal of hydrogen sulfide and organic sulfur compounds and then fed to a single stage synthesis reaction. The synthesis reaction takes place at 300 psi pressure and about 600° P. An internally cooled reactor using liquid-suspended iron catalyst has been assumed in this estimate. Alternate types of reactors are solid bed catalyst internally cooled reactor, or iron catalyst slurry process. The liquid products are separated by distillation into motor gasoline, Diesel fuel, and heavier fractions which are refined and upgraded by conventional petro-leum and refinery processes to finished products. Steam and power facilities are provided within the plant. The data below are based on the following efficiency:

Over-all

41.2% (A)

126 126

в.	RAW	MATERIALS

Qu

Quar	ntit	E <b>y</b>							
C	oal	Requirements	in	Btu	x	109	per	Calendar	Day

	3) 11	Process Hydrogen Manufacturing and Direct-fired (Distillation Power and Steam	i Fuel Gas n, etc.)	50 21 8 19		Process Total	126 126
		Total		98			
ality							
Ash							
Maximum Allowable Ash Content to Equipment (Dry Basis)							
	•	Process Hydrogen Manufacturing and Direct-fired (Distillation Power and Steam	i Fuel Gas h, etc.)	15% 20% 20% 20%		Process	20%
Other Characteristics (Chemical Analysis, etc.)							
	(1)	Good washability is desire	able.		(1)	Good washability is d	esirable.
		(a) Low calcium in prod	cess coal is p	referable.	(2)	Chemical analysis and	physical properties should
	(2)	Chemical analysis and physic be known.	sical propertie	es should		DE MIGHT	
Sulfur							
Cost of Desulfurization							
	Cost	t of desulfurization does no ercent of sulfur in coal who et price is taken for recove	ot change mate: en credit of 1, ered sulfur.	rially with /5 of mar-	Cost per ket	of desulfurization do cent of sulfur in coa price is taken for r	es not change materially with 1 when credit of 1/5 of mar- ecovered sulfur.
Other Characteristics							
	High s: m:	h organic sulfur content in ince it is not easily remove inor importance).	raw coal is used by cleaning	desirable (of only	High	organic sulfur conten nce it is not easily r	t in raw coal is undesirable emoved by cleaning.
Other Characteristics (Effect of Rank, Opaque Attritus, Fusain, etc.)							
	Fuse	ain and opaque attritus show oal. Fusain normally can be	ald be low in p removed by c	process leaning.		Fixed Carbon Volatile Matter Sulfur	No limit No limit No limit
		Fixed Carbon (maf) Volatile Matter (maf)	Not to exce 31% Minimum	ed 69%		Moisture	No limit
		Sulfur Moisture	No limit No limit		Decre (Ra	ase in rank increases inge of plant cost 20%	amount of plant required. between extremes of rank).
	Rani	k of coal has little effect	on total plan	t required.	Infor	mation Required for E	valuation:
	Fo	or coals of equal rank, hig! irable.	ner net hydrog	en is de-	1.	Ultimate analysis (m	af basis) Btu content.
	Info	ormation Required for Evalua	ation:		2.	Proximate analysis -	dry basis - include moisture
	1	. Proximate analysis - dry as 1b per 1b of dry cos	basis - includ al (face sample	ie moisture e).		as to per to or dr	y coar (race sumple).
	2.	. Fischer Assay (dry basis)	).				
	3.	. Ultimate analysis (maf ba	asis).				
	4	. Btu content.					

C. WAT

### Quantity

Heat Capacity of Coolant Required in Btu x 10<sup>9</sup> per Calendar Day (includes Coolant for Power Requirements)

35 Average for All Ranks of Coal

54 Average for All Ranks of Coal

Water Requirements in Thousands of Gallons per Calendar Day

Retu ned Make-up- Consumed Returned

	THERE OF			6 410	6.410	
Evaporated (Cooling Towers) Blowdown from Cooling Towers	4,180	4,180 627 338	628 145	1,920	960	960
Boiler Make-up for Boiler Blowdown Boiler Make-up for Synthesis Gas Mfg.	245	49	196	737 578	147 51	590
High-pressure Injection Water (Process Water) Sanitary Water for Plant	50 72 37	50	72 37	60 48		60 48
Sanitary water for mines Water for Coal Preparation Water for Mines	233 Information not ave	63 ailable. (Assumed	170 to be self-	300 Information not availa	able. (Assumed to )	be self-
Water for Mine Power	69	suffic: 55	1ent) 14 662	81 1,016	65	16 1,016
Miscellaneous, 10% Total	7,286	5,362	1,924	11,150	7,713	3,437
Quality						
	1. Boiler water s	uitable for treatm	ent.	1. Boiler water suit	able for treatment	
	2. Sanitary water potable.	suitable for chlo	rination and	2. Sanitary water su potable.	LOADIG TOT CHICKIN	
	3. Cooling water high solids	is based on soft w content increases	ater. Water of water require-	<ol> <li>Cooling water is high solids con</li> </ol>	based on soft wate tent increases wat	r. Water of er require-
	ments or nec	essitates a water	treatment plant.	ments or necess	Itates a water tre	atment prant.
. POWER Total Power Required for Mine (Kw)						
Total tower redating tox while Twil	3,000 (based on 2	shifts per day -	5-day week -	3,500 (based on 2 s	hifts per day - 5-	day week -
motel Dower Decuined for Plant (FW)	5 Kwnr p	er ton)		e ann pr		
TOTAL FOWER Required for Franc (KW)	65,000			114,500		
By-product Power (Kw)						
	25,000 (Back-press	sure power)		114,500 (Produced fro	m waste heat)	
Prime Power (Kw)	40 000 (May be pro	ocured from outside	sources. Fuel			
	requirention) (	ments would be redu (B)	ced in propor-			
E. PERSONNEL						
Total Operating Personnel Required for						
Plant (3 shifts), 365 days (year)						
	Oper Admi	rational Inistrative	925 250	Operatio Administ	mal trative	937 198
Underground Mines (2 shifts, 240 days per						
year operation) (C)						
	Bitumino	ous (13,100 Btu)	782 1.079	Bituminous	(13,100 Btu)	1,005
	Lignite	(7,000 Btu)	1,464	Subbitumino Lignite (7	,000 Btu)	1,882
Administrative	•					
	Bitumin Subbitu	ous (13,100 Btu) minous (9,500 Btu)	39 54	Bituminous	(13,100 Btu)	50 69
	Lignite	(7,000 Btu)	73	Lignite (7	,000 Btu)	94
Strip Mine (2 shifts, 240 days						
Operational					(11 500 Btu)	346
	Bitumin Subbitu	ous (13,100 Btu) minous (9,500 Btu)	312 431	Anthracite Bituminous Subbitumin	(13,100 Btu) ous (9,500 Btu)	403 554
	Lignite	(7,000 Btu)	585	Lignite (7	,000 Btu)	752
Administrative	Bitumin	ious (13,100 Btu)	16	Anthracite	Culm (11,500 Btu) (13,100 Btu)	18 20
	Subbitu Lignite	(7,000 Btu)	29	Subbitumin Lignite (7	ous (9,500 Btu) ,000 Btu)	28 38
P. PRODUCTS						
Estimated Quantity of Products per Calendar Day (Ranges or Specific Quantities)						
	Barre	ls Btu Btu	x 10 <sup>9</sup>	Barrels	Btu Btux 1	09
Liquefied Petroleum Gases:	per D	ay per Pound pe	r Day	per Day	per Pound per Da	¥_
Propane Butane	1,70	9 21,700 8 21,300	6.52 2.96	470	21,700 1.833	
Motor Gasoline	7,22	0 19,450 3	7.76 -	7,280	20,310 37.26	
Diesel 011 Residual Fuel 011				1,900	19,990 10.72	
By-products:				350	19,775 2.151	
Phenols (E)		3 15,730	2.38			
G. WASTES	10,00	• •	9.62	10,000	51.964	
Nature and Amount of Wastes						
	Solid Wastes	Liquid Wastes	Gaseous Wastes	Solid Wastes	_ Liquid Wastes	Gaseous Wastes
	cleaning plant Spent Catalyst -	gal per day (Composition of	cu ft per day (Based on 1% Sulfur	plant Spent Catalyst	H;	from Girbotol 40 cu ft per 1%
	40 tons per day Ash (total ash	this waste is: Hydrogen Sulfide	in coal. Composition:	Dry Box Mass - 0.5 tor per day	18	sulfur per ton of coal (as re-
	in coal) Unburned	Carbon Dioxide	= 1% Carbon Dioxide	Unburned Coal		converted to sulfur or burned
	Coal	Ammonia = 2.0%	= 10% Air = 89%)		т	as Sulfur Dioxide. he amount of wastes
		= 0.3%)				in coal.

H. AREA

### Area Required in Acres (Minimum)

70

Exhibit No. 1

77

Note: (A) Over-all Efficiency is defined as - Btu in products x 100 Btu in coal (B) Water requirements would be 17.2% less total water for hydrogenation if prime power were purchased from some outside source. (C) Assuming 8 tons of coal per man and shift; administrative personnel 5% of operational; 10% allowance for absenteeism. (D) Assuming 20 tons of coal (25 tons of anthracite culm) per man and shift; administrative personnel 5% of operational; 10% allowance for absenteeism. (E) Convertible in proportion 1,240 bbl phenols equivalent to 1,391 bbl gasoline; no additional equipment.



SF-51 1-25-50





- 1. 1893, Geology of the Big Stone Gap Coal Field of Virginia and Kentucky; M.R. Campbell; Bull. 111, U.S. Geological Survey
- 2. 1894, Estillville, Kentucky-Virginia-Tennessee; M.R. Campbell; Geologic Folio 12, U.S. Geological Survey
- 1898, Richmond, Kentucky; M.R. Campbell; Geologic Folio 46, U.S. Geological Survey
- 1898, London, Kentucky; M.R. Campbell; Geologic Folio 47, U.S. Geological Survey
- 5. 1904, The Cumberland Gap Coal Field of Kentucky and Tennessee; G.H. Ashley; Bull. 25, pp. 259 - 275, U.S. Geological Survey
- 6. 1905, The Coals of the Big Sandy Valley South of Louisa and Between Tug Fork and the Headwaters of the North Fork of Kentucky River; A.R. Crandall; Bull. 4, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 7. 1906, Geology and Mineral Resources of Part of the Cumberland Gap Coal Field, Kentucky; G.H. Ashley and L.C. Glenn; Professional Paper 49, U.S. Geological Survey
- 8. 1906, Coal Resources of the Kenova Quadrangle; W.C. Phalen; Bull. 285 (f), pp. 259 - 268, U.S. Geological Survey
- 9. 1907, The Elkhorn Coal Field; R.W. Stone; Bull 316 (a), pp. 42 - 54, U.S. Geological Survey
- 10. 1908, Coal Resources of the Russel Fork Basin in Kentucky and Virginia; R.W. Stone; Bull. 348, U.S. Geological Survey
- 11. 1908, Economic Geology of the Kenova Quadrangle; W.C. Phalen; Bull. 349, U.S. Geological Survey
- 12. 1910, Coals of the Lower Measures along the Western Border of the Eastern Coal Field; A.M. Miller; Bull. 12, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 13. 1910, Report on the Coal Beds of the Tug Fork Region, Martin and Pike Counties; A.R. Crandall; Report of Progress, 1908-09, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 14. 1910, Coals of the Licking Valley Region; A.R. Crandall; Bull.10. Kentucky Geological Survey
- 15. 1910, Coals of the Three Forks of the Kentucky River; Bull. 11, Kentucky Geological Survey

70021

Кy

\*

4

.\*

- 16. 1910, Valuation of Public Coal Lands; G.H. Ashley, Bull 424, U.S. Geological Survey
- 17. 1912, Report on the Geology and Coals of the Central City, Madisonville, Calhoun and Newburg Quadrangles; F.M. Hutchinson; Bull. 19, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 18. 1912, Kenova, Kentucky-West Virginia-Ohio; W.C. Phalen; Geologic Folio 184, U.S. Geological Survey
- 19. 1912, Report on the Coal Field Adjacent to Pineville Gap in Bell and Knox Counties; A.R. Crandall and G.M. Sullivan; Bull. 14, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 20. 1912, The Coal Resources and General Geology of the Pound Quadrangle of Virginia and Kentucky; C. Butts; Bull 541 (f), pp. 165 - 221, U.S. Geological Survey
- 21. 1912, The Coals of the Upper Big Sandy Valley and the Headwaters of the North Fork of the Kentucky River; B. Hoeing; Series IV, vol. 1, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 22. 1913, Economic Geology of Tell City and Owensboro Quadrangles; A.F. Crider; Series IV, vol. 1, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 23. 1914, Geology and Economic Products of the Earlington and Dawson Springs Quadrangles; A.F. Crider; Series IV, vol. 2, Part 1, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 24. 1915, The Coals of the Nortonville, Drakesboro, Dunmor and Little Muddy Quadrangles; A.F. Crider; Series IV, vol. 3, Part 1, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 25. 1916, Map of Western Coal Field showing Areas Underlain by No. 9 Coal; Kentucky Geological Survey

•

Ky

4

- 26. 1916, Geology of the Kentucky Part of the Shawneetown Quadrangle; W. Lee; Kentucky Geological Survey
- 27. 1916, The Coal of Letcher County; A.F. Crider; Series IV, Vol. 4, Part 1, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 28. 1917, Miscellaneous Kentucky Geological Survey Reports by J.M. Hodge during period 1887 to 1918.
- 29. 1918, Coals of Sexton Creek, Clay County; P.G. Russell; Series IV, vol. 4, Part 3, Kentucky Geological Survey

- 30. 1919, The Geology and Coals of Stinking Creek, Knox County; W.R. Jillson; Series 5, Bull. 3 Kentucky Dept. of Geology and Forestry
- 31. 1919, Coals and Structure of Magoffin County; I.B. Browning and P.G. Russell; Series IV, vol. 5, Part 2, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 32. 1921, Geology and Coals of the Middle Fork of the Kentucky River in Perry and Breathitt Counties; W.R. Jillson; Series IV, vol. 6, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 33. 1922, The Geology and Coals of Webster County; L.C. Glenn; Series VI, vol. 5, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 34. 1924, The Coal Industry in Kentucky; W.R. Jillson; Series VI, vol. 20, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 35. 1925, The Elkhorn Coal Field; J.S. Hudnall; Series VI, vol. 27, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 36. 1926, Geology of Morgan County; L.C. Robinson; Series VI, vol. 26, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 37. 1927, Geology and Coal Resources of Middlesboro Basin in Kentucky; C.K. Wentworth; Series VI, vol. 29, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 38. 1927, Coals of Martin County; J.S. Hudnall; Series VI, vol. 26, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 39. 1928, The Geology and Mineral Resources of Kentucky; W.R. Jillson; Series VI, vol. 17, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 40. 1929, Geology Map of Kentucky; W.R. Jillson; Series VI, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 41. 1929, Coal Washing Investigations; H.F. Yancey and T. Fraser; Bull. 300, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 42. 1931, Microscopic Study of Elkhorn Coal Bed at Jenkins, Letcher County, Kentucky; R. Thiessen and others; Tech. Paper 506, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 43. 1931, Areal Geologic Maps of Numerous Counties largely in Western Kentucky Field; published by Kentucky Geological Survey during period 1923 to 1931
- 44. 1934, Mountain Bumps in the Coal Fields of Harlan County; D.F. Jones and others; Series VIII, Bull. 1, Kentucky Geological Survey

Ķу

.\*

4

- 45. 1935, Microscopic and Petrographic Studies of Certain American Coals; R. Thiessen and G.C. Sprunk; Tehh.Paper 564, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 46. 1937, Coal Deposits of Pike County, Kentucky; C.B. Hunt and Country others; Bull. 876, U.S. Geological Survey
- 47. 1939, Pennsylvanian Correlations in the Eastern Interior and Appalachian Coal Fields; H.R. Wanless; Special Paper 17, Geological Society of America
- 48. 1939, Coals of the Quicksand Area, Breathitt County; S.H. Stith, Jr.; Series VIII, Bul. 5, Kentucky Geological Survey
- 49. 1939, Carbonizing Properties and Petrographic Composition of High Splint Coal Bed at Closplint, Harlan County, Kentucky; A.C. Fieldner and others; Tech. Paper 599, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 50. 1941, Hydrogenation and Liquefaction of Coal; H.H. Storch, L.L. Hirst, C.H. Fisher, and G.C. Sprunk; Tech. Paper 622, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 51. 1942, Hydrogenation and Liquefaction of Coal; C.H. Fisher, G.C. Sprunk, A. Eisner, H.S. O'Donnell, L. Clarke, and H.H. Storch; tech. Paper 642, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 52. 1942, Carbonizing Properties and Petrographic Composition of Lower Hignite Coal Bed at Middlesboro, Bell County, Kentucky; J.D. Davis and others; Tech. Paper 634, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 53. 1943, Hydrogenation and Liquefaction of Coal; H.H. Storch, C.H. Fisher, C.O. Hawk, and A. Eisner; Tech. Paper 654, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 54. 1943, The Storage of Coal; J.F. Barkley; Inf. Circ. 7235, U.S. Bureau of Mines

.

Кy

4

- 55. 1944, Hydrogenation and Liquefaction of Coal and Lignite; A.C. Fieldner, H.H. Storch, and L.L. Hirst; Tech. Paper 666, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 56. 1944, Analyses of Kentucky Coals; A.C. McFarlan; Tech. Paper 652, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 57. 1945, Preliminary Survey of Operating Data for Commercial Bituminous Coal Mines; Office of Temporary Controls, Office of Price Administration, Economic Data Branch

- 58. 1945, Relative Spontaneous Heating Tendencies of Coals; J.L. Elder, L.D. Schmidt, W.A. Steiner, and J.D. Davis; Tech. Paper 681, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 59. 1947, Industrial Standards and Engineering Information Manual; American Boiler and Affiliated Industries, Standards Committee, New York, N.Y.
- 60. 1947, Carbonizing Properties of Elkhorn No. 3 Coal Bed, Floyd County, Kentucky; D.A. Reynolds and others; Tech. Paper 697, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 61. 1947, Correlation Chart, Bituminous Coal Seams, West Virginia, Virginia, Eastern Kentucky and Southern Appalachian; W.T. Brown; distributed by the Chesapeake & Ohio Railway
- 62. 1948, Annual Reports; Kentucky Dept. of Mines and Minerals
- 63. 1948, Bituminous Coal and Lignite; Mineral Industry Surveys, Mineral Market Report No. MMS 1807, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 64. 1949, Summary Report on Areas Suitable for Synthetic Liquid Fuel Plants in Western Kentucky (Restricted); Corps of Engineers, U.S. Army; based on restricted report submitted to Corps of Engineers by Ford, Bacon & Davis, Inc., December 1948.
- 65. 1949, The Second Underground Gasification Experiment at Gorgas, Ala.; M.H. Fies, J.L. Elder, H.G. Graham, R.G. Montgomery, and J.M. Jernigan; Mimeo. copy, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 66. 1949, Coal Preparation for Synthetic Liquid Fuel; W.L. Crentz, J.D. Doherty, and E.E. Donath; Mimeo. paper, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 67. 1950, Preparation Characteristics of Some Coals Available for the Synthetic Liquid Fuel Industry; T. Fraser, W.L. Crentz, and O.T. Barrett; Advance typed copy (restricted), U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 68. 1950, Petrographic Composition of American Coals from Published and Unpublished Data; B.C. Parks, correspondence, April 26, 1950; A.C. Fieldner; authorized for use, U.S. Bureau of Mines
- 69. 1950, The History and Development of a Machine to Both Mine and Load Coal; Dr. Milton H. Fies, Consulting Engineer, Birmingham, Ala.; report dated February 14, 1950

Кy

4

### Depositories of Coal Data Sheets

The Bureau of Mines has informed the Office of Chief of Engineers, Department of the Army, that it will furnish the following depository libraries with bound copies of coal data sheets where they will be available for public inspection:

Bureau of Mines Library 4800 Forbes Street Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Bureau of Mines Library University Campus Grand Forks, North Dakota

Bureau of Mines Library Coal Branch Denver Federal Center, Bldg. 2A Denver 2, Colorado Bureau of Mines Library University Campus Seattle 5, Washington

Bureau of Mines Library University Campus Tuscaloosa, Alabama

Library of Congress Washington, D.C.

-\*

10 million (1997)		THICKNESS	DIP	THICKNESS OF COM	VER PROXIMATE ULTIMATE		AREA	QUANTITY OF PRI	MARY RESERVES	S	QL	JANTITY OF SEC	ONDARY	RESERVES			
		OF	OF	(FEET/		B.T.U.	OF UN	DERGROUND MINING	STRIP MINING	-	UNDERGROU	UND MINING	T	STRIP MIN	ING		CO-OPDINATES
COUNTY	BED	(INCHES)	(DEGREES)	MINING MINI	NG COAL S DE THE IS I TO BE A COAL	RECEIVED AND ASH	COAL ME	ASURED INDICATED	MEASURED INDICA	TED MEASU	RED INDIC	ATED INFERRED	MEASU	RED INDICATE	D INFERR	D	CO-ORDINATES
a de la como		AAX MIN AVE	MAXMINAVE	MAXMIN AVE MAX	AVE ŽŽEJŽ 0 E J Z	5 FREE	(ACRES) ACRI	ES TONS ACRES TONS	ACRES TONS ACRES	TONS ACRES 1	ONS ACRES	TONS ACRES TONS	ACRES TO	ONS ACRES TO	NS ACRES T		
MARTIN	FLATWOODS	16		120	+ Hueb 55 353 506 8.4 08	12,780 14,840	755	755 3/25	NONE NONE	NONE			Nove	NONE	NONE	8	3745.8220
	L. ELKHORN	60 32	1	175 100	Huab 35 38.7 193 85 2.3	13,090 14,870	3.469	525 2835	"			2949 14,71	3 *				31 45,50 82 25; 37 40 82 25, 30
	TOTAL		20				4,229	1280 3,960				<u> </u>					
OHNSON	U. ELKHORN #1	47 34	2 0	245 160	Hvab 4.8 367 558 2.7 1.2 5.7 768 1.6 1	20 13760 14,880	58 786 420	89 13836 25,991 83,474	н и			28,506 923	11 "		-		31'50' 82'35-50' 3740'45' 82'40-55'
											-						870 - art 820 - ch'est an Osci caradad
AAGOFFIN	HAZARD	54 33		140 100	- Huzb 5.1 355 529 65 0.7 55 73,7 1.6 1	13010 14830	16,045 91	3 4/01 7065 23930				416 112	s "				3740' 8300' 37 35 82 35 37 35 00 10'
	FIRECLAY	37 36		170 160	+Hub 5.6 39.0 53.3 7.1 1.0	12.960 14.840	3335	9,00 ,000	n N			3.335 1091	8 "	"	"		37:35 40:83:00
1.10 5 10	WHITESBURG	34 29		200 125	Hvab 4.6 34.7 53.8 69 2.2	1.3590 15.360	2,432	1,3/2 3,636		"		1,120 3.30	2 "	"			3740.8255 8360.3735.8365 10
	U.ELKHORN #3	36 32		300 130	+ 1/20 3.4 358 57.4 3.4 0.5	14,160 15,190	1,556	11 626 2158	n n			9.453 8590	20 "		~		37 40 45 82 55 37 35 30 82 55 5
1982	U.ELKHORN =1	99 30	20	C10 CW	ANGO 4.1 31.0 337 0.3 7.0	13,500 14000	41,512 1,12	84 4747 17.107 54431				29221 704	10 "				
	101.115																
PIKE	FLATWOODS	72 36		400 45	Hmeb 5.5 353 508 8.4 0.8	12,780 14,840	19999 1,5	36 6497 10,125 49098 (8 3,202 A 734 18 593)	* *			5140 1841	2 "	-			37 30 00 15, 00; 37 35 00 10 30; 37 30 00 10, 13, 20; 37 20: 00 20; 37 35 40; 82 ° 15 20 ': 37 25 ' 25 ' 25 '
1.	FIRECIAN	19 30		275 70	Hvab 4.5 364 536 55 08 5.6 75.0 1.5	1.6 13.380 14.870	33156 27	32 10,160 11,347 38,838				19077 6176	3 *		"		37 35,40 82 20 30 37 30 82 20 35 37 10 15 82 40
	WILLIAMSON	57 24		310 30	Hrab 2.9 39.2 51.9 6.0 2.9 55 25.6 1.3 0	17 13,660 15,000	49,714 4,3	65 18893 15,559 66,109			1,22	9 2,986 28,561 102,10	8 -		"		37 40' 42 45 20 30' 37 35 38 20 - 35 37 30' 82 05 25 37 25 32 10 37 20
				220 40	1/104 20 270 50 20 10 55 770 10	08 18710 14000	74445 110	27 58898 25045 47221				32613 1042	RG "	-			3740 82 15 20: 37 35 82 25 37 30 82 25 10 20-35 37 25 82 55 10 1
	U.ELRHORN "3	13 21		213 40	11100 30 010030 4.5 1.0 33 110 1.3 1	13/10 14900	1,100 160	-/ Ugens cyolo 0/23/									37 20' 82' 25' 35', 37' 10,15' 82' 30' 40'
	U. ELKHOEN #2	73 26		340 50	Hunh 2.9 357 578 36 0.9 5.6 796 15	18 14280 15,270	134,701 180	36 71,766 62,943 237,236		"	1,113	3 2653 52609 1623	2/ *	11	-		37%5 82%0-35; 37°25; 30 82 05-35; 37 20 82 5-35; 37 35 82 5-40; 37 10
	U. ELKHORN #1	61 28		400 100	Hab 3.2 318 58.1 3.9 0.7 5.4 79.3 1.5	2 14080 15160	139,495 63	30 23,629 53,981 209,805	n n			79,184 296,0	9 4	-			3755 8235-30: 3730 8205-35; 3725 8200-35; 3720 8210-35; 375 82
	L. ELKHORN	69 36		450 100	HVap 3.2 32.7 603 38 0.6 3.4 79.7 1.4	1 14,240 13,370	119,719 233	e//02,935/04,930 981,221				01,462663,18	9				3745 82 20 30 37 20 82 30 35 '
	BINGHAM	58 30		350 80	Huzb 1.1 34.4 569 7.6 1.9	14,130 15,480	53,946 3.3	500 11,553 19,552 13,407	н			30,894 110,94	18 "		"		3725 8205-30; 3720 8205-25; 37 5 82°15,20
	MILLARD	38 29		525 200	NO ANALYSIS AVAILABLE		37.791	12,179 39,969		"		25612 7648	3 .	"	*		3725 8205-25, 3720 8290 -25, 3725 8295-25
	TOTAL		20				729,137 760	21 307,503 321,235 1,296,458			2,342	3,634 328,934 11727	95 *		*		
TOVO	HAZARD	54 45		140 105	+ Hvab 5.1 355 529 65 0.7 55 73.7 1.6	2.0 13,110 14830	2,816	90 437 2201 9.551	11 H	a		<u> </u>	36 -		11		37'30'35'82'30'
20/2	FLATWOODS	51		150	+ Hvab 5.5 35.3 50.8 8.4 08	12,780 14,840	192			"		192 88	8/ *		*		3720'82'35'
a	WILLIAMSON	47 35		310 300	Hvab 2.9 392 519 6.0 2.9 5.5 756 1.3	13660 15,000	4,2/9	2087 8710				2/32 730	6 " 18 "		*		37 40 82 35 40
	U.ELKHOPN #2	49 30		310 190	Hmp 4.2 3.2 338 5.8 0.7	13 440 14.930	30.58/ 9	35 3/97 10.208 35.324		-	9.74	19.438 68.30	8 .		"		37030'82'35' 37'30'82'35 40' 37'25'82'35' 37'5.20'82'35'40'
and the second	U.ELKHORN#1	52 31		375 200	Hund 4.1 37.0 53. 5.5 1.6	13,450 19,880	123,526 1.9,9	85 56,036 63,174 250,722	* "	"		46,367 171,08	9 "	•	"		3740' 82 40-55 37 35 82 40 50 37 30 25 82 35 50 37 20 82 35 50 37
	L.ELKHORN	43 33		400 250	* Hvab 3.5 387 493 8.5 2.3	13.090 14.870	76,474 9,0	36 33,169 36,468 123,672	" "			30,970 /023	3 "	4			37 35 82 40; 37 30 82 35 -50; 37 25 82 35 -55; 37 20 82 35 45; 37 10 82
Carlo State	TOTAL		29				211,401 210	03 103/03/03/032634 431,334				119,1014026					
BREATHITT	FLAG	50 27		90 60	+ Hrab 4.5 354 589 7.2 0.7 5.4 73.9 1.6	1.2 13180 14,930	1,087		P			1,087 4,6	19 -	"			3725. 83 05-20: 37 20: 83 05
	HAZARD	62 37		110 60	+Hmb 5.1 355 529 6.5 0.7 5.5 73.7 1.6	2.0 13,110 14,830	6,368	1,139 3,793	<i>n u</i>	*		5229 214	99 "	-	"		37°35 83°00,05; 37°25-83°05-15
	HADDIX	52 27		140 60	HVAD 56 340 533 7.1 1.0	12.960 14 840	7002	1.344 4234				5658 1641	7 "				37'35' 03 85-15' 37'30' 83' 10:15' 37'20' 83'20' 25'
	WHITESBURG	42 33		200 130	+ Hvab \$6 347538 6.9 2.2	13,590 15,360	6552	1,017 3,032				5,535 17,13	2 -	"			3735,30'83'05'-15'
	U. ELKHORN #3	37 36		305 300	+HVab 3.4 358 57.1 3.4 0.5	14160 15.190	3277	3.277 10,788		"			*				37'30' 82°55, 83°00
	TOTAL		20				38,336	6,777 21,847				20,339 838	90 "				
WATT	FLAG	54 87		180 60	that 45 354 529 7.2 0.7 5.4 73.9 1.6	1.2 13,180 14,930	11,315 0	30 2468 6688 29638				4077 17,05	20 "				3120,25 83 25; 37"15 82 55-83 05; 37"10 82 55-83 05
aurr	HAZARD	44 39		E15 105	+ Hrab 51 355529 6.5 0.7 5.5 737 1.6	2.0 13,110 14,830	2,648	1,644 6014		-		1004 39	5 .	•	"		370/5-25: 03:05'
	FIRECLAY	45 29		275 160	Hrab 39 37.0 551 4.0 0.7 5.6 77.4 1.7	13.590 14,970	53753 33	85 11,170 25,164 81,584				3/25 00	24 "		"		37 5/10 82 50 55
	WHITESBURG	40 29		325 260	+1/vab 29 392519 60 29 55 756 1.3	8.7 13,660 15000	8435 20	80 6845 5.600 17.567				255 39	8 "				37'15',10' 82'50'55'
	U.ELKHOPN #3	60 31		305 190	+ Hrab 31 358 57.1 3.1 0.5	14,160 15,190	82,457 13	69 6,563 36,788 128,653	m 4			44,300 151,60	8 "	•	"		37 30 183 20; 37 25 20 32 45 -55, 37 45 82 40 -55; 37 10 82 50; 37 20 25 83 0
	U.ELKHORN #1	52 42		375 210	Hvab 4.1 37.0 53.1 5.5 1.6	13,450 14,880	18,336	82 1,226 3002 12,212		4		15,052 5790	9 "		"		3725,20 82 45,50, 37 5 82 40,45 1725 2245 55 37 20 15 22 45 50'
	L.ELKHOPN TOTOL	43 28	20	330 300	NV20 33 30.1 TTS 82 C.3	13,070 14810	2/26/2 93	56 34812 89337315233	- H			113.919 3990	2 .	-	*		
	TOTAL																
PERRY	FLAG	60 27		180 40	+ Hmb 1.5 35.1 529 7.2 0.7 5.4 73.9 1.6	11.2 13,180 149.30	19,214 2	900 13532 8889 40,939		.4		7,9.90 34,00	<i>20 "</i>	"			3720 33 35-15 37 5 33 35 10 37 0 33 00-10 37 05 33 05
	HAZARD	63 38		215 50	Huch 5.1 355 529 6.5 0.7 5.5 73.7 1.6	13060 14830	9083	65 11,722 19,245 63,715				2490 10.5	2 " 2 "				3720:8325-20: 37:5:83 25-55
	FIRECLAY	47 29		280 120	Hvab 3.9 37.0 55.1 4.0 0.7 5.6 77.4 1.7	10.6 13790 14970	81,682 90	00 3296/ 33295 113607				38,789 129,70	0 "	ti II	"		3720,15:83 05-25: 37 0: 83 00-15: 37 55 83 00-10: 37 00: 83 00:05
	WHITESBURG	2	9	190	+ Hrab 4.6 34.7 538 6.9 2.2	13590 16,360	595		н п	-		595 153	3 "	•	-		3720'83'25'
	TOTAL		20				138,838 15,	105 59,215 63,015 244,3/2		"		60,718 226,50	28 "	*	*		
									2								
													-				
the second second																	
			*				10000	- 0	2								
S OF INFORM	MATION AND OTHER	FOOTNOT	ES: BEISE	O ON AN ESTIMA	ATED RECOVERY FACTOR OF 60 PA	ERCENT FOR U.	VDERGEOU	ND RESERVES IN F	LACE					and the second s			
			NO H	WALKIS AVAILA	OLC LOTTATED I COM HUJOIN												

+ .

### SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUEL SURVEY

## SUMMARY OF RECOVERABLE COAL RESERVES IN KENTUCKY \*

CONSIDERED FOR SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUELS MANUFACTURE

BY COUNTIES AND BEDS

AS OF JANUARY 1, 1949



COUNTY	ВЕД С	CKNESS OF COAL	DIP THK OF BED UND	KNESS OF COVER (FEET) ERGROUND STRIP		YSIS (AS RECE		B.T.U. AS MOISTURE	AREA OF UNMINED	QUAN	TITY OF PRI	MARY RES			QUANTITY ( (THO DERGROUND MINING	F SECONE	OARY RES	ERVES	G		CO-ORDINATES
		MIN AVE MA	EGREES) N	MINING MINING MINIAVE MAXIAVE	COAL NOW	ASH SULF	ATTIN MET	ECEIVED AND ASH	(ACRES)	ACRES TONS	ACRES TONS	ACRES TONS	ACRES TONS	ACRES TONS	ACRES TONS ACRE	S TONS ACF	ES TONS A	CRES TONS	ACRES TONS		
LETCHER	FIRECLAY 75	3/	275	290	+ Huab 3.7 38.0 5	13 4.0 0.7		13,780 14,930	39.935	2,201 7.55	9 18,265 61,965	NONE	NONE	NONE	19.4	9 65712 NO	WE A	ONE	NONE		3755 43 20 3755 42 40 50 3720 42 40 55 37 25 42 45 55 3720 42 55 37 20 10 33 0
2	WHITESBURG 52	35	175	80	+Hrab 4.6 3475	38 6.9 2.2		19590 15,360	9638	486 1,874	9 6,419 23580	*	*		<u> </u>	13 9905 "		*	*		37%0 8240 50 37 85 82 45 55
3	WILLIAMSON 52	32	575	2.30	Hyab 3.7 37.8 5	12 4.2 0.7 5.6 1	69 1.4 11.2	13,830 15,020	14617		1,715 6215	-			129	2 43,56					3770 8235-50 3725 82 45-55 3720 82 45 50 36 35 82 50
4	U.ELKHORN #3 60	29	610	140	HV26 33 364 50	633.5 0.7 5.6	792 1.6 9.4	M100 15,130	48,170	3715 14,36	2 34,836 42,604		-		50	7 30,000 "					37 10 66 40 30 37 10 86 33 30 31 03 88 45 30 31 00 68 70 30 36 33 88 30
5	U. ELKHORN #2 65	39	660	320	HVAD 29 35.751	78 3.6 0.9 5.6	76 15 88	19,280 13,270	1362		41.54 20012 (3/2 2/MT		-			1 33,001		**			37 80 22 40 50 37 55 28 50
6	O. ELRHORN =1 31	36	583	300	+ Unab 32 227 (4	03 38 06 54	197 14 91	14290 15,370	18426	129 1.95	1 7962 27.835	-	•	-	10.0	5 32323 "		"			37% 8235: 3700 82 45 50
7	L. ELKHOPN 41	34	0	400	11940 0150511			11210 10.010	146 959	6831 2512	1 79693 309249				604	5 216575 .		~			
8	TOTAL																				
9	100000 10	97	210	105	+ HVab 5.1 355 5	8965 0.7 551	3.7 1.6 12.0	13110 14830	9,683		3250 13898	-		-	5,9	3 16,992 *		"	*		3770 83 0 15, 37 25 83 0 20, 37 20 83 20-15, 36 35 83 10-20
U LEOLIE	FIRE LAY RIDER 46	25	240	130	Na	ANALYSIS A	AHABLE		18848	1,235 -437	0 7.322 25.391		"	"	10,2	1 31.718 .			-		37% 83% 20:37 25 83% 25, 37 20 83 10 15,25, 36 55 83 15,20
2	FIRECLAY 47	28	300	100	+ HVab 3.7 380 5	4.3 4.0 0.7		13,780 19,930	69,676	5,907 22,11	1 29,254 98,075				34,5	0 95839					37 55 83 5 - 30 37 50 83 25; 37 5 83 20 25; 37 0-00 83 10-30
3	WHITESBURG 46	28	340	160	Hvab 4.6 34.7 5	3.8 6.9 2.2		13,590 15,360	7,142		966 2956				61	6 18 79/		-			3770-8370,20:37 00-83 20.25
4	WILLIAMSON 43	30	350	340	Hvab 3.7 3785	43 4.2 0.7 5.6	16.9 1.4 11.2	/3.830 /5.020	9.337	1011 348	e 11 (21 152 172				598	1 172893					37 70 33 73 73 73 70 20
15	TOTAL		0						114,000	9/37 6176	0 -16,636 137,114					13055					
16	Fact II		27	120	+ 440 3 3 36 5	22 7.0 10 54	120 1A 96	13210 1484	3641						36	91 12583 "	,				37:53 83 30 35 37 05 10 82 30 37 00 82 30 35
B	ILELAY 46	39	180	90	+ Hyeb 28 9625	68 4.2 07 55	79.2 1.5 8.9	14.170 15.240	10,580	1165 408	9 4,749 16,669	•		-	46	6 16378 .					37 05/10 83 45; 37 05 83 50
19	Total		20						14.221	1.165 4.08	9 4,749 16,669		*	-	8,3	7 88961 .					
20	I GI AL																				
21 HAPLAN	HIGH SPLINT 81	41	66	130	Hvab 4.4 37.1 3	538 4.7 0.7 55	760 1.4 11.7	13,190 11,840	19,883	3014 1512	8 11763 68728	"	-		51	6 29,197 "		*			3635 30 22 30 35 36 35 23 00 05 36 50 23 00 10
22	HAZARD	38		200	Hvab 5.1 35.5 3	29 6.5 0.7 5.5	7.3.7 1.6 12.0	13,110 14,8%	3898		2,4/3 8,3/4	*	-		1,40	5,079 "					36 35 3370
23	FIRECLAY RIDER	30		225	16	AWALYSIS A	VALABLE	19 704 14000	1.056	220 110	9 1100 2857			1.		13 2200					13 55 05 10 17 55 83 m/5 27 56 27 m 15' 5' 27945 82' 5' 27946 22' 5' 21 4 5' 20'
24	FIRECLAY 74	29	310	115	Huab 37 38.00	43 40 0.7	20 10 112	13,830 14,930	2,766	940 800	11050 DAINE	-		-	10,	19 58748 "		-			x 55 50 42 50 55 36 55 43 00 05 36 50 45 00 05 36 50 40 00 15 20 40 20 20
25	WILLIAMSON GO	33	850	100	Hunh 28 20	C 8 42 07 5.6	792 15 AQ	14/70 15240	85779	4.275 2018	6 32413 135220	-	-	~	490	1199887		"	и		36 35 50 82 50 55 36 35 83 00,05 36 50 83 00-15 36 50 83 05 25 36 40 83 25 25
26	U.FLKHORN =3 58	34	700		+ Hunh 12 3625	138 58 0.7	1.5 12 0.1	13-440 14.9.30	20174	4-10-2-910	8340 30666				11.8	31 49.029 "			-		3655 8250 55 36 80 8255 36 55 50 83 00 05
27	U.EURHOPN=2 49	27	80	370	Hvab 3.1 370 5	56.1 3.8 08 55	78.6 1.7 9.6	14.050 15090	85.111	15544 6318	4 43832 171.381			-	257	85 96,341 "					x 55 82 55 88 00,05; x 50 83 00-20; x 45 83 05-25 36 40 83 25-25
20	Total	01	5 0						252,376	23997 10353	5 115406 179134	~	-		112,9	73 450 475 "					
30	10/112																				
31 BELL	HIGH SPLINT 57	55	12	5 110	Huab 3.3 37.03	53.9 3.8 1.1 5.7	77.8 2.0 9.6	13,980 15,050	1.358		250 1283		*		1.10	8 5639 "			*		235 63 45 50
32	HIGNITE 46	44		300	Hvab 3.6 36.7 3	554 9.3 08 5.6	77.1 1.6 10.6	13,800 14,980	6,624		4083 16418				35	1 10208					133 03 43,50
33	FIRECLAY 52	27	35	0 /25	HV25 3-3 3663	5.2 7.9 1.9 5.1	13.4 1.8 9.6	13,210 19,880	16.336	2002 11-	2 1300 2001			1.	56	20 3/ (.20					21 55 63 30 30 30 40 63 00 40 10 31 40 10 31 35 83 45 50
34	WILLIAMSON SA	33	510	845	HAB 2.6372	559 37 08 51	786 20 93	14070 15,050	12651	454 103	2/ 5228 2/778			-	69	9 28826		"			36 45 83 25 30 36 40 83 25 35 36 35 83 35 45
35	ARPLAN 30	32	40	3 100	AA	ANALYSIS	AVAILABLE		9089	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	5.460 19.614	-	-		.36	29 10.451 .		*			36 45 83 25 30 36 40 83 30 35 36 35 83 30 35
37	TOTOL	05	4 0						60,555	3347 13.46	3 28,166 107,667	"	•		890	12 107,414 .		"			
38	TOTAL																				and the dark and and a find
39 KNOX	FIRECLAY	42	3 0	300	HVab 4.2 364	533 6.1 0.8 5.6	74.8 1.7 11.0	13,410 14,950	11,098	1,005 3,79	9 9,753 17,974	"		-	53	8 20/77 .		*			3745 83 30; 3740 8350,55
40														+ +							
41														-							
42																					
43				·																	
45																					
46																					
47																					
48				+ + + + +																	
49				++++												1 1					
50		-																			
51																					
52																					
54																				-	
55																					
56	•																				
57														+							
58														+							
59																					
60																					
00																					
61																					
61 62 63																					
61 62 63 64																					
61 62 63 64 65								and a start													
61 62 63 64 65 66																					
61 62 63 64 65 66 66 67																					
61 62 63 64 65 66 66 67 68																					
61         62           63         64           65         66           66         67           68         69																					
61         62           63         64           65         66           66         67           68         69			* 2				15 60 8			2011/0 2-		2,005							· ·		
61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 SOURCES OF INFO	DRMATION AND OTHER FO	OOTNOTES	* BASED 0		E FETNER	Y FACTOR	OF 60 PEA	RCENT FOR	UNDERGE	COUND RE	SERVES IN P	LAKE.									
61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 SOURCES OF INFO	DRMATION AND OTHER FO	OOTNOTES	* BASED C	N EN ESTIMET XSIS AVAILABL	E PECOVER) E - ESTIMATE ES OBTAINED BY STA	Y FACTOR TEO FROM HIGANDARD U. S. BUR	OF 60 PER	RCENT FOR COUNTY PROCEDURE	UNDERGE	COUND RE	ESERVES IN F	PLACE.									
61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 SOURCES OF INFO	DRMATION AND OTHER FO	OOTNOTES	* BASED C * No FINAL • AVERAGE AND	N AN ESTIMAT KSIS AVAILABLE LYSIS OF MINE SAMPL	E DECOVERY E - ESTIMATE ES OBTAINED BY STA	Y FACTOR TEO FROM HU	OF 60 PER	RCENT FOR COUNTY PROCEDURE	UNDERGE	EOUND RE	ESERVES IN P	PACE.									
61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 SOURCES OF INFO	DRMATION AND OTHER FO	OOTNOTES	* BASED C * No FINAL • AVERAGE ANA	N EN ESTIMET KSIS EVENLEREL LYSIS OF MINE SAMPL	ED RECOVERY E - ESTIMATE ES OBTAINED BY STA	Y FACTOR ED FROM HA	OF 60 PER	RCENT FOR COUNTY PROCEDURE	UNDERGE	COUND RE	ESERVES IN P	PARE.									
61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 SOURCES OF INFO	DRMATION AND OTHER FO	OOTNOTES	* BASED O	N AN ESTIMAT VSIS AVAILABL LYSIS OF MINE SAMPL	E DECOVERY E - FSTIMATE ES OBTAINED BY STA	Y FACTOR ED FROM HA	OF 60 PER	RCENT FOR COUNTY PROCEDURE	UNDERGE	COUND RE	ESERVES IN P	PLACE.									

### SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUEL SURVEY

### SUMMARY OF RECOVERABLE COAL RESERVES IN KENTUCKY\*

CONSIDERED FOR SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUELS MANUFACTURE

.4

.

.

\*

BY COUNTIES AND BEDS AS OF JANUARY 1, 1949

EXHIBIT NO. 7 Page 2 of 3



			THICKNESS	DIP	THICKNE	SS OF COV	ÆR	PROX		UL	TIMATE				FA	QUAN	TITY	OF PRI	MARY R	RESERV	ES		QUA	NTITY	OF SEC	ONDAR	Y RESE	RVES	1	. 0	UANTITY AN		
	COLINITY	DED	OF	OF	LINDERGR	FEET)	RAN		s Z	NA NA	SB	3-	BTU.	0	F	INDERGRO	(THO	MINING	S OF TO	NS)	G	LIN	DERGROUM	(TH	HOUSAND	DS OF	ONS)		NC	DEF	LETED BY PR	ODUC	
Import Market	COUNTY	BED	(INCHES)	(DEGREES	5) MININ	G MININ	VG COA	LE LE				E REC	AS MOIS	ASH CO	AL	AEASURED	D IND	CATED	MEASURE	ED IND	CATED	MEASURE	D INDICA	TED	NFERRED	MEASL	RED IN	DICATED	INFERR	ED M	MINING -	TION	CO-ORDINATES
Control       P       Control       P       Control       P			MAX MIN AVE	MAXMINA	VEMAXMIN	AVEMAXA	WE	- ¥ 9:	≥EC «	2 0 7	δĪ	Ô	FR	EE (ACI	RES) AC	RES TON	IS ACR	ES TONS	ACRES TO	INS ACRE	S TONS	ACRES TOP	IS ACRES	TONS A	CRES TONS	ACRES T	TONS ACF	ES TON	ts acres 1	TONS ACF	ES TONS (T	ONS)	
Norm	Daviess	#9	53 46	20	95 30	65 4	15 MM	A 121 86	si ani u	7 90 5	5 605 12	41 10	790 14	160 19	500	31.96 12 19	24 890	2 .23580	1185 6	916		Nove	MANE		5977 23477	shue	16	IE	Abre			,	2° aci eze at a constant and i a to a constant t
	DAVIESS																												TIONE				145 ° 21 10, 15 ; 31 40.81 12 - 20 ; 37 34 .87 05 - 16
1         1 <th1< th="">         1         <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""></th1<></th1<></th1<>	HENDERSON	*14	57		185 180		+HVC	66 8.7 38	29 -16.1 9. BJ 43.4 9	78 3.9 5	5 638 1.4	18.1 1	1.710 14	300 16	998		16,94	18 72,453			-				9493 18197			-	-			37	"45'.87'35'-45', 37'40'.87°35, 40'
Norm       I	4	*9	54 42		310 50		HVC	6 100 35	5.0 41.0 13	5 3.6		10	900 14.	340 112	075		43.3	78 157,480				•		6	8,697 250,191	, .,						37	750-8720-30 3745 8795-40: 3720 8715-40 3735 8730-
		TOTAL		20			-				-			15.3	,516		60,3	26 229,933				4	н	. 2	3/90 268.330	3 "			"				
1         1 <th1< th="">         1         <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""></th1<></th1<></th1<>	UNION	#11	60 45		225 80		Hat	66 8.7 38	8.1 43.4 9	2.8 3.9 5	4 64.6 1.3	5.0 1	1,710 14	370 62	701		369.	59 145,089						2	5 742 100 638	s "							145' 97950'55' 37 20' 97'50'55 88 00' 97 35' 97'50' 55' 98'00'
3       3       3       4       4       5		= 9	60 48		450 300		Hm	6 3.9 36	18 190 10	23 3.7 5.	2 704 1.5	8.9 14	2740 19	850 73	7.36	5,401 2301	16 3100	88 132,726					"	3	7 247 155537				*			37	145 87 45 55 3740 87 45 55 37 35 87 45 55 48 00 37 30 87 45 55
Seture		*6	66 45	30	595 50		Hra	2.0 4.5 36	6.6 50.7 8	8.2 2.6 5.	4 123 1.6	9.9 1.	3,020 14	910 9	081 3	5401 230	16 276	44 42465 91 320280			-	"	P	6	2989 256 45				"			37	"45' 87'50-55; 37'40' 87'50;55; 37'30' 88'00'
		10/116														,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,																	
i       i	OHIO	#14	108 39		70 40	7.5 -	40 HV	CB 9.9 37	7.5 49.0 9	7.6 4.7 5.	5 63.1 1.4	157 1	1,490 14	270 -	5638		1,2	79 19,068		435	9 158,42	"	"					-	"		/	37	25. 3700,05: 3720. 8700, 15
Carbon         Carbon<	-	*9	61 48		290 40	75	40 Nr.	BB 9.8 36	6.4 44.6 9.	2 2.9 5.	6 65.2 1.4	15.7 1	1660 14	390 6	7117 -	9.946 19,10	53 37.3	88 146,525		129	1 3957	,		/	7.492 73440	" "			"			37	20,25 8655; 37°10,15 66°50,55 25 87'00 05 86'55', 37°20; 87°00 05 86 50,55', 97'15 87'05 46 50 55'
		ELMLICK	42 32		100 35	-		No	ANALY.	1515 AV	ALLABL	E		-	7079		70	79 20,192	-				H			-	-					37	25: 16 10:50; 37 20: 16 10,50
	MaledN	#14	64 54	20	70 45		+ HV	cb 10.9 34	4.6 47.5 7	1.0 2.4 5.	9 65.2 1.5	18.0	11.790 1	4.360	2.701	4.946 19,10	27	01 12725		11,63	0 192,99				7,492 73,440	"	"		1			37	
	MC 22AN	411	57 42		300 26	5	+HV	100 6.1 41	1.0 -15.2 7	7.7 9.1 5.	6 693 13	120 1	12,570 14	1580 17	415		4,1	15 16590				"	"	1	3,300 18,848	9			"			37	2025.82°10,15
		-9	61 16	120	410 30		Hr	66 9.7 36	6.9 1.3.8 9	7.6 3.3 5.	6 64.2 1.3	16.0 1	1,690 14	480 14	1.772 0	2298 91	15 75	13 30510				"	"		1.961 19.812	"	"	-	"			37	"35: 87 "15; 37 "30' 87"15, 20; 37"25' 87"05'-20; 37"20' 87"05'-15'
ubbox       ubbox <th< td=""><td></td><td>TOTAL</td><td></td><td>30</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>3.</td><td>5000 0</td><td>, 10 4,10</td><td>143</td><td>~[ J7,043</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>a</td><td>1</td><td>0,261 68,660</td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td>"</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>		TOTAL		30										3.	5000 0	, 10 4,10	143	~[ J7,043					a	1	0,261 68,660		-		"				
1/2       1	WEBSTER	# 14	86 57		465 12	5	HV	100 5.9 35	53 20 6	8 1.5 5.	7 72.7 1.6	11.7 1	12,930 13	1810 2	5,280		25,2	80 137,907						17								37	35: 87°40; 37°30'.87 45.50; 37°25'.87°40-50'; 37°20' R40:45!
1         1		*12	72 48	2	300 50	15.	70 HV	66 5.4 3	80 421 9	9.7 4.0 5	3 688 1.4	12.5	12,480 1-	1650 2	467	1313 217	52 140	10 67000		46	7 3520		-		6566 2807	2 11		-	-			37	20,25 07%5'
1       1 <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""></th1<></th1<></th1<>		= 9	64 46		4.50 85	75	45 HV	bb 6.3 30	674129	7.8 3.6 5.	4 67.8 1.4	120	12,260 14	1610 13	9866 0	567 28,8	30 32,4	141 132,819		1,38	3 7.144	"		9	9475 38 249				"			37	35 8/30; 3/30 824550; 3725 8725-50; 3720.8740 45
Tare         Tare <th< td=""><td></td><td>*6</td><td>48</td><td></td><td>115 80</td><td></td><td>HYS</td><td>26 5.4 3</td><td>5.9 50.2 8</td><td>95 3.2 5</td><td>1 70.8 1.4</td><td>10.7</td><td>12,750 19</td><td>1810</td><td>4634</td><td></td><td>46</td><td>31 16682</td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>н</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>37</td><td>25: 8745,50; 3720:8745'</td></th<>		*6	48		115 80		HYS	26 5.4 3	5.9 50.2 8	95 3.2 5	1 70.8 1.4	10.7	12,750 19	1810	4634		46	31 16682			-	н										37	25: 8745,50; 3720:8745'
Anne     Anne     And     And<		TOTAL		30										17:	743 /	0,880 50,63	33 76,5	\$ 204,416		2,63	14,70			. 10	6041-119,921	-	. "	-	"				
Annual       St.       St. <t< td=""><td>BUTLER</td><td>ELMLICK</td><td>44 29</td><td>30</td><td>45 35</td><td></td><td></td><td>No</td><td>ANALY.</td><td>515 AV</td><td>ALABLE</td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td>5,466</td><td></td><td>54</td><td>12,862</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>"</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>"</td><td></td><td></td><td>"</td><td></td><td></td><td>37</td><td>°10,15:86°35'40'</td></t<>	BUTLER	ELMLICK	44 29	30	45 35			No	ANALY.	515 AV	ALABLE	-			5,466		54	12,862				"				"			"			37	°10,15:86°35'40'
All 2000											2000		11700 1	1910	5055			20 20 000										-					
	MUHLENBLEG	#12	66 30		63 36	75	20 HV	166 8.4 3	4.9 42.4 14	4.3 3.8	9 62 10	10.0	11.040 14	280 -	4173		5,4	50 61,510		4.17.	3 18180	"			845 2,693							370	25 20' 81'05; 37'5 87'0'
1       1		=11	75 51		285 43	80	35 HV	166 6.1 41	10 45.2 7	7.7 4.1 3	6 693 1.3	3 12.0	12,570 14	1.580 7	7417 .	3,123 15.56	6 350	16 159314	1	6.96	4 40,55			5	2,314 137,918		4		-			37	20, 15 : 86'55' 37°20' 8700-20': 37'5 : 87'20-20': 37'10' 87'00,05'15
Lamma         Lamma <thlamma< th="">         Lamma         <thl< td=""><td></td><td>*9</td><td>66 47</td><td></td><td>395 30</td><td>75</td><td>40 HV</td><td>166 9.1 St</td><td>67 45.0 9</td><td>9.2 3A 5</td><td>8 70 7 16</td><td>13.1</td><td>12800 14</td><td>450 11</td><td>7,99</td><td>1248 96,98</td><td>50 579</td><td>82 260/98</td><td></td><td>98</td><td>5 5,40 9 573</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>3512 169028</td><td></td><td>"</td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>570</td><td>0. 15' 86°55' 37° 10'15 20' 87°00-20' 37°55' 87°00 05'</td></thl<></thlamma<>		*9	66 47		395 30	75	40 HV	166 9.1 St	67 45.0 9	9.2 3A 5	8 70 7 16	13.1	12800 14	450 11	7,99	1248 96,98	50 579	82 260/98		98	5 5,40 9 573				3512 169028		"	-				570	0. 15' 86°55' 37° 10'15 20' 87°00-20' 37°55' 87°00 05'
Adversion       74       72       34       74		6 TOTAL	40 31	30	50 40	60	as AV	00 7.6 3	7/ 402 9	5.7 5.4 5	0 70.7 7.6		12,000 75	21	3,43/ 2	4371 112,5	46 1036	08 465 772		1374	1 69.87	h.	4		1711 309641		4		"			37	"10:8700,10, 86°55
	HOPKINS	. #14	72 57		360 50	2	HV	66 8.9 3	5.3 47.4 8	8.4 2.8 5	4 67.2 1.4	5 /4.7	11,920 1	4,410 1	2,627		12,6	27 64,310				"						1	"			37	25'87'40'; 37'20' 87'35, 40'
***       ****       ***       ***		#12 #11	78 30 79 48		315 40	96	20 H	166 8.2 2	81 457 2	77 3.2 5	7 676 1.	3 14.5	12,170 1	4.470 12	1631	5848 329	40 60.6	90 313 579		526	0 3272				19836 227845		"					37	20: 87°35 40; 37°15 87°20-35; 37'10' 87°25-35'
**       0 <th0< th=""> <th0< th=""> <th0< th=""></th0<></th0<></th0<>		-9	65 47		410 50	80	40 HK	66 8.4 3	6.6 41.9 A	0.1 3.3 5	5 65.6 1.3	3 142	11,780 14	1450 13	9,345 1	2,979 56,6	41 536	94 231.081		3,96	2 20,51	) #		6	8,710 286,030	o "			-			37	25 87 20 25 35 40; 3720 87 57 57 55 87 20-35
Caracterial "6 at 16 a a b a b a b a b a b a b a b a b a b		= 6	51 36	30	80 30	60	20 Hx	166 9.7 3	8.3 97.2 6	6.8 2.7 5	8 67.5 1.0	6 1.5.6	12,200 1.	4610 30	6951 /	8927 926	232	95 6818AA		6.89	9 24.17	4			A (11 (.200)	"	4		"			370	5: 87°35,40; 37%0'.87°20; 30-40; 37%5'.87°20-35'
4.       4. <td< td=""><td></td><td>TOTAL</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>,</td><td>0001 0700</td><td>120,2</td><td>10 001,014</td><td></td><td>11,00</td><td>- Type</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0,046 0.0,000</td><td></td><td>4</td><td></td><td>"</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>		TOTAL													,	0001 0700	120,2	10 001,014		11,00	- Type				0,046 0.0,000		4		"				
	CHRISTIAN	#6	43 36	30	70 30	50	30 HV	bb 10.7 3	35.699.8	3.9 1.9 5	9 69.8 1.7	168	12,440 1	9,570	7.263	-	64	12 20,015		85	7 321	"	"			"	4		4			37	"05' 87°25'-35; 37°00' 87°25; 30'
					-								-				100.				-							-		2.00			
KES OF INFORMETING ADDRESS IN STATUS OF SO THE CASE OF CONTRACT CONTRACT, SO PROCEEDING RESERVES IN PRACE, SO PROCEEDING RESERVES IN																					_												
KES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER ROTTORES: * <u>Analogo was family for the Constrained Reserves in Prince Strained Reserves in Prince</u>								-				++-					-				-							-			_		
KES OF INFORMETING HER UNE THE THE DESCRIPTION FOR THE OF THE LOSS OF THE CASE OF RECENT OF STRUMMUTE RESERVES IN PLACE. STRUMMUTE RESERVES IN PLACE OF THE CASE O																					-												
KES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: "Bace vie Estimates Rescess in Place 60 Precient Foo Steinperable Rescess in Place * Definition of the Rescess Footnotes - Bace vie Standard of the Standard Country * Definition of the Rescence Footnotes - Bace vie Standard of the Standard Country * Definition of the Rescence Footnotes - Bace vie Standard of the Standard Country * Definition of the Rescence Footnotes - Bace vie Standard of the Standard Country * Definition of the Rescence Footnotes - Bace vie Standard of the Standard Country * Definition of the Rescence Footnotes - Bace vie Standard of the Standard of t																					-							_					
KES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTE: "Share ou formative Revises of Shee Cast role Undersegroup Reserves in Plane, 60 Pre/Cast role Streutenable Reserves in Plane.														N. S.							-							-					
NES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: * Date of the Stringeree Resolver for Store for Store for Store of the Store of th																												1					
KES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: "Dated on Estimated Decomption of Statement												++-									-										-		
KES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: * BAIRE ON ESTIMATED BEADVERY FOR SUPERBOUND RESERVES IN PLACE, 60 PERCENT FOR STRUPPARIE RESERVES IN PLACE * MERCENALINGS OF MILE SATURATED E STANDARD U.S. BUIERIU OF MILES PROCEDURE																		1.1															
RES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTE: * Source Decovery Frances of 50 Peacent for Undergebrung Peserves in Place, 60 Peacent for Steinprade Reserves in Place.																		_		-		·											
RCES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: * DARLED ON ESTIMATED FROM FLOR CONT FOR UNDERGROUND RESERVES IN PLACE; 60 PERCENT FOR STRIPPARE RESERVES IN PLACE.																												-				-	
RES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: * Based on Estimated Recovery Factors of 50 Per Cent for Underscound Reserves in Place; 60 Per Cent for Steinpendes Reserves in Place * No Financis - Estimated - Estimated Foot Factors of 50 Per Cent for Underscound Reserves in Place; 60 Per Cent for Steinpendes Reserves in Place • Verage analysis of mine samples obtained by standard u.s. Bureau of mines procedure	5																																
CES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: * BASED ON ESTIMATED RECOVERY FACTORS OF 50 PED CENT FOR UNDERGROUND RESERVES IN PLACE; 60 PERCENT FOR STRUPPADE RESERVES IN PLACE * No FLINANSIS FLINARELE - ESTIMATED FROM HOLD US BUREAU OF MINES PROCEDURE * No FLINANSIS OF MINE SAMPLES OBTAINED BY STANDARD US BUREAU OF MINES PROCEDURE											-							-			-							-					
ACES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: * BASED ON ESTIMATED BECOVERY FACTORS OF 50 PEC CENT FOR UNDERGROUND RESERVES IN PLACE; 60 PERCENT FOR STRIPPABLE RESERVES IN PLACE.																																	,
RCES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: * BASED ON ESTIMATED RECOVERY FACTORS OF 50 PERCENT FOR UNDERGROUND RESERVES IN PLACE; 60 PERCENT FOR STRIPPARKE RESERVES IN PLACE * Do Florence - Stringted - Estimated From Andread U.S. BUREAU OF MINES PROCEDURE • AVERAGE ANALYSIS OF MINE SAMPLES OBTAINED BY STANDARD U.S. BUREAU OF MINES PROCEDURE																																	
RCES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: * BASED ON ESTIMATED RECOVERY FACTORS OF 50 PER CENT FOR UNDERGROUND RESERVES IN PLACE; 60 PERCENT FOR STRIPPABLE R																	-				-							-					
RCES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: * BASED ON ESTIMATED RECOVERY FACTORS OF 50 PER CENT FOR UNDERGROUND RESERVES IN PLACE; 60 PERCENT FOR STRIPPABLE R																																	
RCES OF INFORMATION AND OTHER FOOTNOTES: * BASED ON ESTIMATED KECOVERY FACTORS OF 30 PER CENT FOR UNDERGROUND KESERVES IN PLACE; 60 PERCENT FOR STRIPPABLE RESERVES IN PLACE; * No FINALYSIS FURILIBLE - ESTIMATED FROM FLORING COUNTY • AVERAGE ANALYSIS OF MINE SAMPLES OBTAINED BY STANDARD U.S. BUREAU OF MINES PROCEDURE							-							11.		0				-		-				1000						1	
AVERAGE ANALYSIS OF MINE SAMPLES OBTAINED BY STANDARD U. S BUREAU OF MINES PROCEDURE	RCES OF INFORMA	ATION AND OTHE	R FOOTNOT	ES: * BAS	ED ON E.	TIMATE	DREC	OVERY	FACTO	DES OF	= SOP	ER CEN	& Court	UNDER	GROUN	10 RESE	ERVES	IN PLA	CE; 60,	PERCEN	IT FOR	STRIPPA	BLE RE.	SERVE	S IN PLA	KE						4	
				· AVERA	GE ANALYSIS (	OF MINE SAME	PLES OBT	TAINED BY	STANDARD	DU S BU	REAU OF N	NINES PRO	CEDURE				,																· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
							-			_							-	and the second															

### SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUEL SURVEY

## SUMMARY OF RECOVERABLE COAL RESERVES IN KENTUCKY \* CONSIDERED FOR SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUELS MANUFACTURE

\*

BY COUNTIES AND BEDS

AS OF JANUARY 1, 1949



![](_page_381_Figure_0.jpeg)

.\*

\*

![](_page_381_Figure_1.jpeg)

![](_page_381_Picture_2.jpeg)

![](_page_382_Figure_0.jpeg)

![](_page_382_Figure_1.jpeg)

![](_page_382_Picture_2.jpeg)

### Johnson-Magoffin General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

	Co		
	Upper El	khorn No. 1	
County Portion of County	Johnson Southern	Magoffin East-central	Totals and/or Weighted
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	4 /	-	Averages
	54	- 74	
Average Maximum Din of Ded (dognoon)	•	34	
Minimum II II II II II	2	6	
Maximum Avenhunden Thiokness (feet)	245	245	
	160	243	
Bank (A)	Hyah	Hysh	
Analysis: (B)	11497	nvab	
Moisture	4.8%	4.1%	4 796
Volatile Matter	36.7	37.0	36.7
Fixed Carbon	55.8	53.4	55.6
Ash	2.7	5.5	3.0
Sulfur	1.2%	1.6%	1.2%
Btu, as receivea	13,760	13,450	13,730
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,830	14,830	14,880
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	58,786	7,494	65,000
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 to	ns):	•	•
Primary Underground	97 <b>,</b> 310	9,066	106,376
Primary Strip		-	-
Primary Total	<del>97,310</del>	9,066	106,376
Secondary Underground	92.311	13.865	106.176
Secondary Strip	-	<i>-</i>	-
Secondary Total	92,311	13,865	106,176
Total Underground	180 621	22 931	212.552
Total Strip			
Total Underground and Strip	189,621	22,931	212.552

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

				Undergr	ound	<u>Strip</u>	<u>Total</u>
Hydrogenation Coal Synthine	Process Process	(1,000	bbl/day	r) 41 31	1 2	-	41 32

Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.

 (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

Ку 70021

.

.

-----

.\*

### Pike General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

				Coal Bed			a la star a bland	
	Fire Clay	William- son	Upper Elkhorn No. 3	Upper Elkhorn No. 2	Upper Elkhorn No. 1	Lower Elkhorn	Bingham	
County	Pike	Pike	Pike	Pike	Pike	Pike	Pike	Totals and/or
Portion of County	Northern	NE.	Total	Total	Total	SE.	Southern	Weighted
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	49	57	73	73	61	69	58	Averages
Minimum " " " "	30	24	27	26	28	36	30	
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	
Minimum " " " "	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet)	275	310	275	340	400	450	350	
Minimum " "	70	30	40	50	100	100	. 80	
Bank (A)	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	
Analysis: (B)								
Moisture	4.5%	2.9%	3.8%	2.9%	3.2%	3.2%	1.1%	3.1%
Volatile Matter	36.4	39.2	37.0	35.7	34.8	32.7	34.4	34.9
Fixed Carbon	53.6	51.9	55.0	57.8	58.1	60.3	56.9	57.7
Ash	5.5	6.0	4.2	3.6	3.9	3.8	7.6	4.3
Sulfur	0.8%	2.9%	1.0%	0.9%	0.7%	0.6%	1.9%	1.0%
Btu, as received	13,380	13,660	13,710	14,280	14,080	14,290	14,130	14,090
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,870	15,000	14,900	15,270	15,160	15,370	15,480	15,220
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	33,156	49,714	74,485	134,701	139,495	179,719	53,946	325,000
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1.000 tons):								1 401 000
Primary Underground	48,998	84,947	146,129	309,002	233,434	584,182	84,960	1,491,652
Primary Strip	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Brimony Dotal	48 998	84.947	146,129	309.002	233.434	584,182	84,960	1,491,652
Primary Total	61 763	105,094	104,296	164,974	296,083	225,769	110,948	1,068,927
Secondary Underground	01,100	-			-	-	-	-
Secondary Surp		105 004	104 000	764 074	206 083	225 769	110 948	1 068 927
Secondary Total	61,763	105,094	104,290	104,914	529 517	809 951	195,908	2,560,579
Total Underground	110,761	190,041	250,425	413,910	529,511	005,501	100,000	
Total Strip Total Underground and Strip	110,761	190,041	250,425	473,976	529,517	809,951	195,908	2,560,579
Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)								

Underground Strip Total

504 392

Hydrogenation Proc	ess (1,000 bbl/day)	504	-
Coal Synthine Proc	ess " " "	392	-

- Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
  - (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

Ky 70021

.

Exhibit No. 10 Page 2 of 16

## Floyd-Magoffin General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

				Coal Bed				
	Haza	rd	Upper Elkhorn No. 3	Upper Elkhorn No. 2	Upp Elkhorn	per h No. 1	Lower Elkhorn	
County	Magoffin	Floyd	Floyd	Floyd	Magoffin	Floyd	Flovd	Totals and/or
Portion of County	Southern	Western	Southern	SE.	SE.	Total	Southern	Weighted
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	54	54	49	42	44	52	43	Averages
Minimum """""	33	45	30	35	30	31	33	
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	2	2 .	2	2	2	2	2	
Minimum """"	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet)	140	140	260	310	225	375	400	
Minimum "	100	105	80	190	200	200	250	
Rank (A) Analysis: (B)	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	
Moisture	5.1%	5.1%	3.4%	4.2%	4.1%	4.1%	3.5%	3.9%
Volatile Matter	35.5	35.5	35.8	36.2	37.0	37.0	38.7	37.1
Fixed Carbon	52.9	52.9	57.4	53.8	53.4	53.4	49.3	52.9
Ash	6.5	6.5	3.4	5.8	5.5	5.5	8.5	6.1
Sulfur	0.7%	0.7%	0.5%	0.7%	1.6%	1.6%	2.3%	1.5%
Btu, as received	13,110	13,110	14,160	13,440	13,450	13,450	13,090	13,430
Btu, moisure- and ash-free	14,830	14,830	15,190	14,930	14,880	14,880	14,870	14,920
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres) Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1.000 tons):	16,045	2,816	39,593	30,581	6,778	123,526	76,474	150,000
Primary Underground	28,031	9,988	73,719	38,521	7,034	306,758	156,841	620,892
Primary Strip	-	-		1	-	-		
Primary Total	28,031	9,988	73,719	38,521	7,034	306,758	156,841	620,892
Secondary Underground	26,494	2,126	57,478	68,368	12,055	171,089	102,323	439,933
Secondary Strip		-	-	-	-	* <u>-</u>	-	-
Secondary Total	26,494	2,126	57,478	68,368	12,055	171,089	102,323	439,933
Total Underground	54,525	12,114	131,197	106,889	19,089	477,847	259,164	1,060,825
Total Strip	-		- 10 A			-		
Total Underground and Strip	54,525	12,114	131,197	106,889	19,089	477,847	259,164	1,060,825

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

Hydrogenation Process (1,000 bbl/day) Coal Synthine Process """"

Underground Strip Total 199 155 199 155

- Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
  - (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

70021

"Ky

.\*

Exhibit No. 10 Page 3 of 16

### Knott-Breathitt General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

			Coal	Bed			
	Flag	Fire Clay	Upp Elkhorn	er No. 3	Upper Elk- horn No. 1	Lower Elkhorn	
County	Knott	Knott	Breathitt	Knott	Knott	Knott	Totals and/or
Portion of County	SW.	Southern	Eastern	NE.	NE.	NE.	Weighted
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	54	45	37	60	52	43	Averages
Minimum """"	27	29	36	31	42	28	
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	2	2	2	2	2	2	
Minimum """"	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet)	180	275	305	305	375	350	
Minimum """	60	160	300	190	210	300	
Rank (A)	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	
Analysis: (B)							
Moisture	4.5%	3.9%	3.4%	3.4%	4.1%	3.5%	3.7%
Volatile Matter	35.4	37.0	35.8	35.8	37.0	38.7	36.6
Fixed Carbon	52.9	55.1	57.4	57.4	53.4	49.3	54.8
Ash	7.2	4.0	3.4	3.4	5.5	8.5	4.9
Sulfur	0.7%	0.7%	0.5%	0.5%	1.6%	2.3%	1.0%
Btu, as received	13,180	13,790	14,160	14,160	13,450	13.090	13,750
Btu, moisture- and and ash-free	14,930	14,970	15,190	15,190	14,880	14,870	15,030
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	11,315	53,753	3,277	82,457	18,336	32,493	135,000
Primary Underground	32 106	92 754	10 788	135 216	13 138	46 105	330 407
Primary Strip	52,100	52,101	10,100	100,210	10,400	40,100	550,407
Primary Total	32,106	92,754	10,788	135,216	13,438	46,105	330,407
Secondary Underground	17,090	81,197	-	151,668	59,909	71,791	381,655
Secondary Strip	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Secondary Total	17,090	81,197	-	151,668	59,909	71,791	381,655
Total Underground	49,196	173,951	10,788	286,884	73,347	117,896	712,062(E)
Total Strip	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total Underground and Strip	49,196	173,951	10,788	286,884	73,347	117,896	660,814(D)

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

	Underground	Strip	Total
Hydrogenation Process (1,000 bb1/day)	127	-	127
Coal Synthine Process " " "	99	-	99

- Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous.
  - (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
  - (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.
  - (D) Total primary and secondary coal reserves for synthetic liquid fuels plant supply limited by definition to twice the primary reserves.
  - (E) Usable coal will be only 660,814 tons due to above limitations in (D).

Ky 70021

-

\*

Exhibit No. 10 Page 4 of 16

### Perry-Breathitt General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

	Flag	Hazard	Fire	Clay	
County	Perry	Perry	Breathit	t Perry	Totals and/or
Portion of County	Central	North-central	SW.	Total	Weighted
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	60	63	35	47	Averages
Minimum """""	27	38	29	29	
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	2	2	2	2	
Minimum "" " "	0	0	0	0	
Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet)	180	215	180	280	
Minimum """	40	50	120	120	
Rank (A)	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	
Analysis: (B)					
Moisture	4.5%	5.1%	5.6%	3.9%	4.3%
Volatile Matter	35.4	35.5	34.0	37.0	36.3
Fixed Carbon	52.9	52.9	53.3	55.1	54 1
Ash	7.2	6.5	7.1	4.0	5 3
Sulfur	0.7%	0.7%	1.0%	0.7%	0.7%
Btu, as received	13.180	13,110	12,960	13,790	13 490
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,930	14.830	14,840	14,970	14 920
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	19.214	28,264	3.648	81,682	110,000
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons):			.,	01,001	110,000
Primary Underground	54.471	75.437	4 234	146 568	280 710
Primary Strip					200,110
Primary Total	54.471	75.437	4.234	146 568	280 710
Secondary Underground	34 060	50 657	6 774	120,700	221,101
Secondary Strin	54,000	50,057	0,114	129,100	221,191
Secondary Total	34 060	50 657	6 771	120 700	-
Total Underground	99 531	126 094	11,009	276 269	501 001
Total Stain	00,001	120,094	11,008	210,200	501,901
Total Underground and Strip	88,531	126,094	11,008	276,268	501,901

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

		Underground	Strip
Hydrogenation	Process (1,000 b)	bl/day) 95	-
Coal Synthine	Process "	" " 74	

- Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
  - (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

Ку 70021

### Exhibit No. 10 Page 5 of 16

Coal Bed

### Total

# Leslie-Harlan General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

			Coal B	ed		
	Ha	zard	Fire Clay Rider	Fire Clay	William- son	
County Portion of County	Leslie	Harlan	Leslie	Leslie	Leslie	Totals and/or
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	44	NE.	46	SCentral	Lentral 13	Avenaged
Minimum """""""""""	27		25	28	30	Averages
Average " " " " "		38	20	20	00	
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	3	3	3	3	3	
Minimum """""	Õ	Õ	õ	Õ	õ	
Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet)	210	-	240	300	350	
Minimum " " "	105	_	130	100	340	
Average " " "		200				
Rank (A)	Hvab	Hvab		Hvab	Hvab	
Analysis: (B)						
Moisture	5.1%	5.1%		3.7%	3.7%	3.9%
Volatile Matter	35.5	35.5	Not	38.0	37.8	37.6
Fixed Carbon	52.9	52.9	Available	54.3	54.3	54.1
Ash	6.5	6.5		4.0	4.2	4.4
Sulfur	0.7%	0.7%		0.7%	0.7%	0.7%
Btu, as received	13,110	13,110		13,780	13,830	13,680
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,830	14,830		14,930	15,020	14,920
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	9,683	3,898	18,848	69,676	9,337	75,000
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons):						
Primary Underground	13,898	8,314	29,764	120,186	22,336	194,498
Primary Strip	-	-	-	-	-	-
Primary Total	13,898	8,314	29,764	120,186	22,336	194,498
Secondary Underground	16,992	5,079	31,718	95,839	9,553	159,181
Secondary Strip	-	-	-	-	-	-
Secondary Total	16,992	5,079	31,718	95,839	9,553	159,181
Total Underground	30,890	13,393	61,482	216,025	31,889	353,679
Total Strip	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total Underground and Strip	30,890	13,393	61,482	216,025	31,889	353,679
Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)						
	Undergro	ound Str	ip Total			

Hydrogenation	Process	(1.000)	bbl/day)	68	-
Coal Synthine	Process		" "	53	-

- Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous.
   (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
   (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and
  - of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

70021

K¥

\*

.\*

.

### Exhibit No. 10 Page 6 of 16

Nort	hern Letche	r General Ar	ea			
	As of Janua	ry 1, 1949)				
			Coal Bed Upper Elk-	Upper Elk-		
	Fire Clay	Whites- burg	horn No. 3	horn No. 2	Lower Elkhorn	
County	Letcher	Letcher	Letcher	Letcher	Letcher	Totals and/or
Portion of County	NW.	Ncentral	Northern	NE.	NE.	Weighted
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	75	52	60	12 g (1 <b>-</b> 1 - 1	-	Averages
Minimum	31	35	33	-	-	
Average " " " " "				65	35	
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	4	4	4	4	4	
Minimum " " " "	0	0	0	0	0	
Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet)	275	175	275	-	-	
Minimum	90	80	140	-	-	
Average "				320	400	
Rank (A)	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	
Analysis: (B)						
Molsture	3.7%	4.6%	3.3%	2.9%	3.2%	3.5%
Volatile Matter	38.0	34.7	36.4	35.7	32.7	36.5
Fixed Carbon	54.3	53.8	56.8	57.8	60.3	56.0
Asn	4.0	6.9	3.5	3.6	3.8	4.0
Sulfur	0.7%	2.2%	0.7%	0.9%	0.6%	0.9%
Btu, as received	13,780	13,590	14,100	14,280	14,290	13,970
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,930	15,360	15,130	15,270	15,370	15,110
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	39,935	9,638	33,489	7,718	7,226	65,000
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons):						
Primary Underground	69,000	25,454	124,742	18,755	11,009	248,960
Primary Strip	-	-	-	-	-	-
Primary Total	69,000	25,454	124,742	18,755	11,009	248,960
Secondary Underground	65,712	9,905	16,109	26,395	11,753	129,874
Secondary Strip	-	-	-	-	-	-
Secondary Total	65,712	9,905	16,109	26,395	11,753	129,874
Total Underground	134,712	35,359	140,851	45,150	22,762	378,834
Total Strip	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total Underground and Strip	134,712	35,359	140,851	45,150	22,762	378,834

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

	Underground	Strip	Total
Hydrogenation Process (1,000 bbl/day)	74	-	74
Coal Synthine Process " " "	58	-	58

-

.

× Ky

70021

- Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received.
  - (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

Exhibit No. 10 Page 7 of 16

### Harlan-Letcher General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

				Coal	Bed				
	Upper Splint	William- son	Upper Elk	thorn No.3	Upper Elk- horn No. 2	Upper Elk- horn No. 1	Harlan	Lower Elkhorn	
County	Harlan	Harlan	Harlan	Letcher	Harlan	Letcher	Harlan	Letcher	Totals and/or
Portion of County	Eastern	Southern	Southern	Southern	Eastern	Southern	Southern	Southern	Weighted
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	81	60	58	52	49	51	50	47	Averages
Minimum " " " "	41	33	34	29	29	36	37	34	
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	5	5	5	4	5	4	5	4	
Minimum """""	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet)	660	850	700	610	700	525	800	550	
Minimum " "	130	100	125	170	180	500	370	500	
Rank (A)	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	Hvab	
Analysis: (B)									
Moisture	4.4%	3.7%	2.8%	3.3%	4.2%	3.2%	3.1%	3.2%	3.3%
Volatile Matter	37.1	37.8	36.2	36.4	36.2	34.8	37.0	32.7	36.5
Fixed Carbon	53.8	54.3	56.8	56.8	53.8	58.1	56.1	60.3	56.0
Ash	4.7	4.2	4.2	3.5	5.8	3.9	3.8	3.8	4.2
Sulfur	0.7%	0.7%	0.7%	0.7%	0.7%	0.7%	0.8%	0.6%	0.7%
Btu, as received	13,490	13,830	14,170	14,100	13,440	14,080	14,050	14,290	13,980
Btu moisture- and ash-free	14,840	15,020	15,240	15,130	14,930	15,150	15,090	15,370	15,110
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	19,883	26,509	85,779	14,681	20,174	6,362	85,111	11,200	140,000
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1.000 tons	):								
Primary Inderground	83.856	47,996	155,410	32,224	30,666	26,007	234,565	17,677	628,401
Primary Strip	-	-	_	-	-		-	-	-
Primary Total	83.856	47,996	155,410	32,224	30,666	26,007	234,565	17,677	628,401
Secondary Underground	29,197	58.748	194.887	16,886	44,024	-	96,341	20,570	460,653
Secondary Strip		-	1 1 1	-	-		-		- 11 - 11 - 11 - 11 - 11 - 11 - 11 - 1
Secondary Dollp	29,197	58.748	194.887	16.886	44.024		96,341	20,570	460,653
Total Underground	113.053	106.744	350,297	49.110	74.690	26,007	330,906	38,247	1,089,054
Total Olderground		_	_	-	-	-	-	- C.	-
Total Underground and Strip	113,053	106,744	350,297	49,110	74,690	26,007	330,906	38,247	1,089,054

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

				Underground	Strip	Total
Hydrogenation	Process	(1.000	bbl/day)	213	-	213
Coal Synthine	Process	(-) <sub>11</sub>	11 11	166	-	166

Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous.

- (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
- (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

70021

\* Ky Exhibit No. 10 Page 8 of 16

## Bell General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

reWilliam- sonPuckett CreekaysonHarlanCreekellBellBellBellTotals and/or WeightedSW.SouthernSouthernSE. S5Weighted Averages52545055Averages27333932Averages444440000350510400150175245100100vabHvabHvab3.35.3%2.6%2.1%2.8%5.637.238.337.32.255.855.9Not54.92.94.43.7Available5.0
Bell         Bell         Bell         Bell         Totals and/or           SW.         Southern         Southern         SE.         Weighted           52         54         50         55         Averages           27         33         39         32         Averages           4         4         4         4         4           0         0         0         0         0           350         510         400         150         100           175         245         100         100         100           vab         Hvab         Hvab         37.3         37.3           5.3%         2.6%         2.1%         2.8%           5.6         37.2         38.3         37.3           2.2         55.8         55.9         Not         54.9           2.9         4.4         3.7         Available         5.0
SW.SouthernSouthernSE.Weighted $52$ $54$ $50$ $55$ Averages $27$ $33$ $39$ $32$ $4$ $4$ $4$ $4$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $550$ $510$ $400$ $150$ $150$ $175$ $245$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $78b$ $Hvab$ $8.3\%$ $2.6\%$ $2.1\%$ $2.8\%$ $5.6$ $37.2$ $38.3$ $37.3$ $2.2$ $55.8$ $55.9$ $79$ $4.4$ $3.7$ Available $5.0$
52       54       50       55       Averages         27       33       39       32         4       4       4       4         0       0       0       0         050       510       400       150         175       245       100       100         vab       Hvab       Hvab       2.8%         5.6       37.2       38.3       37.3         2.2       55.8       55.9       Not       54.9         9       4.4       3.7       Available       5.0
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
350 $510$ $400$ $150$ $175$ $245$ $100$ $100$ $ab$ Hvab       Hvab $3.3%$ $2.6%$ $2.1%$ $2.8%$ $5.6$ $37.2$ $38.3$ $37.3$ $2.2$ $55.8$ $55.9$ Not $54.9$ $4.4$ $3.7$ Available $5.0$
175 $245$ $100$ $100$ yabHvabHvab $3.3%$ $2.6%$ $2.1%$ $2.8%$ $5.6$ $37.2$ $38.3$ $37.3$ $2.2$ $55.8$ $55.9$ Not $54.9$ $7.9$ $4.4$ $3.7$ Available $5.0$
Yab         Hvab         Hvab           5.3%         2.6%         2.1%         2.8%           5.6         37.2         38.3         37.3           2.2         55.8         55.9         Not         54.9           7.9         4.4         3.7         Available         5.0
7abHvabHvab $5.3%$ $2.6%$ $2.1%$ $2.8%$ $5.6$ $37.2$ $38.3$ $37.3$ $2.2$ $55.8$ $55.9$ Not $54.9$ $7.9$ $4.4$ $3.7$ Available $5.0$
3.3% $2.6%$ $2.1%$ $2.8%$ $5.6$ $37.2$ $38.3$ $37.3$ $2.2$ $55.8$ $55.9$ Not $54.9$ $7.9$ $4.4$ $3.7$ Available $5.0$
3.3% $2.6%$ $2.1%$ $2.8%$ $5.6$ $37.2$ $38.3$ $37.3$ $2.2$ $55.8$ $55.9$ Not $54.9$ $7.9$ $4.4$ $3.7$ Available $5.0$
5.6 $37.2$ $38.3$ $57.3$ $2.2$ $55.8$ $55.9$ Not $54.9$ $7.9$ $4.4$ $3.7$ Available $5.0$
2.2 55.8 55.9 Not 54.9
7 9 4 4 3.7 Available 5.0
1.9% 1.1% 0.8% 1.2%
210 14,000 14,070 13,800
380 15,050 14,940 14,970
536 18,297 12,651 9,089 30,000
718 34,403 23,694 19,614 119,847
718 34,403 23,694 19,614 119,847
514 31,676 28,826 10,451 101,775
514 31,676 28,826 10,451 101,775
332 66,079 52,520 30,065 221,622
7.

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

	Underground	Strip	-
avdrogenation Process (1.000 bbl/day)	43	-	
Coal Synthine Process " " "	33	-	

- Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
  - (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

\star Ку 70021 Exhibit No. 10 Page 9 of 16

Total

### Exhibit No. 10 Page 10 of 16

### General Areas of Coal Availability

Daviess General Area		
(As of January 1, 1949)	Coal I	Bed
County	David	288
Portion of County	Weste	ern
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)		53
Minimum Maximum Din of Bed (degrees)	4	±0 2
Minimum """""		ō
Maximum Overburden Thickness - Underground (feet)	<b>£</b>	95
Minimum " " "		30
Maximum Overburden Thickness - Strip (feet)	6	55 1 E
Rverage Bank (A)	1 HV/	±0 •h
Analysis: (B)	11 • •	
Moisture	12.	. 1%
Volatile Matter	36	.1
Fixed Carbon	40.	.1
ASH Sulfur	$\frac{11}{3}$	096
Btu, as received	10,79	. 0,2 90
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,10	60
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	19,50	00
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): Primary Underground	45 7'	74
Primary Strip		16
	50 0	<u> </u>
Primary Total Secondary Underground	22,0	90 77
Secondary Strip		
Coondart Dotal	23 0'	77
Total Underground	69.6	51
Total Strip	6,9	16
Total Underground and Strip	76.56	57
	, 0, 0	
Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)		
Underground	Strip	Total
Hydrogenation Process (1,000 bbl/day) 11	1	12
Coal Synthine Process (1,000 " ") 8	1	9(D)
Note: (A) High-volatile C bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine sam	nleg	
obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines pr	ocedure	e:
as-received basis.		
(C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per ca	lendar	
day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126	billior	ı
IOF COAL SYNTHINE UNIT PLANT. (D) Coal reserves are insufficient for a unit coal	gunthi	ne
plant for 40 years' operation.	0.311.0111	

у 7 0021

.

**.**\*

.

a.

.

Exhibit No. 10 Page 11 of 16

### General Areas of Coal Availability

### Henderson General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

	Coal		
	No. 14	No. 9	
County	Henderson	Henderson	Totals and/or
Portion of County	Western	Central	Weighted
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	-	54	Averages
Minimum II II II II II II	-	42	<del></del>
Average """""	57		
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	2	2	
	0	0	
Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet)	185	310	
Minimum """	180	50	
Rank (A)	Hvcb	Hvcb	
Analysis: (B)			
Moisture	11.8%	10.5%	10.7%
Volatile Matter	32.9	35.0	34.7
Fixed Carbon	46.1	41.0	41.8
Ash	9.2	13.5	12.8
Sulfur	2.0%	3.6%	3.4%
Btu, as received	11,300	10,900	10,960
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,300	14,340	14,330
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	16,948	112,075	125,000
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons)	:		
Primary Underground	72,453	157,480	229,933
Primary Strip	-	-	
Primary Total	72,453	157,480	229,933
Secondary Underground	-	250,141	250,141
Secondary Strip	-	-	_
Secondary Total		250,141	250,141
Total Underground	72,453	407,621	480,074(E)
Total Strip	-	-	-
Total Underground and Strip	72,453	407,621	459,866(D)

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

	Underground	<u>Strip</u>	<u>Total</u>
Hydrogenation Process (1,000 bbl/day)	70	-	70
Coal Synthine Process	55	-	55

- Note: (A) High-volatile C bituminous.
  (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
  (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.
  - (D) Total primary and secondary coal reserves for synthetic liquid fuels plant supply limited by definition to twice the primary reserves. (E) Usable coal will be only 459,866 tons due to above limitations in (D).

Кy

### Union General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

No. County Uni Portion of County North-c Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches) 11 11 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) Minimum " " " " Minimum Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet) Minimum Rank (A) Analysis: (B) Moisture Volatile Matter Fixed Carbon Sulfur Btu, as received 11 14 Btu, moisture- and ash-free Area Underlain by Reserves (acres) 62 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): Primary Underground 145 Primary Strip 145 Primary Total Secondary Underground 100 Secondary Strip 100 Secondary Total 245 Total Underground Total Strip 245 Total Underground and Strip

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

Ash

Und

Hydrogenation Process (1,000 bbl/day) Coal Synthine Process

Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminious and high-volatile B bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.

(C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

Ky 70021

### Exhibit No. 10 Page 12 of 16

Coa	al Bed		
11	No. 9	<u>No. 6</u>	
on 60 45 3 0 225 80 Hvbb	Union SE. 60 48 3 0 450 300 Hvab	Union NW. 66 45 3 0 545 50 Hvab	Totals and/or Weighted Averages
8.7% 38.1 43.4 9.8 3.9% ,710 ,370 ,701	3.9% $36.8$ $49.0$ $10.3$ $3.7%$ $12,740$ $14,850$ $73,736$	$ \begin{array}{r} 4.5\% \\ 36.6 \\ 50.7 \\ 8.2 \\ \hline 2.6\% \\ 13,020 \\ 14,920 \\ 9,644 \\ \end{array} $	5.9% 37.3 46.8 10.0 $3.7%$ 12,340 14,660 95,000
,089 ,089 ,638 ,638 ,727	155,742 155,557 155,557 311,299 311,299	42,465 42,465 42,465 42,465	343,296 343,296 256,195 256,195 599,491 599,491
lergroun	d Strip	Total	

01 01 0 0 min	Dorth	
103	-	103
80		80

Web	ste	r Ge	ener	al	Area
(As	of	Janu	ary	1,	1949)

			and the second sec		
	<u>No. 14</u>	No. 12	No. 11	No. 9	
County	Webster	Webster	Webster	Webster	Totals and/o
Portion of County	Western	SW.	Southern	Central	Weighted
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	86	-	72	64	Averages
Minimum """"	57	-	48	46	
Average " " " " "		60		6-11 H 1-1	
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	3	3	3	3	
Minimum "" " "	0	0	0	0	
Maximum Overburden Thickness - Underground (fe	et) 465		300	450	
Minimum " " "	125	-	50	85	
Maximum Overburden Thickness - Strip (feet)	-	75	90	75	
Average " " " "	-	40	50	45	
Rank (A)	Hvab	Hvbb	Hvbb	Hvbb	
Analysis: (B)					
Moisture	5.9%	5.4%	5.2%	6.3%	6.1%
Volatile Matter	35.3	34.9	38.0	36.7	36.6
Fixed Carbon	52.0	50.4	47.1	47.2	48.0
Ash	6.8	9.3	9.7	9.8	9.3
Sulfur	1.5%	1.1%	4.0%	3.6%	3.3%
Btu, as received	12,930	12,500	12,480	12,260	12,400
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,810	14,650	14,660	14,610	14,650
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	25,280	467	19,814	139,866	140,000
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1.000 tons):					
Primary Underground	137,907	-	78,185	161,700	377,792
Primary Strip	-	2,522	5,035	7,144	14,701
Primary Total	137,907	2,522	83,220	168,844	392,493
Secondary Underground	-	-	15,505	386,249	401,754
Secondary Strip	-	-	-	-	-
Secondary Total	-	-	15,505	386,249	401,754
Total Underground	137.907	-	93,690	547,949	779,546(E)
Total Strip	-	2,522	5,035	7,144	14,701
Total Underground and Strip	137.907	2,522	98,725	555,093	784,986(D)
TOTAL OUTOL BLOAND AND DOLLA			Test MARIE		

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

Underground		

Hydrogenation	Process	(1,000	bbl/day)	133
Coal Synthine	Process		n n	104

- Note: (A) Hvab: High-volatile A bituminous; Hvbb: High-volatile B bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau
  - of Mines procedure; as-received basis. (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.
  - (D) Total primary and secondary coal reserves for synthetic liquid fuels plant supply limited by definition to twice the primary reserves.
  - (E) Usable coal will be only 784,986 tons due to above limitations in (D).

Ky 70021

+

Exhibit No. 10 Page 13 of 16

Co	al	Bed
	Carlo alla	LC.C.

### Strip Total

3	136
2	106
#### General Areas of Coal Availability

#### Hopkins-Christian General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

#### Coal Bod

	COAT Bed						
	<u>No. 14</u>	No. 12	<u>No. 11</u>	No. 9	No	. 6	
County	Hopkins	Hopkins	Hopkins	Hopkins	Hopkins	Christian	Totals and/or
Portion of County	Western	Scentral	Central	Central	Southern	Northern	Weighted
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	72	78	79	65	51	43	Averages
Minimum " " " " "	57	30	48	47	36	36	
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	3	3	3	3	3	3	
Minimum " " " "	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Maximum Overburden Thickness - Underground (feet)	360	-	315	410	80	70	
Minimum " " "	50	-	40	50	30	30	
Maximum Overburden Thickness - Strip (feet)	-	75	90	80	60	50	
Average " " " "	-	20	20	40	20	30	
Rank (A)	Hvbb	Hvbb	Hvbb	Hvbb	Hvbb	Hvbb	
Analysis: (B)							
Moisture	8.9%	8.4%	8.2%	8.4%	9.7%	10.7%	8.5%
Volatile Matter	35.3	34.9	38.4	36.6	36.3	35.6	37.2
Fixed Carbon	47.4	42.4	45.7	44.9	47.2	49.8	45.6
Ash	8.4	14.3	7.7	10.1	6.8	3.9	8.7
Sulfur	2.8%	3.8%	3.2%	3.3%	2.7%	1.9%	3.2%
Btu, as received	11,920	11,040	12,170	11,780	12,200	12,440	11,990
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,410	14,280	14,470	14,450	14,610	14,570	14,470
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	12,627	3,162	121,634	139,345	39,183	7,263	165,000
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons):							
Primary Underground	64,310	- 19.5	346,519	287,725	72,874	20,015	791,443
Primary Strip	-	15,619	32,722	20,510	24,170	3,217	96,238
Primary Total	64,310	15,619	379,241	308,235	97,044	23,232	887,681
Secondary Underground	-		227,305	286,030	-	-	513,335
Secondary Strip	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Secondary Total	-	-	227,305	286,030	-	-	513,335
Total Underground	64,310	-	573,824	573,755	72,874	20,015	1,304,778
Total Strip	-	15,619	32,722	20,510	24,170	3,217	96,238
Total Underground and Strip	64,310	15,619	606,546	594,265	97,044	23,232	1,401,016

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

	Underground	Strip	Total
Hydrogenation Process (1,000 bbl/day)	219	16	235
Coal Synthine Process " " "	170	13	183

Note: (A) Hvbb: High-volatile B bituminous.

- (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
- (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

70021

Ky

+

#### Exhibit No. 10 Page 14 of 16

#### General Areas of Coal Availability

## Muhlenberg-McLean (As of January 1, 1949)

	Coal Bed						
	No. 12	No	. 11	No	. 9	No. 6	
County Portion of County Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	Muhlenberg NW. 66	McLean Southern 57	Muhlenberg Northern 75	McLean Southern 61	Muhlenberg Northern 66	Muhlenberg Central 48	Totals and/or Weighted Averages
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) Minimum """"" Maximum Overburden Thickness - Underground (feet) Minimum """"	30 3 0 -	42 3 0 300 265	3 0 285 45	47 3 0 410 110	47 3 0 395 30	37 3 0 50 40	
Maximum Overburden Thickness - Strip (feet) Average ""Rank (A) Analysis: (B)	75 20 Hvbb	Hvbb	80 35 Hvbb	Hvbb	75 40 Hvbb	60 25 Hvbb	
Moisture Volatile Matter Fixed Carbon Ash Sulfur	8.4% 34.9 42.4 14.3 3.8%	$ \begin{array}{r} 6.1\% \\ 41.0 \\ 45.2 \\ 7.7 \\ \hline 4.1\% \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 6.1\% \\ 41.0 \\ 45.2 \\ 7.7 \\ \hline 4.1\% \end{array} $	9.7% 36.9 43.8 9.6 3.3%	9.1% 36.7 45.0 9.2 3.4%	7.6% 39.1 48.2 5.1 3.4%	$   \begin{array}{r}     7.9\% \\     38.5 \\     45.0 \\     - \frac{8.6}{3.7\%}   \end{array} $
Btu, as received Btu, moisture- and ash-free Area Underlain by Reserves (acres) Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons):	11,040 14,280 4,173	12,570 14,580 17,415	12,570 14,580 77,417	11,690 14,480 12,052	11,810 14,450 118,787	12,800 14,660 7,199	12,120 14,510 130,000
Primary Underground Primary Strip Primary Total Secondary Underground Secondary Strip	18,182 18,182	16,590 	174,880 40,557 215,437 137,918	28,487 	357,178 5,401 362,579 169,028	16,862 5,733 22,595 -	69,873 663,870 375,606
Secondary Total Total Underground Total Strip Total Underground and Strip	- 18,182 18,182	48,848 65,438 - 65,438	137,918 312,798 40,557 353,355	19,812 48,299 - 48,299	169,028 526,206 5,401 531,607	16,862 5,733 22,595	375,606 969,603 <u>69,873</u> 1,039,476
Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)	Undergro	ound Strip	Total				
Hydrogenation Process (1,000 bbl/day) Coal Synthine Process " " "	164 128	12 9	176 137				

Note: (A) High-volatile B bituminous.

- (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
- (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.

Ky ₽ 70021

.

+

Exhibit No. 10 Page 15 of 16

#### General Areas of Coal Availability

#### Ohio General Area (As of January 1, 1949)

	No. 14
County	Ohio
Portion of County	Western
Maximum Thickness of Coal Bed (inches)	108
Minimum " " " " "	39
Maximum Din of Red (degrees)	2
	ō
Maximum Overburden Thickness - Underground (feet)	70
Manimum " " " "	10
Marinum Oronhundon Thislange Strin (foot)	10
Maximum Overburden Thickness - Surip (leet)	10
Average	40 Urrah
Rank (A)	HVCD
Analysis: (B)	0.00
Moisture	9.9%
Volatile Matter	37.5
Fixed Carbon	43.0
Ash	9.6
Sulfur	4.7%
Btu, as received	11,490
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,270
Area Underlain by Reserves (acres)	5,638
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1.000 tons):	
Primary Underground	49.068
Primary Strip	158.421
Primary Total	207,489
Secondary Underground	1997 - California
Secondary Strip	
Geoordowy Motol	
Secondary local	49 068
Total Underground	158 421
Total Surip	207 189
Total Underground and Strip	201,403

Capacity of Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant: (C)

Underground	Strip	Total	
51	31	82	
40	24	64	

Hydrogenation	Process	(1,000	bbl/day)	51
Coal Synthine	Process			40

- Note: (A) High-volatile B bituminous or High-volatile C bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
  - (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and of 126 billion for coal synthine unit plant.
  - (D) Total primary and secondary coal reserves for synthetic liquid fuels plant supply limited by definition to twice the primary reserves.

Ky 70021

\*

## Exhibit No. 10 Page 16 of 16

Coal Bed		
<u>No. 11</u>	No. 9	
Ohio SW. 85 31 2 0 80 30 - Hvbb	Ohio SW. 61 48 2 0 290 40 75 40 Hvbb	Totals and/or Weighted Averages
$ \begin{array}{r} 6.1\% \\ 41.0 \\ 45.2 \\ 7.7 \\ 4.1\% \\ 12,570 \\ 14,580 \\ 6,271 \\ \end{array} $	9.8% 36.4 44.6 9.2 2.9% 11,660 14,390 67,117	9.6% 37.1 44.0 9.3 3.7% 11,640 14,350 69,000
27,759 27,759 	165,678 34,577 200,255 73,440 	242,505 192,998 435,503 73,440 





Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits in Kentucky

ocation Number	County	Type Bituminous Deposit	System	Series	Reference (Exhibit No.13)
1	Carter and Rowan	Sandstone	Pennsylvanian	Pottsville	1, 4, 7, 17, 18
2	Johnson, Morgan, and Magoffin	Sandstone	Pennsylvanian	Pottsville	4
3 4 5 6	Madison) Bell Nelson Marion	Limestone			13
7	Hancock	Sandstone	Mississippian	Chester	9, 13
8	Breckenridge	Sandstone	Mississippian	Chester	1, 11, 17
9	Harden	Sandstone	Mississippian	Chester	7, 15, 16, 18
10	Grayson	Sandstone	Pennsylvanian Mississippian	Pottsville Chester	1, 2, 7, 10, 13, 16, 17
11	Hart	Sandstone	Pennsylvanian	Pottsville	9, 13
12	Edmonson	Sandstone	Pennsylvanian	Pottșville	1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17, 18
13	Butler	Sandstone	Pennsylvanian	Pottsville	9, 13
14	Warren	Sandstone	Pennsylvanian	Pottsville	1, 13, 17, 18

Mississippian Chester

1, 4, 13, 15, 17, 18

Key to Map

15

Logan

Sandstone

#### Exhibit No. 12

#### Remarks

- Irregular deposit with variable bitumen content averaging less than 10 gallons per ton.
- Reported to be not thick enough and so situated as not to be commercial
- Miscellaneous small outcropping deposits.

Beds dip below capping sandstones.

- Available information fails to show deposits meet requirements.
- Extention of Grayson County Chester deposits.
- Pottsville deposits in south are small, isolated, or under considerable overburden. Chester deposits in north; no information that deposits are thick or rich enough.

Deposits appear to be of minor nature

General Area of O.I.S.D. Availability. Beds dip below capping sandstones. Several small deposits of high quality. General Area of O.I.S.D. Availability.

#### Exhibit No. 13 Page 1 of 2

#### Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits Bibliography

- 1. 1900 Eldridge, G.H., "The Asphalt of Bituminous Rock Deposits to of the United States", 22nd Annual Report of the 1901 United States Geological Survey, Part 1.
- 2. 1913 Bryant, J.O., "The Economic Geology of a Portion of Edmonson and Grayson Counties", Kentucky Geological Survey, Series IV, Part 1.
- 1913 Crump, M.H., "Kentucky Rock Asphalt", Kentucky Geological Survey, Series IV, vol. 1, Part 2.
- 4. 1921 Jillson, W.R., "Economic Papers on Kentucky Geology", Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI, vol. 2.
- 5. 1921 Jillson, W.R., "Kentucky Rock Asphalt", Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI, vol. 2.
- 6. 1921 Jillson, W.R., "New Method of Producing Crude Oil in Kentucky", Kentucky Geological Survey, Sixth Geological Survey.
- 7. 1924 Richardson, C.H., "Road Materials of Kentucky", Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI.
- 8. 1925 McCormack, C.P., "Kentucky Rock Asphalt, Their Character and Utilization", National Petroleum News, vol. 17, No. 6.
- 9. 1926 "Map of Edmonson County, Kentucky showing position of Beds of Bituminous Sandstone (Rock Asphalt)", Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI.
- 10. 1926 "Map of Grayson County, Kentucky showing approximate distribution of Bituminous Sandstone Outcrop", Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI.
- 11. 1927 Jillson, W.R., "Kentucky Rock Asphalt", Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI, vol. 30.
- 12. 1927 Weller, J.M., "Geology of Edmonson County", Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI, vol. 28.

13. 1928 Jillson, W.R., "Geology and Mineral Resources of Kentucky", Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI, vol. 17.

Ky 15 70021

À

Exhibit No. 13 Page 2 of 2

#### Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits Bibliography

- 14. July Vivian, C.H., "Kentucky Rock Asphalt-A Natural Road 1932 Building Material", Compressed Air Magazine.
  - 15. 1941 Tyler, O.R., "Natural Sandstone Rock Asphalt", Engineering Experimental Station, Purdue University, Series 78.
  - 16. 1942 Hagan, W.W., "Geology of the Cub Run Quadrangle", University of Illinois Thesis.
  - 17. 1943 McFarlan, A.C., "Geology of Kentucky", University of Kentucky.
  - 18. 1945 Abraham, H., "Asphalt Allied Substances", Fifth Edition.

Кy

15 70021

.\*

#### Acknowledgments for Technical Information

The cooperation and assistance of the following are gratefully acknowledged:

Ex-Officials of the Ohio Valley Rock Asphalt Company

Hagan, W.W., Owensboro, Kentucky

- Kentucky Agricultural and Industrial Development Board, Frankfort, Kentucky
- Kentucky Agricultural Experimental Station, Lexington, Kentucky

Kentucky Geological Survey, Lexington, Kentucky

Kentucky Rock Asphalt Company, Brownsville, Kentucky

Mason, R.S., President, Pioneer Asphalt Company, Eddyville, Kentucky

Puckett, Alton, Progress Printing Company, Owensboro, Kentucky

Reconstruction Finance Corporation, Louisville, Kentucky

Scoggin, J.C., Treasurer, Louisville Credit Men's Services, Louisville, Kentucky

Taneyhill, C.P., Bowling Green, Kentucky



.\*

### Asphalt Companies in Kentucky with Approximate Last Dates of Operation

•

.

ŧ

КY

2 70021

Last Date of Operation	Name of Company	Town Nearest Oper	ation
1891	American Bituminous Rock Co.	Grayson Springs, Grayson Co	ounty
1894	Logan County Asphalt Co.	Russellville, Logan	11
1899	Federal Asphalt Co.	Big Clifty, Grayson	11
1901	Breckenridge Asphalt Co.	Garfield, Breckenridge	11
<b>1</b> 901	Green River Asphalt Co.	Young's Ferry, Warren	11
1901	Sicilian Asphalt Co.	Young's Ferry, Warren	R
1917	Wadsworth Stone & Paving Co.	Davis Ferry, Edmonson	11
1922	Standard Asphalt Co.	Russellville, Logan	11
1924	Black Rock Asphalt Co.	Church, Grayson	11
1927	Continental Rock Asphalt Co.	Big Clifty, Grayson	11
1927	Silica Asphalt Co.	Leitchfield, Grayson	11
1930	Natural Rock Asphalt Co.	Lower Bear Creek, Edmonson	91
1930	United Rock Asphalt Co.	Big Clifty, Grayson	11
1930	Garfield Rock Asphalt Co.	Garfield, Breckenridge	11
1930	Crown Rock Asphalt Co.	Big Clifty, Grayson	11
1930	American Rock Asphalt Co.	Pittsburgh Ferry, Edmonson	17
1946	Ohio Valley Rock Asphalt Co.	(Summit, Hardin (Segal, Edmonson	11 11
(A)	Kentucky Rock Asphalt Co.	Brownsville, Edmonson	11
Note:	(A) The Company was in operat at the time of the field	ion as of January 1, 1950 d work.	

		Average	Average		Average		Quantity Recoverable in Thousands of Tons			
		Thickness	1700	of	Content (Gallons per ton)		Indic	ated	Inferred	
Area	Approximate Location	Deposit	(Acres)	(Feet)		of Deposit	Secondary	Tertiary	Secondary	Tertiary
A	Lat. 37°16', Long. 86°11' (6 mi NE. Brownsville, near Ollie)	(Feet) 15	800	15	10	Horizontal		30,928		
I	Lat. 37°16', Long. 86°20' (N. of Beaverdam Creek, E. of Green Hill School)	18	380	18	10	Horizontal		17,629		
ЈК	Lat. 37°17'-37°13', Long. 86°18' (Along Bee Spring Rd., near Sweden)	20	1,523	23	10	Horizontal		77,328		
В	Lat. 37°15', Long. 86°13' (2 mi E. of Woodside)	15	416	20	10	Horizontal				16,099
G	Lat. 37°17', Long. 86°19' (Bet. Nappers and Sycamore Branches E. of Bear Creek)	30	283	30	12	Horizontal				21,923
N	Lat. 37°18', Long. 86°18' (N. of Nappers Branch and E. of Bear Creek)	15	258	15	10	Horizontal				9,996
E'F'	Lat. 37°18', Long. 86°15' (Bet. Dismal Creek and Nolin River, 7 mi N. of Brownsville)	15	560	15	15	Horizontal			<b>21,64</b> 8	
	Total		4,220					125.885	21 648	48 018

Classification of Reserves of Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits in Edmonson County, Kentucky (A) (As of January 1, 1950)

Note: (A) All reserves in Pottsville Formation. Ку

3

.

.

.

•

.+

.

10021

Exhibit No. 16

25.885	21 648	48 018
		10,010

Physical Properties of Crude Samples of Edmonson County (Pottsville) Asphaltic Sandstone							
Sample No.	Moisture (Wet Weight Percent)	Ign. Loss (Dry Weight Percent)	Penet (25°C, 100 Grams	ration 5 Sec.) 50 Grams			
ı	0.55%	6.02%	454	318			
2	.41	8.73	483	338			
3	.50	7.98	402	282			
4	.45	8.27	429	300			
5	.33	8. <b>4</b> 0	459	321			
6	.53	8.42	267	187			

Effects of Stockpile Curing on Physical Properties of Edmonson County (Pottsville) Asphaltic Sandstone

Curing	Moisture (Wet Weight Percent)		Ign (Dry Weig	. Loss ht Percent)	Penetration (25 deg C 100 Grams, 5 Sec.)		
(Days)	Crust	Interior	Crust	Interior	Crust	Interior	
0	0.29%	0.29%	7.55 <b>%</b>	7.55%	166	166	
30	.17	.42	7.38	7.34	86	155	
60	.16	.30	7.49	7.43	61	125	
90	.29	.29	7.29	7.51	<u>4</u> 7	- 128	
140	.08	.22	7.31	7.58	46	131	
202	.18	.29	7.28	7.52	39	137	
242	.17	.44	7.45	7.57	44	139	
278	.17	.32	7.41	7.76	42	135	
300	.05	.17	7.67	7.65	33	130	
333	.20	. 39	7.57	7.56	45	138	

70021

<u>a</u> ►

Kу

\_.#

•

perties of Edmonson County (Pottsville) Asphaltic Sandstone at Different Levels in Stockpile										
Depth (Inches)	Moisture (Wet Weight <u>Percent)</u>	Ign Loss (Dry Weight Percent)	Penetration (25°C, 100 grams, 5 Sec.)							
0- 2	0.20%	7 - 62%	110							
2-4	.26	7.79	120							
4- 6	.29	7.72	137							
6- 8	.21	7.71	138							
8-10	.24	7.70	144							
10-12	.29	7.61	130							
12-14	.40	7.81	129							
<b>14</b> -16	.27	7.62	119							
16-18	. 28	7.82	105							

Effect of 360 Days Curing on the Physical Properties of Edmonson County (Pottsville) Asphaltic Sandstones at Different Levels in Stockpile

Кy

۲

•

•

÷

4

)021

•

	Samples Nos.					
	1	2	3	4		
Softening Point	52.3°C	50.9°C	43.2°C	45.7°C		
Penetration at 25°C, 50 Grams, 5 Sec.	55	62	100	84		
Penetration at 0°C, 100 Grams, 60 Sec.	37	<b>4</b> 0	60	51		
Ductility at 25° C	83.5 cm	89 cm	110 cm	102 cm		
Ductility at 0° C	32.3 cm	34.6 cm	61 cm	53.5 cm		
Loss on Heating, 5 hr at 163° C	1.88%	1.97%6	2.34%	2.08%		
Penetration at 25° C after Heating	50	54	56	55		
Penetration at 0° C after Heating	33	34	34	34		
Solubility in Carbon Tetrachloride	99.53%	99.57%	99.57%	99.57%		
Solubility in Carbon Disulfide	99.97%	99.98%	99.93%	99.95%		
True Colloidal Percent	.44%	<b>.41%</b>	. 36%	.38%		
Temperature Susceptibility Index	.00732	.00760	.00771	.00771		
Percent Bitumen by Ignition (Weight)	5.75%	8.66%	8.29%	8.35%		

Characteristics of Separated Bitumen from Edmonson County (Pottsville) Deposit of Asphaltic Sandstone (A)

Note: (A) Samples taken from the Pottsville sandstone in the southern portion of the Edmonson County deposits.

Ку

.\*

15 70**0**21

# Classification of Reserves of Oil-impregnated Strippable Deposits in Logan County, Kentucky (As of January 1, 1950)

Area	Approximate	Location	Average Thickness of Deposit (Feet)	Area (Acres)	Average Thickness of Overburden (Feet)	Average Bitumen Content (Gallons per ton)	Altitude of Deposit
II	Lat. 36°54' Long. (4 mi NE. Russelly	86°51' ville)	20	205	17	14.4	Horizontal
III	Lat. 36°54' Long. (4 mi NE. Russelly	86°51' ville)	20	350	20	10	"
IV	Lat: 36°55' Long. (5 mi N. Russellvi	86°52' 111e)	35	191	35	10	"
V	Lat. 36°56' Long. (5 mi N. Russellv:	86°52' 111e)	35	406	27	10	II
VI	Lat. 36°57' Long. (vic. Homer, 7 mi	86°51' NE. Russellville)	20	715	15	10	n
VII	Lat. 36°58' Long. (vic. Homer, 7 mi	86°51' NE Russellville)	30	386	16	10	11
		Total		2,253			

Note: All Reserves in Chester Formation.

Ky \* 10 70021

.\*

.

\*

.\*

.

Exhibit No. 20

Quant: The	ity Recove ousands of	erable in f Tons						
Indica	ated	Inferred						
Secondary	Tertiary	Secondary	Tertiary					
	10,584							
	17,168							
			17,258					
			36,640					
			38,752					
			30,858					

123,508

27,752





\*

\*

	REPORT Corps of Engineers Department of the Army	
OF GENERAL AREAS ENERAL AREA AVIESS ENDERSON	THE SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUEL POTENTIA OF KENTUCKY WATER RESOURCES IN WESTERN KENTLICKY	L
NION EBSTER OPKINS-CHRISTIAN UHLENBERG-M¢LEAN HIO	Jord, Bacon & Davis Jnorporated Engineers New YORK CHICAGO	

	FC	- FLOOD	CONTROL		C - CONSE	RVATION			
8	ROUGH	RIVER	ROUGH	RIVER	312,	700 FC	- C		
A	NOLIN	RIVER	NOLIN	RIVER	474,	000 FC	- C		
	N	AME	R	IVER	TOT STOR CAP.	AL AGE AF	USE		
	PROPOSED		SED MAJOR	DAMS	& RES	SERVOIRS			

IDENTIFICATION

NO.

10

14 15

16

#### LEGEND







## Daily Process Water Requirements with Recirculation of Cooling Water for 10,000-barrel-per-day Plant Using Coal Synthine Process

		Make-up (A)			Consum	ned (B)	and the second	Returned (C)		
Item	Use	(1,000's)	AF	Cfs	(1,000's)	AF	Cfs	(1,000's)	AF	Cfs
l	Evaporated (Cooling Towers)	6,410	19.67	9.92	6,410	19.67	9.92	-	-	-
2	Blowdown for Cooling Towers	1,920	5.89	2.97	960	2.95	1.48	960	2.94	1.49
3	Boiler Make-up for H2 Manufacturing		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
4	Boiler Make-up for Synthesis Gas	578	1.77	0.89	51	0.15	0.08	527	1.62	0.81
5	Boiler Make-up for Boiler Blowdown	737	2.26	1.14	147	0.45	0.23	590	1.81	0.91
6	High Pressure Injection H <sub>2</sub> O (Process H <sub>2</sub> O)	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-
7	Sanitary H <sub>2</sub> O for Plant	60	0.19	0.09	-	-	-	60	0.19	0.09
8	Sanitary H <sub>2</sub> O for Mines	48	0.15	0.08	-	-	-	48	0.15	0.08
9	Water for Coal Preparation	300	0.92	0.46	80	0.25	0.12	220	0.67	0.34
10	Water for Mines	-			-	-	-	-	-	-
11	Water for Mine Power	81	0.25	0.13	65	0.20	0.10	16	0.05	0.03
12	Miscellaneous, 10 percent	1,016	3.12	1.57				1,016	3.12	1.57
13	Total	11,150	34.22	17.25	7,713	23.67	11.93	3,437	10.55	5.32
			1							

Note: For "once-through" cooling with 33° F rise in water temperature through the plant, approximately 197 mgd, or 304 cfs of water-are required in place of Items 1 and 2 above.

(A) Make-up - The total amount of water required to be delivered from the source to the plant.

(B) Consumed - The amount of water evaporated or used in the coal synthine process.

(C) Returned - The amount of water returned to a stream as waste and sewage.

k Ky 10 70021 Exhibit No. 22

#### Water Resources Bibliography

#### House Documents

- Ohio River Pollution Control, House Document No. 266, 78th Congress, 1st Session (1944)
- Green, Barren, and Rough Rivers, Kentucky House Document No. 81, 73rd Congress, 1st Session (1933)
- Licking River at Salyersville, Kentucky House Document No. 261, 77th Congress, 1st Session (1941)
- Kentucky River and Tributaries, Kentucky House Document No. 504, 78th Congress, 2nd Session (1944)
- Cumberland River and Tributaries, Tennessee and Kentucky, House Document No. 761, 79th Congress, 2nd Session (1947)
- Big Sandy River and Tug and Levisa Fork, Kentucky, West Virginia, and Virginia House Document No. 264, 80th Congress, 1st Session (1947)

#### Corps of Engineers, U.S. Army

- Flood Control Survey on Licking River and its Tributaries, Kentucky, District Engineer, Cincinnati, Ohio (1945)
- Flood Control Survey, Kentucky River and Tributaries, Kentucky, District Engineer, Cincinnati, Ohio (1940)

Project Maps, Huntington District (1949)

Project Maps, Louisville District (1949)

Summary Report to the U.S. Bureau of Mines on Areas Suitable for Synthetic Liquid Fuel Plants in Western Kentucky, Northwestern Colorado, and Southwestern Texas, Chief of Engineers (1949)

#### Federal Security Agency, Public Health Service

Inventory of Water and Sewage Facilities in the United States (1945)

#### U.S. Geological Survey

Surface Water Supply of the United States, Part III, Various Publications.

Water Supply Paper 658, The Industrial Utility of Public Water Supplies in the United States, 1932, W.D. Collins, W.L. Lamar, and E.W. Lohr (1934)

Ку

10 0021

.

#### Water Resources Bibliography

U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service

Rates of Sediment Production in Midwestern United States, Gunnar M. Brune, (1948)

Technical Bulletin 524, Silting of Reservoirs, Harry M. Eakin (1936), revised by Carl B. Brown (1939)

#### West Virginia Geological Survey

Ground Water Conditions Along the Ohio Valley at Parkersburg, West Virginia, Russell M. Jeffords (1945), Bulletin 10.

Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals, Division of Geology

Water, Floyd F. Schroder (1946)

Су

.0\* 70**02**1 Journal of American Water Works Association

A Review of the Cost of Water Works Structures, Charles B. Burdick, vol. 36, pages 821-831 (1944)

Transactions of American Society of Civil Engineers

Evaporation from Water Surfaces, A Symposium, vol. 99, pages 671-747 (1934)

#### Acknowledgments for Technical Information

Agencies and Persons who Rendered Assistance in Preparation of Water Supply Report

District Engineer Corps of Engineers Louisville District 830 West Broadway Louisville, Kentucky

District Engineer Corps of Engineers Huntington District Madison Avenue and 8th Street W. Huntington, West Virginia

F.F. Schrader District Engineer U.S. Geological Survey 531 Federal Building Louisville 2, Kentucky

F.C. Dugan, Director Division of Sanitary Engineering State Department of Health 620 South 3rd Street Louisville 2, Kentucky

Ohio River Valley Water Sanitation Commission 414 Walnut Street Cincinnati, Ohio

D.J. Jones State Geologist University of Kentucky Lexington 29, Kentucky

Ky 15 70021

4

٠

.\*

.



55-540 8-2-50





#### EXHIBIT NO. 28

#### REPORT Corps of Engineers Department of the Army

THE SYNTHETIC LIQUID FUEL POTENTIAL

OF

#### KENTUCKY

#### TEN-DAY HYDROGRAPH

LEVISA FORK AT PAINTSVILLE. KY

FOR PERIOD APRIL 1, 1930 TO NOV. 22, 1931 DRAINAGE AREA = 2.143 SQ MI

### Ford, Bacon & Davis





#### EXHIBIT NO. 29



	Drainage	Mean Annual Flow Minimum Flow (Ci				
Stream and Gaging Station	Area (So Mt)	Cfa	Cfs per	Monthla	Detla	
Stream and daging Station	(SY MI)		_SQ MI	Monthly	Daily	
Cumberland River Basin:						
Stinking Creek at Site No. 1	85	132	1.55	*	*	
Straight Creek at Site No. 2	40	62	1.55	*	*	
Brownies Creek at Site No. 3	30	47	1.57	*	*	
Poor Fork	149	231	0 1.55	1.7	*	
Clover Fork	223	346	1.55	2.6	*	
Cranks Creek at Site No. 4	27	42	1.56	*	*	
Tradewater River Basin	1.008	988	0.98	0	0	
Crab Orchard Creek	170	167	0.98	0	0	
Piney Creek at Site No. 5	60	59	0.98	0	0	
Clear Creek	208	204	0.98	0	0	
Lick Creek at Site No. 6	32	31	0.97	0	0	
Donaldson Creek at Site No. 7	72	71	0.99	0	0	
Green River Basin	9,222	11,989	1.30	387	341	
Pond River	795	1,034	1.30	33	29	
Rough River	1,077	1,400	1.30	452	398	
Mud River	381	495	1.30	16	14	
Muddy Creek at Site No. 8	82	107	1.30	3.4	3	
Welch Creek at Site No. 9	22	29	1.32	*	*	
Barren River	2,142	2,785	1.30	90	79	
Reedy Creek at Site No. 10	20	26	1.30	*	*	
Bear Creek at Site No. 11	127	165	1.30	5.3	4.7	
Beaver Dam Creek at Site No. 12	23	30	1.30	*	*	
Nolin River	728	946	1.30	31	27	
Kentucky River Basin:						
South Fork Kentucky River	744	945	1.27	2.8	1.9	
Middle Fork Kentucky River	553	702	1.27	2.1	1.4	
North Fork Kentucky River	1,321	1,678	1.27	5.0	3.3	
Middle Fork Kentucky River at Site No. 13	191	243	1.27	*	*	
Middle Fork Kentucky River at Site No. 14	192	244	1.27	*		
Troublesome Creek at Site No. 15	257	326	1.27	*	*	
Lotts Creek at Site No. 16	21	27	1.29	*	*	
Right Fork at Site No. 17	27	34	1.26	*	*	
Carr Fork at Site No. 18	31	39	1.26		*	
Licking River Basin:						
Grassy Creek	128	163	1.27	*	*	
Licking River at Site No. 19	326	414	1.27	1.2	*	

.

Kentucky Stream Flow Records and Estimates

70021 \*

\*

-.

Exhibit No. 30 Page 1 of 2

(Cfs)

Records Used in Preparing Estimates

	Cumber	lan	d R	ive	er	at	Cumb	erland	Falls
	Cumber	lan	d R	ive	er	at	Cumb	erland	Falls
	Cumber	lan	d R	ive	r	at	Cumb	erland	Falls
	Cumber	lan	d R	ive	r	at	Cumb	erland	Falls
	Cumber	lan	d R	ive	r	at	Cumb	erland	Falls
	Cumber	lan	d R	ive	r	at	Cumb	erland	Falls
1	Tradew	ate	r R	ive	er	at	Olne	у	
	Tradew	ate	r R	ive	er	at	Olne	у	
	Tradew	ate	r R	ive	er	at	Olne	у	
	Tradew	ate	r R	ive	r	at	Olne	у	
	Tradew	ate	r R	ive	er	at	Olne	у	
	Tradew	ate	r R	ive	r	at	Olne	У	
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Green	Riv	er	at	Li	ve	rmore		
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	
	Kentuc	ky	Riv	er	ne	ear	Winc	hester	

	Kentucky Stream Flow Records and Estimates							
Stream and Gaging Station	Drainage Area (Sq Mi)	<u>Mean Ar</u> Cfs	nual Flow Cfs per Sq Mi	Minimum Flow	(Cfs) Daily	Records Used in Preparing Estimates		
Big Sandy River Basin: Levisa Fork Paint Creek at Site No. 20 Caney Fork at Site No. 21 Mud Creek at Site No. 22 Raccoon Creek at Site No. 23 Johns Creek at Site No. 24 Beaver Creek Shelby Creek Long Fork at Site No. 25 Russell Fork Elkhorn Creek at Site No. 26	2,314 120 25 53 26 40 250 115 33 678 52	2,360 122 26 54 27 41 255 117 34 692 53	1.02 1.02 1.04 1.02 1.04 1.03 1.02 1.03 1.02 1.02 1.02	11.8 * * * 1.3 * 3.5 *	9.0 * * * * * * 2.6	Levisa Fork at Paintsville Levisa Fork at Paintsville		

...

. .

. . . .

Note: Flow records obtained from U.S.G.S. Water Supply Papers, except as noted.

\* Less than 1 Cfs.

Ky 70021

.

\*

Exhibit No. 30 Page 2 of 2

### Summary of Data of Representative Water Storage Projects in Kentucky

			Reservoir Data								
Reservoir	Stream	Gaging Station Used and Years of Record	Drainage	Stor	age - Acre-f	eet		Depth of			
Number			(Sq M1)	Net	Evaporation	Silting	Total	(Feet)	County	Remarks	
	Cumberland River Basin:										
1	Stinking Creek		85	30.000	2.000	1.000	33.000	23	Knox		
2	Straight Creek	Cumberland River (A)	40	242,000	6,000	2,000	250,000	200	Bell )	Used as storage reservoir	
3	Brownies Creek	at Cumberland Falls	30	9,300	500	200	10.000	81	Bell	for water, pump	
		1908-1911								from Cumberland River	
4	Cranks Creek	1916-1931 1933-1948	27	10,500	500	200	11,200	102	Harlan		
	Tradewater River Basin:										
5	Piney Creek	Tradewater River at	60	30,600	4.800	500	35,900	34	Crittendon		
6	Lick Creek	Olney, Kentucky	32	17.300	2,600	300	20,200	18	Hopkins		
7	Donaldson Creek	1941-1947	72	36,700	6,000	600	43,300	25	Caldwell		
				,							
	Green River Basin:										
8	Muddy Creek		82	46.600	7.800	700	55,100	35	Butler	Low flow control	
9	Welch Creek	Green River at	22	14.500	1,800	200	16,500	39	Butler	Low flow control	
10	Reedy Creek	Livermore, Kentucky	20	13,000	2,000	200	15,200	30	Edmonson	Low flow control	
11	Bear Creek	1931-1948	127	83,500	7,400	1 000	91,900	57	Edmonson	Low flow control	
12	Beaver Dam Creek		23	7,800	700	200	8,700	55	Edmonson	Low flow control	
	Kentucky River Basin.										
13	Middle Fork Kentucky H	River	101	102 000	6 400	1 500	100 000	100	Toslio		
14	Middle Fork Kentucky	River	192	51,000	1,600	1,500	54 100	118	Legite		
15	Troublesome Creek	Kentucky River near	257	135,000	6,600	2,100	143 700	100	Broathitt		
16	Lotts Creek	Winchester Kentucky	21	107,000	2,500	1,100	110,600	210	Penny )	lied as storage reservoir	
17	Bight Fork	1910-1948	27	107,000	2,000	1,100	110,600	220	Ponny	for water nump	
and Property	Migno Fork	1910-1940	21	05,500	2,100	900	00,000	220	rerry	from Kentucky River	
18	Carr Fork		31	10,500	800	200	11,500	58	Knott		
	Licking River Basin:										
19	Licking River	Kentucky River near	326	174.000	13,000	3,000	190.000	60	Morgan		
		Winchester, Kentucky 1910-1948		,	,	.,					
	Big Sandy River Basin.										
20	Paint Creek		120	12 000	2 000	1 000	45 000	82	Tohnson		
21	Caney Fork		25	23 300	1,100	1,000	24,600	100	Knott		
22	Mud Creek	Leuise Fork at	53	21,100	1,100	400	22,800	51	Floyd		
23	Raccoon Creek	Deinteville Kontuck	7 26	8,500	1,500	200	9,500	55	Pike	Low flow control	
24	Johns Creek	1030 1040	y 20	12,000	100	200	12,000	55	Pike	TOW ITOM COUCLOI	
25	Long Fork	1930-1940	40	12,000	600	300	12,900	10	Pike	Tow flow control	
26	Flikhown Greek		55	15,100	500	500	13,900	04 E4	Pike	Low flow control	
20	ETKHOLU CLEEK		52	20,700	500	400	21,600	54	Fike	LOW ITOW CONCPOT	

Note: (A) Flow for water year 1932 was estimated and included in record.

70021

¥у

\*

\*

\*

.

Exhibit No. 31



#### Chemical and Physical Analysis of Surface Waters of Kentucky at Selected Sampling Stations

	Tradewater River at mouth Crittendon Co.	Green River above Central City Muhlenberg Co.	Green River below Morgantown Butler Co.	Bear Creek at mouth Edmonson Co.	Middle Fork Kentucky River below Hyden Leslie Co.	Carr Fork mouth at Jeff Perry Co.	Licking River 1/4 mile below West Liberty Morgan Co.	Paint Creek 100 yds above mouth at Paintsville Johnson Co.	Long Fork at mouth - Virgie Pike Co.	Clover Fork below Evarts Harlan Co.	Elkhorn Creek at mouth above Elkhorn City Pike Co.	Ohio River at Henderson, Ky. Henderson Co.	Tradewater River at Olney, Ky. Hopkins Co.	Pond River at Jewel City Hopkins Co.	Green River near Sebree, Webster Co.	Johns Creek near Van Lear Johnson Co.	Levisa Fork at Paintsville Johnson Co.	Levisa Fork at Pikeville Pike Co.
Source of Data	(A)	(A)	(A)	(A)	(A)	(A)	(A)	(A)	(A)	(A)	(A)	(B)(T)	(C)	(c)	(c)	(C)	(c)	(c)
Date of Collection	9/12/40	10/30/40	10/9/40	10/8/40	10/16/39	11/2/39	11/20/39	9 11/20/39	11/14/39	9/5/40	11/13/39	7/6/31	3/6/50	7/12/50	4/25/50	10/26/49	11/1- 10/50	10/16/49
River Discharge - Cfs	1	320	360	1-			27			33								
Temperature °F.	73	62	50	65	51	41	47	48	35	69	39							
Color													1	2	3	10	7	7
рН	7.8	7.7	7.7	7.7	7.3	7.3	7.0	7.0	7.0	7.4	7.9		7.7	3.9	7.8	7.4	7.6	7.4
Sp. Cond. (K x $10^5$ ) - Ppm																		
Silica (SiO <sub>2</sub> ) - Ppm												4	9.4	9.6	4.8	6.7	9.5	3.8
Iron (Fe) - Ppm												.03	.02	1.0	.04	.03	.1	4 .06
Manganese (Mn) - Ppm														3.9				
Calcium (Ca) - Ppm												39	25	54	38	12	16	16
Magnesium (Mg) - Ppm												9.1	11	33	6.9	5.1	7.1	8.2
Sod. & Pot. $(Na + K) - Ppm$												14.5	6.4	24.4	5.2	14	16	19
Bicarbonate (HCO <sub>3</sub> ) - Ppm												56	20	0	110	43	43	58
Sulfate (SO <sub>4</sub> ) - Ppm												85	97	324	36	17	50	53
Chloride (Cl) - Ppm Eluoride (E) - Ppm												18	2.0	3.0	3.0	19	10	7.8
Nitrate $(NO_3)$ - Ppm												1.6	.7	.4	2.3	1.6	1.6	.1
Hardness as CaCO3, Total - Ppm Non-Carbonate - Ppm	85	102	96	114			97	254	82	62	204	135	108 91	270 270	123 33	51 16	69 34	74 26
M.O. Alkalinity as CaCO <sub>3</sub> - Ppm Dissolved Solids - Ppm	68	102	100	114	37	17	48	102	42	38	139	221	173	491	153	102	131	138
Turbidity - Ppm	23	8	10	5	11	4	22	37	4	5	5							
Aluminum (Al) - Ppm														4.4				
Total Acidity as H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> - Ppm														41				

.

\*

.

Note: (A) Data from Ohio River Pollution Control Report, 1944

(B) Water Supply Paper 658, U.S.G.S.

(T) Average tap sample of filtered water

(C) Data from Agricultural and Industrial Develop-ment Board in Kentucky



	Well								
	Parkersburg	Parkersburg	Parkersburg	Point Pleasant					
Depth in Feet	55	50-65	50-65	96					
Date of Collection	2/14/27	8/30/29	5/27/42	8/13/42					
Yield - Gpm	150	50-300	50-300	250					
Temperature - °F			53	55					
Silica (SiO <sub>2</sub> ) - Ppm	21	18	13						
Iron (Fe) - Ppm	1. <u>-</u>		0. <u>11</u>						
Manganese (Mn) - Ppm			0. <u>8</u>						
Calcium (Ca) - Ppm	26	<b>4</b> 8	47						
Magnesium (Mg) - Ppm	3. <u>7</u>	8 . <del>4</del>	8. <del>4</del>						
Sod. & Pot. (Na + K) - Ppm	14	7 ° <u>3</u>	17						
Bicarbonate (HCO <sub>3</sub> ) - Pp	om 78*	83	72	236					
Sulfate $(SO_4)$ - Ppm	21	58	93	36*					
Chloride (Cl) - Ppm	17	28	19	8. <u>0</u>					
Fluoride (F) - Ppm			0. <u>2</u>	0. <sup>2</sup>					
Nitrate (NO3) - Ppm		0.25	1. <u>8</u>	4 . <u> </u>					
Total Hardness as CaCO <sub>3</sub> Ppm	- 80	152	152	213					
Non-Carbonate - Ppm	16	84	93	19					
Dissolved Solids - Ppm		230	240						

Chemical and Physical Analysis of Ground Waters of the Ohio River Valley at Selected Stations in West Virginia

Source: "Ground Water Conditions Along the Ohio Valley at Parkersburg, W. Va.," W. Va. Geological Survey, Bull. 1945

777021

Ky ,

٠

4

-#

1

.

\* By turbidity, approximate

	Sources and Quan	of Synthetic Liquid (Coal Synthine	lable for Comple Fuel Resources Process)	te Development	
General Area	Source of Water Supply for Initial Unit Plant (20 Cfs)	Daily Production Capacity Supportable by Coal Resources (1,000 Bb1)	Potential Total Water Requirement (Cfs)	Available Sources for Additional Water Supply	Total Water Available (Cfs)
Johnson-Magoffin	Dewey Reservoir (Johns Creek)	32	65	Dewey Reservoir (Johns Creek)	65
Pike	Johns Creek Reservoir (No. 24)	392	794	Ohio River	794
Floyd-Magoffin	Mud Creek Reservoir (No. 22)	155	314	Levisa Fork augmented by - Proposed Fishtrap Reservoir Mud Creek Reservoir (No. 22) Long Fork Reservoir (No. 25) Elkhorn Creek Reservoir (No. 26)	226 34 21 33
Knott-Breathitt	Caney Fork Reservair (No. 21)	00	-	Total	314
Perry-Breathitt	North Fork Kentucky Biver ourmented by	99	200	Troublesome Creek Reservoir (No. 15)	200
	Lotts Creek Reservoir (No. 16)	74	150	North Fork Kentucky River augmented by Lotts Creek Reservoir (No. 16)	150
Leslie-Harlan	Middle Fork Kentucky River Reservoir (No. 14	.) 53	107	Middle Fork Kentucky River Reservoir (No. 14)	107
Northern Letcher	Carr Fork Reservoir (No. 18)	58	117	North Fork Kentucky River augmented by Right Fork Reservoir (No. 17)	117
Harlan-Letcher	Cranks Creek Reservoir (No. 4)	166	336	Cumberland River augmented by Straight Creek Reservoir (No. 2)	336
Bell	Brownies Creek Reservoir (No. 3)	33	67	Stinking Creek Reservoir (No. 1)	67
Daviess	Green River	9	18	Green River	18
Henderson	Ohio River	55	111	Ohio River	111
Union	Ohio River	80	162	Ohio River	162
Webster	Tradewater River	106	215	Ohio River	215
Hopkins- Christian	Lick Creek Reservoir (No. 6)	183	371	Ohio River	371
Muhlenberg- McLean	Green River	137	277	Green River augmented by - Welch Creek Reservoir (No. 9) Reedy Creek Reservoir (No. 10) Bear Creek Reservoir (No. 11)	36 32 209
		K.		Total	277
0n10	Green River	64	130	Green River augmented by Muddy Creek Reservoir (No. 8)	130
	Total	1,696	3,434		

Note: Numbers in parenthesis refer to Reservoirs shown on Exhibit No. 31.

Ку

\*

\*

•

\*

~

+

\*

4 70021



	General Area											
	Johnson-	Magoffin	Pike		Floyd-I	Magoffin	Knott-Breathitt		Perry-Breathitt			
Type of Mining	Underground		Underground		Under	Underground		Underground		ground		
Productivity (tons per man-shift)		6	7			7	7		7			
Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process	н	S	Н	S	Н	S	Н	S	н	S		
Daily Production - tons (240 days per year)	5,428	6,978	5,289	6,800	5,550	7,134	5,420	6,968	5,524	7,102		
Annual Production (thousands of tons)	1,303	1,675	1,269	1,632	1,332	1,712	1,301	1,672	1,326	1,705		
Daily Plant Consumption - tons (365 days per year)	3,569	4,588	3,478	4,471	3,649	4,691	3,564	4,582	3,632	4,670		
Life of Reserves (years) (as of January 1, 1949)	163	127	2,017	1,569	796	620	508	395	379	294		
Plant Investment (thousands of dollars)	\$ 7,818	\$10,050	\$ 6 <b>,34</b> 5	\$8,160	\$ 6,660	\$8,560	\$ 6,505	\$8,360	\$ 6,630	\$8,525		
Items of Cost per ton: All Labor Vacation Payments Welfare Fund	\$2.67 .07 .30		\$2.29 .06 .30		\$2.29 .06 .30		\$2.29 .06 .30		\$2.29 .06 .30			
Total Labor	\$3.	04	\$2.	65	\$	2.65	\$2.	65	\$2.	.65		
All Supplies Power Payroll Taxes Other Taxes, Insurance, Miscellaneous Depreciation Royalty or Depletion Engineering, Management, Administration	.78 .15 .11 .43 .40 .10 .10		.75 .15 .09 .39 .33 .30 .10		.75 .15 .09 .39 .33 .20 .10		.75 .15 .09 .39 .33 .20 .10		.75 .15 .09 .39 .33 .20 .10			
Net Production Cost per Ton	\$5.	11	\$4.	76	\$	4.66	\$4.	66	\$4.	.66		
Btu per pound of coal (as received)	13,7	30	14,0	90	13	,430	13,7	50	13,4	<b>1</b> 90		
Cost per million Btu (cents)	18.6	jl¢	16.8	9¢	17.35¢		16.95¢		17.27¢			

\* +

y

7 \*

## Estimates of Coal Production Costs (As of March 31, 1950)



### Estimates of Coal Production Costs (As of March 31, 1950)

	General Area												
	Leslie-Harlan Underground 7		Northern Letcher Underground 7		Harlan-Letcher Underground 7		Bell Underground 7		Daviess				
Type of Mining									Underground 9		Strip 25		
Productivity (tons per man-shift)													
Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process	Н	S	Н	S	н	S	Н	S	Н	S	H	S	
Daily Production - tons (240 days per year)	5,448	7,003	5,335	6,859	5,331	6,853	5,400	6,943	6,906	8,880	6,906	8,880	
Annual Production (thousands of tons)	1,307	1,681	1,280	1,646	1,279	1,645	1,296	1,666	1,657	2,131	1,657	2,131	
Daily Plant Consumption - tons (365 days per year)	3,582	4,605	3,508	4,510	3,505	4,506	3,551	4,565	4,541	5,839	4,541	5,839	
Life of Reserves (years) (as of January 1, 1949)	271	210	296	230	851	662	171	133	42	33	4	3	
Plant Investment (thousands of dollars)	\$6,535	\$8,405	\$6,400	\$8,230	\$6,395	\$8,225	\$7,128	\$9,163	\$7,457	\$9,590	\$6,214	\$7,991	
Items of Cost per ton: All Labor Vacation Payments Welfare Fund	\$2.	29 06 30	\$2.	29 06 30	\$2.	29 .06 .30	\$2	.29 .06 .30	\$1.7 .C 3	8 5 60	4	\$0.66 .02 .30	
Total Labor	\$2.	65	\$2.	65	\$2.	.65	\$2	.65	\$2.]	.3	9	\$0.98	
All Supplies Power Payroll Taxes Other Taxes, Insurance, Miscellaneous Depreciation Royalty or Depletion Engineering, Management, Administration	.75 .15 .09 .39 .33 .20 .10		.75 .15 .09 .39 .33 .20		.75 .15 .09 .39 .33 .30 .10		.75 .15 .09 .40 .37 .20 .10		.69 .15 .07 .35 .30 .10 .10		.70 .15 .03 .27 .25 .15 .10		
Net Production Cost per Ton	\$4.	66	\$4.	.66	\$4.	.76	\$4	.71	\$3.8	39		\$2.63	
Btu per pound of coal (as received)	13.6	80	13,9	70	13,9	980	13,	800	10,75	90	1	0,790	
Cost per million Btu (cents)	17.03¢		16.68¢		17.02¢		17.07¢		18.03¢		12.19¢		

Ky 7 70021

×

\*

.\*



Type of Mining Productivity (tons per man-shift) Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process Daily Production - tons (240 days per year) Annual Production (thousands of tons) Daily Plant Consumption - tons (365 days per year Life of Reserves (years) (as of January 1, 1949) Plant Investment (thousands of dollars)

Items of Cost per ton: All Labor Vacation Payments Welfare Fund

Total Labor

All Supplies Power Payroll Taxes Other Taxes, Insurance, Miscellaneous Depreciation Royalty or Depletion Engineering, Management, Administration

Net Production Cost per Ton

Btu per pound of coal (as received)

Cost per million Btu (cents)

Ку 7 70021

•

.\*

### Estimates of Coal Production Costs

(As of March 31, 1950)

			(	General Area							
	Hende	erson	Unior	1	Webster						
	Underg	round	Undergro	ound	Underg	round	Strip 25				
	8	3	10		10						
	Н	S	H .	S	н	S	Н	S			
	6,800	8,742	6,039	7,764	6,010	7,727	6,019	7,740			
	1,632	2,098	1,449	1,863	1,442	1,855	1,445	1,857			
r)	4,471	5,748	3,971	5,105	3,952	5,081	3,958	5,089			
	282	219	414	322	534	415	10	8			
	\$7,344	\$9,441	\$6,521	\$8,384	\$6,489	\$8,348	\$5,058	\$6,500			
	\$2.	.00 .05 .30	\$1.6 .0 <u>.3</u>	0 4 0	\$] 	.60 .04 .30		\$0.66 .02 .30			
	\$2	.35	\$1.9	4	\$]	1.94		\$0.98			
		.72 .15 .08 .36 .30 .10 .10	.6 .1 .0 .3 .3 .1 .1	6 5 6 4 0 0 0	-	.66 .15 .06 .34 .30 .10 .10		.70 .15 .03 .27 .23 .15 .10			
	\$4	.16	\$3.6	5	\$:	3.65	\$2.61 12,380 10.54¢				
	10,	960	12,34	0	12	,400					
	18.	98¢	14.79	¢	14	.72¢					


	General Area											
	Hopkins-Christian					Muhlenbe	erg-McLean		Ohio			
Type of Mining	Underg	round	2	Strip Underground Strip		Under	Underground St		Strip			
Productivity (tons per man-shift)	10			25	1	0		25		9		25
Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process	Н	S	Н	S	н	S	н	S	н	S	Н	S
Daily Production - tons (240 days per year)	6,216	7,990	6,252	8,038	6,149	7,905	6,144	7,899	6,363	8,182	6.468	8.317
Annual Production (thousands of tons)	1,492	1,918	1,501	1,929	1,476	1,897	1,475	1,896	1,527	1,964	1,552	1.996
Daily Plant Consumption - tons (365 days per year)	4,087	5,254	4,111	5,285	4,043	5,198	4,040	5,194	4,184	5,380	4,253	5,469
Life of Reserves (years) (as of January 1, 1949)	875	680	64	50	657	511	47	37	207	161	124	97
Plant Investment (thousands of dollars)	\$5,968	\$7,672	\$5,254	\$6,752	\$5,904	\$7,588	\$5,163	\$6,636	\$6,872	\$8.838	\$5.044	\$6.487
Items of Cost per ton: All Labor Vacation Payments Welfare Fund Total Labor	\$1.	60 04 30 94	\$( 	0.66 .02 .30 0.98	\$1 	.60 .04 .30	\$0. 	66 02 30	\$1.	78 05 .30	\$C	0.66 .02 .30
All Supplies Power Payroll Taxes Other Taxes, Insurance, Miscellaneous Depreciation Royalty or Depletion Engineering, Management, Administration		66 15 06 33 27 30 10		.70 .15 .03 .27 .23 .35 .10		.66 .15 .06 .33 .27 .30 .10	φ <b>υ</b>	70 15 03 27 23 35 10	φ2.	69 15 07 35 30 20 10	\$ O	.70 .15 .03 .26 .22 .35 .10
Net Production Cost per Ton	\$3.	81	\$2	2.81	\$3.	.81	\$2.	81	\$3.	99	\$2	2.79
Btu per pound of coal (as received)	11,9	90	11,	,920	12,1	20	12,1	30	11.7	10	11.	520
Cost per million Btu (cents)	15.8	9¢	11.	.79¢	15.7	'2¢	11.5	8¢	17.0	4¢	12.	11¢

, Ку 7 70021

.

+

# Estimates of Coal Production Costs (As of March 31, 1950)



Exhibit No. 38 Page 1 of 16

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries <u>General Areas of Coal and Water Availability</u> (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949)

General Area Designation Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Coal Bed Designations	Johnson-Ma H H & S Undergro Upper Elkhorn	wind No. 1
Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches)	4	7
Minimum """"""		54
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)		2
Minimum " " " "		0
Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet)	24	.5
Minimum " "	16	0
Rank of Coal (A)	Hva	.b
Proximate Analysis: (B)		-
Molsture	4.	7%
Volatile Matter	36.	7
Fixed Carbon	55.	6
	<u></u>	0
Sullur Dru og monsingd	⊥°. 17 77	2%
Btu, as received	10,10	
Botimated Reserventia Reserves (1 000 ters).	14,00	
Data and Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons):	106 27	c
Frindry Secondom	100,37	6
Motol	100,17 010 EE	0 7
Synthetia Liquid Evols Plant Consolty (C)	212,00	6
(thousands of bannals pan day)	<b>A</b> 7	39
Fatimated Mine Canital Cost (\$1 0001a)	±⊥ ¢7 818	\$10.050
Estimated Cost par ton of coal produced.	φι,010	ψ10,000
Available by stripping	None	None
Ralance from underground	\$5 11	\$5.11
Combined (weighted average) Cost	\$5.11	\$5.11
Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents)	18.614	18.674
Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic	<i>p</i>	
Liquid Fuel Final Products:		
Coal, cost to produce	\$1.82	\$2.34
Transportation to Process Plant	, 	
Total Cost per Barrel	\$1.82	\$2.34
		-

Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous.

 (B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
 (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar

C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

15 70021

÷

Page 2 of 16 Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) Pike General Area Designation H & S Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process H S Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Underground Fire Clay; Williamson; U. Elkhorn No. 3; U. Elkhorn No. 2; Coal Bed Designations U. Elkhorn No. 1; Lower Elkhorn; Bingham Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 73 24 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) 2 11 0 Minimum Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet) 450 Minimum 30 Rank of Coal (A) Hvab Proximate Analysis: (B) Moisture 3.1% Volatile Matter 34.9 57.7 Fixed Carbon Ash 4.3 1.0% Sulfur 14,090 Btu, as received Btu, moisture- and ash-free 15,220 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): 1,491,652 Primary 1,068,927 2,560,579 Secondary Total Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 504 392 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) \$6,345 \$ 8,160 Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced: None Available by stripping None Balance from underground \$4.76 \$4.76 Combined (weighted average) Cost \$4.76 \$4.76 Estimated Cost per Million Btu (cents) 16.89¢\_ 16.89¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: \$2.13 Coal, cost to produce \$1.66 Transportation to Process Plant <u>\$2.13</u> Total Cost per Barrel \$1.66 Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous. (B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by

Exhibit No. 38

standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
 (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar
 day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu
 per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

Ky

ŧ

.

Exhibit No. 38 Page 3 of 16

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) General Area Designation Floyd-Magoffin Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process H & S S H Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Underground Coal Bed Designations Hazard, U. Elkhorn No. 3, 2 and 1, Lower Elkhorn Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 54 30 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) 2 0 Minimum 400 Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet) Minimum 80 Rank of Coal (A) Hvab Proximate Analysis: (B) 3.9% Moisture Volatile Matter 37.1 Fixed Carbon 52.9 Ash 6.1 Sulfur 1.5% Btu, as received 13,430 Btu, moisture- and ash-free 14,920 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): 620,892 Primary Secondary 439,933 1,060,825 Total Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 199 155 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) \$ 6,660 \$ 8,560 Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced: Available by stripping None None Balance from underground \$4.66 \$4.66 Combined (weighted average) Cost \$4.66 \$4.66 Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 17.35¢ 17.35¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: Coal, cost to produce \$1.70 \$2.19 Transportation to Process Plant Total Cost per Barrel \$1.70 \$2.19

Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous.

(B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.

(C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit **plant**.

Ку 15

٠

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) Knott-Breathitt General Area Designation Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process Н H & S S Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Underground Coal Bed Designations Flag, Fire Clay, U. Elkhorn Nos. 3 and 1, L. Elkhorn Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 60 27 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) 2 0 Minimum Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet) 375 60 Minimum Rank of Coal (A) Hvab Proximate Analysis: (B) 3.7% Moisture Volatile Matter 36.6 54.8 Fixed Carbon Ash 4.9 Sulfur 1.0% Btu, as received 13,750 Btu, moisture- and ash-free 15,030 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): 330,407 Primary Secondary 381,655 Total <u>660,814</u>(D) Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 99 127 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) \$ 6,505 \$ 8,360 Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced: Available by stripping None None Balance from underground \$4.66 \$4.66 \$4.66 Combined (weighted average) Cost \$4.66 Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 16.95¢ 16.95¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: Coal, cost to produce \$1.66 \$2.14 Transportation to Process Plant

Exhibit No. 38 Page 4 of 16

Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous.

Total Cost per Barrel

(B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.

\$1.66

\$2.14

- (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.
- (D) Total primary and secondary coal reserves limited by definition to twice the primary reserves.

15 × 70021

Кy

Exhibit No. 38 Page 5 of 16

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries <u>General Areas of Coal and Water Availability</u> (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949)

General Area Designation Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Coal Bed Designations Flag	Perry- H H Unde , Hazard,	Breathitt I & S S Fground Fire Clay
Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches		63
Minimum """"		27
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)		2
Minimum """"		0
Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet)		280
Minimum "		40
Rank of Coal (A)		Hvab
Proximate Analysis: (B)		
Molsture		4.3%
Volatile Matter		36.3
Fixed Carbon		54.1
ASD		<u>5.3</u>
Sullur Btu og pocciucd	٦	U.1%
Btu, as received Btu, moistume, and ash free	<u>ل</u> ـ ۲	.J,430 1 020
Estimated Becommanle Reserves (1 000 tens).	T	.4,320
Drimeny	20	0 710
Secondary	20	
motal	50	<u>1,191</u>
Synthetic Lighting Fuels Plant Canacity (C)	50	1000 61
(thousands of barrels per day)	95	74
Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000"s)	6 630	\$ 8 525
Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced:	0,000	φ 0,020
Available by stripping	None	None
Balance from underground	\$4.66	\$4.66
Combined (weighted average) Cost	\$4.66	\$4.66
Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents)	i7.27¢	i7.27¢
Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic	,	
Liquid Fuel Final Products:		
Coal, cost to produce	\$1.69	\$2.18
Transportation to Process Plant	-	
Total Cost per Barrel	\$1.69	\$2,18

Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous.

- (B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
- (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

Ку

4

Exhibit No. 38 Page 6 of 16

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) General Area Designation Leslie-Harlan Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process Η H & S S Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Underground Hazard, Fire Clay Rider, Coal Bed Designations Fire Clay, Williamson Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 47 25 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) 3 0 Minimum Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet) 350 Minimum 100 Rank of Coal (A) Hvab Proximate Analysis: (B) 3.9% Moisture Volatile Matter 37.6 Fixed Carbon 54.1 Ash 4.4 0.7% Sulfur Btu, as received 13,680 Btu, moisture- and ash-free 14,920 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): Primary 194,498 159,181 Secondary 353,679 Total Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 68 53 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) \$6,535 \$8,405 Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced: Available by stripping None None Balance from underground \$4.66 \$4.66 \$4.66 \$4.66 Combined (weighted average) Cost Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 17.03¢ 17.03¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: Coal, cost to produce \$1.67 \$2.15 Transportation to Process Plant Total Cost per Barrel \$1.67 \$2.15

Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous.

(B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.

(C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

Кy

Exhibit No. 38 Page 7 of 16

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) General Area Designation Northern Letcher Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process Н H & S S Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Underground Coal Bed Designations Fire Clay, Whitesburg, U. Elkhorn No. 3 and No. 2, Lower Elkhorn Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 75 31 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) 4 Minimum 0 Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet) 400 80 Minimum Rank of Coal (A) Hvab Proximate Analysis: (B) 3.5% Moisture Volatile Matter 36.5 Fixed Carbon 56.0 4.0 Ash 0.9% Sulfur Btu, as received 13,970 2 Btu, moisture- and ash-free 15,110 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): 248,960 Primary Secondary 129,874 378.834 Total Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 74 58 \$6,400 \$8,230 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced: Available by stripping None None Balance from underground \$4.66 \$4.66 \$4.66 Combined (weighted average) Cost \$4.66 Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 16.68¢ 16.68¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: Coal, cost to produce \$1.63 \$2.10 Transportation to Process Plant \$1.63 Total Cost per Barrel \$2.10

Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous.
 (B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
 (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu

day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

Кy

15 70ð21

4

÷.,

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) General Area Designation Harlan-Letcher Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process H H & S S Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Underground Coal Bed Designations High Splint, Williamson, U. Elkhorn Nos. 3, 2, and 1, Harlan, L. Elkhorn Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 81 29 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) 5 0 Minimum 850 Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet) 100 Minimum Rank of Coal (A) Hvab Proximate Analysis: (B) 3.3% Moisture Volatile Matter 36.5 Fixed Carbon 56.0 Ash 4.2 0.7% Sulfur Btu, as received 13,980 Btu, moisture- and ash-free 15,110 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): 628,401 Primary Secondary 460,653 1,089,054 Total Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 213 166 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) \$6,3\$5 \$8,225 Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced: Available by stripping None None Balance from underground \$4.76 \$4.76 \$4.76 \$4.76 Combined (weighted average) Cost Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 17.02¢ 17.02¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: Coal, cost to produce \$1.67 \$2.14 Transportation to Process Plant Total Cost per Barrel \$1.67 \$2.14 Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous. (B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by

Exhibit No. 38 Page 8 of 16

standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
(C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

Кy

Page 9 of 16 Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) General Area Designation Bell Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process H H & S S Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Underground Coal Bed Designations Hignite, Fire Clay, Williamson, Harlan, Puckett Creek Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 55 27 Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) 4 0 Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet) 510 100 Rank of Coal (A) Hvab Proximate Analysis: (B) 2.8% Moisture ì Volatile Matter 37.3 54.9 Fixed Carbon 5.0 1.2% Btu, as received 13,800 Btu, moisture- and ash-free 14,970 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): 119,847 Secondary 101,775 221,622

Exhibit No. 38

Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C)		
(thousands of barrels per day)	43	33
Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's)	\$7,128	\$9,163
Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced:	• -	
Available by stripping	None	None
Balance from underground	\$4.71	\$4.71
Combined (weighted average) Cost	<u>\$4.71</u>	\$4.71
Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents)	17.07¢	17.07¢
Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic	•	·
Liquid Fuel Final Products:		
Coal, cost to produce	\$1.67	\$2.15
Transportation to Process Plant	-	-
Total Cost per Barrel	\$1.67	\$2.15

Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous. (B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis. (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

Ky 15

70021

Minimum

Minimum

Minimum

Ash Sulfur

Primary

Total

Exhibit No. 38 Page 10 of 16

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries

General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949)

General Area Designation Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process H Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Coal Bed Designations	Daviess H & S U & S No. 9	S
Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches)	53	
Minimum	<b>4</b> 6	
Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)	2	
Maximum Overhurden Thickness Underground (feet)	95	
	30	
Average Maximum Overburden Thickness Strip (feet)	65	
"Minimum " " " "	<b>4</b> 5	
Rank of Coal (A)	Hvcb	
Proximate Analysis: (B)		
Moisture	12.1%	
Volatile Matter	36.1	
Fixed Carbon	40.1	
Ash	<u>11.7</u>	
Sulfur	3.0%	
Btu, as recived	10,790	
Btu, moisture- and ash-free	14,160	
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons):	50 000	
Primary	52,690	
Secondary	23,811	
Total	76,567	
Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C)	10	0
(thousands of parrels per day)	12	40 E00
Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) \$7,4	57	\$3,530
Available by stripping	67	60 63
Relation by Surregard and S	20 20	ac.00 3 20
Combined (weighted suprage) Cost	76	23 70
Ratimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 17	424	17.564
Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic	τυψ	
Liquid Fuel Final Products:		
Coal. cost to produce \$1.	71	\$2.21
Transportation to Process Plant -	. –	-
Total Cost per Barrel \$1.	71	\$2.21
Note: (A) High-volatile C bituminous. (B) Representative analyses of face samples standard Bureau of Mines procedure; a	obtained by s-received	y basis.

(C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu

per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

15 ` 70021

Кy

1 a

Exhibit No. 38 Page 11 of 16

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries <u>General Areas of Coal and Water Availability</u> (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949)

General Area Designation Henderson Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process H H&S S. Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Underground Coal Bed Designations No. 14, No. 9 Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 57 42 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) 2 Minimum " 0 Maximum Overburden Thickness (feet) 310 50 Minimum Hvcb Rank of Coal (A) Proximate Analysis: (B) 10.7% Moisture Volatile Matter 34.7 Fixed Carbon 41.8 12.8 Ash Sulfur 3.4% Btu, as received 10,960 Btu, moisture- and ash-free 14,330 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): 229,933 Primary 250,141 Secondary Total 459,866(D) Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 70 55 \$7,344 \$9,441 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced: Available by stripping None None \$4.16 Balance from underground \$4.16 **Com**bined (weighted average) Cost \$4.16 \$4.16 Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 18.98¢ 18.98¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: Coal, cost to produce \$1.86 \$2.39 Transportation to Process Plant Total Cost per Barrel \$1.86 \$2.39

Note: (A) High-volatile C bituminous.

(B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.

(C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

(D) Total primary and secondary coal reserves limited by definition to twice the primary reserves.

15

Кy

Exhibit No. 38 Page 12 of 16

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries <u>General Areas of Coal and Water Availability</u> (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949)

General Area Designation Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) Coal Bed Designations	Uni H H& Underg No. 11, N	on S S round o. 9, No. 6
Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) Minimum """"" Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees)		66 45 3
Minimum """""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""	Uvoh	0 545 50
Proximate Analysis: (B)	HVab	~HVDD
Moisture Volatile Matter Fired Carbon	3	5.9% 7.3
Ash	1	0.0
Sullur Btu, as received	12, 14	340 660
Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): Primary	343.	296
Secondary Total	<u>256,</u> 599,	195 491
Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day)	103	80 ¢9 794
Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced:	<b>до,</b> 521	<b>90, 3</b> 04
Available by stripping Balance from underground Combined (weighted average) Cost	None <u>\$3.65</u> \$3.65	None <u>\$3.65</u> \$3.65
Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products:	14.79¢	İ4.79¢
Coal, cost to produce Transportation to Process Plant Total Cost per Barrel	\$1.45 	\$1.86 

- Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous or high-volatile B bituminous. (B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.
  - (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

.5 '0021

٦Y.

Page 13 of 16 Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) General Area Designation Webster Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process H & S S H Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) U & S No. 14, No. 12, No. 11, No.9 Coal Bed Designations Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 86  $\mathbf{46}$ Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) Minimum " " " 3 0 Maximum Overburden Thickness Underground (feet) 465 Minimum 50 Average Maximum Overburden Thickness Strip (feet) 90 Minimum 40 Rank of Coal (A) Hvab-Hvbb **Proximate Analysis: (B)** 6.1% Moisture Volatile Matter 36.6 Fixed Carbon 48.0 9.3 Ash 3.3% Sulfur 12,400 Btu, as received 14,650 Btu, moisture- and ash-free Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): 392,493 Primary 401,754 Secondary 784,986(D) Total Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 136 106 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000"s) \$6,489 \$8,348 Estimated Cost per toff of coal produced: \$2.61 \$2.61 Available by stripping Balance from underground 3.65 3.65 \$3.39(F) Combined (weighted average) Cost <u>\$3.44(F)</u> Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 13.67¢ 13.87¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: Coal, cost to produce \$1.34 \$1.75 Transportation to Process Plant \$1.34 Total Cost per Barrel Note: (A) High-volatile A bituminous or high volatile B bituminous. (B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis ... (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant. (D) Total primary and secondary coal reserves limited by definition to twice the primary reserves. (F) Based on weighted average Btu of strip and undergroundmined coal used in 1st plant, 12,400 for hydrogenation

and synthine.

Exhibit No. 38

Ку

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) General Area Designation Hopkins-Christian Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process H & S S H Type of Mining (Underground or Strip)" U & S No. 14, No. 12, No.11 Coal Bed Designations No. 9, No. 6 Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 79 30 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) Minimum 3 0 Maximum Overburden Thickness Underground (feet) 410 30 Minimum Average Maximum Overburden Thickness Strip (feet) 90 Minimum 20 Hvbb Rank of Coal (A) Proximate Analysis: (B) 8.5% Moisture Volatile Matter 37.2 45.6 Fixed Carbon 8.7 Ash 3.2% Sulfur 11,990 Btu, as received Btu, moisture- and ash-free 14,470 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): 887,681 Primary 513,335 Secondary Total 1,401,016 Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 235 183 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) \$5,254 \$6,752 Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced: \$2.81 Available by stripping \$2.81 Balance from underground None None Combined (weighted average) Cost \$2.81 \$2.81 Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 11.79¢ 11.79¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: Coal, cost to produce \$1.16 \$1.49 Transportation to Process Plant  $\frac{1}{1.16}$ Total Cost per Barrel \$1.49 Note: (A) High-volatile B bituminous.

Exhibit No. 38 Page 14 of 16

(B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.

(C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.

Ку

Exhibit No. 38 Page 15 of 16

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) General Area Designation Muhlenberg-McLean Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Process H & S Η S Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) U & S No. 12, No. 11, No. 9, No. 6 Coal Bed Designations Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 75 30 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) 3 0 Minimum Maximum Overburden Thickness Underground (feet) 410 Minimum 30 Average Maximum Overburden Thickness Strip (feet) 80 20 Minimum Hvbb Rank of Coal (A) **Proximate Analysis:** (B) 7.9% Moisture Volatile Matter 38.5 45.0 Fixed Carbon 8.6 Ash 3.7% Sulfur Btu, as received 12,120 Btu, moisture- and ash-free 14,510 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1,000 tons): 663,870 Primary Secondary 375,606 Total 1.039.476 Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 176 137 \$5,163 \$7,588 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced: Available by stripping \$2.81 \$2.81 3.81 Balance from underground None \$2.89(F) Combined (weighted average) Cost \$2.81 Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 11.58¢ 11.91¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: Coal, cost to produce \$1.13 \$1.50 Transportation to Process Plant \$1.50 Total Cost per Barrel \$1.13 Note: (A) High-volatile B bituminous.

(B) Representative analyses of face samples obtained by standard Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis.

- (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar day for coal synthine unit plant.
- (F) Based on weighted average Btu of strip and undergroundmined coal used for 1st plant, 12,130 for synthine.

15 70021

Kу

Exhibit No. 38 Page 16 of 16

Coal Characteristics and Cost Summaries General Areas of Coal and Water Availability (Costs as of March 31, 1950; Reserves as of January 1, 1949) Ohio General Area Designation S Hydrogenation (H) or Synthine (S) Frocess H & S Η Type of Mining (Underground or Strip) U & S No. 14, No. 11, No. 9 Coal Bed Designations 108 Maximum Thickness of Bed (inches) 31 Minimum Maximum Dip of Bed (degrees) 2 0 Minimum Maximum Overburden Thickness Underground (feet) 290 30 Minimum Average Maximum Overburden Thickness Strip (feet) 75 40 Minimum Rank of Coal (A) Hvcb-Hvbb Proximate Analysis: (B) 9.6% Moisture Volatile Matter 37.1 44.0 Fixed Carbon Ash 9.3 Sulfur 3.7% Btu, as received 11,640 Btu, moisture- and ash-free 14,350 Estimated Recoverable Reserves (1.000 tons): 435,503 Primary  $\frac{73,440}{508,943}$ Secondary Total Synthetic Liquid Fuels Plant Capacity (C) (thousands of barrels per day) 82 64 Estimated Mine Capital Cost (\$1,000's) \$5,044 \$6,487 Estimated Cost per ton of coal produced: Available by stripping \$2.79 \$2.79 Balance from underground None None Combined (weighted average) Cost \$2.79 \$2.79 Estimated Cost per million Btu (cents) 12.11¢ 12.11¢ Estimated Cost per Barrel of Synthetic Liquid Fuel Final Products: Coal, cost to produce \$1.19 \$1.53 Transportation to Process Plant \$1.19 \$1.53 Total Cost per Barrel Note: (A) High-volatile B bituminous or high-volatile C bituminous. (B) Average or representative analyses of mine samples obtained by standard U.S. Bureau of Mines procedure; as-received basis. (C) Based on total demand of 98 billion Btu per calendar day for hydrogenation unit plant and 126 billion Btu per calendar dáy for coal synthine unit plant.

15 70021

Кy

		Co To	nstruction C Provide 11.1	osts of Wa 5 Mgd <b>for</b>	ter Works Process U	se	То	Provide 1 and	Annual Co 1.15 Mgd 1.94 Mgd	sts for Process for Domestic	Use c Use	Unit Costs of Process Wat			
General Area and Source of Water	Water Use	Storage Reservoir	and 1.9 Pumping Station and Transmissio	4 Mgd for Storage Basin at Plant n Site	Domestic Filter Plant	Use Total	Taxes and Insurance at 1 Percent	Depre- ciation	Power for Pumping	Super- vision, Labor, Repair, Filtration etc. (A)	Total (Less Interest)	Per Mg (Less Interest)	Per Barrel of Products (Less Interest)	Additional Cost per Barrel of Products for each 1 percent on Investment	
Johnson-Magoffin															
Dewey Reservoir	Process Domestic	\$ 423,000 73,000	\$ 97,000 17,000	\$170,000 <u>30,000</u>	\$201,000 249,000	\$ 891,000 369,000	\$ 8,910 3,690	\$ 25,610 12,490	\$11,670 2,030	\$29,860 14,340	\$ 76,050 32,550	\$18.69	\$0.021	\$0.002	
	Total	\$ 496,000	\$ 114,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$1,260,000	\$12,600	\$ 38,100	\$13,700	\$44,200	\$108,600				
Pike															
Johns Creek Reservoir No. 24	Process Domestic	\$2,573,000 447,000	\$    72,000 12,000		\$201,000 249,000	\$2,846,000 708,000	\$28,460 7,080	\$ 74,090 20,910	\$ 3,660 640	\$29,860 14,340	\$136,070 42,970	33.43	0.037	0.008	
	Total	\$3,020,000	\$ 84,000	-	\$450,000	\$3,554,000	\$35,540	\$ 95,000	\$ 4,300	\$44,200	\$179,040				
Floyd-Magoffin															
Mud Creek Reservoir No. 22	Process Domestic	\$2,496,000 434,000	\$ 303,000 53,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000 249,000	\$3,170,000 766;000	\$31,700 7,660	\$ 82,440 22,360	\$ 9,710 1,690	\$29,860 14,340	\$153,710 <u>46,050</u>	37.77	0.042	0.009	
	Total	\$2,930,000	\$ 356,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$3,936,000	\$39,360	\$104,800	\$11,400	\$44,200	\$199,760				
Knott-Breathitt															
Caney Fork Reservoir No. 21	Process Domestic	\$5,666,000 984,000	\$ 713,000 124,000	\$170,000 <u>30,000</u>	\$201,000 249,000	\$6,750,000 1,387,000	\$67,500 13,870	\$173,180 	\$18,320 3,180	\$29,860 14,340	\$288,860 69,510	70.98	0.079	0.018	
	Total	\$6,650,000	\$ 837,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$8,137,000	\$81,370	\$211,300	\$21,500	\$44,200	\$358,370				
Perry-Breathitt															
Lotts Creek Reservoir No. 16	Process Domestic	\$3,459,000 601,000	\$ 127,000 22,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000 249,000	\$3,957,000 902,000	\$39,570 9,020	\$102,120 25,780	\$ 9,710 1,690	\$29,860 14,340	\$181,260 50,830	44,54	0.050	0.011	
	Total	\$4,060,000	\$ 149,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$4,859,000	\$48,590	\$127,900	\$11,400	\$44,200	\$232,090				
Leslie-Harlan															
Middle Fork Kentucky River Reservoir No. 14	Process Domestic Total	\$3,851,000 669,000 \$4,520,000	\$ 123,000 21,000 \$ 144,000		\$201,000 249,000 \$450,000	\$4,175,000 939,000 \$5,114,000	\$41,750 9,390 \$51,140	\$107,570 26,730 \$134,300	\$ 6,300 1,100 \$ 7,400	\$29,860 <u>14,340</u> \$44,200	\$185,480 51,560 \$237,040	45,58	0.051	0.011	

Ку 2 70021

.

+

.

# Summary of Estimated Water Costs for Unit Coal Synthine Plant in Kentucky



		Cc	Provide 11.15	sts of Wat Mgd for H	ter Works Process Us	se	То	Provide and	Annual ( 11.15 Mgc 1.94 Mgc	Costs 1 for Proces 1 for Domes	ss Use tic Use	Unit C	osts of Pro	cess Water
General Area and Source of Water	Water Use	Storage Reservoir	Pumping Station and Transmission	Mgd for I Storage Basin at Plant Site	Filter Plant	Jse Total	Taxes and Insurance at 1 Percent	Depre- ciation	Power for Pumping	Super- vision, Labor, Repair, Filtration etc. (A)	Total (Less Interest)	Per Mg (Less Interest)	Per Barrel of Products (Less Interest)	Additional Cost per Barrel of Products for each 1 percent on Investment
Northern Letcher														and i
Carr Fork Reservoir No. 18	Process Domestic	\$4,030,000 700,000	\$1,353,000 235,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000 249,000	\$5,754,000 1,214,000	\$57,540	\$150,680 34,220	\$ 63,050 10,950	\$29,860 14,340	\$301,130 71,650	\$73.99	\$0.083	\$0.016
	Total	\$4,730,000	\$1,588,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$6,968,000	\$69,680	\$184,900	\$ 74,000	\$44,200	\$372,780			
Harlan-Letcher														
Cranks Creek Reservoir No. 4	Process Domestic	\$3,877,000 673,000	\$ 371,000 65,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000 249,000	\$4,619,000 1,017,000	\$46,190 10,170	\$119,500 28,800	\$ 19,260 3,340	\$29,860 14,340	\$214,810 56,650	52,78	0.059	0.013
	Total	\$4,550,000	\$ 436,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$5,636,000	\$56,360	\$148,300	\$ 22,600	\$44,200	\$271,460			
Bell														
Brownies Creek Reservoir No. 3	Process Domestic	\$3,544,000 616,000	\$ 331,000 57,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000	\$4,246,000 952,000	\$42,460 9,520	\$111,070 27,330	\$ 33,480 5,820	\$29,860 <u>14,340</u>	\$216,870 57,010	53.29	0.059	0.012
	Total	\$4,160,000	\$ 388,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$5,198,000	\$51,980	\$138,400	\$ 39,300	\$44,200	\$273,880			
Daviess														
Green River	Process Domestic		\$ 124,000 21,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000 249,000	\$ 495,000 300,000	\$ 4,950 3,000	\$ 15,900 10,800	\$ 12,270 2,130	\$29,860 14,340	\$ 62,980 30,270	15.48	0.017	0.001
	Total	-	145,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$ 795,000	\$ 7,950	\$ 26,700	\$ 14,400	\$44,200	\$ 93,250			
Henderson														
Ohio River	Process Domestic		\$ 350,000 61,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000 249,000	\$ 721,000 340,000	\$ 7,210 3,400	\$ 21,780 11,820	\$ 16,870 2,930	\$29,860 14,340	\$ 75,720 32,490	18.61	0.021	0.002
	Total	-	\$ 411,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$1,061,000	\$10,610	\$ 33,600	\$ 19,800	\$44,200	\$108,210			
Union														
Ohio River	Process Domestic	-	\$ 257,000 <u>45,000</u>	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000	\$ 628,000 324,000	\$ 6,280 3,240	\$ 19,050 11,350	\$ 11,500 2,000	\$29,860 14,340	\$ 66,690 30,930	16.39	0.018	0.002
	Total	-	\$ 302,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$ 952,000	\$ 9,520	\$ 30,400	\$ 13,500	\$44,200	\$ 97,620			

.

.

Exhibit No. 39 Page 2 of 3

Summary of Estimated Water Costs for Unit Coal Synthine Plant in Kentucky



			Construction Costs of Water Works To Provide 11.15 Mgd for Process Use and 1.94 Mgd for Domestic Use							Use Use	Unit Costs of Process Water			
General Area and Source of Water	Water Use	Storage Reservoir	Pumping Station and Transmission	Storage Basin at Plant Site	Filter Plant	Total	Taxes and Insurance at 1 Percent	Depre- ciation	Power for Pumping	vision, Labor, Repair, Filtration etc. (A)	Total (Less Interest)	Per Mg (Less Interest	Per Barrel of Products (Less e )Interest)	Cost per Barrel of Products for each 1 percent on Investment
Webster														
Tradewater River	Process Domestic	\$2,471,000 <u>429,000</u>	\$ 389,000 68,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000 249,000	\$3,231,000 776,000	\$32,310 7,760	\$ 83,750 22,600	\$ 10,560 1,840	\$29,860 14,340	\$156,480 <u>46,540</u>	\$38,45	\$0.043	\$0.009
	Total	\$2,900,000	\$ 457,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$4,007,000	\$40,070	\$106,350	\$ 12,400	\$44,200	\$203,020			
Hopkins-Christian														
Lick Creek Reservoir No. 6	Process Domestic	\$5,172,000 898,000	\$1,223,000 212,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000 249,000	\$6,766,000 1,389,000	\$67,660 13,890	\$173,180 	\$ 18,660	\$29,860 14,340	\$289,360 69,590	71.10	0.079	0.019
	Total	\$6,070,000	\$1,435,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$8,155,000	\$81,550	\$211,300	\$ 21,900	\$44,200	\$358,950			
Muhlenberg-McLean														
Green River	Process Domestic		\$ 838,000 146,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000 249,000	\$1,209,000 425,000	\$12,090 4,250	\$ 34,040 13,960	\$ 17,040 2,960	\$29,860 14,340	\$ 93,030 35,510	22.86	0.025	0.003
	Total	-	\$ 984,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$1,634,000	\$16,340	\$ 48,000	\$ 20,000	\$44,200	\$128,540			
Ohio														
Green River	Process Domestic		\$ 527,000 91,000	\$170,000 30,000	\$201,000 249,000	\$ 898,000 370,000	\$ 8,980 3,700	\$ 26,120 12,580	\$ 14,570	\$29,860 14,340	\$ 79,530 33,150	19.54	0.022	0.002
	Total	-	\$ 618,000	\$200,000	\$450,000	\$1,268,000	\$12,680	\$ 38,700	\$ 17,100	\$44,200	\$112,680			

Note: (A) These items are considered constant for 10,000-barrel-per-day plants in all General Areas, and include the following:

	Chargeable to Process Water	Chargeable to Domestic Water	Tc
Supervision and Labor Materials and Repairs	\$17,040 4,260	\$2,960 740	\$20, 5,
per yr)	8,560	10,640	19,
Total	\$29,860	\$14,340	\$44,

\*

Exhibit No. 39 Page 3 of 3

# Summary of Estimated Water Costs for Unit Coal Synthine Plant in Kentucky

Total

,000,000

,200

,200





SF-1471 8-3-51

5

EXHIBIT NO. 40 Page 1 of 3



SCALE OF MILES

#### IDENTIFICATION OF GENERAL AREAS

No.	General Area
1	Johnson-Magoffin
2	Pike
3	Floyd-Magoffin
4	Knott-Breathitt





SF-1472 8-3-51



SF-1473A 12-18-51

P

+

.

.

.

#### Principal Electric Utility Operating Companies and Generating Stations

#### Key to Map

			Generat	ing Static	na
FPC No.		 No .	Name	Туре	Installed Capacity (Kilowatta)
<u></u>					
Kentucl	ky:				
064	Kentucky Electric Power Co.	1	Nortonville	Steam	5,000
625	Tennessee Valley Authority	2	Bowling Green		7,250
091	Kentucky Utilities Co.	4	Dix Dam	Hydro	28,500
091		5	Earlington	Steam	6,000
091		6	Graham		6,500
091		7	Pineville		30,000
109	Kentucky & West Virginia Power Co., Inc.	8	Hazard		19,500
091	Kentucky Utilities Co.	.9	Lexington		9,000
127	Louisville Gas & Electric Co.	10	Canal	,,	(12,500(250) (50,000
127		11	Ohio <b>Falls</b>	Hydro	80,320
127	17 U U U U	12	Waterside	Steam	92,500
595	Municipal Plant	13	Owensboro		15,000
625	Tennessee Valley Authority	14	Kentucky Dam	Hydro	160,000
091	Kentucky Utilities Co.	16	Maysville	Steam	1,750
625	Tennessee Valley Authority	18	Hopkinsville	11	4,300
091	Kentucky Utilities Co.	19	Lock No. 7	Hydro	4,040
285	Stearns Coal & Lumber Co., Inc.	21	Stearns	Steam	3,500
005	Berea College Heat & Power Plant	22	Berea		1,500
523	Municipal Plant	23	Corbin	11	2,600
547		24	Henderson	T9	6,375
607	11 11	25	Paris	Int.Comb.	2,426
127	Louisville Gas & Electric Co.	26	Paddy's Run	Steam	110,000
091	Kentucky Utilities Co.	28	Tyrone	f7	50,000
091	i II II	29	Green River	n	60,000
633	U.S. Army Corps of Engineers	30	Wolf Creek	Hydro	135,000
130	Louisville Transmission Corp. (Ky)	-	-	-	-
225	Consolidation Coal Co. Inc.	-	-	-	-
977	Warren Rural Elec. Coop. Corp.	-	-	-	-
020	Community Public Service Co.	-	-	-	-
West Vi	.rginia:				
012	Appalachian Electric Power Co.	1	Cabin Creek	Steam	281,740
012	- 11 11 11	2	Kenova	11	40,000
012	41 PT TO 50	3	Logan	н	90,400
079	Kanawha Valley Power Co.	6	Marmet	Hydro	14,400
079	11 11 11	7	Winfield	f1	14,760
012	Appalachian Electric Power Co.	20	Philip Sporn	Steam	250,000
110	The Ohio Power Co.	-	-	-	-
Ohio:					
141	The Ohio Power Co.	24	New Boston	Steam	9,500
Virgini	A :				
116	Old Dominion Power Co.	8	Pocket	Steam	12,500
Tilinoi	a.				
032	Central Illinois Public Service Co.	9	Muddy	Steam	25,000

15 70021

Кy

٠

Ĵ,

×.

### Population Labor Force, and Employment in Kentucky in 1940 and Preliminary 1950 Census

Area	1950 Census Preliminary Count	Census Population (1940)				Labor	Numbers Employed (1940)							
(Square Miles)		Total	Urban	Rural Nonfarm	Rural Farm	Force (1940)	Total	Agriculture	Mining	Construction	Manufacturing	Service		
		100.0%	10.6%	45.3%	44.1%		100.0%	28.6%	40 . 1%	2.1%	4.3%	24 9%		
		100.0%	30.5%	28.9%	40.6%		100.0%	36.3%	13.1%	3.8%	10.0%	36 8%		
		100.0%	29.8%	26.0%	44.2%		100.0%	36.5%	7.1%	4.2%	11.9%	40.3%		
	14.8% 9.0 76.2	15.2% 9.3 75.5	5.4% 9.5 85.1	26.6% 10.3 63.1	15.2% 8.5 76.3	12.2% 9.3 78.5	11.5% 8.7 79.8	9.0% 8.7 82.3	64.3% 16.0 19.7	5.7% 7.9 86.4	4.1% 7.3 88.6	7.1% 8.0 84.9		
	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%		

Percentages showing Composition of Population and Numbers Employed in Coal Counties and in Entire State: Eastern Coal Counties -Total Population Total Employed

Western Coal Counties -Total Population Total Employed

Entire State -Total Population Total Employed

Percentages of Classified Populations in Coal Counties in Relation to Entire State: Eastern Coal Counties Western Coal Counties Other Counties

Entire State

. Ky

.

4

\*



.

.

4

-

KY.

	Popula	and Preli	minary 1950	Census	In Kencuc	ky 111 154	-					and the second	
	Area	1950 Census	Population (1940)			Labor	Numbers Employed (1940)						
	(Square Miles)	Preliminary Count	Total	Urban	Rural Nonfarm	Rural Farm	Force (1940)	Total	Agriculture	Mining	Construction	Manufacturing	Service
Coal Counties:													
Eastern - Bell Breathitt Floyd Harlan	370 486 402 469 264	47,535 19,924 53,473 71,753 23,823	43,812 23,946 52,986 75,275 25,771	15,659 - 9,271	20,374 3,470 29,854 55,201 11,705	7,779 20,476 23,132 10,803 14,066	12,527 6,827 14,238 22,813 7,832	9,594 4,887 11,110 19,809 5,694	684 3,435 3,037 1,044 2,395	4,001 326 5,096 12,621 1,219	363 128 210 317 150	897 83 171 780 137	3,649 915 2,596 5,047 1,793
Johnson Knott Leslie Letcher Magoffin Perry Pike	356 412 339 303 343 786	20,336 15,520 39,497 13,829 46,439 81,186	20,007 14,981 40,592 17,490 47,828 71,122	- 9,428 7,397 4,185	4,680 1,367 15,780 3,185 21,984 29,003	15,327 13,614 15,384 14,305 18,447 37,934	5,204 3,877 10,815 5,001 13,137 19,438	3,701 2,537 8,797 3,878 10,686 16,425	1,778 1,876 2,019 3,031 2,404 6,132	963 77 4,415 190 4,828 5,177	70 47 144 56 175 363	229 95 426 89 539 698	661 442 1,793 512 2,740 4,055
Total Eastern Coal Counties	4,530	433,315	433,810	45,940	196,603	191,267	121,709	97,118	27,835	38,913	2,023	4,144	24,203
Western - Christian Daviess Henderson Hopkins McLean Muhlenberg Ohio Union Webster	726 466 440 555 257 482 596 343 339	42,378 57,680 30,278 38,329 10,012 32,216 20,718 14,860 15,506	36,129 52,335 27,020 37,789 11,446 37,554 24,421 17,411 19,198	11,724 30,245 13,160 13,627 4,199 3,079 4,397	6,997 5,391 3,982 11,778 4,488 19,510 8,767 7,511 7,682	17,408 16,699 9,878 12,384 6,958 13,845 15,654 6,821 7,119	13,234 20,399 10,041 13,042 3,803 12,074 8,022 5,800 6,474	11,268 17,546 8,215 10,025 3,012 8,471 5,974 4,474 4,967	4,631 4,459 2,904 2,771 1,824 2,730 3,718 1,863 1,943	254 801 332 2,738 130 2,781 573 770 1,304	377 1,066 292 349 113 235 156 132 108	1,080 3,766 1,223 390 267 265 169 112 126	4,926 7,454 3,464 3,777 678 2,460 1,358 1,597 1,486
Total Western Coal Counties	4,204	261,977	263,303	80,431	76,106	106,766	92,889	73,952	26,843	9,683	2,828	7,398	27,200
Total All Coal Counties	8,734	695,292	697,113	126,371	272,709	298,033	214,598	171,070	54,678	48,596	4,851	11,542	51,403
Other Counties	31,375	2,226,416	2,148,514	722,956	465,692	959,866	784,102	676,493	254,468	11,956	30,756	89,262	290,051
Total State	40,109	2,921,708	2,845,627	849,327	738,401	1,257,899	998,700	847,563	309,146	60,552.	35,607	100,804	341,454

Ку 10 70021 Exhibit No. 42 Page 1 of 2

# Tabon Force and Employment in Kentucky in 1940

. .



## Manufacturing Workers Covered by Old-age and Survivors Insurance, by Industry Groups

•

ź

,

.

•

ĸ

кy

Industry Group Mid-March 1948	Number of Employes	Percent of Total
Food and Kindred Products	23.395	16.6%
Tobacco Manufactures	10,904	7.8
Textile Mill Products	4.526	3.2
Apparel, Fabric Products, etc.	14,123	10.1
Lumber and Wood Products	13 239	9.4
Funniture and Fixtures	8 512	61
Panan and Allied Products	1 083	9.1
Printing Dublighing etc	6,007	л с л с
Chemicals and Allied Products	5 141	4.0
Chemicals and Alled Frouders	1 <u>1 000</u>	1 3
Products of retroleum and toal	1,000	1.0
Rubber Products	41 7 707	0 7
Leather and Leather Products	5,505	2.3
Stone, Clay and Glass Products	4,214	5.0
Primary Metal Industries:	E 480	
Blast Furnace, Steel Works, etc.	5,478	3.9
Iron and Steel Foundries	529	.4
Rolling, etc., nonferrous metals	3,694	2.6
Nonferrous Foundries	94	.1
Misc. Primary Metal Industries	242	2_
Total Primary Metal Industries	10,037	7.2%
Fabricated Metal Products:		
Cutlery, Hand Tools, Hardware	87	.1%
Heaters, Plumbers' Supplies, etc.	5.799	4.1
Fabricated Structural Metal Products	2.347	1.7
Metal Stamping, Coating Engraving	640	.5
Fabricated Wire Products	293	.2
Miscellaneous Fabricated Metal Products	336	.2
Total Fabricated Metal Products	9,502	6.8%
Machinery (except electrical)	13,007	9.2%
Electrical Machinery, etc.	4 , 750	3.4
Transportation Equipment:	2	
Motor Vehicles and Equipment	2,254	1.6%
Total Transportation Equipment	2,254	1.6%
Instruments, etc.	1.076	.8%
Miscellaneous Manufacturing Industries	2,195	າ ໍ້ ຄັ້
Unaccounted-for and Added to balance total	<u> </u>	<u>.8</u>
Total Manufacturing	140,421	100.0%



Number of New Coal Mine Employes Necessary to Produce Fuel Requirement of a Unit Plant after Diversion of a Portion of Present Production Capacity in an Average General Area - EASTERN KENTUCKY

	Coal Production (Tons)	Number of Working Days	Produc- tivity per Man-day (Tons)	Number of Men Working Daily
Before Introduction of Unit Plant (1948)				
Total 11 Counties	53,966,920	198	5.21	52,394
At present conditions	5,996,324	198	5.21	5,822
working days per year	7,279,829	240	5.21	5,822
days over present	1,283,505			
After Introduction of Coal Hydrogenation Unit Plant in an Average General Area				
Fuel Requirement of Unit Plant	1,298,838			
capacity 240-day basis	1,283,505			
present production	1,199,265			
of associated mine	0			
After Introduction of Coal Synthine Unit Plant in an Average General Area				
Fuel Requirement of Unit Plant	1,669,935			
capacity, 240-day basis	1,283,505			
present production	1,199,265			
of associated mine	0			

4

٨

•

Ку

Ż

Т

\$

x

Number of New Coal Mine Employes Necessary to Produce Fuel Requirement of a Unit Plant after Diversion of a Portion of Present Production Capacity in an Average General Area - MESTERN KENTUCKY

	Coal Production (Tons)	Number of Working Days	Produc- tivity per Man-day (Tons)	Number of Men Working Daily
Before Introduction of Unit Plant (1948)				
Total 9 Counties	22,025,231	181	12.09	10,041
At present conditions	3,146,462	181	12.09	1,434
working days per year	4,160,894	240	12.09	1,434
days over present	1,014,432			
After Introduction of Coal Hydrogenation Unit Plant in an Average General Area				
Fuel Requirement of Unit Plant	1,526,024			
Less Increase in present capacity, 240-day basis	1,014,432			
present production	629,292			
of associated mine	0			
After Introduction of Coal Synthine Unit Plant in an Average General Area				
Fuel Requirement of Unit	1 962 031			
Less Increase in present	1 014 432			
Less Diversion of 20% of	620 202			
Balance, production required	319 307			
Number of new operational	510,507	240	16 44	81
Vacations, Illness, etc. 10%		6 IV	TASET	8
Administrative Employes 5%				4
Required				93

4

Кy

7

70021

Ţ












692 12-14-50





SF-420 1-15-51







7-11-51





9 .2-50



-460 8-2-50



0 Ň



SF-1315 7-11-51



SF-1344 7-9-51











SF-1347



SF-1348 7-9-5



SF-1350 7-9-51















SF-1355 5









## Initial Capital Investment in Process Plant by General Areas of Coal and Water Availability 10,000-barrel-per-day Hydrogenation Plants in Kentucky (As of March 31, 1950)

		Easte	rn Kentuck;	y General Ar	eas of Coal	Western Kentucky General Areas of Coal and Water Availability										
Item	Johnson- Magoffin	Pike	Floyd- Magoffin	Knott- Breathitt	Perry- Breathitt	Leslie- Harlan	Northern Letcher	Harlan- Letcher	Bell	Daviess	Henderson	Union	Webster	Hopkins- Christian	Muhlenberg- McLean	Ohio
Plant Construction Cost (A) Interest during Construction (A)	\$ 91,096 3,416	\$ 91,096 3,416	\$ 91,096 3,416	\$ 91,096 3,416	\$ 91,096 3,416	\$ 91,096 3,416	\$ 91,096 3,416	\$ 91,096 3,416	\$ 91,096 3,416	\$ 91,096 3,416	\$ 91,096 3,416					
Depreciable Investment (A)	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94 512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94,512	\$ 94 512
Operating Capital (A)	4,961	4,841	4,882	4,890	4,884	4,868	4,865	4,872	4,879	4,865	4,983	4,664	4,606	4,498	4,422	4,457
Total Capital Investment (A)	\$ 99,473	\$ 99,353	\$ 99,394	\$ 99,402	\$ 99,396	\$ 99,380	\$ 99,377	\$ 99,384	\$ 99,391	\$ 99,377	\$ 99,495	\$ 99,176	\$ 99,118	\$ 99,010	\$ 98,934	\$ 98,969
1 Percent Return on Above Investment: Per Annum Per Calendar Day Per Barrel of Products	\$994,730 2,725 0.273	\$993,530 2,722 0.272	\$993,940 2,723 0.272	\$994,020 2,723 0.272	\$993,960 2,723 0.272	\$993,800 2,723 0.272	\$993,770 2,723 0.272	\$993,840 2,723 0.272	\$993,910 2,723 0.272	\$993,770 2,723 0.272	\$994,950 2,726 0.273	\$991,760 2,717 0.272	\$991,180 2,716 0.272	\$990,100 2,713 0.271	\$989,340 2,711 0.271	\$989,690 2,711 0.271

Note: (A) In thousands of dollars.

Кy 10 70021

### Exhibit No. 75



Estimated Plant Construction Cost Required for a 10,000-barrel-per-da at Rock Springs,	and Capital j y Hydrogenatic Wyoming,	Investment on Unit Plant
(Based on Estimates by U.S.	Bureau of Min	
Subdivisions of Total Plant	Estimated Capital 1 (As of First 6	l Initial Investment Quarter of 1948)
Gas Production Section (including recovery and compression): Low-temperature Off-gas Separation Hydrocarbon Steam Cracking Coal Gasification Oxygen Plant Hydrogen Purification and Compression	\$ 1,922,000 2,389,000 3,066,000 3,673,000 7,200,000	
Total Gas Production		\$18,250,000
Hydrogenation Section (including product distillation and separation): Coal Preparation Paste Preparation Liquid Phase Hydrogenation Delayed Coking Vapor Phase Hydrogenation Product Distillation Phenols Recovery	\$ 2,327,000 930,000 14,967,000 2,122,000 8,400,000 3,017,000 668,000	
Total Hydrogenation		\$32 <b>,</b> 431,000
General and Auxiliary Plants Section: Tankage Power Plant Plant Utilities General Plant Facilities	\$ 1,670,000 12,083,000 8,573,000 7,967,000	
Plants		30,293,000
Total Plant Construction Cost		\$80,974,000
Interest during Construction		3,037,000
Depreciable Investment		\$84,011,000
Operating Capital		4,608,000
Total Investment entitled to Return		\$88,619,000

70021

4

Кy

٠

\*

.

.

+

.

		East	tern Kentuck	v General Ar	eas of Coal	and Water Av	Western Kentucky General Areas of Coal and Water Availability										
	Johnson-		Floyd-	Knott-	Perry-	Leslie-	Northern	Harlan-	Bell	Daviess	Henderson	Union	Webster	Hopkins- Christian	Muhlenberg- McLean	Ohio	
	Magoffin	Pike	Magorrin	Breathitt	Breathitt	narian	Tercuer	Letener	Dell	Daviesb	menderben						
Costs per Calendar Day																	
Coal: Mine Investment (\$1,000's) Daily Plant Consumption (Tons) Cost per Ton	\$    7,818 3,569 \$5.11	\$ 6,345 3,478 \$4.76	\$ 6,660 3,649 \$4.66	\$ 6,505 3,564 \$4.66	\$ 6,630 3,632 \$4.66	\$ 6,535 3,582 \$4.66	\$ 6,400 3,508 \$4.66	\$ 6,395 3,505 \$4.76	\$ 7,128 3,551 \$4.71	\$ 7,327 4,541 \$3.76	\$ 7,344 4,471 \$4.16	\$ 6,521 3,971 \$3.65	\$ 6,125 3,954 \$3.39	\$ 5,254 4,111 \$2.81	\$ 5,163 4,040 \$2.81	\$ 5,044 4,253 \$2.79	
Daily Cost excluding return Daily Return on Investment @ 4%	\$18,238 857	\$16,555 695	\$17,004 730	\$16,608	\$16,925	\$16,692	\$ 16,347 701	\$16,684	\$16,725	\$17,074 803	\$18,599 805	\$14,494 715	\$13,404 <u>671</u>	\$11,552 576	\$11,352 566	\$11,866 553	
Daily Cost including Return	\$19,095	\$17,250	\$17,734	\$17,321	\$17,652	\$17,408	\$ 17,048	\$17,385	\$17,506	\$17,877	\$19,404	\$15,209	\$14,075	\$12,128	\$11,918	\$12,419	
Water: Water Investment (\$1,000's) Annual Cost	\$ 891 76,050	\$ 2,846 136,070	\$ 3,170 153,710	\$ 6,750 288,860	\$ 3,957 181,260	\$ 4,175 185,480	\$ 5,754 301,130	\$ 4,619 214,810	\$ 4,246 216,870	\$ 495 62,980	\$ 721 75,720	\$ 628 66,690	\$ 3,231 156,480	\$ 6,766 289,360	\$ 1,209 93,030	\$ 898 79 <b>,</b> 530	
Daily Cost excluding return Daily Return on Investment @ 5%	\$ 208 122	\$ \$373 <u>390</u>	\$421 434	791 925	497 542	508 572	825 788	589 633	594 582	173 68	207 99	183 86	429 443	793 927	255 166	218 123	
Daily Cost including Return Catalysts	\$ 330 1,293	\$763 1,293	\$855 1,293	\$1,716 1,293	\$1,039 1,293	\$1,080 1,293	\$1,613 1,293	\$1,222 1,293	\$1,176 1,293	\$241 	\$306 1,293	\$269 1,293	\$872 1,293	\$1,720 1,293	\$421 1,293	\$341 1,293	
Total Raw Material	\$20,718	\$19,306	\$19,882	\$20,330	\$19,984	\$19,781	\$19,954	\$19,900	\$19,975	\$19,411	\$21,003	\$16,771	\$16,240	\$15,141	\$13,632	\$14,053	
Total Direct and Indirect Costs, excluding Raw Material (A)	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	\$18,865	
Operating Capital																	
Cost of 30 day's Coal Supply at Rat Capacity Operation	\$572,850	\$517,500	\$532,020	\$519,630	\$529,560	\$522,240	\$511,440	\$521,550	\$525,180	\$536,310	\$582,120	\$456,270	\$422,250	\$363,840	\$357,540	\$372,570	
for one-half year operation at average 25 percent capacity	945,259	880,836	907,116	927,556	911,770	902,508	910,401	907,938	911,359	885,627	958,262	765,177	740,950	690,808	621,960	641,168	
All other operating costs for one- half year (except fixed costs)	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	3,442,863	
Total	\$4,960,972	\$4,841,199	\$4,881,999	\$4,890,049	\$4,884,193	\$4,867,611	\$4,864,704	\$4,872,351	\$4,879,402	\$4,864,800	\$4,983,245	\$4,664,310	\$4,606,063	\$4,497,511	\$4,422,363	\$4,456,601	
Note: (A) From Contractor's Estimat Total Direct and Indire Less Direct Materials Less Make-up Water	te of Process ect Costs (Coal and Cat	sing Costs: talysts)	\$38,604 19,531 208														
Balance, Direct and Inc excluding Raw Materia	direct Costs al		\$18,865														

2 70021

Ky

r

.

#### Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Operating Costs for a Typical Hydrogenation Unit Plant in Continental United States

Direct Labor: Direct labor 1 man per shift per \$1,000,000 of plant cost erected (cost as of first quarter 1948) (A) (B) Supervisory personnel 10 percent of direct labor personnel (B) Total labor personnel 4.5 times personnel per shift (B) Direct labor wage rate (at Rock Springs, Wyo., first quarter 1948) average, all classifications, \$1.75 per hour (A) Cost of supervision 15 percent of labor cost (A) Plant Maintenance Labor and Supervision: Total annual cost of maintenance labor and supervision 2 percent of plant cost erected (cost as of first quarter 1948) (A) Maintenance labor personnel 1.18 times direct labor personnel (B) Supervisory personnel 10 percent of maintenance labor personnel (B) Total maintenance labor personnel 4.5 times average personnel per shift (B) Maintenance labor wage rate (at Rock Springs, Wyo., first quarter 1948) - average, all classifications, \$1.68 per hour (B) Cost of supervision 15 percent of labor cost (A) Plant Maintenance Materials: Per year, 1 percent of plant cost erected (A) Payroll Overhead: 12-1/2 percent of direct labor and supervision and maintenance labor and supervision (A) **Operating Supplies:** 20 percent of maintenance labor, supervision, and materials (A) 1 --

.

6

Ky

4

Exhibit No. 78 Page 2 of 3

Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Operating Costs for a Typical Hydrogenation Unit Plant in Continental United States

Total Indirect Costs (general administrative, office overhead, and indirect operating costs): 50 percent of direct labor and supervision, plant maintenance labor, supervision, and materials, and operating supplies (A) Indirect Labor: Total indirect labor personnel (wage earners), as estimated in detail by individual functions (B) - actually amounting to 11-1/2 percent of total wage earners (including indirect labor) Indirect labor wage rate, (at Rock Springs, Wyo., first quarter 1948) - average, all classifications, \$1.58 per hour (B) Total daily cost of indirect labor, 1/365 of annual cost, at 2,080 hours per year, per man (C) Cost of supervision, none (supervision provided by salaried personnel) (C) Indirect Salaried Personnel: Total indirect salaried personnel, as estimated in detail by individual functions (B) Average salary \$3,600 per year (B) Other Indirect Costs: Balance remaining after deducting from total indirect costs (as above) the sum of payments to indirect labor and indirect salaried personnel (also as above) Local, County, and State Taxes: Per year, 1 percent (A) of depreciable investment (plant cost erected, plus interest during construction) Depreciation: 15-year, straight line; per year, 6-2/3 percent (A) of depreciable investment

70021

6

Кy

4

٠

.

ì

Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Operating Costs for a Typical Hydrogenation Unit Plant in Continental United States

References:

(A) R.I. 4564, U.S. Bureau of Mines, August 1949: "Estimated Plant and Operating Costs for Producing Gasoline by Coal Hydrogenation."

 (B) Memorandum, U.S. Bureau of Mines Synthetic Oil Plant, Louisiana, Mo., February 3, 1950:
 "30,000-barrel-per-day Coal Hydrogenation Plant - Labor Classification and Hourly Rates" (Transmitted to F.B. & D., Inc. by Corps. of Engineers, February 17,

1950)
(C) Memorandum, U.S. Bureau of Mines Synthetic Oil Plant,
Louisiana, Mo., March 8, 1950:

"Fischer-Tropsch Commercial Liquid Synthetic Fuel Plant - 10,000-barrels-per-day Estimate."

Ky

4

Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Operating Costs for Hydrogenation Unit Plants in Kentucky as of March 31, 1950

Direct Materials:

Coal, from section of report entitled "Coal"; for example, 3,569 tons at \$5.11 per ton in General Area No. 1, Johnson-Magoffin

Catalysts and chemicals as estimated by Bureau of Mines.

Direct Labor:

Wage earners, daily cost estimated by Bureau of Mines multiplied by ratio of \$1.64 over \$1.70. \$1.64 represents estimated average straight-time hourly wage rate payable to wage earners (exclusive of supervisors) in synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky as developed in the section of this report entitled "Labor". \$1.70 represents the weighted average hourly wage rate of wage earners (exclusive of supervisors) as used in the Bureau of Mines estimate of operating costs in a typical coal hydrogenation unit plant.

Supervisors, 15 percent of daily cost of wage earners

Plant Maintenance Labor and Supervision:

Wage earners, daily cost estimated by Bureau of Mines multiplied by ratio of \$1.64 over \$1.70, as developed under direct labor.

Supervisors, 15 percent of daily cost of wage earners.

Plant Maintenance Materials: Per year, 1 percent of plant construction cost.

Payroll Overhead:

12-1/2 percent of direct labor and supervision and maintenance labor and supervision.

Operating Supplies: 20 percent of maintenance labor, supervision, and materials.

Total Indirect Costs (general administrative, office overhead, and indirect operating costs): 50 percent of direct labor and supervision, plant maintenance labor, supervision, and materials, and operating supplies.

Indirect Labor: Daily cost estimated by Bureau of Mines multiplied by ratio of \$1.64 over \$1.70 as developed under direct labor.

4

Ky

Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Operating Costs for Hydrogenation Unit Plants in Kentucky as of March\_31, 1950

Indirect Salaried Personnel: As estimated by Bureau of Mines.

Other Indirect Costs:

Balance remaining after deducting from total indirect costs (as above) the sum of payments to indirect labor and indirect salaried personnel (also as above).

Local, County, and State Taxes: Per year, 1 percent of depreciable investment (plant construction cost plus interest during construction).

Depreciation:

15-year, straight line; per year, 6-2/3 percent of depreciable investment.

Кy

 $\overline{4}$ 

# Initial Capital Investment in Process Plant by General Areas of Coal and Water Availability 10,000-barrel-per-day Coal Synthine Plants in Kentucky (As of March 31, 1950)

		Easte	rn Kentuck	y General A	reas of Coa	1 and Wate	Western Kentucky General Areas of Coal and Water Availability									
Item	Johnson- Magoffin	Pike	Floyd- Magoffin	Knott- Breathitt	Perry- Breathitt	Leslie- Harlan	Northern Letcher	Harlan- Letcher	Bell	Daviess	Henderson	Union	Webster	Hopkins- Christian	Muhlenberg- McLean	Ohio
Plant Construction Cost (A) Interest during Construction (A)	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455	\$ 81,805 2,455
Depreciable Investment (A)	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260	\$ 84,260
Operating Capital (A)	5,173	5,014	5,065	5,064	5,066	5,044	5,033	5,048	5,057	5,065	5,202	4,793	4,730	4,559	4,512	4,525
Total Capital Investment (A)	\$ 89,433	\$ 89,274	\$ 89,325	\$ 89,324	\$ 89,326	\$ 89,304	\$ 89,293	\$ 89,308	\$ 89,317	\$ 89,325	\$ 89,462	\$ 89,053	\$ 88,990	\$ 88,819	\$ 88,772	\$ 88,785
l Percent Return on above Investment: Per Annum Per Calendar Day	\$8.94,330 2,450	\$892,740 2.446	\$893,250 2,447	\$893,240 2,447	\$893,260 2,447	\$893,040 2,447	\$892,930 2,446	\$893,080 2,447	\$893,170 2,447	\$893,250 2,447	\$894,620 2,451	\$890,530 2,440	\$889,900 2,438	\$888,190 2, <b>4</b> 33	\$887,720 2,432	\$887,850 2,432
Per Barrel of Products	0.245	0.245	0.245	0.245	0.245	0.245	0.245	0.245	0.245	0 245	0.245	0.244	0.244	0.243	0.243	0.243

Note: (A) In thousands of dollars

Ky 4

.



Estimated Coal Synthine Unit Plant Construction Costs and Required Total Initial Investment Plant near Caseyville, Ky., using W. Kentucky Bituminous Coal (Based on Preliminary Estimates by U.S. Bureau of Mines) 10.000-barrel-per-day Plant Subdivisions of Total Plant Using Coal (As of March 1, 1950) Synthesis Gas Production Section: Coal Preparation \$ 2,995,000 Gas Generation 8,330,000 Gas Purification 3,780,000 Oxygen Production and Compression 21,700,000 Total Synthesis Gas Production Section \$36,805,000 Synthesis and Other Processing Section: \$11,100,000 Synthesis Catalyst Preparation and Coolant Oil Clean-up 250,000 Distillation and Gas Recovery 7,350,000 Polymerization 875,000 Catalytic Reforming and Cracking 1,365,000 1,000,000 Waste Recovery and Disposal Total Synthesis and Other \$21,940,000 Processing General and Auxiliary Plants Section: \$ 2,100,000 Tankage 3,570,000 Power Plant Plant Utilities 9,660,000 Plant Facilities 7,730,000 Total General and Auxiliary Plants \$23,060,000 Total Plant Construction Cost \$81,805,000 Interest during Construction 2,455,000 Depreciable Investment \$84,260,000 Operating Capital 4,000,000 Total Investment entitled to Return \$88,260,000

10 70021

\$

Кy

â

.

### Estimation of Operating Capital Coal Synthine Unit Plants in Kentucky (As of March 31, 1950)

	Eastern Kentucky General Areas of Coal and Water Availability													Western Kentucky General Areas of Coal and Water Availability											
	N	Johnson- Magoffin	P	ike	Floyd- Magoffin	Knott- Breathitt	Perry- Breathitt	Leslie- Harlan	Northern Letcher	Harlan	r	Bell		Daviess	Henderson	Union		Webster	Hopkins- 1 Christian	Muhlenberg McLean		Ohio			
Costs per Calendar Day																									
Mine Investment (\$1,000's) Daily Plant Consumption, Tons Cost per Ton	\$ \$	10,050 4,588 5.11	\$ \$	8,160 \$ 4,471 4.76 \$	8,560 4 4,691 4.66	8,360 4,582 4.66	\$ 8,525 4,670 \$ 4.66	8,405 4,605 4.66	\$ 8,230 4,510 \$ 4.66	\$ 8,2 4,5 \$ 4.	225 \$ 506 76 \$	9,163 4,565 4.71	\$ \$	9,460 5,839 3.79	\$ 9,441 5,748 \$ 4.16	\$ 8, 5, \$ 3.	384 \$ 105 65 \$	7,982 \$ 5,083 3.44 \$	6,752 5,285 2.81	\$ 6,711 5,194 \$ 2.89	\$ \$	6,487 5,469 2.79			
Daily Cost excluding Return Daily Return on Investment @ 4%	\$	23,445 1,101	\$	21,282 \$ 894	21,860 \$ 938	21,352 916	\$ 21,762 \$ 934	21,459 921	\$ 21,017 902	\$ 21,	449 \$ 901	21,501 1,004	\$	22,130 1,037	\$ 23,912 1,035	\$ 18,	633 \$ 919	17,486 \$ 875	14,851 740	\$ 15,011 735	\$	15,259 711			
Daily Cost including Return	\$	24,546	\$ :	22,176 \$	22,798 \$	22,268	\$ 22,696 \$	22,380	\$ 21,919	\$ 22,3	350 \$	22,505	\$	23,167	\$ 24,947	\$ 19.	552 \$	18,361 \$	15,591	\$ 15,746	\$	15,970			
Water: Water Investment (\$1,000's) Annual Costs	\$\$	891 76,050	\$ \$ 1:	2,846 \$ 36,070 \$	3,170 \$ 153,710 \$	6,750 288,860	\$    3,957 \$ \$  181,260 \$	4,175 185,480	\$ 5,754 \$ 301,130	\$ 4,6 \$ 214,8	519 \$ 510 \$	<b>4,24</b> 6 216,870	<del>\$</del> \$	495 62,980	\$	\$ 66,0	528 <b>\$</b> 690 <b>\$</b>	3,231 \$ 156,480 \$	6,766 289,360	1,209 93,030	\$	898 79,530			
Daily Cost excluding Return Daily Return on Investment @ 5%	\$	208 122	\$	373 \$ 390	421 \$ 434	791 : 925	\$ 497 \$ 542	508 572	\$ 825 788	\$ 5	589 \$ 533	594 582	\$	173 s 68	\$	\$	183 \$ 86	429 \$ 443	793 9 927	\$	\$	218 123			
Daily Cost including Return Catalysts	\$	330 1,200	\$	763 \$ 1,200	855 \$ 1,200	1,716	\$ 1,039 \$ 1,200	1,080 1,200	\$ 1,613 1,200	\$ 1,2	222 \$ 200	1,176 1,200	\$	241 s 1,200	\$ 306 1,200	\$ 1,	269 \$ 200	872 \$ 1,200	1,720 : 1,200	\$ 421 1,200	\$	341 1,200			
Total Raw Material Total Direct and Indirect Costs	\$	26,076	\$ 1	24,139 \$	24,853 \$	25,184	\$ 24,935 \$	24,660	\$ 24,732	\$ 24,7	72 \$	24,881	\$	24,608	\$ 26,453	\$ 21,0	221 \$	20,433 \$	18,511 :	\$ 17,367	\$	17,511			
excluding Raw Material (A)	\$	17,792	\$.	11,192 \$	17,792 \$	17,792	\$ 17,792 \$	5 17,792	\$ 17,792	\$ 17,7	92 \$	17,792	\$	17,792 \$	\$ 17,792	\$ 17,	792 \$	17,792 \$	17,792 \$	\$ 17,792	\$	17,792			
Operating Capital																									
Cost of 30 days' Coal Supply at Rated Capacity Operation Cost of Direct Materials and Water for one-half year opera-	\$	736,380 :	\$ 66	65,280 \$	683,940 \$	668,040 \$	\$ 680,880 \$	671,400	\$ 657,570	\$ 670,5	500 \$	675,150	\$	695,010 \$	\$ 748,410	\$ 586,5	560 \$	550,830 \$	467,730 \$	\$ 472,380	\$	479,100			
capacity All other operating costs for	\$1	,189,718	\$1,10	01,342 \$1	,133,918 \$	1,149,020 \$	\$1,137,659 \$	1,125,113	\$1,128,398	\$1,130,2	23 \$1,	,135,196	\$1,	,122,740 \$	<b>31,206,91</b> 8	\$ 959,0	)83 \$	932,256 \$	844,564 \$	792,369	\$	798,939			
costs)	3	,247,040	3,24	47,040 3	,247,040	3,247,040	3,247,040	3,247,040	3,247,040	3,247,0	40 3,	,247,040	3,	,247,040	3,247,040	3,247,0	)40 3	3,247,040	5,247,040	3,247,040	3,	,247,040			
Total	\$5	,173,138	\$5,01	13,662 \$5	,064,898 \$	5,064,100 \$	\$5,065,579	5,043,553	\$5,033,008	\$5,047,7	63 \$5,	,057,386	\$5,	,064,790 \$	5,202,368	\$4,792,6	83 \$4	4,730,126 \$	1,559,334	4,511,789	\$4,	,525,079			
Note: (A) From Contractors Estimate of Total Direct and Indirect Less Direct Materials (Coa Less Make-up Water	f Proc Cost al and	cessing Co s d Catalyst	osts ts)	\$42,645 24,645 208																					

Balance, Direct and Indirect Costs, excluding raw material \$17,792

Ку 4

4

.

.

.

70021

Exhibit No. 82


Exhibit No. 83 Page 1 of 3

Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Production Costs for a Typical Coal Synthine Unit Plant in Continental United States (Based on Preliminary Data from U.S. Bureau of Mines) Direct Labor: Direct Labor (75 men per shift), as estimated in detail by individual functions (A) Supervisory personnel 10 percent of direct labor personnel (A) Total labor personnel 4.5 times (average) personnel per shift (A) Direct labor wage rate (at Caseyville, Ky., first quarter 1950) average, all classifications, \$1.75 per hour (A) Cost of supervision 15 percent of labor cost (A) Plant Maintenance Labor and Supervision: Total annual cost of maintenance labor and supervision 2 percent of plant cost, erected (cost as of March 1, 1950) (A) Maintenance labor personnel 420 men, approximately 5/4 of direct labor personnel (A) Supervisory personnel 10 percent of maintenance labor personnel (A) Total maintenance labor personnel 4.5 times (average) personnel per shift Total maintenance labor cost 100/115 of total daily cost (1/365 of annual cost) of maintenance labor and supervision (as above) Cost of supervision 15 percent of labor cost (A) Plant Maintenance Materials: Per year, 1 percent of plant cost erected (A) Payroll Overhead: 12-1/2 percent of direct labor and supervision and maintenance labor and supervision (A)

\_Ку

10 70021

Exhibit No. 83 Page 2 of 3

Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Production Costs for a Typical Coal Synthine Unit Plant in Continental United States (Based on Preliminary Data from U.S. Bureau of Mines) **Operating Supplies:** 20 percent of maintenance labor, supervision, and materials (A) Total Indirect Costs (general administrative, office overhead, and indirect operating costs): 50 percent of direct labor and supervision, plant maintenance labor, supervision, and materials, and operating supplies (A) Indirect Labor: Total indirect labor personnel (wage earners) 12 percent of total wage earners (including indirect labor) (A) Indirect labor wage rate (at Caseyville, Ky., first quarter 1950) - average, all classifications, \$1.64 per hour (A) Total daily payments to indirect labor, 1/365 of annual cost at 2,080 hours per year, per man (B) Cost of supervision, none (supervision provided by salaried personnel) Indirect Salaried Personnel: Average salary rate \$3,600 per year (A) Total indirect salaried personnel, number of employes at \$3,600 per year payable from a sum equal to 50 percent of total indirect costs less payments to indirect labor (A) Other Indirect Costs: Balance remaining after deducting from total indirect costs (as above) the sum of payments to indirect labor and indirect salaried personnel (also as above) Local County, and State Taxes and Insurance: Per year 1 percent (A) of depreciable investment (plant cost erected plus interest during construction) Depreciation: 15-year straight line; per year 6-2/3 percent (A) of depreciable

investment

ку 10 70021

Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Production Costs for a Typical Coal Synthine Unit Plant in Continental United States (Based on Preliminary Data from U.S. Bureau of Mines)

References:

 (A) Memorandum, U.S. Bureau of Mines Synthetic Oil Plant, Louisiana, Mo., March 8, 1950:
 "Fischer-Tropsch Commercial Liquid Synthetic Fuel Plant - 10,000 Barrels per Day Estimate".

(B) R.I. 4564, U.S. Bureau of Mines, August 1949: "Estimated Plant and Operating Costs for Producing Gasoline by Coal Hydrogenation".

• Ky

e

.

Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Operating Costs for Coal Synthine Unit Plants in Kentucky as of March 31, 1950

Direct Materials:

- Coal, from section of report entitled "Coal"; for example, 4,588 tons at \$5.11 per ton in General Area No. 1, Johnson-Magoffin.
- Catalysts and Chemicals, same cost as estimated by Bureau of Mines.

Direct Labor:

.

Wage earners, daily cost estimated by Bureau of Mines multiplied by ratio of \$1.64 over \$1.73. \$1.64 represents estimated average straight-time hourly wage rate payable to wage earners (exclusive of supervisors) in synthetic liquid fuels plants in Kentucky as developed in the section of this report entitled "Labor". \$1.73 represents the weighted average hourly wage rate of wage earners (exclusive of supervisors) as used in the Bureau of Mines estimate of operating costs in a typical coal synthine unit plant.

Supervisors, 15 percent of daily cost of wage earners.

Plant Maintenance Labor and Supervision:

Wage earners, daily cost estimated by Bureau of Mines multiplied by ratio of \$1.64 over \$1.73, as developed under direct labor.

Supervisors, 15 percent of daily cost of wage earners.

Plant Maintenance Materials: Per Year, 1 percent of plant construction cost.

Payroll Overhead: 12-1/2 percent of direct labor and supervision and maintenance labor and supervision.

- Operating Supplies: 20 percent of maintenance labor, supervision, and materials.
- KyTotal Indirect Costs (general administrative, office<br/>overhead, and indirect operating costs):1050 percent of direct labor and supervision, plant maintenance<br/>labor, supervision, and materials, and operating supplies.

Indirect Labor: Daily cost estimated by Bureau of Mines multiplied by ratio of \$1.64 over \$1.73 as developed under direct labor. Methods Used in Preparation of Estimates of Daily Operating Costs for Coal Synthine Unit Plants in Kentucky as of March 31, 1950

Indirect Salaried Personnel: As estimated by Bureau of Mines.

Other Indirect Costs: Balance remaining after deducting from total indirect costs (as above) the sum of payments to indirect labor and indirect salaried personnel (also as above).

Local, County, and State Taxes: Per year, 1 percent of depreciable investment (plant construction cost plus interest during construction).

Depreciation:

15-year, straight-line; per year 6-2/3 percent of depreciable investment.

Ку

٠

\*

•

٠

Comparison of Suitable General Areas for One 10,000-barrel-per-day Hydrogenation Plant in Each General Area in Kentucky (As of March 31, 1950)

.

.

.

Кy

	Eastern Kentucky Suitable General Areas					Western Kentucky Suitable General Areas										
	Johnson-	Dilto	Floyd-	Knott-	Perry-	Leslie-	Northern	Harlan-	Bell	Davies	Henderson	Union	Webster	Hopkins-	Muhlenberg- McLean	Ohio
	Magoilin	Pike	Magollin	Breathitt	Breathitt	Harlan	Letcher.	Letcher.	Dell	Daviess	<u>mender som</u>		Mebbber	<u></u>		
Capital Investment (\$1,000's)																
Raw Material (Coal)	\$ 7,818	\$ 6,345	\$ 6,660	\$ 6,505	\$ 6,630	\$ 6,535	\$ 6,400	\$ 6,395	\$ 7,128	\$ 7,327	\$ 7,344	\$ 6,521	\$ 6,125	\$ 5,254	\$ 5,163	\$ 5,044
Water, Process	99.473	99.353	99.394	99,402	99,396	4,175	99.377	99.384	99,391	99,377	99,495	99,176	99,118	99,010	98,934	98,969
Access Transportation	75	2,300	180	1,128	125	2,576	-			904	14	8	9	208	(F) <sup>6</sup>	83 (F)
Product Transportation	(F)	(F) 370	(F)	(F) 388	(F) 388	(F) 365	(F) 362	(F) 368	(F) 378	(F) 518	(F) 534	(F) 474	(F) 466	461	467	474
waste Disposal (Solids)	<u>4109 570</u>	¢111 214	<u>+109 810</u>	¢114 173	\$110 496	900	\$111 893	\$110 766	\$111 143	\$108 621	\$108 108	\$106.807	\$108,949	\$111.699	\$105.779	\$105.468
Subtotal	φ108,579 4 388	φ111,214 4.388	4.388	4.388	4.388	4.388	4.388	4.388	4.388	6.201	6,201	6,201	6,201	6,201	6,201	6,201
Housing		1,000		1,000	4224 004	4117 410	4110 001	4175 754	A115 E71	4114 000	¢114 300	\$113 008	\$115 150	\$117 900	\$111 980	\$111 669
Total (B)	\$112,967	\$115,602	\$114,198	\$118,561	\$114,884	\$117,419	\$116,281	\$115,154	\$115,551	\$114,822	\$114,309	¥110,000	φ11 <b>3</b> ,130	ş117,900	ş111, 500	φ111,005
Operating Costs, Exclusive of Return on Investment, in Dollars per Barrel of Products (C)																
Raw Material (Coal)	\$ 1.824	\$ 1.656	\$ 1.700	\$ 1.661	\$ 1.692	\$ 1.669	\$ 1.635	\$ 1.668	\$ 1.673	\$ 1.708	\$ 1.860	\$ 1.450	\$ 1.341	\$ 1.155	\$ 1.135	\$ 1.186
Water, Process	.021	.037	.042	.079	.050	.051	.082	.059	.059	.017	.021	.018	.043	4.001	4.001	4.001
Other Processing (D) Access Transportation	4.001	4.001	4.001	4.001	4.001	.035	4.001	-	-	.012	(H)	(H)	(H)	.003	(H)	.001
Product Transportation	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F) 028
Waste Disposal (Solids)		.019	.021	.020	.020	.018	.018	.019	.019	.032	.033	.020	120.	45.005	.027 #E 190	.020 #E 979
Subtotal	\$5.862	\$5.744	\$5.767	\$5.776	\$5.765	\$5.774	\$5.736	\$5.747	\$5.752	\$5.770	\$5.915	\$5.497	\$5.412	\$5.265	\$5.109	\$5.230 (C)
Housing	<u>(G)</u>	<u>(G)</u>	<u>(G)</u>	(G)	<u>(G)</u>	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G) #5 265	45 189	\$5 238
Total (E) - per barrel - per gallon	\$5.862 13.96¢	\$5.744 13.68¢	\$5.767 13.73¢	\$5.776 13.75¢	\$5.765 13.73¢	\$5.774 13.75¢	\$5.736 13.66¢	\$5.747 13.68¢	\$5.752 13.70¢	\$5.770 13.74¢	\$5.915 14.08¢	\$5.497 13.09¢	\$5.412 12.89¢	\$5.205 12.54¢	12.35¢	12.47¢
Dollars per Barrel Required for Each Percent of Gross Return on Capital Investment (C)											40.000	40.010	40.017	to 014	to 014	to 014
Raw Material (Coal) Water, Process	\$0.021 .003	\$0.018 .008	\$0.018 .009	\$0.018 .019	\$0.018	\$0.018 .012	\$0.018 .016	\$0.017 .013	\$0.020	\$0.020	\$0.020	\$0.018	\$0.017	\$0.014 .019	\$0.014 .004 271	.003
Other Processing	.272	.272	.272	.272	.273	.272	.272	.272	.212	.272	(H)	(H)	(H)	.001	(H)	(H)
Access Transportation		८००. (न)	(F)	(F)	$\left\langle {}_{\mathrm{F}}^{\mathrm{n}}\right\rangle$	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)	(F)
Waste Disposal (Solids)	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001	100.	100.	100.
Subtotal	\$0.297	\$0.305	\$0.301	\$0.313	\$0.303	\$0.310	\$0.307	\$0.303	\$0.305	\$0.297	\$0.296	\$0.293	\$0.298	\$0.306	\$0.290	\$0.289
Housing	.012	.012	.012	.012	.012	.012	.012	.012	.012	.017	$\frac{.017}{10.717}$	.017	.017 0 315	*0 323	\$0.307	\$0.306
Total per Barrel	\$0.309	\$0.317	\$0.313	\$0.325	\$0.315	\$0.322	\$0.319	\$0.315	\$0.317	\$0.314	\$0.313	\$0.510	\$0.313	\$0.525	ф0.001	φ0.000
<ul> <li>Notes: (A) Includes plant construction cost, interest (B) Exclusive of capital invested in commercial (C) Individual costs sometimes adjusted in las (D) See text of report for details of items in (E) Exclusive of domestic water supply and hou (F) Product transportation, i.e., the cost of the output of a unit plant.</li> <li>(G) Operating costs offset by a portion of rem (H) Less than 0.5 mills.</li> </ul>	during const l facilities, t digit to ag cluded. sing, assumed moving produc tals paid by	ruction, a one-half ree with t offset by ts to dist occupants	nd operati of residen otal. a portion ant market of dwellin	ng capital. tial housin of water r s has not b g units.	g assumed so ents and res een consider	old to empi sidential h red for the	loyes and o nousing ren ose General	domestic wa nts. 1 Areas wit	ater suppl; th adjacen	y. t local man	rketing ter	ritory cap	able of abe	sorbing		



.

			Footonn	Kontucky	Suitable Ger	Areas					weste	THI REHOUCK	y Survaure	ucitor de tie		
	Johnson- Magoffin	Pike	Floyd- Magoffin	Knott- Breathitt	Perry- Breathitt	Leslie- Harlan	Northern Letcher	Harlan- Letcher	Bell	Daviess	Henderson	Union	Webster	Hopkins- Christian	Muhlenberg- McLean	Ohio
Capital Investment (\$1,000's)	and the					J.G. Mary										
Raw Material (Coal) Water, Process Other Processing (A) Access Transportation Product Transportation Waste Disposal (Solids)	\$ 10,050 891 89,433 75 (F) 493	\$ 8,160 2,846 89,274 2,300 (F) 527	\$ 8,560 3,170 89,325 160 (F) 594	\$ 8,360 6,750 89,324 1,128 (F) 551	\$ 8,525 3,957 89,326 125 (F) 567	\$ 8,405 4,175 89,304 2,576 (F) 536	\$ 8,230 5,754 89,293 (F) 519	\$ 8,225 4,619 89,308 - (F) 525	\$ 9,163 4,246 89,317 (F) 553	\$ 9,460 495 89,325 904 (F) 932	\$ 9,441 721 89,462 14 (F) 980	\$ 8,384 628 89,053 8 (F) 777	\$ 7,982 3,231 88,990 9 (F) 749	\$ 6,752 6,766 88,819 208 (F) 744	\$ 6,711 1,209 88,772 6 (F) 750	\$ 6,487 898 88,785 83 (F) 787
Subtotal	\$100.942	\$103,107	\$101.829	\$106,113	\$102,500	\$104,996	\$103,796	\$102,677	\$103,279	\$101,116	\$100,618	\$ 98,850	\$100,961	\$103,289	\$ 97,448	\$ 97,040
Housing	4,165	4,165	4,165	4,165	4,165	4,165	4,165	4,165	4,165	6,569	6,569	6,569	6,569	6,569	6,569	6,569
Total (B)	\$105,107	\$107,272	\$105,994	\$110,278	\$106,665	\$109,161	\$107,961	\$106,842	\$107,444	\$107,685	\$107,187	\$105,419	\$107,530	\$109,858	\$104,017	\$103,609
Operating Costs, Exclusive of Return on Investment, in Dollars per Barrel of Products (C)																
Raw Material (Coal) Water, Process Other Processing (D) Access Transportation Product Transportation Waste Disposal (Solids)	\$2.344 .021 3.669 .001 (F) .030	\$2.128 .037 3.669 .031 (F) .033	\$2.186 .042 3.669 .003 (F) .038	\$2.135 .079 3.669 .015 (F) .035	\$2.176 .050 3.669 .002 (F) .036	\$2.146 .051 3.669 .035 (F) .033	\$2.102 .082 3.669 (F) .032	\$2.145 .059 3.669 (F) .033	\$2.150 .059 3.669 (F) .035	\$2.213 .018 3.669 .012 (F) .056	\$2.391 .021 3.669 (H) (F) .058	\$1.863 .018 3.669 (H) (F) .049	\$1.749 043 3.669 (H) (F) .047	\$1.485 .079 3.669 .003 (F) .047	\$1.501 .026 3.669 (F) 047	\$1.526 .022 3.669 .001 (F) .049
Subtotal	\$6.065	\$5.898	\$5.938	\$5.933	\$5.933	\$5.934	\$5.885	\$5.906	\$5.913	\$5.968	\$6.139	\$5.599	\$5.508	\$5.283	\$5.243	\$5.267
Housing	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	(G)	<u>(G)</u>	<u>(G)</u>
Total (E) - per barrel - per gallon	\$6.065 14.44¢	\$5.898 14.04¢	\$5.938 14.14¢	\$5.933 14.13¢	\$5.933 14.13¢	\$5.934 14.13¢	\$5.885 14.01¢	\$5.906 14.06¢	\$5.913 14.08¢	\$5.968 14.21¢	\$6.139 14.62¢	\$5.599 13.33¢	\$5.508 13.11¢	\$5.283 12.58¢	\$5.243 12.48¢	\$5.267 12.54
Dollars per Barrel Required for Each Percent of Gross Return on Capital Investment (C)																
Raw Material (Coal) Water, Process Other Processing Access Transportation Product Transportation Waste Disposal (Solids)	\$0.028 .003 .245 (H) (F) .001	\$0.022 .008 .245 .006 (F) .002	\$0.023 .008 .245 .001 (F) .002	\$0.023 .018 .245 .003 (F) .002	\$0.023 .011 .245 (H) (F) .002	\$0.023 .012 .245 .007 (F) .001	\$0.023 .016 .245 (F) .001	\$0.023 .013 .245 (F) .001	\$0.025 .011 .245 (F) .002	\$0.026 .001 .245 .003 (F) .002	\$0.026 .002 .245 (H) (F) .003	\$0.023 .002 .244 (H) (F) .002	\$0.022 .009 .244 (H) (F) .002	\$0.018 .019 .243 .001 (F) .002	\$0.018 .004 .243 (H) (F) .002	\$0.018 .003 .243 (H) (F) .001
Subtotal	\$0.277	\$0.283	\$0.279	\$0.291	\$0.281	\$0.288	\$0.285	\$0.282	\$0.283	\$0.277	\$0.276	\$0.271	\$0.277	\$0.283	\$0.267	\$0.200 .01
Housing	.011	.011		011	.011	.011		011	.011		.018	.010		+0.701	+0 285	\$0.28
Total per Barrel	\$0.288	\$0.294	\$0.290	\$0.302	\$0.292	\$0.299	\$0.296	\$0.293	\$0.294	\$0.295	\$0.294	\$0.289	\$0.295	\$0.301	φU.205	φ0.20

(c) Individual costs sometimes adjusted in last digit to agree with total.
(d) See text of report for details of items included.
(e) Exclusive of domestic water supply and housing, assumed offset by a portion of water rents and residential housing rents.
(f) Froduct transportation, i.e., the cost of moving products to distant markets has not been considered for those General Areas with adjacent local marketing territory capable of absorbing the output of a unit plant.
(f) Operating costs offset by a portion of rentals paid by occupants of dwelling units.
(f) Description of the output of a unit plant.
(f) Description of rentals paid by occupants of dwelling units.

Ку 10 70021

Comparison of Suitable General Areas For One 10,000-barrel-per-day Coal Synthine Plant in Each General Area in Kentucky (As of March 31, 1950)

Exhibit No. 86



Costs Reflecting Use of Higher-cost Underground-mined Coal for Ultimate Hydrogenation Unit Plants in Suitable General Areas in Western Kentucky (A) (As of March 31, 1950)

	Suitable General Areas						
	Daviess	Webster	Hopkins- Christian	Muhlenberg- McLean	Ohio		
Initial Capital Investment (\$1,000's)							
Total Capital Investment in Initial Plant	\$114,822	\$115,150	\$117,900	\$111,980	\$111,669		
Coal Mine Investment in Ultimate Plant Coal Mine Investment in Initial Plant	7,457 7,327	6,489 6,125	5,968 5,254	5,904 5,163	6,872 5,044		
Additional Investment in Ultimate Plant Additional Operating Capital (Processing)	130 46	<b>364</b> 80	714 310	741 313	1,828 380		
Total Capital Investment in Ultimate Plant	\$114,998	\$115,594	\$118,924	\$113,034	\$113,877		
Operating Costs, Exclusive of Return on Investmin in Dollars per Barrel of Products Total Operating Cost in Initial Plant	ent,  \$5.770	\$5.412	\$5.265	\$5.189	\$5.238		
Cost of Coal in Ultimate Plant Cost of Coal in First Plant	\$1.766 1.708	\$1.442 1.341	\$1.557 1.155	\$1.540 1.135	\$1.669 1.186		
Additional Operating Cost in Ultimate Plant	\$0.058	\$0.101	\$0.402	\$0.405	\$0.483		
Total Operating Cost in Ultimate Plant - Per Barrel Per Gallon (cents)	\$5.828 13.88¢	\$5.513 13.13¢	\$5.667 13.49¢	\$5.594 13.32¢	\$5.721 13.62¢		
Dollars per Barrel Required for Each Percent of Gross Return on Initial Capital Investment							
Total for Initial Plant	\$0.315	\$0.315	\$0.323	\$0.307	\$0.306		
Total for Ultimate Plant	\$0.315	\$0.317	\$0.326	\$0.310	\$0.312		

Total for Ultimate Plant	\$0.315	\$0.3

Note: (A) For those Areas having some strip coal initially available.

Ку 70021

.

\*

.

-4

# Costs Reflecting Use of Higher-cost Under for Ultimate Coal Synthine Unit Plants in Suitable Gener (As of March 31, 1950)

	Wet
Initial Capital Investment (\$1,000's)	
Total Capital Investment in Initial Plant	\$10
Coal Mine Investment in Ultimate Plant Coal Mine Investment in Initial Plant	
Additional Investment in Ultimate Plant Additional Operating Capital (Processing)	
Total Capital Investment in Ultimate Plant	\$10
Operating Costs, Exclusive of Return on Investment, in Dollars per Barrel of Products	
Total Operating Cost in Initial Plant	\$
Cost of Coal in Ultimate Plant Cost of Coal in First Plant	\$
Additional Operating Cost in Ultimate Plant	\$
Total Operating Cost in Ultimate Plant - Per Barrel Per Gallon (cents)	
Dollars per Barrel Required for Each Percent of Gross Return on initial Capital Investment	
Total for Initial Plant	\$
Total for Ultimate Plant	4

Note: (A) For those Areas having some strip coal initially available.

Ky \* 70021

\*

.

+

rgro	ound-mi	Lneo	d Coal		
ral	Areas	in	Western	Kentucky	(A)

Su	itable Gene	ral Areas	
ster	Hopkins- Christian	Muhlenberg- McLean	Ohio
7,530	\$109,858	\$104,017	\$103,609
8,348 7,982	7,672 6,752	7,588 6,711	8,838 6,487
366 83	920 398	877 370	2,351 489
7,979	\$111,176	\$105,264	\$106,449

5.508	\$5.283	\$5.243	\$5.267
1.855	\$2.002	\$1.980	\$2.147
1.749	1.485	1.501	1.526
0.106	\$0.517	\$0.479	\$0.621
5.614	\$5.800	\$5.722	\$5.888
3.37¢	13.81¢	13.62¢	14.02¢

0.295	\$0.301	\$0.285	\$0.284
0.296	\$0.305	\$0.288	\$0.292

# APPENDIX A

REASONS FOR ELIMINATION OF 23 COUNTIES NOT MEETING SURVEY REQUIREMENTS AS TO COAL RESERVES



.

.

Ŧ

## APPENDIX A

2

## REASONS FOR ELIMINATION OF 23 COUNTIES NOT MEETING SURVEY REQUIREMENTS AS TO COAL RESERVES

Counties eliminated from further consideration either because of isolated and insufficient reserves, because of the presence of thin or irregular bids, or both, or because of lack of information concerning the reserves are tabulated below as they occur in eastern and western Kentucky:

## Counties Eliminated

Eastern Ken	tucky:	
Boyd	Lawrel	Owsley
Carter	Lawrence	Pulaski
Clinton	Lee	Rockcastle
Elliott	McCreary	Wayne
Greenup	Menifee	Whitley
Jackson	Morgan	Wolfe

Western Kentucky: Crittenden Edmonson Grayson Hancock Warren

The details of each of the counties listed with the reasons why each was eliminated for further consideration are contained in this Appendix.

## Eastern Kentucky

Boyd County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below) Boyd County is located near the northern corner of the Eastern Kentucky field, with the northern half of its eastern boundary formed by the Ohio River fronting southern Lawrence County of Ohio.

Ку

•

.....

.

A-1 2a

<sup>(</sup>References: 8, 11, 18, 39, 40, 62, 63)

A-2

The southern half of the eastern county boundary comprises a portion of the Kentucky-West Virginia State line which follows the Big Sandy River. The southern margin of Boyd County is close to the axis of the principal synclinal basin forming this portion of the Eastern Kentucky field. The coal beds over most of the county dip toward the south and southeast. The northern portion of the county contains minor folds of varying degree and direction which locally modify the regional directions of dip.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate that approximately 431,000 tons were produced from Boyd County during that year, with 255,000 tons having been obtained from three stripping operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 183,000 tons were produced by stripping from 2 railroad mines in that year, with an additional 348,000 tons being produced from 21 truck mines. The coal beds from which such productions were obtained are designated as the No. 6 and No. 7 beds.

The coal horizons in the northern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field in and near Boyd County are numerically designated, in descending order, from No. 12 to No. 1. The principal producing beds in this vertical series are probably similar to beds in Ohio ranging from the Upper Freeport No. 7 to the Sharon No. 1 coal horizons in similar descending order. The numbers applied to the Kentucky beds, however, are not the same as the numbers also used in designating the named Ohio beds. The available information on coal bed occurrences in Boyd County is insufficient to permit estimates of reserves. For the most part it is too scattered and too unrepresentative of regional distribution to establish the occurrence and continuity of the several coal horizons. Brief descriptions of the more prominent beds as indicated by preliminary-type investigations are herewith presented.

The No. 7 bed, also designated as the Coalton bed, has been widely mined in northern Boyd County and appears to represent the coal of greatest productivity in this area. Indications are that the bed ranges up to a maximum thickness of 6 ft 3 in. and that there are rapid changes in thickness and composition of bed within relatively short distances from the areas of greater thickness.

The No. 6 bed has likewise been widely mined in the northern portion of Boyd County where it approximates 2 ft 0 in. in thickness with irregular areas of slightly increased thickening.

The No. 5 bed occurs at a few scattered locations in northern Boyd County, where it attains local thicknesses of 3 ft 4 in. The upper portion of such occurrences contain numerous thin partings. Кy

A-i

The coal horizons above the No. 7 bed are mentioned in the available reports in too insufficient detail or scope to permit descriptions. The numbered coal horizons below the No. 5 bed are largely located in areas adjacent to but not within Boyd County in Greenup and Carter Counties to the west and northwest.

Carter County (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Carter County is located in the northern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field on the northwestern limb of the principal eastern Kentucky syncline. The northwesternmost boundary of the coalbearing formations of eastern Kentucky closely skirts the northwestern boundary of Carter County. In this regional position, the coal beds of Carter County prevailingly dip toward the southeast, being modified in direction and rate of dip only locally in a few areas of minor cross-folding.

According to Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 approximately 437,000 tons were mined in Carter County during that year, all of which was obtained from underground operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates no production from railroad mines, with approximately 502,000 tons being produced from 15 truck mines. This production is reported to have been obtained from the No. 7 and the Millers Creek beds.

The coal beds of the area in the northern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field in and around Carter County are numerically designated, in descending order, from No. 12 to No. 1. The principal coals within this vertical series are loosely correlated with beds in Ohio, ranging from the Upper Freeport No. 7 to the Sharon No. 1, with the Kentucky numbers, however, having no relation to the numbers also applied to the designations of the Ohio coals.

The No. 7 bed of northern Boyd County extends into eastern Carter County where it appears to represent the most productive coal of the several coal horizons. As reported at widely scattered localities, this bed ranges up to 4 ft 1 in. in thickness within Carter County.

The No. 6 coal appears to be highly erratic in occurrence and thickness in the Carter County portion of the area underlain by this bed.

The No. 5 bed has been locally developed in eastern Carter County, where it is also designated as the Pennington or Cooksie coal. The information available is insufficient to permit descriptions of the regional occurrence of this bed. The underlying No. 4 bed appears to be absent in Carter County.

(References: 8, 11, 18, 39, 40, 62, 63)

A-4 5a 4 70021 The No. 3 bed occurs at scattered locations across central Carter County where it appears to consist of cannel coal approximating 3 ft 0 in. in thickness. The No. 3 bed appears to thicken in Lawrence County, southeast of Carter County to as much as 6 ft 0 in. in the southern part of its area of occurrence, where it is tentatively correlated with the Hazard bed of the main eastern Kentucky series.

The No. 2 bed is reported to attain a thickness of 2 ft 4 in. at one location in central Carter County.

The No. 1 bed considered as the possible equivalent of the basal Sharon bed of Ohio, occurs largely in Greenup County north of Carter County, but has been reported at a few locations in central and southern Carter County in thicknesses approximating 3 ft 0 in.

<u>Clinton County.</u> (See Exhibit No. 5 for references A below.) Located at the extreme southwestern corner of the Eastern Kentucky field, the southern boundary of Clinton County adjoins northwestern Pickett County of Tennessee. Only a relatively small area is underlain by coal-bearing strata in the eastern portion of the county. The remaining portions of the county are underlain by bedrock strata which are geologically older than the coal measures. The coal beds and their associated strata in eastern Clinton County dip gently toward the southeast.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 report that approximately 4,000 tons were produced in Clinton County during that year, all of which was obtained from underground operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that there was no production from railroad mines in Clinton County during that year although approximately 81,000 tons were produced from five truck mines. This production is indicated as being obtained from two coal beds which are designated as the Stearns No. 1 and No. 3 beds. There is insufficient available information to describe coal occurrences in Clinton County.

Elliott County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references B below.) Elliott County is located in the northern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field along the northwestern flank of the principal eastern Kentucky syncline. The coal beds and their associated strata generally dip at low rates toward the southeast, although this regional dip is somewhat modified in direction along lines of local folding. An east-west fault extends across the approximate center of the county with displacements ranging up to approximately 200 feet.

to 7a 4

7002

A-51

<sup>(</sup>References A: 12, 39, 40, 62, 63) (References B: 8, 11, 18, 39, 40, 62, 63)

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate that approximately 61,000 tons were produced in Elliott County during that year, of which 1,600 tons were produced in one stripping operation. According to the annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals in 1948, there was no production from railroad mines in Elliott County during that year although approximately 60,000 tons were produced from 13 truck mines. This production is indicated to have been obtained largely from the No. 7 coal with minor amounts being obtained from a bed designated only as a "splint" coal. The reported locations of truck mines indicate that such production is limited to the southern portion of the county.

The available information is insufficient to show whether the No. 7 bed indicated as the principal producing coal in Elliott County is the same as the No. 7 bed of Carter, Boyd and Greenup Counties to the north. It is likewise too insufficient to permit estimates or descriptions of reserves.

Greenup County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Greenup County is located at the northern corner of the Eastern Kentucky field with the northern line of Greenup County as formed by the Ohio River being opposite portions of Lawrence and Scioto Counties of southern Ohio. The regional dip of the coal beds is toward the southeast although local modifications in direction and amount of dip exist along a few local folds.

As shown by Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948, approximately 88,000 tons were produced in Greenup County during that year, all of which was obtained from underground operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that no production was obtained from railroad mines in Greenup County during that year although approximately 94,000 tons were obtained from 20 truck mines. This production is reported to have been obtained from beds variously designated as the Clod, No. 6, and No. 7 beds.

The coal horizons in the northern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field are designated by numbers in descending order from No. 12 to No. 1. It is considered that the principal coals within this vertical series are correlated with coals ranging in descending order from the Upper Freeport No. 7 to the Sharon No. 1 coals of Ohio. The Humbered designations in Kentucky, However, do not conform with the numbers which are also used in designating the named coals of Ohio.

(References: 8, 11, 18, 39, 40, 62, 63)

Ky 17b 8a 4 70021 <u>Coals No. 8 to No. 12</u> inclusive, appear to outcrop only in areas south of Greenup County.

The No. 7 bed outcrops along the southeastern line of Greenup County and has been mined by a number of local operations in northern Boyd and eastern Carter Counties. This bed, also designated as the Coalton bed, ranges from but a few inches in thickness to as much as 6 ft 3 in. within its area of principal occurrence. The available information is too insufficient to permit estimates of reserves in Greenup County and suggests that the area of occurrence of this bed is too limited to warrant further consideration.

The No. 6 bed is more erratic in occurrence in Greenup County than in Boyd County to the southeast but has furnished some coal for local operations. The information available is insufficient to permit estimates of reserves.

The No. 5 and No. 4 beds occur largely as horizon markers in the northern part of the Eastern Kentucky field, with local thickenings appearing at scattered locations in Boyd, Carter, and Lawrence Counties.

The No. 3 bed is relatively persistent in occurrence in Greenup County but rarely exceeds 2 ft 0 in. in thickness.

The No. 2 bed is known to be of minable thickness only in southern Carter County, although it occurs as a horizon marker in southeastern Greenup County.

The No. 1 bed has been worked at a number of local operations in central and southeastern Greenup County where the thicknesses range from 1 ft 0 in. to a maximum of perhaps 2 ft 6 in. The available information is too limited to permit estimates of reserves and suggests that the coal is generally too thin to warrant further consideration.

Jackson County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Located in the western portion of the Eastern Kentucky field, Jackson County occurs near the center of the northwestern flank of the Eastern Kentucky field syncline. The northwestern margin of the coal measures of eastern Kentucky crosses the northwestern corner of Jackson County in a highly irregular pattern along the draimage channels. In this regional position, the coal beds of Jackson County generally dip toward the southeast although the directions and rates of dip are locally modified by the presence of small, irregular cross-folds.

(References: 3, 4, 12, 39, 40, 62, 63)

A-6

70021

Ky

A-81

4

to 10ε Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production report that approximately 123,000 tons were produced in Jackson County during 1948, of which 5,500 tons were produced from two stripping operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that there was no production from railroad mines in Jackson County during that year although approximately 130,000 tons were produced in 21 truck mines. The coal beds from which such production was obtained are variously designated as the Beattyville, Bond, Cannel, Horse Creek, Jackson and Middle beds. The correlations of these beds with the principal coals of eastern Kentucky are highly uncertain. The available information is too insufficient to permit descriptions or estimates of reserves for the coal occurrences of Jackson County.

Laurel County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references A below.) Laurel County is located in the southwestern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field on the northwestern flank of the principal synclinal basin. In this regional position, the coal beds of Laurel County dip at low rates toward the southeast, although the directions and rates of dip are somewhat modified locally in accordance with irregular cross-folding of varying extent. One such fold designated as the Rockcastle River uplift represents a portion of one of the more pronounced folds within the Eastern Kentucky field, crossing the northern portion of Laurel County in a southward facing curve.

As shown by Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948, approximately 242,000 tons were produced in Laurel County during that year, of which 54,000 tons were produced from seven stripping operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 29,000 tons were produced from 2 railroad mines during that year with an additional 225,000 tons being produced in 30 truck mines. The coal beds from which such production was obtained are variously designated as the Chainey Ridge, Horse Creek No. 1, Lily No. 3, Pittsburg, River and Stearns No. 2 beds. The correlations of these beds with the principal producing beds in the Eastern Kentucky field are highly uncertain, with the available information being insufficient to permit descriptions or estimates of reserves for the coal occurrences of Laurel County.

Lawrence County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references B below.) Lawrence County is located in the northeastern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field with its eastern border forming a portion of the Kentucky-West Virginia State line along Big Sandy River. The southernmost extension of the principal syncline of the Appalachian

(References A: 4, 39, 40, 62, 63) (References B: 6, 8, 11, 18, 21, 39, 40, 62, 63)

70021

A-10b

to 12a

Kγ

region crosses central Lawrence County in an approximate east-west direction, with the coal beds generally dipping toward this axis from the northern and southern portions of the county. These regional dips, however, are modified by the presence of additional folds which are subparallel to the principal synclinal axis. A major fault, likewise parallel to the synclinal axis, crosses central Lawrence County in an approximate east-west direction, with displacements ranging from 100 to 150 feet.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production indicate that approximately 112,000 tons were produced in Lawrence County during 1948, with 30,000 tons being obtained from one stripping operation. According to the annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 there was no production from railroad mines in Lawrence County during that year, although approximately 118,000 tons were produced in 19 truck mines. The coal beds from which this production was obtained are variously designated as the Blackburn, Hazard No. 4, McHendich, and No. 7 beds. Precise correlations of these beds with the principal producing coals of the eastern Kentucky field are highly uncertain.

The northern portion of Lawrence County contains numbered coal beds of the same series occurring in Boyd, Carter, and Greenup Counties to the north. The coal measures of southern Lawrence County contain four horizons which are roughly more similar to the generalized coal section of the principal eastern Kentucky field. The Kentucky Geological Survey designates the Van Lear or Millers Creek, Peach Orchard, Lower Torch Light, and Upper Torch Light or Richardson coals as being the principal producing beds in Lawrence County. Coal bed Nos. 9 to 12, inclusive, of the northern Kentucky numbered series have not been thoroughly prospected but appear to represent stratigraphic horizon markers rather than specific coal beds.

The No. 8 bed also designated as the Hatcher and Richardson bed, is reported to approximate 4 ft 0 in. in thickness in northwestern Lawrence County and to range up to 6 ft 6 in. in thickness near the southern boundary of Lawrence County. The available information on these widely separated areas is insufficient to permit estimates of reserves.

The No. 7 and No. 6 beds of Boyd, Carter, and Greenup Counties do not appear to occur except as horizon markers in Lawrence County. It is not known whether the production reported from the No. 7 bed in Lawrence County, by the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals is correlated with certainty or not.

The No. 5 bed, also known as the Cooksie Fork bed, occurs in scattered locations in eastern Lawrence County, with the possibility that beds otherwise designated as the Torch Light and Watson coals may actually be correlative with the No. 5 bed.

70021

Kу

A-12d

to

14a

<u>The No. 4 bed</u> appears to exist only as a horizon marker in Lawrence County.

The No. 3 bed is also designated as the Peach Orchard bed in southern Lawrence County where it ranges up to 6 ft 0 in. in thickness. This bed also outcrops across northern Lawrence County, with reported measurements at widely scattered locations indicating an approximate thickness of 3 ft 0 in.

The available information on all coal occurrences in Lawrence County is too scattered in location and insufficient in scope to permit further descriptions or estimates of reserves.

Lee County (See Exhibit No. 5 for references A below.) Lee County is located in approximately the center of the northwestern flank of the eastern Kentucky syncline, with the coal beds and their associated strata largely dipping at gentle rates toward the southeast.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 report that approximately 97,000 tons were produced in Lee County during that year, all of which was obtained from underground operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 97,000 tons were produced in seven truck mines during that year with no production being obtained from railroad mines. The single coal listed as providing this production is designated as the Beattyville bed. The local mining operations in Lee County appear to be largely located along the banks of the Kentucky River in the central portion of the county. The available information is insufficient to permit demarintions or estimates of reserves of the coal occurrences in Lee County.

<u>McCreary County.</u> (See Exhibit No. 5 for references B below.) McCreary County is located near the southwestern corner of the Eastern Kentucky field with its southern boundary being contiguous with the northern boundary of Scott County in Tennessee. In this regional position, the coal beds of McCreary County generally dip toward the southeast at moderate rates.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate that approximately 818,000 tons were produced in McCreary County during that year, of which 74,000 tons were produced from four stripping operations. As shown by the annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 approximately 643,000 tons were produced from 4 railroad mines, with an additional

(References A: 39, 40, 62, 63) (References B: 12, 39, 40, 62, 63)

70021

Ку

A-14b 15a 174,000 tons being produced from 14 truck mines. The coal beds from which such productions were obtained are variously designated as the River Jim and Stearns Nos. 1-1/2, 2, 3, and 14-1/2 beds.

The Kentucky Geological Survey designates the principal coals of McCreary County, in descending order, as the Jellico (No. 7), Upper Blue Gem (No. 6), Lower Blue Gem (No. 5), Lily (No. 4), Barren Fork (No. 3), Beaver Creek (No. 2), Hudson Rider (No. 1-1/2), and Hudson (No. 1) beds. The available information is too limited to permit further descriptions or estimates of coal reserves for the coal occurrences of McCreary County. With reported operations of varying extent distributed throughout relatively wide portions of the county, it is probable that additional investigations would both clarify the extents of coal occurrences and warrant estimates of suitable reserves for synthetic liquid fuel plant manufacture.

Menifee County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references A below.) Located in the northwestern portion of the eastern Kentucky field, Menifee County is slightly northeast of the center of the northwestern limb of the eastern Kentucky syncline. The northwesternmost margin of the coal measures cross central Menifee County in an approximate northeast-southwest direction. In this regional position, the coal beds of Menifee County dip gently toward the southeast with but minor modifications in direction of dip along local folding.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 report a production of approximately 36,000 tons in Menifee County during that year, all of which was obtained from underground operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 36,000 tons were produced from four truck mines, with no production being reported from railroad mines. The entire production was reported as obtained from a coal designated only as the Cannel bed. The available information is too insufficient to permit descriptions of the coal occurrences in Menifee County.

Morgan County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references B below.) Morgan County is in the northern portion of the Eastern Kentucky field on the northwestern limb of the eastern Kentucky syncline. While the prevailing dip is toward the southeast, the directions and rates of dip are locally modified by the presence of a number of accessory folds in various portions of the county without particular pattern. An east-west trending fault crosses the southern portion of the county with a vertical displacement of some 70 to 160 feet. The fault is accompanied on the south by a parallel upfold which likewise crosses the entire county.

(References A: 12, 14, 39, 40, 62, 63) (References B: 12, 14, 36, 39, 40, 43, 62, 63)

7002

A-1

to 1 4 According to Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948, approximately 384,000 tons were produced in Morgan County during that year, of which 47,000 tons were obtained from three stripping operations. As shown by the annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948, approximately 395,000 tons were obtained from 59 truck mines, with no production being reported from railroad mines. A very large proportion of the above production is reported to have been obtained from cannel beds with minor amounts reported as being produced from the Elkhorn No. 3 bed.

The several coal beds of Morgan County are tentatively correlated with the numbered series of coals underlying the northern portion of the eastern Kentucky field in Elliott and Carter Counties to the north. Exact correlations with the producing beds of the principal eastern Kentucky field are not certain.

The No. 3 bed is reported to be present in eastern Morgan County, largely extending from known occurrences in Elliott and Lawrence Counties to the northeast. There is no available information on the thickness and extent of this bed in Morgan County.

The No. 2 bed appears to represent the principal cannel coal being mined at numerous locations in Morgan County. Where operated in northeastern Morgan County this bed ranges from 2 ft 0 in. to as much as 4 ft 10 in. in thickness. Indications are that the bed becomes thin toward the southeast and south. The available information is insufficient to permit further estimates or descriptions of reserves of this bed in Morgan County.

The No. 1 bed outcrops in central and northern Morgan County but rarely exceeds 3 ft 0 in. in thickness. The scattered reports of occurrences are too insufficient to permit descriptions or estimates of reserves.

A bed stratigraphically below the No. 1 horizon is reported to outcrop in western Morgan County in thicknesses ranging from but a few inches to approximately 2 ft 0 in. at a few widely scattered localities.

Owsley County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Owsley County is located near the center of the northwestern limb of the eastern Kentucky syncline. The county is traversed by a number of small irregular folds which highly modify the regional southeastward dip within the county.

(References: 39, 40, 62, 63)

Кy

to <u>19a</u> 4

70021

1-17b

A-11

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 do not include any production for Owsley County. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates a production of but 3,500 tons in five truck mines, this production reported as being obtained from the Beattyville and the No. 3 coal beds. The Kentucky Geological Survey indicates the presence of the Fire Clay Coal Horizon in the southeastern portion of the county, with no other information being available to indicate the extent or thickness of coal occurrences in Owsley County.

Pulaski County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references A below.) Pulaski County is in the southwestern portion of the eastern Kentucky field. The irregular northwestern margin of the coal measures cross the center of the county in an approximately northeast-southwest direction. The coal beds dip at low rates toward the southeast with some modifications in direction of dip occurring along the flanks of a few local folds.

According to Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 approximately 92,000 tons were produced in Pulaski County during that year, with 19,000 tons being obtained from one stripping operation. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 72,000 tons were obtained in 24 truck mines, all of which were reported as operating in the No. 3 bed. The Kentucky Geological Survey reports the presence of two coal beds in Pulaski County which occur near the base of the coal measures. No other information is available to indicate the extent or thickness of coal occurrences in Pulaski County.

Rockcastle County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references B below.) Located in the southwestern portion of the eastern Kentucky field, Rockcastle County is somewhat south of the center of the northwestern flank of the eastern Kentucky syncline. The irregular northwestern boundary of the coal measures of eastern Kentucky extend through the center of the Rockcastle County in an approximate northwest-southeast direction. In this regional position the coal beds of Rockcastle County dip at low rates toward the southeast with a few modifications in direction of dip occurring near the axes of a few local folds.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production for 1948 indicate that approximately 69,000 tons were produced in Rockcastle County during that year, with 10,000 tons being obtained from five

(References A: 4, 12, 39, 40, 43, 62, 63) (References B: 3, 4, 12, 39, 40, 43, 62, 63) A-19 20 4

Ку

4.2

stripping operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 71,000 tons were produced at 18 truck mines, with this production reported as being obtained from the Dean, Horse Creek, Mayflower, and Sand Springs beds.

The Kentucky Geological Survey reports the presence of Several coal horizons in Rockcastle County of which two beds near the base of the coal measures appear to be the most important. The available information is insufficient to permit further description or estimates of reserves for the coal occurrences of Rockcastle County.

Wayne County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references A below.) Wayne County is located at the southwestern corner of the eastern Kentucky field with the areas underlain by coal measures largely occurring as outliers of the main field in southeastern Wayne County. These are separated from the principal areas of coal measures to the east by irregular drainage channels. The coal measures have a prevailing dip toward the southeast, with but few indications of accessory folding.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 report a production of approximately 4,000 tons in Wayne County during that year, all of which was obtained from underground operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicate that approximately 65,000 tons were produced in 13 truck mines in Wayne County during that year, all of this production being reported from the Stearns or Stearns No. 3 beds. The information available is insufficient to permit descriptions or estimates of reserves for the coal occurrences in Wayne County.

Whitley County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references B below.) Whitley County is located at the center of the southern boundary of the eastern Kentucky field, with its southern border forming the northern boundary of Campbell County in Tennessee. The extreme southeastern corner of the county is crossed by the northwestern front of the Pine Mountain overthrust. The principal axis of the eastern Kentucky syncline crosses the southern portion of Whitley County in a direction parallel to the Pine Mountain overthrust, with the coal beds and their associated strata dipping at low rates toward this axis. The directions and rates of such prevailing dips are modified by the presence of additional folding of relatively limited degree on both flanks of the syncline.

(References A: 12, 39, 40, 62, 63) (References B: 39, 40, 62,63)

70021

to

22a

20

Ky A-20b

÷.

A-13

As shown by Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production approximately 457,000 tons were produced in Whitley County during 1948, with 49,000 tons being obtained from seven stripping operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 90,000 tons were produced in 4 railroad mines in Whitley County during that year, with an additional 169,000 tons being produced in 43 truck mines. The coal beds from which these productions were obtained are variously designated as the Blue Heron, Blue Jim, Dean, Jellico, No. 1-1/2, River, River Gem and Vanderpool beds.

The Kentucky Geological Survey reports the occurrence of 30 separate coals, largely very thin, within the county, with the No. 9 and No. 11 beds indicated as being the principal producing coals. The available information is insufficient to permit further descriptions or estimates of reserves for the coal occurrences in Whitley County. It is probable that additional investigations in the southern portion of the northeastern Kentucky field, especially in Whitley and McCreary Counties, would result in sufficient mapping and description of coal bed occurrences to warrant estimates of suitable reserves for synthetic liquid fuels plant supply.

Wolfe County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Wolfe County is located near the center of the northwestern flank of the eastern Kentucky syncline. While the prevailing dip of the coal beds and their associated strata in this area is toward the southeast, the directions and rates of dip are modified by the presence of numerous local folds of irregular pattern and extent. An approximate east-west fault crosses the northern portion of Wolfe County with displacements ranging from 50 to 180 feet.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 report that approximately 16,000 tons were produced in Wolfe County during that year, all of which was obtained from underground operations. The annual meport of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals indicates that approximately 16,000 tons were obtained from six truck mines, this production being reported as obtained from the Hazard and No. 4 beds. The available information is insufficient to permit descriptions or estimates of reserves for the coal occurrences in Wolfe County. The reported locations of the truck mine production obtained in Wolfe County are all in the eastern portion of the County near the Wolfe-Morgan-Magoffin County line where it is reported by the Geological Survey that numerous coal benches are present.

(References: 39, 40, 62, 63)

A-22 23

7002

Kj

## Western Kentucky

<u>Crittenden County.</u> (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Crittenden County is located in the extreme southwestern portion of the Western Kentucky field, with approximately the northeastern one-fourth of the county being underlain by coal measures, these measures including only the basal portions of the coal-bearing strata. The coal beds and their associated strata within the coal-bearing portion of Crittenden County regionally dip at low rates toward the northeast, being locally modified in amount and direction of dip at a few locations by the northeasternmost extensions of the highly complex fault system of Livingston and western Crittenden Counties.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate that approximately 4,000 tons were produced in Crittenden County during that year, all of which was obtained from one stripping operation. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 4,000 tons were produced from one truck mine operating in what is designated as the Bell bed. The only coal horizons present in northeastern Crittenden County are stratigraphically lower than the horizon of the No. 6 bed. Such coals are notably lenticular in occurrence and thickness and do not appear to possess sufficient continuity or extent to warrant further consideration. The Bell coal in which some mining activities have been reported apparently represents one of the lowest coal horizons in the coal-bearing series, occurring in a relatively limited area at the northern corner of Crittenden County adjacent to the Ohio River. This bed averages less than 2 ft 0 in. in thickness.

Edmonson County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Located along the easternmost flank of the western Kentucky coal basin, approximately the northwestern one-third of Edmonson County is underlain by coal measures. The coal-bearing strata of the county are crossed in an approximate east-west direction by the axis of the principal western Kentucky syncline, the coal beds dipping gently toward the center of the syncline from both the northern and southern limbs. A few minor faults effect local displacements at the extreme edges of the coal-bearing area.

As shown by Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 approximately 11,000 tons were produced in Edmonson County during that year, all of which was obtained from underground operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines

(References: 39, 40, 43, 62, 63)

70021

Кy

1-23b to

25a

and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 11,000 tons were produced from four truck-mines in Edmonson County-during that year, all of this production having been reported as from "stray" beds. The available information on coal Occurrences in Edmonson County is too scattered in location and limited in scope to permit descriptions or estimates of reserves. The coal horizons in this portion of the western Kentucky field are limited to the basal portion of the coal-bearing series in which such coals are characteristically lenticular in occurrence, continuity, and thickness.

<u>Grayson County.</u> (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Grayson County is located along the easternmost flank of the western Kentucky field, with the coal measures underlying approximately the southwestern one-third of the county. The outer boundary of the coal measures in Grayson County is both delimited and modified by the intricate fault pattern characterizing the Rough Creek uplift which crosses the entire western Kentucky field in an approximately east-west direction. The coal beds south and southwest of this belt of deformation dip regionally toward the southwest at gentle rates.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production report approximately 9,000 tons production in Grayson County during 1948, all of which was obtained from two stripping operations. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that approximately 9,000 tons were obtained from two truck mines in Grayson County during that year, this production being reported as obtained from the No. 6 and No. 6 "stray" beds.

The available information on coal occurrences in Grayson County is too limited in extent and frequency to permit descriptions or estimates of reserves. The data on coal occurrences in eastern Ohio and northern Butler Counties, these areas being adjacent to the eastern and southeastern boundaries of Grayson County, suggest that the outcrop of coal bed No. 6 does not extend into Grayson County although production is reported from this bed. It is possible that such production is obtained from coal horizons stratigraphically lower than the No. 6 coal, especially since the coal-bearing strata of Grayson County appear to be restricted to the basal portion of the coal-bearing series. As elsewhere in the western Kentucky field the coal horizons near the base of the coal measures are notably lenticular in thickness and extent.

(References: 39, 40, 62,63)

Ky A-25t 26 4

70021

₩.,

Hancock County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) Located at the northeastern corner of the western Kentucky field, the northern boundary of Hancock County formed by the Ohio River, faces southeastern Spencer and southwestern Perry Countles of Indiana. The easternmost outcrop of coal measures of the western Kentucky basin more or less coincide with the eastern boundary of Hancock County so that the entire county is essentially solidly underlain by coal measures. In this regional position, the coal beds and their associated strata dip toward the west at rates ranging up to only 1 or 2 degrees. This regional structure is distorted, however, by two roughly north-south faults which extend across the northeastern portion of the county. These faults have displacements of up to 190 feet at their northernmost points, decreasing in severity toward the south. The coal measures at the lines of both faults have been down-dropped toward the west. The structure of the remaining areas of the county is modified by the presence of a number of relatively small anticlines, synclines and anticlinal noses which locally affect the direction and rate of dip.

Bureau of Mines data on bituminous coal production in 1948 indicate that approximately 230,000 tons were produced in Hancock County during that year, with 180,000 tons being obtained from one stripping operation. The annual report of the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals for 1948 indicates that 180,000 tons were produced from one railroad-connected mine in Hancock County during that year, with an additional 50,000 tons being obtained from six truck mines. The output of the railroad mine was reported as obtained from a "stray" bed with the outputs of all the truck mines reported as obtained from the No. 6"stray" bed. It is possible that such reported production has been designated as from the No. 6 coal horizon in accordance with the common practice in Western Kentucky of designating the first principal bed or, almost any bed below the No. 9 coal as the No. 6 bed, regardless of stratigraphic relationships.

The available information on coal occurrences in Hancock County indicates widespread coal occurrences at what are regarded as at least six coal horizons with none of the horizons extending completely across any substantial portion of the county. The geological reports on which the stratigraphic relationships are based indicate further that prospects of discovering even moderate reserves along any of the several coal horizons are highly limited.

The Lewisport bed underlies several ridges in the northwestern portion of the county, in thicknesses ranging from 2 ft 6 in. to 4 ft 0 in., where it has been opened largely for local consumption by numerous operations along the relatively limited lengths

(References: 22, 39, 40, 43, 62,63)

Кy

A-18

of outcrop.

The Adair bed is reported to occur at only one location of highly limited extent in the northernmost portion of the county where it locally attains a thickness permitting development of small mining operations.

The Lead Creek bed extends across a limited area in the northern portion of the county in thicknesses ranging from less than 2 ft 0 in. to a maximum of 2 ft 6 in.

The Persimmon Run bed attains sufficient thickness to permit local mining activities at only one location in the northeastern portion of the county where the bed is reported to average 2 ft 6 in. in thickness.

The Hawesville bed, ranging from 2 ft 6 in. to 4 ft O in. in thickness, has been widely mined by local operations in an area of moderate extent near the center of the northeastern portion of Hancock County. The bed thins southward from its area of principal occurrence, reappearing in the south-central portion of the county in a few areas of highly limited extent.

The Breckenridge bed, is the designation given to a cannel coal which was once widely mined along the southern portion of the Hancock-Breckenridge County line where it was reported to range from 2 ft 0 in. to 4 ft 0 in. in thickness. The available information is insufficient to permit further description or estimates of reserves for this coal occurrence.

Warren County. (See Exhibit No. 5 for references below.) The coal-bearing portion of Warren County occupies only a narrow strip at the northern line of the county immediately south of Green River. In this regional position the coal-bearing strata of Warren County dip at moderate rates toward the north. The southernmost margin of the coal measures is locally distorted by irregular faults.

No production was reported from Warren County in 1948 by the Bureau of Mines or the Kentucky Department of Mines and Minerals. The available information indicates that a single coal designated as the Nolan bed occurs at three separate areas in northern Warren County in which approximate thicknesses of 2 ft 0 in., 3 ft 6 in. and 2 ft 6 in. have been reported. The available information is sufficient to permit further descriptions or estimates of reserves of coal occurrences in this county.

(References: 24, 39, 40, 62, 63)

Ký A<sup>\*</sup>-2 29 1 7002

# APPENDIX B

REPORT BY DEGOLYER and MacNAUGHTON ON NATURAL GAS IN KENTUCKY AS OF JANUARY 1; 1949

Ky B

•

70021

.

#### APPENDIX B

## REPORT BY DeGOLYER and MacNAUGHTON ON NATURAL GAS IN KENTUCKY AS OF JANUARY 1, 1949

#### SUMMARY

The investigation included a study of the gas and oil fields in Kentucky with special reference to the quantity of gas to be recovered, the gas available for a synthetic liquid fuels plant, and the cost of gas in the field. The map, Exhibit No. B-1, accompanying this report shows the oil and gas fields and main natural gas pipe lines in Kentucky. The names of the oil and gas fields are listed in Exhibit No. B-2. Data relating to natural gas reserves and gas storage fields in Kentucky are tabulated in Exhibits Nos. B-3 and B-4, respectively. These data are presented and discussed in the report.

Data relating to reserves of natural gas in Kentucky, which have an average heating value in the order of 1,170 Btu under standard conditions, are briefly summarized in the following table:

Summary of Estimated Recoverable Natural Gas in Kentucky	Reserves
(In Mcf under Standard Conditions) As of Jan. 1, 1949	્રેષ્ટ્ર રેષ્ટ્ર રેપ્ટ્રેલ્ટ-
Total	1,684,300,000
Commercial Requirements: Contract or To Be Used in Field	1,684,300,000
Total Undedicated Reserves as of Jan. 1, 1949	O
Additional Net Gas in Storage	9,488,000
The weighted average field price for gas und Kentucky was in the order of 15 cents per Mcf.	ler contract in

70021

Kу

B1

As shown by the above table, the gas reserves are either under contract for domestic, commercial, and industrial use, or will be used in field operations.

It is, therefore, concluded there are no undedicated reserves of natural gas in Kentucky presently available for synthetic liquid fuels plants. Discoveries of new fields and extensions of known fields between January 1, 1949, and the date of this report warrant no changes in this conclusion.

€

#### PART I - INTRODUCTION

## Authorization

This investigation and report on natural gas deposits in Kentucky have been made a part of that authorized by a contract, dated June 1, 1949, between Ford, Bacon & Davis, Inc. (called the Contractor) and DeGolyer and MacNaughton (called the Subcontractor). The contract is identified as Subcontract No. 2 of the principal contract No. W 49-129 eng-137, dated May 3, 1949, between the United States of America (called the Government) and Ford, Bacon & Davis, Inc. The subcontract was duly approved by a representative of the Contracting Officer for the Government.

## Purpose and Scope of Report

The investigation and report required were confined to a general determination of the nature and extent of natural gas deposits and conclusions as to their suitability or unsuitability for the manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels. Such a report is required for a state in which present information indicates that production of synthetic liquid fuels from existing raw materials is not feasible at the present or near future time (due among other possible causes to excessive raw material costs or existing commercial requirements in excess of possible production) even though such deposits technically may meet the minimum requirements.

The study included the collection of basic data, the preparation of maps, and the determination of factors necessary to estimate the gas reserves in the oil and gas fields in Kentucky; the estimation of the reserves; and the determination of the suitability and availability of the reserves for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture.

Кy

**B**3

## PART II - GENERAL

Definitions Relating to Natural Gas and Gas Reserves

Natural Gas - Natural deposits of a combustible gas that becur in porous strata of the earth and consist of a mixture of hydrocarbon gases composed principally of methane, small quantities of ethane, and very often small quantities of other heavier hydrocarbon gases such as propane, butane, pentane, and hexane; usually with a heating value of about 1,000 Btu per cubic foot at standard conditions, which value may vary considerably depending upon the contained percentage of nitrogen and other inert gases.

<u>Heating (or Calorific) Value</u> - Heat (gross) resulting from combustion of fuel, expressed for natural gas as Btu per cubic foot at standard conditions.

<u>Standard Conditions</u> - For natural gas, commonly 14.65 pounds per square inch absolute pressure and 60° F temperature.

Minimum Gas Reserves - Deposits of natural gas are not considered reserves for the purpose of this study unless they contain at least 225 trillion Btu in natural gas producible within a radius of 40 miles and with a heating value of not less than 400 Btu per cubic foot at standard conditions.

<u>Remaining Recoverable Reserves - That portion of the gas</u> reserves not under contract or not required for field use.

Estimates of Natural Gas Reserves - The quantities in each of the categories of "proved drilled", "proved undrilled", and "probable" are calculated assuming standard conditions.

- (a) <u>Proved drilled reserves</u> Those reserves of natural gas which will be produced from existing wells.
- (b) Proved undrilled reserves Those reserves of natural gas proved by existing wells and other data, but which will be produced from new wells as yet undrilled.
- (c) Probable Reserves Those reserves of natural gas indicated to be present by existing wells and other data and which are classified as probable rather than proved due to the nature or scarcity of the data, or the inability to reach definite conclusions from available data.

Кy

.

<u>B4</u> 7 70**0**21

<u>Non-Associated Gas</u> - Free natural gas not in contact with crude oil.

oil. <u>Associated Gas -</u> Free natural gas in contact with crude

Dissolved Gas - Natural gas in solution in crude oil.

Availability of Natural Gas Reserves - From the viewpoint of availability of natural gas reserves, the quantity remaining after allowance for present commercial and industrial requirements. Available reserves are considered sufficient for one or more plants when there is a recoverable amount sufficient to supply a natural gas synthine plant with a capacity of 5,000 barrels of synthetic liquid fuels per day for a period of 20 years of which 10 years' supply is from primary reserves and the additional 10 years' supply is from either primary or secondary reserves.

- (a) <u>Primary Reserves</u> Deposits containing at least 225 trillion Btu producible from gas wells within a radius of 20 miles, with a minimum heat value of 700 Btu per cubic foot at standard conditions.
- (b) <u>Secondary Reserves</u> Deposits containing at least 225 trillion Btu producible from gas wells within a radius of 40 miles, with a minimum heat value of 400 Btu per cubic foot at standard conditions.

Unit Flant or Unit Capacity - A synthetic liquid fuels plant for processing natural gas by the synthine process with a production capacity of 5,000 barrels of liquid fuel products per day. Such a plant would require 55,000,000,000 Btu daily or 55,000 Mcf of 1,000 Btu gas. It would consume 20,075,000 Mcf of 1,000 Btu gas annually and would require a reserve of such natural gas of 401,500,000 Mcf over a 20-year period. The estimated cost of a 5,000-barrel plant (taken at one-half the amount estimated by the U.S. Bureau of Mines for a 10,000-barrel plant) is \$30,000,000. Such a plant size is adopted in the survey for comparative purposes and is not necessarily the most efficient size for an independent plant.

<u>A Suitable General Area</u> - As considered herein, an area not larger than a county or 1,000 square miles, depending on the local conditions, with natural gas reserves and water supply adequate for at least one gas synthine unit plant, and with other satisfactory qualifications as to labor supply, housing, power supply, and transportation.

K) <u>B:</u> 7002:

#### Available Sources of Information

Data for this study were obtained from files of the Subcontractor, from public records of the Federal Power Commission, from oil and gas companies operating in the State, and from records of the Kentucky State Geological Survey.

Reference has been made to principal publications on natural gas in Kentucky with particular attention to publications of Federal and State authorities. Important publications consulted are listed in the Bibliography, Exhibit No. B-5.

Personnel of natural gas companies and geologists familiar with gas-bearing formations in Kentucky were interviewed. The cooperation and assistance of individuals listed in Exhibit No. B-6 are gratefully acknowledged.

B**6** 7 70021

Кy

## PART III - STUDY OF SURVEY DATA

History of the Natural Gas Industry in Kentucky

As early as 1856, oil and gas shows were noted in wells being drilled for salt water in eastern Kentucky, but no commercial attempt for production was ever made from these wells. In 1863, natural gas production from a well near Brandenburg, Meade County, Ky., was used as fuel in the distillation of salt from brines which were found associated with the gas in numerous wells in this area. Extensive drilling during the period 1863-1920 resulted in the discovery of small amounts of gas in the oil pools in Wolfe, Estill, Lawrence, and Morgan Counties, but the gas was used only locally in small amounts. Subsequent development led to the discovery of the Rothwell field in Menifee County, and from this field, gas was first produced commercially in central Kentucky.

Increased demand for gas has resulted in a continuous drilling program since 1920, and it is estimated that some 30,000 wells have been drilled in the search for oil and gas and that some 1,200,000,000 Mcf of gas have been produced as of January 1, 1949.

As early as 1917, importation of gas from other states became necessary due to the increased demand. Since that date, the volume of gas imported has continually increased. Annual gas production for the past 10 years has been in the order of 65,000,000 Mcf to 75,000,000 Mcf per year. Reported gas production in Kentucky during 1948 was 74,000,000 Mcf. In addition, about 8,000,000 Mcf of gas was added to net storage.

It is estimated that as of January 1, 1949, there were some 20,000 producing oil and gas wells in Kentucky. During 1948, 1,056 wells were drilled for oil and gas, of which 195 were reported as gas wells, 394 as oil wells, and 467 as dry holes.

## General Geology and Natural Gas Reservoirs

The major structural features in Kentucky are the Appalachian geosyncline and the Cincinnati Arch. Most of the State lies on the western flank of the geosyncline and on the eastern flank of the Arch. The regional dip of the formations in the State is eastward from the crest of the Cincinnati Arch toward the axis of the Appalachian geosyncline, with the formations progressively thickening eastward. There are many minor basins within the State, some of which have been found gas productive to date. The deeper basins may be proved to be productive of gas with future development.

0il and gas production are found in three general areas in the State - the eastern, south-central, and western parts.
The oldest exposed formations of any consequence are near Lexington, Ky., and are of Lower Ordovician age. Formations of Pennsylvanian and Mississippian age make up a large percentage of the surface area within the State.

It is estimated that more than half of the present gas production in Kentucky comes from the Shale Series of Devonian age; most of the remaining production is from sandstones and limestones of Pennsylvanian, Mississippian, Devonian, and Silurian ages.

The formations having the best possibilities for future gas discoveries are those of Silurian and Ordovician ages.

# Gas Well and Production Data

It is estimated that as of January 1, 1949, there were some 4,000 producing gas wells in the State of Kentucky, of which 195 were completed during the year 1948. The average initial potential of the gas wells completed during 1948 was in the order of 1,500 Mcf per well. Gas was also produced from about 16,000 oil wells in the State during 1948.

It is estimated that almost 85 percent of the gas production tion in Kentucky is from the Big Sandy area in eastern Kentucky. About 20 percent of the production from this area is utilized in the State, and the remainder is exported to the eastern markets. Additional gas production is from oil and gas fields in eastern, southcentral, and western Kentucky.

The reported daily average gas production during 1948 was about 200,000 Mcf. In addition, about 8,000,000 Mcf of gas was added to net storage. The principal fields being used for storage are the Menifee, Muldraugh, and Doe Run fields. Data concerning these fields are detailed in Exhibit No. A-4. .

٠

7002

#### Gas Purchase Contract Data

Essentially all of the gas produced in commercial quantities in the State of Kentucky is under gas purchase contract. The average price paid for gas at the wellhead is in the order of 15. cents per Mcf at standard conditions.

#### Estimation of Natural Gas Reserves

Most of the gas reserves in this State exist as non-associated gas. The non-associated gas reserves were estimated by areas and by counties on the basis of pressure-cumulative production decline curves for individual wells. These curves were extrapolated to an assumed abandonment limit of 25 psi closed-in wellhead pressure. To estimate the dissolved gas reserves, it was necessary to first estimate the oil reserves. Data concerning the physical characteristics of the reservoir fluid and of the reservoir were considered in estimating the future quantity of gas that would be produced with the oil.

The estimates were divided into categories of "proved drilled", "proved undrilled" and "probable" reserves, and are calculated assuming standard conditions.

The following table is summarized from Exhibit No. B-3:

Classification of Estimated Recoverable Gas Reserves as of January 1, 1949 in Mcf

	Total	Undedicated and Available for Synthetic Liquid Fuels Manufacture
Reserves		
Proved Drilled Proved Undrilled Probable	668,900,000 516,900,000 498,500,000	000
Total	1,684,300,000	_0
Type of Gas		
Non-Associated Dissolved	1,625,800,000 58,500,000	0 0
Total	1.684.300.000	0

The principal gas reserves are found in Pike, Floyd, Knott, and Martin Counties in the Big Sandy area. Thousands of probable gas producing acres are under lease by the principal gasproducing companies in this area.

#### Undedicated Natural Gas Reserves

In Kentucky, there are no available undedicated gas reserves as of January 1, 1949, containing at least 225 trillion Btu producible within a radius of 40 miles.

<del>9</del> 7 70021

Ky B8b Data relating to remaining available reserves of natural gas in Kentucky, which have an average heating value in the order of 1,170 Btu under standard conditions, are briefly summarized in the following table:

> Summary of Estimated Recoverable Natural Gas Reserves in Kentucky (In Mcf under Standard Conditions)

As of Jan. 1, 1949

Total

ŧ.,

1,684,300,000

Commercial Requirements:<br/>Contract or To Be Used in Field1,684,300,000Total Undedicated Reserves as of Jan. 1, 19490Additional Net Gas in Storage9,488,000

The gas reserves are either under contract for domestic, commercial, and industrial use or will be used in field operations. The weighted average field price for gas under contract was in the order of 15 cents per Mcf.

It was concluded that there were no undedicated reserves of natural gas in Kentucky available for synthetic liquid fuels plants as of January 1, 1949, which contained at least 225 trillion Btu (225,000,000 Mcf of 1,000 Btu) gas producible within a radius of 40 miles and having a heating value of not less than 400 Btu per cubic foot at standard conditions. Discoveries of new fields and extension of known fields in the interim between January 1, 1949, and the date of this report warrant no change in this conclusion.

Ky <u>B10</u> 70021 B-10



KX.

SF-265 10-23-50

# Oil and Gas Fields of Kentucky

# Key to Map

e7	stem	n and Central Kentucky.
4 <u>Bu</u>	7	Big Sandy Gas Field
	2	Ashland Gas Field
	<u>द</u> ्	Fallshurg Oil Pool
	<u>.</u> Л	Laural Creek Oil and Gas Field
	т с	Filiatt County Ail and Cas Fields
	Б Б	Erroven Creak Gas Pield
	7	Crossy Creek das Field
	é	Dowan County Cas Biald
	0	Regland Oil Bool
	10	Nenifee County Cos Bield
	10	Compton Ofl Bool
	12	Dampion off root Damell County Oil and Cas Fields
	12 7 7	Towers County Ors and Gas Flerus
	10	Trattie Off Foot
	14 15	Owalow Conntr Oil and Coa Bields
<b>}</b> :	10 10	Uwsiey County VII and Gas Fleids
:	10 17	Julian County Of Boole
ľ	11 0 F	Jackson County ULL FOOLS
	10	Clay County Gas Fields
	13	Knox County 011 and Gas Fleids
•	20	Williamsburg Oil and Gas Fields
Sou	th-ce	entral Kentucky:
	21	Wayne County Oil Pools
	22	Clinton County Oil Pools
•	23	Cumberland County Oil Pools
	24	Green River Gas Field
	25	Center Gas Field
	26	Hart County Oil Pools
	27	Barren County Oil and Gas Fields
	28	Allen County Oil and Gas Fields
	29	Simpson County Oil Pools
Wés	tern	Kentucky:
t	30	Warren County Oil and Gas Fields
	31	Leitchfield Oil and Gas Fields
	32	Jefferson County Gas Field
	33	Meade County Gas Fields
-	34	Cloverport Gas Field
	35	Hancock County Oil Pools
	36	Ohic County Oil Pools
	37	Butler County Oil Pools
	38	Logan County Oil and Gas Fields
κν	39	Muhlenberg County Oil and Gas Fields
	40	McLean County Oil and Gas Rields
10	41	Daviess County Of   Pools
70021	42	Henderson County Oil Poole
	13	Webster County Oil Poola
	44	Tinion County Oil Poole
	45	Honking County Oil Pools
•		Caldwall County Oil and Cas Fialds
4	ΞV	ACTAMETT AAMINA ATT GUA AGS LTGIAS

.

		Depth of		Average Heating Value in	e Ig Analysis of Gas in (Percent)			Closed-in Well- head Pressure, (Psi)		Producing Wells as of 1-1-49		Estimated Daily Average Gas	Estimated Remaining Recoverable Gas Reserves (Million Cu Ft)			
Location	Name of Producing Geological Series, Groups, and Formations	Production (Feet)	Kind of Gas	Btu per Cu Ft	Methane	Ethane	Other	Original	1-1-49	Gas	011	Production, 1948 (Mcf)	Drilled	Undrilled	Probable	Total
Western Kentucky Counties																
Breckenridge Caldwell Crittenden Daviess Grayson Henderson Hopkins	Pennsylvanian - Pottsville Group Mississippian - Chester and Iowan Groups (Palestine, Waltersburg, Tar Springs, Hardinsburg, Cypress, Bethel, Benoist, Aux Vases and McClosky Sands; St. Genevieve	200-3,000	Non-Associated	923	92.0	1.0	7.0	75-1,000	10-170	125	1 320(4)	5,100	10,000	2,000	2,000	14,000 53.000
Jefferson Logan McLean	and St. Louis Limes) Devonian - Upper and Hamilton Groups		Dissolved	972	96.0	0.2	5.0				(B)	1,000	,	,		
Muhlenberg Ohio Union Warren	(New Albany Shale and Corniferous Lime)															
Total Western Kent	ucky									125	1,320(A) (B)	9,100	48,000	12,000	7,000	67,000
Eastern and Central Kentu	icky Counties															
Bell Boyd Breathitt Carter Clay Elliott Estill Knox	Pennsylvanian - Pottsville Group (Salt Sand) Mississippian - Chester and Iowan Groups (Maxon, Big Injun, Weir and Berea Sands; St. Genevieve, St. Louis and Ft. Payne Limes; Sunbury Shale)	200-3,000	Non-Associated	1,019	86.8	• 7.8	5.4	75-600	100	225	(В)	20,000	35,000	12,000	140,000	187,000
Laurel Owsley Powell Rowan	Devonian - Upper and Hamilton Groups (Brown Shale and Corniferous Lime) Silurian - Big Six Sand															
Big Sandy Area: Floyd Johnson Knott Lawrence Letcher Magoffin	Pennsylvanian - Pottsville Group) (Salt Sand) Mississippian - Chester and Iowan Groups (Maxon, Big Injun, Weir and Berea Sands: St. Genevieve	(900-4,000	Non-Associated	1,190	77.4	14.1	8.5	400-650)	( 150 375 325 200 150 ( 350	1,380 80 580 25 5 210	(B) (B) (B) (B) (B)	65,000 4,000 28,000 1,200 200 10,000	246,000 5,000 80,000 3,000 200 15,000	45,000 14,000 75,000 200 14,000 17,000	20,000 40,000 51,000 5,000 90,000 50,000	311,000 59,000 206,000 8,200 104,200 82,000

		Depth of	of ion Kind of Gas	Average Heating Value in Btu per Cu Ft	e Ig Analysis of Gas in (Percent)		Closed-in Well- head Pressure, (Psi)		Producing Wells as of 1-1-49		Estimated Daily Average Gas	Estimated Remaining Recoverable Gas (Reserves (Million Cu Ft)				
Location	Name of Producing Geological Series, Groups, and Formations	Production (Feet)			Methane	Ethane	Other	Original	1-1-49	Gas	011	Production, 1948 (Mcf)	Drilled	Undrilled	Probable	Total
Western Kentucky Counties																
Breckenridge Caldwell Crittenden Daviess Grayson Henderson Hopkins Jefferson Logan McLean Muhlenberg	Pennsylvanian - Pottsville Group Mississippian - Chester and Iowan Groups (Palestine, Waltersburg, Tar Springs, Hardinsburg, Cypress, Bethel, Benoist, Aux Vases and McClosky Sands; St. Genevieve and St. Louis Limes) Devonian - Upper and Hamilton Groups (New Albany Shale and	200-3,000	Non-Associated Dissolved	923 972	92.0 96.0	1.0 0.2	7.0 3.8	75-1,000	10-170	125 -	1,320(A) (B)	5,100 4,000	10,000 38,000	2,000 10,000	2,000 5,000	14,000 53,000
Ohio	Corniferous Lime)															
Warren																
Total Western Kentuck	ку									125	1,320(A) (B)	9,100	48,000	12,000	7,000	67,000
Eastern and Central Kentucky	y Counties															
Bell Boyd Breathitt Carter Clay Elliott Estill Knox Laurel Owsley Powell Rowan	Pennsylvanian - Pottsville Group (Salt Sand) Mississippian - Chester and Iowan Groups (Maxon, Big Injun, Weir and Berea Sands; St. Genevieve, St. Louis and Ft. Payne Limes; Sunbury Shale) Devonian - Upper and Hamilton Groups (Brown Shale and Corniferous Lime) Silurian - Big Six Sand	200-3,000	Non-Associated	1,019	86.8	. 7.8	5.4	75-600	100	225	(B)	20,000	35,000	12,000	140,000	187,000
Big Sandy Area: Floyd Johnson Knott Lawrence Letcher Magoffin	Pennsylvanian - Pottsville Group) (Salt Sand) Mississippian - Chester and Iowan Groups (Maxon, Big Injun, Weir and Berea Sands; St. Genevieve, St. Louis and Ft. Payne Limes; Sunbury Shale	(900-4,000	Non-Associated	1,190	77.4	14.1	8.5	400-650)	<pre>     150     375     325     200     150     ( 350     </pre>	1,380 80 580 25 5 210	(B) (B) (B) (B) (B)	65,000 4,000 28,000 1,200 200 10,000	246,000 5,000 80,000 3,000 200 15,000	45,000 14,000 75,000 200 14,000 17,000	20,000 40,000 51,000 5,000 90,000 50,000	311,000 59,000 206,000 8,200 104,200 82,000

Ку 3 70021

1

\*

.

1

Exhibit No. B-3 Page 1 of 2

# State of Kentucky Data Concerning Natural Gas Reserves as of January 1, 1949



		Depth of	f	Average Heating Value in	e Analysis of Gas in (Percent)			Closed-in Well- head Pressure, (Psi)		Producing Wells as of 1-1-49		Estimated Daily Average Gas	Estimated Remaining Recoverable Gas Reserves (Million Cu Ft)			
Location	Name of Producing Geological Series, Groups, and Formations	Production (Feet)	Kind of Gas	Btu per Cu Ft	Methane	Ethane	Other	Original	1-1-49	Gas		Production, 1948 (Mcf)	Drilled	Undrilled	Probable	Total
Eastern and Central Kentucky (C	oncluded)															
Big Sandy Area: (Concluded) Martin Perry Pike	Devonian - Upper and Hamilton Groups (Brown Shale and Corniferous Lime) Silurian - Big Six Sand								2 <b>4</b> 0 400 350	525 5 5	(B) (B)	25,000 200 34,000	123,000 200 104,000	45,000 200 280,000	5,000 63,000 25,000	173,000 63,400 409,000
Total Big Sandy Area			Non-Associated							3,525	(B)	167,600	576,400	490,400	349,000	1,415,800
Total Eastern and Central K	lentucky		Non-Associated							3,750	(B)	187,600	187,600 611,400 502,400			1,602,800
South-central Kentucky Counties																
Adair Allen Barren Clinton Hart Pulaski Wayne	Mississippian - Iowan Group Devonian - Upper and Hamilton Groups (Brown Shale and Corniferous Lime) Ordovician - Cincinnatian Champlainian and Canadian Groups (Sunny Brook and Granville Sand, Trenton Lime, and Upper Knox Dolomite) Cambrian - Ozarkian (Lower Knox Dolomite)	200-1,800	Non-Associated	1,183	75.4	23.4	1.2	35-340	110	80	(B)	4,000	5,000	2,000	2,000	9,000
Total South-central Kentuck	су									80	(B)	4,000	5,000	2,000	2,000	9,000
Other Oil Wells			Dissolved							0	14,500	1,000	4,500	500	500	5,500
Grand Total										3,955	15,820	201,700	668,900	516,900	498,500	1,684,300
Non-Associated										3,955	0	196,700	626,400	506,400	493,000	1,625,800
Dissolved										0	15,820	5,000	42,500	10,500	5,500	58,500

70021

Ky

3

\*

.

1

Wells drilled in horizons developed since 1938. Included in other oil wells. (A) (B) Note:

Exhibit No. B-3 Page 2 of 2

# State of Kentucky Data Concerning Natural Gas Reserves as of January 1, 1949



			January	of L, 1949			
Field	County	Year Field Initially Used for Storage	Name of Reservoir Used for Storage	Average Depth of Storage Reservoir (Feet)	Cumulative Gas Injected, to 1-1-49, Mcf	Cumulative Gas Withdrawn, to 1-1-49, Mcf	Net Gas in Storage 1-1-49, Mcf
Doe Run	Meade	1946	Limestone-Dolomite	675	1,550,000	962,000	588,000
Menifee	Menifee	1919	Dolomite	600	16,300,000	8,200,000	8,100,000
Muldraugh	Meade	1931	Limestone-Dolomite	500	5,400,000	4,600,000	800,000
		Total			23,250,000	13,762,000	9,488,000

State of Kentucky Dialda Con **n**.

· •

\*

,

1

#### Bibliography

- 1. Freeman, L.B., "Regional Aspects of Cambrian and Ordovician Subsurface Stratigraphy in Kentucky", <u>Appalachian Geological</u> <u>Society, 1949 Bulletin, vol. 1</u>, <u>Appalachian Geological Society</u>, Charleston, West Virginia, 1949, pp. 118-165.
- Hunter, C. D., "Natural Gas in Eastern Kentucky", <u>Geology of</u> <u>Natural Gas, A Symposium</u>, American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 1935. pp. 915-947.

۱.

y 0 021

- 3. Hunter, C. D., Young, D. M., Brewning, Iley, Jr., and Diamond, W., "Oil and Gas Development in Kentucky in 1948", <u>Statistics</u> of Oil and Gas Development and Production, covering 1948, Petroleum Branch, Am. Inst. Min. Eng., Dallas, Texas, 1949. pp. 129-138.
- 4. Production and Statistic Records obtained from the Kentucky-West Virginia Gas Company, Ashland, Kentucky.
- 5. St. Clair, Stuart, "Oil and Gas in Kentucky and Tennessee", <u>Problems of Petroleum Geology, A Symposium, American</u> Association of Petroleum Geologists, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 1934. pp. 515-520.
- 6. Certain public records of the Federal Power Commission, Washington, D.C.

Acknowledgments for Technical Information

- 1. Deiss, Dr. Charles, State Geologist, Bloomington, Indiana.
- 2. Esarey, Dr. Ralph, Director, Oil and Gas Division, State Geological Survey, Bloomington, Indiana.
- 3. Fleger, Philip, President, Kentucky-West Virginia Gas Company, Ashland, Kentucky.
- 4. Hillman, J. H., Jr., Kentucky Natural Gas Corp., Owensboro, Kentucky.
- 5. Hubley, G. W., Jr., Director, Agriculture and Industrial Development Board, Frankfort, Kentucky.
- 6. Jones, Dan, Chief Geologist, Kentucky State Geological Survey, Lexington, Kentucky.
- 7. Reger, Dr. David B., Consulting Geologist, Morgantown, West Virginia.
- 8. Thomas, Ralph, Geologist, Inland Gas Company, Ashland, Kentucky.

Ky 10 0021

.

.

# APPENDIX C

REPORT BY DeGOLYER AND MacNAUGHTON ON OIL SHALES IN KENTUCKY AS OF SEPTEMBER 1950



٠

•

# APPENDIX C

## REPORT BY DeGOLYER AND MACNAUGHTON ON OIL SHALES IN KENTUCKY AS OF SEPTEMBER 1950

#### SUMMARY

This investigation includes a study of the geology of the oil shale-bearing formations and of assay data on oil shale samples from various localities in Kentucky. The map, Exhibit No. C-1, accompanying this report, shows the localities on which assay data were available and presents certain geologic information, pertaining principally to the New Albany shale. The geological information and assay data are presented and discussed in the attached report; the assay data are also shown in tabular form on Exhibit No. C-2.

In Kentucky, oil shales occur in the New Albany shale and shales associated with Pennsylvanian coal-bearing formations.

A review of the limited data available indicates that none of these oil shales is of sufficient richness and thickness to provide a reserve of raw materials for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture, nor does it appear that additional sampling and assaying would reveal the presence of shales of sufficient richness and thickness to meet the minimum requirements. These minimum requirements are an average oil content of at least 15 gallons per ton of oil shale, over'a minimum of 25 feet in thickness and existing in a block totaling not less than 100,000,000 tons of oil shale within an area not greater than 5 square miles.

It is concluded, therefore, that there are no oil shale reserves in the State of Kentucky suitable for use as a source of raw materials for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture.

Ку С-1 2

2

#### PART I - INTRODUCTION

#### Authorization

This investigation and report on oil shales in Kentucky have been made as a part of the survey authorized by a contract dated June 1, 1949, between Ford, Bacon & Davis, Inc., and DeGolyer and MacNaughton. The contract is identified as Subcontract No. 3 of the principal Contract No. W 49-129 eng-137 dated May 3, 1949, between the United States of America and Ford, Bacon & Davis, Inc. The subcontract was duly approved by a representative of the Contracting Officer for the Government.

#### Purpose and Scope

The Purpose of this investigation and report is to present an inventory of oil shale reserves or deposits that meet minimum standards as to quantity, quality, and occurrence, as defined herein, and which might provide a source of raw materials for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture, and to determine General Areas suitable for the location of synthetic liquid fuels plants. An investigation of this type is required for a state in which it was considered that a review of available information might indicate that production of synthetic liquid fuels would be feasible, either at the present time or in the near future.

Since this investigation determined that the oil shales are insufficient to qualify as reserves, this report, "Oil Shales in Kentucky," is confined to a general review of the nature and extent of the oil shale deposits and conclusions as to their suitability or unsuitability for the manufacture of synthetic liquid fuels.

The investigation was confined to a review of available data and no field examination was made.

Кy

#### PART II - GENERAL

#### Definitions Relating to Oil Shale and Oil Shale Reserves

Oil Shale is a fine-grained sedimentary rock, containing organic matter that yields oil when distilled but not appreciably when extracted with ordinary petroleum solvents. Oil shale is distinguished from certain coals by its content of more than 33 percent ash.

Reserves 0il shale deposits are not considered as a reserve of raw material for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture and are not reported herein unless they have an oil content averaging at least 15 gallons per ton over a minimum of 25 feet in thickness, and totaling not less than 100,000,000 tons of oil shale within an area not greater than 5 square miles. (In connection with plant requirements, 25 gallons per ton is set as the lower limit to be presently considered, while the limit of 15 gallons per ton is set to include deposits of possible future importance.) Oil shale reserves are classified according to oil content as follows:

Primary Reserves include those deposits of oil shale lying in vertically continuous series of beds not less than 25 feet thick with an average Fischer assay yield of 25 gallons per ton.

Secondary Reserves include those deposits of oil shale, in addition to those in primary reserves, lying in vertically continuous series of beds (or with intervening intervals of primary reserves) not less than 25 feet thick with an average Fischer assay yield of not less than 15 gallons per ton.

Reserve Classifications - Estimates of oil shale tonnages are further classified according to the following definitions of measured, indicated, and inferred reserves. These definitions provide a basis for classifying reserves according to the relative amount of data available for estimating the reserves and serve to indicate the relative dependability of the estimate.

Measured Reserves comprise those oil shale deposits, or portions thereof, on which the available data are adequate to define the thickness, area, and richness so clearly that they are considered proved to a high degree of probability. Such reserves are estimated only for areas where the oil shale beds are continuous and have been completely measured, sampled, and assayed at core holes or surface sections. The data are sufficiently consistent and the geologic evidence so clear that the projection of these data for short distances into the areas lying between and beyond the points of measurement is justified.

C-4

Indicated Reserves comprise those oil shale deposits, or portions thereof, on which the thickness and average assay yield are based on assayed well cuttings or must be partially estimated from incomplete assay data, and from visual field estimates, correlations, and comparisons. Although these reserves are not estimated with the accuracy required for measured reserves, they may fairly be considered proved by reason of a more complete knowledge of adjacent deposits of measured reserves. Accordingly, estimates of indicated reserves may be based on projections of data on the better known measured deposits for moderate distances into these indicated areas lying between and beyond the points of measurement, when such projections are consistent with known and inferred geologic conditions.

Inferred Reserves comprise those deposits, or portions thereof, on which assay data are incomplete or lacking and assayed localities are widely separated; they are considered as possible reserves by reason of some knowledge of the deposit and a more thorough knowledge of adjacent or nearby measured and indicated reserves. These estimates depend primarily on estimated data derived from visual field estimates, correlations, and comparisons and on projections of data on better known deposits in the area for such distances as appear consistent with known and inferred geologic conditions. The reserves in this classification are regarded as provisional and are subject to possible revision as a result of further exploration.

Fischer Assay Value is an expression of the yield of oil, in gallons per ton of oil shale, as determined by the retorting of a representative sample, employing certain laboratory procedures presently adopted by the U.S. Bureau of Mines. However, most of the oil yields presented in this report are based on assays by a former "Bureau of Mines method" or methods other than the modified Fischer method.

Average Fischer Assay Value is the average of yields obtained on two or more samples from a vertically continuous series of beds, where the average has been weighted to reflect the relative thickness, but not the specific gravity of samples.

A General Area of Raw Material Availability is an area not larger than a county GF 1,000 square miles, containing a sufficient recoverable quantity and quality of oil shale reserve to supply at least one synthetic liquid fuels plant, having a unit capacity of 10,000 barrels per day, for a period of 40 years. Sufficient recoverable primary reserves must be available from which 20 years' supply may be obtained, and the additional 20 years supply may be satisfied either by additional recoverable primary reserves or by recoverable secondary reserves.

Unit Plant or Unit Capacity - A synthetic liquid fuels plant for producing and refining shale oil from oil shale with a productive capacity of 10,000 barrels of liquid fuel products per day. C-5 K

C--

.

Such a plant would require from 13,333 to 14,000 tons of 30-gallonper-ton shale per day. The higher requirement is equivalent to 5,110,000 tons per year or 204,400,000 tons over a period of 40 years. The cost of such a plant, erected near Rifle, Colo., based on a preliminary estimate by the U.S. Bureau of Mines was about \$33,000,000 in November, 1949.

## Source of Information

The data and conclusions presented in this report are based on a review of numerous publications describing oil shalebearing formations and general geologic conditions; particular attention was paid to publications of the United States Geological Survey, the Kentucky Geological Survey, and geological surveys of various other states. Unpublished data have been obtained from the Bureau of Mines and from the files of the Subcontractor. The publications containing specific data presented in this report are listed in the Bibliography forming Exhibit No. C-3, and the reference numbers indicated on this exhibit are referred to in the text of the report by number as (Ref. 1), (Ref. 2), etc.

#### Survey Area

The area investigated and reported herein comprises the State of Kentucky.

KΥ

C+5b C6

70021

.

#### PART III - STUDY OF SURVEY AREA

## General Geologic Conditions

The dominant structural feature of Kentucky is the Cincinnati Arch, which traverses central Kentucky in a north-northeasterly direction. In northern Kentucky, the Cincinnati Arch divides into two limbs: the west limb extends northward into Indiana and there forms the Kankakee Arch; the east limb extends northward into Ohio and is there known as the Cincinnati Arch.

Formations on the west flank of the Cincinnati Arch in Kentucky dip westerly into the western Kentucky coal basin, whereas formations on the eastern flank of the Arch dip southeasterly into the Appalachian geosyncline. In the extreme southwestern corner of Kentucky, Cretaceous and Tertiary formations dip southwesterly into the Mississippi Embayment province.

The east-west trending Rough Creek fault zone, comprising numerous faults of varying magnitude, cuts across the western Kentucky coal basin. On the east flank of the Cincinnati Arch, the Kentucky River fault zone, comprising numerous faults which are generally of lesser magnitude than those of the Rough Creek fault zone, cuts across northeastern Kentucky. The Pine Mountain overthrust, comprising an area of extremely deformed rocks, occurs in extreme southeastern Kentucky.

The age of exposed formations ranges from mid-Ordovician to Recent, but formations of Permian, Triassic, and Jurassic age are absent. Pre-Mississippian formations outcrop in a circular area around the crest of the Cincinnati Arch in north-central Kentucky; this area comprises the Blue Grass region of Kentucky, and the New Albany shale, outcropping around the margin of the area, forms the Knobs region. On the east and west flanks of the Cincinnati Arch and throughout the remainder of Kentucky, the principal outcropping formations are of Mississippian and Pennsylvanian age. The outcrop of Cretaceous and Tertiary formations is limited to the Mississippi Embayment area in extreme southwest Kentucky. Pleistocene and recent alluvial deposits occur locally in river and stream valleys, and glacial drift occurs in a small area in the northernmost portion of the State.

New Albany Shales. The New Albany shale is the principal oil shale-bearing formation in Kentucky; minor thicknesses of oil shale are also known to occur in the Sunbury formation, which is often included in the New Albany and in association with Pennsylvanian coal-bearing formations.

Geology. The New Albany shale is the principal oil shale-bearing formation in Kentucky. The formation consists predominantly of black, fissile, somewhat tough and slaty bituminous shales with interbedded softer, gray calcareous shales which are less fissile

КҮ -7

C-7

and bituminous (Ref. 4) (A). A few thin locally persistent beds of phosphate nodules and small cone-in cone structures occur within the formation. In the southeastern outcrop area the basal facies of the formation contain predominantly gray shales, calcareous shales, limestones, or dolomites.

The formation is generally overlain by the Bedford shale, which is a blue clay shale, often silty and containing interbedded siltstone and greenish gray sandstone. Where the Bedford shale and the overlying Sunbury shale are extremely thin and not readily identified, they are often included in the New Albany shale, in which case the New Providence, which is a soft gray to green clay shale, is regarded as the overlying formation. The New Albany shale is generally underlain by limestones of Devonian age.

In Kentucky, the formation is also known as the Ohio shale in much of the area east of the Cincinnati Arch and as the Chattanooga shale in south-central Kentucky. The New Albany of Kentucky is more or less equivalent to the New Albany of Indiana and Illinois, the Ohio shale of Ohio, and the Chattanooga of Tennessee. Although these formations comprise an extensive and more or less continuous series of black shale, they are not of the same age everywhere and may be either Devonian or Mississippian age, or both. Cambell (Ref. 4) (A) and others indicate that the upper portion is of Mississippian age and that the lower portion is of Devonian age.

In Kentucky and adjacent states, the New Albany shale and its equivalents have been the subjects of many detailed lithologic and paleontologic investigations, and some investigators have made detailed subdivisions of the New Albany. These subdivisions will not be discussed here but they indicate that persistent zones of predominantly nonbituminous, lean, gray shales and siltstones occur associated with the black fissile shales of the formation.

The New Albany shale produces gas in many fields in eastern Kentucky and it has been estimated that more than half of the gas produced in Kentucky is from the New Albany shale.

Bedrock Outcrops. Bedrock outcrops of New Albany shale, comprising areas within which the formation is exposed at the surface or is overlain by unconsolidated sediments, form a Y-shaped outcrop pattern, straddling the Cincinnati Arch, as shown on the map, Exhibit No. C-1. The formation is absent in the crestal area of the Cincinnati Arch in north-central Kentucky, and the outcrops occurring along the flanks of the Arch comprise the Knobs region of Kentucky. The formation dips below the surface on the east and west sides of the Arch and underlies the greater portion of the remainder of the State.

Note: (A) For references see Exhibit No. C-3

KY C-8 70021 Structure. The New Albany shale outcropping on the flanks of the Cincinnati Arch dips westward at the rate of approximately 50 feet per mile into the Western Kentucky coal basin and eastward at the rate of approximately 40 feet per mile into the Appalachian geosyncline, as shown by structural contours on Exhibit No. C-1. The formation occurs at a depth of approximately 3,500 feet below sea level in the deeper part of the Western Kentucky coal basin and at about 2,000 feet below sea level in the Appalachian geosyncline.

The Rough Creek fault zone and the Kentucky River fault zone, comprising numerous faults of varying magnitude, have resulted in complicated local structures.

Thickness. The New Albany shale along its outcrop varies in thickness from a feather edge to in excess of 100 feet. On the west flank of the Cincinnati Arch, the New Albany shale is 104 feet thick at the Ohio River near Louisville (Ref. 4)(A) and thins southeastward toward the axis of the Cincinnati Arch, being 60 to 90 feet thick in Marion County and about 45 feet thick in Casey County (Ref. 16) (A). On the east flank of the Cincinnati Arch, the formation is 301.5 feet thick along the Ohio River near Vanceburg (Ref. 4) (A) and likewise thins southeastward toward the axis of the Cincinnati Arch, being about 45 feet thick in Casey County. Outcrops along the axis of the Cincinnati Arch in southcentral Kentucky vary between 20 and 50 feet in thickness.

Exploratory wells drilled for oil and gas indicate that the formation thickens basinward, reaching a reported thickness of 400 feet in Caldwell County in the Western Kentucky coal basin (Ref. 13)(A) and reaching a thickness of nearly 1,200 feet in Pike County in the deeper part of the Appalachian geosyncline (Ref.16) (A).

## Oil Shale Reserve Estimates

In 1921, Jillson (Ref. 12)(A) stated that the Devonian black shales of Kentucky contained 12.308 billion barrels of recoverable oil. This estimate assumed that minable shales existed in an area of 953 square miles. Although stating that the thickness of the shale varied from 20 to 45 feet, and that the few samples assayed had an average specific gravity of 2.173, the exact figures for thickness and specific gravity used in Jillson's estimate were not given; an average oil yield of 16.08 gallons per ton was assumed in the estimate.

In 1922, Crouse (Ref. 5)(A) estimated that 90 billion tons of shale amenable to quarry-type mining methods in Kentucky contained 40 billion barrels of oil.

Note: (A) For references see Exhibit No. C-3.

C-9 2 70021

Кy

In 1925, Crouse (Ref. 6) (A) stated that the areas in which the shales outcropped had been estimated to contain 100 billion tons of black shales, and as he estimated these shales would have an average yield of 21 gallons per ton, 50 billion barrels of oil were contained in the black shales of Kentucky.

In 1928, Winchester (Ref. 18) (A) estimated that the Devonian black shales of Kentucky contained 10.979 billion barrels of oil, of which 9.881 billion barrels were recoverable. Winchester's estimate included all shales greater than 1 foot in thickness which would yield more than 10 gallons of oil per ton, at least 2,000 barrels of oil per acre, and considered only those shales amenable to surface mining methods.

The most recent investigations have indicated that the average yield of oil shales in Kentucky will be substantially less than the average yield of 16 to 21 gallons per ton used by Jillson and Crouse in their estimates and that their estimates are untenable. Based on the minimum requirements of this survey, none of the oil shales of Kentucky may be classed as a reserve.

.e

## Previous Investigations

Investigations of the oil yield of Kentucky oil shales may be considered in two chronological groups: the work conducted between the years 1917 and 1925; and investigations carried on during the years 1944 and 1948. Most of the early work, reported on by Jillson and Crouse, resulted in conclusions indicating a higher oil yield for the New Albany shale than has been determined by the more thorough sampling reported by Herbert and Gardner in the more recent investigations.

In 1917, George H. Ashley (Ref. 2) (A) reported that a New Albany shale sample representing an 8-foot interval at Locality No. 26 in Jefferson County, yielded 11.2 gallons per ton. The two samples of shales associated with coal-bearing formations had reported yields of a trace and of 14 gallons per ton.

In 1919, Dean E. Winchester (Ref. 17) (A) reported that a hand specimen of New Albany shale from Locality No. 13 in Estill County yielded 7 gallons per ton.

In 1921, Willard R. Jillson (Ref. 12) (A), Kentucky State Geologist presented assay data on 22 random samples of Devonian black shale collected and assayed by C.S. Crouse; only the location and yield of these samples are available. The reported oil yield of these random samples ranged from 5.00 to 27.75 gallons per ton and averaged 15.9 gallons per ton. Assay data were also presented on two samples of shales associated with coal-bearing formations; these two samples had reported yields of 8.25 and 17.25 gallons per ton.

70021

Кy

C-10

In 1922, Victor C. Alderson (Ref. 1) (A) reported that a random sample of shale from Locality No. 8 in Clay City, Powell County, Ky., assayed 17 gallons per ton when tested at the Colorado School of Mines.

In 1923, Charles R. Fettke (Ref. 8) (A) reported on the yields of five Chattanooga shale samples collected from two localities. Four of these samples were also from Locality No. 8 in Power County and had an average yield of 14.3 gallons per ton, while the fifth sample from Locality No. 6 in Montgomery County had a reported yield of 8.6 gallons per ton.

In 1924, during investigations of the qualities of shale oil, personnel of the United States Bureau of Mines (Ref. 3 and 10) (A) assayed four selected samples of shale from Locality No. 8 in Powell County. The average yield obtained on these four highly selected samples was 16.98 gallons per ton.

In 1925, Charles S. Crouse (Ref. 6) (A) reported that he had assayed many additional shale samples subsequent to those reported by Jillson in 1921, and although he did not report the assay yields obtained, he concluded that the black shales of Kentucky would more likely average 21 gallons per ton rather than 16 gallons per ton as previously reported.

During 1944, Professor C.S. Crouse accompanied Bureau of Mines Engineers (Ref. 11) (A) to several of the localities southeast of the City of Lexington where his earlier work had indicated that the richest shales occurred. Eight channel samples of the New Albany shale at seven of these localities had oil yields ranging from 1.8 to 14.2 gallons per ton; the weighted average yield of the 80 feet of section represented by these samples was 7.2 gallons per ton. These samples, the first Kentucky samples assayed by the modified Fischer method indicated that the oil yield of New Albany shale in Kentucky is quite comparable to yields obtained from the black shales in neighboring states of Indiana, Ohio and Tennessee rather than in the range of 16 to 21 gallons per ton as indicated by Jillson and Crouse.

In 1948, E.D. Gardner (Ref. 9) (A) obtained three samples from a 32.5-foot section of the New Albany shale at Locality No. 14 in Estill County. These samples were assayed by the modified **Fischer** method, and the oil yields ranged from a trace to 3.5 gallons per ton, with a weighted average yield of 2.1 gallons per ton. The 32.5-foot section sampled by Gardner underlay a 25-foot section from which Herbert had reported that a sample yielded 8.7 gallons per ton.

Note: (A) For references see Exhibit No. C-3.

K<del>y</del> <u>C-11a</u> <u>3</u> 70021

# Classification of Data

While assay data are available on a total of 45 New Albany shale samples from Kentucky, only 12 samples, 1 reported by Ashley, 8 reported by Herbert, and 3 reported by Gardner, present sufficient data to provide a basis for evaluating the thickness and richness of the New Albany shales. These 12 samples are from 8 localities, and only at Locality No. 14 in Estill County has a relatively complete section been sampled. Seven of these localities occur along the outcrop in a limited geographic area lying southeast of the City of Lexington.

The remaining 33 samples assayed prior to 1926 are random samples on which little or no data are available as to the thickness of formation exposed at the locality, the thickness of the interval represented by each sample, the sampling method, nor the portion of the formation from which the sample was obtained. Random samples frequently represent selected portions of rich shale beds which are resistant to weathering and more readily sampled at the outcrop. It must be assumed that the high average yield of 16 to 21 gallons per ton reported by early investigators are the result of sampling selected, thin, rich beds and that the yields obtained cannot be considered representative of an appreciable thickness of the formation. This view is supported by the low yields obtained on recent samples reported on by Herbert and Gardner in areas where early investigators had indicated the presence of rich shales.

The usable data are too limited and so poorly distributed geographically that they do not provide a basis for evaluating the average thickness and richness of the New Albany shales in Kentucky. However, data are available on the results of surface sampling and core drilling of the formation in the adjacent states of Indiana, Ohio, and Tennessee. These more complete data on neighboring states indicate that the yield of the New Albany shale section is in the magnitude of 5 to 10 gallons per ton, which appears to be consistent with yields obtained by Herbert and Gardner.

Assay data are also available on a total of four samples of shales associated with coal-bearing formations of four localities.

All of the available assay data from the foregoing sources are tabulated on Exhibit No. C-2, and the localities at which the samples were obtained are indicated on the map, Exhibit No. C-1. Only the pertinent data on the eight New Albany shale localities sampled by Ashley, Herbert and Gardner and the four localities at which shales associated with coal-bearing formations were sampled are summarized in the text.

C-111 C-121 2 70021

Ку

#### New Albany Shale - Assay Data

Summarized below are the results of sampling and assaying at the eight localities in Kentucky on which relatively complete data are available together with comments on the yield of the New Albany shale or its equivalents in adjacent states.

Seven of the localities occur along the eastern outcrop belt in a limited geographic area lying southeast of Lexington in Montgomery, Powell, Estill, and Madison Counties. The New Albany shale in this area ranges from 100 to 200 feet in thickness, of which up to one-third, the basal section, contains predominantly nonbituminous gray shales, calcareous shales, and limestones  $(Ref_{\infty} 4)(A)$ .

Herbert (Ref. 11) (A) reported that a sample of a 5-foot section from Locality No. 5 in Montgomery County, taken from the Consolidated Oil Shale Corporation of Pittsburgh's abandoned quarry, yielded 14.2 gallons per ton. Jillson (Ref. 12)(A) had earlier reported that a random sample from this locality yielded 19 gallons per ton, 34 percent higher than a yield obtained on Herbert's sample. Herbert's data indicate that this 5-foot sample was obtained from the basal New Albany shale above a limestone bed, but do not give the thickness of shale section overlying the sampled interval.

Locality No. 8, near Clay City in Powell County, is the location at which the Devon Oil Shale Corporation quarried the New Albany shale for a short period during the 1920's. It is from this locality that 10 random samples were secured for assay by the Colorado School of Mines, the United States Bureau of Mines, and others. These 10 random samples had an average yield of 17.1 gallons per ton but cannot be considered representative of any appreciable interval of the New Albany shale. A sample secured by Herbert (Ref. 11)(A) at the same locality in 1944 and which represented an interval of 5 feet assayed only 4.8 gallons per ton.

Herbert (Ref. 11)(A) reported that a sample of the uppermost 25 feet of New Albany shale at Locality No. 9 in Powell County assayed 8.0 gallons per ton.

Locality No. 10, in Estill County, was sampled at a roadcut in the town of Hargett. Herbert reported that this sample, which represented a 5-foot section of partly weathered shale, assayed 1.8 gallons per ton.

At Locality No. 12 in Estill County, Herbert reported that two samples, each representing a 5-foot section within the total 35-foot New Albany shale section exposed in a quarry, yielded 2.4 and 3.0 gallons per ton.

Note: (A) For references see Exhibit No. C-3.

Ky :-12b :-13a 2 70021 C-12

Locality No. 14, also in Estill County, and located at a railroad cut along Cow Creek in the town of Ravenna, has been sampled more completely than any other locality in the State. Herbert reported that a sample representative of the uppermost 25 feet of New Albany shale at the locality yielded 8.7 gallons per ton. Gardner (Ref. 9)(A) obtained three samples representative of three successive intervals underlying the section sampled by Herbert; Gardner reported a yield of 3.5, a trace, and 2.9 gallons per ton on these three samples. The weighted average yield of the four samples representing the 57.5 feet of New Albany shale exposed at this locality is 5.0 gallons per ton.

Locality No. 15 in Madison County was sampled at a railroad cut and Herbert reported a yield of 5.4 gallons per ton for this sample which represented the lowermost 5 feet of New Albany shale exposed. A random sample from the Berea College campus, in the same area, was reported by Jillson to have yielded 18.5 gallons per ton.

Locality No. 26 is located on the western outcrop belt within the City of Louisville in Jefferson County. The New Albany shale in this area is 104 feet thick. The middle one-third of the formation, composed of a zone of alternating layers of black and gray shales is leaner than the black shales above and below. Ashley (Ref. 2)(A) reported that a sample representing an 8-foot section of New Albany shale exposed in a canal at this locality yielded 11.2 gallons per ton.

It is concluded from the limited data available that the New Albany shale in Kentucky is of insufficient richness and thickness to meet the minimum requirements of this survey. This view is supported by the results of investigations of oil shales in adjacent states.

The results of core drilling and surface sampling in the adjacent states of Indiana, Ohio, and Tennessee indicated that the yield of the New Albany shale, or its equivalent, ranges from a trace to 16.2 gallons per ton and that the average yield of complete sampled sections of the formation is generally in the range of 5.5 to 8.5 gallons per ton. These data further indicate a general relationship of relatively high yields in the upper and lower sections of the formation with lower yields in the middle.

The Louisville Cement Company corehole, located only 8 miles north of Louisville, Ky., in Clark County, Ind., penetrated a 98.5-foot New Albany shale section. The oil yield varied from 1.9 to 13.4 gallons per ton and the weighted average yield was 8.2 gallons per ton.

On the east side of the Cincinnati Arch, the Chillicothe corehole, located 50 miles north-northeast of Vanceburg, Ky., in Ross County, Ind., penetrated a 376-foot Ohio shale section which yielded from 0.25 to 14 gallons per ton and averaged 5.5 gallons per ton.

7002:

K.

C-13

C-14

About 45 miles south of the Kentucky-Tennessee State line in De Kalb County, Tenn., a corehole and surface section averaging about 32 feet in thickness yielded from a trace to 12.7 gallons per ton and averaged approximately 6.6 gallons per ton.

#### Shales Associated with Coals - Assay Data

Limited data are available on the oil yield of shales associated with coal-bearing formations of Pennsylvanian age. Four random samples from four different localities have been reported as assayed; two samples were reported by Jillson (Ref. 12)(A) and two samples have been reported by Ashley (Ref. 2)(A).

Locality No. 1 in Elliott County is located in the Appalachian geosyncline in eastern Kentucky and a yield of 17.25 gallons per ton is reported on the random sample from this locality.

Localities Nos. 2, 3, and 4 in Webster, Union, and Crittenden counties are all located in the Western Kentucky coal basin; yields of 8.25, a trace, and 14 gallons per ton, respectively, are reported for the three random samples from these three localities.

The above data on these random samples are too meager to evaluate the **shales** found associated with the Pennsylvanian coalbearing formations; however, it is known that these shales are extremely thin, seldom exceeding a very few feet in thickness. It is concluded that none of these shales meets the minimum requirements of an oil shale deposit used in this survey.

Note: (A) For references see Exhibit No. C-3.

Ky C-14b C-15 2 70021

#### PART IV - CONCLUSIONS

The New Albany shale is the principal oil shale-bearing formation in Kentucky. Oil shales also occur in the Sunbury formation and in shales associated with the Pennsylvanian coal-bearing formations.

A review of the limited usable data available, which is poorly distributed geographically, together with data on adjacent states, indicates that none of these shales is of sufficient richness and thickness to provide a source of raw materials for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture. It does not appear that additional sampling and assaying would reveal the presence of shales meeting minimum requirements.

It is concluded, therefore, that there are no oil shale reserves in the State of Kentucky suitable for use as a source of raw materials for synthetic liquid fuels manufacture.



X

Data on the Oil Shales of the State of Kentucky, September 1950

			Thick- ness	Thick- ness	Number	Average	Bibliography Reference				
Locality Number	County	General Location	Exposed (Feet)	Sampled (Feet)	of Samples	Yield (Gal/Ton)	Number	Page	Sample Number		
New Albany	Shale										
1	Lewis	1-1/2 miles from Vanceburg on the Maysville Road	*	*	1	10.25	12	15	11		
2	Fleming	Near top of first mountain east of Ringo's Mill	*	*	1	21.5	12	14	8		
3	Rowan	Rowan County Freestone Company's Quarry	*	*	1	12.5	12	19	17		
4	Bath	About 1/2-mile from Salt Lock on Caney Road		*	1	11.25	12	13	1		
5	Montgomery	Central Oil Shale Corpora- tion of Pittsburgh's aban- doned quarry on Town Branch Road, 9 miles east of Mt. Sterling	*	5	1	14.2	11	9	5		
		Ditch alongside Old Town Road, about 8 miles east of Mt. Sterling	*	*	1	19	12	17	15		
6	Montgomery	Outcrop near Means Post Office	*	*	1	8.6	8	91	109		
7	Clark	Old road quarry about 1/2-mile east of Indian Fields on Westchester-Clay City road.	*	*	1	11	12	14	5		
8	Powell	Devon Oil Shale Corporation's abandoned quarry, about 1 mile west of Clay City on the north bank of the Red River	* * * * *	5 * * *	1 1 4 1 2 2	4.8 17 14.3 16.75 18.22 15.73	11 1 8 12 10 3	9 6 91 17 28 16	4 - 110 17 1006 7		
9	Powell	East end of Turkey Knob at junction of State Highway 15 and Hatten Creek road, about 3 miles southeast of Clay City.	*	25	1	8.0	11	9	3		

Note: \* No data available.

70021

Ky

1

...

.

\*

Exhibit No. C-2 Page 1 of 3

Remarks

Random sample taken near top of formation.

- Random sample taken about 25 feet above base of formation.
- Very hard slightly weathered shale which grades downward into a dense gray limestone lying immediately above the Corniferous limestone.
- Random sample taken near base of formation.

Well-weathered shale lying 15 to 20 feet above the top of the Corniferous limestone.

Uppermost portion of shale exposed beneath Waverly shaly sandstone. Data on the Oil Shales of the State of Kentucky, September 1950

Logality				Thick- ness	Number	Average	Bib Re	aphy ce	
Number	County	General Location	(Feet)	(Feet)	Samples	(Gal/Ton)	Number	Page	Sample Number
New Albany	Shale (Contin	ued)							
10	Estill	Roadside cut near east end of bridge on State Highway 89 over L. & N. R.R. at Harget	* t	5	1	1.8	11	10	6
11	Estill	About 2 miles from Irvine on opposite side of Kentucky River from the road to Richmond	*	*	1	22	12	14	7
12	Estill	Quarry in the City of Irvine, 1/4-mile east of the court house on State Highway 52	15 5 10 5 35	0 5 0 5 10	0 1 0 1 2	2.4 <u>3.0</u> 2.7	11 11 11 11	9999	2
13	Estill	Small quarry 1 block southeast of courthouse in Irvine	t 120	*	1	7	17	52	198
14	Estill	Railroad cut at east end of bridge over Cow Creek, 1/2- mile east of U.S. Lock 12, in City of Ravenna	25 13 11.5 <u>8</u> 57.5	25 13 11.5 <u>8</u> 57.5	1 1 1 1 4	8.7 3.5 Trace 2.9 5.0	11 9 9 9	10 19 19 19	7 1 2 3
15	Madison	Railroad cut below viaduct on U.S. Highway 25 at Berea.	*	5	1	5.4	11	10	8
		Berea College campus	*	*	1	18.5	12	16	13
16	Garrard	Copper Creek at Copper Creek Road on Garrard-Rockcastle County line	*	*	1	21	12	15	9
17	Rockcastle	Roadcut on south side of Gum Sulphur Creek on Boone Highway at Gum Sulphur	*	*	1	8	12	17	18
18	Boyle	Quarry on north side of road on western edge of Junction City	•	•	1	11	12	13	2
19	Lincoln	About 1 mile from Milledge- ville alongside Black pike	*	*	1	15.5	12	16	12
20	Casey	About 1/4-mile west of Gap- in-the-Knobs along Hunts- ville-Bradfordsville pike	*	*	1	18	12	14	4

70021

Ky

.

\*

.

\*

.

Exhibit No. C-2 Page 2 of 3

#### Remarks

Section of partly weathered shale 15 feet above Corniferous limestone; contained 1.5 feet interbedded limonitic, gray, and brown shales.

Exposed quarry face; base of section 30 feet above top of Corniferous limestone.

Totals and average of section.

Random sample taken about 25 feet above the base of the formation.

Section exposed between overlying Waverly formation and water's edge. Represents most complete sampling in State of Kentucky

Basal portion of 30-foot roadcut.

Data on the Oil Shales of the State of Kentucky, September 1950

			Thick- ness	Thick- ness Sampled (Feet)	Number of Samples	Average Yield (Gal/Ton)	Bibliography Reference				
Locality Number	County	General Location	Exposed (Feet)				Number	Page	Sample Number		
New Albany	Shale (Conclud	led)									
21	Taylor	Outcrop in Robinson Creek near Mansville	*	*	1	27.75	12	17	20		
22	Marion	Quarry in Ryder's cemetery 1/2-mile east of Lebanon on Danville road	*	*	1	16	12	16	14		
23	Nelson	Quarry on top of a hill, 1 mile from Boston on Bards- town road	*	*	1	19	12	17	16		
24	Bullitt	Railroad cut at gap in the Knobs, where L. & N. R.R. crosses Louisville-Shepherd ville road near Shepherdsvi	* ls- lle	*	1	5	12	13	3		
25	Jefferson	One mile south of Twin Oaks Park on Ash Bottom road	•	*	1	15.5	12	15	10		
26	Jefferson	West end of canal at Louisvil	<b>le</b> 8	*	1	11.2	2	11	314		
-	Estill	Not available	•	*	3	16.5	12	20	1,2, & 3		
Shales Asso	ciated with Co	als		•							
1	Elliott	Branch at the head of Corn Hollow of headwaters of Big Sinking Creek	100	*	1	17.25	12	14	6		
2	Webster	Near Tilden	*	*	1	8.25	12	18	21		
3	Union	At Caseyville	*	*	1	Trace	2	314	13		
4	Crittenden	Barnaby Mine	*	*	1	14	2	314	12		

70021

Ky

\*

.

.

.

Exhibit No. C-2 Page 3 of 3 \*

#### Remarks

Data on location of sampling as well as the interval sampled is not given in reference.

Sample of bituminous shale section in Lower Pottsville formation.

Sample of shale in Pottsville formation.

Sample of shale 50 feet above Bell coal.

Sample of "so-called coal rash or mother of coal associated with the coal bed."

### Bibliography

- 1. Alderson, Victor C., "The Oil Shales of Kentucky", <u>Quarterly</u> of the <u>Colorado School of Mines</u>, vol. 17, No. 4. <u>Golden</u>, <u>Colorado</u>, October 1922.
- 2. Ashley, George H., "Oil Resources of Black Shales of the Eastern United States", United States Geological Survey Bulletin No. 641-L, Washington, D.C., 1917.
- 3. Baver, A.D., Finley, W.L., Gould, D.W., and Horne, J.W., "Assay Retort Studies of Ten Typical Oil Shales", United States Bureau of Mines Report of Investigations No. 2603, Washington, D.C., May 1924.
- 4. Campbell, Guy, "New Albany Shale", <u>Bulletin of the Geological</u> <u>Society of America</u>, vol. 57, No. 9. Baltimore, Maryland, <u>September 1946</u>.
- 5. Crouse, Charles Stevens, "Oil Shales in Kentucky", <u>Chemical</u> <u>Age</u>, vol. 30, No. 8. pages 353-4, August 1922.
- Crouse, Charles Stevens, "An Economic Study of the Black Devonian Shales of Kentucky", <u>Oil Shales in Kentucky</u>, The Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI. Frankfort, Kentucky, 1925.
- 7. Ertl, Tell, "Oil Shale Deposits of the United States", United States Bureau of Mines. Not published.
- Fettke, Charles R., "Oil Resources in Coals and Carbonaceous Shales of Pennsylvania", <u>Pennsylvania Geological Survey</u>. 1923.
- 9. Gardner, E.D., "Oil Shale Resources of Ohio, Indiana, Kentucky, and Tennessee", United States Bureau of Mines. 1948. Not published.
- 10. Gavin, Martin J., "Oil Shale, an Historical, Technical, and Economic Study", <u>United States Bureau of Mines Bulletin</u> <u>No. 210</u>, Washington, D.C., 1924.

11. Herbert, C.A., "Report on Indiana and Kentucky Oil Shales, November and December, 1944", United States Bureau of Mines. Not published.

15 70021

Kу

Exhibit No. C-3 Page 2 of 2

#### Bibliography

- Jillson, Willard Rouse, <u>Economic Papers on Kentucky Geology</u>, The Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI. Frankfort, Kentucky, 1921.
- Jillson, Willard Rouse, <u>Oil and Gas in Western Kentucky</u>, The Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI. Frankfort, Kentucky, 1930.
- 14. Jillson, Willard Rouse, Geology of the Deep Wells in Kentucky, The Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI. Frankfort, Kentucky, 1931.
- 15. McFarlan, Arthur C., <u>Geology of Kentucky</u>, The University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky, 1943.
- Savage, Thomas Edmund, <u>The Devonian Rocks of Kentucky</u>, The Kentucky Geological Survey, Series VI. Frankfort, Kentucky, 1930.
- Winchester, Dean E., "Results of Dry Distillation of Miscellaneous Shale Samples", <u>United States Geological</u> <u>Survey Bulletin 691-B</u>, Washington, D.C., 1919.
- 18. Winchester, Dean E., "The Oil Possibilities of the Oil Shales of the United States", <u>Report II of the Federal Oil</u> <u>Conservation Board to The President of the United States</u>, January 1928.

Ky 15 70021

We, the undersigned subcontractors have read and are severally familiar with the over-all contents of this report on The Synthetic Liquid Fuel Potential of Kentucky. Each of us individually approves, by his appended signature, of the report as written, insofar as it relates to conditions, conclusions, and recommendations with respect to the raw material forming his responsibility under his subcontract.

COAL

Paul Weir Company, Inforporated

NATURAL GAS

De Golyer and Mac Man Man

OIL SHALE

DeGolyer and MacNaughton

WATER

Moledan Pitaine Engineers

OIL-IMPREGNATED STRIPPABLE DEPOSITS

Tax W. C. Jack

Max W. Ball

Кy



